Pakistan



Demographic and Health Survey

2012-13

PAKISTAN DEMOGRAPHIC AND HEALTH SURVEY

2012-13

National Institute of Population Studies Islamabad, Pakistan

> MEASURE DHS ICF International Calverton, Maryland, USA

> > December 2013







This report summarizes the findings of the 2012-13 Pakistan Demographic and Health Survey (PDHS), conducted under the aegis of the Ministry of National Health Services, Regulations and Coordination and implemented by the National Institute of Population Studies (NIPS). ICF International provided financial and technical assistance for the survey through USAID/Pakistan. The PDHS is part of the worldwide Demographic and Health Survey program, which is designed to collect data on fertility, family planning, and maternal and child health. The opinions expressed in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of USAID and the government of Pakistan.

Additional information about the 2012-13 PDHS may be obtained from the National Institute of Population Studies (NIPS), Block 12-A, Capital Centre, G-8 Markaz, P.O. Box 2197, Islamabad, Pakistan (telephone: 92-51-926-2790 or 926-2756; fax: 92-51-926-2754; Internet: http://www.nips.org.pk).

Additional information about the MEASURE DHS project may be obtained from ICF International, 11785 Beltsville Drive, Suite 300, Calverton, MD 20705, USA (telephone: 301-572-0200; fax: 301-572-0999; e-mail: reports@macrointernational.com; Internet: http://www.measuredhs.com).

Suggested citation:

National Institute of Population Studies (NIPS) [Pakistan] and ICF International. 2013. *Pakistan Demographic and Health Survey 2012-13*. Islamabad, Pakistan, and Calverton, Maryland, USA: NIPS and ICF International.

CONTENTS

TABI	LES ANI	D FIGURES	vii	
FOR	EWORD)	xiii	
ACK	NOWLE	EDGMENTS	XV	
TECI	HNICAL	L ADVISORY COMMITTEE	xvii	
CON	TRIBUT	FORS TO THE REPORT	xix	
ABBI	REVIAT	IONS	xxi	
MILI	LENNIU	M DEVELOPMENT GOAL INDICATORS	xxiii	
MAP	OF PAK	KISTAN	xxiv	
1	INTR	RODUCTION	1	
	1.1	History and Physical Features of Pakistan	1	
	1.2	Population	2	
	1.3	Objectives of the Survey		
	1.4	Organization of the Survey		
	1.5	Survey Implementation	4	
		1.5.1 Sample Design	4	
		1.5.2 Questionnaires	4	
		1.5.3 Training	5	
		1.5.4 Fieldwork	6	
		1.5.5 Field Supervision and Monitoring	6	
		1.5.6 Field Problems and Challenges	7	
		1.5.7 Data Processing	7	
	1.6	Response Rates		
2	HOUSING CHARACTERISTICS AND HOUSEHOLD POPULATION			
-	2.1	Household Characteristics	9	
	2.1	2.1.1 Water and Sanitation		
		2.1.2 Housing Characteristics		
		2.1.3 Household Possessions		
	2.2	Socioeconomic Status Index		
	2.3	Hand Washing		
	2.4	Household Population by Age and Sex		
	2.5	Household Composition		
	2.6	Birth Registration of Children Under Age 5		
	2.7	Registration with NADRA		
	2.8	Children's Living Arrangements and Orphanhood		
	2.9	Educational Attainment and School Attendance		
		2.9.1 Educational Attainment of the Household Population		
		2.9.2 School Attendance Ratios		
	2.10	Migration Status		
	2.11	Household Possession of Mosquito Nets		
	2.12	Indoor Residual Spraving Against Mosquitoes		
	2.13	Anti-Mosquito Actions		
3	СНАТ	RACTERISTICS OF RESPONDENTS	37	
-	31	Characteristics of Survey Respondents	37	
	3.1	Educational Attainment	38	
	3.2	Literacy	40	
	34	Access to Mass Media		
	3. - 3.5	Employment	45	
	2.2	—p		

	3.6	Occupation	
	3.7	Type of Employment	
	3.8	Use of Tobacco	
	3.9	Knowledge Concerning Tuberculosis	
	3.10	Knowledge Concerning Hepatitis	
4	MAR	RIAGE	
-	4.1	Current Marital Status	61
	4.2	Polygyny	
	4.3	Age at First Marriage	
	4.4	Differentials in Age at First Marriage	
	4 5	Consanguinity	65
	4.6	Recent Sexual Activity	
5	FERT	TH JTV	69
0	5 1	Current Fertility	70
	5.1	Fertility Trends	70
	53	Children Ever Born and Children Surviving	
	5.5	Birth Intervals	73 74
	5.5	Diffinition and Insuscentiality	
	5.5	A go at First Birth	דרזיייייייייייייייייייייייייייייייי
	5.0 5.7	Age at First Diffit	
	5.7	Teenage Fertinity	
6	FERT	TILITY PREFERENCES	
	6.1	Desire for More Children	
	6.2	Desire to Limit Childbearing by Background Characteristics	
	6.3	Ideal Family Size	85
	6.4	Fertility Planning	
	6.5	Wanted Fertility Rates	89
7	FAM	ILY PLANNING	
	7.1	Knowledge of Contraceptive Methods	
	7.2	Ever Use of Family Planning Methods	
	7.3	Current Use of Contraceptive Methods	
	7.4	Differentials in Contraceptive Use by Background Characteristics	
	7.5	Trends in Current Use of Family Planning	
	7.6	Timing of Sterilization	
	7.7	Source of Contraception	
	7.8	Use of Social Marketing Contraceptive Brands	
	7.9	Informed Choice	
	7.10	Side Effects of Family Planning Methods	
	7.11	Treatment for Side Effects	
	7.12	Contraceptive Discontinuation Rates	
	7.13	Reasons for Discontinuation of Contraceptive Use	
	7.14	Knowledge of Fertile Period	
	7.15	Need and Demand for Family Planning Services	
	7.16	Future Use of Contraception	
	7.17	Exposure to Family Planning Messages	
	7.18	Contact of Nonusers with Family Planning Providers	
	7.19	Lady Health Worker Services	
	7.20	Satisfaction with Family Planning Service Outlets	
	7.21	Reasons for Not Visiting Family Planning Service Outlets	

8	INFA	NT AND CHILD MORTALITY	117
	8.1	Assessment of Data Quality	
	8.2	Levels and Trends in Infant and Child Mortality	
	8.3	Socioeconomic Differentials in Childhood Mortality	
	8.4	Demographic Differentials in Mortality	
	8.5	Perinatal Mortality	
	8.6	High-Risk Fertility Behavior	
9	REPH	RODUCTIVE HEALTH	
	9.1	Antenatal Care	
		9.1.1 Number and Timing of Antenatal Visits	
	9.2	Components of Antenatal Care	133
	9.3	Tetanus Toxoid Vaccinations	
	9.4	Place of Delivery	
	9.5	Assistance during Delivery	
	9.6	Postnatal Care	
		9.6.1 Timing of First Postnatal Checkup for Mother	
		9.6.2 Provider of First Postnatal Checkup for Mother	
	9.7	Newborn Care	
		9.7.1 Provider of First Postnatal Checkup for Newborn	144
	9.8	Problems in Accessing Health Care	145
10	~~~~~		
10	CHIL	JD HEALTH	
	10.1	Child's Weight and Size at Birth	
	10.2	Vaccination Coverage	
	10.3	Vaccination by Background Characteristics	
	10.4	Trends in Immunization Coverage	
	10.5	Prevalence and Treatment of Symptoms of ARI	153
	10.6	Prevalence and Treatment of Fever	155
	10.7	Prevalence of Diarrhea	157
	10.8	Diarrhea Treatment	158
	10.9	Feeding Practices during Diarrhea	
11	NUTI	RITION OF CHILDREN AND WOMEN	163
11	11 1	Nutritional Status of Children	
	11.1	11.1.1 Measurement of Nutritional Status among Young Children	
		11.1.2 Data Collection	
		11.1.2 Data Contection	
	11.0	Dreastfording and Complementary Fooding	
	11.2	11.2.1 Lististical of December 21	
	11.2	11.2.1 Initiation of Breastleeding	
	11.5	Breastieeding Status by Age	
	11.4	Duration of Breastleeding	
	11.5	Types of Complementary Foods	
	11.0	Infant and Young Child Feeding (IYCF) Practices	174
	11./	Nicronutrient Intake among Children	
	11.8	Nutritional Status of Women	
	11.9	Micronutrient Intake among Mothers	
12	HIV/	AIDS-RELATED KNOWLEDGE, ATTITUDES, AND BEHAVIOR	
	12.1	Knowledge of AIDS	
	12.2	Knowledge of HIV Prevention Methods	
	12.3	Comprehensive Knowledge about AIDS	
	12.4	Knowledge of Mother-to-Child Transmission of HIV	191
	12.5	Accepting Attitudes toward Those Living with HIV and AIDS	192
	12.6	Knowledge about Testing for HIV	194
	12.7	Self-Reporting of Sexually Transmitted Infections (STIs)	195
	12.8	Prevalence of Medical Injections	197

13	WOM	EN'S EMPOWERMENT AND DEMOGRAPHIC AND HEALTH OUTCOMES	199
	13.1	Employment and Form of Earnings	200
	13.2	Women's Control over Their Own Earnings and Relative Magnitude of Women's	
		Earnings	201
	13.3	Control over Husbands' Earnings	202
	13.4	Women's and Men's Ownership of Selected Assets	204
	13.5	Women's Participation in Decisionmaking	206
	13.6	Attitudes toward Wife Beating	210
	13.7	Women's Empowerment Indicators	213
	13.8	Current Use of Contraception by Women's Empowerment	213
	13.9	Ideal Family Size and Unmet Need by Women's Empowerment	214
	13.10	Reproductive Health Care by Women's Empowerment	215
	13.11	Infant and Child Mortality and Women's Empowerment	216
14	DOME	STIC VIOLENCE	219
	14.1	Valid Measures of Domestic Violence	219
		14.1.1 Use of Valid Measures of Violence	219
		14.1.2 Ethical Considerations in the 2012-13 PDHS	220
		14.1.3 Subsample for the Violence Module	221
	14.2	Experience of Physical Violence	221
	14.3	Perpetrators of Physical Violence	223
	14.4	Violence during Pregnancy	223
	14.5	Marital Control by Husband	224
	14.6	Forms of Spousal Violence	226
	14.7	Spousal Violence by Background Characteristics	227
	14.8	Violence by Spousal Characteristics and Women's Empowerment Indicators	229
	14.9	Recent Spousal Violence	231
	14.10	Onset of Spousal Violence	231
	14.11	Physical Consequences of Spousal Violence	232
	14.12	Help-Seeking Behavior by Women Who Experience Violence	232
REFE	RENCES	5	235
APPEN	NDIX A	ADDITIONAL TABLES	241
APPEN	NDIX B	SAMPLE DESIGN AND IMPLEMENTATION	245
	B.1	Introduction	245
	B.2	Sample Frame	245
	B.3	Sample Design and Implementation	246
	B.4	Selection Probabilities and Sample Weights	248
APPEN	NDIX C	ESTIMATES OF SAMPLING ERRORS	251
APPEN	NDIX D	DATA QUALITY TABLES	263
APPEN	NDIX E	PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE SURVEY	269
APPEN	NDIX F	QUESTIONNAIRES	273

TABLES AND FIGURES

1	INTRODUCI	TION	1
	Table 1.1	Basic demographic indicators	
	Table 1.2	Results of the household and individual interviews	
2	HOUSING CI	HARACTERISTICS AND HOUSEHOLD POPULATION	9
-	Table 2.1	Household drinking water	10
	Table 2.1	Household sanitation facilities	
	Table 2.2	Household characteristics	
	Table 2.5	Household possessions	
	Table 2.4	Wealth quintiles	
	Table 2.5	Wealth quinties	13
	Table 2.0	Hand washing	
	Table 2.7 T_{11}	Household population by age, sex, and residence	1/
	Table 2.8 T_{11}	I rends in age distribution of nousenoid population	
	Table 2.9	Household composition	
	Table 2.10	Birth registration of children under age 5	
	Table 2.11	Registration with NADRA	
	Table 2.12	Children's living arrangements and orphanhood	
	Table 2.13	School attendance by survivorship of parents	
	Table 2.14.1	Educational attainment of the female household population	
	Table 2.14.2	Educational attainment of the male household population	
	Table 2.15	School attendance ratios	
	Table 2.16	Reasons for children dropping out of school	
	Table 2.17	Status of in-migration in households	
	Table 2.18	Households with out-migration	
	Table 2.19	Status of out-migration	
	Table 2.20	Reasons for migration	
	Table 2.21	Household possession of mosquito nets	
	Table 2.22	Indoor residual spraying against mosquitoes	
	Table 2.23	Other anti-mosquito actions	
	Figure 2.1	Population pyramid	
	Figure 2.2	Age-specific attendance rates	
	8		
3	CHARACTE	RISTICS OF RESPONDENTS	
	Table 3.1	Background characteristics of respondents	
	Table 3.2.1	Educational attainment: Women	
	Table 3.2.2	Educational attainment: Men	
	Table 3.3.1	Literacy: Women	
	Table 3.3.2	Literacy: Men	
	Table 3.4.1	Exposure to mass media: Women	44
	Table 3.4.2	Exposure to mass media: Men	
	Table 3.5.1	Employment status: Women	
	Table 3.5.2	Employment status: Men	
	Table 3.6.1	Occupation: Women	49
	Table 3.6.2	Occupation: Men	
	Table 3.7.1	Type of employment: Women	
	Table 3.7.2	Type of employment: Men	
	Table 3.8.1	Use of tobacco: Women	
	Table 3.8.2	Use of tobacco: Men	

	Table 3.9.1	Knowledge concerning tuberculosis: Women	55
	Table 3.9.2	Knowledge concerning tuberculosis: Men	
	Table 3.10.1	Knowledge concerning hepatitis: Women	58
	Table 3.10.2	Knowledge concerning hepatitis: Men	59
	Figure 3.1	Literacy status of ever-married women and men, by region	43
	Figure 3.2	Women's employment status in the past 12 months	47
	Figure 3.3	Women's earnings by type of employment	
4	MARRIAGE		61
	Table 4.1	Current marital status	62
	Table 4.2.1	Number of women's co-wives	63
	Table 4.2.2	Number of men's wives	63
	Table 4.3	Age at first marriage	64
	Table 4.4	Median age at first marriage by background characteristics	65
	Table 4.5	Marriage between relatives	66
	Table 4.6	Recent sexual activity: Women	67
5	FERTILITY.		69
	Table 5.1	Current fertility	70
	Table 5.2	Fertility by background characteristics	71
	Table 5.3	Trends in age-specific fertility rates	71
	Table 5.4	Trends in fertility by background characteristics	72
	Table 5.5	Trends in age-specific and total fertility rates	72
	Table 5.6	Children ever born and living	73
	Table 5.7	Trends in children ever born	74
	Table 5.8	Birth intervals	75
	Table 5.9	Postpartum amenorrhea, abstinence, and insusceptibility	76
	Table 5.10	Median duration of amenorrhea, postpartum abstinence, and postpartum	
		insusceptibility	77
	Table 5.11	Menopause	77
	Table 5.12	Age at first birth	78
	Table 5.13	Median age at first birth	78
	Table 5.14	Teenage pregnancy and motherhood	79
	Table 5.15	Pregnancy outcomes by background characteristics	80
	Figure 5.1	Trends in age-specific fertility rates	73
6	FERTILITY	PREFERENCES	81
	Table 6.1	Fertility preferences by number of living children	82
	Table 6.2.1	Desire to limit childbearing: Women	
	Table 6.2.2	Desire to limit childbearing: Men	84
	Table 6.3	Desire to limit childbearing by sex of living children	85
	Table 6.4	Ideal number of children by number of living children	86
	Table 6.5	Mean ideal number of children	87
	Table 6.7	Fertility planning status	88
	Table 6.8	Wanted fertility rates	89
7	FAMILY PLA	ANNING	
	Table 7.1	Knowledge of contraceptive methods	93
	Table 7.2	Ever use of contraception by age	
	Table 7.3	Current use of contraception by age	94
	Table 7.4	Current use of contraception by background characteristics	
	Table 7.5	Trends in the current use of contraception	96
	Table 7.6	Timing of sterilization	
	Table 7.7	Source of modern contraception methods	

	Table 7.9	Informed choice	100
	Table 7.10	Side effects from use of family planning methods	101
	Table 7.11	Treatment for side effects	102
	Table 7.12	Twelve-month contraceptive discontinuation rates	103
	Table 7.13	Reasons for discontinuation	104
	Table 7.14	Knowledge of fertile period	104
	Table 7.15	Need and demand for family planning among currently married women	106
	Table 7.16	Future use of contraception	108
	Table 7.17	Exposure to family planning messages	109
	Table 7.18.1	Exposure to specific family planning messages: Women	110
	Table 7.18.2	Exposure to specific family planning messages: Men	111
	Table 7.19	Contact of nonusers with family planning providers	112
	Table 7.20	Service from lady health worker (LHWs)	113
	Table 7.21	Satisfaction with family planning service outlets	114
	Table 7.22	Reasons for not visiting family planning service outlets	115
	Figure 7.1	Trends in contraceptive use among currently married women	97
	Figure 7.2	Source of treatment for side effects from use of family planning methods	102
	Figure 7.3	Trends in unmet need for family planning among currently married women	
	I iguite 7.5	age 15-49 2006-07 and 2012-13 PDHS	107
		ugo 15 19, 2000 07 and 2012 15 1 Dills	107
8	INFANT AND) CHILD MORTALITY	117
	Table 8.1	Early childhood mortality rates	119
	Table 8.2	Trends in early childhood mortality rates	121
	Table 8.3	Early childhood mortality rates by socioeconomic characteristics	122
	Table 8.4	Early childhood mortality rates by demographic characteristics	123
	Table 8.5	Perinatal mortality	125
	Table 8.6	High-risk fertility behavior	127
	Figure 8.1	Trends in childhood mortality, 1986-2012	120
9	REPRODUCT	FIVE HEALTH	129
	Table 9.1	Antenatal care	131
	Table 9.2	Number of antenatal care visits and timing of first visit	133
	Table 9.3	Components of antenatal care	134
	Table 9.4	Tetanus toxoid injections	135
	Table 9.5	Place of delivery	137
	Table 9.6	Assistance during delivery	139
	Table 9.7	Timing of first postnatal checkup for the mother	141
	Table 9.8	Type of provider of first postnatal checkup for the mother	142
	Table 9.9	Timing of first postnatal checkup for the newborn	143
	Table 9.10	Type of provider of first postnatal checkup for the newborn	144
	Table 9.11	Problems in accessing health care	146
	Figure 9.1	Source of antenatal care	132
	Figure 9.2	Trends in place of delivery	138
	Figure 9.3	Mother's duration of stay in the health facility after giving birth	140
10	CHILD HEAI	LTH	147
	Table 10.1	Child's size and weight at birth	149
	Table 10.2	Vaccinations by source of information	150
	Table 10.3	Vaccinations by background characteristics	151
	Table 10.4	Trends in vaccination coverage	152
	Table 10.5	Prevalence and treatment of symptoms of ARI	154
	Table 10.6	Prevalence and treatment of fever	156

	Table 10.7	Prevalence of diarrhea	157
	Table 10.8	Diarrhea treatment	159
	Table 10.9	Feeding practices during diarrhea	161
	Figure 10.1	Trends in vaccination coverage among children age 12-23 months	152
11	NUTRITION	OF CHILDREN AND WOMEN	163
	Table 11.1	Nutritional status of children	166
	Table 11.2	Initial breastfeeding	169
	Table 11.3	Breastfeeding status by age	171
	Table 11.4	Median duration of breastfeeding	173
	Table 11.5	Foods and liquids consumed by children in the day or night preceding	
		the interview	174
	Table 11.6	Infant and young child feeding (IYCF) practices	176
	Table 11.7	Micronutrient intake among children	178
	Table 11.8	Nutritional status of women	180
	Table 11.9	Micronutrient intake among mothers	182
	Figure 11.1	Nutritional status of children by age	168
	Figure 11.2	Infant feeding practices by age	171
	Figure 11.3	IYCF indicators on breastfeeding status	172
	Figure 11.4	IYCF indicators on minimum acceptable diet	177
12	HIV/AIDS-RH	ELATED KNOWLEDGE, ATTITUDES, AND BEHAVIOR	185
	Table 12.1	Knowledge of AIDS	186
	Table 12.2	Knowledge of HIV prevention methods	187
	Table 12.3.1	Comprehensive knowledge about AIDS: Women	189
	Table 12.3.2	Comprehensive knowledge about AIDS: Men	190
	Table 12.4	Knowledge of prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV	192
	Table 12.5.1	Accepting attitudes toward those living with HIV/AIDS: Women	193
	Table 12.5.2	Accepting attitudes toward those living with HIV/AIDS: Men	194
	Table 12.6	Knowledge on where to get HIV testing	195
	Table 12.7	Self-reported prevalence of sexually transmitted infections (STIs) and STI symptoms	196
	Table 12.8	Prevalence of medical injections	198
	Figure 12.1	Comprehensive knowledge about AIDS among ever-married women and	
		men age 15-49	191
	Figure 12.2	Women seeking treatment for STIs	197
13	WOMEN'S E	MPOWERMENT AND DEMOGRAPHIC AND HEALTH OUTCOMES	199
	Table 13.1	Employment and cash earnings of currently married women and men	200
	Table 13.2.1	control over women's cash earnings and relative magnitude of women's cash earnings	201
	Table 13.2.2	Control over men's cash earnings	203
	Table 13.3	Women's control over their own earnings and over those of their husbands	204
	Table 13.4.1	Ownership of assets: Women	205
	Table 13.4.2	Ownership of assets: Men	205
	Table 13.5	Participation in decisionmaking	206
	Table 13.6.1	Women's participation in decisionmaking by background characteristics	208
	Table 13.6.2	Men's participation in decisionmaking by background characteristics	209
	Table 13.7.1	Attitude toward wife beating: Women	211
	Table 13.7.2	Attitude toward wife beating: Men	212
	Table 13.8	Indicators of women's empowerment	213
	Table 13.9	Current use of contraception by women's empowerment	214

	Table 13.10	Ideal number of children and unmet need for family planning by women's	
		empowerment	215
	Table 13.11	Reproductive health care by women's empowerment	216
	Table 13.12	Early childhood mortality rates by women's status	217
	Figure 13.1	Number of decisions in which currently married women participate	207
14	DOMESTIC	VIOLENCE	219
	Table 14.1	Experience of physical violence	222
	Table 14.2	Persons committing physical violence	223
	Table 14.3	Experience of violence during pregnancy	224
	Table 14.4	Marital control exercised by husbands	225
	Table 14.5	Forms of spousal violence	226
	Table 14.6	Spousal violence by background characteristics	228
	Table 14.7	Spousal violence by husband's characteristics and empowerment indicators	230
	Table 14.8	Physical violence in the past 12 months by any husband	231
	Table 14.9	Experience of spousal violence by duration of marriage	232
	Table 14.10	Injuries to women due to spousal violence	232
	Table 14.11	Help seeking to stop violence	233
	Table 14.12	Sources for help to stop violence	234
	Figure 14.1	Forms of spousal violence	227
			241
APPI	Table A2.1	IIIONAL IABLES	241
	Table A2.1	Household arithting water	241
	Table A2.2	Household samuation factures.	242
	Table A2.3 Table A5.1	Household population by age, sex, and region	243
	Table A5.1	Current fertility	244
	Table A9.1	Number of antenatal care visits and timing of first visit	244
APPI	ENDIX B SAM	PLE DESIGN AND IMPLEMENTATION	245
	Table B.1	Enumeration areas	246
	Table B.2	Sample allocation of clusters and households	246
	Table B.3	Sample implementation: Women	247
	Table B.4	Sample implementation: Men	248
APPI	ENDIX C ESTI	MATES OF SAMPLING ERRORS	251
	Table C.1	List of selected variables for sampling errors, Pakistan 2012-13	253
	Table C.2	Sampling errors for national sample, Pakistan 2012-13	254
	Table C.3	Sampling errors for urban areas, Pakistan 2012-13	255
	Table C.4	Sampling errors for rural areas, Pakistan 2012-13	256
	Table C.5	Sampling errors for Punjab, Pakistan 2012-13	257
	Table C.6	Sampling errors for Sindh, Pakistan 2012-13	258
	Table C.7	Sampling errors for Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, Pakistan 2012-13	259
	Table C.8	Sampling errors for Balochistan, Pakistan 2012-13	260
	Table C.9	Sampling errors for ICT Islamabad, Pakistan 2012-13	261
	Table C.10	Sampling errors for Gilgit Baltistan, Pakistan 2012-13	262
APPI	ENDIX D DAT	A QUALITY TABLES	263
_	Table D.1	Household age distribution	263
	Table D.2.1	Age distribution of eligible and interviewed women	264
	Table D.2.2	Age distribution of eligible and interviewed men	264
	Table D.3	Completeness of reporting	265
	Table D.4	Births by calendar years	265
	Table D.5	Reporting of age at death in days	266
	Table D.6	Reporting of age at death in months	267

FOREWORD

The 2012-13 Pakistan Demographic and Health Survey (PDHS) is the third survey conducted as part of the MEASURE DHS international series. The National Institute of Population Studies (NIPS), a leading research organization in the field of population and development, successfully completed the PDHS with technical support from ICF International and the Pakistan Bureau of Statistics (PBS) and financial support from the United States Agency for International Development (USAID).

The overall objective of the 2012-13 PDHS was to collect high-quality data on fertility levels and preferences, contraceptive use, maternal and child health, infant mortality levels, immunization, nutritional status of mothers and children, and awareness regarding HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis, and other diseases and to investigate factors that have an impact on maternal and neonatal morbidity and mortality. The primary goal was to provide information needed by health and family planning programs for evidence-based planning and to offer guidelines to program managers and policymakers so that they can effectively plan and implement future interventions. The 2012-13 PDHS also provides updates on data already collected through censuses and other sources.

The successful completion of the project demonstrates the spirit of teamwork. The professional contributions of and assistance by the Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) at different stages of the survey are greatly appreciated. Special appreciation and congratulations are extended to the PDHS core team for their untiring efforts, dedication, and determination, which led to the generation and compilation of accurate and reliable data.

On behalf of NIPS and the Ministry of National Health Services, Regulations and Coordination (NHSRC), we thank USAID for its continuous trust, support, and financial assistance and the Pakistan Bureau of Statistics (PBS) and ICF International for their technical assistance and support. We would like to conclude by expressing gratitude to the Ministry of Planning and Development for extending the required support as executing agency for the 2012-13 PDHS.

Fran

Imtiaz Inayat Elahi Secretary Ministry of National Health Services, Regulations and Coordination Government of Pakistan Islamabad

Abdul Basit Khan Executive Director National Institute of Population Studies Government of Pakistan

The 2012-13 Pakistan Demographic and Health Survey (PDHS), from its inception to its completion, has been a collaborative and consultative effort involving many stakeholders. The Ministry of Planning and Development was the executing agency. The National Institute of Population Studies (NIPS) implemented the PDHS project. The funding for the survey was provided by the United States Agency for International Development (USAID) through ICF International. The Pakistan Bureau of Statistics (PBS) provided assistance in the selection of sampling points and household listings. ICF International provided technical assistance and support for the project. The PDHS report was completed under surveillance of the Ministry of National Health Services, Regulations and Coordination (NHSRC). The role of all of these institutions is greatly acknowledged.

The planning and implementation of the 2012-13 PDHS involved more than 30 national experts from the fields of population, development, and health, including the Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) members. Their professional input and valuable critique are gratefully acknowledged.

The tough fieldwork, especially in the nonconducive environment resulting from the country's law and order situation, would not have been completed without teamwork, spirit, quick decisionmaking, and vigilant monitoring on the part of the survey core team. We sincerely appreciate the great devotion and contributions of Mrs. Aysha Sheraz, Deputy Project Director; Mr. Zafar Zahir, Research Coordinator (Khyber Pakhtunkhwa and Gilgit Baltistan); Mr. Ali Anwar Buriro, Research Coordinator (Sindh and Balochistan); and Mrs. Rabia Zafar, Research Coordinator (Punjab). It is extremely gratifying that despite all of the challenges and ordeals, the NIPS monitoring teams traveled undauntedly even to the most remote areas of the country and did not compromise with respect to the quality of the data. We also acknowledge and thank the survey team members for collecting data under all circumstances and the quality control interviewers for efficient monitoring of the overall field activities.

We commend the untiring efforts and dedication of Mr. Faateh ud din Ahmad, Deputy Principal Investigator for this project, who also supervised all of the data processing activities. Mr. Ahmad's contributions were imperative at every stage of the project. We also express appreciation to his data processing team, including Mr. Shakeel Ahmad, Mr. Qamar Rasool, Mr. Farman Ali, and Mr. Takasar Amin. The contribution of the PDHS Office Coordinators, Mr. Sohail Rizwan and Mr. Hamid Ali, is duly acknowledged. The selfless and sincere support of Mr. Muhammad Arif and Mr. Muhammad Imran is much appreciated. We also thank the administrative staff of NIPS for their logistics support.

We gratefully acknowledge and thank Mr. Muhammad Asad Khan Mengal, Secretary, Population Welfare Department, Balochistan, along with his field officers Mr. Tariq Masood, Mr. Khan Muhammad, Mr. Sartaj Aziz, and Mr. Sattar Shahwani, for their active support during the arduous and challenging field operations in Balochistan.

We sincerely acknowledge the contributions of Syed Mazhar Hussain Hashmi, PDHS Advisor and Consultant for ICF International, in the form of technical assistance and guidance throughout the project period. We are indebted to Ms. Anjushree Pradhan, ICF International country manager for the PDHS, for providing immense technical support at all stages of the project. We extend our thanks to Dr. Ruilin Ren, sampling statistician, for his valuable input on sample design; Mr. Guillermo Rojas, data processing specialist, for his input on data processing and tabulation; and all of the technical experts of ICF International, who provided input on the finalization of this report. The support and cooperation extended by Ms. Kate Crawford, former Health Director, USAID/Pakistan; Mr. Jonathan Ross, Director, Health Office, USAID/Pakistan; and Mr. Khalid Mahmood, AID Project Management Assistant, USAID/Pakistan, are sincerely acknowledged.

We thank with gratitude Syed Khalid Ikhlaq Gilani, former Executive Director, NIPS, for providing sincere leadership, encouragement, and academic freedom for this project. We also acknowledge the efforts of Mr. Amanullah Bhatti, former Project Director, 2012-13 PDHS, for initiating and implementing activities at the early stage of the project. Special thanks go to Mr. Shahzad Ahmed Malik, Chief (PSP), Ministry of Planning and Development, for extending professional support at the take-off stage of the project.

We extend our profound thanks to Mr. Abdul Basit Khan, Executive Director, NIPS, for his extensive support and guidance during the final stages of the project.

Syed Mubashir Ali Principal Investigator PDHS Tanvir Kiyani Director, Research and Survey Project Director (PDHS)

TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE

Mr. Abdul Basit Khan, Executive Director, National Institute of Population Studies	Chairman
Mr. Shahzad Ahmad Malik, Chief of Population, Planning, and Development Division	Member
Dr. Zeba A. Sathar, Country Director, Population Council	Member
Dr. Mohammad Nizamuddin, Vice Chancellor, University of Gujarat, Hafiz Hayat Campus	Member
Mr. Muzaffar Mahmood Qureshi, Resident Director, Green Star Social Marketing	Member
Dr. Mehtab S. Karim, Senior Advisor, South Asia and Affiliated Professor, School of Public Policy	Member
Dr. Muhammad Arshad Mehmood, Director, Monitoring and Evaluation, Population Council	Member
Dr. Tauseef Ahmad, Project Director, Path Finder Pakistan	Member
Dr. Naushin Mahmood, Freelance Consultant	Member
Dr. Abdul Razzaque Rukanuddin, Freelance Consultant	Member
Mr. Mehboob Sultan, Freelance Consultant	Member
Syed Mubashir Ali, Principal Investigator PDHS/Consultant ICF International	Member
Dr. Huma Qureshi, Director General, Health Services Academy	Member
Dr. Nabeela Ali, Chief of Party, Technical Assistance Unit (Health), USAID	Member
Dr. Sabiha H. Syed, Director, Migration Research Centre	Member
Syed Mazhar Hussain Hashmi, Survey Advisor PDHS/Consultant ICF International	Member
Dr. Durr-e-Nayab, Chief of Research, PIDE, Quaid-e-Azam University Campus, Islamabad	Member
Dr. Sajid Ahmad, CCM Coordinator, Global Fund	Member
Mr. Ayazuddin, Deputy Director General, Pakistan Bureau of Statistics	Member
Mr. Shaukat Zaman, Director, Pakistan Bureau of Statistics	Member
Prof. Dr. Ghazala Mahmood, Head of the Department of Gynecology, MCH Centre, PIMS	Member
Dr. Shafqat Javed Shaikh, Director General, Population Program Wing, Islamabad	Member
Dr. Ghulam Shabir, Technical Advisor, Maternal Newborn Child Health, (MNCH), UNFPA	Member
Ms. Kate Crawford, Representative, USAID	Member
Ms. Karen Allen, Deputy Representative, UNICEF	Member
Mr. Rabbi Royan, Country Representative, UNFPA	Member
Mr. Toshihiro Tanaka, Country Director, UNDP	Member
Dr. Guido Sabatinelli, Representative, WHO	Member
Dr. Saeed Shafqat, Professor and Founding Director, Centre for Public Policy and Governance, F. C. University, Lahore	Member
Ms. Anjushree Pradhan, ICF International	Member
Ms. Tanvir Kiyani, Director, Research and Survey/Project Director PDHS/NIPS	Member/Secretary

CONTRIBUTORS TO THE REPORT

Mr. Faateh ud din Ahmed, Data Processing Manager/Deputy Principal Investigator, PDHS/NIPS Syed Mubashir Ali, Principal Investigator, PDHS Ms. Azra Aziz, Senior Fellow, NIPS Mr. Rizwan Bashir, Chief Statistical Officer, PBS Mr. Ali Anwar Buriro, Associate Fellow/Research Coordinator PDHS/NIPS Dr. Mumtaz Eskar, Former Director General, Ministry of Population Welfare Syed Mazhar Hussain Hashmi, Survey Advisor, PDHS Dr. Zareef Uddin Khan, National Coordinator, WHO, MNCH Project Ms. Tanvir Kiyani, Director, Research and Survey/Project Director, PDHS/NIPS Dr. Arshad Mahmood, Director, Monitoring and Evaluations, JSI Research and Training Institute Dr. Nosheen Mehmood, Freelance Consultant Dr. Farid Midhet, Freelance Consultant Dr. Mohsin Saeed Khan, Freelance International Consultant Ms. Aysha Sheraz, Senior Fellow, Deputy Project Director, PDHS/NIPS Mr. Qamar-ul-Islam Siddiqui, Freelance Consultant/Ex-in-Charge, National AIDS Control Program Mr. Mahboob Sultan, Freelance Consultant Syeda Rabia Zafar, Associate Fellow/Research Coordinator, PDHS/NIPS Mr. Zafar Zahir, Associate Fellow/Research Coordinator, PDHS/NIPS Ms. Anjushree Pradhan, ICF International

ABBREVIATIONS

AIDS	Acquired immune deficiency syndrome
ANC	Antenatal care
ARI	Acute respiratory infection
ASFR	Age-specific fertility rate
PCC	Pagilla Colmotta Cuarin vagging aggingt tubaraulogig
BCG	Bacine-Calmette-Guerni vaccine against tuberculosis
BMI	Body mass index
CAFE	Computer-assisted field editing
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CNIC	Computerized national identity card
CPR	Contraceptive prevalence rate
DHS	Demographic and Health Survey
DPT	Dinbtheria pertussis and tetanus vaccine
	Dipiniteria, pertussis, and tetanus vacente
EB	Enumeration block
EPI	Expanded Program on Immunization
FALAH	Family Advancement for Life and Health
ΓΙΞΛΠΙ	Federally Administered Tribal Areas
FDAD	Family Planning Association of Pakistan
TT AI	Tanniy Tanning Association of Takistan
GAR	Gross attendance ratio
GDP	Gross domestic product
GFR	General fertility rate
GPI	Gender parity index
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
HRCP	Human Rights Commission of Pakistan
likei	Human Rights Commission of Lakistan
ICPD	International Conference on Population and Development
ICT	Islamabad capital territory
IMCI	Integrated management of childhood illness
IMNCI	Integrated management of newborn and childhood illness
IRS	Indoor residual spraying
ITN	Insecticide-treated net
IUD	Intrauterine device
IYCF	Infant and young child feeding
ΙΔΜ	Lactational amenorrhea method
IHV	Lady health visitor
	Lady health worker
	Lauy nearm worker
LLIN	
LDC	Long-lasting insecticide-treated bed net

MDGs	Millennium Development Goals
MMR	Maternal mortality ratio
MNCH	Maternal, Newborn, and Child Health Program
MOPW	Ministry of Population Welfare
MTCT	Mother-to-child transmission
NACP	National AIDS Control Program
NADRA	National Database and Registration Authority
NAR	Net attendance ratio
NCHS	National Center for Health Statistics
NGO	Nongovernmental organization
NHSRC	Ministry of National Health Services, Regulations and Coordination
NIPS	National Institute of Population Studies
NN	Neonatal mortality
	,
OPV	Oral polio vaccine
ORS	Oral rehydration salts
ORT	Oral rehydration therapy
	5 15
РАНО	Pan American Health Organization
PAIMAN	Pakistan Initiative for Mothers and Newborns
PBS	Pakistan Bureau of Statistics
PDHS	Pakistan Demographic and Health Survey
PFFPS	Pakistan Fertility and Family Planning Survey
PNN	Postneonatal mortality
PRHFPS	Pakistan Reproductive Health and Family Planning Survey
PSU	Primary sampling unit
RHSC	Reproductive health service center
	1
SDM	Standard days method
SHS	Secondhand smoke
STI	Sexually transmitted infection
SWRHFPS	Status of Women, Reproductive Health, and Family Planning Survey
TAC	Technical Advisory Committee
ТВ	Tuberculosis
TFR	Total fertility rate
TWFR	Total wanted fertility rate
	,
UN	United Nations
UNAIDS	Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS
UNDP	United Nations Development Program
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund
USAID	United States Agency for International Development
	6. ,
VAD	Vitamin A deficiency
VIP	Ventilated improved pit
	r · · · · r ·
WHO	World Health Organization

MILLENNIUM DEVELOPMENT GOAL INDICATORS

Millennium Development Goal Indicators

Pakistan 2012-13

		Sex		
Indicator		Male	Female	Total
1. Era	adicate extreme poverty and hunger			
1.8	Prevalence of underweight children under 5 years of age	32.8	27.1	30.0
2. Ac	hieve universal primary education			
2.1	Net attendance ratio in primary education ¹	62.9	56.5	59.9
2.3	Literacy rate of 15- to 24-year-olds ²	66.6ª	49.4	58.0 ⁶
3. Pro	omote gender equality and empower women			
3.1	Ratio of girls to boys in primary, secondary, and tertiary education			
	3.1a Ratio of girls to boys in primary education	na	na	0.9
	3.1b Ratio of girls to boys in secondary education	na	na	0.9
	3.1c Ratio of girls to boys in tertiary education	na	na	0.8
4. Redu	ice child mortality			
4.1	Under-five mortality rate	98	96	89
4.2	Infant mortality rate*	82	79	74
4.3	Percentage of 1-year-old children immunized against measles	63.0	59.7	61.4
5. Impr	ove maternal health			
5.2	Percentage of births attended by skilled health personnel ⁵	na	na	52.1
5.3	Contraceptive prevalence rate ⁶	na	35.4	na
5.4	Adolescent birth rate'	na	44	na
5.5	Antenatal care coverage			
	5.5a At least one visit	na	73.1	na
5.0	5.5b Four or more visits	na	36.6	na
5.6	Unmet need for family planning	na	20.1	na
6. Com	bat HIV/AIDS, malaria, and other diseases			
6.3	Percentage of the population age 15-24 years with comprehensive correct knowledge of HIV/AIDS ¹⁰	5.2 ^a	4.2	4.7 [°]
6.8	Percentage of children under 5 with fever who are treated with appropriate antimalarial drugs'	3.0	3.8	3.4
		Urban	Rural	Total
7. Ensu	ire environmental sustainability			
7.8	Percentage of population using an improved water source ¹²	96.8	91.2	93.0
7.9	Percentage of population using an improved sanitation facility ¹³	86.8	46.2	59.5

na = Not applicable

¹ The ratio is based on reported attendance, not enrollment, in primary education among primary school age children (5- to 9-year-olds). The rate also includes children of primary school age enrolled in secondary education. This is a proxy for MDG indicator 2.1, net enrollment ratio.

² Refers to respondents who attended secondary school or higher or who could read a whole sentence or part of a sentence

³ Based on reported net attendance, not gross enrollment, among 5- to 9-year-olds for primary, 10- to 14-year-olds for secondary, and 15- to 19-year-olds for tertiary education

⁴ Expressed in terms of deaths per 1,000 live births. Mortality by sex refers to a 10-year reference period preceding the survey. Mortality rates for males and females combined refer to the 5-year period preceding the survey.

⁵ Among births in the 5 years preceding the survey

⁶ Percentage of currently married women age 15-49 using any method of contraception

⁷ Equivalent to the age-specific fertility rate for women age 15-19 for the 3-year period preceding the survey, expressed in terms of births per 1,000 women age 15-19 ⁸ With a skilled provider

9 With any health care provider

¹⁰ Based on ever-married women and men age 15-24 for the 2012-13 PDHS. Comprehensive knowledge means knowing that consistent use of a condom during sexual intercourse and having just one uninfected faithful partner can reduce the chance of getting the AIDS virus, knowing that a healthy-looking person can have the AIDS virus, and rejecting the two most common local misconceptions about transmission or prevention of the AIDS virus.

¹¹ Measured as the percentage of children age 0-59 months who were ill with a fever in the 2 weeks preceding the interview and received any antimalarial drug

¹² Percentage of de jure population whose main source of drinking water is a household connection (piped), public tap or standpipe, tubewell or borehole, protected dug well, protected spring, rainwater collection, bottled water, or filtration plant

¹³ Percentage of de jure population whose household has a flush toilet, ventilated improved pit latrine, pit latrine with a slab, or composting toilet and does not share this facility with other households

^a Restricted to men in the subsample of households selected for the male interview

^b The total is calculated as the simple arithmetic mean of the percentages in the columns for males and females.

PAKISTAN



INTRODUCTION

The 2012-13 Pakistan Demographic and Health Survey (PDHS) is the third survey conducted so far in Pakistan under the umbrella of the global Demographic and Health Survey (DHS) program. The earlier two surveys were conducted in 1990-91 and 2006-07. The DHS surveys are designed to collect data about demographic and maternal and child health indicators with the purpose of providing reliable and updated information for policymakers and program managers.

The 2012-13 PDHS specifically collected information about knowledge and practice of family planning, fertility levels, marriage, fertility preferences, child feeding practices, nutritional status of children and women, childhood mortality, maternal and child health, awareness and attitudes regarding HIV/AIDS, knowledge about other illnesses (e.g., tuberculosis, hepatitis B and C), and domestic violence. Information on the above-mentioned topics was mainly collected from ever-married women; however, some of the information was also collected from ever-married men. The collected information will provide a database for evaluation of relevant ongoing projects and can assist policymakers in developing appropriate strategies and plans for future projects.

This chapter presents a brief description of Pakistan's history, geography, economy, population growth (and its vital components), population density, urbanization status, and population welfare programs. In addition to these areas, it includes a detailed description of the organization and implementation of the 2012-13 PDHS. This discussion is deemed necessary to familiarize readers with the sociocultural, economic, and demographic features of the country. The chapter also highlights the methodology and important strategies utilized to ensure the reliability and quality of the data.

It is important to note that the findings presented in this report are representative at the provincial/regional and subprovincial/subregional levels. Since the passage of the 18th Amendment to the Constitution of Pakistan, the official duties and responsibilities of the ministries related to sociodemographic programs have been devolved to provincial/regional administrative entities. Hence, the findings of the survey at the regional and subregional levels will provide a baseline status of various programs being run under the administrative set-up of the regional/provincial governments.

1.1 HISTORY AND PHYSICAL FEATURES OF PAKISTAN

Pakistan gained its independence on 14 August 1947, after the subdivision of the Indian subcontinent then ruled by the British Empire. The foundation for its existence was laid much earlier, when the Muslims of India, as a minority on the Indian subcontinent, realized the need to form a political party that could represent and safeguard the interests of the Muslim population. The All-India Muslim League was formed in 1906 and, on 23 March 1940, it passed a resolution to establish a country named Pakistan for the Muslims of India. The area constituting Pakistan has at least a 4,000-year history dating from brick cities such as Mohen-jo-Daro and Harappa to the Hindu civilization and the Buddhists ruins contemporary to the birth of Christianity. Muslim leaders from central Asian countries and Afghanistan ruled the area from the 12th century to the 17th century, and their monuments, including mosques, gardens, forts, and tombs, are a common sight throughout Pakistan (National Institute of Population Studies [NIPS] and Macro International Inc., 2008).

Pakistan is situated in the northwestern part of the south Asian subcontinent. Comprising a total land area of 796,096 square kilometers, it features a diversified terrain and topography. The Indus River flows through the country for about 2,500 kilometers starting from the Himalayas and the Karakoram mountain range in the north to the Arabian Sea in the south. The Hindu Kush is another majestic mountain range in the north. The three mountain ranges meet at a point, a unique geographical feature found only in

Pakistan. The country's northern areas include five of the world's 14 highest mountain peaks, each over 8,000 meters. Mount Godwin Austen (8,611 meters) and Nanga Parbat (8,126 meters) are the most famous of these peaks. Pakistan also has extensive glaciers, including the Siachen Glacier (more than 5,753 meters at its peak).

Pakistan is located between 24° and 37° north latitude and between 61° and 75° east longitude. On its east and southeast lies India, to the north and northwest is Afghanistan, to the west is Iran, and to the south is the Arabian Sea. It has a common frontier with China on the border of its Gilgit region in the north. The old "silk route" connecting China to the Arabian Sea in south Pakistan is now a motorable asphalt road. The 4,733-meter Khunjerab Pass is the highest asphalt border crossing in the world. The road is open throughout the year despite its high altitude. Tajikistan, formerly a part of the USSR, is separated from Pakistan by a narrow strip of Afghan territory called the Wakhan.

Administratively, Pakistan is composed of four provinces along with the Federally Administrative Tribal Areas (FATA) and the Gilgit Baltistan region. The sparsely populated province of Balochistan (with about 5 percent of the total population), in the southwestern part of the country, comprises 43 percent of the land area of Pakistan. Punjab is the largest province in terms of population, with about 56 percent of the country's residents living there. The province of Sindh is the second largest, with about 23 percent of the population, and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa is the third largest, with about 17 percent. FATA accounts for just 0.5 percent of the population. Gilgit Baltistan (formerly known as the Northern Areas) comprises a total land area of 72,520 square kilometers, with a population of 883,799 (National Institute of Population Studies, 2009). In the northeast is Azad Kashmir, formerly part of Jammu and Kashmir and now physically under the control of Pakistan, with a land area of 11,639 square kilometers.

Pakistan is an agricultural country, and about 64 percent of its population lives in rural areas. Agriculture is central to the country's economic growth and development. As the dominant sector, it represents 21 percent of Pakistan's gross domestic product (GDP) (Government of Pakistan, 2013). Although the economy of Pakistan has had many ups and downs, it has fared well overall and grown at an average rate of close to 6 percent per year till 2007-08. Recently, however, almost all sectors of the economy have performed below their capacity, mainly because of the energy crises and the worsening security and law and order situation in the country. Other factors that have affected the country's growth during the last five years are devastating floods and rains.

1.2 POPULATION

The population of Pakistan was 32.5 million in 1951, at which time it was the 14th most populous country in the world. Its population has since increased approximately 5.5-fold, reaching 184.5 million in 2012-13. Pakistan is now the sixth most populous country in the world (Government of Pakistan, 2013).

The current population growth rate is 2 percent. According to estimates, Pakistan will become the fifth most populous country in 2050 at its current rate of population growth (Government of Pakistan, 2013). This scenario presents a picture that could be devastating for the country's already-scarce national resources. At present, the population density in Pakistan is 231 persons per square kilometer (Table 1.1). Although birth and death rates have fallen in Pakistan over the past several decades, the decrease in the death rate is much more rapid than the decrease in the birth rate. Subsequently, life expectancy at birth has increased: from 63.4 years in 1981 to 66.5 years in 2013 for females and from 62.4 years in 1981 to 64.6 years in 2013, for males (Government of Pakistan, 2013).

Efforts to reduce the population growth rate in Pakistan date as far back as 1953, when the Family Planning Association of Pakistan (FPAP), a nongovernmental organization, began providing family planning services to women. Realizing the need to stabilize population growth, the government of Pakistan joined forces with FPAP and offered assistance of Rs 0.5 million to the organization as part of the country's first five-year plan (1955-1960). Realizing the effects of population growth on socioeconomic development, the government made the population control program an integral part of the second five-year plan (1960-1965). The population control program has remained an important policy issue since 1960. Nevertheless, because of changes in

Table 1.1 Basic demographic indicators

Demographic indicators from selected sources for Pakistan, 1981-2013

Indicators	Census 1981	Census 1998	PES 2012-13
Population (millions) Intercensal growth rate	84.2	132.3	184.5
(porcontago)	2 10	2 60	2.00
(percentage)	5.10	2.09	2.00
Density (population/km ²)	106	166	231
Percentage urban	28.3	32.5	37.9
Life evenestenev (veere)			
Life expectancy (years)			
Male	62.4	62.5	64.6
Female	63.4	63.0	66.5

Source: Population Census Organization, Islamabad, Government of Pakistan; The Pakistan Development Review 37.4/II (winter 1998), pp 37:4,481-493; National Institute of Population Studies NIPS, Planning and Development Division, Government of Pakistan (2013)

the government's population policies every five to 10 years, the desired results have not been achieved. Another major shift in population planning was made in 2010 by devolving the population program to the provinces.

1.3 OBJECTIVES OF THE SURVEY

The 2012-13 Pakistan Demographic and Health Survey was undertaken to provide current and reliable data on fertility and family planning, childhood mortality, maternal and child health, women's and children's nutritional status, women's empowerment, domestic violence, and knowledge of HIV/AIDS. The survey was designed with the broad objective of providing policymakers with information to monitor and evaluate programmatic interventions based on empirical evidence. The specific objectives of the survey are to:

- collect high-quality data on topics such as fertility levels and preferences, contraceptive use, maternal and child health, infant (and especially neonatal) mortality levels, awareness regarding HIV/AIDS, and other indicators related to the Millennium Development Goals and the country's Poverty Reduction Strategy Paper
- investigate factors that affect maternal and neonatal morbidity and mortality (i.e., antenatal, delivery, and postnatal care)
- provide information to address the evaluation needs of health and family planning programs for evidence-based planning
- provide guidelines to program managers and policymakers that will allow them to effectively plan and implement future interventions

1.4 ORGANIZATION OF THE SURVEY

The National Institute of Population Studies undertook the responsibility of implementing the 2012-13 PDHS project, and the project was executed by the Pakistan Planning and Development Division (Islamabad). The Technical Advisory Committee, consisting of 30 national experts, professionals, researchers, and representatives from the provinces, provided input in the different stages of the project. NIPS was responsible for planning, organizing, and overseeing the survey operations, including hosting technical meetings; recruiting, training, and supervising fieldworkers and data processing staff; and writing this report. The Pakistan Bureau of Statistics (PBS) provided the sample design and household listings for the sampled areas across the country. The funding for the survey was provided by the United States

Agency for International Development (USAID), while technical and logistical support was provided by ICF International through its MEASURE DHS project.

1.5 SURVEY IMPLEMENTATION

1.5.1 Sample Design

The primary objective of the 2012-13 PDHS is to provide reliable estimates of key fertility, family planning, maternal, and child health indicators at the national, provincial, and urban and rural levels. NIPS coordinated the design and selection of the sample with the Pakistan Bureau of Statistics. The sample for the 2012-13 PDHS represents the population of Pakistan excluding Azad Jammu and Kashmir, FATA, and restricted military and protected areas. The universe consists of all urban and rural areas of the four provinces of Pakistan and Gilgit Baltistan, defined as such in the 1998 Population Census. PBS developed the urban area frame. All urban cities and towns are divided into mutually exclusive, small areas, known as enumeration blocks, that were identifiable with maps. Each enumeration block consists of about 200 to 250 households on average, and blocks are further grouped into low-, middle-, and high-income categories. The urban area sampling frame consists of 26,543 enumeration blocks, updated through the economic census conducted in 2003. In rural areas, lists of villages/mouzas/dehs developed through the 1998 population census were used as the sample frame. In this frame, each village/mouza/deh is identifiable by its name. In Balochistan, Islamabad, and Gilgit Baltistan, urban areas were oversampled and proportions were adjusted by applying sampling weights during the analysis.

A sample size of 14,000 households was estimated to provide reasonable precision for the survey indicators. NIPS trained 43 PBS staff members to obtain fresh listings from 248 urban and 252 rural survey sample areas across the country. The household listing was carried out from August to December 2012.

The second stage of sampling involved selecting households. At each sampling point, 28 households were selected by applying a systematic sampling technique with a random start. This resulted in 14,000 households being selected (6,944 in urban areas and 7,056 in rural areas). The survey was carried out in a total of 498 areas. Two areas of Balochistan province (Punjgur and Dera Bugti) were dropped because of their deteriorating law and order situations. Overall, 24 areas (mostly in Balochistan) were replaced, mainly because of their adverse law and order situation (for further details on sample size and design, see Appendix B).

1.5.2 Questionnaires

The 2012-13 PDHS used four types of questionnaires: Household Questionnaire, Woman's Questionnaire, Man's Questionnaire, and Community Questionnaire. The contents of the Household, Woman's, and Man's Questionnaires were based on model questionnaires developed by the MEASURE DHS program. However, the questionnaires were modified, in consultation with a broad spectrum of research institutions, government departments, and local and international organizations, to reflect issues relevant to the Pakistani population, including migration status, family planning, domestic violence, HIV/AIDS, and maternal and child health. A series of questionnaire design meetings were organized by NIPS, and discussions from these meetings were used to finalize the survey questionnaires. The questionnaires were then translated into Urdu and Sindhi and pretested, after which they were further refined. The questionnaires were presented to the Technical Advisory Committee for final approval.

The Household Questionnaire was used to list the usual members and visitors in the selected households. Basic information was collected on the characteristics of each person listed, including age, sex, marital status, education, and relationship to the head of the household. Data on current school attendance, migration status, and survivorship of parents among those under age 18 were also collected. The questionnaire also provided the opportunity to identify ever-married women and men age 15-49 who were eligible for individual interviews and children age 0-5 eligible for anthropometry measurements. The

Household Questionnaire collected information on characteristics of the dwelling unit as well, such as the source of drinking water; type of toilet facilities; type of cooking fuel; materials used for the floor, roof, and walls of the house; and ownership of durable goods, agricultural land, livestock/farm animals/poultry, and mosquito nets.

The Woman's Questionnaire was used to collect information from ever-married women age 15-49 on the following topics:

- Background characteristics (education, literacy, native tongue, marital status, etc.)
- Reproductive history
- Knowledge and use of family planning methods
- Fertility preferences
- Antenatal, delivery, and postnatal care
- Breastfeeding and infant feeding practices
- Vaccinations and childhood illnesses
- Woman's work and husband's background characteristics
- Infant and childhood mortality
- Women's decision making
- Awareness about AIDS and other sexually transmitted infections
- Other health issues (e.g., knowledge of tuberculosis and hepatitis, injection safety)
- Domestic violence

Similarly, the Man's Questionnaire, used to collect information from ever-married men age 15-49, covered the following topics:

- Background characteristics
- Knowledge and use of family planning methods
- Fertility preferences
- Employment and gender roles
- Awareness about AIDS and other sexually transmitted infections
- Other health issues

The Community Questionnaire, a brief form completed for each rural sample point, included questions about the availability of various types of health facilities and other services, particularly transportation, education, and communication facilities.

All elements of the PDHS data collection activities were pretested in June 2012. Three teams were formed for the pretest, each consisting of a supervisor, a male interviewer, and three female interviewers. One team worked in the Sukkur and Khairpur districts in the province of Sindh, another in the Peshawar and Charsadda districts in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, and the third in the district of Rawalpindi in Punjab. Each team covered one rural and one urban non-sample area. Data collection started on 20 June 2012 and required approximately one week to complete. A three-day debriefing session was held at NIPS. Lessons learned from the pretest were used to finalize the survey instruments.

1.5.3 Training

NIPS staff responsible for the survey made considerable efforts to recruit people with the requisite skills to work as field staff. Advertisements were placed in national and local newspapers across the country, and, after screening the applicants, NIPS staff visited various provincial headquarters and large cities to administer tests and interviews before selecting the final candidates. Almost all of those recruited were university graduates; three-quarters had a master's degree. A few had been involved in work for the 2006-07 PDHS. They came from 57 districts of Pakistan, including Gilgit Baltistan. NIPS organized a

three weeks long training course (during September and October 2012) in Islamabad for the 144 participants.

The training was conducted following the standard DHS procedures, which included class presentations, daily reviews, mock interviews, class exercises, and a written test at the end of the training. A few individuals who were unable to pass the test were excluded. The trainers consisted mainly of ICF International and NIPS staff. For the first time, the PDHS used the computer-assisted field editing (CAFE) system in the survey; specialized training was carried out for the participants selected to be field editors.

Toward the end of the training, three days were set aside for field practice in Islamabad and Rawalpindi. Each day after the field practice, the completed questionnaires were reviewed by senior staff, and the problems identified were discussed in the morning plenary sessions. These questionnaires were also entered in the CAFE system to allow practice among the field editors.

1.5.4 Fieldwork

A total of 20 teams were organized to collect data; each consisted of a supervisor, a field editor, one male interviewer, and three female interviewers. The teams were initially deployed around Islamabad and Rawalpindi to enable intense supervision and technical backstopping at an early stage. All of the teams completed one field cluster and electronically transferred the data to the central office. Each day, a review session was organized to share the experiences of the teams. The trainers provided necessary feedback on all aspects of the fieldwork, including field management and rapport building with respondents. The fieldwork was carried out from October 2012 to March 2013, with the exception of one team in Balochistan that completed its fieldwork in the third week of April.

1.5.5 Field Supervision and Monitoring

Data quality was ensured through the inclusion of different levels of supervisory staff who monitored the fieldwork. In addition to the team supervisors, four quality control teams (each comprising one male member and two female members) were deployed to monitor fieldwork. Each quality control team visited field teams for two to three days and was responsible for observing interviews, reviewing the completed questionnaires to ensure that information was recorded correctly, verifying information by revisiting and reinterviewing respondents, observing height and weight measurements, and completing assignment sheets. The quality control teams were in the field from the beginning of the fieldwork to the end of the survey. Each team was provided with a separate vehicle to allow quick mobility. After each visit, the reports submitted by quality control teams to NIPS were examined, and feedback to the field teams was conveyed when necessary.

NIPS also designated three professionals from its research staff to act as field coordinators. They visited the teams assigned to them frequently to check on household selection procedures, the interviewer assignment process, questionnaire editing, team coordination, and time management. These field coordinators, usually accompanied by the quality control interviewers, observed interviews, conducted reinterviews, edited completed questionnaires, reviewed any errors with team members, and provided on-the-job training to weaker field staff.

In addition, monitoring was undertaken by NIPS senior staff, the survey advisor, and the principal investigator to check the quality of the data and other field procedures. Any deviations from set procedures by any member of the field team were pointed out and immediately rectified. Independent monitoring was also undertaken by the staff of USAID and ICF International. In view of the adverse law and order situation, particularly in Balochistan, help in field monitoring was also sought from community-based organizations and provincial population welfare departments. Data quality was monitored as well through the field check tables generated concurrently with data processing activities. Immediate feedback (by phone and through visiting and sharing with interviewers) was given. The interviewers were also cautioned not to repeat mistakes.

1.5.6 Field Problems and Challenges

A number of challenges were faced by the field teams, especially in Balochistan, Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, Gilgit Baltistan, and Karachi (Sindh). For example, team members received text messages on their cell phones of dire consequences and death threats if they continued collecting data. This scenario was especially true in Balochistan because of the prevailing law and order situation and security problems. Consultative meetings with security and civil agencies, the Population Welfare Department, and the Balochistan government were arranged, and on-the-spot strategies were adopted. Moreover, the survey teams were reshuffled, and one team was eliminated and replaced by a team with new members. These new team members were trained afresh in Islamabad. Although the field problems and challenges encountered resulted in delays in data collection, the quality of the data was not compromised. In parts of Khyber Pakhtunkhwa and Gilgit Baltistan, the teams faced mobility problems due to heavy snow and tough terrain. Consequently, the fieldwork in these areas was prolonged, but the data collection was completed. In Karachi, the teams faced resistance from the local community, which hampered field activities and thus affected the data collection schedule.

In view of the adverse security situation in some parts of the provinces, different field strategies were adopted so that the teams were not as easily noticed when they were in the field. For example, instead of working consecutively for three days in a cluster, the teams were advised to start data collection in three clusters simultaneously in such a way that they worked on rotation. In some areas, instead of a 12-seater van, small taxis were used so that the presence of the team did not become obvious.

Data collection was not possible in Punjgur district and Dera Bugti in Balochistan because of the serious law and order situation. In two of the four partially completed clusters (one in the Tank district of Khyber Pakhtunkhwa and the other in the Mastung district of Balochistan), the teams faced threats of dire consequences and had to stop their fieldwork. Other factors such as seasonal migration and closure of access roads due to heavy snowfall also hampered work in some areas.

1.5.7 Data Processing

The processing of the 2012-13 PDHS data began simultaneously with the fieldwork. Completed questionnaires were edited and data entry was carried out immediately in the field by the field editors. The data were uploaded on the same day to enable retrieval in the central office at NIPS in Islamabad, and the Internet File Streaming System was used to transfer data from the field to the central office. The completed questionnaires were then returned periodically from the field to the NIPS office in Islamabad through a courier service, where the data were again edited and entered by data processing personnel specially trained for this task. Thus, all data were entered twice for 100 percent verification. Data were entered using the CSPro computer package. The concurrent processing of the data offered a distinct advantage because of the assurance that the data were error-free and authentic. Moreover, the double entry of data enabled easy identification of errors and inconsistencies, which were resolved via comparisons with the paper questionnaire entries. The secondary editing of the data was completed in the first week of May 2013.

As noted, the PDHS used the CAFE system in the field for the first time. This application was developed and fully tested before teams were deployed in the field. Field editors were selected after careful screening from among the participants who attended the main training exercise. Seven-day training was arranged for field editors so that each editor could enter a sample cluster's data under the supervision of NIPS senior staff, which enabled a better understanding of the CAFE system. The system was deemed efficient in capturing data immediately in the field and providing immediate feedback to the field teams. Early transfer of data back to the central office enabled the generation of field check tables on a regular basis, an efficient tool for monitoring the fieldwork.

1.6 RESPONSE RATES

Table 1.2 shows the response rates for the 2012-13 PDHS. A total of 13,944 households were selected for the sample, of which 13,464 were found to be occupied at the time of the fieldwork. The shortfall is largely due to household members being absent. Of the occupied households, 12,943 were successfully interviewed, yielding a household response rate of 96 percent. In view of the adverse law and order situation in the country, this response rate is highly encouraging and appears to be the result of a well-coordinated team effort.

Table 4 0	Deculte of	املم ممر مما مما	الحبيباء أنسطك بالمصح	
Table LZ	Results of	the nousenoid	and individual	interviews

Number of households, number of interviews, and response rates, according to residence (unweighted), Pakistan 2012-13

	Resid		
Result	Urban	Rural	Total
Household interviews			
Households selected	6,944	7,000	13,944
Households occupied	6,685	6,779	13,464
Households interviewed	6,335	6,608	12,943
Household response rate ¹	94.8	97.5	96.1
Interviews with ever-married women age 15-49			
Number of eligible women	6,964	7,605	14,569
Number of eligible women interviewed	6,351	7,207	13,558
Eligible women response rate ²	91.2	94.8	93.1
Interviews with ever-married men age 15-49			
Number of eligible men	2,007	1,984	3,991
Number of eligible men interviewed	1,521	1,613	3,134
Eligible men response rate ²	75.8	81.3	78.5

² Respondents interviewed/leligible respondents

Respondents interviewed/eligible respondent

A total of 14,569 ever-married women age 15-49 were identified in the 12,943 households interviewed (an average of 1.13 women per household). Of the eligible women, 13,558 were successfully interviewed, yielding a response rate of 93 percent. The principal reason for non-response among eligible women was the failure to find individuals at home despite repeated visits to the household. Response rates were lower in urban areas than in rural areas.

A sample of 3,991 men was identified as eligible to be interviewed. Of these men, 3,134 were successfully interviewed, yielding a response rate of 79 percent. As expected, the response rate for men was lower in urban areas than in rural areas, mainly because men in urban areas are often away from their households for work. In many instances, the interviewers could not contact them even after several visits in the late evenings and, in some cases, efforts to interview them at their place of work.

Key Findings

- Access to an improved source of drinking water is 93 percent in Pakistan, but only 8 percent of households use an appropriate water treatment method.
- Fifty-nine percent of households have an improved toilet facility not shared with other households.
- Ninety-four percent of households have electricity.
- Sixty-two percent of households use solid fuel for cooking, and 39 percent are exposed daily to secondhand smoke.
- Overall, 87 percent of households possess mobile phones (95 percent of households in urban areas and 83 percent in rural areas).
- Thirty-four percent of children under age 5 are registered, and 32 percent have a birth certificate; 83 percent of adults age 18 and over are registered with a national identity card number.
- Fifty-three percent of women have no education, as compared with 34 percent of men.
- Net attendance ratios are 60 percent at the primary level and 37 percent at the secondary level.

his chapter provides an overview of the socioeconomic characteristics of the household population, including household conditions, sources of drinking water, sanitation facilities, hand washing, availability of electricity, housing facilities, possession of durable goods, and means of transport. Information on household assets is used to create a wealth index as an indicator of household economic status. This chapter also describes the demographic characteristics of the household population, including population composition, age, sex, educational attainment, school dropout (and reasons for dropout), rates of school attendance, birth registration of children under age 5, and migration status.

A household was defined as a person or group of related and unrelated persons who usually live together in the same dwelling unit(s), who have common cooking and eating arrangements, and who acknowledge one adult member as the head of the household. A member of the household is any person who usually lives in the household.

Information is collected from all usual residents of a selected household (de jure population) as well as persons who stayed in the selected household the night before the interview (de facto population). The difference between these two populations is very small, and all tables in this report refer to the de facto population, unless otherwise specified, to maintain comparability with other PDHS reports.

The information in this chapter is intended to facilitate interpretation of the key demographic, socioeconomic, and health indices presented later in the report. It is also intended to assist in the assessment of the representativeness of the survey sample.

2.1 HOUSEHOLD CHARACTERISTICS

Household characteristics include access to basic utilities and sources of drinking water, time needed to obtain drinking water, and water treatment practices as well as type of and access to sanitation facilities and housing structure. The crowding of dwelling spaces and type of fuel used for cooking are physical characteristics of a household used to assess the general well-being and socioeconomic status of

its members. This section provides information from the 2012-13 PDHS on drinking water, sanitation facilities, housing characteristics, and possession of basic amenities.

2.1.1 Water and Sanitation

Access to safe water and sanitation are basic determinants of better health. Lack of access to safe drinking water and sanitation facilities and poor hygiene are associated with skin diseases, acute respiratory infections (ARIs), and diarrheal diseases. ARIs and diarrheal diseases remain the leading causes of childhood deaths in Pakistan that are preventable with primary health care measures (NIPS and Macro International, 2008).

Table 2.1 presents the percent distribution of households and the de jure population by area of residence and source of drinking water, time needed to obtain drinking water, and whether drinking water was treated. In this survey, sources that are likely to provide water suitable for drinking are identified as improved sources. These include a piped source within the dwelling, yard, or plot; a public tap/standpipe; borehole; a protected well; spring water; and rainwater (WHO and UNICEF Joint Monitoring Program for Water Supply and Sanitation, 2010). Access to an improved source of drinking water is nearly universal in Pakistan (93 percent). The most common source of drinking water in urban areas is water piped into a dwelling, yard, or plot (50 percent), followed by a tube well or borehole/hand pump (23 percent), a public tap or standpipe (9 percent), a filtration plant (8 percent), and bottled water (6 percent). In contrast, a tube well or borehole is the main source of drinking water in rural areas (62 percent), followed by water piped into a dwelling or yard (20 percent), a public tap or standpipe (5 percent), and a protected well (3 percent). For 77 percent of households, the source of drinking water is on the premises. Fifteen percent of households spend less than 30 minutes round trip to obtain water. As expected, it takes longer to obtain drinking water in rural areas than in urban areas.

Table 2.1 Household drinking water

	Households			Population		
Characteristic	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
Source of drinking water						
Improved source	97.1	91.5	93.4	96.8	91.2	93.0
Piped into dwelling/yard/plot	50.4	19.5	30.0	49.6	18.6	28.8
Public tap/standpipe	9.2	5.3	6.6	9.4	5.3	6.7
Tube well or borehole/hand pump	23.0	61.5	48.5	23.7	61.7	49.3
Protected well	0.8	2.6	2.0	0.9	2.7	2.1
Protected spring/rain water	0.1	1.3	0.9	0.1	1.4	1.0
Bottled water	5.5	0.2	2.0	5.1	0.3	1.8
Filtration plant	8.1	1.1	3.5	7.9	1.2	3.4
Non-improved source	2.4	7.7	5.9	2.8	8.2	6.4
Unprotected well	0.3	2.0	1.4	0.3	1.9	1.4
Unprotected spring	0.0	2.8	1.8	0.0	3.1	2.1
Tanker truck/cart with drum	1.6	1.5	1.6	1.9	1.7	1.7
Surface water	0.4	1.4	1.1	0.5	1.6	1.2
Other source	0.4	0.8	0.6	0.3	0.6	0.5
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Time to obtain drinking water (round trip)						
Water on premises	77.6	75.9	76.5	78.0	75.7	76.5
Less than 30 minutes	16.7	13.6	14.6	16.2	13.4	14.3
30 minutes or longer	5.2	10.1	8.4	5.2	10.5	8.8
Don't know/missing	0.6	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.4
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Water treatment prior to drinking ¹						
Boiled	18.5	1.2	7.1	17.0	1.2	6.4
Bleach/chlorine added	0.5	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.1	0.2
Strained through cloth	4.5	1.4	2.5	4.6	1.5	2.5
Ceramic, sand, or other filter	2.0	0.1	0.7	2.0	0.1	0.7
Solar disinfection	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.1
Other	0.2	0.5	0.4	0.2	0.6	0.5
No treatment	76.9	96.6	89.9	78.4	96.6	90.6
Percentage using an appropriate treatment method ²	20.6	1.5	8.0	19.2	1.3	7.2
Number	4,383	8,560	12,943	28,773	58,944	87,717

Percent distribution of households and de jure population by source of drinking water, time to obtain drinking water, and treatment of drinking water, according to residence, Pakistan 2012-13

¹Respondents may report multiple treatment methods so the sum of treatment may exceed 100 percent.

² Appropriate water treatment methods include boiling, bleaching, filtering, and solar disinfecting.
The majority of households (90 percent) do not treat their drinking water, and only 8 percent of households use an appropriate water treatment method. Rural households are much less likely than urban households to treat their water appropriately (2 percent and 21 percent, respectively). Overall, boiling water prior to drinking is the most common treatment method (7 percent). One percent of rural households boil water, while almost 19 percent of urban households do so.

Households' sanitation facilities are important in preventing risks of diseases such as diarrhea, dysentery, and typhoid. At the household level, adequate sanitation facilities include an improved toilet and disposal that separates waste from human contact. A household is classified as having an improved toilet if it is used only by household members (is not shared with another household) and if it separates waste from human contact (WHO and UNICEF, 2010). Table 2.2 shows the percent distribution of households by type of toilet/latrine facilities and area of residence. A total of 59 percent of households have an improved, not shared toilet facility, and 11 percent use a shared facility. Urban households are more likely than rural households to use a toilet facility that is not shared (86 percent and 45 percent, respectively). About 30 percent of households use a non-improved toilet facility. Of these households, 6 percent use a flush toilet that is not drained to a sewer or septic tank/pit latrine, and 2 percent use pit latrines without slabs or have open pits. Twenty-one percent of households have no toilet facility, an improvement from 2006-07, when 30 percent of households reported having no toilet facility (NIPS and Macro International, 2008). Rural households are more likely than urban households to have no toilet facility (32 percent and less than 1 percent, respectively).

Table 2.2 Household sanitation facilities

Percent distribution of households and de jure population by type of toilet/latrine facilities, according to residence, Pakistan 2012-13

		Households	6		Population	
Type of toilet/latrine facility	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
Improved, not shared facility	86.1	44.6	58.7	86.8	46.2	59.5
Flush/pour flush to piped sewer system	64.4	7.1	26.5	63.9	7.3	25.8
Flush/pour flush to septic tank	13.6	18.1	16.6	13.7	17.8	16.4
Flush/pour flush to pit latrine	6.7	16.2	13.0	7.4	17.4	14.1
Ventilated improved pit (VIP) latrine	0.4	0.7	0.6	0.6	0.9	0.8
Pit latrine with slab	1.0	2.5	2.0	1.1	2.9	2.3
Shared facility ¹	8.4	12.2	10.9	7.6	10.5	9.6
Flush/pour flush to piped sewer system	5.2	2.0	3.1	4.8	1.8	2.8
Flush/pour flush to septic tank	1.9	5.1	4.0	1.6	4.2	3.4
Flush/pour flush to pit latrine	1.1	4.2	3.2	1.0	3.8	2.9
Ventilated improved pit (VIP) latrine	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.2
Pit latrine with slab	0.1	0.5	0.4	0.1	0.4	0.3
Non-improved facility	5.5	43.2	30.4	5.6	43.3	30.9
Flush/pour flush not to sewer/septic						
tank/pit latrine	4.0	6.9	5.9	4.0	6.7	5.8
Pit latrine without slab/open pit	0.6	3.2	2.3	0.8	3.7	2.7
Bucket	0.0	0.6	0.4	0.0	0.7	0.5
Hanging toilet/hanging latrine	0.0	0.3	0.2	0.0	0.3	0.2
No facility/bush/field	0.6	31.7	21.2	0.6	31.5	21.4
Other	0.0	0.3	0.2	0.0	0.2	0.2
Missing	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Number	4,383	8,560	12,943	28,773	58,944	87,717

¹ Facilities that would be considered improved if they were not shared by two or more households

Data on provincial differentials in household drinking water and household sanitation facilities are shown in Appendix Tables A2.1 and A2.2.

2.1.2 Housing Characteristics

Housing characteristics and assets can be used as a measure of the socioeconomic status of household members. Also, cooking practices and cooking fuels affect the health of family members and the quality of their environment. For example, use of biomass fuels exposes household members to indoor pollution, which has a direct bearing on their health and surroundings.

Table 2.3 provides information on household characteristics such as availability of electricity, type of flooring material, number of rooms used for sleeping, place for cooking, type of fuel used for cooking, and frequency of smoking in the house. Overall, 94 percent of households in Pakistan have access to electricity, compared with 89 percent in the 2006-07 PDHS. Mud and sand are the most common flooring materials used in Pakistan (42 percent), followed by cement (34 percent), bricks (9 percent), and chips or terrazzo (7 percent). Mud and sand materials are predominantly used in rural areas (59 percent), while in urban areas the most common flooring material is cement (52 percent).

The number of rooms used for sleeping indicates the extent of crowding in households. Overcrowding increases the risk of contracting infectious diseases, which particularly affect children and older household members. Thirty-nine percent of households have either one or two rooms for sleeping, while 21 percent have three or more rooms. There is substantial variation in the number of households with one room used for sleeping by urban and rural residence (33 percent and 42 percent, respectively). Forty-one percent of households in urban areas and 38 percent in rural areas use two rooms for sleeping.

Indoor air pollution has important implications for the health of household members. The type of fuel used for cooking, the place where cooking is done, and the type of stove used are all related to indoor air quality and the degree to which household members are exposed to the risk of respiratory infections and other diseases. In Pakistan, the risk of indoor air pollution from cooking fuel is large

Table 2.3 Household characteristics

Percent distribution of households by housing characteristics, percentage using solid fuel for cooking, and percent distribution by frequency of smoking in the home, according to residence, Pakistan 2012-13

	Resi	dence	
Housing characteristic	Urban	Rural	Total
Flectricity			
Yes	99.8	90.5	93.6
No	0.2	9.5	6.4
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0
Flooring material			
Mud, sand	7.0	59.3	41.6
Dung	0.2	2.6	1.8
Ceramic tiles	2.6	0.4	1.1
Carpet	29	24.3	12
Chips/terrazzo	14.8	2.2	6.5
Bricks	8.8	8.9	8.9
Marble	11.1	1.5	4.7
Other	1.1	0.4	0.6
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0
Rooms used for sleeping			
One	33.1	42.4	39.3
	41.0	37.9	38.9
Missing	25.2	19.3	21.3
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0
Place for cooking	05.4	00.0	00.7
In the house	95.4 1 1	92.8	93.7
Outdoors	0.2	0.4	0.3
No food cooked in	0.2	011	0.0
household	0.3	0.3	0.3
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0
Cooking fuel			
LPG/natural gas/biogas	86.3	12.7	37.6
Coal/lignite	0.0	0.1	0.0
Charcoal	0.7	2.9	2.1
Straw/shrubs/grass	0.4	6.5	47.4
Animal dung	1.2	11.5	8.0
Other	0.1	0.0	0.1
No food cooked in			
household	0.3	0.3	0.3
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0
Percentage using solid fuel for cooking ¹	13.4	87.0	62.1
Frequency of smoking in			
ne nome Daily	31.0	12 0	30.1
Weekly	1.8	1.5	1.6
Monthly	0.4	0.2	0.3
Less than monthly	0.9	0.6	0.7
Never	65.1	54.8	58.3
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0
Number	4,383	8,560	12,943

LPG = Liquid petroleum gas

¹ Includes coal/lignite, charcoal, wood/straw/shrubs/grass, and animal dung

given that 94 percent of households cook in the house, whereas only 6 percent cook in a separate building. Urban households are more likely than rural households to cook in the house (95 percent and 93 percent, respectively).

Overall, more than half of households (62 percent) use solid fuel for cooking. There are substantial urban-rural differences in the use of solid fuel, however. In urban areas, only 13 percent of households use solid fuel for cooking, while the majority of rural households (87 percent) use solid fuel, including coal or lignite, charcoal, wood, straw, shrubs, grass, and animal dung that generate smoke that is unhealthy to breathe. The percentages of urban and rural households relying on wood for fuel decreased from 19 percent and 68 percent, respectively, in 2006-07 to 11 percent and 66 percent in 2012-13. As expected, use of liquid petroleum gas (LPG), natural gas, and biogas is limited to urban areas (86 percent).

Reducing the proportion of the population that relies on solid fuels is one of the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs). The 2012-13 PDHS shows that Pakistan is slowly making progress toward this goal, with the proportion of the population using solid fuels decreasing from 67 percent in 2006-07 to 62 percent in 2012-13.

Information on smoking was collected in the 2012-13 PDHS to assess the percentage of household members who are exposed to second-hand smoke (SHS), which is a risk factor for those who do not smoke. Pregnant women who are exposed to SHS have a higher risk of delivering a low birth weight baby (Windham et al., 1999). Also, children who are exposed to SHS are at a higher risk of respiratory and ear infections and poor lung development (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2006). Table 2.3 provides information on the frequency of smoking in the home, which is used as a proxy for level of SHS exposure. Overall, 39 percent of households are exposed daily to SHS; rural households are more likely than urban households to be exposed daily to SHS (43 percent and 32 percent, respectively).

2.1.3 Household Possessions

Possession of durable consumer goods is another useful indicator of household socioeconomic status. The possession and use of household durable goods have multiple effects and implications. For instance, access to a radio or television exposes household members to updated daily events, information, and educational materials. Similarly, a refrigerator prolongs food storage and keeps food fresh and hygienic. Ownership of transportation allows greater access to services away from the local area and enhances social and economic activities. Table 2.4 presents the percentages of urban and rural households that possess various durable commodities, means of transportation, and agricultural land and farm animals. The table shows that televisions and mobile telephones are common devices possessed by most households for information and communication. Possession of mobile and non-mobile phones increased from 46 percent in 2006-07 to 96 percent in 2012-13. Approximately 95 percent of households in urban areas and 83 percent of households in rural areas possess mobile phones. Six of 10 households have a television. Urban households are more likely to have a television (87 percent) than rural households (47 percent). Possession of a radio decreased from 32 percent in 2006-07 to 11 percent in 2012-13, while ownership of a television increased from 56 percent to 60 percent. Another indicator of household socioeconomic status is ownership of a computer and availability of an Internet connection. Thirteen percent of households in Pakistan own a computer, and 7 percent have access to an Internet connection. There are notable urbanrural variations in the proportions of households owning computers and having access to an Internet connection. For example, 29 percent of urban households and 5 percent of rural households own a computer. Similarly, 17 percent of urban households have access to an Internet connection, as compared with only 1 percent of rural households.

A refrigerator is available in 44 percent of households (70 percent of urban households and 30 percent of rural households). About one in two households possess an almirah/cabinet and a chair. About 11 percent of households possess a room cooler, with a higher percentage in urban areas than rural areas (19 percent and 7 percent, respectively). Seven percent of households own an air conditioner and 48 percent have a washing machine and water pump, with higher percentages in urban than rural households.

Motorcycles/scooters and bicycles are the most common means of transportation in Pakistan; 35 percent of households own a motorcycle, and 28 percent own a bicycle. Motorcycle ownership is more common in urban (47 percent) than rural (28 percent) areas, whereas bicycle ownership is common in both urban and rural areas (27 percent and 28 percent, respectively). Only 9 percent of households own an animaldrawn cart; percentages are higher in rural (12 percent) than urban (3 percent) households. Ownership of a car, truck, or bus is higher in urban areas (12 percent) than in rural areas (4 percent).

Thirty-one percent of households own agricultural land. Ownership of a homestead or other land is less common in urban areas (11 percent) than in rural areas (41 percent).

Table 2.4 Household possessions

Percentage of households possessing various household effects, means of transportation, agricultural land, and livestock/farm animals by residence, Pakistan 2012-13

	Resid		
Possession	Urban	Rural	Total
Household effects			
Radio	10.7	11.0	10.9
Television	86.5	46.7	60.2
Mobile telephone	94.7	83.0	87.0
Non-mobile telephone	19.5	3.6	9.0
Refrigerator	70.4	30.2	43.8
Almirah/cabinet	73.5	34.3	47.6
Chair	71.1	45.9	54.4
Room cooler	19.2	6.8	11.0
Air conditioner	17.9	1.7	7.2
Washing machine	79.3	32.7	48.4
Water pump	65.2	39.1	47.9
Bed	90.6	88.1	89.0
Clock	89.3	55.9	67.2
Sofa	56.3	18.7	31.5
Camera	19.1	4.2	9.3
Sewing machine	75.2	46.6	56.3
Computer	29.1	5.2	13.3
Internet connection	17.4	1.3	6.8
Watch	56.8	40.8	46.2
Means of transport			
Bicycle	26.9	28.2	27.8
Animal-drawn cart	3.1	12.0	9.0
Motorcycle/scooter	46.5	28.3	34.5
Car/truck/bus	11.5	3.5	6.2
Tractor	0.9	4.2	3.1
Boat with a motor	0.1	0.0	0.1
Boat without a motor	0.1	0.1	0.1
Ownership of agricultural land	11.3	40.8	30.8
Ownership of farm animals ¹	11.6	63.8	46.1
Number	4,383	8,560	12,943
1			

¹ Cattle, cows, bulls, buffalo, horses, donkeys, camels, goats, sheep, or chickens

Ownership of land other than a homestead has declined slightly since 2006-07 (from 37 percent to 31 percent), especially in rural areas (50 percent to 41 percent).

Forty-six percent of households own farm animals (cattle, cows, bulls, buffalo, horses, donkeys, camels, goats, sheep, chickens), the most commonly owned type of livestock. As expected, rural households are more likely than urban households to own livestock (64 percent and 12 percent, respectively). The proportion of households owning livestock has dropped (by 7 percentage points in rural areas and 5 percentage points in urban areas) since 2006-07.

2.2 Socioeconomic Status Index

The wealth index used in this survey has been used in many DHS and other country-level surveys to measure inequalities in household characteristics, in the use of health and other services, and in health outcomes (Rutstein et al., 2000). It serves as an indicator of household-level wealth that is consistent with expenditure and income measures (Rutstein, 1999). The index is constructed using data on household ownership of assets based on principal components analysis.

In its current form, which takes better account of urban-rural differences in indicators of wealth, the index is created in three steps. In the first step, a subset of indicators common to urban and rural areas is used to create wealth scores for households in both areas. Categorical variables are transformed into separate dichotomous (0-1) indicators. These indicators and those that are continuous are then examined using a principal components analysis to produce a common factor score for each household. In the second

step, separate factor scores are produced for households in urban and rural areas using area-specific indicators. The third step combines the separate area-specific factor scores to produce a nationally applicable combined wealth index by adjusting area-specific scores through a regression on the common factor scores. This three-step procedure permits greater adaptability of the wealth index in both urban and rural areas. The resulting combined wealth index has a mean of zero and a standard deviation of one. Once the index is computed, national-level wealth quintiles (from lowest to highest) are obtained by assigning household scores to each de jure household member, ranking each person in the population by his or her score, and then dividing the ranking into five equal categories, each comprising 20 percent of the population.

Table 2.5 presents wealth quintiles by residence and region. Fifty percent of urban residents are in the highest wealth quintile, as compared with only 5 percent of rural residents. Residents of ICT Islamabad are more likely to fall in the highest wealth quintile (69 percent) than people living in other regions. In contrast, Gilgit Baltistan, Balochistan, and Sindh have the highest proportions of residents in the lowest wealth quintile (50 percent, 44 percent, and 32 percent, respectively).

Table 2.5 Wealth quintiles

Percent distribution of the de jure population by wealth quintiles, and the Gini coefficient, according to residence and region, Pakistan 2012-13

		V	Vealth quintil	е			Number of	Gini
Residence/region	Lowest	Second	Middle	Fourth	Highest	Total	persons	coefficient
Residence								
Urban	1.5	4.5	14.0	30.1	50.0	100.0	28,773	0.15
Rural	29.1	27.6	22.9	15.1	5.3	100.0	58,944	0.31
Region								
Punjab	13.1	19.2	23.5	23.7	20.5	100.0	48,879	0.30
Urban	1.0	2.7	15.7	31.1	49.6	100.0	15,367	0.20
Rural	18.6	26.8	27.1	20.4	7.2	100.0	33,511	0.30
Sindh	32.0	14.4	10.0	16.3	27.2	100.0	20,990	0.38
Urban	1.3	5.3	9.0	29.1	55.3	100.0	10,058	0.20
Rural	60.2	22.8	11.0	4.6	1.4	100.0	10,932	0.40
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	18.1	32.0	24.9	15.4	9.6	100.0	12,606	0.31
Urban	1.4	8.2	19.2	32.1	39.1	100.0	2,121	0.20
Rural	21.5	36.8	26.0	12.0	3.7	100.0	10,485	0.30
Balochistan	43.8	21.1	16.8	11.5	6.7	100.0	4,112	0.27
Urban	10.5	15.0	29.8	27.0	17.7	100.0	845	0.20
Rural	52.5	22.7	13.5	7.5	3.9	100.0	3,268	0.30
ICT Islamabad	1.6	2.2	8.7	18.2	69.4	100.0	428	0.16
Gilgit Baltistan	49.7	33.2	12.2	3.9	0.9	100.0	702	0.31
Total	20.0	20.0	20.0	20.0	20.0	100.0	87,717	0.28

Table 2.5 also includes information on the Gini coefficient, which indicates the distribution of wealth. This ratio is expressed as a proportion between 0 (equal distribution) and 1 (totally unequal distribution). Overall, Pakistan has a Gini coefficient of 0.28. Wealth inequality is much higher in rural than in urban areas (0.31 and 0.15, respectively), corresponding well with the wealth quintile results discussed above. Inequality in wealth is highest in Sindh and lowest in ICT Islamabad (0.38 and 0.16, respectively).

2.3 Hand Washing

Observance and promotion of basic hygiene are fundamental for good public health. Hand washing with a detergent ensures that transmission of germs is restricted, especially among children who are prone to diarrhea and other childhood illnesses. Hand washing, which protects against communicable diseases, is promoted by the government of Pakistan through public awareness programs and development partners. Table 2.6 provides information, according to residence (urban or rural), region, and wealth quintile, on designated places for hand washing in households and on the use of water and cleansing agents for washing hands.

Table 2.6 Hand washing

Puniab Sindh

Balochistan

ICT Islamabad

Gilgit Baltistan

Wealth quintile

Lowest

Second

Middle

Fourth

Highest

Total

Khyber Pakhtunkhwa

Percentage Among households where place for hand washing was observed, percentage with: Number of households households Water and No water Cleansing with place where place cleansing soap, or agent other for washing agent² other other for hand Number of Soap and Soap but no Background hands was than soap than soap cleansing washing households Water only water only Missing Total characteristic observed water only agent observed Residence Urban 83.8 4.383 88.0 0.3 9.6 0.5 0.2 1.3 0.1 100.0 3,672 85.0 8,560 2.5 33.8 0.4 0.2 11.4 0.1 100.0 7,279 Rural 51.6 Region 87.4 7,614 71.9 23.1 0.3 0.2 31 0.0 100.0 6,651

31.3

27.3

27.4

46.7

51.7

40.5

25 5

10.6

1.7

25.7

4.0

0.3

0.9

1.7

1.6

1.0

0.3

0.6

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.4

0.1

0.3

0.2

0.0

0.0

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.0

0.0

0.2

13.2

14.6

33.5

29.7

26.7

11.1

27

0.7

0.1

8.0

22

0.0

0.2

0.2

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

01

0.0

0.2

0.1

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

2,616

1,139

403

61

81

2,087

2,196

2.240

2,243

2,185

10,951

1.4

2.7

1.3

3.5

0.1

0.4

5.0

2.5

13

0.2

0.0

1.8

Percentage of households in which the place most often used for washing hands was observed, and among households in which the place for hand washing was observed, the percent distribution by availability of water, soap, and other cleansing agents, Pakistan 2012-13

¹ Soap includes soap or detergent in bar, liquid, powder, or paste form. This column includes households with soap and water only as well as those that had soap and water and another cleansing agent.

Cleansing agents other than soap include locally available materials such as ash, mud, or sand.

Includes households with soap only as well as those with soap and another cleansing agent

3,004

1,711

450

72

91

2,558

2.601

2 609

2.557

2,618

12,943

52.4

55.4

33.4

92.1

22.2

15.9

45.0

69.8

88.1

97.6

63.8

87.1

66.5

89.5

84.9

88.2

81.6

84.4

85.9

87.7

83.5

84.6

In the 2012-13 PDHS, interviewers were instructed to observe the place where household members usually wash their hands. They looked for regularity of water supply and observed whether the household had cleansing agents near the place of hand washing. Overall, the interviewers observed designated places for hand washing in 85 percent of households, with little variation in urban and rural households (84 percent and 85 percent, respectively). Places for hand washing were observed in more than 85 percent of the households in all regions other than Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (67 percent). In addition, such facilities were observed in 82 percent or more of households in all wealth quintiles.

Among households where the place of hand washing was observed, 64 percent had soap and water, 2 percent had water and other cleansing agents (ash, mud, sand, etc.), and 26 percent had water only. Overall, 8 percent of households do not have water, soap, or any cleansing agent in places of hand washing. Rural households (11 percent) are more likely than urban households (1 percent) not to have water, soap, or any cleansing agent.

Eighty-eight percent of urban households have soap and water, as compared with 52 percent of rural households. Availability of hand washing facilities (soap and water) varies across regions, ranging from 22 percent of households in Gilgit Baltistan to 92 percent in ICT Islamabad. The use of soap and water for hand washing increases with increasing household wealth, from 16 percent of households in the lowest wealth quintile to 98 percent of households in the highest quintile.

2.4 HOUSEHOLD POPULATION BY AGE AND SEX

Table 2.7 shows the distribution of the de facto household population by five-year age groups, according to urban-rural residence and sex. The total population counted in the 2012-13 PDHS was 87,784 (44,227 males and 43,557 females). Age and sex are important demographic variables and are the primary basis of demographic classifications in vital statistics, censuses, and surveys. They are also very important variables in the study of mortality, fertility, nuptiality, and migration. In general, a cross-classification by sex and age is useful for the effective analysis of all forms of data obtained in surveys.

	_	Uı	ban			Ri	ural					
Age	Male	Female	Total	Sex ratio	Male	Female	Total	Sex ratio	Male	Female	Total	Sex ratio
<5	12.2	12.1	12.2	101.9	14.2	14.0	14.1	101.9	13.6	13.4	13.5	101.5
5-9	11.4	11.3	11.3	100.7	15.3	13.5	14.4	113.7	14.0	12.8	13.4	109.7
10-14	12.0	11.3	11.7	106.0	13.3	11.5	12.4	116.1	12.9	11.4	12.2	112.8
15-19	11.5	11.7	11.6	97.9	11.1	11.1	11.1	99.6	11.2	11.3	11.3	99.0
20-24	10.3	11.1	10.7	92.8	8.4	10.1	9.2	82.5	9.0	10.4	9.7	86.2
25-29	8.8	8.9	8.9	99.3	6.9	8.2	7.5	84.2	7.5	8.4	8.0	89.6
30-34	6.7	7.1	6.9	94.9	5.5	6.1	5.8	89.8	5.9	6.4	6.2	91.7
35-39	5.7	6.1	5.9	93.3	4.7	5.6	5.2	84.3	5.0	5.8	5.4	87.5
40-44	5.0	4.9	5.0	101.6	4.2	4.1	4.1	103.3	4.5	4.4	4.4	102.8
45-49	4.5	4.4	4.5	102.7	3.9	3.6	3.8	106.2	4.1	3.9	4.0	105.0
50-54	2.9	2.7	2.8	107.1	2.3	2.9	2.6	78.5	2.5	2.8	2.7	87.6
55-59	2.4	2.9	2.7	84.9	2.5	3.1	2.8	80.5	2.5	3.0	2.7	81.8
60-64	2.4	1.8	2.1	130.0	2.6	2.4	2.5	107.8	2.5	2.2	2.4	113.7
65-69	1.6	1.5	1.6	107.6	1.9	1.4	1.7	131.6	1.8	1.5	1.6	123.4
70-74	1.3	0.8	1.1	155.9	1.5	1.2	1.4	128.1	1.5	1.1	1.3	134.9
75-79	0.5	0.5	0.5	94.7	0.6	0.5	0.5	134.2	0.6	0.5	0.5	120.0
80+	0.6	0.7	0.6	95.1	1.1	0.7	0.9	151.6	0.9	0.7	0.8	133.8
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	na	100.0	100.0	100.0	na	100.0	100.0	100.0	na
Number	14,690	14,145	28,835	103.9	29,537	29,412	58,949	100.4	44,227	43,557	87,784	101.5

The age structure of the household population in Pakistan is typical of a society with a youthful population. The sex and age distribution of the population is shown in the population pyramid in Figure 2.1. Pakistan has a pyramidal age structure due to the large number of children below age 15. It is evident that the pyramid is broad-based but slightly narrower at the lowest base (0-4 age group), a pattern that typically depicts a high fertility rate but with a recent declining trend. In Pakistan, children under age 15 account for 39 percent of the population, while 57 percent of the country's residents are in the 15-64 age group and 4 percent are over 65.

Although the proportion of the Pakistani population under age 15 remains large (39 percent) (Figure 2.1), this proportion has dropped since 2006-07 (41 percent). Fourteen percent of the population is under age 5. As noted, persons age 65 and over account for about 4 percent of the total population, the same proportion as in 2006-07 (NIPS and Macro International, 2008). The proportion of the population 65 and older is somewhat lower in urban areas (4 percent) than in rural areas (5 percent), as is the proportion under age 15, a pattern consistent with higher fertility in rural than urban areas (see Chapter 5).



The fact that there is a smaller proportion of children under age 5 in urban than rural areas suggests that recent declines in fertility are more evident in urban areas than in rural areas and that the transition to lower fertility has begun in the urban population. The age-sex structure shown in Figure 2.1 is typical of a historically high fertility level that has recently started to decline.

The overall sex ratio is 102 males per 100 females (Table 2.8), a decline from the ratio of 108 males per 100 females shown in the 1990-91 PDHS. The marked difference in the sex ratio between the two surveys could be the changing survival rates of females. The sex composition of the population does not vary markedly by urban-rural residence. The sex ratio is lowest in the 20-24 and 55-59 age groups (86 and 82, respectively), indicating a low proportion of males in these groups. Table 2.8 also shows that about half of the total female population falls into the reproductive age groups of 15-49 years. The fact that this segment has been increasing over the last two decades is noteworthy, because they are in their childbearing years and hence contributing to overall population growth.

A comparison of the 2012-13 PDHS age-sex distribution with distributions from previous surveys and the census shows that the sex ratio declined from 108 males per 100 females in 1990-91 (PDHS) and 1998 (census) to the current ratio of 102 males per 100 females. The lower male-female ratio in the 2012-13 PDHS could be attributed to better enumeration of household members, especially females, thus leading to a more plausible sex ratio. Household population data by age, sex, and region, along with sex ratios, are presented in Appendix Table A2.3.

Figure 2.1 Population pyramid

Table 2.8 Trends in age distribution of household population

Percent distribution of household population by five-year age groups, overall sex ratio, and percentage of women age 15-49, Pakistan 1990-2013

Age group	PDHS 1990-91	PFFPS 1996-97	Census 1998	PRHFPS 2000-01	SWRHFPS 2003	PDHS 2006-07	PDHS 2012-13
0-4	13.4	14.4	14.8	13.8	13.1	13.4	13.5
5-9	17.4	15.4	15.7	14.3	14.2	14.3	13.4
10-14	13.7	13.3	13.0	13.2	13.5	12.9	12.2
15-19	10.2	11.4	10.4	11.9	11.5	11.9	11.3
20-24	8.1	8.6	9.0	9.3	9.3	9.5	9.7
25-29	7.1	7.4	7.4	7.4	7.2	7.6	8.0
30-34	5.4	5.6	6.2	5.8	5.6	5.7	6.2
35-39	4.6	4.7	4.8	4.9	5.4	5.3	5.4
40-44	4.0	3.6	4.4	3.9	4.1	4.3	4.4
45-49	3.0	2.9	3.5	2.8	3.5	3.8	4.0
50-54	3.2	3.2	3.2	3.6	3.6	2.9	2.7
55-59	2.4	2.7	2.2	2.4	2.4	2.2	2.7
60-64	2.7	2.6	2.0	2.5	2.5	2.1	2.4
65 and over	5.0	4.3	3.5	4.2	4.3	4.1	4.2
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Sex ratio Percentage of	108	107	108	103	106	102	102
females (15-49)	42.6	44.0	46.2	46.4	47.4	49.7	49.6

PFFPS = Pakistan Fertility and Family Planning Survey

PRHFPS = Pakistan Reproductive Health and Family Planning Survey

SWRHFPS = Status of Women, Reproductive Health, and Family Planning Survey

Sources: PDHS 1990-91: NIPS and Macro, 1992; PFFPS 1996-97: Hakim et al., 1998; Census 1998: Government of Pakistan, 1998; PRHFPS 2000-01: NIPS, 2001; SWRHFPS 2003: NIPS, 2007a; PDHS 2006-07: NIPS and Macro International, 2008; PDHS 2012-13: NIPS and ICF Macro Inc., 2013

Table 2.8 also shows changes in the age structure of the population since the 1990-91 PDHS. The proportion of the population under age 15 decreased from 45 percent in 1990-91 to 39 percent in 2012-13, indicating fertility declines over this period. Consequently, the proportion of residents of working age (15-59 years) has increased, while the proportion of the elderly (age 60 and above) has not changed substantially. The proportion of the female population increased from 43 percent to 50 percent between 1990-91 and 2012-13, indicating a greater likelihood of increases in reproduction if fertility regulation measures are not adopted, especially among younger women.

2.5 HOUSEHOLD COMPOSITION

Information on household composition is critical for understanding family size, household headship, and orphanhood and for implementing meaningful population-based policies and programs. Household composition is also a determinant of better health status and well-being.

In the 2012-13 PDHS, a household was defined as a person or group of related and unrelated persons who live together in the same dwelling unit(s) or in connected premises, who acknowledge one adult member as head of the household, and who have common arrangements for cooking and eating. The household is considered to be the basic social and economic unit of society, and changes in household composition have repercussions for the family and the economy. Such changes also have an impact on the distribution of goods and services and on the planning and requirements of community institutions, schools, housing, and health infrastructure (Ekouevi et al., 1991).

Table 2.9 shows the distribution of households by sex of the head of the household and by the number of household members in urban and rural areas. Households in Pakistan are predominantly maleheaded, with 89 percent of households being headed by a male and only 11 percent being headed by a female (an increase from 9 percent in 2006-07). The proportion of female-headed households is higher in rural (12 percent) than urban (10 percent) areas. This could be attributed to out-migration of the male population from rural to urban areas or even overseas for employment purposes. The increase in femaleheaded households is more evident in rural than urban areas. Female headship of households is a

matter of concern for policymakers, particularly those dealing with poverty issues, because it is usually financially difficult for a woman to manage a household alone (Osaki, 1991). Table 2.9 also presents information on the number of members usually living in the household. More than half of the households in Pakistan are composed of two to six members (53 percent), while 46 percent have more than six members and 24 percent have more than nine members.

Households in Pakistan tend to be large because of the predominance of the extended and joint family system. Economic pressure can also force middle- and lower-income families to live with their inlaws and other relatives because they cannot afford to build or rent separate dwellings. The 2012-13 PDHS data show that the average household size observed in the survey is 6.8 persons, roughly similar to that in 2006-07. Mean household size is slightly smaller in urban than in rural areas (6.6 persons and 6.9 persons, respectively).

The 2012-13 PDHS also collected information on the presence of foster children and orphans in households. Foster children are those under age 18 who are living in households with neither their mother nor their father present, while orphans are children with one parent (single orphans) or both parents (double

Table 2.9 Household composition

Percent distribution of households by sex of head of household and by household size, mean size of household, and percentage of households with orphans and foster children under age 18, according to residence, Pakistan 2012-13

	Resid		
Characteristic	Urban	Rural	Total
Household headship Male Female	90.3 9.7	88.5 11.5	89.1 10.9
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0
Number of usual members 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9+	0.8 4.4 7.0 12.6 16.0 16.6 13.2 9.3 20.2	1.0 4.5 8.1 11.3 13.1 13.6 11.9 11.0 25.6	0.9 4.5 7.7 11.8 14.1 14.6 12.3 10.4 23.7
Total Mean size of households	100.0 6.6	100.0 6.9	100.0 6.8
Percentage of households with orphans and foster children under age 18 Foster children ¹ Double orphans Single orphans ² Foster and/or orphan children	5.1 0.6 5.5 9.5	5.3 0.6 6.8 10.8	5.3 0.6 6.4 10.4
Number of households	4,383	8,560	12,943

Note: Table is based on de jure household members (i.e., usual residents).

Foster children are those under age 18 living in households with

neither their mother nor their father present. ² Includes children with one dead parent and an unknown survival status of the other parent

orphans) dead. Foster children and orphans are of concern because they may be at increased risk of neglect or exploitation with their mothers or fathers not present to assist them. Table 2.9 shows that there is little difference in the distribution of orphans by rural or urban residence. Overall, 10 percent of households have foster and/or orphan children, and the percentage is slightly higher in rural than urban households (11 percent and 10 percent, respectively). Single orphans are present in 6 percent of households, whereas double orphans are present in less than 1 percent of households.

2.6 BIRTH REGISTRATION OF CHILDREN UNDER AGE 5

Formal registering of births is not widely practiced in Pakistan, even though the national registration system was introduced in 1973 and enforced by the directorate general of registration (Alvi, 1993).

Table 2.10 presents the percentage of the de jure population under age 5 whose births are registered with the civil authorities, according to background characteristics. The results show that more than 3 in 10 children (34 percent) under age 5 have been registered, and 32 percent have a birth certificate.

Table 2.10 Birth registration of children under age 5

Percentage	of de	jure	children	under	age	5	whose	births	are	registered	with	the	civil
authorities, a	accord	ing to	backgrou	und cha	racte	ris	tics, Pa	kistan 2	2012	-13			

	Children v			
Background characteristic	Percentage with a birth certificate	Percentage without a birth certificate	Percentage registered	Number of children
Age <2 2-4	29.8 33.2	1.2 2.0	30.9 35.2	4,411 7,267
Sex Male Female	32.3 31.6	1.8 1.6	34.1 33.1	5,894 5,784
Residence Urban Rural	56.7 21.5	2.5 1.3	59.3 22.8	3,460 8,217
Region Punjab Sindh Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Balochistan ICT Islamabad Gilgit Baltistan	44.5 23.5 8.3 4.3 69.1 18.3	1.6 1.5 1.3 3.4 5.2 5.0	46.1 25.1 9.6 7.7 74.2 23.3	6,423 2,786 1,720 613 45 91
Wealth quintile Lowest Second Middle Fourth Highest Total	4.6 17.3 31.4 50.4 69.1 31.9	0.4 1.6 2.4 2.2 2.3 1.7	5.0 18.9 33.8 52.6 71.4 33.6	2,830 2,420 2,223 2,272 1,933 11,677

Although the government's vital registration system requires that a newborn be registered within the shortest possible time after birth, Table 2.10 indicates that children under age 2 are less likely to be registered than children age 2-4 (31 percent and 35 percent, respectively). The registration of older children is primarily driven by the practice of asking parents to produce a child's birth certificate for school admission.

Table 2.10 also shows that birth registration is higher in urban (59 percent) than in rural (23 percent) areas. There is no difference in the extent of birth registration between male and female children. Among the regions, 74 percent of children in ICT Islamabad, 46 percent in Punjab, 25 percent in Sindh, 23 percent in Gilgit Baltistan, 10 percent in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, and only 8 percent in Balochistan are registered. Children from the highest wealth quintile are more likely to have their births registered (71 percent) than children from the lowest wealth quintile (5 percent).

Birth certificates are made mandatory for services such as school enrollment, passports, voter registration, and marriage registration. Local governmental organizations and nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) are participating in birth registration for workplace populations. Rural residents; people living in Balochistan, Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, and Gilgit Baltistan; and those in the lower two wealth quintiles are less likely to have a birth certificate.

2.7 REGISTRATION WITH NADRA

Pakistan has a legal and administrative structure stipulating official registration of births according to standard procedures. In 2000, the government established the National Database and Registration Authority (NADRA) to oversee registration of the population. All children under age 18 are registered using the "Bay Form," and adults age 18 and older are issued a computerized national identity card (CNIC). These documents are compulsory for procurement of any official document such as a passport or a driver's license, for admission in schools, and for obtaining a government job. Table 2.11 presents information on the registration status of household members.

Table 2.11 Registration with NADRA

Percentage of the de jure household population registered with NADRA, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Among those age 18								
	Among those under age 18 or over				Among al	ages			
Background characteristic	Percentage with Bay Form	Number	Percentage with CNIC	Number	Percentage with neither ¹	Number			
Sex									
Male	20.1	20,766	89.8	23,408	43.0	44,175			
Female	19.3	19,255	76.9	24,283	48.6	43,542			
Residence									
Urban	36.0	12,085	85.4	16,684	35.4	28,773			
Rural	12.7	27,937	82.0	31,007	50.8	58,944			
Region									
Punjab	21.6	21,845	82.3	27,032	44.8	48,879			
Sindh	21.4	9,345	82.5	11,645	44.7	20,990			
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	12.5	6,196	86.3	6,408	50.0	12,606			
Balochistan	8.9	2,128	87.3	1,985	53.3	4,112			
ICT Islamabad	66.5	159	92.7	268	17.1	428			
Gilgit Baltistan	34.6	348	86.6	354	39.2	702			
Wealth quintile									
Lowest	2.6	9,132	80.4	8,420	60.1	17,552			
Second	9.0	8,676	81.5	8,873	54.3	17,549			
Middle	18.2	8,044	81.8	9,491	47.4	17,536			
Fourth	29.4	7,540	82.8	10,000	40.2	17,540			
Highest	48.2	6,629	88.4	10,908	26.8	17,539			
Total	19.7	40,022	83.2	47,692	45.8	87,717			

NADRA = National Database and Registration Authority

CNIC = computerized national identity card

¹ Excludes those who have document appropriate for the other age groups

Overall, about 20 percent of the household population under age 18 has a Bay Form (20 percent of males and 19 percent of females). More than four in five adults (age 18 and over) have a CNIC. Forty-six percent of the population does not have any form of registration. Females, rural residents, people living in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa and Balochistan, and those in the lower two wealth quintiles are less likely to be registered with NADRA than other subgroups. Among regions, ICT Islamabad has the highest percentage of residents with a CNIC (93 percent).

2.8 CHILDREN'S LIVING ARRANGEMENTS AND ORPHANHOOD

The 2012-13 PDHS collected information on living arrangements and orphanhood among children. Living arrangements should be monitored together with the proportion of foster and orphan children because of their significant effects on children's comprehensive development. Table 2.12 shows the percent distribution of children under age 18 by living arrangements and survivorship of parents. About 84 percent of children below age 15 and 83 percent of those below age 18 live with both of their parents. Approximately 2 percent of both children less than age 15 and children less than age 18 are not living with their biological parents, even if both are alive. About 4 percent of children younger than age 15 and 5 percent of children younger than age 18 have one or both parent dead.

A substantial proportion of children age 15-17 (5 percent) are not living with either parent, even when both parents are alive. This may be due to children moving to a relative's house to pursue further education or to seek work and shelter. Table 2.12 shows that the percentage of children not living with their parents increases with age. Variation by background characteristics is minimal, except that children in the lowest wealth quintile more often have one or both parent dead.

Table 2.12 Children's living arrangements and orphanhood

Percent distribution of de jure children under age 18 by living arrangements and survival status of parents, the percentage of children not living with a biological parent, and the percentage of children with one or both parents dead, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

		Living mother with t	Living with mother but not with father		Living with father but not with mother		Not living with either parent					Percent- age not	Percent-	
Background characteristic	Living with both parents	Father alive	Father dead	Mother alive	Mother dead	Both alive	Only father alive	Only mother alive	Both dead	Missing informa- tion on father/ mother	Total	living with a bio- logical parent	age with one or both parents dead ¹	Number of children
Age 0-4 <2 2-4 5-9 10-14 15-17	85.3 84.8 85.6 83.5 82.0 76.2	13.1 13.9 12.6 11.7 9.1 8.0	0.5 0.3 0.6 1.8 4.2 6.7	0.1 0.1 0.3 0.5 0.8	0.2 0.1 0.3 1.1 1.6 2.3	0.5 0.5 1.0 1.5 3.6	0.1 0.0 0.1 0.2 0.4 0.3	0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.5	0.1 0.2 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.8	0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.8	100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0	0.7 0.7 1.6 2.4 5.2	0.9 0.6 1.1 3.5 6.7 10.6	11,677 4,411 7,267 11,742 10,698 5,904
Sex Male Female	83.3 81.8	10.6 11.1	2.8 2.7	0.4 0.4	1.1 1.2	1.0 1.8	0.2 0.3	0.1 0.2	0.3 0.3	0.2 0.3	100.0 100.0	1.7 2.5	4.6 4.7	20,766 19,255
Residence Urban Rural	86.4 80.9	6.8 12.6	2.9 2.7	0.5 0.3	0.9 1.3	1.6 1.3	0.2 0.3	0.2 0.1	0.3 0.3	0.2 0.2	100.0 100.0	2.2 2.0	4.5 4.7	12,085 27,937
Region Punjab Sindh Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Balochistan ICT Islamabad Gilgit Baltistan	81.1 88.7 74.5 92.7 88.4 84.1	11.9 4.7 19.9 1.0 5.7 9.3	3.1 2.5 2.3 2.7 1.9 2.2	0.5 0.3 0.2 0.1 0.2 0.7	1.1 1.7 0.9 1.1 0.4 0.6	1.5 1.3 1.1 0.7 2.0 2.1	0.3 0.2 0.2 0.0 0.1 0.0	0.2 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.3	0.2 0.2 0.3 1.0 0.4 0.3	0.1 0.2 0.4 0.5 0.5 0.3	100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0	2.2 1.9 1.8 1.9 2.8 2.8	4.8 4.7 3.8 5.0 3.1 3.5	21,845 9,345 6,196 2,128 159 348
Wealth quintile Lowest Second Middle Fourth Highest	85.7 80.1 79.9 81.2 86.2	7.8 12.7 13.6 12.1 7.8	2.6 2.8 3.1 3.0 2.4	0.1 0.5 0.4 0.5 0.5	1.9 1.3 0.9 0.9 0.6	0.9 1.4 1.4 1.5 1.8	0.3 0.5 0.1 0.1 0.2	0.2 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.2	0.4 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.2	0.2 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.2	100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0	1.8 2.3 1.9 2.0 2.3	5.3 5.0 4.5 4.5 3.5	9,132 8,676 8,044 7,540 6,629
Total <15 Total <18	83.6 82.5	11.3 10.8	2.1 2.8	0.3 0.4	1.0 1.2	1.0 1.4	0.2 0.3	0.1 0.2	0.2 0.3	0.1 0.2	100.0 100.0	1.5 2.1	3.6 4.6	34,117 40,022

Note: Table is based on de jure members (i.e., usual residents).

Includes children with father dead, mother dead, both dead, and one parent dead but missing information on the survival status of the other parent

Table 2.13 shows the percent distribution of de jure children age 10-14 by school attendance and survivorship of parents. In all, 57 percent of children with both parents deceased are attending school, as compared with 72 percent of children with both parents alive (and who are living with at least one parent).

2.9 EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT AND SCHOOL ATTENDANCE

Education is an important socioeconomic factor that has multifaceted effects on an individual's attitudes and behaviors and contributes to promoting economic growth, empowerment of women, and household living standards. In general, the higher a woman's level of education, the more knowledgeable she is about the use of health facilities, family planning methods, and the health of her children. As part of its commitment to the Table 2.13 School attendance by survivorship of parents

Among de jure children age 10-14, the percentage attending school by parental survival, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

-	Percentage atte	enaing schoo	oi by survivorsnip o	r parents
			Both parents	
Dealaround	Dath paranta		alive and living	
characteristic	deceased	Number	parent	Number
Sex			·	
Male	(69.5)	22	76.9	5,277
Female	(27.5)	10	65.2	4,527
Residence				
Urban	*	7	83.8	3,110
Rural	(51.7)	25	65.8	6,694
Region				
Punjab	*	14	77.4	5,277
Sindh	*	1	59.5	2,316
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	*	7	73.5	1,574
Balochistan	(20.8)	10	55.9	506
ICT Islamabad		0	89.2	42
Gilgit Baltistan		0	80.9	90
Wealth quintile				
Lowest	*	7	39.6	2,070
Second	*	9	66.0	2,185
Middle		5	/8./	1,961
Fourth	*	/	85.6	1,883
nignesi		3	93.7	1,705
Total	56.8	32	71.5	9,804

Note: Table is based only on children who usually live in the household. Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases. An asterisk indicates that a figure is based on fewer than 25 unweighted cases and has been suppressed.

Dakar Framework for Action 2000, Pakistan has adopted an "education for all" strategy. Recently, various measures have been adopted to meet the MDG target of ensuring universal primary education by 2015, whereby all children (and particularly girls, children in disadvantaged situations, and children from ethnic minority groups) have access to compulsory and good-quality primary education (UNICEF, 2006).

To cope with the demand for education, the government of Pakistan has encouraged investment in education in the private sector, which has contributed significantly to improving primary-, secondary-, and university-level education (Government of Pakistan, 2010a). The government's Five-Year Development Plan (2010-2015) has set the priorities of providing free and high-quality basic-level education (grades 1 to 8) and expanding equitable and participatory access to high-quality education to the secondary level (grades 9 to 12).

2.9.1 Educational Attainment of the Household Population

In the 2012-13 PDHS, information was collected on the educational attainment and school attendance of household members age 5 to 24. Tables 2.14.1 and 2.14.2, respectively, show the percent distributions of the de facto female and male household populations age 5 and above by highest level of education and background characteristics.

Table 2.14.1 Educational attainment of the female household population

Percent distribution of the de facto female household population age 5 and over by highest level of schooling completed and median years completed, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

Background characteristic	No education	Primary ¹	Middle ²	Secondary ³	Higher ⁴	Don't know/ missing	Total	Number	Median years completed
Age									
5-9	70.1	29.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.7	100.0	5.566	0.0
10-14	28.0	50.8	19.3	1.7	0.1	0.1	100.0	4.977	2.7
15-19	29.5	20.7	20.0	18.5	11.3	0.1	100.0	4,937	5.0
20-24	36.3	17.3	10.8	15.3	20.1	0.1	100.0	4,543	4.7
25-29	45.3	16.3	9.6	12.9	15.8	0.2	100.0	3,660	3.5
30-34	52.8	15.2	7.3	10.8	13.8	0.2	100.0	2,798	0.0
35-39	59.8	15.0	5.9	9.6	9.4	0.2	100.0	2,510	0.0
40-44	68.1	13.9	4.8	6.6	6.6	0.1	100.0	1,895	0.0
45-49	71.6	11.8	3.9	6.9	5.9	0.0	100.0	1,696	0.0
50-54	78.5	10.5	3.7	3.3	3.6	0.4	100.0	1,239	0.0
55-59	82.3	8.1	2.9	3.4	3.0	0.3	100.0	1,316	0.0
60-64	86.9	6.4	2.3	1.5	2.5	0.3	100.0	967	0.0
65+	91.2	4.1	1.4	1.3	1.4	0.6	100.0	1,623	0.0
Residence									
Urban	32.9	23.2	12.4	14.4	16.9	0.2	100.0	12,429	4.4
Rural	62.6	21.0	7.5	5.1	3.7	0.2	100.0	25,302	0.0
Region									
Punjab	46.9	25.2	11.1	9.0	7.7	0.1	100.0	21,476	0.8
Sindh	58.1	16.2	6.4	8.2	11.0	0.2	100.0	8,631	0.0
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	62.8	18.5	6.9	5.6	5.6	0.6	100.0	5,491	0.0
Balochistan	71.5	16.7	4.5	4.1	2.3	0.8	100.0	1,653	0.0
ICT Islamabad	22.1	20.4	10.7	13.7	32.3	0.9	100.0	182	7.3
Gilgit Baltistan	57.2	18.8	9.8	8.1	5.8	0.3	100.0	299	0.0
Wealth quintile									
Lowest	86.1	10.9	1.9	0.6	0.2	0.3	100.0	7,170	0.0
Second	68.9	22.0	5.2	2.3	1.3	0.2	100.0	7,524	0.0
Middle	52.9	27.0	10.0	6.2	3.6	0.3	100.0	7,564	0.0
Fourth	37.9	26.8	14.4	12.5	8.2	0.2	100.0	7,690	3.4
Highest	21.1	21.1	13.4	18.3	25.8	0.2	100.0	7,784	7.2
Total	52.8	21.7	9.1	8.1	8.0	0.2	100.0	37,731	0.0

Note: Total includes 3 women with missing information on age.

¹ Primary refers to completing classes 1-5.

² Middle refers to completing classes 6-8.

³ Secondary refers to completing classes 9-10.

⁴ Higher refers to completing class 11 and above.

Table 2.14.1 shows that 53 percent of women have never been to school, whereas 22 percent have completed primary school, 9 percent have completed middle school, and 16 percent have a secondary education or higher. A comparison of educational attainment levels with the 2006-07 PDHS shows that although the percentage of women with no education has not changed substantially, the proportion of

women completing middle school or above has increased over time. The proportion of females with no schooling is lowest in the 10-14 age group and gradually increases in subsequent age groups. Completion of primary, middle, and secondary school is highest in the 15-19 age group, indicating that school attendance and continuation of education up to secondary levels have improved substantially among younger females in recent years. These results may reflect the impact of recent efforts to promote universal primary education, with a particular focus on girls.

As expected, the proportion of the female population with no education is higher in rural areas (63 percent) than in urban areas (33 percent). Among regions, Punjab and ICT Islamabad have the lowest percentages of women with no schooling (47 percent and 22 percent, respectively), whereas Balochistan and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa have the highest percentages (72 percent and 63 percent, respectively). Wealth exerts a positive influence on educational attainment. Women in the highest wealth quintile (79 percent) are more likely to be educated than women in the lowest quintile (14 percent).

Table 2.14.2 shows that 34 percent of men have no education, 26 percent have completed primary school, 15 percent have completed middle school, 13 percent have a secondary school education, and 12 percent have completed a higher level of education. Men have completed a median of 3.8 years of schooling. There are gender differences in educational attainment, with differences being smaller at the primary level than at other levels. Men are more likely than women to have completed secondary school or more (25 percent versus 16 percent).

Table 2.14.2 Educational attainment of the male household population

Percent distribution of the de facto male household population age 5 and over by highest level of schooling completed and median years completed, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

									Median
Background	N0 education	Primary ¹	Middle ²	Secondary ³	Higher ⁴	Don't know/ missing	Total	Number	years completed
•	oddoddor		inidate	eeeenaary	g.i.e.	meenig	. ora.		completed
Age	07.0	04.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	400.0	0.000	
5-9	67.8	31.4	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.6	100.0	6,203	0.0
10-14	18.6	58.5	21.7	1.0	0.0	0.2	100.0	5,700	3.1
15-19	17.9	20.2	28.1	22.3	11.5	0.1	100.0	4,964	6.8
20-24	19.1	17.8	16.6	20.4	26.0	0.1	100.0	3,975	1.1
25-29	22.8	18.3	16.7	21.0	21.2	0.0	100.0	3,329	7.2
30-34	25.2	17.3	16.8	21.1	19.5	0.1	100.0	2,606	7.0
35-39	29.8	15.4	14.1	20.9	19.7	0.1	100.0	2,230	6.9
40-44	32.3	18.6	11.9	18.1	19.0	0.1	100.0	1,979	4.9
45-49	40.4	16.4	11.6	17.0	14.4	0.3	100.0	1,808	4.3
50-54	40.2	16.6	12.8	16.0	14.4	0.0	100.0	1,103	4.4
55-59	43.7	18.5	12.4	15.0	10.4	0.0	100.0	1,094	4.0
60-64	49.3	16.3	10.7	11.3	12.3	0.1	100.0	1,116	1.2
65+	59.5	16.5	7.6	9.0	7.0	0.5	100.0	2,113	0.0
Residence									
Urban	22.6	24.4	16.1	16.3	20.5	0.1	100.0	12,893	5.8
Rural	40.2	27.0	14.0	11.5	7.2	0.2	100.0	25,329	2.2
Region									
Punjab	31.1	28.0	17.2	14.2	9.3	0.2	100.0	21,277	4.1
Sindh	38.3	23.6	10.4	10.9	16.8	0.1	100.0	9,326	3.7
Khvber Pakhtunkhwa	35.0	24.7	14.4	13.3	12.3	0.3	100.0	5.336	3.4
Balochistan	50.2	21.0	8.3	11.2	8.5	0.8	100.0	1,781	0.0
ICT Islamabad	12.6	19.5	13.5	16.9	37.0	0.4	100.0	201	9.0
Gilgit Baltistan	38.9	25.9	14.1	11.1	9.3	0.6	100.0	301	2.2
Wealth quintile									
Lowest	62.4	24.8	6.8	4.1	1.6	0.3	100.0	7,424	0.0
Second	42.5	30.6	13.9	8.7	4.1	0.3	100.0	7,549	1.4
Middle	32.6	28.7	17.1	13.3	8.1	0.2	100.0	7.767	3.8
Fourth	23.3	27.1	19.0	18.3	12.2	0.1	100.0	7,638	5.0
Highest	11.9	19.5	16.4	20.6	31.4	0.2	100.0	7,844	8.5
Total	34.2	26.1	14.7	13.1	11.7	0.2	100.0	38,222	3.8

Note: Total includes one man with missing information on age.

¹ Primary refers to completing classes 1-5.

² Middle refers to completing classes 6-8.

³ Secondary refers to completing classes 9-10.

⁴ Higher refers to completing class 11 and above.

Variations by age show that educational attainment levels are higher in the younger age groups than the older ones, indicating that school attendance decreases with age. The percentage of males who have completed schooling at all levels is higher in urban than rural areas with the exception of primary education; this indicates that a large proportion of rural residents complete only primary schooling, whereas those in urban areas are more likely to continue their education beyond the primary and middle levels. Eighty-eight percent of males in the highest wealth quintile have attained some level of education (with a median of 8.5 years), as compared with only 38 percent in the lowest quintile (with a median of less than one year), indicating substantial differentials in school attendance by wealth.

Tables 2.14.1 and 2.14.2 indicate that, overall, levels of educational attainment are higher in urban than in rural areas; the proportions of men and women with no education are lower in urban than in rural areas, while the proportions with a secondary or higher education are greater in urban areas. On average, men and women living in urban areas have completed almost two more years of schooling than those living in rural areas. A comparison of the 2006-07 and 2012-13 PDHS surveys shows a marked rise in completed median years of schooling, with the median among men increasing from 2.9 to 3.8 years during this period.

2.9.2 School Attendance Ratios

The net attendance ratio (NAR) indicates participation in primary schooling for the population age 5-9 and participation in middle/secondary school for the population age 10-14. The gross attendance ratio (GAR) measures participation at each level of schooling among those of any age. The GAR is almost always higher than the NAR for the same level because the GAR includes participation by those who may be older or younger than the official age range for that level. An NAR of 100 percent would indicate that all of those in the official age range are attending at that level. The GAR can exceed 100 percent if there is significant over-age or under-age participation at a given level of schooling. Table 2.15 provides data on NARs and GARs by sex and background characteristics by level of schooling. NARs are 60 percent (63 percent for males and 57 percent for females) at the primary level and 37 percent (40 percent for males and 34 percent for females) at the secondary level.

Table 2.15 shows that differences in NAR at the primary and secondary levels by urban-rural residence and gender are large. At the primary level, NARs are 70 percent in urban areas and 56 percent in rural areas, and the gap is even larger for females (69 percent in urban areas and 51 percent in rural areas). At the secondary level, NARs are 50 percent in urban areas and 31 percent in rural areas. Among the regions, ICT Islamabad shows the highest NAR (80 percent) at the primary level, followed by Punjab (67 percent) and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (57 percent); Balochistan has the lowest NAR (42 percent). Wealth has a positive effect on NARs and GARs at both the primary and secondary levels, showing that poverty is an important factor hindering children from attending school. It is important to note that GARs are much higher than NARs in all socioeconomic categories, indicating that many children either are starting school late or are repeaters at certain grades.

Table 2.15 also shows the gender parity index (GPI), which represents the ratio of the NAR and GAR for females to the NAR and GAR for males. It is a more precise indicator of gender differences in school attendance rates. A GPI greater than 1.00 indicates that a higher proportion of females than males attend school. The GPI is close to 1.00 in urban areas, Punjab, and the highest wealth quintiles, indicating a narrow gender gap at both the primary and secondary levels. However, the gender gap is high in Sindh, Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, and Balochistan and in the lowest and second wealth quintiles.

Table 2.15 School attendance ratios

Net attendance ratios (NARs) and gross attendance ratios (GARs) for the de facto household population by sex and level of schooling, and the gender parity index (GPI), according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

		Net attend	ance ratio ¹			Gross attendance ratio ²			
Background characteristic	Male	Female	Total	Gender parity index ³	Male	Female	Total	Gender parity index ³	
			PRIMAR	Y SCHOOL					
Residence									
Urban Rural	71.3 59.6	69.0 51.1	70.2 55.7	0.97 0.86	106.5 93.8	97.9 77.3	102.3 86.1	0.92 0.82	
Region									
Punjab	68.4	65.0	66.8	0.95	103.6	95.2	99.7	0.92	
Sindh	54.8	44.8	50.0	0.82	88.5	66.6	78.1	0.75	
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	62.5	50.8	57.1	0.81	95.1	75.2	85.9	0.79	
Balochistan	44.2	38.6	41.6	0.87	77.9	61.9	70.3	0.79	
Cilait Poltistop	83.1 57.2	11.Z 55.4	80.0 56.2	0.93	112.9	101.1	106.7	0.89	
Gilgit Bailistan	57.2	55.4	50.5	0.97	101.2	94.0	90.2	0.93	
Wealth quintile	10.0		05.0	0.04			50.0	0.50	
Lowest	43.9	26.9	35.8	0.61	74.7	41.5	58.9	0.56	
Secona	65.3	50.0	55.5 66.8	0.83	95.5 102.5	80.3	88.0 102.7	0.84	
Fourth	73.3	72.8	73.1	0.99	102.5	105.0	102.7	1.00	
Highest	84.4	78.8	81.6	0.93	120.9	104.2	112.5	0.86	
Total	62.9	56.5	59.9	0.90	97.3	83.5	90.8	0.86	
		MIC	DLE/SECO	NDARY SCH	OOL				
Residence									
Urban	49.5	50.7	50.1	1.03	73.0	74.1	73.5	1.01	
Rural	35.3	26.1	31.0	0.74	55.7	39.5	48.1	0.71	
Region									
Punjab	42.0	39.8	41.0	0.95	61.4	58.2	59.9	0.95	
Sindh	32.6	25.7	29.3	0.79	52.6	40.2	46.7	0.76	
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	46.6	31.0	39.4	0.66	73.9	44.3	60.1	0.60	
Balochistan	22.8	15.9	19.5	0.70	48.6	28.1	38.9	0.58	
ICT Islamabad	63.6	67.8	65.6	1.07	92.7	89.7	91.3	0.97	
Gilgit Baltistan	37.4	35.8	36.6	0.96	82.6	69.1	76.0	0.84	
Wealth quintile									
Lowest	13.4	5.0	9.5	0.37	26.2	8.2	17.8	0.31	
Second	34.6	19.0	27.2	0.55	54.1 64.6	27.8	41.8	0.51	
Fourth	39.0 51.3	31.1	30.0 50.3	0.95	04.0 76.3	57.7 70.4	01.4 73.4	0.89	
Highest	64 7	49.2 66.4	65.5	1.90	90.5	99.5	94 7	1 10	
Total	39.7	34.0	37.0	0.86	61.0	50.6	56.1	0.83	
	00.1	00	01.0	0.00	01.0	00.0	00.1	0.00	

¹ The NAR for primary school is the percentage of the primary school age (5-9 years) population that is attending primary school. The NAR for secondary school is the percentage of the secondary school age (10-14 years) population that is attending secondary school. By definition, the NAR cannot exceed 100 percent.
² The GAR for primary school is the total number of primary school students expressed as a percentage of the official primary

² The GAR for primary school is the total number of primary school students expressed as a percentage of the official primary school age population. The GAR for secondary school is the total number of secondary school students expressed as a percentage of the official secondary school age population. If there are significant numbers of over-age and under-age students at a given level of schooling, the GAR can exceed 100 percent.

³ The GPI for primary school is the ratio of the primary school NAR (GAR) for females to the NAR (GAR) for males. The GPI for secondary school is the ratio of the secondary school NAR (GAR) for females to the NAR (GAR) for males.

Figure 2.2 shows attendance rates for the de facto population age 5-24. The age-specific pattern clearly shows that school attendance is highest among those age 7-16, with males having an edge over females.





Table 2.16 shows the percent distribution of the de facto population age 5-24 by reason for dropping out of school, according to sex and place of residence. The major reasons for males dropping out of school are "not interested in studies" (33 percent), "need to work to earn" (28 percent), and high costs (16 percent). Among females, major reasons are high costs (19 percent), "not interested in studies" (17 percent), "got married" (12 percent), and "school too far" (10 percent). The latter reason was reported in particular by females in rural areas. In addition, 13 percent of females dropped out of school because they believed that further education was not necessary.

Table 2.16 Reasons for children dropping out of school

Percent distribution of de facto household members age 5-24 years who dropped out of school by the main reason for not attending school, according to sex and residence, Pakistan 2012-13

	Residence						
	Urban		R	ural	Т	otal	
Main reason	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	
Reasons for not attending school							
School too far	0.1	2.3	2.4	14.5	1.6	10.2	
Transport not available	0.0	0.4	0.8	1.4	0.6	1.0	
Further education not necessary	5.1	16.1	2.5	11.2	3.4	12.9	
Required for household/farm work	2.4	6.3	6.7	6.5	5.2	6.4	
Got married	0.9	15.9	0.3	9.4	0.5	11.7	
Costs too much	13.5	19.9	16.5	18.9	15.5	19.2	
Not interested in studies	29.4	15.5	34.7	18.4	32.9	17.4	
Repeated failure	0.6	0.7	1.5	0.4	1.2	0.5	
Did not get admission	1.3	1.6	0.8	0.6	1.0	1.0	
Not safe	0.4	1.7	0.2	3.7	0.3	3.0	
Need to work to earn	35.4	5.2	24.6	2.0	28.3	3.1	
Other	8.5	11.8	7.3	10.8	7.8	11.1	
Don't know/missing	2.2	2.5	1.6	2.3	1.8	2.4	
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	
Number	1,685	1,724	3,247	3,115	4,933	4,839	

2.10 MIGRATION STATUS

The 2012-13 PDHS collected information on in-migration as well as out-migration among individuals who had lived in the interviewed households in the past 10 years but had since moved to another area. In view of emerging trends in migratory movements within Pakistan, questions on the status of in-migrants and out-migrants were included for the first time to assess the magnitude and characteristics of the migrant population. This provided an opportunity to capture the latest migration status of household members, thereby filling an information gap caused by the lack of availability of recent census data on the issue.

Migrants are people who move from their place of birth to another area or change their place of residence for a specific reason. Migration, which may be seasonal, temporary, semi-permanent, or permanent, is an important demographic element that has far-reaching socioeconomic implications for both individuals and society, both in the place of origin and in the destination. Migration is usually related to opportunities for education and employment that motivate people to out-migrate from their place of origin and culture and to geographic hardships that push people to move to a better or safer environment.

The 2012-13 PDHS collected information on usual members of the household who migrated elsewhere in the 10 years prior to the survey. Information was collected according to background characteristics, duration and cause of migration, and place of origin. These data provide an opportunity to measure short-term and lifetime migration.

Table 2.17 shows in-migration in the past 10 years among usual members of households. Overall, 4 percent of household members have migrated to their current place of residence in the past 10 years (3 percent of males and 5 percent of females).

The highest proportions of lifetime in-migrants are in the 21-30 age group (7 percent), live in urban areas (7 percent), are married (5 percent), have a higher education (5 percent), and are in the highest wealth quintile (5 percent). Among those who have migrated, more have done so for 1-5 years (57 percent) and six or more years (30 percent); only small proportions fall in the category of recent migrants of less than one year in duration (13 percent). Table 2.17 also provides information on the place of origin of the in-migrating population. The majority have migrated from rural areas within Pakistan (56 percent), followed by those migrating from cities and urban areas (43 percent); the proportion of individuals in-migrating from overseas is quite small (1 percent). There are substantial variations in migration flows from urban and rural areas by region and wealth quintile.

Overall, 18 percent of households have at least one usual member who has migrated in the 10 years preceding the survey (Table 2.18). Nineteen percent of rural households and 16 percent of urban households had at least one out-migrating member. Out-migration is more prevalent in Gilgit Baltistan (30 percent), Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (28 percent), and Punjab (20 percent). Only 5 percent of households in Balochistan had an out-migrated member in the 10 years before the survey.

Table 2.17 Status of in-migration in households

Among usual members of the household, the percentage of in-migrants in the last 10 years and among those who migrated, the duration of migration and place of origin, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

			Duratio	n of migratior	n (years)	I	Place of origin			
Background	Percentage of in-	T , 1				City within	Rural areas within	Outside	Number of	
characteristic	migrants	I otal [®]	<1	1-5	6+	Pakistan	Pakistan	countries	migrants	
Sex						10.0				
Male	2.9	44,175	15.6	55.2	29.2	43.3	55.2	1.5	1,295	
Female	4.6	43,542	11.4	58.1	30.6	42.9	56.1	1.0	2,008	
Age										
<10	3.5	23,419	17.6	59.6	22.8	51.3	47.2	1.5	818	
10-20	3.3	23,033	16.2	60.6	23.2	34.7	64.2	1.1	753	
21-30	7.0	15,082	8.9	56.0	35.2	45.3	54.0	0.7	1,054	
31-40	3.9	9,805	8.8	51.6	39.6	43.5	54.8	1.7	382	
41-50	2.2	6,384	15.7	45.7	38.6	33.0	66.2	0.8	143	
51-60	1.4	5,542	9.8	55.1	35.1	25.9	71.1	3.0	79	
61-70	1.6	3,006	12.7	50.8	36.5	38.8	58.3	2.9	47	
70+	1.9	1,443	(6.7)	(64.1)	(29.1)	(45.6)	(54.2)	(0.2)	27	
Marital status										
Never married	2.4	17,694	11.1	57.1	31.7	43.0	55.7	1.3	428	
Married	5.2	32,346	11.3	55.7	32.9	40.8	58.4	0.8	1,671	
Divorced/separated	1.3	458	*	*	*	*	*	*	6	
Widowed	2.3	3,022	8.8	46.2	45.0	50.9	46.3	2.9	70	
Residence										
Urban	6.5	28 773	11.2	56.4	32.4	50.3	48.2	15	1 877	
Rural	2.4	58.944	15.4	57.8	26.9	33.5	65.6	0.8	1.426	
Deview		,							.,	
Region	1 1	49.970	107	FF7	20.7	1E 1	E4 0	0.4	2 009	
Fulljad Sindh	4.1	40,079	13.7	55.7 55.0	30.7	40.4	04.Z	0.4	2,000	
Silluli Khyber Dekhtunkhwe	3.5	20,990	19.0	55.0 67.5	37.1	31.3	40.1	2.4	120	
Rigber Pakilunknwa Roloobiston	3.4 1 1	12,000	10.0	07.0 50.2	14.5	17.Z	00.0	2.0	420	
Daluchistan	1.1	4,112	13.0	59.Z	27.0	31.2	44.3	4.5	40	
Cilgit Baltistan	20.4	420	15.9	50.2	33.9 23.7	44.0 20.1	51.9 70.0	4.1	0/ 8	
Gligit Dattistari	1.2	102	14.7	01.0	23.7	20.1	19.9	0.0	0	
Education										
No education	3.3	44,835	16.1	61.6	22.3	39.2	59.3	1.5	1,467	
Primary	3.8	18,179	11.4	48.3	40.3	38.5	60.9	0.7	698	
Middle	4.0	9,069	10.4	54.6	35.0	39.1	60.4	0.5	360	
Secondary	4.6	8,048	10.0	57.7	32.4	56.8	42.4	0.8	371	
Higher	5.4	7,427	9.8	56.6	33.5	56.1	41.8	2.0	405	
Wealth quintile										
Lowest	1.6	17,552	23.7	48.8	27.5	24.4	75.6	0.1	287	
Second	2.9	17,549	16.1	61.9	22.0	25.3	74.5	0.1	506	
Middle	3.5	17,536	15.6	53.1	31.2	37.4	60.9	1.7	619	
Fourth	5.6	17,540	10.6	59.7	29.6	47.3	50.9	1.7	985	
Highest	5.2	17,539	8.8	56.4	34.8	58.0	40.7	1.3	907	
Total	3.8	87,717	13.0	57.0	30.0	43.1	55.7	1.2	3,303	

Note: Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases. An asterisk indicates that a figure is based on fewer than 25 ¹ Includes 4 cases with missing information on age
 ² Includes 2 cases with missing information on marital status and 2 cases with missing information on educational status.

Table 2.18 Households with out-migration

Percentage of households with at least one out-migrant in the last 10 years, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

Background characteristic	Percentage of households with out-migration	Number of households
Residence		
Urban	15.5	4,383
Rural	18.9	8,560
Region		
Punjab	20.0	7,614
Sindh	8.3	3,004
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	27.7	1,711
Balochistan	4.6	450
ICT Islamabad	16.5	72
Gilgit Baltistan	30.2	91
Total	17.8	12,943

Table 2.19 shows the percentage of out-migrants in the last 10 years by duration of migration and place of destination, according to background characteristics. The largest percentage of out-migration is of 1-5 years in duration (58 percent), followed by six or more years (22 percent) and less than one year (20 percent). These results indicate that one-fifth of out-migration has occurred in the last year, and males outnumber females in this category. Among regions, recent out-migration is more evident in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa and Punjab, although 55 to 64 percent of out-migrants in all regions moved in the past 1-5 years. Table 2.19 also shows that 10 percent of males and 35 percent of females moved to a rural destination, probably, in the case of females, as a result of marriage. In contrast, 33 percent of males out-migrate to another country, as compared with only 10 percent of females. A higher proportion of urban than rural migrants relocate to other countries (29 percent versus 24 percent). This reinforces the fact that men migrate mostly for work opportunities, while women primarily out-migrate due to marriage. Among regions, the percentages of residents migrating to outside countries are the highest in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (34 percent) and ICT Islamabad (42 percent) and the lowest in Balochistan (15 percent) and Gilgit Baltistan (5 percent).

Table 2.19 Status of out-migration

Among usual members of the household, the percentage of out-migrants in the last 10 years and among those who migrated, the time since migration and place of destination, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Time sin	ce out-migratic	on (years)	Pl	ace of destinati	on		
Background characteristic	<1	1-5	6+	City within Pakistan	Rural areas within Pakistan	Outside countries	Number of out-migrants	
Sex								
Male	24.2	57.2	18.5	56.4	10.2	33.3	2,363	
Female	12.1	59.7	28.2	55.5	34.7	9.7	1,170	
Age at migration								
<15	16.8	66.9	16.4	56.3	30.0	13.7	341	
15-19	14.8	61.6	23.6	66.7	23.4	9.6	731	
20-24	20.2	52.6	27.2	52.2	21.6	26.2	994	
25-29	21.8	59.1	19.0	48.8	13.1	38.2	647	
30-34	22.7	57.8	19.5	56.0	9.0	35.0	310	
35-39	28.1	58.8	13.1	50.1	9.3	40.6	194	
40-44	32.5	49.6	17.9	58.3	6.5	35.3	124	
45-49	14.0	78.5	7.6	52.9	8.3	37.5	68	
50+	35.6	54.2	10.3	64.0	11.8	24.1	81	
Missing	*	*	*	*	*	*	42	
Residence								
Urban	15.7	61.3	23.0	49.1	22.3	28.5	1.016	
Rural	22.0	56.8	21.2	59.0	16.7	24.3	2,517	
Region								
Punjab	20.7	56.9	22.4	56.6	19.1	24.2	2,321	
Sindh	8.5	60.4	31.2	49.5	29.0	21.5	413	
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	26.6	59.9	13.5	56.3	9.7	33.9	689	
Balochistan	4.2	63.6	32.2	66.7	17.9	15.4	40	
ICT Islamabad	19.2	55.0	25.8	38.7	19.5	41.5	18	
Gilgit Baltistan	19.9	62.4	17.7	82.3	12.4	5.3	51	
Wealth quintile								
Lowest	23.9	52.4	23.7	61.8	22.9	15.3	384	
Second	25.8	51.7	22.5	62.4	21.3	16.2	704	
Middle	19.4	61.7	18.8	68.5	13.3	18.2	824	
Fourth	20.1	58.3	21.6	54.8	18.3	26.8	776	
Highest	14.8	62.1	23.1	37.5	18.6	43.9	845	
Total	20.2	58.1	21.7	56.1	18.3	25.5	3,533	

Note: An asterisk indicates that a figure is based on fewer than 25 unweighted cases and has been suppressed.

Table 2.20 shows the percentage of migrants according to reasons for both in-migration and outmigration, by sex and urban-rural residence. The most common reason for male out-migration appears to be better economic opportunities (69 percent), followed by job transfer (8 percent) and educational pursuits (8 percent). Female out-migration is mainly due to marriage (66 percent), accompanying or joining family members (22 percent), and educational pursuits (6 percent). On the contrary, better economic opportunities are less likely to be reported as a reason for inmigration to one's current location, since people more often migrated to their current area of residence to accompany or join family members.

Table 2.20 Reasons for migration

Percent distribution of migrants by reasons for migration, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	In-migration					Out-migration				
	Resi	dence	S	Sex	Total in-	Resid	dence	S	ex	Total out-
Reasons for migration	Urban	Rural	Male	Female	migrants	Urban	Rural	Male	Female	migrants
Better economic opportunities	13.1	7.6	25.3	1.3	10.7	28.4	54.6	69.1	2.6	47.1
Accumulate savings	0.0	0.3	0.3	0.0	0.1	0.7	5.0	5.7	0.0	3.8
Transferred	1.3	0.0	1.7	0.1	0.8	4.3	6.3	8.4	0.3	5.7
Schooling	4.8	0.4	4.5	1.8	2.9	10.6	5.6	7.5	6.0	7.0
Better infrastructure	1.2	0.3	1.5	0.4	0.8	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.3
Accompany family	38.6	34.8	40.0	35.0	37.0	9.5	7.0	4.0	15.3	7.7
Join family	6.6	8.8	8.7	6.8	7.5	4.1	3.6	2.3	6.6	3.7
Escape drought/flood	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.3	0.1	0.5	0.2
Escape war/ violence	2.0	2.4	3.3	1.5	2.2	0.0	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.2
Escape other natural disaster	0.2	0.0	0.3	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Marriage	23.6	34.5	0.8	46.0	28.3	40.3	15.3	0.8	66.4	22.5
Since childhood	0.0	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1
Other	8.2	10.4	13.1	6.6	9.2	1.8	1.6	1.5	1.9	1.6
Don't know/missing	0.4	0.0	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Number	1,877	1,426	1,295	2,008	3,303	1,016	2,517	2,363	1,170	3,533

2.11 HOUSEHOLD POSSESSION OF MOSQUITO NETS

Since 1954, USAID has promoted malaria control programs through the Insect Borne Disease Control Program. The malaria eradication program, launched in 1958, reverted to a malaria control program in 1978. In 1993, the World Health Organization initiated the Global Malaria Control Strategy to focus on problem areas (WHO, 2010).

Pakistan became a member of the global Roll Back Malaria partnership in 1999, and a project through the partnership was launched in 2001. Pakistan's government is committed to the control and prevention of malaria. The Pakistan Health Policy of 2001 laid down strategies for combating malaria through early diagnosis and prompt treatment, multiple preventive interventions, communication regarding behavior change, improved detection of and response to epidemics, and development of viable partnerships with national and international organizations (Ministry of Health, 2001).

An important strategy in the control of malaria is prevention through indoor residual spraying and use of long-lasting insecticide-treated bed nets (LLINs). This strategy has been implemented through the promotion of personal protection measures, including the use of simple mosquito nets and LLINs. The government of Pakistan recognizes children below age 5 as a high-risk group and recommends that they be protected through sleeping under insecticide-treated nets (ITNs). After the devolution of the Ministry of Health to the provinces and regions in 2010, all efforts to control malaria, including the provision of ITNs, are in the domain of the provinces/regions.

The 2012-13 PDHS collected information on the possession and number of mosquito nets in households. Evidence indicates that use of mosquito nets is not common in Pakistan. Table 2.21 shows that about 13 percent of households possess a mosquito net. Only 1 percent of households possess at least one ITN, and the average number of mosquito nets per household is less than one. The availability of mosquito nets is higher in rural areas (15 percent) than in urban areas (11 percent). In addition, mosquito nets are more common in Sindh (22 percent), Balochistan (16 percent), and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (13 percent) and among households in the lowest wealth quintile (16 percent). ITNs are virtually nonexistent in Pakistan except in Balochistan, where around 3 percent of households have treated nets.

Table 2.21 Household possession of mosquito nets

Percentage of households with at least one mosquito net (treated or untreated) or insecticide-treated net and average number of nets (treated or untreated), by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Percentage of h at least one	nouseholds with mosquito net	Average number of nets per household	
Background characteristic	Any mosquito net	Insecticide- treated mosquito net	Any mosquito net	Number of households
Residence Urban Rural	10.5 14.9	1.2 0.9	0.2 0.3	4,383 8,560
Region Punjab Sindh Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Balochistan ICT Islamabad Gilgit Baltistan	10.2 21.7 13.4 16.4 6.5 1.2	0.6 1.3 1.5 2.5 0.7 0.1	0.2 0.5 0.3 0.4 0.1 0.0	7,614 3,004 1,711 450 72 91
Wealth quintile Lowest Second Middle Fourth Highest Total	15.9 10.2 14.1 15.4 11.5 13.4	0.5 0.7 1.1 0.9 1.7 1.0	0.3 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.3	2,558 2,601 2,609 2,557 2,618 12,943

2.12 INDOOR RESIDUAL SPRAYING AGAINST MOSQUITOES

Indoor residual spraying (IRS) is considered an effective method of malaria prevention. The insecticides kill mosquitoes for several months, especially in endemic areas. Pakistan is committed to increasing the use of this intervention, although its cost remains a challenge. The 2012-13 PDHS collected information on whether the interior walls of the household's dwelling had been sprayed in the 12 months preceding the survey and, if so, who sprayed the dwelling.

Table 2.22 shows the percentage of households with IRS in the past 12 months and the source of provider, by selected background characteristics. The data show that only 5 percent of households in Pakistan were sprayed in the 12 months preceding the survey. Urban households are three times more likely to have been sprayed than rural households (9 percent and 3 percent, respectively). Regional variations further show that Punjab has the highest proportion of sprayed households (7 percent) followed by ICT Islamabad (4 percent) and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (3 percent), while in the other regions less than 3 percent of households have been sprayed. These data also indicate that government workers/programs are the major provider (79 percent), as opposed to private companies (12 percent), NGOs (3 percent), and others (2 percent). This is mainly because of the intensive IRS interventions carried out every six months in malaria-endemic regions. Households in the highest wealth quintile are much more likely to have been sprayed within the past 12 months (11 percent) than their counterparts in the lowest three quintiles (less than 5 percent).

Table 2.22 Indoor residual spraying against mosquitoes

Percentage of households in which someone has come into the dwelling to spray the interior walls against mosquitoes (IRS) in the past 12 months, and among households with IRS, the source of provider, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Percentage of		Source among households with IRS								
Background characteristic	households with IRS in the past 12 months	Number of households	Government worker/ program	Private company	NGO	Other	Don't know	Number of households			
Residence											
Urban	9.3	4,383	78.7	17.0	2.2	1.3	4.2	407			
Rural	3.2	8,560	80.2	5.1	3.9	2.6	7.7	274			
Region											
Punjab	7.0	7,614	82.7	12.6	1.5	1.3	4.4	536			
Sindh	2.7	3,004	75.6	4.9	7.6	0.0	11.8	80			
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	a 3.0	1,711	62.7	17.0	5.4	9.0	5.3	52			
Balochistan	2.4	450	(19.6)	(24.5)	(25.0)	(7.7)	(21.7)	11			
ICT Islamabad	3.7	72	(85.0)	(5.8)	(0.0)	(7.5)	(1.7)	3			
Gilgit Baltistan	0.0	91	na	na	na	na	na	na			
Wealth quintile											
Lowest	2.8	2,558	(94.3)	(0.0)	(2.5)	(0.0)	(3.1)	73			
Second	3.7	2,601	78.0	8.3	4.6	0.0	9.2	95			
Middle	3.8	2,609	85.3	3.1	2.5	3.3	7.9	99			
Fourth	5.0	2,557	78.4	11.4	4.7	1.5	3.7	129			
Highest	10.9	2,618	74.3	20.1	1.7	2.6	5.2	286			
Total	5.3	12,943	79.3	12.2	2.9	1.9	5.6	681			

Note: Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases. na = Not applicable

2.13 ANTI-MOSQUITO ACTIONS

Use of bed nets is not the only action that Pakistani households take to avoid mosquitoes and their harmful effects. In the 2012-13 PDHS, interviewers inquired about other actions households might have taken to avoid mosquitoes. Table 2.23 shows specific devices or repellents used to avoid mosquitoes by background characteristics. These data indicate that, overall, 30 percent of households are not using any device or repellent to avoid mosquitoes. Among others, about 32 percent of households use coils, 18 percent use mats, 16 percent use smoke, 15 percent use insect repellent, 10 percent use any kind of spray, and 2 percent use electric spray repellents. The most common devices used in urban areas are coils (50 percent), mats (27 percent), sprays (20 percent), and insect repellents (16 percent). On the other hand, smoke and coils are more common (22 percent each) in rural areas, followed by mats and insect repellents (14 percent each) and sprays (5 percent).

A large proportion of households not using any anti-mosquito devices are in rural areas (37 percent). Among regions, Gilgit Baltistan has the most households not using any protective device (85 percent), followed by Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (41 percent), Balochistan (40 percent), Punjab (30 percent), and Sindh (22 percent). Households in the higher wealth quintiles are more likely than those in the lower quintiles to use mosquito repellents.

Table 2.23 Other anti-mosquito actions

Percentage of households using specific devices or repellents to avoid mosquitoes, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Device or repellent									
-					Electric					
Background					spray	Insect			Number of	
characteristic	None	Coil	Mats	Spray	repellent	repellent	Smoke	Other ¹	households	
Residence										
Urban	16.6	50.1	26.5	20.2	4.9	16.1	3.3	4.0	4,383	
Rural	37.3	22.0	14.0	5.1	0.8	14.5	22.5	4.6	8,560	
Region										
Punjab	30.1	30.0	22.4	10.5	2.6	20.0	12.3	3.9	7,614	
Sindh	21.9	42.9	14.2	11.0	1.8	3.9	23.3	4.7	3,004	
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	41.3	18.8	9.9	8.0	0.9	16.2	19.5	5.2	1,711	
Balochistan	39.6	31.0	6.4	5.4	1.8	4.1	21.6	6.8	450	
ICT Islamabad	9.8	52.0	30.5	34.5	8.9	15.8	3.2	8.1	72	
Gilgit Baltistan	84.6	3.6	3.3	9.2	0.2	0.4	2.2	0.4	91	
Wealth quintile										
Lowest	46.3	7.4	2.6	0.3	0.0	4.8	41.2	5.3	2,558	
Second	43.8	22.1	10.5	1.3	0.3	10.2	22.4	4.0	2,601	
Middle	31.0	35.9	18.6	5.9	0.8	17.8	11.1	4.2	2,609	
Fourth	21.0	45.6	28.3	10.8	2.1	20.2	4.4	2.8	2,557	
Highest	9.5	46.3	31.0	32.4	7.7	22.1	1.1	5.5	2,618	
Total	30.3	31.5	18.2	10.2	2.2	15.1	16.0	4.4	12,943	
¹ Includes infrared electri	c device me	mbrano and	l other metho	de						

¹ Includes infrared electric device, membrane, and other methods

Key Findings

- Fifty-seven percent of ever-married women and 29 percent of ever-married men age 15-49 have no education.
- Television is the most important source of media for women and men in Pakistan, with more than two in five accessing it at least once a week.
- About half of women and men have no access to any of the three media sources at least once a week.
- Twenty-nine percent of women were employed in the 12 months preceding the survey; 26 percent are currently employed.
- Fourteen percent of employed women are not paid for their work, in contrast to less than 1 percent of men.
- Four percent each of ever-married women and men age 15-49 have ever been told by a health professional that they had tuberculosis.

This chapter presents a demographic and socioeconomic profile of ever-married women and men age 15-49 interviewed in the 2012-13 PDHS. Information on basic characteristics such as age, marital status, education, literacy, employment status, and wealth status is important for a better understanding of the various demographic and health indicators presented in this report. Information is also presented on exposure to mass media, occupation, type of earnings, use of tobacco, and knowledge and attitudes concerning tuberculosis and hepatitis. The 2012-13 PDHS includes results from completed interviews with 13,558 ever-married women and 3,134 ever-married men age 15-49.

3.1 CHARACTERISTICS OF SURVEY RESPONDENTS

Basic background characteristics of the interviewed women and men age 15-49 are presented in Table 3.1. Forty percent of women and 25 percent of men are under age 30. The age structure of female respondents remained almost the same in 2012-13 as in the 2006-07 survey.

The majority of ever-married women (95 percent) and nearly all ever-married men (98 percent) are currently married. About two-thirds of respondents of both sexes reside in rural areas.

Education is an important factor influencing an individual's knowledge, attitudes, and behavior. Fifty-seven percent of ever-married women and 29 percent of ever-married men age 15-49 have no education, while 20 percent of women and 34 percent of men have completed secondary or higher education. Wealth is another important characteristic that has an impact on the socioeconomic status of the population. Women are almost evenly distributed across the five wealth quintiles, whereas the share of men is slightly higher in the fourth and fifth quintiles than in the three lower quintiles.

Table 3.1 Background characteristics of respondents

Percent distribution of ever-married women and men age 15-49 by selected background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

		Women			Men	
Background characteristic	Weighted percent	Weighted number	Unweighted number	Weighted percent	Weighted number	Unweighted number
Age						
15-19	4.5	605	567	1.1	36	29
20-24	15.5	2,106	2,048	7.0	219	223
25-29	20.1	2,724	2,723	16.6	521	498
30-34	18.6	2,528	2,438	20.6	646	635
35-39	16.4	2,226	2,300	18.8	588	589
40-44	13.0	1,766	1,808	16.9	530	574
45-49	11.8	1,602	1,674	18.9	594	586
Marital status						
Married	95.4	12,937	13,010	98.0	3,071	3,085
Divorced/separated	1.7	230	166	1.0	30	18
Widowed	2.9	391	382	1.0	32	31
Residence						
Urban	33.5	4,536	6,351	35.3	1,107	1,521
Rural	66.5	9,022	7,207	64.7	2,027	1,613
Region						
Punjab	57.5	7,790	3,800	57.6	1,804	800
Sindh	23.1	3,133	2,941	25.4	796	758
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	14.1	1,908	2,695	11.1	347	497
Balochistan	4.2	568	1,953	4.8	151	551
ICT Islamabad	0.5	64	953	0.6	18	282
Gilgit Baltistan	0.7	94	1,216	0.6	18	246
Education						
No education	57.1	7,736	7,625	28.9	905	849
Primary ¹	15.9	2,156	1,831	20.9	657	536
Middle ²	7.3	993	945	16.7	525	423
Secondary ³	10.4	1,413	1,470	17.8	557	577
Higher ⁴	9.3	1,260	1,687	15.7	491	749
Wealth quintile						
Lowest	19.1	2,589	2,486	19.4	607	584
Second	19.7	2,676	2,586	18.3	574	581
Middle	19.9	2,700	2,589	18.1	567	548
Fourth	20.6	2,789	2,657	22.7	713	641
Highest	20.7	2,804	3,240	21.5	673	780
Total 15-49	100.0	13,558	13,558	100.0	3,134	3,134

Note: Education categories refer to the highest level of education attended.

¹ Primary refers to classes 1-5.

² Middle refers to classes 6-8.
 ³ Secondary refers to classes 9-10.

⁴ Higher refers to class 11 and above.

3.2 EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT

The educational attainment of a population is an important indicator of the society's stock of human capital and level of socioeconomic development. Education enhances the ability of individuals to achieve desired demographic and health goals. Tables 3.2.1 and 3.2.2 present differentials in the educational attainment of ever-married women and men by selected background characteristics.

Table 3.2.1 shows that 57 percent of ever-married women age 15-49 have never attended school, 16 percent have attended primary school, 7 percent have attended middle school, 10 percent have some secondary education (class 9-10), and 9 percent have reached class 11 or higher. Younger women are more likely than older women to have attended school; about half of those under age 30 have never been to school, while the proportion increases from 55 percent to 72 percent in subsequent age groups. Almost twice as many women age 25-29 as women age 45-49 have a secondary or higher education (24 percent and 13 percent, respectively).

Urban women are far more likely to be educated than rural women. Only 32 percent of ever-married urban women have never been to school, as compared with 70 percent of rural women. On the other hand, 39 percent of urban women have at least some secondary education, as compared with only 10 percent of rural women. Women in the urban areas of Pakistan have a median of 5.4 years of schooling, whereas rural women have a median of zero years. Among the regions, Balochistan has the largest percentage of women who have never attended school (85 percent), followed by Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (72 percent), Gilgit Baltistan (68 percent), Sindh (58 percent), Punjab (51 percent), and ICT Islamabad (16 percent). Fifty-nine percent of evermarried women in ICT Islamabad have a secondary or higher education, as compared with 24 percent of those in Sindh, 20 percent in Punjab, 17 percent in Gilgit Baltistan, 12 percent in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, and 7 percent in Balochistan. Women in ICT Islamabad have a median of 9.5 years of schooling.

Women in the highest wealth quintile are more likely than women in the other wealth quintiles to have a secondary or higher education; 59 percent of women in the highest wealth quintile reached this level, as compared with only 1 percent of those in the lowest quintile. The median number of years of schooling is 9.3 for women in the highest wealth quintile and 4.2 for those in the fourth quintile.

Table 3.2.1 Educational attainment: Women

Percent distribution of ever-married women age 15-49 by highest level of schooling attended and median years completed, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Highest level of schooling						Median	
Background characteristic	No education	Primary ¹	Middle ²	Secondary ³	Higher ⁴	Total	years completed	Number of women
Age								
15-24	49.3	20.4	10.4	12.2	7.6	100.0	0.8	2,711
15-19	53.5	21.7	11.4	8.6	4.6	100.0	0.0	605
20-24	48.1	20.1	10.1	13.3	8.5	100.0	2.0	2,106
25-29	47.8	18.1	10.0	12.3	11.8	100.0	2.0	2,724
30-34	54.8	15.4	6.6	11.3	11.9	100.0	0.0	2,528
35-39	62.3	12.4	5.8	10.6	9.0	100.0	0.0	2,226
40-44	66.4	14.7	4.9	6.5	7.4	100.0	0.0	1,766
45-49	72.0	11.5	3.5	6.9	6.1	100.0	0.0	1,602
Residence								
Urban	32.1	17.5	11.0	19.5	19.9	100.0	5.4	4,536
Rural	69.6	15.1	5.5	5.9	3.9	100.0	0.0	9,022
Region								
Punjab	51.1	19.4	9.1	11.8	8.6	100.0	0.0	7,790
Sindh	58.3	12.0	5.3	10.4	13.9	100.0	0.0	3,133
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	71.9	11.2	4.8	6.3	5.7	100.0	0.0	1,908
Balochistan	84.6	6.0	2.7	4.5	2.2	100.0	0.0	568
ICT Islamabad	16.3	16.2	8.0	18.4	41.0	100.0	9.5	64
Gilgit Baltistan	67.5	8.4	7.2	8.8	8.1	100.0	0.0	94
Wealth guintile								
Lowest	92.2	6.3	0.9	0.3	0.3	100.0	0.0	2,589
Second	79.6	13.9	3.4	2.3	0.9	100.0	0.0	2,676
Middle	63.5	20.0	7.4	5.7	3.5	100.0	0.0	2,700
Fourth	38.1	24.8	13.1	16.3	7.7	100.0	4.2	2,789
Highest	15.9	13.8	11.3	26.2	32.8	100.0	9.3	2,804
Total	57.1	15.9	7.3	10.4	9.3	100.0	0.0	13,558

¹ Primary refers to classes 1-5.

² Middle refers to classes 6-8.

³ Secondary refers to classes 9-10.

⁴ Higher refers to class 11 and above.

Table 3.2.2 presents educational attainment among ever-married men age 15-49. It shows that 29 percent of ever-married men have never attended school, while one-third (34 percent) have reached secondary schooling or higher. The proportion of men with no education is highest (39 percent) in the 45-49 age group, falling to about 25 percent of those under age 40. Forty-three percent of men age 35-39 have a secondary education or higher, the highest proportion of any age group. The median number of years of schooling is 7.5 among men age 35-39 and 7.0 among those age 30-34. The median is below five years in the other age groups with the exception of men age 15-24, among whom it is 5.2 years.

Similar to women, urban men are more likely to be educated than rural men. Eighteen percent of urban ever-married men have never attended school, as compared with 35 percent of rural men. The median number of years of schooling is 7.6 for urban men and 4.5 for rural men.

More than half of ever-married men in Balochistan have never been to school, followed by 30 percent each in Sindh and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, 27 percent in Punjab, 23 percent in Gilgit Baltistan, and 6 percent in ICT Islamabad. Seventy-two percent of ever-married men in ICT Islamabad have at least some secondary education, as compared with only 29 percent of men in Punjab. As expected, wealth is highly related to educational attainment; 60 percent of men in the highest wealth quintile have a secondary or higher education, as compared with only 13 percent of those in the lowest quintile. The proportion of men who have never attended school is high in the lowest wealth quintile and gradually declines in the higher quintiles. The median number of years of schooling is 9.4 among men in the highest wealth quintile, with lower figures in the other quintiles (the median is 0.0 in the lowest quintile).

Table 3.2.2 Educational attainment: Men

Percent distribution of ever-married men age 15-49 by highest level of schooling attended and median years completed, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

		Highes		Median				
Background characteristic	No education	Primary ¹	Middle ²	Secondary ³	Higher ⁴	Total	years completed	Number of men
Age								
15-24	25.8	23.8	25.5	12.9	12.0	100.0	5.2	255
15-19	(29.1)	(5.6)	(43.2)	(13.6)	(8.4)	100.0	(7.0)	36
20-24	25.3	26.7	22.6	12.8	12.6	100.0	4.8	219
25-29	27.4	27.9	14.9	17.7	12.2	100.0	4.7	521
30-34	22.7	19.9	18.7	22.0	16.8	100.0	7.0	646
35-39	22.4	16.1	18.4	21.9	21.1	100.0	7.5	588
40-44	34.9	19.1	16.5	13.0	16.6	100.0	4.5	530
45-49	39.3	21.3	11.1	15.5	12.9	100.0	4.2	594
Residence								
Urban	17.5	20.2	17.3	20.8	24.2	100.0	7.6	1,107
Rural	35.1	21.3	16.5	16.1	11.0	100.0	4.5	2,027
Region								
Punjab	26.6	23.9	20.9	17.4	11.1	100.0	5.0	1,804
Sindh	30.0	19.5	10.6	17.4	22.4	100.0	5.5	796
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	30.0	14.4	14.5	20.0	21.0	100.0	6.6	347
Balochistan	51.0	9.4	5.0	17.7	16.8	100.0	0.0	151
ICT Islamabad	6.4	9.0	12.8	21.1	50.6	100.0	10.9	18
Gilgit Baltistan	23.0	19.4	18.4	17.7	21.5	100.0	7.1	18
Wealth guintile								
Lowest	59.2	19.2	8.4	8.3	4.8	100.0	0.0	607
Second	37.7	25.9	16.1	13.7	6.6	100.0	3.9	574
Middle	28.7	25.3	18.9	16.8	10.3	100.0	4.7	567
Fourth	15.6	21.3	22.3	24.9	15.9	100.0	7.5	713
Highest	8.3	14.3	17.1	22.9	37.5	100.0	9.4	673
Total 15-49	28.9	20.9	16.7	17.8	15.7	100.0	5.1	3,134

Note: Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases.

¹ Primary refers to classes 1-5.

² Middle refers to classes 6-8.

³ Secondary refers to classes 9-10.

⁴ Higher refers to class 11 and above.

3.3 LITERACY

Literacy is widely acknowledged as benefiting both individuals and society. It is also associated with a number of positive health and nutrition outcomes. In this survey, literacy status was determined by respondents' ability to read all or part of a sentence. During data collection, interviewers carried a card on which simple sentences were printed in Urdu or Sindhi to assess respondents' reading ability. Those who had completed class 9 or higher were not asked to read a sentence.

Table 3.3.1 provides results on literacy levels among ever-married women age 15-49. It shows that 43 percent of women are literate, while 56 percent cannot read at all. The literacy rate among ever-

married women in 2012-13 was 8 percentage points higher than the rate reported in the 2007-06 PDHS (35 percent).

The results in Table 3.3.1 show that younger women are more likely to be literate than women age 35 and above. Also, urban women are more than twice as likely to be literate as rural women (69 percent and 31 percent, respectively).

A regional analysis shows that ICT Islamabad has the highest literacy level among women (81 percent). The literacy level in Punjab is also relatively high (50 percent), with lower levels in Sindh (42 percent), Gilgit Baltistan (36 percent), Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (27 percent), and Balochistan (16 percent). There are wide urban-rural differentials across the provinces. For example, in Sindh, 71 percent of urban women are literate, as compared with only 14 percent of rural women. Rural women in Punjab are more likely to be literate than rural women in other provinces.

Literacy levels are strongly related to wealth. For example, only 8 percent of ever-married women age 15-49 in the lowest wealth quintile are literate, as compared with 85 percent of those in the highest quintile.

Table 3.3.1 Literacy: Women

Percent distribution of ever-married women age 15-49 by level of schooling attended and level of literacy, and percentage literate, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

Background characteristic	01				No card					
characteristic	bigher	whole	Can read part of a	Cannot	with required	Blind/ visually	Missing	Total	Percentage	Number of
	nighei	Sentence	Sentence	reau at an	language	impaireu	Wissing	Total	interate	women
Age										
15-24	19.9	24.4	5.1	50.5	0.0	0.0	0.1	100.0	49.4	2,711
15-19	13.3	24.1	5.5	57.0	0.0	0.0	0.2	100.0	42.8	605
20-24	21.8	24.5	5.0	48.6	0.0	0.0	0.1	100.0	51.3	2,106
25-29	24.1	23.9	4.7	47.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	52.7	2,724
30-34	23.2	17.7	4.9	54.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	45.7	2,528
35-39	19.6	14.8	4.3	61.2	0.0	0.1	0.0	100.0	38.6	2,226
40-44	14.0	17.4	3.9	04.Z	0.0	0.3	0.2	100.0	30.3	1,700
45-49	13.0	13.1	3.2	70.3	0.0	0.2	0.1	100.0	29.4	1,602
Residence										
Urban	39.4	23.9	5.6	31.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	100.0	68.9	4,536
Rural	9.8	16.9	3.9	69.2	0.0	0.1	0.1	100.0	30.6	9,022
Region										
Puniab	20.4	24.8	47	49.9	0.0	0.1	0.1	100.0	49 9	7 790
Urban	36.9	28.5	5.2	28.3	0.0	0.1	0.1	100.0	71.6	2 526
Rural	12.5	23.1	4.0	60.3	0.0	0.1	0.1	100.0	39.5	5.264
										0,201
Sindh	24.3	13.6	3.8	58.1	0.0	0.1	0.1	100.0	41.8	3,133
Urban	46.9	19.9	4.4	28.7	0.0	0.1	0.0	100.0	/1.2	1,521
Rurai	3.1	1.1	3.2	85.9	0.0	0.0	0.1	100.0	14.0	1,612
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	12.0	10.2	4.6	72.9	0.0	0.1	0.2	100.0	26.8	1,908
Urban	29.4	13.0	6.2	50.9	0.3	0.1	0.0	100.0	48.7	320
Rural	8.5	9.6	4.2	77.4	0.0	0.1	0.2	100.0	22.3	1,588
Balochistan	67	5.0	4 0	83.9	0.1	0.0	03	100.0	15 7	568
Urban	14.2	10.2	7.3	68.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	31.7	114
Rural	4.8	3.7	3.1	87.9	0.1	0.0	0.4	100.0	11.7	454
	50.5	17.0	1.0	40.4		0.4	0.0	400.0	04.4	
ICT Islamabad	59.5	17.9	4.0	18.1	0.2	0.1	0.3	100.0	81.4	64
Gilgit Baltistan	16.8	10.4	9.0	63.7	0.0	0.0	0.1	100.0	36.2	94
Wealth quintile										
Lowest	0.7	4.5	2.9	91.9	0.0	0.0	0.1	100.0	8.1	2,589
Second	3.2	12.6	3.9	80.2	0.0	0.0	0.2	100.0	19.6	2,676
Middle	9.1	23.2	5.3	62.1	0.0	0.2	0.1	100.0	37.6	2,700
Fourth	24.0	32.6	6.3	36.8	0.0	0.2	0.1	100.0	62.9	2,789
Highest	59.0	21.9	3.9	15.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	100.0	84.9	2,804
Total	19.7	19.2	4.5	56.4	0.0	0.1	0.1	100.0	43.4	13,558

Table 3.3.2 presents data on the literacy levels of ever-married men age 15-49. The literacy rate is higher among ever-married men than ever-married women. Almost two-thirds (65 percent) of men are literate, as compared with only 43 percent of women.

The literacy level is higher among men age 35-39 (74 percent) than among men age 30-34 (70 percent) or 45-49 (57 percent). Urban respondents are more likely to be literate than those in rural areas (76 percent and 60 percent, respectively). ICT Islamabad has the highest literacy rate (95 percent), followed by Gilgit Baltistan (71 percent), Punjab (68 percent), Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (67 percent), Sindh (62 percent), and Balochistan (53 percent). In three of the provinces, at least three-quarters of urban men are literate; in Balochistan, the figure falls to 70 percent. There are considerable differentials in literacy status between women and men by region, with the largest differences in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa and Balochistan (Figure 3.1). Literacy levels increase with increasing wealth quintile, ranging from 37 percent in the lowest quintile to 88 percent in the highest quintile.

Table 3.3.2 Literacy: Men

Percent distribution of ever-married men age 15-49 by level of schooling attended and level of literacy, and percentage literate, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

			No schoo						
					No card				
		Can read a	Can read		with	Blind/			
Background	Class 9 or	whole	part of a	Cannot	required	visually		Percentage	Number of
characteristic	higher	sentence	sentence	read at all	language	impaired	Total	literate	men
Age									
15-24	24.9	32.0	9.7	32.2	0.3	0.9	100.0	66.6	255
15-19	(22.0)	(39.3)	(16.6)	(22.1)	(0.0)	(0.0)	100.0	(77.9)	36
20-24	25.3	30.9	8.6	33.8	0.4	1.0	100.0	64.8	219
25-29	29.9	26.7	8.4	34.7	0.1	0.3	100.0	64.9	521
30-34	38.8	21.8	9.5	29.5	0.0	0.5	100.0	70.0	646
35-39	43.0	24.6	6.6	25.7	0.0	0.0	100.0	74.3	588
40-44	29.6	21.8	8.2	40.4	0.0	0.0	100.0	59.6	530
45-49	28.3	16.9	11.6	42.5	0.0	0.7	100.0	56.8	594
Residence									
Urban	45.0	23.2	8.0	23.4	0.0	0.5	100.0	76.1	1,107
Rural	27.1	23.0	9.5	40.1	0.1	0.3	100.0	59.6	2,027
Region									
Puniab	28.6	31.1	7.8	31.9	0.0	0.6	100.0	67.5	1.804
Urban	36.3	31.5	7.3	24.1	0.0	0.9	100.0	75.1	618
Rural	24.6	30.9	8.1	36.0	0.0	0.5	100.0	63.6	1,186
Sindh	39.9	13.6	79	38.5	0.0	0.0	100.0	61.5	796
Urban	56.9	13.4	7.6	22.1	0.0	0.0	100.0	77.9	376
Rural	24.7	13.9	8.2	53.2	0.0	0.0	100.0	46.8	420
Khukas Dalukturlukura	44.0	10.0	40.0	00.4	0.0	0.0	400.0	07.4	0.47
	41.0	10.2	10.2	32.4	0.2	0.0	100.0	07.4	347
Dural	30.9	10.0	14.2	23.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	70.Z 65.3	291
Rulai	30.7	10.0	10.7	34.4	0.3	0.0	100.0	05.5	201
Balochistan	34.6	7.1	11.1	46.9	0.3	0.0	100.0	52.8	151
Urban	49.2	7.2	13.1	30.5	0.0	0.0	100.0	69.5	32
Rural	30.7	7.0	10.6	51.3	0.4	0.0	100.0	48.3	119
ICT Islamabad	71.7	16.0	6.7	5.5	0.0	0.0	100.0	94.5	18
Gilgit Baltistan	39.2	20.0	12.2	28.4	0.0	0.0	100.0	71.4	18
Wealth guintile									
Lowest	13.1	14.8	8.5	63.3	0.2	0.0	100.0	36.5	607
Second	20.4	22.2	11.8	45.0	0.0	0.7	100.0	54.3	574
Middle	27.1	25.8	12.8	34.0	0.0	0.3	100.0	65.7	567
Fourth	40.8	30.2	6.4	21.8	0.0	0.8	100.0	77.4	713
Highest	60.4	21.3	6.5	11.9	0.0	0.0	100.0	88.1	673
Total	33.4	23.0	9.0	34.2	0.0	0.3	100.0	65.4	3,134
									,

Note: Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases.

¹ Refers to men who completed class 9 or higher and men who can read a whole sentence or part of a sentence



Figure 3.1 Literacy status of ever-married women and men, by region

3.4 ACCESS TO MASS MEDIA

Access to information through the media is essential to increase people's knowledge and awareness of what takes place around them. The 2012-13 PDHS assessed exposure to media by asking respondents if they listened to the radio, watched television, or read newspapers or magazines at least once a week. To plan effective programs to disseminate information about health and family planning, it is important to know which subgroups of the population are most likely to be reached by specific media.

Table 3.4.1 presents information on exposure to mass media among ever-married women age 15-49. It shows that television is by far the most widely accessed medium; 47 percent of women watch television at least once a week, while only 4 percent read a newspaper and 3 percent listen to the radio at least once a week. Less than 1 percent of women are exposed to all three media sources once a week. More than half (51 percent) of women have no exposure to any of the mass media on a weekly basis. Although differences by age group are not large, there is a wide gap in media exposure by urban-rural residence. For example, 8 percent of urban women read a newspaper once a week, as compared with only 2 percent of rural women. Similarly, 71 percent of urban women watch television at least once a week, as compared with 35 percent of rural women. Women living in ICT Islamabad are much more likely than women in other provinces/regions to be exposed to the mass media. In addition, women in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, Gilgit Baltistan, and Balochistan are less exposed to the media than women in Sindh and Punjab. Media exposure is positively related to educational level and economic status. Regular exposure to mass media is highest among women with a secondary or higher education and those in the highest wealth quintile.

Table 3.4.1 Exposure to mass media: Women

Percentage of ever-married women age 15-49 who are exposed to specific media on a weekly basis, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Reads a	Watches		Accesses all	Accesses none	
	newspaper at	television at	Listens to the	three media at	of the three	
Background	least once a	least once a	radio at least	least once a	media at least	Number of
characteristic	week	week	once a week	week	once a week	women
Age						
15-19	1.4	47.0	3.7	0.1	51.2	605
20-24	3.5	47.6	3.4	0.3	50.3	2,106
25-29	4.6	49.0	3.0	0.5	49.4	2,724
30-34	3.8	51.2	2.1	0.2	47.6	2,528
35-39	4.0	45.3	1.9	0.2	53.7	2,226
40-44	4.3	45.4	1.7	0.1	53.4	1,766
45-49	4.3	42.7	2.9	0.3	55.2	1,602
Residence						
Urban	8.4	71.0	2.9	0.6	27.3	4,536
Rural	1.7	35.3	2.4	0.1	63.2	9,022
Region						
Punjab	4.0	50.8	2.0	0.2	47.7	7,790
Sindh	4.6	56.1	2.9	0.3	43.0	3,133
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	3.2	23.9	4.1	0.3	73.5	1,908
Balochistan	1.4	28.1	2.9	0.5	70.8	568
ICT Islamabad	22.0	78.3	7.6	3.0	18.1	64
Gilgit Baltistan	0.8	26.4	1.5	0.2	73.0	94
Education						
No education	0.0	32.2	2.0	0.0	66.9	7,736
Primary	2.0	55.4	2.2	0.1	43.2	2,156
Middle	4.0	65.5	3.0	0.1	32.5	993
Secondary	10.1	74.5	3.7	0.7	22.5	1,413
Higher	24.7	81.0	5.0	1.9	15.2	1,260
Wealth quintile						
Lowest	0.3	12.5	1.6	0.0	86.6	2,589
Second	0.4	31.2	1.7	0.0	67.7	2,676
Middle	1.2	47.3	3.1	0.0	50.9	2,700
Fourth	4.0	62.6	2.8	0.4	35.6	2,789
Highest	13.5	79.4	3.6	0.9	18.7	2,804
Total	4.0	47.3	2.6	0.3	51.2	13,558

Table 3.4.2 provides information on exposure to mass media among ever-married men age 15-49. Men are more likely to be exposed to print media than women, perhaps in part due to their higher literacy levels. For example, 17 percent of men read a newspaper at least once a week, as compared with only 4 percent of women. As is true among women, television is the most popular mode of information among men, and their level of exposure is similar to that of women (46 percent). Men are slightly more likely than women to listen to the radio at least once a week (5 percent and 3 percent, respectively). Only 1 percent of ever-married men are exposed to all three types of media.

Men in urban areas are more likely to have exposure to media than men in rural areas. Men residing in ICT Islamabad are more likely to be exposed to media than those in other regions. Also, media exposure is higher in Sindh and Balochistan than in other regions. Men with higher levels of education are more likely to be exposed to mass media than those who have less education. Similarly, men in the higher wealth quintiles are more likely to have exposure to media than those in the lower quintiles. Only 18 percent of ever-married men in the highest quintile do not access any of the media at least once a week, as compared with 77 percent of those in the lowest quintile.

Table 3.4.2 Exposure to mass media: Men

Percentage of ever-married men age 15-49 who are exposed to specific media on a weekly basis, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Reads a	Watches		Accesses all	Accesses none	
	newspaper at	television at	Listens to the	three media at	of the three	
Background	least once a	least once a	radio at least	least once a	media at least	Number of
characteristic	week	week	once a week	week	once a week	men
Age						
15-19	(5.4)	(49.6)	(9.3)	(0.0)	(41.1)	36
20-24	10.3	41.2	6.0	1.1	53.8	219
25-29	13.8	45.9	5.8	0.9	48.5	521
30-34	17.5	48.3	2.6	0.6	46.4	646
35-39	21.8	50.2	5.8	1.3	44.2	588
40-44	18.2	47.0	4.0	0.8	46.7	530
45-49	18.0	39.8	7.5	0.9	50.4	594
Residence						
Urban	27.4	68.2	4.0	1.1	26.8	1,107
Rural	11.7	33.8	5.9	0.8	59.0	2,027
Region						
Punjab	14.7	46.2	4.5	0.7	48.0	1,804
Sindh	20.7	52.2	6.1	1.3	42.1	796
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	21.6	28.7	3.3	0.5	61.0	347
Balochistan	16.9	47.6	11.9	1.0	43.1	151
ICT Islamabad	49.2	72.8	11.7	5.3	18.6	18
Gilgit Baltistan	10.5	37.9	7.8	2.3	57.2	18
Education						
No education	0.7	24.0	5.2	0.0	71.0	905
Primary	9.3	44.3	5.4	0.5	50.1	657
Middle	15.7	51.2	5.5	2.0	44.5	525
Secondary	24.0	52.9	5.6	1.4	37.5	557
Higher	52.4	75.2	4.1	1.3	15.9	491
Wealth quintile						
Lowest	3.8	13.7	8.0	0.3	77.2	607
Second	9.3	30.4	5.5	1.6	62.7	574
Middle	13.0	43.1	5.3	0.2	49.9	567
Fourth	18.3	58.4	3.5	1.1	36.6	713
Highest	38.7	77.6	4.2	1.2	17.8	673
Total	17.3	46.0	5.2	0.9	47.6	3,134

3.5 EMPLOYMENT

Employment is an important source of empowerment of women, especially if it puts them in control of their earnings. Measurement of women's employment, however, can be difficult because some of the work that women do, especially work on family farms, in family businesses, or in the informal sector, is often not perceived by women themselves as employment and hence is not reported. To avoid underreporting women's employment, interviewers in the PDHS asked women several questions to probe for their employment status and to ensure complete coverage of employment in both the formal and informal sectors. Respondents were asked a number of questions to elicit their current employment status and continuity of employment in the 12 months prior to the survey. Information was also obtained on the type of work women were doing, whether they worked throughout the year, types of employers, and the form in which they received their earnings (in cash or in-kind).

Table 3.5.1 presents results on the employment status of ever-married women age 15-49. At the time of the survey, 26 percent of women were currently employed (Figure 3.2). Three percent were not currently working but had been employed in the 12 months prior to the survey, while 71 percent had not been employed in the previous 12 months. The proportion of women who were currently employed was lowest (19 percent) among those age 15-19 and increased to a peak of 33 percent in the 35-39 age group. Women who were divorced, separated, or widowed were much more likely than currently married women to be employed. Similarly, women with three or more children were more likely to be employed than those with fewer children.

Table 3.5.1 Employment status: Women

Percent distribution of ever-married women age 15-49 by employment status, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Employed in preceding	the 12 months the survey	Not employed in the 12 months			
Background characteristic	Currently employed ¹	Not currently employed	preceding the survey	Missing/ don't know	Total	Number of women
Ana	• •	• •	-			
15-19	19.4	53	75.4	0.0	100.0	605
20-24	19.5	3.5	77.0	0.1	100.0	2.106
25-29	25.1	3.8	71.1	0.0	100.0	2,724
30-34	26.7	2.6	70.5	0.2	100.0	2,528
35-39	33.0	1.8	65.0	0.2	100.0	2,226
40-44	29.8	2.3	67.9	0.0	100.0	1,766
45-49	26.3	1.8	71.9	0.0	100.0	1,602
Marital status						
Married	25.7	2.8	71.4	0.1	100.0	12,937
Divorced/separated/						
widowed	38.8	3.5	57.7	0.0	100.0	621
Number of living children						
0	23.2	4.2	72.6	0.0	100.0	1,828
1-2	22.0	2.7	75.3	0.0	100.0	4,059
3-4	27.3	2.4	70.1	0.2	100.0	3,912
5+	31.5	2.7	65.7	0.1	100.0	3,760
Residence						
Urban	18.5	1.9	79.3	0.3	100.0	4,536
Rural	30.2	3.3	66.5	0.0	100.0	9,022
Region						
Punjab	30.7	2.6	66.7	0.1	100.0	7,790
Sindh	30.1	5.2	64.5	0.2	100.0	3,133
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	6.6	0.6	92.8	0.0	100.0	1,908
Balochistan	16.7	1.0	82.3	0.0	100.0	568
ICT Islamabad	17.6	2.1	79.6	0.7	100.0	64
Gilgit Baltistan	4.3	0.1	95.5	0.1	100.0	94
Education						
No education	32.8	3.4	63.8	0.0	100.0	7,736
Primary	21.3	3.2	75.4	0.0	100.0	2,156
Middle	14.5	2.1	83.3	0.1	100.0	993
Secondary	11.6	1.4	86.8	0.2	100.0	1,413
Higher	20.5	1.2	77.8	0.5	100.0	1,260
Wealth quintile						
Lowest	46.5	4.5	49.0	0.0	100.0	2,589
Second	31.2	4.2	64.7	0.0	100.0	2,676
Middle	24.3	2.6	73.0	0.0	100.0	2,700
Fourth	18.3	2.1	/9.6	0.1	100.0	2,789
nignest	13.0	1.0	85.7	0.3	100.0	2,804
Total	26.3	2.8	70.8	0.1	100.0	13,558

¹ "Currently employed" is defined as having done work in the past 7 days. Includes persons who did not work in the past 7 days but who are regularly employed and were absent from work for leave, illness, vacation, or any other such reason.


Figure 3.2 Women's employment status in the past 12 months

Pakistan has an agro-based economy; therefore, rural women are more likely to be employed than urban women (30 percent versus 19 percent). Substantial variations are found across regions. The proportion of women who are currently employed ranges from 4 percent in Gilgit Baltistan to 31 percent in Punjab.

The proportion of women who are currently employed decreases with increasing education, with the exception of women with a higher education; 33 percent of women with no education are employed, as compared with 12 percent of women who have a secondary education. Women in the lowest wealth quintile are more likely to be currently employed (47 percent) than women in other quintiles. The proportion of currently employed women gradually decreases with increasing wealth quintile.

Table 3.5.2 presents results on the employment status of ever-married men age 15-49. Ninety-six percent of men reported that they are currently employed. There are only small variations in the employment status of men by background characteristics, with the exception of the low level in Gilgit Baltistan (76 percent).

Table 3.5.2 Employment status: Men

Percent distribution of ever-married men age 15-49 by employment status, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Employed in preceding	the 12 months g the survey	Not employed in the 12 months			
Background	Currently	Not currently	preceding the	Missing/		Number of
characteristic	employed ¹	employed	survey	don't know	Total	men
Age						
15-19	(80.7)	(15.8)	(3.6)	(0, 0)	100.0	36
20-24	90.1	3.3	6.5	0.1	100.0	219
25-29	95.8	2.0	2.2	0.0	100.0	521
20 20	07.0	2.0	0.8	0.0	100.0	646
35-30	96.0	2.2	1.0	0.0	100.0	588
40-44	90.9	2.1	1.0	0.0	100.0	530
40-44	90.0	1.0	2.2	0.0	100.0	504
40-49	94.0	2.0	2.4	0.0	100.0	594
Marital status						
Married	95.7	2.3	2.0	0.0	100.0	3,071
Divorced/separated/						
widowed	(93.8)	(1.8)	(4.4)	(0.0)	100.0	63
Number of living children						
0	93.1	4.0	2.8	0.1	100.0	481
1-2	95.2	2.1	2.6	0.0	100.0	918
3-4	97.0	2.2	0.8	0.0	100.0	936
5+	96.1	1.5	2.4	0.0	100.0	798
Pasidanaa						
Linhan	07.2	1 5	1 0	0.0	100.0	1 107
Dural	97.3	1.5	1.2	0.0	100.0	1,107
Rulai	94.0	2.1	2.5	0.0	100.0	2,027
Region						
Punjab	96.4	2.4	1.2	0.0	100.0	1,804
Sindh	96.8	1.5	1.7	0.0	100.0	796
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	91.1	1.9	7.0	0.0	100.0	347
Balochistan	93.9	4.4	1.5	0.2	100.0	151
ICT Islamabad	95.2	1.6	3.2	0.0	100.0	18
Gilgit Baltistan	75.8	12.9	11.3	0.0	100.0	18
Education						
No education	96.4	1.8	1.8	0.0	100.0	905
Primary	96.5	21	1.5	0.0	100.0	657
Middle	95.0	3.2	1.8	0.0	100.0	525
Secondary	95.6	2.6	1.0	0.0	100.0	557
Higher	93.8	2.0	4.0	0.0	100.0	491
Weelth quintile	00.0		1.0	0.0	100.0	101
wealth quintile	05.4	2.2	4.0	0.0	100.0	007
	90.4	3.Z	1.3	0.0	100.0	00 <i>1</i>
Secona	92.6	2.9	4.5	0.0	100.0	5/4
	95.3	3.4	1.2	0.1	100.0	567
Fourth	96.0	2.0	2.1	0.0	100.0	/13
Hignest	98.4	0.2	1.3	0.0	100.0	673
Total	95.7	2.3	2.1	0.0	100.0	3,134

Note: Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases.

¹ "Currently employed" is defined as having done work in the past 7 days. Includes persons who did not work in the past 7 days but who are regularly employed and were absent from work for leave, illness, vacation, or any other such reason.

3.6 OCCUPATION

Respondents who worked in the 12 months preceding the survey were further asked about their occupations. Table 3.6.1 presents the distribution of ever-married women by occupation according to background characteristics. Thirty-seven percent of employed women are engaged in an agricultural occupation. The next most common occupation is sales and services (26 percent), followed by unskilled manual work (20 percent). Only 8 percent of employed women are working in professional, technical, or managerial occupations; 6 percent are skilled manual workers; and 4 percent work in domestic service. There has been a shift in the occupational distribution of employed women since the 2006-07 PDHS.

Table 3.6.1 Occupation: Women

Percent distribution of ever-married women age 15-49 employed in the 12 months preceding the survey by occupation, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

Background characteristic	Professional/ technical/ managerial	Clerical	Sales and services	Skilled manual	Unskilled manual	Domestic service	Agriculture	Missing	Total	Number of women
Age										
15-19	34	0.0	18 5	9.2	12.4	03	56.2	0.0	100.0	149
20-24	33	0.0	26.2	7.0	20.6	0.0	42.2	0.0	100.0	484
25-29	8.2	0.0	31.5	67	18.5	2.2	32.5	0.1	100.0	787
30-34	8.1	0.3	27.0	3.7	10.0	2.2	37.0	0.0	100.0	740
35 30	0.1	0.2	27.0	3.7 4 9	22.2	3.3 4.2	37.9	0.0	100.0	740
35-39	9.4	0.0	23.4	4.0	22.2	4.2	33.0 20 F	0.9	100.0	773 566
40-44	0.4	0.2	20.0	0.0	21.0	0.0	30.5	0.0	100.0	300
40-49	0.7	0.0	20.3	6.5	19.0	5.0	39.1	0.9	100.0	451
Marital status										
Married	7.7	0.1	25.8	6.1	19.6	3.2	37.0	0.5	100.0	3,689
Divorced/separated/										
widowed	7.8	0.0	26.9	2.7	23.6	9.0	29.9	0.1	100.0	263
Number of living children										
0	86	0.4	29.8	52	16.4	0.8	37.8	0.9	100.0	500
1-2	12.1	0.1	26.0	6.1	19.4	2.4	33.1	0.6	100.0	1 003
3-4	82	0.1	26.6	5.6	21.0	3.9	34.5	0.0	100.0	1 164
5+	3.5	0.0	23.6	6.0	20.6	5.1	40.6	0.4	100.0	1 285
	0.0	0.0	20.0	0.1	20.0	0.1	10.0	0.1	100.0	1,200
Residence										
Urban	20.3	0.3	45.0	5.7	16.7	9.6	2.2	0.2	100.0	926
Rural	3.9	0.1	20.0	5.9	20.9	1.7	47.1	0.5	100.0	3,026
Region										
Punjab	7.9	0.1	24.7	1.5	20.1	4.2	40.9	0.6	100.0	2,591
Sindh	5.8	0.2	27.2	16.9	19.0	1.6	29.3	0.0	100.0	1,106
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	17.9	0.0	30.4	2.4	25.4	9.1	13.4	1.4	100.0	137
Balochistan	3.2	0.0	35.6	1.6	15.9	0.1	43.2	0.4	100.0	101
ICT Islamabad	36.3	1.5	17.9	0.5	25.7	16.5	1.6	0.0	100.0	13
Gilgit Baltistan	77.7	0.6	6.4	7.7	5.7	0.7	1.1	0.0	100.0	4
Education										
No education	1.0	0.1	19.3	7.0	21.5	43	46 5	04	100.0	2 801
Primary	1.0	0.1	15.5	3.0	21.5	3.2	22.0	0.4	100.0	530
Middle	10.1	0.0	56.3	13	18.6	2.2	10.3	1.2	100.0	165
Socondany	32.0	1.2	47.2	1.5	11.0	2.2	2.4	1.2	100.0	19/
Highor	52.0 60.0	0.2	47.3	4.7	7.9	0.2	2.4	1.3	100.0	272
riigilei	09.9	0.5	20.4	1.5	7.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	100.0	215
Wealth quintile										
Lowest	0.3	0.1	12.3	8.8	21.5	0.8	55.9	0.2	100.0	1,319
Second	2.7	0.0	21.7	4.6	21.6	3.1	45.1	1.2	100.0	946
Middle	5.6	0.1	37.1	3.6	21.1	7.2	25.1	0.0	100.0	727
Fourth	12.8	0.2	40.3	5.9	18.7	6.4	15.5	0.2	100.0	567
Highest	41.1	0.4	39.9	2.9	9.8	2.7	2.6	0.5	100.0	393
Total	7.7	0.1	25.9	5.8	19.9	3.5	36.6	0.4	100.0	3,952

The 2012-13 PDHS results show a decrease in the proportion of women working in agriculture, sales, and services occupations and an increase in unskilled and skilled manual occupations relative to the previous survey.

Younger women are more likely to work in agricultural occupations than older women. More than half (56 percent) of employed women in the 15-19 age group and 42 percent in the 20-24 age group are engaged in agriculture. The proportions of employed women working in unskilled manual and domestic occupations are higher among those who are divorced, separated, or widowed than among those who are currently married. Residence has a strong relationship with type of occupation. As expected, large urban-rural differentials are found among women working in the agriculture sector; 47 percent of rural women work in agriculture, as compared with only 2 percent of urban women. In contrast, 45 percent of employed women residing in urban areas are engaged in sales and services, as compared with 20 percent of rural women. Urban women are also more likely than rural women to be employed in professional, technical, or managerial occupations (20 percent and 4 percent, respectively).

An analysis by regions shows variations in occupational distributions. A higher proportion of employed women in Punjab (41 percent) and Balochistan (43 percent) than women in other regions are engaged in agricultural occupations. Interestingly, relative to the other provinces, a much larger proportion

of women in Gilgit Baltistan (78 percent), ICT Islamabad (36 percent), and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (18 percent) are engaged in professional, technical, or managerial occupations.

Education and occupation are also strongly related. As can be seen in Table 3.6.1, the proportion of women employed in agricultural occupations decreases substantially with increasing education, from 47 percent among employed women with no education to less than 1 percent among women with a higher education. The inverse is true for women who work in professional, technical, or managerial occupations; 70 percent of those with a higher education work in such jobs, as compared with 1 percent of women with no education.

A majority (56 percent) of employed women in the lowest wealth quintile are engaged in agricultural occupations, as compared with only 3 percent of those in the highest wealth quintile. Women in the higher wealth quintiles are more likely to work in professional, technical, or managerial jobs or sales and services jobs than those in the lower quintiles.

Table 3.6.2 presents information on the occupational distribution of ever-married men age 15-49. The results indicate that more than half of employed men are engaged in unskilled manual (27 percent) and sales and services (25 percent) jobs. About 20 percent each are engaged in agricultural or skilled manual work, while 9 percent are employed in professional, technical, or managerial jobs.

Table 3.6.2 Occupation: Men

Percent distribution of ever-married men age 15-49 employed in the 12 months preceding the survey by occupation, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

Background	Professional/ technical/	Olariaal	Sales and	Skilled	Unskilled	Domestic	A	Minning	T- 4-1	Number of
characteristic	manageriai	Cierical	services	manual	manual	service	Agriculture	wissing	Total	men
Age 15-19 20-24	(0.0) 3.7	(0.0) 0.0	(26.0) 23.4	(17.1) 23.5	(51.9) 29.7	(0.0) 0.0	(5.1) 19.7	(0.0) 0.0	100.0 100.0	35 205
25-29 30-34	6.4 9.1	2.0 0.3	20.6 25.7	23.0 19.2	29.8 28.1	0.4 0.1	17.5 17.4	0.3 0.0	100.0 100.0	509 641
35-39 40-44	11.1 8.5	2.2 1.0	27.1 22.2	17.4 19.5	25.1 26.5	0.5 0.2	16.2 21.9	0.5 0.2	100.0 100.0	582 518
45-49	9.1	1.6	26.5	15.8	21.6	0.8	24.5	0.1	100.0	580
Marital status Married	8.5	13	24.9	19 1	26.3	0.4	19.2	02	100.0	3 009
Divorced/separated/ widowed	(3.8)	(0.0)	(5.6)	(21.1)	(46.3)	(0.0)	(23.2)	(0.0)	100.0	60
Number of living children		()	. ,	、	()	()		()		
0 1-2	9.1 8 9	1.2 1.4	21.9 24 1	24.1 20.4	26.7 30.1	0.0	16.7 14 3	0.3	100.0	467 894
3-4	9.6	1.2	25.5	19.3	22.3	0.6	21.6	0.0	100.0	929
5+	6.2	1.2	25.4	14.6	28.1	0.2	24.0	0.3	100.0	779
Residence	12.0	22	37.4	25.4	18 9	0.5	3.5	0.1	100.0	1 093
Rural	6.5	0.8	17.4	15.7	31.0	0.3	28.1	0.3	100.0	1,977
Region	7.4	1 1	24.0	14.0	21.1	0.4	20.2	0.1	100.0	1 790
Sindh	7.4	1.1	24.9	31.6	15.3	0.4	20.2 19.9	0.1	100.0	783
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Balochistan	15.5 7.0	2.6 0.7	23.0 24.7	18.0 8.6	33.0 19.8	0.6 0.4	6.3 37.5	1.0 1.4	100.0 100.0	323 148
ICT Islamabad Gilgit Baltistan	37.1 16.2	3.7 2.3	19.8 18.3	14.7 17.8	21.6 35.6	1.6 0.0	1.5 8.5	0.0 1.3	100.0 100.0	17 16
Education										
No education Primary	2.0 3.3	0.2 0.5	15.6 22.5	17.1 22.4	38.9 33.6	0.2 1.1	26.0 16.5	0.0 0.0	100.0 100.0	889 647
Middle Secondary	3.8 10.3	0.3	28.9 32.7	23.2 19.7	23.2 17.7	0.3	20.2 17.0	0.0	100.0 100.0	515 547
Higner	30.7	4.6	29.9	13.5	8.4	0.0	12.3	0.6	100.0	471
Wealth quintile			5.0	40.4	07.4		05.4		400.0	500
Lowest	2.2	0.1	5.6 17.3	19.4 14 3	37.1	0.0	35.4	0.3	100.0	599 548
Middle	53	0.8	24.8	14.3	30.9	1.0	22.9	0.8	100.0	561
Fourth	11.1	1.8	33.8	21.0	19.6	0.1	12.5	0.0	100.0	698
Highest	17.1	2.2	37.6	24.0	10.9	0.2	7.8	0.1	100.0	664
Total	8.5	1.3	24.5	19.2	26.7	0.3	19.3	0.2	100.0	3,069
Note: Figures in parenthe	eses are based	on 25-49 un	weighted cases	3.						

There are no substantial variations in the occupational distribution of employed men by age group and number of children. However, there is an urban-rural differential in the occupational distribution; men residing in urban areas are more likely to work in the sales and services sector (37 percent), in skilled manual work (25 percent), or in professional, technical, or managerial jobs (12 percent) than those living in rural areas, who are more likely to be engaged in unskilled manual (31 percent) and agricultural (28 percent) occupations.

By region, about two in five (38 percent) ever-married working men in Balochistan are employed in the agricultural sector, as compared with 20 percent each in Punjab and Sindh and less than 10 percent in the other regions. In Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, unskilled manual occupations account for the largest proportion of employed men (33 percent). As expected, those residing in ICT Islamabad (37 percent) are more likely than those living in other regions to have professional, technical, or managerial jobs. The results indicate that men with no education are mostly employed as unskilled manual workers (39 percent), agricultural workers (26 percent), skilled manual workers (17 percent), and sales and services workers (16 percent). Those with a higher education are mostly employed in professional, technical, or managerial jobs (31 percent); sales and services jobs (30 percent); and skilled manual occupations (14 percent).

Men in the lowest wealth quintile are more likely to be involved in unskilled manual (37 percent) or agricultural (35 percent) occupations than those in the highest wealth quintile, where most are engaged in professional, technical, or managerial occupations (17 percent); sales and services jobs (38 percent); and skilled manual occupations (24 percent).

3.7 TYPE OF EMPLOYMENT

Table 3.7.1 shows the percent distribution of ever-married women employed in the 12 months prior to the survey by type of earnings, type of employer, and continuity of employment, according to whether respondents work in the agricultural or nonagricultural sector. Overall, 71 percent of women receive only cash for their work, while 7 percent receive cash and in-kind payments, 8 percent are paid in-kind only, and 14 percent are not paid. There are considerable variations between women who work in nonagricultural occupations and those who work in the agricultural sector. About three in 10 (29 percent) women working in agriculture are not paid for their work, as compared with 6 percent of those who work in nonagricultural jobs. Similarly, 17 percent of those who work in the agricultural sector are paid in-kind only, as compared with 2 percent of those who work in nonagricultural occupations. More than half (54 percent) of women who work in the agricultural sector receive either cash only or cash and in-kind payments, as opposed to 92 percent of nonagricultural workers (Figure 3.3).

Table 3.7.1 Type of employment: Women

Percent distribution of ever-married women age 15-49 employed in the 12 months preceding the survey by type of earnings, type of employer, and continuity of employment, according to type of employment (agricultural or nonagricultural), Pakistan 2012-13

		Non-	
Employment	Agricultural	agricultural	
characteristic	work	work	Total
Type of earnings			
Cash only	44.3	87.1	71.2
Cash and in-kind	9.6	4.9	6.6
In-kind only	17.2	2.2	7.7
Not paid	28.8	5.7	14.4
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0
Type of employer Employed by family			
member Employed by non-family	46.8	18.9	29.3
member	39.6	44.5	42.6
Self-employed	13.4	36.4	27.9
Missing	0.2	0.1	0.1
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0
Continuity of employment			
All year	41.9	60.7	53.9
Seasonal	54.5	21.9	33.7
Occasional	3.7	17.3	12.3
Total Number of women employed	100.0	100.0	100.0
during the last 12 months	1,445	2,490	3,952

Note: Total includes 17 women with missing information on type of employment who are not shown separately.



Figure 3.3 Women's earnings by type of employment

Percentage

Those who were employed were asked for information on type of employer. Overall, 43 percent of employed women work for a non-family member while 29 percent work for a family member and almost the same proportion (28 percent) are self-employed. Women who work in agriculture are much more likely to work for a family member than those who work in nonagricultural jobs (47 percent and 19 percent, respectively). Conversely, those who work in nonagricultural jobs are much more likely to be self-employed (36 percent) than those who work in agriculture (13 percent).

A majority of women who work are employed all year (54 percent), while 34 percent work seasonally and 12 percent work occasionally. As expected, those who work in agriculture are more likely to be employed seasonally than those who work in nonagricultural jobs.

Table 3.7.2 presents the distribution of employed ever-married men by type of earnings and continuity of employment. Almost all men (95 percent) employed in the nonagricultural sector receive cash only, and 4 percent receive cash and in-kind payments. Among agricultural workers, more than half (52 percent) are paid in cash only, 41 percent receive both cash and in-kind payments, and 5 percent receive inkind payments only; only 2 percent of these men are not paid for their work. Ninety percent of employed men work throughout the year, with no differences between the agricultural and nonagricultural sectors.

Table 3.7.2 Type of employment: Men

Percent distribution of ever-married men age 15-49 employed in the 12 months preceding the survey by type of earnings and continuity of employment, according to type of employment (agricultural or nonagricultural), Pakistan 2012-13

Employment	Agricultural	Non- agricultural	
characteristic	work	work	Total
Type of earnings			
Cash only	52.3	94.9	86.6
Cash and in-kind	40.8	4.3	11.3
In-kind only	4.9	0.6	1.4
Not paid	2.0	0.2	0.5
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0
Continuity of employment			
All year	89.5	90.1	89.9
Seasonal	9.4	6.9	7.4
Occasional	1.0	3.0	2.6
Total Number of men employed	100.0	100.0	100.0
during the last 12 months	593	2,470	3,069

Note: Total includes 6 men with missing information on type of employment who are not shown separately.

3.8 USE OF TOBACCO

Smoking and other forms of tobacco use can cause a wide variety of diseases and can lead to death. Smoking is a risk factor for cardiovascular disease, lung cancer, and other forms of cancer, and it contributes to the severity of pneumonia, emphysema, and chronic bronchitis symptoms. Also, secondhand smoke may adversely affect the health of children and aggravate childhood illnesses. In the 2012-13 PDHS, both women and men were asked a number of questions to ascertain the prevalence of use of

tobacco products, and cigarette smokers were asked about the number of cigarettes smoked in the last 24 hours.

Table 3.8.1 presents information on use of tobacco by ever-married women age 15-49. It is encouraging that almost all (94 percent) of the respondents reported that they do not use tobacco. Only 6 percent of women use any type of tobacco; 1 percent use cigarettes, and 5 percent use other forms of tobacco, including biri (hand-rolled cigarettes). Use of tobacco gradually increases with age. Six percent of pregnant women use some form of tobacco, as do 4 percent of women who are currently breastfeeding. Women residing in rural areas are slightly more likely to use tobacco than women in urban areas. Use of tobacco is particularly high among women in Balochistan, with 5 percent using cigarettes and 26 percent using other types of tobacco.

Table 3.8.1 Use of tobacco: Women

tobacco products, accore	ding to backgro	und characteris	stics and mate	ernity status, Pak	istan 2012-13
		Uses tobacco			
Background characteristic	Cigarettes	Pipe/biri	Other tobacco	Does not use tobacco	Number of women
Age					
15-19	0.4	0.0	2.5	97.5	605
20-24	0.4	0.0	2.0	97.6	2,106
25-29	0.4	0.1	3.1	96.4	2,724
30-34	1.2	0.3	4.3	94.1	2,528
35-39	2.1	0.3	5.8	92.1	2,226
40-44	2.6	0.4	8.8	88.9	1,766
45-49	2.0	0.8	9.7	88.1	1,602
Maternity status					
Pregnant	1.2	0.0	4.4	94.4	1,461
Breastfeeding (not	0.7			05.0	0 505
pregnant)	0.7	0.1	3.2	95.9	3,535
Neither	1.6	0.4	6.0	92.4	8,562
Residence					
Urban	0.8	0.0	3.1	95.8	4,536
Rural	1.6	0.4	6.1	92.4	9,022
Region					
Punjab	1.2	0.4	4.1	94.7	7,790
Sindh	1.6	0.2	6.7	91.4	3,133
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	0.2	0.0	0.7	99.0	1,908
Balochistan	4.9	0.8	25.5	71.0	568
ICT Islamabad	0.9	0.0	2.3	96.4	64
Gilgit Baltistan	0.2	0.0	0.7	99.2	94
Education					
No education	2.1	0.5	7.8	90.1	7,736
Primary	0.4	0.0	2.4	97.2	2,156
Middle	0.3	0.0	2.1	97.8	993
Secondary	0.2	0.0	0.8	98.9	1,413
Higher	0.2	0.0	0.2	99.1	1,260
Wealth quintile					
Lowest	2.5	0.4	10.9	86.9	2,589
Second	1.8	0.7	5.8	92.2	2,676
Middle	1.5	0.2	4.6	94.1	2,700
Fourth	0.7	0.0	3.5	95.7	2,789
Hignest	0.2	0.0	1.1	98.4	2,804
Total	1.3	0.3	5.1	93.6	13,558

Percentage of ever-married women age 15-49 who smoke cigarettes or a pipe or use other

Women with no education are more likely to use tobacco than those with some education. Use of tobacco decreases gradually with increasing wealth quintile. Thirteen percent of women in the lowest wealth quintile use some type of tobacco, as compared with only 2 percent of those in the highest quintile.

Women who smoke cigarettes were asked about the number of cigarettes they smoked during the 24 hours preceding the survey. One-third of the women reported that they smoked 1-2 cigarettes in the last 24 hours, while 30 percent reported that they smoked 10 or more (data not shown).

Table 3.8.2 presents information on use of tobacco by ever-married men age 15-49. Men in Pakistan are more likely to use tobacco in any form than women. Forty-five percent of men reported using some type of tobacco, with 28 percent reporting use of cigarettes and 22 percent using some other type of tobacco. Those who smoked cigarettes were further asked about the number of cigarettes they smoked during the previous 24 hours. A large majority (70 percent) of the respondents smoked 10 or more cigarettes during the 24 hours preceding the survey, while 12 percent smoked 3-5 cigarettes and 10 percent smoked 6-9 cigarettes.

Table 3.8.2 Use of tobacco: Men

Percentage of ever-married men age 15-49 who smoke cigarettes or a pipe or use other tobacco products and the percent distribution of cigarette smokers by number of cigarettes smoked in preceding 24 hours, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Uses tobacco				Perce num	nt distribu per of ciga	tion of m arettes sr	en who s noked in	moke ciga the past 2	arettes by 24 hours		Number	
Background characteristic	Cigarettes	Pipe/biri	Other tobacco	Does not use tobacco	Number of men	0	1-2	3-5	6-9	10+	Don't know/ missing	Total	of cigarette smokers
Age													
15-19	(4.7)	0.0	(13.3)	(82.0)	36	*	*	*	*	*	*	100.0	2
20-24	18.4	0.0	22.7	62.5	219	(0.1)	(12.7)	(28.1)	(19.5)	(39.6)	(0.0)	100.0	40
25-29	20.1	0.5	23.9	58.6	521	0.1	5.5	21.1	9.1	64.2	0.0	100.0	104
30-34	30.4	0.0	21.5	53.7	646	0.0	5.7	13.3	7.0	74.1	0.0	100.0	196
35-39	23.5	0.0	19.7	60.0	588	3.2	7.1	8.9	10.5	70.3	0.0	100.0	138
40-44	38.3	0.3	18.5	52.5	530	0.8	7.7	8.5	10.1	72.9	0.0	100.0	203
45-49	30.7	0.0	26.2	48.4	594	0.0	4.5	9.9	10.6	72.3	2.6	100.0	182
Residence													
Urban	27.0	0.1	21.4	56.2	1,107	0.8	7.7	12.3	13.9	64.7	0.6	100.0	299
Rural	28.0	0.1	22.2	55.0	2,027	0.7	5.7	12.4	7.9	72.8	0.5	100.0	568
Region													
Punjab	30.5	0.1	18.4	56.4	1,804	1.1	6.1	12.3	8.7	71.0	0.8	100.0	550
Sindh	23.6	0.3	28.4	52.5	796	0.0	7.4	11.2	6.1	75.4	0.0	100.0	188
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	19.1	0.0	24.3	60.6	347	0.0	9.1	19.7	27.3	43.6	0.4	100.0	66
Balochistan	34.6	0.0	25.2	46.4	151	0.0	2.0	7.1	14.9	76.0	0.0	100.0	52
ICT Islamabad	29.0	0.0	10.7	61.4	18	2.0	3.9	12.3	15.2	66.1	0.5	100.0	5
Gilgit Baltistan	24.6	0.0	24.8	58.6	18	0.0	19.2	19.8	7.9	53.1	0.0	100.0	4
Education													
No education	34.6	0.3	27.4	44.4	905	0.5	5.2	10.4	8.8	74.1	0.9	100.0	313
Primary	27.8	0.0	26.3	52.0	657	0.0	5.5	14.3	7.8	72.3	0.0	100.0	183
Middle	32.2	0.0	18.7	53.4	525	2.7	4.9	13.3	17.6	61.5	0.0	100.0	169
Secondary	20.5	0.2	19.7	64.7	557	0.0	5.6	12.6	5.4	75.0	1.4	100.0	114
Higher	17.9	0.0	12.1	72.0	491	0.0	16.3	13.3	9.7	60.3	0.3	100.0	88
Wealth quintile													
Lowest	24.9	0.2	27.9	51.1	607	0.0	6.1	15.0	8.8	70.1	0.0	100.0	151
Second	31.2	0.3	24.3	51.8	574	0.0	6.0	9.4	14.1	70.4	0.0	100.0	179
Middle	31.7	0.0	22.5	51.6	567	0.9	4.6	7.5	4.2	81.1	1.6	100.0	180
Fourth	30.7	0.0	17.0	56.5	713	1.0	5.7	15.1	7.7	70.5	0.0	100.0	219
Highest	20.5	0.2	19.3	64.6	673	1.7	10.7	15.3	16.9	54.0	1.4	100.0	138
Total	27.6	0.1	21.9	55.4	3,134	0.7	6.4	12.4	10.0	70.0	0.6	100.0	866

Note: Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases. An asterisk indicates that a figure is based on fewer than 25 unweighted cases and has been suppressed.

It is encouraging that use of tobacco is less common among younger men, with only 18 percent of those age 20-24 smoking cigarettes, in contrast to 38 percent of those age 40-44. Use of other types of tobacco is higher (26 percent) among men age 45-49 than among those in the other age groups. Tobacco use is similar among urban and rural respondents. It is highest among men in Balochistan (54 percent), which also has the highest proportion of cigarette smokers who smoke 10 or more cigarettes a day (76 percent). Use of tobacco is less common in ICT Islamabad and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa than in other provinces. As with women, tobacco use among men decreases with increasing education and wealth.

3.9 KNOWLEDGE CONCERNING TUBERCULOSIS

Table 3.9.1 presents results on knowledge concerning tuberculosis (TB) among ever-married women age 15-49. Overall, 95 percent of women have heard of tuberculosis. There are no marked differences in awareness of tuberculosis by women's background characteristics (i.e., age, residence, region, education, and wealth quintile), except that women in Gilgit Baltistan (68 percent) and those in Balochistan (82 percent) are slightly less aware about it.

Table 3.9.1 Knowledge concerning tuberculosis: Women

Percentage of ever-married women age 15-49 who have heard of tuberculosis (TB), and among women who have heard of TB, the percentage who know that TB is spread through the air by coughing, the percentage who believe that TB can be cured, and the percentage who have ever been told by a doctor, nurse, or LHV that they have TB, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Among all resp	ondents:	Among respondents who have heard of TB:					
Background characteristic	Percentage who have heard of TB	Number	Percentage who report that TB is spread through coughing	Percentage who believe that TB can be cured	Percentage who have been told by doctor/ nurse/LHV they have TB	Number		
Age 15-19 20-24 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 Residence Urban	89.9 94.5 94.8 95.3 93.9 95.6 96.9 96.6	605 2,106 2,724 2,528 2,226 1,766 1,602 4,536	31.5 43.4 50.5 49.1 51.3 50.9 45.2 58.2	87.1 92.9 94.3 92.9 94.8 95.0 94.5 96.1	2.6 2.2 3.4 3.7 4.4 3.7 4.5 3.9	544 1,990 2,581 2,409 2,090 1,688 1,552 4,382		
Rural Region Punjab Urban Rural	93.9 95.4 96.5 95.0	9,022 7,790 2,526 5,264	42.5 48.8 57.7 44.5	92.5 93.9 95.6 93.1	3.4 3.0 3.5 2.7	8,472 7,436 2,436 4,999		
Sindh Urban Rural Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	97.6 98.0 97.2 92.6	3,133 1,521 1,612	41.5 57.0 26.7	95.6 97.0 94.2 93.1	4.8 4.6 4.9	3,058 1,491 1,567 1,767		
Urban Rural Balochistan	94.3 92.3 82.1	320 1,588 568	61.7 47.7 61.1	97.0 92.3 81.2	4.0 3.1 6.3	302 1,465 467		
Urban Rural ICT Islamabad	89.1 80.4 96.6	114 454 64	70.3 58.5 73.5	93.1 77.9 98.7	6.1 6.4 3.0	102 365 62		
Gilgit Baltistan	68.4	94	58.2	84.9	3.4	64		
No education Primary Middle Secondary Higher	92.7 95.9 97.2 99.0 99.3	7,736 2,156 993 1,413 1,260	39.1 47.4 53.1 62.6 78.0	91.3 94.9 97.0 97.9 98.5	3.9 4.3 2.4 2.8 2.0	7,172 2,068 965 1,398 1,251		
Wealth quintile Lowest Second Middle Fourth Highest	91.5 93.3 94.9 96.2 97.8 94.8	2,589 2,676 2,700 2,789 2,804 13,558	32.0 40.4 47.5 51.7 64.9	87.0 91.4 95.0 96.5 97.7	4.2 3.6 3.3 3.9 2.9	2,369 2,497 2,563 2,683 2,742		
LHV = Lady health visite	or or	10,000	47.3	əJ.1	5.0	12,004		

Women who had heard of tuberculosis were asked about modes of TB transmission, whether they thought that the disease could be cured, and whether they had ever been told by a doctor, nurse, or lady health visitor (LHV) that they had tuberculosis. The results (Table 3.9.1) indicate that 48 percent of evermarried women are aware that tuberculosis can be spread through coughing. Ninety-four percent of women are aware that tuberculosis can be cured, and 4 percent said that they had been told by a medical professional that they had tuberculosis.

Younger women (age 15-19) are least likely to know that tuberculosis can be transmitted through coughing (32 percent). Urban women (58 percent) are more likely than rural women (43 percent) to know about transmission of tuberculosis through coughing. Women in Sindh (42 percent), those who have no education (39 percent), and those in the lowest wealth quintile (32 percent) are least likely to know that tuberculosis can be spread through coughing.

Almost all respondents, irrespective of their age, residence, region, education, or wealth, believe that tuberculosis can be cured. Young women age 15-19 (87 percent), those in Balochistan (81 percent),

and those in the lowest wealth quintile (87 percent) are slightly less likely to believe that tuberculosis can be cured.

Six percent of women in Balochistan reported that they were told by a health provider that they had tuberculosis, the highest percentage among the regions. There is little variation by age and residence, although women with no education or a primary education (4 percent each) and those in the lowest wealth quintile (4 percent) are slightly more likely than other women to report having been told that they had tuberculosis.

Table 3.9.2 presents results on knowledge concerning tuberculosis among ever-married men age 15-49. Men are equally as likely as women to be aware of tuberculosis; 96 percent reported that they had heard of tuberculosis, a percentage slightly higher than that among women (95 percent). There were only minimal differences in the proportions of men who had heard of tuberculosis according to background characteristics, with the exception that men in Gilgit Baltistan (82 percent) were less likely than men in other regions to be aware of the disease.

Table 3.9.2 Knowledge concerning tuberculosis: Men

Percentage of ever-married men age 15-49 who have heard of tuberculosis (TB), and among men who have heard of TB, the percentage who know that TB is spread through the air by coughing, the percentage who believe that TB can be cured, and the percentage who have ever been told by a doctor, nurse, or LHV that they have TB, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Among all resp	ondents:	Among respondents who have heard of TB:						
Background characteristic	Percentage who have heard of TB	Number	Percentage who report that TB is spread through coughing	Percentage who believe that TB can be cured	Percentage who have been told by doctor/ nurse/LHV they have TB	Number			
Age 15-19 20-24 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 Bosideeee	(90.1) 90.8 95.4 96.6 95.3 97.3 97.5	36 219 521 646 588 530 594	(29.8) 48.5 51.4 52.6 60.5 52.1 60.1	(94.3) 92.8 89.1 94.8 95.6 96.3 92.7	(0.0) 2.5 2.7 3.9 4.9 6.4 3.1	32 199 497 624 560 516 579			
Urban Rural	97.7 95.0	1,107 2,027	72.0 45.0	94.7 93.2	4.4 3.8	1,081 1,926			
Region Punjab Urban Rural	96.6 98.7 95.5	1,804 618 1,186	55.0 72.6 45.4	92.9 93.2 92.7	4.7 5.8 4.1	1,743 610 1,133			
Sindh Urban Rural	95.7 96.3 95.3	796 376 420	45.9 69.7 24.5	94.0 96.3 91.9	3.2 2.5 3.9	762 362 401			
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Urban Rural	94.5 97.3 93.8	347 67 281	64.3 73.8 61.9	98.7 98.4 98.8	2.3 2.2 2.3	328 65 263			
Balochistan Urban Rural	94.1 95.3 93.7	151 32 119	77.1 87.1 74.4	90.1 93.8 89.1	4.6 3.1 5.0	142 30 111			
ICT Islamabad	97.8	18	65.2	99.7	4.5	17			
Gilgit Baltistan	82.0	18	38.4	93.0	1.2	15			
Education No education Primary Middle Secondary Higher	91.9 97.4 96.5 97.9 98.8	905 657 525 557 491	38.8 46.7 56.5 70.6 72.9	89.4 92.3 95.0 95.9 99.4	5.0 4.4 4.1 3.4 2.5	832 639 506 545 485			
Wealth quintile Lowest Second Middle Fourth Highest Total	91.6 95.3 96.0 98.3 98.0 96.0	607 574 567 713 673 3,134	26.8 42.4 54.3 61.5 81.6 54.7	86.0 94.3 94.9 95.8 96.7 93.7	3.1 4.0 4.3 3.8 4.9 4.0	556 547 545 700 660 3,007			

Note: Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases.

LHV = Lady health visitor

Among men who had heard of tuberculosis, 55 percent reported that it can be spread through coughing, 94 percent believed that it can be cured, and 4 percent reported that they had been told by a health care provider that they had tuberculosis.

The percentage of men aware that tuberculosis can be spread through coughing varied by age group, ranging from 49 percent among those 20-24 to 61 percent among those 35-39. There were urbanrural differentials as well, with 72 percent of men in urban areas and 45 percent in rural areas reporting that tuberculosis can be transmitted through coughing. Only 38 percent of men in Gilgit Baltistan know that tuberculosis can be spread through coughing (the lowest percentage among the regions), as compared with 77 percent of men in Balochistan. Knowledge that tuberculosis can be spread through coughing increases dramatically with increasing education and wealth.

Ever-married men with no education and those in the lowest wealth quintile are least likely to know that tuberculosis can be cured. There are only minor differentials in knowledge that tuberculosis can be cured according to other characteristics. Also, there are minimal differences by background characteristics in the proportion of men who have been diagnosed as having tuberculosis.

3.10 KNOWLEDGE CONCERNING HEPATITIS

Table 3.10.1 presents data on knowledge concerning hepatitis among ever-married women age 15-49. Ninety percent of women have heard of hepatitis B or C. Younger women, those in rural areas, those in Gilgit Baltistan and Balochistan, those with no education, and those in the lowest wealth quintile are least likely to have heard of hepatitis B or C.

Those respondents who had heard of hepatitis B or C were asked if there was anything a person could do to avoid getting hepatitis B or C and, if so, what. Nineteen percent of women reported that the disease could be prevented by avoiding using contaminated food and water, while 9 percent each cited using disposable syringes and avoiding contact with infected persons; 8 percent reported safe sex as a means of prevention, and 6 percent cited safe blood transfer. Nineteen percent said that there is nothing a person can do to avoid hepatitis or that they do not know of any means. Women who are more knowledgeable about ways to avoid hepatitis B or C include urban women, those in ICT Islamabad, those with more education, and those in the higher wealth quintiles.

Table 3.10.2 presents information on knowledge concerning hepatitis B or C among ever-married men age 15-49. Men are slightly more likely to have heard of hepatitis B or C than women. Ninety-two percent of men reported that they have heard of hepatitis B or C (as compared with 90 percent of women). However, among those who have heard of hepatitis B or C, men are much more likely than women to know how hepatitis B or C can be avoided. For example, 32 percent of men reported that avoiding use of contaminated food or water is a way to avoid getting hepatitis B or C, while one-fifth of men reported use of disposable syringes and 15 percent each cited safe sex and safe blood transfer. Sixteen percent of men said that there is nothing a person can do or that they do not know any way of avoiding hepatitis. Differentials by residence are large with respect to knowledge of various ways to avoid hepatitis B or C. Men in urban areas and in ICT Islamabad are the most likely to know the main ways of avoiding hepatitis B or C, while those in Sindh are the least likely. Education is positively correlated with knowledge concerning hepatitis B or C, as is wealth quintile.

Table 3.10.1 Knowledge concerning hepatitis: Women

Percentage of ever-married women age 15-49 who have heard of hepatitis B or C, and among women who have heard of hepatitis B or C, the percentages who believe that hepatitis can be avoided by different ways, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	respond	g all dents:	Ways to avoid hepatitis B or C:								
Background characteristic	Percentage who have heard of hepatitis B or C	Number	Safe sex	Safe blood transfer	Disposable syringe	Avoid contami- nated food/ water	Avoid contact with infected person	There is nothing a person can do/don't know	Number		
Age											
15-19	84.0	605	4.6	2.2	5.4	12.1	7.2	19.6	508		
20-24	89.8	2.106	6.4	4.9	6.5	16.2	9.2	20.0	1.892		
25-29	88.9	2,724	7.7	7.0	8.8	17.6	7.0	18.8	2,422		
30-34	89.2	2,528	7.6	7.0	10.7	20.9	7.8	17.5	2,256		
35-39	90.6	2,226	8.5	6.7	10.5	21.6	9.0	18.9	2,017		
40-44	91.9	1,766	7.8	5.7	9.7	20.2	9.2	18.3	1,623		
45-49	92.1	1,602	7.4	6.1	8.9	22.5	9.7	17.7	1,476		
Residence											
Urban	92.9	4,536	9.6	10.8	13.5	23.5	7.9	16.2	4,216		
Rural	88.4	9,022	6.3	3.7	6.8	17.2	8.8	19.9	7,979		
Region											
Punjab	93.2	7,790	6.7	4.8	6.9	22.3	9.0	16.8	7,259		
Urban	95.1	2,526	8.5	9.3	11.0	27.4	8.3	16.0	2,403		
Rural	92.2	5,264	5.7	2.6	4.9	19.7	9.3	17.2	4,855		
Sindh	84.7	3,133	6.6	7.9	14.0	14.8	3.8	22.4	2,653		
Urban	90.0	1,521	10.6	12.0	17.2	17.5	6.2	16.3	1,370		
Rural	79.7	1,612	2.4	3.4	10.7	11.9	1.3	28.8	1,284		
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	90.5	1,908	11.1	6.9	9.1	13.8	13.5	19.8	1,727		
Urban	93.3	320	11.3	13.2	12.6	17.6	12.2	15.6	299		
Rural	90.0	1,588	11.1	5.5	8.3	13.0	13.8	20.7	1,428		
Balochistan	79.0	568	12.2	13.1	12.2	16.5	7.3	20.9	449		
Urban	86.0	114	16.9	16.0	16.9	17.7	9.2	21.1	98		
Rural	77.2	454	10.9	12.3	10.9	16.2	6.7	20.8	350		
ICT Islamabad	94.4	64	8.2	20.7	32.5	44.0	5.7	17.5	60		
Gilgit Baltistan	49.6	94	1.8	4.7	5.3	32.1	19.8	20.1	47		
Education											
No education	85.9	7,736	5.2	2.6	5.6	16.1	8.1	20.3	6,645		
Primary	92.8	2,156	8.2	5.0	6.7	19.0	8.1	20.0	2,000		
Middle	95.6	993	7.2	7.1	10.8	19.9	8.0	18.7	949		
Secondary	97.1	1,413	9.4	10.5	13.1	23.5	9.7	16.5	1,371		
Higher	97.7	1,260	16.3	21.7	26.1	32.7	9.9	9.5	1,231		
Wealth quintile											
Lowest	80.7	2,589	4.4	2.2	4.2	12.6	5.2	21.1	2,090		
Second	88.0	2,676	5.8	3.0	6.2	16.9	8.8	21.5	2,355		
Middle	91.4	2,700	7.4	3.6	7.1	17.9	9.9	19.5	2,469		
Fourth	92.8	2,789	7.7	5.4	8.6	20.6	10.5	17.7	2,589		
Highest	96.0	2,804	11.2	15.0	17.7	26.9	7.5	14.3	2,692		
Total	89.9	13,558	7.5	6.1	9.1	19.4	8.5	18.6	12,195		

Table 3.10.2 Knowledge concerning hepatitis: Men

Percentage of ever-married men age 15-49 who have heard of hepatitis B or C, and among men who have heard of hepatitis B or C, the percentages who believe that hepatitis can be avoided by different ways, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	respond	g all dents:	Ways to avoid hepatitis B or C:								
Background characteristic	Percentage who have heard of hepatitis B or C	Number	Safe sex	Safe blood transfer	Disposable syringe	Avoid contami- nated food/ water	Avoid contact with infected person	There is nothing a person can do/don't know	Number		
Age											
15-19	(80.5)	36	*	*	*	*	*	*	29		
20-24	86.6	219	6.4	12.1	17.3	18.3	8.3	24.1	190		
25-29	91.5	521	12.0	10.5	16.0	28.7	6.8	19.1	476		
30-34	92.1	646	17.4	17.0	20.1	33.1	7.3	14.8	595		
35-39	97.2	588	17.9	16.3	22.8	38.2	6.1	13.9	571		
40-44	91.9	530	13.3	13.5	18.4	32.2	10.2	16.2	487		
45-49	92.0	594	16.6	17.8	22.0	30.2	5.3	13.9	547		
Residence											
Urban	92.7	1,107	24.3	21.4	28.1	34.0	6.8	12.5	1,025		
Rural	92.3	2,027	9.8	11.3	15.2	30.5	7.3	18.0	1,870		
Region											
Punjab	93.4	1,804	15.2	13.7	20.2	36.0	7.1	12.6	1,685		
Urban	92.9	618	29.8	26.8	35.2	43.3	8.4	4.9	574		
Rural	93.7	1,186	7.7	6.9	12.4	32.2	6.4	16.6	1,111		
Sindh	89.9	796	12.9	7.0	11.9	22.6	7.7	23.8	716		
Urban	92.6	376	16.0	9.6	15.1	18.0	3.7	24.7	348		
Rural	87.5	420	9.9	4.6	8.8	27.0	11.6	23.0	368		
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	95.5	347	20.2	36.1	34.3	28.6	3.6	16.0	331		
Urban	94.0	67	23.0	31.6	34.0	32.4	6.1	14.4	63		
Rural	95.8	281	19.5	37.1	34.3	27.8	3.1	16.4	269		
Balochistan	90.2	151	9.8	18.5	19.5	34.6	13.5	18.8	136		
Urban	85.1	32	21.2	32.0	27.3	43.7	14.2	13.7	27		
Rural	91.6	119	6.9	15.2	17.6	32.3	13.3	20.1	109		
ICT Islamabad	98.1	18	22.0	27.1	36.7	47.6	5.2	10.3	17		
Gilgit Baltistan	54.2	18	15.3	13.5	15.6	13.0	2.9	19.4	10		
Education											
No education	84.9	905	7.3	5.5	7.6	20.1	6.8	22.1	768		
Primary	92.2	657	13.8	11.4	13.0	27.8	6.6	17.2	605		
Middle	95.0	525	11.2	14.6	17.9	30.0	8.2	16.0	498		
Secondary	96.5	557	22.6	21.8	32.0	44.2	5.9	11.5	537		
Higher	99.1	491	24.0	26.8	36.1	43.1	8.6	10.2	486		
Wealth quintile											
Lowest	85.6	607	7.4	3.8	6.3	18.6	5.0	22.1	519		
Second	92.7	574	7.3	11.8	13.3	27.8	8.7	20.1	532		
Middle	92.9	567	12.5	13.3	20.1	29.3	9.7	15.5	527		
Fourth	94.1	713	17.8	17.0	23.6	40.2	6.3	13.6	671		
Highest	96.1	673	26.4	25.5	31.7	38.9	6.3	11.0	647		
Total	92.4	3,134	15.0	14.9	19.8	31.8	7.1	16.1	2,896		

Note: Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases. An asterisk indicates that a figure is based on fewer than 25 unweighted cases and has been suppressed.

Key Findings

- There is evidence that age at marriage among women in Pakistan is rising; the median age at first marriage increased from 19.1 years in 2006-07 to 19.5 years in 2012-13.
- The percentage of women who were married by age 15 decreases from 10 percent among those age 45-49 to 2 percent among those age 15-19.
- Pakistani men marry later than women. The median age at first marriage among women age 25-49 is 20 years.
- Pakistan has a high rate of marriages between cousins, with approximately half of all marriages occurring between first cousins (49 percent). However, there has been a decrease of 3 percentage points in the proportion of such marriages since the 2006-07 PDHS.
- The proportion of women in a polygynous union declined from 7 percent in 2006-07 to 4 percent in 2012-13.

This chapter describes marriage patterns. Marriage is one of the factors that regulate the level of fertility because marriage signals the onset of exposure to the risk of pregnancy for most women and, thus, is considered a proximate determinant of fertility. The chapter also includes information on more direct measures of the beginning of exposure to pregnancy and level of exposure, for example, age at first marriage and length of time since last sexual activity. Similarly, information on current marital status, marriage between relatives, and marital union in polygynous relationships is presented. These variables, taken together, determine the length and pace of a woman's reproductive life, and therefore they are important for understanding fertility dimensions.

Marriage in Pakistan is a legal union between a man and a woman. Culturally, it is not only a link between husband and wife but also an alliance between their respective families. In Islamic law (sharia), marriage is a legal bond and social contract between a man and a woman and is highly recommended whenever the individuals feel financially and emotionally ready (Muslim Family Law Ordinance, 1961).

4.1 CURRENT MARITAL STATUS

Table 4.1 shows the distribution of all women and men by current marital status, according to age. Sixty-four percent of women and 51 percent of men age 15-49 are currently married. A higher proportion of men (48 percent) than women (33 percent) have never been married. The proportion who are divorced, separated, or widowed is higher among women than men (3 percent and 1 percent, respectively).

The results further show that women marry younger than men. For example, a higher proportion of teenage girls age 15-19 (14 percent) are married than teenage boys (2 percent). The proportion of married women increases rapidly from 14 percent among women age 15-19 to 49 percent among those age 20-24 and to 90 percent or above among women age 30-44. A slightly lower percentage of women age 45-49 are in a union, primarily due to increased widowhood at older ages. Among men, the percentage who are married also increases rapidly from 2 percent in the youngest age group to 21 percent among those age 20-24, 54 percent among those age 25-29, and 81 percent or more among men age 30-49.

Table 4.1 Current marital status

Percent distribution of women and men age 15-49 by current marital status, according to age, Pakistan 2012-13

Age	Never married	Married	Divorced	Separated	Widowed	Total	Number of respondents
15-19	85.8	13.9	0.0	0.1	0.1	100.0	4,269
20-24	49.7	49.1	0.7	0.4	0.2	100.0	4,183
25-29	20.4	77.8	0.8	0.5	0.5	100.0	3,421
30-34	7.2	90.1	0.9	0.6	1.2	100.0	2,725
35-39	3.0	93.1	0.8	0.7	2.3	100.0	2,296
40-44	2.1	89.6	0.8	0.9	6.5	100.0	1,804
45-49	1.3	87.4	0.8	0.7	9.8	100.0	1,623
Total	33.3	63.7	0.6	0.5	1.9	100.0	20,321
			N	IEN			
15-19	97.6	2.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	1,473
20-24	78.1	20.9	0.0	0.7	0.3	100.0	1,000
25-29	45.5	54.0	0.1	0.2	0.2	100.0	956
30-34	17.2	81.4	0.8	0.4	0.1	100.0	781
35-39	6.2	92.3	0.6	0.2	0.6	100.0	627
40-44	2.6	94.8	0.6	0.4	1.6	100.0	545
45-49	1.3	96.4	0.0	0.0	2.3	100.0	602
Total	47.6	51.3	0.2	0.3	0.5	100.0	5,982

The proportion of women and men who have never married decreases sharply with increasing age in both groups. Among women, the proportion decreases from 86 percent in the 15-19 age group to 3 percent or less among those age 35 and above; among men, it decreases from 98 percent in the 15-19 age group to 6 percent or less in the 35-39 age group and subsequent groups. Among women overall, the proportion who have never been married has decreased slightly over the past six years, from 35 percent in 2006-07 to 33 percent in 2012-13. However, among women age 15-19, the proportion who have never been married has increased slightly (from 84 percent to 86 percent).

4.2 POLYGYNY

Marital unions are predominantly of two types, those that are monogamous and those that are polygynous. The distinction has social significance and probable fertility implications. Polygyny, the practice of having more than one wife, has connotations for frequency of sexual intercourse and thus may have an effect on fertility. Nevertheless, the association between type of union and fertility is complex and not well understood. Polygyny is legal in Pakistan; however, according to the Muslim Family Law Ordinance promulgated in 1961, the husband needs to obtain written permission from his existing wife or wives if he wants to marry another woman (Muslim Family Law Ordinance, 1961). The extent of polygyny was measured in the 2012-13 PDHS by asking all currently married female respondents whether their husband had other wives (co-wives) and, if so, how many. Currently married men were also asked whether they had one or more wives.

Tables 4.2.1 and 4.2.2, respectively, show the percent distribution of currently married women age 15-49 by number of co-wives and the percent distribution of currently married men by number of wives. The data indicate that the vast majority of Pakistani women and men are in monogamous unions. Only 4 percent of married women and 3 percent of married men are in polygynous unions. The proportion of currently married women in a polygynous union decreased from 7 percent in 2006-07 to 4 percent in 2012-13.

Table 4.2.1 Number of women's co-wives

Percent distribution of currently married women age 15-49 by number of co-wives, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

Background		Nur	mber of co-	wives			Number of
characteristic	0	1	2+	Don't know	Missing	Total	women
Age							
15-19	98.4	1.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	594
20-24	97.1	2.5	0.1	0.1	0.2	100.0	2,053
25-29	97.5	2.4	0.1	0.0	0.1	100.0	2,663
30-34	95.4	4.4	0.0	0.0	0.2	100.0	2,454
35-39	94.8	4.6	0.4	0.2	0.1	100.0	2,137
40-44	95.1	4.3	0.5	0.0	0.1	100.0	1,617
45-49	95.6	3.7	0.4	0.2	0.2	100.0	1,419
Residence							
Urban	96.3	3.1	0.2	0.1	0.2	100.0	4,304
Rural	96.0	3.7	0.2	0.0	0.1	100.0	8,633
Region							
Punjab	96.5	3.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	100.0	7,374
Sindh	95.6	4.1	0.3	0.0	0.0	100.0	3,002
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	96.6	3.1	0.0	0.0	0.3	100.0	1,855
Balochistan	91.9	6.8	0.7	0.0	0.6	100.0	553
ICT Islamabad	96.3	3.4	0.0	0.0	0.3	100.0	62
Gilgit Baltistan	96.8	2.9	0.1	0.0	0.1	100.0	91
Education							
No education	95.5	4.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	100.0	7,347
Primary	96.1	3.4	0.3	0.1	0.0	100.0	2,057
Middle	98.1	1.7	0.1	0.0	0.0	100.0	958
Secondary	96.9	2.5	0.1	0.1	0.4	100.0	1,351
Higher	97.5	2.1	0.4	0.0	0.1	100.0	1,225
Wealth quintile							
Lowest	95.1	4.5	0.2	0.1	0.1	100.0	2,501
Second	96.0	3.6	0.1	0.1	0.2	100.0	2,533
Middle	95.9	4.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	100.0	2,550
Fourth	96.1	3.3	0.3	0.0	0.2	100.0	2,677
Highest	97.3	2.1	0.3	0.0	0.2	100.0	2,676
Total	96.1	3.5	0.2	0.1	0.1	100.0	12,937

Table 4.2.2 Number of men's wives

Percent distribution of currently married men age 15-49 by number of wives, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

1 00.0) 99.8 96.4 98.2 95.0 95.9 93.1 94.8 96.8 95.1 95.1	2+ (0.0) 0.2 1.9 1.3 4.4 4.1 6.8 4.0 3.0 4.1	Missing (0.0) 0.0 1.7 0.5 0.7 0.0 0.0 1.1 0.2	Total 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0	men 36 209 516 636 579 516 580 1,091 1,980
00.0) 99.8 96.4 98.2 95.0 95.9 93.1 94.8 96.8 95.1 95.1	(0.0) 0.2 1.9 1.3 4.4 4.1 6.8 4.0 3.0 4.1	(0.0) 0.0 1.7 0.5 0.7 0.0 0.0 1.1 0.2	100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0	36 209 516 636 579 516 580 1,091 1,980
00.0) 99.8 96.4 98.2 95.0 95.9 93.1 94.8 96.8 95.1 95.1	(0.0) 0.2 1.9 1.3 4.4 4.1 6.8 4.0 3.0 4.1	(0.0) 0.0 1.7 0.5 0.7 0.0 0.0 1.1 0.2	100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0	36 209 516 636 516 516 580 1,091 1,980
99.8 96.4 98.2 95.0 95.9 93.1 94.8 96.8 95.1 97.7	0.2 1.9 1.3 4.4 4.1 6.8 4.0 3.0 4.1	0.0 1.7 0.5 0.7 0.0 0.0 1.1 0.2	100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0	209 516 636 579 516 580 1,091 1,980
96.4 98.2 95.0 95.9 93.1 94.8 96.8 95.1 97.7	1.9 1.3 4.4 4.1 6.8 4.0 3.0 4.1	1.7 0.5 0.7 0.0 0.0 1.1 0.2	100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0	516 636 579 516 580 1,091 1,980
98.2 95.0 95.9 93.1 94.8 96.8 95.1 97.7	1.3 4.4 4.1 6.8 4.0 3.0 4.1	0.5 0.7 0.0 1.1 0.2	100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0	636 579 516 580 1,091 1,980
95.0 95.9 93.1 94.8 96.8 95.1 97.7	4.4 4.1 6.8 4.0 3.0 4.1	0.7 0.0 0.0 1.1 0.2	100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0	579 516 580 1,091 1,980
95.9 93.1 94.8 96.8 95.1	4.1 6.8 4.0 3.0 4.1	0.0 0.0 1.1 0.2	100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0	516 580 1,091 1,980
93.1 94.8 96.8 95.1	6.8 4.0 3.0 4.1	0.0 1.1 0.2	100.0 100.0 100.0	580 1,091 1,980
94.8 96.8 95.1	4.0 3.0 4.1	1.1 0.2	100.0 100.0	1,091 1,980
94.8 96.8 95.1	4.0 3.0 4.1	1.1 0.2	100.0 100.0	1,091 1,980
96.8 95.1 97.7	3.0 4.1	0.2	100.0	1,980
95.1	4.1	0.0	100.0	
95.1	4.1	0.0	100.0	
077		0.9	100.0	1,761
31.1	2.3	0.0	100.0	779
98.0	2.0	0.0	100.0	345
94.8	4.4	0.8	100.0	150
97.9	2.1	0.0	100.0	18
98.3	1.7	0.0	100.0	18
95.2	4.3	0.4	100.0	869
94.3	3.9	1.9	100.0	652
96.8	3.2	0.0	100.0	516
97.1	2.8	0.0	100.0	548
98.0	1.9	0.0	100.0	487
96.9	3.0	0.1	100.0	591
96.6	3.4	0.0	100.0	557
96.0	4.0	0.0	100.0	549
94.5	5.1	0.4	100.0	706
96.6	1.5	1.9	100.0	668
96.1	3.4	0.5	100.0	3,071
	97.7 98.0 94.8 97.9 98.3 95.2 94.3 96.8 97.1 98.0 96.9 96.6 96.0 96.1 96.1 are based	97.7 2.3 98.0 2.0 94.8 4.4 97.9 2.1 98.3 1.7 95.2 4.3 94.3 3.9 96.8 3.2 97.1 2.8 98.0 1.9 96.9 3.0 96.6 3.4 96.0 4.0 94.5 5.1 96.6 1.5 96.1 3.4	97.7 2.3 0.0 98.0 2.0 0.0 94.8 4.4 0.8 97.9 2.1 0.0 98.3 1.7 0.0 95.2 4.3 0.4 94.3 3.9 1.9 96.8 3.2 0.0 97.1 2.8 0.0 97.1 2.8 0.0 98.0 1.9 0.0 96.6 3.4 0.0 96.6 3.4 0.0 96.6 1.5 1.9 96.6 1.5 1.9 96.1 3.4 0.5	97.7 2.3 0.0 100.0 98.0 2.0 0.0 100.0 94.8 4.4 0.8 100.0 97.9 2.1 0.0 100.0 98.3 1.7 0.0 100.0 95.2 4.3 0.4 100.0 94.3 3.9 1.9 100.0 96.8 3.2 0.0 100.0 97.1 2.8 0.0 100.0 98.0 1.9 0.0 100.0 96.4 0.0 100.0 96.5 3.4 0.0 100.0 96.6 3.4 0.0 100.0 96.6 1.5 1.9 100.0 96.6 1.5 1.9 100.0 96.6 1.5 1.9 100.0 96.1 3.4 0.5 100.0

4.3 AGE AT FIRST MARRIAGE

Marriage in Pakistan defines the onset of the socially acceptable time for childbearing. The minimum legal age at marriage in Pakistan is 18 years for males and 16 years for females. Women are considered to be exposed to the risk of pregnancy after marriage. Duration of exposure to the risk of pregnancy depends primarily on the age at which women first marry. Women who marry early, on average, are more likely to have their first child at a young age and give birth to more children overall, contributing to higher fertility.

Table 4.3 shows the percentage of women and men who have married by specific ages, according to current age. Age at first marriage is defined as the age at which the respondent began living with her or his first spouse. For women, marriage occurs relatively early in Pakistan; among women age 25-49, 35 percent were married by age 18, and 54 percent were married by age 20. The median age at first marriage among women age 25-49 is 19.5 years. The proportion of women married by age 15 declines from 10 percent among those age 45-49 to 2 percent among those age 15-19, providing clear evidence of a rising age at first marriage. This finding is corroborated by a rise in the median age at first marriage, from 18.5 among women age 45-49 to 20.9 among those age 25-29. Still another indication of rising age at marriage among women is the fact that the median age at first marriage among women age 25-49 increased slightly from 19.1 in 2006-07 to 19.5 in 2012-13.

Table 4.3 Age at first marriage

Percentage of women and men age 15-49 who were first married by specific exact ages and median age at first marriage, according to current age, Pakistan 2012-13

	D -		Percentage)	Median age			
Current	Pe	rcentage fil	rst married	by exact a	ge:	never	Number of	at first
age	15	18	20	22	25	married	respondents	marriage
15-19	1.6	na	na	na	na	85.8	4,269	а
20-24	2.8	21.0	35.3	na	na	49.7	4,183	а
25-29	4.8	27.2	43.8	56.3	72.0	20.4	3,421	20.9
30-34	5.5	33.0	50.8	64.4	78.3	7.2	2,725	19.9
35-39	8.7	39.3	59.4	72.7	84.1	3.0	2,296	18.8
40-44	9.8	40.2	62.2	78.7	89.0	2.1	1,804	18.6
45-49	10.1	44.5	62.5	78.3	88.5	1.3	1,623	18.5
20-49	6.1	31.5	48.9	na	na	19.3	16,052	а
25-49	7.2	35.2	53.8	67.7	80.6	8.6	11,869	19.5
				MEN				
15-19	0.2	na	na	na	na	97.6	1,473	а
20-24	0.2	3.1	9.5	na	na	78.1	1,000	а
25-29	0.2	5.0	14.0	25.4	41.3	45.5	956	а
30-34	0.9	8.7	16.0	26.7	46.5	17.2	781	25.7
35-39	0.3	6.2	15.1	31.3	52.4	6.2	627	24.7
40-44	0.9	6.5	16.5	31.5	55.4	2.6	545	24.4
45-49	1.3	10.1	23.5	34.3	58.7	1.3	602	24.1
20-49	0.6	6.2	15.1	na	na	31.3	4,509	а
25-49	0.7	7.1	16.7	29.2	49.6	18.0	3,510	а
30-49	0.8	7.9	17.6	30.6	52.7	7.7	2,554	24.7

Note: The age at first marriage is defined as the age at which the respondent began living with her/his first spouse.

na = Not applicable due to censoring

a = Omitted because less than 50 percent of the women or men began living with their spouse for the first time before reaching the beginning of the age group

In Pakistan, men marry at a later age than women. Table 4.3 shows that 29 percent of men age 25-49 are married by age 22, and 50 percent are married by age 25. Only 7 percent of men are married by age 18, compared with 35 percent of women. Among those age 25-29, 41 percent of men as compared with 72 percent of women were married by age 25. The median age at first marriage among men age 30-49 is 24.7 years.

4.4 DIFFERENTIALS IN AGE AT FIRST MARRIAGE

Table 4.4 shows the median age at first marriage among women age 25-49, men age 25-49, and men age 30-49 according to background characteristics.

In Pakistan, urban women age 25-49 tend to marry two years later than rural women, and women from ICT Islamabad marry about five years later than women from Gilgit Baltistan. Among the other provinces, the median age at first marriage for women in Punjab is one year later than that in Sindh, Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, and Balochistan. There is a close association between education and median age at first marriage. The median age at first marriage for women age 25-49 with no education is 18.3 years, as compared with 22.3 years for women with a secondary education. A similar pattern is observed between median age at marriage and wealth quintile, with women in the highest wealth quintile marrying more than four years later than those in the lowest quintile. As such, education and wealth clearly are factors related to delayed marriage.

Median age at first marriage among men age 25-49 and age 30-49 shows patterns similar to those observed for women in relation to level of education and wealth quintile. Analysis of age at marriage among men age 25-49 by background characteristics is hampered by the relatively late age at first marriage in most of the groups. Therefore, to capture the differentials, Table 4.4 shows additional information for men age 30-49.

Table 4.4 Median age at first marriage by background characteristics

Median age at first marriage among women age 25-49, and median age at first marriage among men age 25-49 and 30-49, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

Background	Womon ago	Men	age
characteristic	25-49	25-49	30-49
Residence Urban Rural	20.7 18.8	a 24.5	25.8 24.1
Region Punjab Urban Rural	20.0 20.9 19.4	a a 24.7	24.8 25.5 24.4
Sindh Urban Rural	18.8 20.6 17.9	25.0 a 22.3	24.4 26.3 21.8
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Urban Rural	18.9 19.4 18.8	a a a	25.0 25.5 24.7
Balochistan Urban Rural	18.5 19.4 18.3	24.6 a 24.1	24.1 25.5 23.7
ICT Islamabad Gilgit Baltistan	22.7 17.7	a 23.9	27.4 23.3
Education No education Primary Middle Secondary Higher	18.3 19.3 20.4 22.3 a	23.0 24.4 25.0 a a	22.7 24.4 24.8 25.9 28.1
Wealth quintile Lowest Second Middle Fourth Highest	17.8 18.6 19.2 20.2 22.1	23.3 23.9 24.1 a a	23.1 23.9 23.3 25.9 26.5
Iotal	19.5	а	24.7

Note: The age at first marriage is defined as the age at which the representation began living with bor/his first spouse

the respondent began living with her/his first spouse. a = Omitted because less than 50 percent of the respondents began living with their spouse for the first time before reaching the beginning of the age group

There seems to be a stronger shift toward later marriage among urban women in Pakistan. There has been an increase in the median age at marriage among urban women age 25-49 over the past six years (from 19.7 years in 2006-07 to 20.7 years in 2012-13). In contrast, there has been no change among rural women (18.8 years in both 2006-07 and 2012-13).

4.5 CONSANGUINITY

Pakistan has one of the highest reported rates of consanguineous marriages in the region (NIPS and Macro International, 2008). Table 4.5 provides data on marriages between relatives as reported by ever-married women in the 2012-13 PDHS. The results show that more than half of all marriages (56 percent) are between first and second cousins. First-cousin marriages are more common on the father's side (28 percent) but also occur between first cousins on the mother's side (20 percent). Eight percent of marriages are between second cousins, 9 percent are between other relatives, and one-third (35 percent) are between non-relatives. There is evidence that children born in marriages between first cousins have double the risk of congenital anomalies (Chintahpilli, 2013).

There is a substantial difference in the prevalence of first-cousin marriages between urban and rural areas (38 percent and 54 percent, respectively). Sindh has the highest proportion of marriages among first cousins (53 percent), followed by Balochistan (51 percent), Punjab (48 percent), Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (45 percent), ICT Islamabad (40 percent), and Gilgit Baltistan (40 percent).

Table 4.5 Marriage between relatives

Percent distribution of ever-married women by relationship to their husbands, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	First cousin	First cousin						
Background	on father's	on mother's	Second	Other				Number of
characteristic	side	side	cousin	relationship	Not related	Missing	Total	women
Δne								
15-19	30.7	20.6	10.5	10.0	28.1	0.0	100.0	605
20-24	32.3	21.7	7.3	9.4	29.2	0.0	100.0	2 106
25-29	27.4	20.8	7.2	8.9	35.6	0.1	100.0	2,724
30-34	24.4	21.4	8.4	8.6	37.1	0.1	100.0	2.528
35-39	27.6	20.1	8.3	8.6	35.3	0.0	100.0	2.226
40-44	26.4	19.3	8.2	9.6	36.5	0.0	100.0	1,766
45-49	31.5	17.9	7.2	7.6	35.8	0.0	100.0	1,602
Age at marriage								
<15	27.6	19.2	7.4	10.1	35.7	0.1	100.0	1,040
15	33.6	19.9	7.5	10.5	28.5	0.1	100.0	1,170
16-17	33.5	20.0	9.0	9.4	28.1	0.1	100.0	3,337
18-19	29.2	21.5	9.1	8.0	32.2	0.0	100.0	2,915
20-21	26.6	22.8	6.5	9.1	34.8	0.2	100.0	2,114
22-23	20.6	20.1	6.1	8.8	44.4	0.1	100.0	1,274
24+	20.2	17.5	7.4	7.2	47.7	0.0	100.0	1,708
Residence								
Urban	20.2	17.6	7.9	7.9	46.3	0.0	100.0	4,536
Rural	32.1	21.8	7.9	9.4	28.8	0.1	100.0	9,022
Region								
Puniab	25.6	22.0	6.5	11.5	34.2	0.1	100.0	7,790
Sindh	35.4	17.2	10.5	4.6	32.2	0.0	100.0	3,133
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	26.9	18.2	8.2	6.3	40.3	0.1	100.0	1,908
Balochistan	28.4	22.7	12.3	5.4	30.7	0.6	100.0	568
ICT Islamabad	22.5	17.0	9.6	7.0	43.9	0.0	100.0	64
Gilgit Baltistan	21.0	19.2	5.4	3.1	51.2	0.0	100.0	94
Education								
No education	32.6	20.8	8.3	9.2	29.1	0.0	100.0	7,736
Primary	26.7	21.2	7.8	10.6	33.5	0.1	100.0	2,156
Middle	22.7	21.1	6.8	8.5	40.7	0.2	100.0	993
Secondary	21.1	18.5	6.6	7.7	46.0	0.1	100.0	1,413
Higher	15.7	17.6	8.2	5.7	52.9	0.1	100.0	1,260
Wealth quintile								
Lowest	40.5	20.5	8.3	8.5	22.2	0.1	100.0	2,589
Second	31.6	22.4	8.8	9.4	27.8	0.0	100.0	2,676
Middle	26.8	21.4	7.7	9.9	34.2	0.1	100.0	2,700
Fourth	22.5	19.2	7.8	8.3	42.0	0.2	100.0	2,789
Highest	20.3	18.5	7.1	8.3	45.8	0.0	100.0	2,804
Total	28.1	20.4	7.9	8.9	34.6	0.1	100.0	13,558

First-cousin marriages are far less common among educated women than among women with no education. The proportion of women marrying first cousins falls from 53 percent among those with no education to 33 percent among those with more than a secondary education. The proportion of women who marry a non-relative increases from 29 percent among those with no education to 53 percent among those with higher education.

First-cousin marriages are also more common among women in the lowest wealth quintile than among women in the higher wealth quintiles. For example, 61 percent of women in the lowest wealth quintile are married to first cousins, as compared with 39 percent of those in the highest quintile.

Overall, the proportion of marriage between first cousins has decreased slightly, from 52 percent of ever-married women in 2006-07 to 49 percent in 2012-13.

4.6 RECENT SEXUAL ACTIVITY

In the absence of contraception, the possibility of pregnancy is positively related to the frequency of sexual intercourse. Thus, information on recent sexual activity is important for refining measurement of exposure to pregnancy. In the 2012-13 PDHS, currently married women were asked how long ago their last sexual contact occurred.

Table 4.6 shows the percent distribution of ever-married women age 15-49 by the timing of their last sexual intercourse, according to background characteristics. It can be seen that 70 percent of women had sexual intercourse within the four weeks preceding the survey, whereas 24 percent had sexual intercourse one to 11 months before the survey and 5 percent had their most recent sexual intercourse one or more years prior to the survey.

		Timing of last sox	ual intercourse	<u> </u>			
Background	Within the		One or more			Number of	
characteristic	past 4 weeks	Within 1 year ¹	years	Missing	Total	women	
Age							
15-19	74.7	23.2	1.4	0.7	100.0	594	
20-24	72.8	24.5	2.2	0.5	100.0	2.053	
25-29	73.7	22.0	3.7	0.6	100.0	2.663	
30-34	73.0	22.2	4.0	0.8	100.0	2,454	
35-39	73.7	21.2	4.7	0.4	100.0	2,137	
40-44	67.2	25.2	7.1	0.5	100.0	1,617	
45-49	50.0	36.7	11.9	1.5	100.0	1,419	
Marital duration							
0-4 years	72.7	24.0	2.6	0.7	100.0	2,898	
5-9 years	72.2	23.9	3.4	0.5	100.0	2,488	
10-14 vears	75.6	19.9	3.6	1.0	100.0	2,139	
15-19 years	74.9	20.2	4.5	0.4	100.0	1.856	
20-24 years	68.3	25.6	5.8	0.3	100.0	1,635	
25+ years	51.0	35.0	12.6	1.4	100.0	1,632	
Married more than once	70.8	24.3	4.3	0.6	100.0	289	
Residence							
Urban	72.3	22.4	4.1	1.2	100.0	4.304	
Rural	68.9	25.4	5.3	0.4	100.0	8,633	
Region							
Punjab	65.7	28.1	5.5	0.7	100.0	7,374	
Sindh	78.2	18.3	2.8	0.7	100.0	3,002	
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	70.0	22.6	7.1	0.3	100.0	1,855	
Balochistan	83.5	13.4	1.8	1.3	100.0	553	
ICT Islamabad	76.1	19.5	2.4	1.9	100.0	62	
Gilgit Baltistan	72.7	24.1	3.1	0.0	100.0	91	
Education							
No education	69.2	25.2	5.0	0.6	100.0	7,347	
Primary	67.9	25.2	6.4	0.5	100.0	2,057	
Middle	71.9	24.1	3.2	0.8	100.0	958	
Secondary	71.7	23.0	4.7	0.7	100.0	1,351	
Higher	75.5	19.9	3.1	1.5	100.0	1,225	
Wealth quintile							
Lowest	72.7	23.9	3.0	0.4	100.0	2,501	
Second	67.6	27.2	4.9	0.4	100.0	2,533	
Middle	69.9	24.2	5.1	0.8	100.0	2,550	
Fourth	69.3	23.9	6.1	0.6	100.0	2,677	
Highest	70.8	22.7	5.3	1.2	100.0	2,676	
Total	70.1	24.4	4.9	0.7	100.0	12,937	

The youngest women (age 15-19) were more likely than older women (age 45-49) to have had sexual intercourse in the past four weeks (75 percent versus 50 percent). The proportion of women who were sexually active during the four weeks preceding the survey shows no consistent pattern with duration of marital union until it begins to decline among those married 20 or more years. There is a difference of 3

percentage points (72 percent versus 69 percent) between urban and rural women in the proportion who had been sexually active within the past four weeks. Seven in 10 married or cohabiting women had their last sexual encounter in the four weeks preceding the survey. There are large variations by region in the timing of last sexual intercourse. The proportion of women who were sexually active in the past four weeks ranged from 66 percent in Punjab to 84 percent in Balochistan.

The relationship between a woman's education and her sexual activity is more or less positive; women with a primary education are least likely to have been sexually active in the past four weeks (68 percent), and women with a higher education are most likely to have been sexually active (76 percent). Women in the lowest wealth quintile (73 percent) are more likely than women in the other wealth quintiles to have had their most recent sexual intercourse in the four weeks before the survey.

Key Findings

- The total fertility rate for the three years preceding the survey is 3.8 births per woman, with rural women having one child more on average than urban women.
- Fertility decreased by 1.6 births between 1985-90 and 2010-12 (from 5.4 to 3.8 births per woman).
- Childbearing begins early in Pakistan, with 15 percent of women age 25-49 giving birth by age 18 and 32 percent by age 20.
- Eight percent of adolescent women age 15-19 are already mothers or pregnant with their first child.
- Sixty-nine percent of births occur within three years of a previous birth, with 37 percent occurring within 24 months. The latter proportion represents an increase of 3 percentage points since 2006-07.
- Twelve percent of pregnancies resulted in miscarriages in the five years before the survey, almost 2 percent resulted in an abortion, and 3 percent resulted in a stillbirth.

For the three principal components of population dynamics, the others being mortality and migration. Since its inception, Pakistan has been experiencing a high rate of population growth, mainly because of a high fertility rate that remained almost constant at more than six children until the mid-1980s. The first sign of a fertility falloff was evidenced in 1984-85, when the fertility rate decreased to a little below six children (Government of Pakistan, 1987). Subsequent surveys did indicate that there was a fertility transition; however, the pace of this transition remained slow (Feeney and Alam, 2003). On the other hand, the death rate decreased at a much faster pace. Consequently, the population has increased 5.5-fold since 1951 (from 32.5 million to 184.5 million) (Government of Pakistan, 2013).

This chapter assesses pregnancy and fertility data collected in the 2012-13 PDHS. Levels, trends, and differentials in pregnancy and fertility are discussed, along with data on cumulative fertility (children ever born and living); birth intervals; postpartum amenorrhea, abstinence, and insusceptibility; menopause; age at first birth; teenage pregnancy and motherhood; and pregnancy outcomes.

Pregnancy and fertility data were collected by asking ever-married women of reproductive age (15-49 years) to provide the complete history of all of their live births, stillbirths, miscarriages, and abortions. In order to ensure a complete enumeration of live births, women's responses to questions about the total number of children currently living with them, those living away, and those who had died were recorded. Moreover, information about total number of lost pregnancies was recorded. Specifically, the following information was collected for each pregnancy loss: date of loss, duration of pregnancy, and whether the pregnancy ended in a miscarriage, an induced abortion, or a stillbirth. In cases of live births, the following information was collected: name, sex, date of birth, survival status, current age (if alive), and age at death (if dead). The 2012-13 PDHS used the conventional practice of recording pregnancies in the pregnancy history starting from the first pregnancy. Although efforts were made during training to impress upon the interviewers the importance of collecting accurate and complete information on pregnancy histories, it is important to note that information collected through the pregnancy history approach has limitations that might bias pregnancy and fertility levels and patterns. For instance, women may include relatives' children as their own or omit children who died at a young age, while older women may omit

grown children who have left home (United Nations, 1983). Accordingly, the results should be viewed with these caveats in mind.

5.1 CURRENT FERTILITY

Some current fertility measures are presented in Table 5.1 for the three-year period preceding the survey. Age-specific fertility rates (ASFRs) are calculated by dividing the number of births to women in a specific age group by the number of woman-years lived during a given period.¹ The total fertility rate (TFR) is a common measure of current fertility and is defined as the average number of children a woman would have if she went through her entire reproductive period (15-49 years) reproducing at the currently prevailing ASFR. An additional measure of fertility reported in this table is the general fertility rate (GFR), which represents the annual number of births per 1,000 women age 15-44.

Table 5.1 shows a TFR of 3.8 children per woman for the three-year period preceding the survey. Fertility is considerably higher in rural areas (4.2 births per woman) than in urban areas (3.2 births per woman), a pattern that is evident at every age. The estimated TFR in the 2006-07 PDHS was 4.1 children, and thus the decrease in the TFR over the past six years is only 0.3 births. The persistence of a disparity in fertility between urban and rural women is most probably due to factors associated with urbanization, such as better education, higher status of women, better access to health and family planning information and services, and later marriage. On the whole, peak fertility occurs at age 25-29, a pattern evident in rural areas as well as urban areas. Fertility falls sharply after age 30-34.

Differentials in fertility levels by urban-rural residence, region, educational attainment, and wealth quintile are shown in Table 5.2. As noted above, there is a fertility rate difference of one child between urban and rural areas (3.2 versus 4.2). This difference has shrunk by 0.2 births in the last six years. Among

Table 5.1 Current fertility

Age-specific and total fertility rates and the general fertility rate for the three years preceding the survey, by residence, Pakistan 2012-13

	Resid		
Age group	Urban	Rural	Total
15-19	27	53	44
20-24	161	206	190
25-29	201	236	224
30-34	158	193	181
35-39	61	107	91
40-44	21	35	30
45-49	2	10	7
TFR (15-49) GFR	3.2 109	4.2 144	3.8 131

Note: Age-specific fertility rates are per 1,000 women. Rates for the 45-49 age group may be slightly biased due to truncation. Rates are for the period 1-36 months prior to the interview. TFR: Total fertility rate expressed per woman GFR: General fertility rate expressed per 1,000 women age 15-44

the regions, there are only slight differences in the fertility rates in Gilgit Baltistan and Punjab (3.8 each) and in Sindh and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (3.9 each). Fertility is highest (4.2) in Balochistan and lowest in ICT Islamabad (3.0). Age-specific fertility rates by region are more or less consistent with regional differentials in TFRs (Appendix Table A5.1). These provincial differentials in fertility are as expected and are closely associated with regional disparities in median age at marriage, age at first birth, and use of family planning methods (see Tables 4.4, 5.10, and 7.4).

¹ Numerators for the age-specific rates are calculated by summing the births that occurred during the 1-36 months preceding the survey, classified by the age group of the mother at the time of birth in five-year age groups. The denominators are the numbers of woman-years lived in each five-year age group during the 1-36 months preceding the survey. Because rates must be based on all women and the Pakistan DHS is a survey of ever-married women, the number of women was increased using a factor based on all de facto women listed in the household who had never been married. The "all women" factors were based on age and background information available at the household level.

As expected, women's level of education is strongly associated with fertility. The TFR decreases consistently and dramatically from 4.4 among women with no education to 2.5 among women with a higher education. Fertility is also strongly associated with wealth. Fertility rates among women in the lower wealth quintiles are higher than rates among those in the higher quintiles. The difference in fertility between women in the lowest and highest wealth quintiles is 2.5 births per woman.

Table 5.2 also presents a crude assessment of fertility trends in various subgroups by comparing current fertility with a measure of completed fertility: the mean number of children ever born to women age 40-49. In every category, current fertility falls substantially below lifetime fertility. This provides further evidence that fertility has fallen considerably over time in all of these subgroups. Overall, the table shows that fertility has fallen by about two children per woman in recent periods (from 5.6 to 3.8).

Furthermore, Table 5.2 indicates that 7 percent of women were pregnant at the time of the survey. This is likely to be an underestimate, as women in the early stages of pregnancy may be unaware or unsure that they are pregnant, while some may refuse to declare that they are pregnant. Differentials in pregnancy levels are generally consistent with the pattern depicted by the TEP across the

Table 5.2 Fertility by background characteristics

Total fertility rate for the three years preceding the survey, percentage of women age 15-49 currently pregnant, and mean number of children ever born to women age 40-49, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

Background	Total	Percentage of women age 15-49 currently	Mean number of children ever born to women
characteristic	fertility rate	pregnant	age 40-49
Residence Urban Rural	3.2 4.2	5.5 8.1	5.1 5.9
Region Punjab Sindh Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Balochistan ICT Islamabad Gilgit Baltistan	3.8 3.9 4.2 3.0 3.8	6.7 7.5 7.9 10.0 5.3 7.9	5.4 5.8 6.6 4.2 6.8
Education No education Primary Middle Secondary Higher	4.4 4.1 3.3 3.2 2.5	8.3 7.1 6.0 5.9 5.5	6.1 5.2 5.3 3.9 3.3
Wealth quintile Lowest Second Middle Fourth Highest Total	5.2 4.4 3.8 3.4 2.7 3.8	10.5 8.3 6.2 6.5 5.0 7.2	6.5 6.2 6.0 5.4 4.5 5.6

Note: Total fertility rates are for the period 1-36 months prior to the interview.

consistent with the pattern depicted by the TFR across the various subgroups, except for women in the second wealth quintile.

5.2 FERTILITY TRENDS

Table 5.3 presents trends in age-specific fertility rates for successive five-year periods preceding the survey. The data are derived from information on dates of birth in the pregnancy history from the 2012-13 PDHS. It is important to mention here that since only women age 15-49 are interviewed for the Woman's Questionnaire, fertility rates in older age groups become progressively more truncated for periods more distant from the survey date. The pattern of age-specific fertility rates in the four fiveyear periods preceding the survey is similar. Nevertheless, there is a clear indication of fertility declines over the past two decades.

Table 5.4 displays trends in fertility by

Table 5.3 Trends in age-specific fertility rates

Age-specific fertility rates for five-year periods preceding the survey, by mother's age at the time of the birth, Pakistan 2012-13

Mother's age	Numb	er of years	preceding	survey
at birth	0-4	5-9	10-14	15-19
15-19 20-24 25-29 30-34	48 195 238 189	67 229 282 203	88 253 287 243	95 285 321 [267]
35-39 40-44 45-49	98 34 [8]	132 [66]	[167]	[207]

Note: Age-specific fertility rates are per 1,000 women. Estimates in brackets are truncated. Rates exclude the month of interview.

background characteristics and the percentage change from 1990-91 to 2012-13. Overall, the TFR declined from 5.4 children per woman in the six years before the 1990-91 PDHS to 3.8 in the three years before the 2012-13 PDHS. The decrease in fertility has been more rapid in urban than rural areas (decreasing by 35 percent and 25 percent, respectively). Although fertility decreased in all four provinces, the decrease in Sindh (24 percent) was smaller than that in the other provinces. Fertility decreased more among women with at least a secondary education than among women at other educational levels.

Table 5.4 Trends in fertility by background characteristics

hange 190-91
2-13
7
)
3
5
1
3
3
1
)
)
3

Total fertility rates for the 1990-91, 2006-07, and 2012-13 PDHS surveys and percent change from the 1990-91 PDHS to the 2012-13 PDHS, by background characteristics

Note: Total fertility rate is per woman. The rates are calculated for the 6 years before the 1990-91 PDHS and for the 3 years before the 2006-07 PDHS and the 2012-13 PDHS.

 $^{\rm 1}$ In the 1990-91 PDHS and 2006-07 PDHS, ICT Islamabad was included in Punjab.

Table 5.5 and Figure 5.1 indicate trends in fertility from the three PDHS surveys conducted in Pakistan. They show that the TFR decreased from 5.4 children in 1985-90 to 3.8 children in 2010-12. However, the decrease was more rapid between the first and second PDHS surveys than between the second and third surveys. The decrease in TFR is also reflected in the ASFRs, which show more or less a consistent decrease in all age groups.

Table 5.5 Trends in age-specific and total fertility rates										
Age-specific and total fertility rates (TFRs) for the 1990-91, 2006- 07, and 2012-13 PDHS surveys										
Mother's age	1990-91 PDHS	2006-07 PDHS	2012-13 PDHS							
at birth	1985-90	2004-06	2010-12							
15-19 20-24 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49	84 230 268 229 147 73 40	51 178 237 182 106 44 18	44 190 224 181 91 30 7							
TFR 15-49	5.4	4.1	3.8							

Note: Age-specific fertility rates are per 1,000 women. The rates are calculated for the 6 years before the 1990-91 PDHS and for the 3 years before the 2006-07 PDHS and the 2012-13 PDHS.





5.3 CHILDREN EVER BORN AND CHILDREN SURVIVING

Table 5.6 presents the number of children ever born and the mean number of living children for all women and all currently married women age 15-49. The estimates for all women are based on the assumption that all births occur within marriage. Among women age 15-19, 95 percent have never given birth. However, this proportion drops rapidly to 13 percent among women age 30-34, and only 5 percent of women at the end of their reproductive period remain childless, indicating that childbearing among Pakistani women is nearly universal. On average, Pakistani women have borne 6.0 children at the end of their childbearing years. This number is more than two (2.2) children above the TFR (3.8 children per woman), a discrepancy that is attributable to the decline in fertility over time.

Table 5.6 Children ever born and living

Percent distribution of all women and currently married women age 15-49 by number of children ever born, mean number of children ever born, and mean number of living children, according to age group, Pakistan 2012-13

					Number o	of childrer	n ever bo	rn					Number of	Mean number of children	Mean number of living
Age	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10+	Total	women	ever born	children
								ALL WC	MEN						
15-19	94.6	4.6	0.8	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	4,269	0.06	0.06
20-24	63.2	15.8	12.9	5.5	2.3	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	4,183	0.69	0.63
25-29	31.3	12.9	18.6	16.5	10.8	6.1	2.2	0.9	0.6	0.1	0.0	100.0	3,421	1.99	1.80
30-34	13.2	7.5	12.6	16.5	18.1	13.4	8.7	5.7	2.1	1.1	1.0	100.0	2,725	3.51	3.13
35-39	7.6	4.6	8.7	13.9	17.0	14.9	11.2	10.6	5.5	2.9	3.1	100.0	2,296	4.50	4.03
40-44	6.6	3.0	5.4	11.5	13.2	12.3	13.3	14.3	8.8	5.4	6.4	100.0	1,804	5.29	4.66
45-49	4.5	2.6	4.6	9.0	10.9	12.2	12.7	14.2	9.8	7.8	11.8	100.0	1,623	5.98	5.17
Total	41.7	8.4	9.5	9.4	8.7	6.6	5.0	4.5	2.6	1.6	2.0	100.0	20,321	2.42	2.15
							CURREN	ITLY MAF	RRIED W	OMEN					
15-19	62.2	31.9	5.5	0.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	594	0.44	0.40
20-24	26.7	31.0	26.1	11.1	4.6	0.4	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	2,053	1.38	1.26
25-29	13.4	15.9	23.6	20.8	13.7	7.8	2.7	1.2	0.8	0.1	0.0	100.0	2,663	2.51	2.27
30-34	5.9	7.9	13.4	17.6	19.9	14.7	9.6	6.3	2.4	1.2	1.1	100.0	2,454	3.83	3.42
35-39	4.6	4.1	8.6	14.3	17.7	15.6	11.8	11.2	5.8	3.1	3.3	100.0	2,137	4.71	4.22
40-44	4.5	1.7	5.4	11.1	13.8	13.0	13.6	15.1	9.1	5.9	6.6	100.0	1,617	5.51	4.85
45-49	3.0	2.3	4.3	8.1	11.7	12.2	13.0	15.3	10.3	7.5	12.5	100.0	1,419	6.17	5.34
Total	12.6	12.3	14.4	14.0	13.3	10.0	7.5	6.8	3.8	2.3	2.9	100.0	12,937	3.63	3.22

The same pattern is replicated for currently married women, although the proportion of married women age 15-19 who have not borne a child is reduced to 62 percent. Furthermore, currently married women age 45-49 have borne an average of 6.2 children each. The difference in childbearing between all women and currently married women can be explained by the presence of many young unmarried and widowed, divorced, and separated women in the "all women" category. As expected, women above age 40 have much higher parities, with substantial proportions having eight or more births by the end of their childbearing years.

The overall picture that emerges from Table 5.6 is that the mean number of children ever born and the number of living children increase with rising age of women, thus presupposing minimal or no recall lapse, which heightens confidence in reported birth histories.

Cumulative fertility for all women as well as currently married women has shown a modest but steady downward trend since the 1990-91 PDHS in all age groups (Table 5.7). Overall, the mean number of children ever born decreased from 3.0 in 1990-91 to 2.4 in 2012-13 among all women and from 4.1 to 3.6 among currently married women.

Table 5.7	Trends in cl	nildren ever b	orn
Mean nu women a by age g PDHS su	umber of ch nd currently r roup, 1990-9 rveys	ildren ever narried wome 1, 2006-07, a	born for all en age 15-49 and 2012-13
	Mean num	ber of childre	n ever born
	1990-91	2006-07	2012-13
	ALL \	NOMEN	
15-19 20-24 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 Total	0.2 1.0 2.6 4.3 5.5 6.3 6.4 3.0	0.08 0.72 2.14 3.77 4.97 5.57 6.31 2.53	0.06 0.69 1.99 3.51 4.50 5.29 5.98 2.42
Cl	JRRENTLY N	ARRIED WO	DMEN
15-19 20-24 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49	0.6 1.6 3.1 4.6 5.7 6.5 6.6	0.54 1.52 2.69 4.10 5.21 5.80 6.61	0.44 1.38 2.51 3.83 4.71 5.51 6.17
Total	4.1	3.88	3.63

5.4 BIRTH INTERVALS

Previous research has demonstrated that children born too close to a previous birth are at increased risk of dying (NIPS and IRD/Macro International, 1992; NIPS and Macro International, 2008). In the context of this finding, examination of birth intervals is important in providing insights into birth spacing patterns and, subsequently, maternal and child health. Table 5.8 shows the birth intervals of children born to Pakistani women of reproductive age during the five years preceding the survey across selected subgroups. Overall, the median birth interval is 28 months, just one month less than the estimated interval in both 1990-91 and 2006-07. The shortest birth intervals are observed among children born to women age 15-19 (18 months) and children whose preceding sibling died (23 months). The longest intervals occur among children born to women age 40-49 (38 months) and children born to women in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (32 months). It is also interesting to note that there is no difference in birth intervals after the birth of a female or a male child, and there is only a one-month difference between urban and rural areas.

Table 5.8 Birth intervals

Percent distribution of non-first births in the five years preceding the survey by number of months since preceding birth, and median number of months since preceding birth, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

								Number of	Median number of months
Background _	7-17	Moi 18-23	nths since 24-35	preceding l	28-59	60+	_ Total	non-first	preceding
Age			2100					bittito	0
15-19	(50.3)	(13.7)	(16.9)	(14.1)	(4.9)	(0.0)	100.0	35	(18.0)
20-29	21.8	22.8	33.8	14.4	4.8	2.5	100.0	4,059	25.4
30-39 40-49	15.1 7 9	16.5 13.1	31.9 24.0	17.1 23.5	9.6 11 1	9.8 20.5	100.0 100.0	4,393 707	30.1 38.4
Sex of preceding birth	1.0	10.1	21.0	20.0		20.0	100.0	101	00.1
Male	17.3	18.9	31.4	16.7	8.3	7.4	100.0	4,682	28.2
Female	18.0	19.2	32.8	16.0	6.8	7.3	100.0	4,512	27.8
Survival of preceding birth									
Living	15.9	19.1	32.6	17.1	7.9	7.6	100.0	8,312	28.6
Dead	34.4	18.7	27.4	9.7	4.4	5.4	100.0	882	23.2
Birth order	10.8	20.3	32.1	15.6	6.2	6.0	100.0	1 371	26.8
2-3 4-6	15.3	17.6	32.1	17.0	8.8	0.0 9.1	100.0	3.381	29.5
7+	16.5	18.6	31.8	17.1	8.8	7.1	100.0	1,439	28.7
Residence									
Urban	17.1	17.4	30.5	16.7	8.7	9.6	100.0	2,542	28.8
Rural	17.8	19.7	32.7	16.2	7.1	6.5	100.0	6,652	27.7
Region	21.2	10.1	21.0	15.0	6.0	6.0	100.0	E 202	27.0
Sindh	21.2 13.0	19.1	34.1	15.0	0.Z 8 3	0.9 7 9	100.0	5,202 2 118	27.0
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	11.7	16.1	31.7	19.0	11.9	9.7	100.0	1,279	32.0
Balochistan	16.4	22.8	35.7	14.1	7.0	3.9	100.0	492	26.5
ICT Islamabad	15.9	16.3	29.6	18.0	11.4	8.8	100.0	34	31.0
Gilgit Baltistan	12.6	19.1	34.0	18.9	1.1	1.1	100.0	69	29.9
Education	17 1	10.0	22.4	16.2	77	7.0	100.0	F 670	20.4
Primary	20.2	18.5	31.1	10.5	7.7 5.5	7.0	100.0	5,679 1,509	20.1
Middle	16.0	20.1	31.7	15.1	8.5	8.6	100.0	646	28.2
Secondary	16.3	19.1	31.2	15.9	9.1	8.4	100.0	792	28.4
Higher	19.8	20.6	26.2	16.3	8.5	8.7	100.0	569	28.1
Wealth quintile									
Lowest	15.5	21.3	35.7	16.0	6.4	5.2	100.0	2,387	27.6
Second Middle	19.0	18.0	32.3 31 3	15.2	7.0	0.8	100.0	2,023	27.4
Fourth	19.7	17.7	29.3	18.4	6.4	8.5	100.0	1,698	27.6
Highest	14.6	17.7	29.7	15.5	11.7	10.8	100.0	1,287	30.0
Total	17.6	19.0	32.1	16.4	7.5	7.3	100.0	9,194	28.0

Note: First-order births are excluded. The interval for multiple births is the number of months since the preceding pregnancy that ended in a live birth. Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases.

Taken as a whole, 37 percent of Pakistani children are born less than 24 months after a previous birth, an interval perceived to be "too short." There has been a 3 percentage point increase in this proportion since 2006-07, which should be a cause for concern among population and health policymakers and planners. The largest proportion (53 percent) of children born less than 24 months after a previous birth is observed among children whose preceding sibling died.

5.5 POSTPARTUM AMENORRHEA, ABSTINENCE, AND INSUSCEPTIBILITY

Postpartum amenorrhea is defined as the period between childbirth and the resumption of menstruation after childbirth, which generally approximates the return of ovulation. This period is largely determined by the duration and intensity of breastfeeding. The risk of conception in this period is very low. The duration of postpartum amenorrhea and sexual abstinence after birth determines the length of the insusceptibility period. Thus, women are considered insusceptible if they either are abstaining from sex

after childbirth or are amenorrheic. In the 2012-13 PDHS, women who gave birth in the five years preceding the survey were asked about the duration of amenorrhea and sexual abstinence after each birth. The results are presented in Table 5.9 for the three years before the survey.

The results show that almost all women (95 percent) are insusceptible to pregnancy within the first two months after childbirth due to amenorrhea and abstinence. However, after the second month, the proportions of women who are amenorrheic, and especially those who are abstaining, fall sharply. At six to seven months after birth, 31 percent of women are still amenorrheic, but only 6 percent are abstaining. Thus, the principal determinant of the length of the period of insusceptibility is postpartum amenorrhea.

Table 5.9	Postpartum	amenorrhea,	abstinence,	and insu	sceptibility

Percentage of births in the three years preceding the survey for which mothers are postpartum amenorrheic, abstaining, and insusceptible, by number of months since birth, and median and mean durations, Pakistan 2012-13

Months	Percentage of	Percentage of births for which the mother is:					
since birth	Amenorrheic	Abstaining	Insusceptible ¹	births			
<2	90.4	85.8	94.8	326			
2-3	50.3	28.4	61.6	475			
4-5	43.1	9.0	47.9	437			
6-7	30.7	5.6	32.9	320			
8-9	27.9	4.4	30.0	383			
10-11	19.8	6.5	23.2	352			
12-13	14.1	4.8	17.7	478			
14-15	10.3	4.9	14.8	448			
16-17	6.4	1.4	7.2	403			
18-19	6.2	2.8	9.0	342			
20-21	2.9	0.7	3.6	258			
22-23	1.7	4.7	6.3	310			
24-25	3.2	0.8	3.8	504			
26-27	0.9	1.0	1.8	478			
28-29	0.9	0.2	1.1	414			
30-31	0.0	1.3	1.4	380			
32-33	0.6	1.3	1.9	322			
34-35	0.7	1.2	1.9	336			
Total	17.2	8.8	20.1	6,965			
Median	3.6	2.0	4.4	na			
Mean	6.5	3.6	7.5	na			

Note: Estimates are based on status at the time of the survey.

na = Not applicable

¹ Includes births for which mothers are either still amenorrheic or still abstaining (or both) following birth

Overall, the median duration of amenorrhea is 3.6 months, the median for abstinence is 2.0 months, and the median for insusceptibility is 4.4 months. The duration of amenorrhea, abstinence, and insusceptibility has decreased slightly since 2006-07, but there has been a major drop, particularly in postpartum amenorrhea (2.7 months), since 1990-91. As breastfeeding duration is closely related to postpartum amenorrhea, the decrease in the mean duration of breastfeeding from 20.0 months in 1990-91 to 18.3 months in 2012-13 could be the major reason for this drop (see Table 11.4).

Table 5.10 shows the median durations of postpartum amenorrhea, abstinence, and insusceptibility by respondents' background characteristics. The median duration of abstinence in Pakistan does not vary much by background characteristics; therefore, insusceptibility varies directly in proportion to the duration of amenorrhea. Older women (age 30-49) have a longer median period of insusceptibility (5.7 months) than those age 15-29 (4.0 months). Women living in rural areas also have a longer median duration of amenorrhea and hence a longer period of insusceptibility than urban women (5.1 and 3.4 months, respectively). Among regions, women in Gilgit Baltistan have the longest duration of postpartum amenorrhea and insusceptibility but have a shorter duration of abstinence.

Table 5.10 Median duration of amenorrhea, postpartum abstinence, and postpartum insusceptibility

Median number of months of postpartum amenorrhea, postpartum abstinence, and postpartum insusceptibility following births in the three years preceding the survey, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

-			
Background characteristic	Postpartum amenorrhea	Postpartum abstinence	Postpartum insusceptibility ¹
Mother's age 15-29 30-49	3.2 4.5	2.0 2.0	4.0 5.7
Residence Urban Rural	2.6 4.0	2.1 2.0	3.4 5.1
Region Punjab Sindh Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Balochistan ICT Islamabad Gilgit Baltistan	3.4 4.1 4.5 1.8 3.6 6.0	2.2 1.7 2.0 2.0 2.2 2.1	4.4 4.3 5.5 2.8 4.5 6.1
Education No education Primary Middle Secondary Higher	4.5 3.3 2.4 2.4 2.4	2.0 2.1 2.0 2.1 2.0	5.5 4.1 3.5 3.4 3.2
Wealth quintile Lowest Second Middle Fourth Highest	8.1 3.6 3.8 2.5 2.5	1.7 2.3 2.0 2.1 2.2	8.3 4.4 4.8 3.7 3.1
Total	3.6	2.0	4.4

Note: Medians are based on status at the time of the survey (current status).

¹ Includes births for which mothers are either still amenorrheic or still abstaining (or both) following birth

While the start of infecundity is difficult to determine for an individual woman, there are ways of estimating it for a given population. One indicator of infecundity is the onset of menopause. Menopausal women are defined in the PDHS as women who are neither pregnant nor postpartum amenorrheic and who have not had a menstrual period in the six months before the survey.

Table 5.11 shows the percentage of women age 30-49 who are menopausal. Overall, 13 percent of women in the 30-49 age group reported that they were menopausal. This proportion was 12 percent in both 2006-07 and 1990-91. As expected, menopause increases steadily with age, from only 2 percent of women age 30-34 to more than half of women age 45-49.

5.6 AGE AT FIRST BIRTH

The onset of childbearing has a direct bearing on fertility. Early initiation into childbearing lengthens the reproductive period, which in turns increases the chances of higher fertility. Bearing children at a young age also entails risks to the health of the mother and the child.

Table 5.12 shows the median age at first birth as well as the percentage of women who gave birth by a given exact age, by five-year age groups of women. According to this table, the median age at first birth for women age 25-49 is 22.2 years, an increase of 0.9 years since the 1990-91 PDHS. The largest increase (2.4 years) since 1990-91 in the median age at first birth is among women age 25-29.

Table 5.11 Menopause

Percentage of women age 30-49 who are menopausal, by age, Pakistan 2012-13

Age	Percentage menopausal ¹	Number of women
30-34 35-39 40-41 42-43 44-45 46-47 48-49	1.7 4.5 12.5 20.5 29.2 30.1 51.6	2,528 2,226 869 653 667 575 603
Total	13.1	8,123

¹ Percentage of all women who are not pregnant and not postpartum amenorrheic whose last menstrual period occurred 6 or more months preceding the survey Among the age groups for which the median age at first birth can be measured, the age group with the highest median age is 25-29 years. This pattern is in congruence with the declining fertility rate, particularly among younger women (see Tables 5.3 and 5.5). Additional insights into initiation of childbearing can be gained by examining the percentage of women who had a first birth by the given exact ages for various age groups of women. This percentage increases progressively by increasing exact ages; the proportion of women having their first birth by age 18, for instance, is lower among younger women than older women. This observation is consistent with the rising age at first birth.

Table 5.12 Age at first birth

Percentage of women age 15-49 who gave birth by exact ages, percentage who have never given birth, and median age at first birth, according to current age, Pakistan 2012-13

	Percentage who gave birth by exact age					Percentage who have never given	Number of	Median age
Current age	15	18	20	22	25	birth	women	at first birth
Age								
15-19	0.1	na	na	na	na	94.6	4,269	а
20-24	0.8	8.2	20.5	na	na	63.2	4,183	а
25-29	1.6	12.0	25.4	40.5	60.1	31.3	3,421	23.4
30-34	1.3	14.3	31.3	45.6	64.2	13.2	2,725	22.6
35-39	1.8	16.1	33.9	52.6	71.9	7.6	2,296	21.7
40-44	2.2	18.1	39.8	57.6	75.8	6.6	1,804	21.2
45-49	2.3	18.6	37.2	54.0	77.1	4.5	1,623	21.5
20-49	1.5	13.3	29.2	na	na	27.7	16,052	а
25-49	1.8	15.2	32.2	48.5	68.0	15.2	11,869	22.2

na = Not applicable due to censoring

a = Omitted because less than 50 percent of women had a birth before reaching the beginning of the age group

Differentials in age at first birth by socioeconomic and demographic characteristics of women age 25-49 are shown in Table 5.13. A higher median age at first birth is observed in urban areas (23.0 years) than in rural areas (21.8 years). Among the regions, the highest median age at first birth for women age 25-49 is recorded in ICT Islamabad (24.5 years), followed by Punjab (22.5 years), Sindh (21.9 years), Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (21.7 years), and Balochistan (21.3 years); the lowest age was reported in Gilgit Baltistan (21.2 years). This implies that, on average, women in Gilgit Baltistan and Balochistan have their first birth a little over one year earlier than women in Punjab and over three years earlier than women in ICT Islamabad. Intra-provincial differences between urban and rural areas are not marked and more or less follow the pattern evidenced at the national level.

Clearly, onset of childbearing is related to women's education. According to Table 5.13, women with a secondary education begin their childbearing three years later than women with no education (24.2 years and 21.1 years, respectively). Also, wealthier women show delayed onset of childbearing relative to poorer women.

5.7 TEENAGE FERTILITY

It is important to examine teenage fertility for various reasons. First, children born to very young mothers are normally prone to a higher risk of illness and death. Second, teenage mothers are more likely to experience complications during pregnancy and are less likely to be prepared to deal with them, putting them at higher risk of maternal death. Third, their early entry into reproduction denies them the opportunity to

Table 5.13 Median age at first birth

Median age at first birth among women age 25-49, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

Background	Women age
characteristic	25-49
Residence Urban Rural	23.0 21.8
Region Punjab Urban Rural	22.5 23.3 22.1
Sindh	21.9
Urban	22.8
Rural	21.3
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	21.7
Urban	21.5
Rural	21.8
Balochistan	21.3
Urban	21.9
Rural	21.2
ICT Islamabad	24.5
Gilgit Baltistan	21.2
Education No education Primary Middle Secondary Higher	21.1 21.8 22.3 24.2 a
Wealth quintile Lowest Second Middle Fourth Highest	20.8 21.5 21.7 22.5 24.1
Total	22.2

a = Omitted because less than 50 percent of the women had a birth before reaching the beginning of the age group

pursue academic goals. This is detrimental to their prospects for good careers and often lowers their status in society.

Table 5.14 displays the percentage of women age 15-19 who were mothers or were pregnant with their first child at the time of the 2012-13 PDHS, by selected background characteristics. Overall, teenage fertility has declined; for example, the proportion who have begun childbearing decreased from about 16 percent in 1990-91 to 8 percent in 2012-13. Also, there have been decreases in the proportion of teenage mothers (from 12 percent to 5 percent) and the proportion of young women pregnant with their first child (from 4 percent to less than 3 percent). These findings suggest that there is a trend toward delayed childbearing until at least the completion of the teenage years.

|--|

Percentage of women age 15-19 who have had a live birth or who are pregnant with their first child, and percentage who have begun childbearing, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Percentag age 15	je of women -19 who:	Percentage who have	
Background characteristic	Have had a live birth	Are pregnant with first child	begun childbearing	Number of women
Age				
15	0.0	0.0	0.0	641
16	0.4	0.5	0.9	937
17	3.4	4.1	7.5	828
18	8.8	3.7	12.5	1,143
19	13.6	3.2	16.8	720
Residence				
Urban	3.9	1.5	5.5	1,515
Rural	6.2	2.9	9.1	2,776
Region				
Punjab	4.7	2.7	7.4	2,287
Sindh	5.5	2.5	7.9	1,039
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	8.0	2.2	10.3	660
Balochistan	5.3	1.5	6.8	188
ICT Islamabad	*	*	*	13
Gilgit Baltistan	5.5	1.0	6.5	40
Education				
No education	8.7	4.2	12.9	1,328
Primary	7.7	2.8	10.5	682
Middle	2.4	1.2	3.7	1,102
Secondary	2.8	1.9	4.8	776
Higher	(2.9)	(0.4)	(3.2)	445
Wealth quintile				
Lowest	7.1	4.4	11.5	755
Second	5.9	2.4	8.3	925
Middle	7.6	1.9	9.5	897
Fourth	3.6	2.5	6.1	893
nignest	2.3	1.1	3.3	971
Total	5.4	2.5	7.9	4,269

Note: As the survey was based on an ever-married sample, the number of women was increased using a factor based on all de facto women listed in the household who had never been married. The "all women" factors were based on age in the household and background information available at the household level. Women who have never married are assumed to have never been pregnant. Because the number of all women is not normalized, the weighted numbers will not necessarily sum to the "total." Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases. An asterisk indicates that a figure is based on fewer than 25 unweighted cases and has been suppressed.

As expected, the proportion of teenagers who have begun childbearing increases with age. For example, at age 15 no women have begun childbearing, and by age 16 only 1 percent have begun childbearing. This proportion increases to 17 percent by age 19. The percentage of teenagers who have begun childbearing is highest in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (10 percent) and lowest in Gilgit Baltistan and Balochistan (7 percent each). About 13 percent of teenage women with no education have begun childbearing, as compared with less than 5 percent of women with at least a middle school education.

Teenagers from the poorest households are more likely (12 percent) to have begun childbearing than those from the wealthiest households (3 percent).

Other important factors affecting level of fertility are abortion, miscarriage, and stillbirth. In Pakistan, induced abortion is illegal except in instances in which the life of the mother is at risk. Hence, it is extremely difficult to gather accurate information about the level of induced abortion. In the pregnancy history, women were asked about the outcome of each of their pregnancies (i.e., live birth, stillbirth, or pregnancy lost before full term). In the case of pregnancies that did not end in live births, additional questions were asked about date of termination, duration of pregnancy, and status of termination (induced abortion or miscarriage).

Table 5.15 shows that 12 percent of pregnancies resulted in a miscarriage in the five years before the survey; about 2 percent resulted in an abortion, and 3 percent resulted in a stillbirth.

Table 5.15 Pregnancy o	utcomes by ba	ckground cha	racteristics			
Percent distribution of pr to background character	regnancies end istics, Pakistan	ing in the five 2012-13	years preceding	the survey by	type of outo	come, according
Background		Pregnan	cy outcome			Number of
characteristic	Live birth	Stillbirth	Miscarriage	Abortion	Total	pregnancies
Age at end of						
pregnancy						
<20	81.4	3.5	13.7	1.4	100.0	1,335
20-24	85.2	2.7	11.4	0.7	100.0	4,299
25-29	84.1	2.9	11.4	1.6	100.0	4,318
30-34	83.2	2.8	11.5	2.6	100.0	2,789
35-39	81.4	2.4	13.5	2.7	100.0	1,204
40-44	73.4	1.6	18.6	6.4	100.0	363
45-49	71.3	5.4	22.1	1.2	100.0	42
Pregnancy order						
1	83.3	4.1	11.9	0.7	100.0	2,840
2	86.0	2.2	10.9	0.9	100.0	2,590
3	85.1	2.3	11.4	1.2	100.0	2,163
4	84.4	2.4	11.0	2.2	100.0	1,744
5+	81.2	2.7	13.4	2.8	100.0	5,012
Residence						
Urban	83.1	1.9	12.6	2.4	100.0	4.199
Rural	83.6	3.2	11.8	1.4	100.0	10,151
Region						
Puniab	83.5	2.7	11.3	2.4	100.0	8.213
Sindh	83.0	3.0	13.3	0.7	100.0	3,301
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	84.8	2.3	11.8	1.1	100.0	1,951
Balochistan	80.9	3.7	15.2	0.2	100.0	729
ICT Islamabad	80.5	1.5	14.5	3.5	100.0	58
Gilgit Baltistan	89.4	0.7	9.3	0.7	100.0	97
Education						
No education	83.8	3.2	11.7	1.3	100.0	8,178
Primary	83.4	2.7	12.0	1.9	100.0	2.445
Middle	82.8	2.3	12.9	2.0	100.0	1.093
Secondary	82.7	1.7	12.0	3.7	100.0	1,462
Higher	83.0	1.6	13.8	1.6	100.0	1,172
Wealth quintile						
Lowest	83.6	3.9	12.3	0.3	100.0	3.426
Second	84.0	3.1	11.9	1.0	100.0	3.018
Middle	85.1	2.6	9.9	2.3	100.0	2.755
Fourth	83.3	2.3	12.3	2.1	100.0	2.819
Highest	80.8	1.6	13.9	3.7	100.0	2,331
Total	83.5	2.8	12.0	1.7	100.0	14,350

Given that induced abortions are illegal, it is likely that some induced abortions are reported as miscarriages. Differences by background characteristics are generally not large except that miscarriages occur 7-11 percent more often among women age 40 and above at the end of their pregnancy than among women age 20-34 at the end of their pregnancy.

Key Findings

- More than half of currently married women age 15-49 and two-fifths of currently married men age 15-49 want no more children or are sterilized.
- Women and men report an ideal family size of more than four children. The mean ideal number of children among currently married women has remained unchanged at 4.1 children in the last two decades.
- Overall, Pakistani women have about one child more than their wanted number. This implies that the total fertility rate of 3.8 children per woman is 31 percent higher than it would be if all unwanted births were avoided.
- There has been a substantial increase in planned births since 2006-07, from 75 percent to 84 percent.

Information on fertility preferences is of fundamental importance to family planning programs and policies. This chapter presents data from the 2012-13 PDHS on fertility preferences and family size norms of Pakistani women and men. The survey collected information from ever-married women and men age 15-49 on a number of aspects of fertility preferences. The resulting data are used to quantify fertility preferences: whether couples want more children, want to cease childbearing altogether, or want to delay the next pregnancy. Ideal number of children is another important indicator of fertility preferences that shows the number of children a woman or man would want if she or he could start afresh. This chapter also includes information on unwanted and mistimed pregnancies and trends in current fertility rates. Moreover, the extent to which fertility preferences differ between Pakistani women and men is assessed.

Interpretation of data on fertility preferences is often difficult since it is understood that respondents' reported preferences are, in a sense, hypothetical and thus subject to change and rationalization. Still, data on fertility preferences indicate the direction of future fertility to the extent that individuals and couples will act to achieve their preferred family sizes. A woman's fertility preferences may not necessarily predict her reproductive behavior, because childbearing decisions in Pakistani society are not made solely by the woman but are frequently affected by the attitudes of other family members, particularly the husband and the mother-in-law, both of whom may exert a major influence on reproductive decisions.

6.1 DESIRE FOR MORE CHILDREN

Information about the desire for more children is important for understanding future reproductive behavior. The provision of adequate and accessible family planning services depends on the availability of such information. In the 2012-13 PDHS, currently married, non-sterilized, non-pregnant women were asked "Would you like to have (a/another) child, or would you prefer not to have any (more) children?" If the response was in the affirmative, they were asked "How long would you like to wait from now before the birth of (a/another) child?" Questions asked of currently married, non-sterilized, pregnant women were phrased in a slightly different manner. These women were asked "After the child you are expecting now, would you like to have another child, or would you prefer not to have any more children?" In the case of an affirmative answer, they were asked "After the birth of the child you are expecting now, how long would you like to wait before the birth of another child?"

Table 6.1 presents the distribution of currently married women and men age 15-49 by desire for more children, according to number of living children. The proportion of women and men who want

another child generally decreases with increasing number of living children. At the same time, the proportion of women and men who want to stop childbearing (including those sterilized) increases with increasing number of living children. Overall, 23 percent of women and 30 percent of men want to have another child soon (within two years), while 19 percent of women and 21 percent of men want another child two or more years later. More than half of women (including those who are sterilized or whose husbands are sterilized) and two-fifths of men (including those who are sterilized or who say that their wives are sterilized) do not want any more children.

Table 6.1 Fertility preferences by number of living children

Percent distribution of currently married women and currently married men age 15-49 by desire for children, according to number of living children, Pakistan 2012-13

	Number of living children					Total 15-				
Desire for children	0	1	2	3	4	5	6+	49		
	WOMEN ¹									
Have another soon ²	87.0	40.9	25.1	14.1	7.9	4.4	1.6	23.0		
Have another later ³	1.9	46.2	38.8	22.7	8.8	5.9	2.6	19.1		
Have another, undecided when	1.5	3.7	2.0	1.4	0.9	0.4	0.8	1.5		
Undecided	1.8	2.7	5.5	4.7	2.9	3.5	2.8	3.5		
Want no more	1.7	5.4	25.2	46.7	63.9	68.9	73.2	42.3		
Sterilized ⁴	0.0	0.3	1.8	9.0	14.8	16.1	18.2	8.9		
Declared infecund	6.1	0.7	1.5	1.0	0.7	0.8	0.7	1.4		
Missing	0.0	0.2	0.2	0.4	0.2	0.0	0.1	0.2		
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0		
Number	1,326	1,867	2,114	2,006	1,906	1,410	2,307	12,937		
			MEN ⁵							
Have another soon ²	87.4	48.9	38.9	24.6	9.2	6.6	5.8	30.0		
Have another later ³	7.1	44.0	35.6	23.9	12.9	10.2	7.3	20.8		
Have another, undecided when	1.6	1.1	1.7	3.0	1.8	1.5	0.0	1.6		
Undecided	0.0	2.3	4.0	6.3	10.1	8.0	5.6	5.3		
Want no more	0.9	2.9	19.2	39.6	58.3	66.0	69.9	37.5		
Sterilized ⁴	0.4	0.1	0.7	2.6	7.0	7.4	10.9	4.2		
Declared infecund	2.5	0.6	0.0	0.0	0.5	0.3	0.4	0.5		
Missing	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0		
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0		
Number	346	419	510	487	470	365	474	3,071		

¹ The number of living children includes the current pregnancy.

² Wants next birth within 2 years

³ Wants to delay next birth for 2 or more years

⁴ Includes both female and male sterilization

⁵ The number of living children includes one additional child if the respondent's wife is pregnant (or, among men with more than one current wife, if any wife is pregnant).

Desire to limit childbearing (including those women who are sterilized or whose husbands are sterilized) increases with increasing number of living children, from 2 percent among women with no children to 91 percent among women with six or more children. A comparison of data from the 2006-07 and 2012-13 PDHS surveys shows no change in the proportion of currently married women who want no more children or have been sterilized (51 percent). In the case of married men, the desire to limit childbearing increases from 1 percent among those with no children to 81 percent among those with six or more children.

There are considerable differences between women and men who want more children by number of living children. The proportion of currently married women who want more children decreases from 87 percent among those with one child to 4 percent among those with six or more living children. In contrast, the proportion of currently married men who want more children decreases from 93 percent among those with one child to 13 percent among those with six or more living children.
The percentage of women who want to limit childbearing increases rapidly with increasing number of living children, peaking at 89 to 95 percent among women with six or more children in every province except Balochistan, where it peaks at only 60 percent (Appendix Table A6.1.1). Patterns in desire for more children by number of living children among women in Punjab and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa are similar to national patterns, while in Sindh the proportion of women who want more children deceases from 93 percent among those with one child to 8 percent among those with six or more children. Seventy percent of women in Balochistan with one child and 10 percent with six or more children desire more children; however, higher percentages of men than women in every province want more children, with a particularly large differential in Balochistan province (Appendix Table A6.1.2). Balochistan has particularly high proportions of women (22 percent) and men (12 percent) who are undecided about whether or not they want another child.

6.2 DESIRE TO LIMIT CHILDBEARING BY BACKGROUND CHARACTERISTICS

Tables 6.2.1 and 6.2.2 provide information on differences in the desire to limit childbearing by background characteristics. Overall, at every parity, urban women are considerably more likely than rural women to want no more children. For example, among women with three children, 66 percent of urban women and 50 percent of rural women want no more children. There is only a slight urban-rural differential in the desire to limit childbearing among women with six or more children (93 percent and 91 percent, respectively), since very few of these women, regardless of area of residence, want another child.

At the regional level, women in ICT Islamabad are twice as likely to want to limit childbearing as women in Balochistan (60 percent and 29 percent, respectively). Among other regions, slightly more than half of women in Punjab, Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, and Gilgit Baltistan want no more children. At parity three and four, the proportion of women who want no more children is considerably higher in ICT Islamabad and Punjab than in the other regions. The proportion of men who want no more children is lowest by far in Balochistan and highest in Gilgit Baltistan, ICT Islamabad, and Punjab.

Overall, women and men with no education have a greater desire to limit childbearing than those with higher levels of education. However, women and men with two or more children are generally the least likely to want to limit childbearing within each parity (Tables 6.2.1 and 6.2.2). This pattern is likely due to the larger number of children borne by women with no education. The proportion of women and men who want no more children is positively associated with wealth, although there is relatively little difference in the highest three wealth quintiles.

Table 6.2.1 Desire to limit childbearing: Women

Percentage of currently married women age 15-49 who want no more children, by number of living children, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

Background			Numbe	r of living c	hildren ¹			
characteristic	0	1	2	3	4	5	6+	Total
Residence								
Urban	3.7	7.2	35.1	65.5	83.2	93.2	93.4	54.7
Rural	0.8	4.8	22.1	49.9	76.1	81.2	90.8	49.4
Region								
Punjab	2.3	5.7	27.5	62.1	85.8	90.7	95.4	54.0
Sindh	0.7	5.7	28.3	49.5	69.1	77.7	89.0	46.8
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	0.9	6.4	26.5	46.9	75.1	87.8	94.9	53.4
Balochistan	0.9	0.9	10.1	21.8	34.1	39.4	59.8	28.9
ICT Islamabad	1.3	7.5	37.3	81.8	90.6	92.1	93.2	60.3
Gilgit Baltistan	2.2	3.6	18.2	43.3	65.9	70.5	86.3	50.8
Education								
No education	1.4	6.7	21.7	49.1	73.1	82.1	90.7	55.0
Primary	3.7	3.3	23.8	57.9	85.6	91.2	94.6	50.1
Middle	1.1	3.5	26.5	65.2	80.7	84.5	95.0	46.0
Secondary	2.2	6.0	32.5	60.8	90.2	95.2	95.2	45.0
Higher	0.0	5.8	41.2	69.8	86.1	96.0	(98.2)	41.1
Wealth quintile								
Lowest	0.0	4.7	13.4	32.4	60.4	69.2	85.2	43.8
Second	0.9	4.9	22.6	47.4	75.6	76.0	90.0	49.5
Middle	0.8	4.9	21.4	60.2	78.9	95.3	94.4	55.2
Fourth	2.6	7.3	32.4	60.2	83.6	90.1	95.6	52.4
Highest	3.9	5.7	37.5	69.7	91.3	93.4	97.8	54.8
Total	1.7	5.6	27.0	55.7	78.6	85.0	91.5	51.2

Note: Women who have been sterilized are considered to want no more children. Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases. ¹ The number of living children includes the current pregnancy.

Table 6.2.2 Desire to limit childbearing: Men

Percentage of currently married men age 15-49 who want no more children, by number of living children, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

Background			Numbe	r of living c	:hildren ¹			
characteristic	0	1	2	3	4	5	6+	Total
Residence								
Urban	2.5	0.5	28.5	44.9	71.3	79.3	84.7	45.8
Rural	0.7	4.2	13.8	40.4	61.9	68.9	79.4	39.5
Region								
Punjab	0.6	3.5	19.5	49.7	74.8	81.5	90.6	47.5
Sindh	1.2	0.4	22.5	34.9	55.7	61.9	77.8	35.3
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	4.5	7.6	20.1	20.0	46.3	77.4	71.3	35.1
Balochistan	(1.0)	0.6	7.3	6.0	18.2	22.1	46.2	20.3
ICT Islamabad	*	(2.2)	26.9	63.5	(90.1)	(84.6)	*	47.7
Gilgit Baltistan	*	(0.0)	(13.6)	(51.4)	(74.0)	(67.7)	(89.4)	50.6
Education								
No education	1.3	8.3	12.0	41.1	52.1	67.9	79.2	45.2
Primary	0.0	4.1	23.9	37.2	73.9	75.0	84.6	42.8
Middle	3.3	1.8	15.8	42.1	64.4	(89.4)	82.2	41.0
Secondary	1.3	0.0	22.2	42.5	75.0	62.4	82.7	39.9
Higher	0.0	0.1	25.2	49.0	66.0	84.6	75.3	36.9
Wealth quintile								
Lowest	0.0	4.2	8.3	23.7	42.3	49.6	67.8	30.9
Second	1.7	3.5	9.0	27.0	60.9	66.3	79.5	37.8
Middle	(2.3)	6.1	29.5	38.5	56.9	89.5	88.1	48.5
Fourth	2.4	2.1	19.0	56.9	83.6	70.0	86.0	45.4
Highest	0.0	0.1	30.8	49.1	76.1	82.8	92.3	45.1
Total	1.2	3.1	19.9	42.2	65.3	73.4	80.8	41.7

Note: Men who have been sterilized or who state, in response to the question about desire for children, that their wife has been sterilized are considered to want no more children. Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases. An asterisk indicates that a figure is based on fewer than 25 unweighted cases and has been suppressed.

The number of living children includes one additional child if the respondent's wife is pregnant (or, among men with more than one current wife, if any wife is pregnant).

Fertility preferences depend not only on the total number of living children, but also on the sex composition of the children. One way to measure preference for sons is to examine the proportion of women who want no more children by the number of sons they already have. Because the desire to stop childbearing depends on total number of children as well as sex composition, the data are broken down by number of children (Table 6.3).

The results show that there is a strong preference for sons in Pakistan. For example, among women with three children, 60 percent of those with three sons want to have no more children, as compared with only 21 percent of those with three daughters. Similarly, among women with five children, about 90 percent of those with two to four sons say they want no more children, as compared with 73 percent of those with no sons or only one son. The proportion of women who want no more children drops to 76 percent among women with five sons and no daughters, probably because of a desire to have at least one daughter.

6.3 IDEAL FAMILY SIZE

The discussion of fertility preferences earlier in this chapter focused on respondents' current childbearing preferences. These preferences are influenced by the number of children a respondent already has. The 2012-13 PDHS also asked women and men age 15-49 about the total number of children they would like to have in their lifetime if they could choose the exact number to have at the time they had no children. Even though this question is based on a hypothetical

situation, it provides two important measures. First, for women and men who have not started a family, the data indicate how many children would be ideal for them to have in the future. Second, for older and high-parity women, the excess of past fertility over the ideal family size provides a measure of unwanted fertility.

Four percent of women gave non-numeric answers to the question on ideal number of children, such as "up to God/Allah," and the proportion of such responses exhibited a curvilinear relationship with number of living children (Table 6.4). The proportion of respondents providing non-numeric responses was higher among men (7 percent).

Both ever-married and currently married women and men in Pakistan still prefer four children, on average, as their ideal family size (4.1 children for women and 4.3 children for men). Four in 10 women would want to have four children, and one-third of men would want to have four children. Only 14 percent of women prefer a two-child family, and another 16 percent consider three children as their ideal family size. Among men, 10 percent and 17 percent, respectively, prefer two children and three children as their ideal family size.

Table 6.3 Desire to limit childbearing by sex of living children

Percentage of currently married, non-pregnant women age 15-49 who want no more children, by number of living children and sons, Pakistan 2012-13

	<u> </u>	
	Percentage who	
Number of living	want no more	Number of
children and sons	sterilized	women
	otormizou	Wolffield
No children	1.7	1,326
One child		
No sons	5.9	693
One son	7.2	771
Two children		
No sons	10.7	357
One son	31.6	953
I WO SONS	37.3	495
Three children		
No sons	20.5	162
One son	50.5	563
Two sons	71.2	791
Inree sons	60.0	212
Four children		
No sons	43.9	100
One son	71.4	364
Two sons	87.6	675
Inree sons	85.0	463
Four sons	77.1	135
Five children		
No sons/one son	72.7	153
I wo sons	90.6	373
Inree sons	90.0	449
Five sons	09.9 76.2	204 45
	10.2	-10
More than 5 children	00.0	400
No sons/one son	82.0	138
Three sons	09.0 0/ 1	581
Four sons	94.8	511
Five sons	95.0	297
Six or more sons	94.6	200
Total	53.6	11.478
	00.0	,

Table 6.4 Ideal number of children by number of living children

Percent distribution of ever-married women and ever-married men age 15-49 by ideal number of children, and mean ideal number of children for all respondents and for currently married respondents, according to the number of living children, Pakistan 2012-13

_			Num	ber of living of	children			
Ideal number of children	0	1	2	3	4	5	6+	Total
			WOMEN ¹					
0	1.2	0.2	0.5	0.5	0.5	1.4	0.5	0.6
1	3.1	1.4	0.2	0.6	0.3	0.0	0.1	0.7
2	25.3	22.7	22.2	11.2	9.7	6.7	4.4	14.2
3	14.7	20.8	22.0	27.6	8.1	10.3	5.2	15.6
4	36.0	36.7	40.3	40.9	56.0	34.8	30.0	39.3
5	7.0	7.5	5.5	6.2	9.1	22.4	10.9	9.4
6+	9.0	8.6	7.7	9.8	12.9	18.0	40.2	16.0
Non-numeric responses	3.7	2.0	1.7	3.2	3.3	6.3	8.7	4.2
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Number	1,425	1,989	2,195	2,095	1,958	1,465	2,431	13,558
Mean ideal number of children for: ²								
Ever-married women	3.5	3.6	3.6	3.8	4.2	4.5	5.3	4.1
Number of ever-married women	1,372	1,949	2,159	2,027	1,893	1,372	2,220	12,992
Currently married women	3.6	3.6	3.6	3.8	4.2	4.5	5.3	4.1
Number of currently married women	1,293	1,842	2,080	1,941	1,844	1,319	2,105	12,425
			MEN ³					
0	1.1	0.7	1.3	2.1	3.7	1.1	3.3	2.0
1	0.7	0.8	0.0	0.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.3
2	24.0	13.1	14.9	4.2	6.1	2.8	3.2	9.5
3	17.3	28.1	20.4	25.6	11.1	11.4	5.3	17.2
4	33.4	34.4	38.5	34.3	44.9	24.1	18.8	32.9
5	9.3	9.5	12.4	13.8	12.6	23.4	10.2	12.8
6+	6.4	8.4	8.6	12.7	16.4	27.4	47.2	18.2
Non-numeric responses	7.7	5.1	3.9	6.9	5.2	9.8	12.2	7.1
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Number	374	432	516	499	470	369	474	3,134
Mean ideal number of children for: ²								
Ever-married men	3.5	3.7	3.8	4.1	4.3	4.9	5.9	4.3
Number of ever-married men	345	410	496	465	446	333	416	2,910
Currently married men	3.6	3.7	3.8	4.1	4.3	4.9	5.9	4.3
Number of currently married men	330	397	491	457	445	329	416	2,866

¹ The number of living children includes the current pregnancy.

² Means are calculated excluding respondents who gave non-numeric responses.

³ The number of living children includes one additional child if the respondent's wife is pregnant (or, men with more than one current wife, if any wife is pregnant).

It is important to note that the mean ideal number of children reported by women remains unchanged from the 1990-91 PDHS (i.e., 4.1 children). This clearly indicates a preference for large families in Pakistani society. It also is likely to be a contributing factor to the slow pace of fertility decreases in Pakistan.

Table 6.4 further shows that mean ideal number of children increases with increasing number of living children, from 3.5 children among both women and men with no children to 5.3 children among women with six or more children and 5.9 children among men with six or more children. Two factors contribute to this positive association between actual and ideal number of children. First, to the extent that women are able to implement their fertility desires, those who want smaller families will tend to achieve smaller families. Second, some women may have difficulty admitting their desire for fewer children if they could begin childbearing again and may in fact report their actual number as their preferred number. Despite this tendency to rationalize, the data provide evidence of unwanted fertility, as the vast majority of women with six or more children reported an ideal family size of less than six children.

Table 6.5 presents the mean ideal number of children among currently married women and men age 15-49 by selected background characteristics. The mean ideal number of children increases with increasing age, ranging from 3.7 children among women age 15-24 and 4.0 among men in the same age group to 4.7 among both women and men age 45-49. Mean ideal number of children varies inversely with

women and men's level of education and wealth quintile. Among women, it ranges from 3.2 children for those with a higher education to 4.5 children for those with no education. Similarly, it ranges from 3.4 children among women in the highest wealth quintile to 5.0 children among women in the lowest quintile. A similar pattern is seen among currently married men age 15-49.

					1.11.1
1 able 6.5	Mean	ideal	number	ot	children

Mean ideal number of children for ever-married women and men age 15-49 by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

Background	Wo	omen	Ν	len
characteristic	Mean	Number ¹	Mean	Number ²
Age				
15-19	3.7	589	(4.0)	34
20-24	3.7	2,059	4.0	211
25-29	3.9	2,648	4.0	493
30-34	4.0	2,437	3.9	590
35-39	4.2	2,131	4.3	533
40-44	4.3	1,652	4.7	493
45-49	4.7	1,476	4.7	557
Residence				
Urban	3.6	4,385	3.9	1,047
Rural	4.3	8,607	4.5	1,863
Region				
Punjab	3.8	7,449	3.9	1,636
Sindh	4.5	3,074	4.5	785
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	4.1	1,765	4.9	308
Balochistan	6.1	549	7.1	147
ICT Islamabad	3.2	62	2.5	17
Gilgit Baltistan	4.8	93	4.4	18
Education				
No education	4.5	7,311	4.9	824
Primary	3.8	2,101	4.1	601
Middle	3.5	962	4.2	496
Secondary	3.3	1,377	4.0	516
Higher	3.2	1,240	3.9	472
Wealth quintile				
Lowest	5.0	2,484	5.1	567
Second	4.4	2,548	4.6	506
Middle	4.0	2,570	4.2	523
Fourth	3.7	2,670	3.9	666
Highest	3.4	2,720	3.8	647
Total	4.1	12,992	4.3	2,910

Note: Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases.

Number of women who gave a numeric response

² Number of men who gave a numeric response

The ideal number of children for both women and men is lower by more than half a child in urban areas than in rural areas. Ideal family size among both women and men is highest by far in Balochistan (6.1 and 7.1 children, respectively) and lowest in ICT Islamabad (3.2 and 2.5 children, respectively). The urban-rural differential is particularly large in Sindh (3.7 children in urban areas and 5.1 children in rural areas). Smaller urban-rural differentials are observed in the other provinces (Appendix Table A6.2).

As mentioned above, decisions about childbearing are usually made by couples and not by the woman herself. Women who were interviewed in the 2012-13 PDHS were asked if they thought that their husbands wanted the same number of children that they wanted or if they wanted more or fewer children. Table 6.6 shows that a majority of women (58 percent) say that their husbands want the same number of children as they do. However, more than one-fourth of women report that their husbands want more children than they want, while only 5 percent say that their husbands want fewer children than they want.

Table 6.6 Couple's agreement on family size

		Husband's des	sire for children			
Ideal number of children	Both want same	Husband wants more	Husband wants fewer	Don't know/ missing	Total	Number
0	30.3	26.9	1.1	41.7	100.0	73
1	48.0	37.6	2.6	11.8	100.0	81
2	59.8	27.9	2.9	9.5	100.0	1,705
3	66.7	19.9	4.2	9.3	100.0	1,897
4	64.3	21.6	4.5	9.5	100.0	4,616
5	48.0	33.6	5.3	13.0	100.0	1,095
6+	44.3	36.6	6.1	13.0	100.0	1,850
Non-numeric responses	30.6	33.7	5.8	30.0	100.0	469
Total	57.7	26.3	4.6	11.4	100.0	11,785

Percent distribution of currently married, non-sterilized women by whether they think their husbands want the same number of children as they want, according to woman's ideal number of children, Pakistan 2012-13

6.4 FERTILITY PLANNING

Information collected in the 2012-13 PDHS can also be used to estimate levels of unwanted fertility. This information provides insight into the degree to which couples are able to control fertility. Women age 15-49 were asked a series of questions about each child born to them in the preceding five years, as well as any current pregnancy, to determine whether the birth or pregnancy was wanted then (planned), wanted later (mistimed), or not wanted at all (unplanned) at the time of conception. In assessing these results, it is important to recognize that women may declare a previously unwanted birth or current pregnancy as wanted, and this rationalization would result in an underestimate of the true extent of unwanted births.

Table 6.7 shows that 8 in 10 births in the five years preceding the survey were planned, 9 percent were mistimed, and 7 percent were unwanted. There has been a substantial increase in planned births since 2006-07, from 75 percent to 84 percent. The proportion of births considered mistimed or unwanted has decreased from 24 percent to 16 percent since 2006-07. The proportion of wanted births decreases and the proportion of unwanted births increases substantially with increasing birth order. A similar pattern was found in the 1990-91 PDHS and 2006-07 PDHS surveys. Moreover, almost all first-order births are wanted, and 17 percent of fourth-order and higher order births are unwanted.

A similar pattern is observed for mother's age at the time of the birth. The proportion of planned births is highest (94 percent) among mothers in the youngest age group and then decreases consistently with increasing age. The percentage of unwanted births increases with mother's age at the time of the birth, rising from 0.3 percent among those below age 20 to 46 percent among those age 45-49.

Table 6.7 Fertility planning status

Percent distribution of births to women age 15-49 in the five years preceding the survey (including current pregnancies), by planning status of the birth, according to birth order and mother's age at birth, Pakistan 2012-13

		Planning s	tatus of birth			
Birth order and mother's age at birth	Wanted then	Wanted later	Wanted no more	Missing	Total	Number of births
Birth order						
1 2 3 4+	98.7 87.3 84.5 73.9	1.0 12.0 12.6 9.4	0.0 0.5 2.5 16.5	0.3 0.1 0.4 0.2	100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0	3,165 2,726 2,199 5,349
Mother's age at birth <20 20-24 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49	94.4 90.2 83.4 79.2 72.6 63.0 52.9	4.9 8.5 11.3 8.4 3.7 2.7 0.6	0.3 1.1 5.0 12.1 23.7 33.9 45.5	0.4 0.2 0.3 0.0 0.4 1.0	100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0	1,205 4,082 4,087 2,627 1,103 295 40
Total	84.2	8.5	7.1	0.2	100.0	13,439

6.5 WANTED FERTILITY RATES

The wanted fertility rate measures the potential demographic impact of avoiding unwanted births. It is calculated in the same manner as the total fertility rate but excludes unwanted births from the numerator. A birth is considered wanted if the number of living children at the time of conception is less than the ideal number of children reported by the respondent. The gap between wanted and actual fertility shows the extent to which women are successful in achieving their reproductive intentions. This measure may be an underestimate to the extent that women may not report an ideal family size lower than their actual family size.

The total wanted fertility rates in Table 6.8 represent the levels of fertility that would have prevailed in the three years preceding the survey if all unwanted births had been avoided. Overall, Pakistani women have 0.9 children more than their wanted number of 2.9 children. This implies that the total fertility rate (TFR) is 31 percent higher than it would be if unwanted births were avoided.

The gap between wanted and observed fertility rates is higher among women in rural areas (1.1 children) than women in urban areas (0.8 children). Similarly, the gap is highest among women in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (1.3 children), intermediate ICT Islamabad 2.2 Gilgit Baltistan 3.0 Education

Table 6.8 Wanted fertility rates

Background

characteristic

Residence Urban

Rural

Region Punjab

Sindh

Balochistan

Khyber Pakhtunkhwa

Total wanted fertility rates and total fertility rates

Total

wanted

fertility rate

24

31

2.8

3.1

2.6

3.4

Total fertility

rate

3.2

42

3.8

3.9

3.9

4.2

3.0

3.8

for the three years preceding the survey, background characteristics. Pakistan 2012-13

No education	3.3	4.4
Primary	3.1	4.1
Middle	2.5	3.3
Secondary	2.5	3.2
Higher	2.1	2.5
Wealth quintile		
Lowest	3.9	5.2
Second	3.3	4.4
Middle	2.7	3.8
Fourth	2.6	3.4
Highest	2.2	2.7
Total	2.9	3.8

Note: Rates are calculated based on births to women age 15-49 in the period 1-36 months preceding the survey. The total fertility rates are the same as those presented in Table 5.2.

among women in Punjab, and lowest among women in Sindh, Balochistan, ICT Islamabad, and Gilgit Baltistan (0.8 children each).

The gap between wanted and observed total fertility rates decreases with increasing education. Women with no education have 1.1 more children than they want, as compared to 0.4 children among women with a higher education. There is an inverse relationship between wanted fertility rates and wealth quintiles. The gap between wanted and actual fertility rates ranges from 0.5 children among women in the highest wealth quintile to 1.3 children among women in the lowest quintile. Overall, there has been a considerable decrease in the total wanted fertility rate among Pakistani women, from 4.7 children in 1990-91 to 3.1 in 2006-07 and 2.9 in 2012-13.

Key Findings

- Knowledge of contraception is universal in Pakistan.
- More than one-third of currently married women of reproductive age are using a method of contraception, with most women using a modern method (26 percent).
- The two most popular modern contraceptive methods are the male condom and female sterilization (9 percent each).
- The government sector remains the major provider of contraceptive methods, catering to the needs of nearly one in two users (46 percent).
- Overall, 37 percent of episodes of contraceptive use were discontinued within 12 months of their initiation. Ten percent of episodes of discontinuation occurred because the woman experienced side effects or had health concerns.
- Twenty percent of currently married women have an unmet need for family planning services, with 9 percent having an unmet need for spacing and 11 percent having an unmet need for limiting.

amily planning activities, introduced in the mid-1950s by the Family Planning Association of Pakistan and other voluntary organizations, were extended through the health infrastructure during the period 1960-1965. An independent family planning unit was established in the public sector in the third five-year plan (1965-1970) through which mass-scale information, education, and communication activities were launched and a service delivery network was created. This was followed by the introduction of a "continuous motivation system" employing male-female teams of workers at the union council level. In the sixth plan period (1983-1988), the role of nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) was institutionalized under an NGO coordinating council, and field activities were designed in a provincial context. During the same period, provincial population welfare departments were established and field activities were transferred to the provinces. Also in that same period, social marketing of contraceptive programs was introduced to expand nonclinical service delivery to the private sector. In 1990, the Population Welfare Division was given the status of a full-fledged ministry. In 1992, the NGO coordinating council was replaced by the National Trust for Population Welfare to further strengthen the participation and involvement of NGOs in population welfare program activities. The Village-based Family Planning Worker Program was introduced in 1993 by the Ministry of Population Welfare (MOPW) to enhance program coverage in rural areas. The Ministry of Health also launched the Prime Minister's Program for Family Planning and Primary Health Care. Through this program, lady health workers (LHWs) were recruited and trained to provide family planning and basic health services in urban slums and rural areas. In the 1990s, the population welfare program became a major component of the social action program.

Following the International Conference on Population and Development (ICPD) held in Cairo in 1994, the scope of family planning in Pakistan was broadened, and the right to reproductive health as an entitlement was made an integral component of the program. In addition, the population program was reorganized, with the Village-based Family Planning Worker Program being brought under the Ministry of Health. An explicit population policy was promulgated in 2002. The 2001-2011 interim population-sector perspective plan was devised with the goal of reaching replacement-level fertility by expanding family planning coverage and high-quality services, reducing infant and maternal mortality, and instituting other programmatic and strategic measures (MOPW, 2002).

In 2010, a major policy shift took place. Under the 18th Amendment of the Constitution, the Ministry of Population Welfare was devolved, and all responsibilities for implementing population program activities were transferred to the provinces.

Now Reproductive Health Service Centers (RHSCs) and hospital-based service outlets are the major clinical components of the Population Welfare Program. Mobile Service Units have been established to provide family planning services to remote areas with underserved rural populations. Moreover, "Male Mobilizers" are responsible for encouraging program advocacy among local community leaders, male teachers, shopkeepers, religious leaders, and community-based organizations. Other important components of the service delivery network include registered medical practitioners, hakims and homeopaths, LHWs, public-private partnerships, and NGOs; social marketing of contraceptives is a central component as well (MOPW, 2009).

Family planning refers to a conscious effort by a couple to limit or space the number of children they want to have through the use of contraceptive methods. This chapter focuses on currently married women, who have the greatest risk of exposure to pregnancy and the greatest need to regulate their fertility.

The chapter begins with an assessment of respondents' knowledge of different contraceptive methods before moving on to a consideration of current family planning practices. Knowledge of the ovulatory cycle is examined among users of rhythm, while timing of method adoption is assessed among those relying on sterilization. Special attention is focused on sources of contraception, informed choice, nonuse of contraception, reasons for discontinuation, unmet need for family planning, and intention to use contraception in the future. The chapter concludes by examining exposure to media coverage on the topic of family planning and level of contact with family planning providers. These issues are of practical use to program managers and policymakers.

Level of contraceptive use provides the most obvious and widely accepted criterion of the success of a family planning program. Examination of contraceptive use in relation to need pinpoints segments of the population for whom intensified service provision efforts are most needed.

Although the main focus of this chapter is on women, results from male respondents are also presented because men play an equally important role in the realization of reproductive health and family planning decisions and behaviors. Wherever possible, comparisons are made with findings from previous surveys in order to evaluate changes in family planning in Pakistan over time.

7.1 KNOWLEDGE OF CONTRACEPTIVE METHODS

Knowledge of contraceptive methods is an important precursor to their use. The ability to recognize a family planning method when it is described is a simple test of a respondent's knowledge but not necessarily an indication of the extent of her or his knowledge. The 2012-13 PDHS gathered information on knowledge of contraception by asking respondents whether or not they have heard about 10 modern methods (female and male sterilization, the pill, intrauterine devices [IUDs], injectables, implants, male condoms, the lactational amenorrhea method [LAM], the standard days method [SDM], and emergency contraception) and two traditional methods (rhythm and withdrawal). Respondents were also asked whether they have heard of any other methods in addition to those listed.

Table 7.1 shows that knowledge of family planning is universal among both women and men. Modern methods are more widely known than traditional methods; almost all women know of a modern method, while 73 percent know of a traditional method.

Table 7.1 Knowledge of contraceptive methods

	Wo	men	Me	en
Method	Ever-married women	Currently married women	Ever-married men	Currently married men
Any method	98.8	98.9	95.7	95.7
Any modern method	98.7	98.7	94.9	94.8
Female sterilization	91.0	90.9	80.7	81.1
Male sterilization	51.4	51.0	47.1	47.3
Pill	95.2	95.4	84.6	84.8
IUD	86.0	86.0	52.1	52.5
Injectables	95.4	95.5	81.9	82.2
Implants	33.6	33.6	14.5	14.6
Condom	82.2	82.3	88.5	88.6
Lactational amenorrhea (LAM)	65.0	64.9	32.0	32.2
Emergency contraception	24.1	24.2	19.3	19.3
Standard days method (SDM)	5.3	5.2	14.2	14.2
Any traditional method	72.5	72.5	81.1	81.1
Rhythm	41.9	41.9	44.6	44.7
Withdrawal	67.0	67.1	76.3	76.2
Other	1.8	1.8	0.2	0.2
Mean number of methods				
known by respondents	7.4	7.4	6.4	6.4
Number of respondents	13,558	12,937	3,134	3,071

Percentage of ever-married respondents and currently married respondents age 15-49 who have heard of any contraceptive method, by specific method, Pakistan 2012-13

Female sterilization (91 percent), injectables and the pill (95 percent each), and IUDs (86 percent) are the most commonly known modern methods among women, followed by male condoms (82 percent). More than half of the women are aware of LAM (65 percent) and male sterilization (51 percent). Implants and emergency contraception are known by a much smaller percentage of women (34 percent and 24 percent, respectively). Five percent of women have heard about SDM, a method introduced in Pakistan in May 2007 under the FALAH (Family Advancement for Life and Health) project, which was funded by the U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID) and covered 20 of the country's districts.

The traditional withdrawal and rhythm methods are known by 67 percent and 42 percent of women, respectively. Overall, women are slightly more knowledgeable than men about contraceptive methods. The mean number of methods known to women is 7.4, as compared with 6.4 for men.

Because knowledge of at least one method of contraception is nearly universal, there are only minimal differences in knowledge by background characteristics. Among women, level of contraceptive knowledge increases slightly with increasing education and wealth quintile, and a similar pattern is seen among men (data not shown).

7.2 EVER USE OF FAMILY PLANNING METHODS

Women who reported that they had heard of a method of family planning were asked whether they had ever used that method to delay or avoid getting pregnant. Table 7.2 shows that more than half (55 percent) of currently married women have ever used a contraceptive method, with 48 percent having used a modern method and 24 percent having used a traditional method. The methods most commonly used by women are the condom (22 percent) and withdrawal (20 percent), followed by injectables (14 percent) and the pill (11 percent). Nine percent each of currently married women have used female sterilization, IUDs, and LAM; 6 percent or fewer report use of other methods.

As expected, ever use of any contraceptive method among currently married women rises steadily with age, from 13 percent among those age 15-19 to 67 percent among those age 35-39. Female sterilization is more likely to have been used by older women, while use of condoms is more common among women age 30-34. Withdrawal is popular among women age 25 and older. Ever-married women show similar patterns in use of contraception.

Ever use of any contraceptive among currently married women has increased 34 percentage points during the past 22 years, from 21 percent in 1990-91 to 49 percent in 2006-07 and 55 percent in 2012-13. The corresponding figures for ever-married women are 16 percent in 1990-91, 39 percent in 2006-07, and 48 percent in 2012-13.

Table 7.2 Ever use of contraception by age

Percentage of ever-married and currently married women age 15-49 who have ever used any contraceptive method, by method, according to age, Pakistan 2012-13

Age	Any method	Any modern method	Female sterili- zation	Male sterili- zation	Pill	IUD	Inject- ables	Im- plants /FR-MAR	Con- dom	LAM	Emer- gency contra- ception	Stan- dard days method (SDM)	Any tradi- tional method	Rhythm	With- drawal	Other	Number of women
										OWEN							
15-19	13.1	10.6	0.0	0.0	1.1	0.8	2.3	0.0	6.1	2.0	0.5	0.0	7.3	0.3	7.1	0.3	605
20-24	34.5	27.9	0.5	0.0	5.0	2.6	7.5	0.1	15.3	5.5	0.5	0.0	14.3	3.1	12.5	0.4	2,106
25-29	53.3	45.0	2.4	0.1	9.4	6.3	13.4	0.1	23.4	8.7	0.8	0.0	24.2	5.0	21.4	0.7	2,724
30-34	61.8	55.5	7.3	0.6	11.9	11.1	15.9	0.2	29.1	10.0	1.3	0.1	26.5	6.2	23.5	0.6	2,528
35-39	65.4	59.0	14.3	0.3	14.4	14.1	18.4	0.3	25.5	11.2	1.2	0.0	27.3	7.4	22.7	1.3	2,226
40-44	62.2	55.0	16.9	0.6	15.4	14.5	17.6	0.5	21.7	9.7	1.2	0.2	26.3	6.1	23.0	1.2	1,766
45-49	56.5	50.6	17.3	0.4	10.7	11.1	11.3	0.2	16.6	14.0	0.6	0.0	22.0	6.0	17.8	1.1	1,602
Total	53.7	47.0	8.5	0.3	10.5	9.3	13.6	0.2	21.8	9.3	0.9	0.1	22.8	5.4	19.7	0.8	13,558
							CURF		/ARRIE[D WOME	N						
15-19	13.0	10.4	0.0	0.0	1.1	0.8	2.4	0.0	5.9	2.0	0.5	0.0	7.5	0.3	7.2	0.3	594
20-24	34.6	28.0	0.5	0.0	5.1	2.6	7.5	0.1	15.3	5.6	0.5	0.0	14.5	3.2	12.6	0.4	2,053
25-29	53.8	45.4	2.5	0.1	9.5	6.4	13.3	0.2	23.8	8.6	0.8	0.0	24.5	4.9	21.7	0.8	2,663
30-34	63.3	56.8	7.4	0.6	12.2	11.3	16.3	0.2	29.7	10.3	1.3	0.1	27.3	6.3	24.2	0.6	2,454
35-39	67.1	60.5	14.8	0.3	14.8	14.5	19.0	0.3	26.2	11.4	1.2	0.0	28.2	7.6	23.5	1.4	2,137
40-44	64.4	57.1	17.5	0.7	15.8	14.6	18.5	0.5	22.8	10.0	1.3	0.2	27.2	6.2	23.6	1.3	1,617
45-49	59.3	52.7	18.6	0.2	11.3	11.9	12.0	0.2	17.2	14.5	0.7	0.0	23.4	6.5	18.9	1.2	1,419
Total	54.8	48.0	8.7	0.3	10.8	9.4	13.9	0.2	22.3	9.4	1.0	0.1	23.5	5.5	20.3	0.9	12,937

7.3 CURRENT USE OF CONTRACEPTIVE METHODS

The prevalence of current contraceptive use among women is the most widely employed and valuable measure of the success of family planning programs. The contraceptive prevalence rate (CPR) is usually defined as the percentage of currently married women who are using a method of contraception. Table 7.3 shows that 35 percent of currently married Pakistani women are using some method of contraception; 26 percent use modern methods, and 9 percent use traditional methods. Of the modern methods, condoms and female sterilization are used most often (9 percent each). Among traditional methods, withdrawal is the most popular, used by 9 percent of currently married women. Use of withdrawal more than doubled from 4 percent in 2006-07 to 9 percent in 2012-13.

						Modern	method				Anv	Trad	itional me	ethod			
Age	Any method	Any modern method	Female sterili- zation	Male sterili- zation	Pill	IUD	Inject- ables	Con- dom	LAM	Other	tradi- tional method	Rhythm	With- drawal	Other	Not cur- rently using	Total	Number of womer
15-19	10.3	6.9	0.0	0.0	0.5	0.8	1.1	3.4	0.6	0.5	3.4	0.2	3.2	0.0	89.7	100.0	594
20-24	21.3	14.9	0.5	0.0	1.4	1.0	2.2	7.1	2.6	0.2	6.5	0.5	6.0	0.0	78.7	100.0	2,053
25-29	31.2	21.0	2.5	0.1	1.5	1.8	2.9	9.8	2.2	0.2	10.3	0.5	9.7	0.2	68.8	100.0	2,663
30-34	41.7	31.4	7.4	0.6	1.8	3.8	4.2	11.8	1.8	0.2	10.3	0.6	9.6	0.1	58.3	100.0	2,454
35-39	47.9	36.6	14.8	0.2	1.9	3.7	3.4	11.3	1.2	0.2	11.3	1.1	10.2	0.0	52.1	100.0	2,137
40-44	44.2	33.3	17.5	0.6	2.3	2.1	2.3	7.6	0.7	0.1	10.9	1.2	9.4	0.3	55.8	100.0	1,617
45-49	34.5	26.8	18.6	0.2	0.9	1.6	1.1	4.2	0.2	0.2	7.7	0.4	6.9	0.3	65.5	100.0	1,419
Total	35.4	26.1	8.7	0.3	1.6	2.3	2.8	8.8	1.5	0.2	9.3	0.7	8.5	0.1	64.6	100.0	12,937

Note: If more than one method is used, only the most effective method is considered in this tabulation.

LAM = Lactational amenorrhea method

Table 7.3 Current use of contraception by age

In general, use of any contraception increases with age from 10 percent among married women age 15-19 to 48 percent among women age 35-39. Married women at the peak of the childbearing period (age 20-34) prefer to use condoms and injectables, while female sterilization is more often used by older women (age 35-49).

One of the Millennium Development Goals for Pakistan is to increase the CPR to 55 percent by 2015 (Planning Commission, 2010). Unless strenuous efforts are made to utilize all available channels in the public, private, and NGO sectors, it is unlikely that this goal will be achieved.

7.4 DIFFERENTIALS IN CONTRACEPTIVE USE BY BACKGROUND CHARACTERISTICS

Knowledge of differentials in contraceptive use by background characteristics is important to identify targets for family planning services. Table 7.4 shows that there is a strong positive association between use of family planning methods and number of children. Only 1 percent of women with no living children use contraception. This percentage increases sharply to 29 percent among women with one or two children, rises to 46 percent among women with three to four children, and peaks at 48 percent among women with five and more children.

Use of female sterilization is more popular among women with five or more living children (18 percent). These women may have completed their family size and do not want any more children. Use of condoms rises with parity, from less than 1 percent of women with no living children to 12 percent of women with three to four children; it then decreases to 8 percent among women with five or more children. Use of IUDs shows a similar pattern.

As can be seen in Table 7.4, married women in urban areas are more likely to use contraception (45 percent) than their rural counterparts (31 percent). More than twice as many urban women (15 percent) as rural women (6 percent) use condoms.

Differentials by region are pronounced. Married women in ICT Islamabad have the highest CPR (59 percent), followed by women in Punjab (41 percent), Gilgit Baltistan (34 percent), Sindh (30 percent), and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (28 percent). The lowest level of family planning use is in Balochistan (20 percent). Differentials in the use of any modern method by region are similar to differentials in the use of any traditional method. Among modern methods, female sterilization is the method of choice in Punjab and Sindh. The most commonly reported method in ICT Islamabad (as well as in the urban sections of Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, Sindh, and Punjab) is the condom. IUDs and injectables are popular in Gilgit Baltistan.

Urban-rural differences within regions are most pronounced in Sindh; urban women in this region are two and a half times more likely than rural women to use any contraception (43 percent and 17 percent, respectively). A good deal of the variation is due to much higher use of condoms and withdrawal in urban areas.

Table 7.4 also shows that contraceptive use has a positive association with education. The CPR increases from 30 percent among women with no education to 41 percent among women with a primaryand middle-level education and 44 percent among women with a secondary or higher education.

Wealth also has a positive association with women's contraceptive use. The CPR increases as household wealth increases, from 21 percent among women in the lowest wealth quintile to 46 percent among women in the highest quintile.

Table 7.4	Current use of	f contraception	by background	characteristics

Percent distribution of currently married women age 15-49 by contracentive method currently used according to background characteristics. Pakistan 2012-13

						Moderr	n method				Anv	Trad	itional me	ethod			
Background characteristic	Any method	Any modern method	Female sterili- zation	Male sterili- zation	Pill	IUD	Inject- ables	Con- dom	LAM	Other	tradi- tional method	Rhythm	With- drawal	Other	Not cur- rently using	Total	Number of women
Number of living children																	
0	0.9	0.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.4	0.0	0.0	0.3	0.0	0.3	0.0	99.1	100.0	1,728
1-2	28.8	18.1	1.1	0.0	1.2	0.9	2.3	10.5	1.9	0.2	10.7	0.7	10.0	0.0	71.2	100.0	3,856
3-4 5-	46.4 47.6	35.2 37 4	11.8	0.5	2.0	3.8	3.5	11.8 7 9	1.7	0.2	11.2	0.7	10.2	0.2	53.6 52.4	100.0	3,772
Desidence	47.0	57.4	17.7	0.4	2.4	5.5	5.0	1.5	1.7	0.2	10.2	0.0	5.2	0.2	52.4	100.0	5,500
Lirban	11 8	32.0	9.6	0.4	15	26	25	1/1 8	0.6	0.1	12.8	1.0	117	0.1	55.2	100.0	4 304
Rural	30.7	23.1	9.0 8.2	0.4	1.6	2.0	2.9	5.8	2.0	0.1	7.6	0.5	6.9	0.1	69.3	100.0	4,304 8,633
Region																	
Punjab	40.7	29.0	10.2	0.4	1.1	2.9	2.0	9.9	2.3	0.2	11.7	1.0	10.6	0.1	59.3	100.0	7,374
Urban	46.9	32.2	10.5	0.7	0.8	3.4	1.9	14.3	0.6	0.1	14.6	1.5	13.1	0.0	53.1	100.0	2,402
Rural	37.7	27.4	10.1	0.3	1.2	2.7	2.0	7.8	3.1	0.3	10.3	0.8	9.4	0.2	62.3	100.0	4,972
Sindh	29.5	24.5	9.7	0.1	1.8	1.2	3.3	8.0	0.2	0.3	5.0	0.1	4.8	0.1	70.5	100.0	3,002
Urban	42.7	32.6	9.8	0.0	2.1	1.3	2.9	15.9	0.4	0.2	10.2	0.2	9.8	0.2	57.3	100.0	1,432
Rural	17.4	17.1	9.6	0.2	1.5	1.0	3.7	0.7	0.0	0.3	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.0	82.6	100.0	1,570
Khyber																	
Pakhtunkhwa	28.1	19.5	2.4	0.0	2.7	1.5	5.2	7.0	0.6	0.0	8.6	0.3	8.1	0.2	71.9	100.0	1,855
Urban	44.0	30.4	3.4	0.0	3.0	2.8	5.4	15.1	0.4	0.3	13.6	0.4	13.2	0.0	56.0	100.0	308
Rurai	24.9	17.3	2.2	0.0	2.0	1.3	5.1	5.4	0.6	0.0	7.0	0.2	7.1	0.2	75.1	100.0	1,547
Balochistan	19.5	16.3	4.0	0.0	2.4	2.1	1.7	3.7	2.0	0.4	3.1	0.1	3.0	0.1	80.5	100.0	553
Urban	24.4	20.9	4.9	0.0	3.5	0.4	2.8	6.5	2.0	0.8	3.5	0.0	3.3	0.1	75.6	100.0	110
Rurai	18.2	15.2	3.8	0.0	Z.1	2.5	1.5	3.1	1.9	0.3	3.0	0.1	2.9	0.1	81.8	100.0	443
ICT Islamabad	59.4	44.1	10.0	0.1	1.8	4.6	1.6	24.9	0.8	0.4	15.4	2.4	12.9	0.0	40.6	100.0	62
Gilgit Baltistan	33.6	28.2	4.6	0.6	3.7	8.4	6.6	3.0	1.4	0.0	5.4	0.5	4.9	0.0	66.4	100.0	91
Education																	
No education	30.2	23.4	9.6	0.2	1.5	2.2	2.9	5.0	1.9	0.2	6.8	0.5	6.1	0.2	69.8	100.0	7,347
Primary	40.8	28.8	9.1	0.6	1.5	2.0	3.2	10.5	1.5	0.3	12.1	0.9	11.1	0.1	59.2	100.0	2,057
Nildale	40.7	29.5	7.2	0.3	2.4	3.0	2.3	13.1	0.8	0.3	11.2	1.2	9.9	0.1	59.3	100.0	958
Higher	43.9	29.7	4.9	0.2	1.8	2.5	2.9	18.1	0.9	0.0	12.9	0.7	13.5	0.1	56.2	100.0	1,351
Wealth quintile																	, -
Lowest	20.8	18 1	75	04	16	12	23	14	36	01	27	02	25	0.0	792	100.0	2 501
Second	29.7	22.9	7.8	0.1	1.7	2.3	3.8	4.8	2.1	0.3	6.7	0.5	6.1	0.1	70.3	100.0	2,533
Middle	38.2	26.9	9.5	0.2	1.1	2.9	3.4	8.4	1.1	0.3	11.2	0.8	10.1	0.3	61.8	100.0	2,550
Fourth	41.5	30.3	9.1	0.2	2.3	2.4	2.9	13.0	0.4	0.1	11.2	0.9	10.2	0.1	58.5	100.0	2,677
Highest	45.8	31.6	9.3	0.4	1.2	2.7	1.4	15.7	0.6	0.2	14.2	0.8	13.3	0.0	54.2	100.0	2,676
Total	35.4	26.1	8.7	0.3	1.6	2.3	2.8	8.8	1.5	0.2	9.3	0.7	8.5	0.1	64.6	100.0	12,937

Note: If more than one method is used, only the most effective method is considered in this tabulation. LAM = Lactational amenorrhea method

7.5 TRENDS IN CURRENT USE OF FAMILY PLANNING

Trends in current use of family planning can be used to monitor the progress of family planning programs over time. Table 7.5 and Figure 7.1 show trends in modern contraceptive use among currently married women from 1990 to 2013. Data from the three DHS surveys conducted in Pakistan over the past two decades show an increase of 17 percentage points in the use of modern contraceptive methods, from 9 percent in 1990-91 to 26 percent in 2012-13. As can be seen in Figure 7.1, changes in the use of pill, IUD, and rhythm over the past 22 years have been small. Use of female sterilization, condoms, and injectables increased slightly since 2006-07, whereas use of withdrawal increased by 5 percentage points.

Table 7.5 Trends in the current use of contraception

Percent distribution of currently married women age 15-49 by contraceptive method currently used, according to several surveys

Method	1990-91 PDHS	2006-07 PDHS	2012-13 PDHS	
Any method	11.8	29.6	35.4	
Any modern method Female sterilization Pill IUD Injectables Condom Other modern method	9.0 3.5 0.7 1.3 0.8 2.7 0.0	21.7 8.2 2.1 2.3 6.8 0.2	26.1 8.7 1.6 2.3 2.8 8.8 2.0	
Any traditional method Rhythm Withdrawal Other	2.8 1.3 1.2 0.3	7.9 3.6 4.1 0.2	9.3 0.7 8.5 0.4	
Not currently using	88.2	70.4	64.6	
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	
Number of women	6,364	9,556	12,937	



Figure 7.1 Trends in contraceptive use among currently married women

7.6 TIMING OF STERILIZATION

Table 7.6 shows the percent distribution of currently married, sterilized women by age at the time of sterilization, according to the number of years since the operation. The results indicate that the median age at sterilization among women in Pakistan is 31.5 years. Median age at sterilization is highest for women who were sterilized between eight and nine years before the survey (33.2 years). The majority of women were sterilized when they were age 30-34.

Overall, a gradual decrease has been observed in median age at sterilization, from 32.8 years in 1990-91 to 31.9 years in 2006-07 and 31.5 years in 2012-13.

Table 7.6 Tim	Table 7.6 Timing of sterilization									
Percent distribution of sterilized women age 15-49 by age at the time of sterilization and median age at sterilization, according to the number of years since the operation, Pakistan 2012-13										
Years since		Age	at time of	of steriliz		Number of	Median			
operation	<25	25-29	30-34	35-39	40-44	45-49	Total	women	age ¹	
<2	7.5	28.0	24.0	23.1	11.1	6.4	100.0	172	31.1	
2-3	2.0	21.5	36.9	27.6	10.6	1.4	100.0	212	33.1	
4-5	2.9	24.4	28.0	31.8	12.9	0.0	100.0	149	32.9	
6-7	4.1	26.8	33.0	25.5	10.7	0.0	100.0	178	31.2	
8-9	4.8	27.2	33.7	30.7	3.6	0.0	100.0	94	33.2	
10+	14.3	34.5	40.2	11.1	0.0	0.0	100.0	315	а	
Total	7.0	27.9	33.8	22.7	7.4	1.2	100.0	1,120	31.5	

a = Not calculated due to censoring

¹ Median age at sterilization is calculated only for women sterilized before age 40 to avoid problems of censoring.

7.7 SOURCE OF CONTRACEPTION

Information on where women obtain their contraceptives is useful for family planning program managers and implementers for logistic planning. In the 2012-13 PDHS, women who reported using a modern contraceptive method were asked where they last obtained the method. Because some respondents

may not know exactly in which category the source they use falls (e.g., government hospital, private health center), interviewers were instructed to note the full name of the source or facility. As a means of ensuring accurate reporting, supervisors were instructed to verify that the name and source type were consistent by asking informants in the clusters for the names of local family planning outlets or facilities.

Table 7.7 shows the percent distribution of users of modern contraceptive methods by the most recent source. Government facilities provide contraceptives to 46 percent of users. Within the government sector, 31 percent of users obtain their methods from government hospitals (RHSCs) and 10 percent from LHWs. Thirty-five percent of modern contraceptive users obtain their methods from the private sector, primarily from private and NGO hospitals and clinics (19 percent), private pharmacies or chemists (13 percent), and other sources (e.g., shops) (13 percent). Reliance on obtaining contraceptives from the private sector has increased 5 percentage points, from 30 percent in 2006-07 to 35 percent in 2012-13.

Two in three female sterilizations are performed in government hospitals (65 percent). Forty-eight percent of pill users obtain their supply from a government source, primarily LHWs (29 percent) and government hospitals (15 percent). Pharmacies or chemists (23 percent) are used by the majority of women who obtain the pill from a private medical source.

More than half of IUD insertions took place in a government facility (53 percent), with the majority being performed in a government hospital (RHSC) (27 percent). Four in 10 IUD users had the device inserted in a private facility, primarily at a private or NGO hospital or clinic (36 percent).

Fifty-six percent women who use injectables had the injection in a government facility, with 23 percent doing so in a government hospital. Forty percent had the injection in a private facility, primarily from NGO hospital or clinic (24 percent). Pharmacies and shops are the main suppliers of condoms (32 percent and 27 percent, respectively).

Table 7.7	Source of r	modern	contracep	otion	methods
-----------	-------------	--------	-----------	-------	---------

Percent distribution of users of modern contraceptive methods age 15-49 by most recent source of method, according to method, Pakistan 2012-13

Source	Female sterilization	Pill	IUD	Injectables	Condom	Total
Public sector	66.5	47.5	53.3	56.3	17.7	45.6
Public government hospital (RHSC)	65.2	15.2	27.3	22.5	2.6	31.3
Rural health center	1.0	0.4	2.9	3.5	0.2	1.1
Family welfare center (FWW)	0.0	2.4	4.8	2.9	0.2	1.0
Mother-child health center	0.2	0.1	3.1	4.1	0.0	0.9
Lady health worker	0.0	28.8	4.3	21.1	13.9	9.7
Lady health visitor	0.0	0.5	6.6	1.8	0.6	1.1
Basic health unit	0.0	0.1	3.3	0.3	0.1	0.4
Other public	0.1	0.0	0.9	0.1	0.1	0.1
Private medical sector	33.0	36.1	40.8	40.0	34.7	35.0
Private/NGO hospital/clinic	33.0	5.6	35.8	23.7	1.7	18.9
Private pharmacy, chemist	0.0	23.1	0.4	2.5	30.9	13.0
Private doctor	0.0	2.2	4.5	6.4	0.5	1.5
Dispensary/compounder	0.0	4.8	0.0	7.4	1.0	1.5
Other private	0.0	0.4	0.0	0.0	0.6	0.2
Other source	0.0	13.5	5.9	3.4	31.9	13.3
Shop	0.0	10.5	0.0	1.4	26.8	10.5
Friend/relative	0.0	3.0	0.2	0.1	4.9	2.0
Hakim	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.1
Dai/traditional birth attendant	0.0	0.0	5.7	1.9	0.0	0.8
Other	0.3	1.4	0.0	0.0	8.3	3.2
Don't know	0.0	1.1	0.0	0.0	6.9	2.5
Missing	0.1	0.5	0.0	0.3	0.5	0.3
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Number of women	1,120	204	299	357	1,140	3,160

Note: Total includes 32 women whose husbands are sterilized and 8 women who are using implants and are not shown separately but excludes women using the lactational amenorrhea method (LAM).

RHSC = Reproductive health service center FWW = Family welfare worker

7.8 Use of Social Marketing Contraceptive Brands

Women age 15-49 who were using oral contraceptives and male condoms were asked for the brand name of the pills and condoms they last used. This information is useful in monitoring and evaluating the success of social marketing programs that promote a specific brand.

Social marketing plays an important role in provision of contraceptive methods in Pakistan. Currently the "Greenstar" program, initiated in 1991, is the only component of contraceptive social marketing in Pakistan. The program provides family planning information and services to mainly urban and peri-urban residents at subsidized rates. The range of activities includes advertisements and promotional campaigns; training of doctors, paramedics, and chemists; and sales of condom brands such as Sathi and Touch (National Institute of Population Studies, 2008).

Table 7.8 shows that 84 percent of pill users use Nova, Famila 28, or Lo Feminal. Rural women are more likely to use these brands than urban women (87 percent and 77 percent, respectively). Although there are many brands of condoms on the market, the most popular are Sathi and Touch (94 percent).

Table 7.8 Use of social marketing brand pills and condoms

Percentage of pill and condom users age 15-49 using a social marketing brand, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Among pil	lusers	Among condom users ¹			
Background characteristic	Percentage using Nova, Famila 28, or Lo Feminal	Number of women using the pill	Percentage using Sathi or Touch	Number of women using condoms		
Residence						
Urban	76.6	56	93.4	532		
Rural	87.0	117	94.1	427		
Region						
Punjab	(76.7)	63	93.9	622		
Sindh	85.8	50	95.3	192		
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	86.8	44	90.3	114		
Balochistan	96.8	13	98.8	17		
ICT Islamabad	*	1	85.4	12		
Gilgit Baltistan	(87.9)	2	(81.7)	2		
Total	83.6	173	93.7	959		

Note: Table excludes 31 pill users and 170 condom users who do not know the brand name. Condom use is based on women's reports. Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases. An asterisk indicates that a figure is based on fewer than 25 unweighted cases and has been suppressed. ¹ Among condom users not also using the pill

7.9 INFORMED CHOICE

Current users of modern methods who are informed of potential side effects and problems associated with different methods are best able to make an informed choice about the method they would like to use. Current users of various modern contraceptive methods who started the last episode of use within the five years preceding the survey were asked whether, at the time they adopted the particular method, they were informed about possible side effects or problems they might have with the method and what to do if they experienced side effects.

Table 7.9 shows that, overall, 34 percent of modern contraceptive users were informed by a health or family planning worker about potential side effects of the method they use, 28 percent were informed about what to do if they experienced side effects, and 28 percent were informed of other methods available that could be used.

Users were as likely to receive information about side effects or problems from the public sector (35 percent) as from the private sector (34 percent). They were slightly more likely to receive information

about what to do if they experienced side effects from public-sector sources (30 percent) than from privatesector sources (27 percent). Hospitals and clinics are the major source of information about side effects in the private sector (39 percent), whereas LHWs play a major role in the public sector (35 percent).

Table 7.9 Informed choice

Among current users of selected modern methods age 15-49 who started the last episode of use within the five years preceding the survey, the percentage who were informed about possible side effects or problems of that method, the percentage who were informed about what to do if they experienced side effects, and the percentage who were informed about other methods they could use, by method and initial source, Pakistan 2012-13

	Among women who started last episode of modern contraceptive method within five years preceding the survey:							
Method/source	Percentage who were informed about side effects or problems of method used	Percentage who were informed about what to do if experienced side effects	Percentage who were informed by a health or family planning worker of other methods that could be used	Number of women				
Method ¹								
Female sterilization Pill IUD Injectables	27.8 24.5 47.6 37.1	21.5 17.3 43.0 31.8	15.8 32.4 35.9 37.4	454 177 244 322				
Initial source of method ² Public sector Government hospital (RHSC) Family welfare center Lady health worker	34.8 31.8 (23.8) 34.9	29.8 27.4 (22.6) 26.8	29.7 24.7 (28.1) 47.4	679 449 20 121				
Private medical sector Private/NGO hospital/clinic Pharmacy, chemist Private doctor Dispensary/compounder	33.5 38.9 (16.8) (21.7) (7.6)	27.0 30.5 (16.2) (24.8) (6.6)	25.4 27.8 (11.4) (40.5) (4.4)	471 360 47 31 32				
Other private sector	27.4	21.8	43.2	44				
Total	33.9	28.1	28.2	1,205				

Note: Table includes users of only the methods listed individually. Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases.

¹ Total includes users of implants as there are too few users to show separately.

² Source at start of current episode of use; total include sources with too few users to show separately.

7.10 SIDE EFFECTS OF FAMILY PLANNING METHODS

Currently married women who were using a specific modern method of family planning (female sterilization, IUD, injectables, implants, or the pill) were asked whether they had experienced any side effects from their current method. Table 7.10 shows that one-fifth of women experienced side effects. Among these women, 37 percent had irregular menses or no menses, 30 percent had excessive bleeding, and 19 percent gained weight.

Forty-five percent of women who used injectables reported experiencing side effects, with 55 percent of these women complaining of irregular menses or no menses. More than half of IUD users reported having excessive bleeding. Rural women are more likely than urban women to report experiencing side effects. With the exception of Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, there are only small regional variations. There is no clear pattern in the reporting of side effects according to level of education, but there is a negative association between wealth quintile and side effects. Women in the lowest wealth quintile are more likely to report side effects than women in the higher quintiles.

Table 7.10 Side effects from use of family planning methods

Percentage of currently married women 15-49 using a modern method of family planning (includes female sterilization, IUD, injectables, implants, and pill) who ever experienced side effects from use of the current family planning method and, among those experienced side effects, the percentage of women by type of side effects, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

			ני		.5	
Percentage of women who ever experienced side effects	women using modern methods of family planning ¹	Weight gain/ obesity	Excessive bleeding	Irregular menses/no menses	Other ²	Number of women who ever experienced side effects
*	14	*	*	*	*	7
31.1	105	(7.6)	(39.2)	(51.9)	(39.6)	33
36.8	232	17.3	35.4	40.1	66.2	85
24.3	422	11.2	24.5	31.5	62.4	102
18.7	509	20.9	41.9	35.4	64.3	95
13.7	392	33.3	15.9	39.8	59.6	54
10.7	314	(37.7)	(11.8)	(27.4)	(59.5)	34
11.2	1,120	25.4	29.0	26.4	74.3	125
25.8	204	20.0	17.1	37.4	72.5	53
23.8	299	17.1	53.4	15.8	56.0	71
44.5	357	15.0	24.2	54.8	48.6	159
17.3	700	31.9	25.8	32.9	60.5	121
22.5	1,288	14.1	31.8	38.8	60.6	289
18.1	1,193	20.3	33.1	31.6	59.9	216
19.8	485	20.3	37.2	26.1	60.2	96
39.3	219	15.7	14.6	63.2	63.0	86
12.8	59	(25.6)	(31.4)	(41.2)	(56.0)	8
13.5	11	*	*	*	*	2
17.2	21	(4.2)	(29.4)	(22.6)	(54.5)	4
21.6	1,197	17.9	29.9	39.2	62.4	259
20.8	325	20.6	32.1	29.7	57.7	68
25.8	143	(17.5)	(38.9)	(35.3)	(59.9)	37
12.4	193	(27.9)	(20.4)	(39.3)	(55.9)	24
17.8	129	(25.2)	(21.1)	(34.9)	(54.6)	23
28.3	315	8.7	41.1	33.8	71.9	89
23.2	399	14.7	30.2	44.5	63.0	92
22.4	434	21.8	24.2	44.0	51.5	97
17.2	443	23.6	27.8	27.8	62.7	76
14.0	396	33.9	25.4	30.3	51.2	55
20.6	1.988	19.3	30.0	37.0	60.6	410
	* 31.1 36.8 24.3 18.7 13.7 10.7 11.2 25.8 23.8 44.5 17.3 22.5 18.1 19.8 39.3 12.8 13.5 17.2 21.6 20.8 25.8 12.4 17.8 28.3 23.2 22.4 17.2	* 14 31.1 105 36.8 232 24.3 422 18.7 509 13.7 392 10.7 314 11.2 1,120 25.8 204 23.8 299 44.5 357 17.3 700 22.5 1,288 18.1 1,193 19.8 485 39.3 219 12.8 59 13.5 11 17.2 21 21.6 1,197 20.8 325 25.8 143 12.4 193 17.8 129 28.3 315 23.2 399 22.4 434 17.2 443 14.0 396 20.6 1,988	* 14 * 31.1 105 (7.6) 36.8 232 17.3 24.3 422 11.2 18.7 509 20.9 13.7 392 33.3 10.7 314 (37.7) 11.2 1,120 25.4 25.8 204 20.0 23.8 299 17.1 44.5 357 15.0 17.3 700 31.9 22.5 1,288 14.1 18.1 1,193 20.3 19.8 485 20.3 39.3 219 15.7 12.8 59 (25.6) 13.5 11 * 17.2 21 (4.2) 21.6 1,197 17.9 20.8 325 20.6 25.8 143 (17.5) 12.4 193 (27.9) 17.8 129 (25.2) 28.3 315 8.7 23.2 399 14.7	Percentage of women who modern ever methods of family planning1Weight gain/ obesityExcessive bleeding $*$ 14 $*$ $*$ $*$ 31.1105(7.6)(39.2)36.823217.335.424.342211.224.518.750920.941.913.739233.315.910.7314(37.7)(11.8)11.21,12025.429.025.820420.017.123.829917.153.444.535715.024.217.370031.925.822.51,28814.131.818.11,19320.333.119.848520.337.239.321915.714.612.859(25.6)(31.4)13.511**17.221(4.2)(29.4)21.61,19717.929.920.832520.632.125.814.3(17.5)(38.9)12.4193(27.9)(20.4)17.812.9(25.2)(21.1)28.33158.741.123.239914.730.222.443421.824.217.244323.627.814.039633.925.420.61,98819.330.0	Percentage of women who ever methods of family planning1Irregular menses/no menses*14****31.1105(7.6)(39.2)(51.9)36.823217.335.440.124.342211.224.531.518.750920.941.935.413.739233.315.939.810.7314(37.7)(11.8)(27.4)11.21,12025.429.026.425.820420.017.137.423.829917.153.415.844.535715.024.254.817.370031.925.832.922.51,28814.131.838.818.11,19320.337.226.139.321915.714.663.212.859(25.6)(31.4)(41.2)13.511***17.221(4.2)(29.4)(22.6)21.61,19717.929.939.220.832520.632.129.725.8143(17.5)(38.9)(35.3)12.4193(27.9)(20.4)(39.3)17.8129(25.2)(21.1)(34.9)28.33158.741.133.823.239914.730.244.5 <trr< tr="">24.4<!--</td--><td>$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$</td></trr<>	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $

Note: Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases. An asterisk indicates that a figure is based on fewer than 25 unweighted cases and has been suppressed. Urban and rural disaggregation not shown for region due to few cases.

¹ Includes female sterilization, IUD, injectables, implants, and pill
 ² Other includes headache, nausea/dizziness, spotting, depression, and other symptoms.

³ Total includes 3 users of implants not shown separately.

7.11 TREATMENT FOR SIDE EFFECTS

Women who experienced side effects were asked whether they had been treated. Table 7.11 shows that more than half (56 percent) of women reported that they did not receive any treatment for side effects, while 38 percent received treatment from a skilled health provider (34 percent from a doctor). Differentials by background characteristics are not pronounced.

Of the women who received treatment for side effects, two-fifths were treated at public-sector facilities and three-fifths at private-sector or NGO facilities (Figure 7.2). Women in urban areas more often visit private-sector or NGO facilities, while women in rural areas are frequently treated at both public- and private-sector facilities. With respect to reasons for not seeking treatment, 49 percent of women reported that they did not consider it necessary; other reasons included "costs too much" (31 percent), "no time to go for treatment" (11 percent), "source is too far" or "no transport is available" (9 percent each), "no one to accompany" (6 percent), and "did not know where to go for treatment" (5 percent) (data not shown).

Table 7.11 Treatment for side effects

Percentage of women age 15-49 who experienced side effects from use of current method of family planning by treatment from a service provider, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Provider for side effects									
- Background characteristic	Doctor	Nurse/ midwife/Lady Health Visitor	Lady health worker	Dispenser/ compounder/ homeopath/ hakim	Other	Missing	Missing No one			
Age 15-19 20-24 25-29 20.24	* (32.6) 34.3	(2.8) 7.8 2.7	* (8.4) 0.3	* (2.6) 2.0 2.7	* (0.0) 0.0	* (0.0) 0.0	* (53.7) 55.9	7 33 85		
30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49	30.9 42.2 32.0 (19.7)	2.7 0.9 3.0 (6.3)	0.0 5.4 0.1 (6.9)	2.7 6.5 6.5 (3.2)	2.9 0.0 4.0 (0.0)	0.0 0.0 1.1 (0.0)	60.8 47.3 60.2 (69.6)	95 54 34		
Residence Urban Rural	37.8 31.7	3.3 4.5	1.7 2.9	3.5 4.1	0.1 1.8	0.5 0.0	56.3 56.4	121 289		
Region Punjab Sindh Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Balochistan ICT Islamabad Gilgit Baltistan	32.7 42.6 24.5 (43.1) * (32.1)	6.1 1.0 2.7 (4.1) * (7.6)	3.9 1.5 0.4 (3.0) * (1.0)	4.5 2.7 4.3 (2.6) * (0.3)	2.4 0.0 0.1 (0.0) * (0.7)	0.0 0.6 0.0 (0.0) * (0.0)	54.1 51.6 68.1 (48.7) * (59.3)	216 96 86 8 2 4		
Education No education Primary Middle Secondary Higher	34.0 26.9 (44.0) (25.9) (38.0)	2.0 7.7 (0.0) (6.3) (22.1)	3.4 0.0 (0.3) (0.0) (7.1)	4.3 4.6 (5.2) (0.0) (0.0)	1.2 3.1 (0.0) (0.0) (0.1)	0.0 0.0 (0.0) (0.0) (2.5)	57.3 60.7 (50.5) (67.8) (30.7)	259 68 37 24 23		
Wealth quintile Lowest Second Middle Fourth Highest Total	41.8 26.5 30.1 40.5 28.0 33.5	1.2 2.5 5.0 8.7 4.1 4.2	3.8 3.0 0.5 3.2 2.7 2.6	2.7 4.7 5.0 3.5 3.5 3.9	0.0 0.1 5.2 0.0 0.0 1.3	0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 0.1	52.2 65.4 56.4 47.2 60.7 56.4	89 92 97 76 55 410		

Note: Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases. An asterisk indicates that a figure is based on fewer than 25 unweighted cases and has been suppressed.





7.12 CONTRACEPTIVE DISCONTINUATION RATES

A major concern for family planning program managers is discontinuation of contraceptive use, either voluntarily or due to method failure. The "Calendar" section of the Woman's Questionnaire recorded all contraceptive use from 3-62 months prior to the survey. One-year contraceptive discontinuation rates based on the calendar data are presented in Table 7.12. Overall, 37 percent of contraceptive use episodes were discontinued within 12 months for any reason, 10 percent because of side effects or health concerns, 9 percent because the woman wanted to become pregnant, and 6 percent due to method failure.

Discontinuation rates vary according to method used. Injectables have the highest discontinuation rate (61 percent), followed by the pill (56 percent) and condoms (38 percent). Side effects or health concerns are the most often cited reason for stopping use of the pill, IUDs, and injectables.

Table 7.12 Twelve-month contraceptive discontinuation rates

Among women age 15-49 who started an episode of contraceptive use within the five years preceding the survey, the percentage of episodes discontinued within 12 months, by reason for discontinuation and specific method, Pakistan 2012-13

Method	Method failure	Desire to become pregnant	Other fertility- related reasons ²	Side effects/ health concerns	Wanted more effective method	Other method- related reasons ³	Other reasons	Any reason ⁴	Switched to another method⁵	Number of episodes of use ⁶
Pill	6.4	8.8	4.6	31.2	1.5	1.3	2.6	56.4	13.8	583
IUD	1.4	1.0	1.2	20.5	0.3	0.0	1.1	25.5	8.5	554
Injectables	1.7	7.4	3.8	35.1	1.5	4.3	6.9	60.7	16.5	1,010
Condom	7.4	12.3	1.8	3.2	1.9	4.9	6.3	37.8	5.7	1,970
Withdrawal	8.8	13.0	2.5	0.8	2.6	0.8	3.5	32.2	4.0	1,573
Other ¹	4.9	8.1	1.8	1.0	4.9	0.0	12.9	33.5	7.3	937
All methods	5.5	9.1	2.3	10.4	2.1	2.2	5.5	37.1	7.6	7,146

Note: Figures are based on life table calculations using information on episodes of use that began 3-62 months preceding the survey. Female sterilization is excluded as there are no failure cases.

¹ Includes LAM and implants not shown separately

² Includes infrequent sex/husband away, difficult to get pregnant/menopausal, and marital dissolution/separation

³ Includes lack of access/too far, costs too much, and inconvenient to use

⁴ Reasons for discontinuation are mutually exclusive and add to the total given in this column.

⁵ The episodes of use included in this column are a subset of the discontinued episodes included in the discontinuation rate. A woman is considered to have switched to another method if she used a different method in the month following discontinuation or if she gave "wanted a more effective method" as the reason for discontinuation and started another method within 2 months of discontinuation.

⁶ Number of episodes of use includes both episodes of use that were discontinued during the period of observation and episodes of use that were not discontinued during the period of observation.

7.13 REASONS FOR DISCONTINUATION OF CONTRACEPTIVE USE

Another perspective on discontinuation of modern contraceptive use is provided in Table 7.13, which shows the percent distribution of contraceptive use discontinuation in the five years preceding the survey by reason, according to method. The most common reason for discontinuing a method is desire to become pregnant (34 percent), followed by side effects or health concerns (22 percent) and becoming pregnant while using (16 percent).

Data in Table 7.13 confirm what was presented in Table 7.12: the reason most often cited for discontinuing use of the pill, IUDs, and injectables is side effects or health concerns (45 percent, 64 percent, and 53 percent, respectively).

Table 7.13 Reasons for discontinuation

Percent distribution of discontinuations of contraceptive methods in the five years preceding the survey by main reason stated for discontinuation, according to specific method, Pakistan 2012-13

					Lactational		With-	All
Reason	Pill	IUD	Injectables	Condom	amenorrhea	Rhythm	drawal	methods
Became pregnant while using	12.9	3.2	4.8	20.4	17.3	13.0	25.4	16.2
Wanted to become pregnant	23.5	18.3	18.2	43.9	27.0	53.6	46.6	33.7
Husband disapproved	0.4	1.1	1.5	6.6	0.0	8.9	3.5	3.2
Wanted a more effective								
method	3.5	1.5	2.7	3.7	15.4	8.6	7.1	5.4
Side effects/health concerns	45.3	63.7	53.1	7.1	1.5	0.0	2.6	22.0
Lack of access/too far	2.1	0.0	4.1	3.0	0.2	0.0	0.3	1.9
Cost too much	0.0	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.2
Inconvenient to use	0.3	2.1	1.0	4.2	0.8	0.0	1.4	2.0
Up to God/fatalistic	1.0	0.3	0.3	0.6	15.2	5.7	1.2	2.5
Difficult to get pregnant/								
menopausal	0.8	1.8	0.9	0.8	4.4	0.0	0.5	1.2
Infrequent sex/husband away	6.0	2.2	3.6	4.6	1.8	1.7	6.3	4.3
Marital dissolution/separation	0.0	0.0	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1
Other	1.1	4.5	3.9	1.1	14.0	0.0	1.2	3.4
Don't know	0.5	0.0	0.5	0.2	0.7	0.0	0.2	0.3
Missing	2.5	0.9	4.8	3.5	1.6	8.3	3.6	3.6
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Number of discontinuations	498	404	819	1,434	552	94	974	4,841

Note: Total includes 66 women who reported discontinuation while using other method not shown separately.

7.14 KNOWLEDGE OF FERTILE PERIOD

An elementary knowledge of reproductive physiology provides a useful background for successful practice of coitus-related methods such as the rhythm method. The successful use of such methods depends in part on an understanding of when, during the ovulatory cycle, a woman is most likely to conceive. In the 2012-13 PDHS, respondents were asked "From one menstrual period to the next, are there certain days when a woman is more likely to get pregnant if she has sexual relations?" If the answer was yes, they were further asked whether that time was just before her menstrual period begins, during her period, right after her period has ended, or halfway between two periods.

Table 7.14 shows that correct knowledge of the fertile period is negligible among Pakistani women, regardless whether they report themselves as current users of the rhythm method. Only 4 percent of women correctly responded that a woman is most likely to conceive halfway between her menstrual periods; 30 percent believe that the fertile period is right after a woman's period has ended, 38 percent think that there is no specific fertile time, and 23 percent do not know when the fertile period falls.

Table 7.14 Knowledge of fertile period

Percent distribution of ever-married women age 15-49 by knowledge of the fertile period during the ovulatory cycle, according to current use of the rhythm method, and percent distribution of ever-married men age 15-49 by knowledge of the fertile period during the ovulatory cycle of women, according to ever use of rhythm method, Pakistan 2012-13

		Women			Men			
Perceived fertile period	Current users of rhythm method	Nonusers of rhythm method	All women	Ever users of rhythm method	Nonusers of rhythm method	All men		
Just before her menstrual period begins	8.3	2.6	2.6	3.0	4.2	4.0		
During her menstrual period	5.4	2.9	2.9	0.1	0.6	0.6		
Right after her menstrual								
period has ended	58.7	29.6	29.8	69.2	38.8	42.7		
Halfway between two								
menstrual periods	4.7	4.0	4.0	10.1	6.3	6.8		
Other	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0		
No specific time	8.8	38.0	37.8	9.0	22.3	20.5		
Don't know	14.1	22.5	22.5	8.6	27.8	25.3		
Missing	0.0	0.3	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0		
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0		
Number	86	13,472	13,558	408	2,726	3,134		

Table 7.14 also shows that 7 percent of men have correct knowledge of the fertile period. Men who have ever used the rhythm method are only slightly more likely than men who have never used the method to provide the correct answer (10 percent and 6 percent, respectively).

7.15 NEED AND DEMAND FOR FAMILY PLANNING SERVICES

Data in this section provide information on the extent of need and potential demand for family planning services in Pakistan. The definition of unmet need for family planning has been revised so that levels of unmet need are comparable over time and across surveys (Bradley et al., 2012). In the past, the definition of unmet need was based on information from the contraceptive calendar and other questions that were not included in every survey. Previous PDHS surveys did not use the calendar. The revised definition uses only information that has been collected in every survey so that unmet need can be measured in the same way over time.¹

Unmet need for family planning refers to fecund women who are not using contraception but who wish to postpone their next birth (spacing) or stop childbearing altogether (limiting). Specifically, women are considered to have an unmet need for spacing if they are:

- At risk of becoming pregnant, not using contraception, and either do not want to become pregnant within the next two years or are unsure if or when they want to become pregnant.
- Pregnant with a mistimed pregnancy.
- Postpartum amenorrheic for up to two years following a mistimed birth and not using contraception.

Women are considered to have an unmet need for limiting if they are:

- At risk of becoming pregnant, not using contraception, and want no (more) children.
- Pregnant with an unwanted pregnancy.
- Postpartum amenorrheic for up to two years following an unwanted birth and not using contraception.

Women who are classified as infecund have no unmet need because they are not at risk of becoming pregnant.

Women who are using contraception are considered to have a met need. Women using contraception who say they want no (more) children are considered to have a met need for limiting, and women who are using contraception and say they want to delay having a child or are unsure if or when they want a (another) child are considered to have a met need for spacing.

Unmet need, total demand, percentage of demand satisfied, and percentage of demand satisfied by modern methods are defined as follows:

- Unmet need: the sum of unmet need for spacing and unmet need for limiting
- Total demand for family planning: the sum of unmet need and total contraceptive use

¹ Unlike the 2012-13 PDHS, the 1990-91 and 2006-07 PDHS surveys did not include the calendar in the Woman's Questionnaire. In the PDHS, all currently married women, regardless of their sexual activity, were assumed to be exposed to the risk of pregnancy. Questions on recent sexual activity were not asked in the 1990-91 and 2006-07 PDHS surveys.

- **Percentage of demand satisfied:** total contraceptive use divided by the sum of unmet need and total contraceptive use (any method)
- **Percentage of demand satisfied by modern methods:** total modern contraceptive use divided by the sum of unmet need and total contraceptive use (any method)

Table 7.15 presents information on unmet need, met need, and total demand for family planning among currently married women according to whether the need or demand is for spacing or limiting births. Overall, 20 percent of currently married women have an unmet need for family planning, 9 percent have an unmet need for spacing, and 11 percent have an unmet need for limiting births. Thirty-five percent of women have a met need for family planning or are using a contraceptive method. If all currently married women who say they want to space or limit their children were to use a family planning method, the CPR would increase to 56 percent. Of the total demand for family planning methods, 64 percent is met by using any method and 47 percent is met by using modern methods.

Table 7.15 Need and demand for family planning among currently married women

Percentage of currently married women age 15-49 with unmet need for family planning, percentage with met need for family planning, the total demand for family planning, and the percentage of the demand for contraception that is satisfied, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Unmet ne	ed for family	/ planning	Met need (cu	d for family p urrently usin	planning g)	Total	demand for planning ¹	family	- Percentage	Percentage of demand satisfied by	
Background characteristic	For spacing	For limiting	Total	For spacing	For limiting	Total	For spacing	For limiting	Total	of demand satisfied ²	modern methods ³	Number of women
Age 15-19	14.6	0.3	14.9	9.6	0.7	10.3	24.2	1.0	25.2	41.0	27.3	594
20-24 25-29	18.2 13.5	2.4 8.6	20.6 22.1	16.3 16.5	5.1 14.8	21.3 31.2	34.5 30.0	7.5 23.4	41.9 53.4	50.9 58.5	35.5 39.3	2,053 2,663
30-34 35-39 40-44	8.9 3.4 1 1	12.5 17.7 18.5	21.4 21.2 19.7	10.2 4.6	31.5 43.3 43.2	41.7 47.9	19.1 8.0 2.1	44.0 61.0 61.8	63.0 69.0 63.8	66.1 69.3	49.8 53.0 52.1	2,454 2,137 1,617
45-49	0.8	13.5	14.3	0.3	34.2	34.5	1.1	47.7	48.8	70.7	55.0	1,419
Residence Urban Rural	7.6 9.4	9.5 12.1	17.1 21.6	12.9 7.4	31.9 23.3	44.8 30.7	20.5 16.8	41.4 35.4	61.9 52.3	72.4 58.8	51.7 44.3	4,304 8,633
Region Punjab Urban Rural	7.4 7.3 7.4	10.3 9.3 10.8	17.7 16.6 18.2	10.2 12.1 9.3	30.5 34.7 28.4	40.7 46.9 37.7	17.6 19.4 16.7	40.8 44.0 39.2	58.3 63.5 55.9	69.7 73.8 67.5	49.7 50.8 49.1	7,374 2,402 4,972
Sindh Urban Rural	10.1 7.3 12.7	10.7 9.1 12.1	20.8 16.5 24.7	8.5 14.5 3.1	20.9 28.3 14.2	29.5 42.7 17.4	18.7 21.8 15.8	31.6 37.4 26.3	50.3 59.2 42.1	58.6 72.2 41.3	48.6 55.0 40.5	3,002 1,432 1,570
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Urban Rural	9.0 9.1 9.0	16.5 12.8 17.3	25.5 21.8 26.2	6.5 12.0 5.3	21.6 32.0 19.6	28.1 44.0 24.9	15.4 21.1 14.3	38.1 44.7 36.8	53.6 65.8 51.1	52.4 66.8 48.7	36.4 46.2 33.9	1,855 308 1,547
Balochistan Urban Rural	20.7 14.1 22.3	10.5 10.4 10.5	31.2 24.5 32.8	8.6 11.0 8.0	10.9 13.3 10.2	19.5 24.4 18.2	29.3 25.1 30.3	21.3 23.8 20.7	50.6 48.9 51.1	38.4 49.8 35.7	32.3 42.7 29.8	553 110 443
ICT Islamabad	5.1	7.3	12.5	17.9	41.5	59.4	23.0	48.9	71.9	82.7	61.3	62
Gilgit Baltistan	10.9	9.8	20.7	8.3	25.4	33.6	19.2	35.1	54.3	61.9	51.9	91
Education No education Primary Middle Secondary Higher	8.1 10.6 10.0 9.7 8.1	13.7 8.5 10.3 7.0 6.6	21.9 19.1 20.2 16.7 14.6	5.7 11.1 13.3 15.6 17.4	24.6 29.8 27.4 28.3 26.4	30.2 40.8 40.7 43.9 43.8	13.8 21.7 23.3 25.4 25.5	38.3 38.2 37.7 35.3 33.0	52.1 59.9 60.9 60.6 58.5	58.0 68.1 66.8 72.5 75.0	44.9 48.0 48.3 51.2 50.8	7,347 2,057 958 1,351 1,225
Wealth quintile Lowest Second Middle Fourth Highest Total	10.3 10.0 8.2 9.0 6.7 8.8	14.2 13.2 10.8 9.8 8.6 11.3	24.5 23.2 19.0 18.8 15.3 20.1	4.9 7.4 8.1 12.0 13.4 9.2	15.9 22.2 30.1 29.5 32.4 26.2	20.8 29.7 38.2 41.5 45.8 35.4	15.2 17.5 16.3 21.0 20.0 18.1	30.1 35.4 40.9 39.3 41.0 37.4	45.4 52.9 57.1 60.3 61.1 55.5	45.9 56.1 66.8 68.8 75.0 63.8	40.0 43.3 47.1 50.2 51.8 47.0	2,501 2,533 2,550 2,677 2,676 12,937

¹ Total demand is the sum of unmet need and met need.

² Percentage of demand satisfied is met need divided by total demand.

³ Modern methods include female sterilization, male sterilization, pill, IUD, injectables, implants, male condom, and lactational amenorrhea method (LAM).

Unmet need for family planning rises with age from 15 percent among women age 15-19 to 22 percent among women age 25-29 and decreases thereafter. Unmet need is higher in rural than in urban areas. Urban-rural variations at the regional level show a similar pattern. Unmet need is highest in Balochistan (31 percent) and lowest in ICT Islamabad (13 percent). In addition, unmet need is highest among women with no education (22 percent) and lowest among those with more than a secondary education (15 percent). Unmet need decreases with increasing wealth, from 25 percent in the lowest wealth quintile to 15 percent in the highest quintile.

Demand for family planning is highest among women age 35-39 (69 percent) and lowest among women age 15-19 (25 percent). Urban women have a higher demand of family planning (62 percent) than their rural counterparts (52 percent). A similar pattern is seen by urban and rural residence at the regional level. As expected, demand for family planning is highest in ICT Islamabad (72 percent), while the demand ranges between 50 percent and 58 percent in the other regions. Demand for family planning services increases with increasing education and wealth quintile. For example, it is 52 percent among women with no education and 61 percent among women with a secondary education. Women age 45-49; those who live in urban areas, ICT Islamabad, and Punjab; those with a higher education; and those in the highest wealth quintile have the highest satisfied demand for modern methods.

The population policy of Pakistan focuses on strengthening the management and supply of family planning methods to minimize unmet need for family planning services. Figure 7.3 shows that the level of unmet need in Pakistan has decreased from 25 percent in 2006-07 to 20 percent in 2012-13.² Furthermore, although the total demand for family planning has not increased substantially over the period, the proportion of total demand satisfied has increased from 54 percent in 2006-07 to 64 percent in 2012-13. Demand generation and awareness campaigns need to be further streamlined and improved to address the missing links between supply and demand (MOPW, 2002).





Percent

Note: Estimates are based on the revised definition of unmet need.

 $^{^{2}}$ All of the unmet need estimates in Figure 7.3 have been recalculated using the revised definition of unmet need and may differ slightly from figures published in the final reports for each previous survey.

7.16 FUTURE USE OF CONTRACEPTION

An important indicator of the changing demand for family planning is the extent to which nonusers of contraception plan to use family planning in the future. In the 2012-13 PDHS, currently married women age 15-49 who were not using a contraceptive method were asked about their intention to use family planning in the future. The results are presented in Table 7.16.

Thirty-nine percent of currently married women who reported not using any family planning methods said that they intend to use a family planning method in the future; 44 percent have no intention to use contraception, and 17 percent are unsure. The proportion of women who intend to use contraception increases with increasing number of living children, from 35 percent among those with no children to 45 percent among those with two children. Thereafter, the percentage decreases slightly to 42 percent among women with three children and 35 percent among women with four or more children.

Whereas the proportion of women who do not intend to use family planning methods has not changed since 2006-07 (44 and 43 percent, respectively), the proportion of women who do intend to use family planning has decreased by 11 percentage points (50 and 39 percent, respectively). At the same time, indecisive attitudes among women have more than doubled; the proportion of women who are unsure has increased from 7 percent in 2006-07 to 17 percent in 2012-13.

Table 7.16 Future use of contraception

Percent distribution of currently married women age 15-49 who are not using a contraceptive method by intention to use in the future, according to number of living children, Pakistan 2012-13

Intention to use	_	Number of living children ¹								
in the future	0	1	2	3	4+	Total				
Intends to use	34.8	44.2	44.9	42.0	34.8	39.2				
Unsure	27.9	19.3	15.3	11.9	12.4	16.5				
Does not intend to use	37.2	36.4	39.7	45.4	52.4	44.1				
Missing	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.7	0.4	0.3				
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0				
Number of women	1,310	1,520	1,350	1,182	2,994	8,356				
¹ Includes current pregnancy										

7.17 EXPOSURE TO FAMILY PLANNING MESSAGES

Information on the level of public exposure to a particular type of media allows family planning program managers to assess the most effective media for various target groups in the population. To gauge the effectiveness of such media in disseminating family planning information, respondents in the 2012-13 PDHS were asked whether they had heard or seen a family planning message on the radio or television or in newspapers or magazines in the past few months preceding the survey.

Table 7.17 shows that 74 percent of ever-married women and 48 percent of ever-married men were not exposed to family planning messages through any of the specified media. A small percentage (3 percent) of women and 14 percent of men heard family planning messages on the radio. Men were twice as likely (49 percent) as women (25 percent) to have been exposed to family planning messages through television. Not surprisingly, men were much more likely to see messages in print media than women (22 percent and 4 percent, respectively).

There is a sharp urban-rural contrast in exposure to family planning messages through television and print media. For example, 34 percent of women in urban areas are exposed to family planning messages through television, as compared with 20 percent of rural women. The corresponding percentages among men are 60 percent and 42 percent. Exposure of women and men to family planning messages through the media varies by region. For instance, 45 percent of women and 36 percent of men in ICT Islamabad are not exposed to any of the media, as compared with 9 in 10 women and 8 in 10 men in Gilgit Baltistan. Exposure to family planning messages through all types of media increases with increasing education and wealth quintile. Overall, women were less likely to be exposed to media messages through radio (3 percent versus 11 percent) and television (25 percent versus 40 percent) in 2012-13 than in 2006-07.

Table 7.17 Exposure to family planning messages

Percentage of ever-married women age 15-49 and ever-married men age 15-49 who heard or saw a family planning message on radio, on television, or in a newspaper or magazine in the past few months, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

					Men				
Radio	Television	Newspaper/ magazine	None of these three media sources	Number of women	Radio	Television	Newspaper/ magazine	None of these three media sources	Number of men
2.9	18.5	2.5	80.8	605	(13.9)	(37.6)	(19.3)	(59.3)	36
3.3	24.8	4.9	73.8	2,106	` 9.1	40.1 [´]	`17.2 [´]	`55.8 [´]	219
2.7	26.2	4.7	72.4	2,724	12.2	41.4	17.5	55.8	521
3.1	27.3	5.4	71.2	2,528	14.2	48.2	22.6	48.2	646
2.9	25.1	3.6	74.1	2,226	13.0	54.4	26.8	41.4	588
2.5	24.2	4.5	75.1	1,766	17.1	57.4	21.9	37.9	530
2.2	20.4	2.4	79.0	1,602	15.0	44.8	20.2	50.1	594
3.5	34.1	7.5	64.8	4,536	13.0	59.7	28.4	37.0	1,107
2.5	20.0	2.6	78.9	9,022	14.4	42.3	17.8	53.2	2,027
2.1	27.4	4.5	71.6	7,790	15.3	55.9	21.4	41.1	1,804
3.0	25.2	3.6	74.1	3,133	13.4	38.2	21.0	57.1	796
4.6	15.7	4.0	82.1	1,908	11.0	44.1	28.0	47.9	347
5.8	15.1	4.0	83.0	568	7.4	27.1	11.7	68.6	151
5.5	53.4	16.2	44.8	64	20.8	56.5	28.8	35.6	18
1.3	7.6	2.5	91.4	94	2.6	17.0	8.4	80.3	18
1.8	15.6	0.3	83.7	7,736	10.7	27.8	1.5	68.8	905
2.5	29.2	3.8	69.9	2,156	12.6	46.2	14.5	51.6	657
3.0	30.5	6.8	67.3	993	14.3	58.2	22.4	36.4	525
4.4	42.1	11.9	55.9	1,413	17.9	57.7	35.4	37.4	557
7.9	48.8	19.0	48.6	1,260	16.5	68.9	51.4	25.8	491
1.4	7.9	0.5	91.3	2,589	12.7	19.6	8.7	74.2	607
1.9	16.2	1.2	82.6	2,676	15.9	38.3	16.8	56.2	574
2.9	25.0	2.7	73.9	2,700	14.3	53.3	19.2	44.2	567
3.3	32.0	4.8	66.9	2,789	13.4	61.5	25.9	34.5	713
4.5	40.9	11.7	57.7	2,804	13.4	65.3	34.7	32.3	673
2.8	24.7	4.3	74.2	13,558	13.9	48.5	21.6	47.5	3,134
	Radio 2.9 3.3 2.7 3.1 2.9 2.5 2.2 3.5 2.5 2.1 3.0 4.6 5.8 5.5 1.3 1.8 2.5 3.0 4.4 7.9 1.4 1.9 2.9 3.3 4.5 2.8	Radio Television 2.9 18.5 3.3 24.8 2.7 26.2 3.1 27.3 2.9 25.1 2.5 24.2 2.2 20.4 3.5 34.1 2.5 20.0 2.1 27.4 3.0 25.2 4.6 15.7 5.8 15.1 5.5 53.4 1.3 7.6 1.8 15.6 2.5 29.2 3.0 30.5 4.4 42.1 7.9 48.8 1.4 7.9 1.9 16.2 2.9 25.0 3.3 32.0 4.5 40.9 2.8 24.7	RadioTelevisionNewspaper/ magazine2.918.52.53.324.84.92.726.24.73.127.35.42.925.13.62.524.24.52.220.42.43.534.17.52.520.02.62.127.44.53.025.23.64.615.74.05.553.416.21.37.62.51.815.60.32.529.23.83.030.56.84.442.111.97.948.819.01.47.90.51.916.21.22.925.02.73.332.04.84.540.911.72.824.74.3	Radio Television Newspaper/ magazine Television sources 2.9 18.5 2.5 80.8 3.3 24.8 4.9 73.8 2.7 26.2 4.7 72.4 3.1 27.3 5.4 71.2 2.9 25.1 3.6 74.1 2.5 24.2 4.5 75.1 2.2 20.4 2.4 79.0 3.5 34.1 7.5 64.8 2.5 20.0 2.6 78.9 2.1 27.4 4.5 71.6 3.0 25.2 3.6 74.1 4.6 15.7 4.0 82.1 5.8 15.1 4.0 83.0 5.5 53.4 16.2 44.8 1.3 7.6 2.5 91.4 1.8 15.6 0.3 83.7 2.5 29.2 3.8 69.9 3.0 30.5 6.8 67.3	None of these three mediaRadioTelevisionNewspaper/ magazineNumber of sources2.918.52.580.86053.324.84.973.82,1062.726.24.772.42,7243.127.35.471.22,5282.925.13.674.12,2262.524.24.575.11,7662.220.42.479.01,6023.534.17.564.84,5362.520.02.678.99,0222.127.44.571.67,7903.025.23.674.13,1334.615.74.083.05685.553.416.244.8641.37.62.591.4941.815.60.383.77,7362.529.23.869.92,1563.030.56.867.39934.442.111.955.91,4137.948.819.048.61,2601.47.90.591.32,5891.916.21.282.62,6762.925.02.773.92,7003.332.04.866.92,7894.540.911.757.72,8042.824.74.374.213,558	None of these three Number of women Radio 2.9 18.5 2.5 80.8 605 (13.9) 3.3 24.8 4.9 73.8 2,106 9.1 2.7 26.2 4.7 72.4 2,724 12.2 3.1 27.3 5.4 71.2 2,528 14.2 2.9 25.1 3.6 74.1 2,226 13.0 2.5 24.2 4.5 75.1 1,766 17.1 2.2 20.4 2.4 79.0 1,602 15.0 3.5 34.1 7.5 64.8 4,536 13.0 2.5 20.0 2.6 78.9 9,022 14.4 2.1 27.4 4.5 71.6 7,790 15.3 3.0 25.2 3.6 74.1 3,133 13.4 4.6 15.7 4.0 83.0 568 7.4 5.5 53.4 16.2 44.8 64 20.8 <td>None of these three mediaNumber of womenNumber of RadioTelevision2.918.52.580.8605$(13.9)$$(37.6)$3.324.84.973.82,1069.140.12.726.24.772.42,72412.241.43.127.35.471.22,52814.248.22.925.13.674.12,22613.054.42.524.24.575.11,76617.157.42.220.42.479.01,60215.044.83.534.17.564.84,53613.059.72.520.02.678.99,02214.442.32.127.44.571.67,79015.355.93.025.23.674.13,13313.438.24.615.74.082.11,90811.044.15.815.14.083.05687.427.15.553.416.244.86420.856.51.37.62.591.4942.617.01.815.60.383.77,73610.727.82.529.23.869.92,15612.646.23.030.56.867.399314.358.24.442.111.955.91,41317.957.77.948.8</td> <td>None of these three Number of sources Number of women Radio Television Newspaper/magazine 2.9 18.5 2.5 80.8 605 (13.9) (37.6) (19.3) 3.3 24.8 4.9 73.8 2,106 9.1 40.1 17.2 2.7 26.2 4.7 72.4 2,724 12.2 41.4 17.5 3.1 27.3 5.4 71.2 2,528 14.2 48.2 22.6 2.9 25.1 3.6 74.1 2,226 13.0 54.4 20.8 2.2 20.4 2.4 79.0 1,602 15.0 44.8 20.2 3.5 34.1 7.5 64.8 4,536 13.0 59.7 28.4 2.5 20.0 2.6 78.9 9,022 14.4 42.3 17.8 2.1 27.4 4.5 71.6 7,790 15.3 55.9 21.4 3.0 25.2 3.6 <td< td=""><td>None of these three Number of sources Number of women Radio Television Newspaper/ magazine Number of sources Number of women Newspaper/ Radio Newspaper/ Television Newspaper/ magazine Newspaper/ sources 2.9 18.5 2.5 80.8 605 (13.9) (37.6) (19.3) (59.3) 3.3 24.8 4.9 73.8 2.106 9.1 40.1 17.2 55.8 2.7 26.2 4.7 72.4 2.724 12.2 41.4 17.5 55.8 3.1 27.3 5.4 71.1 2.528 14.2 48.2 22.6 48.2 2.9 25.1 3.6 74.1 2.226 13.0 54.4 26.8 41.4 2.5 20.0 2.6 78.9 9.022 14.4 42.3 17.8 53.2 2.1 27.4 4.5 71.6 7.790 15.3 55.9 21.4 41.1 3.0 25.2 3.6 74.1</td></td<></td>	None of these three mediaNumber of womenNumber of RadioTelevision2.918.52.580.8605 (13.9) (37.6) 3.324.84.973.82,1069.140.12.726.24.772.42,72412.241.43.127.35.471.22,52814.248.22.925.13.674.12,22613.054.42.524.24.575.11,76617.157.42.220.42.479.01,60215.044.83.534.17.564.84,53613.059.72.520.02.678.99,02214.442.32.127.44.571.67,79015.355.93.025.23.674.13,13313.438.24.615.74.082.11,90811.044.15.815.14.083.05687.427.15.553.416.244.86420.856.51.37.62.591.4942.617.01.815.60.383.77,73610.727.82.529.23.869.92,15612.646.23.030.56.867.399314.358.24.442.111.955.91,41317.957.77.948.8	None of these three Number of sources Number of women Radio Television Newspaper/magazine 2.9 18.5 2.5 80.8 605 (13.9) (37.6) (19.3) 3.3 24.8 4.9 73.8 2,106 9.1 40.1 17.2 2.7 26.2 4.7 72.4 2,724 12.2 41.4 17.5 3.1 27.3 5.4 71.2 2,528 14.2 48.2 22.6 2.9 25.1 3.6 74.1 2,226 13.0 54.4 20.8 2.2 20.4 2.4 79.0 1,602 15.0 44.8 20.2 3.5 34.1 7.5 64.8 4,536 13.0 59.7 28.4 2.5 20.0 2.6 78.9 9,022 14.4 42.3 17.8 2.1 27.4 4.5 71.6 7,790 15.3 55.9 21.4 3.0 25.2 3.6 <td< td=""><td>None of these three Number of sources Number of women Radio Television Newspaper/ magazine Number of sources Number of women Newspaper/ Radio Newspaper/ Television Newspaper/ magazine Newspaper/ sources 2.9 18.5 2.5 80.8 605 (13.9) (37.6) (19.3) (59.3) 3.3 24.8 4.9 73.8 2.106 9.1 40.1 17.2 55.8 2.7 26.2 4.7 72.4 2.724 12.2 41.4 17.5 55.8 3.1 27.3 5.4 71.1 2.528 14.2 48.2 22.6 48.2 2.9 25.1 3.6 74.1 2.226 13.0 54.4 26.8 41.4 2.5 20.0 2.6 78.9 9.022 14.4 42.3 17.8 53.2 2.1 27.4 4.5 71.6 7.790 15.3 55.9 21.4 41.1 3.0 25.2 3.6 74.1</td></td<>	None of these three Number of sources Number of women Radio Television Newspaper/ magazine Number of sources Number of women Newspaper/ Radio Newspaper/ Television Newspaper/ magazine Newspaper/ sources 2.9 18.5 2.5 80.8 605 (13.9) (37.6) (19.3) (59.3) 3.3 24.8 4.9 73.8 2.106 9.1 40.1 17.2 55.8 2.7 26.2 4.7 72.4 2.724 12.2 41.4 17.5 55.8 3.1 27.3 5.4 71.1 2.528 14.2 48.2 22.6 48.2 2.9 25.1 3.6 74.1 2.226 13.0 54.4 26.8 41.4 2.5 20.0 2.6 78.9 9.022 14.4 42.3 17.8 53.2 2.1 27.4 4.5 71.6 7.790 15.3 55.9 21.4 41.1 3.0 25.2 3.6 74.1

Tables 7.18.1 and 7.18.2 show the percentages of ever-married women and men age 15-49 who have heard or seen a family planning message on the radio or television or in a newspaper or magazine in the past few months according to type of message received and background characteristics.

Table 17.8.1 shows that women have most often heard, seen, or read messages about having less children for a more prosperous life (43 percent), followed by messages about birth spacing (38 percent) and messages promoting the use of contraceptives (30 percent).

The results for men differed from those for women. Table 7.18.2 shows that 67 percent of men heard, saw, or read messages about limiting family size, 52 percent were exposed to messages about birth spacing, and 29 percent were exposed to messages about the welfare of the family. Differentials by women's and men's background characteristics are not notable.

Table 7.18.1 Exposure to specific family planning messages: Women

Percentage of ever-married women age 15-49 who heard or saw a family planning message on radio, on television, or in a newspaper or magazine in the past few months by type of message received, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

				Use		Maternal	Less children mean	More children mean poverty	Importance	
Background characteristic	Limiting the family	Late marriage	Spacing children	contra- ceptives	Welfare of family	and child health	prosperous life	and starvation	of breast- feeding	Number of women
Age										
15-19	16.9	4.6	45.0	32.7	8.6	32.3	37.6	3.8	0.8	116
20-24	18.1	5.4	38.7	31.2	9.6	23.8	36.6	2.1	5.3	551
25-29	24.4	5.9	43.0	30.5	6.3	26.4	43.8	3.8	6.0	753
30-34	28.8	6.4	36.6	29.2	7.5	20.4	42.7	3.8	2.7	729
35-39	24.4	6.6	34.1	26.4	7.5	25.3	52.7	3.4	4.4	577
40-44	27.1	5.2	39.1	30.1	5.7	22.8	42.6	3.7	3.1	440
45-49	18.9	5.6	34.9	30.4	8.1	22.9	42.2	8.1	7.2	337
Residence										
Urban	22.8	6.3	35.0	24.7	9.0	22.1	45.6	3.4	3.6	1,597
Rural	24.8	5.6	41.1	33.8	6.1	25.6	41.5	4.3	5.3	1,907
Region										
Punjab	22.8	2.7	38.1	29.5	3.8	22.0	45.1	2.9	4.0	2,209
Sindh	25.2	9.5	39.9	37.1	14.4	25.0	35.6	5.0	2.2	812
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	23.8	10.3	36.3	17.3	8.7	30.4	49.4	6.1	12.2	342
Balochistan	30.2	31.7	40.0	16.5	22.1	32.6	43.7	9.1	9.1	97
ICT Islamabad	42.2	4.6	30.0	23.0	17.3	31.5	53.1	3.9	1.8	35
Gilgit Baltistan	38.7	15.5	29.2	28.3	15.7	50.2	53.2	6.1	3.6	8
Education										
No education	20.1	6.3	39.6	31.2	6.1	22.8	36.8	3.7	4.8	1,260
Primary	23.4	3.7	37.1	30.7	5.8	21.0	42.8	3.9	4.3	649
Middle	25.2	5.2	41.3	31.1	8.5	33.1	45.4	3.9	6.5	325
Secondary	26.6	5.7	36.9	26.4	8.2	24.0	49.5	3.9	4.4	623
Higher	28.5	8.0	36.8	28.2	10.3	24.6	49.9	4.2	3.3	647
Wealth quintile										
Lowest	21.9	5.7	39.7	33.8	8.0	25.3	37.8	6.9	2.1	225
Second	18.7	8.1	40.8	34.0	6.3	29.2	40.0	5.1	7.9	465
Middle	24.2	5.4	41.0	33.3	4.3	22.7	37.8	2.0	5.2	706
Fourth	25.3	4.8	38.1	31.7	7.7	24.9	43.1	4.4	4.6	922
Highest	25.1	6.2	35.6	23.4	9.4	21.7	49.3	3.5	3.2	1,185
Total	23.9	5.9	38.3	29.7	7.4	24.0	43.4	3.9	4.5	3,504

Table 7.18.2 Exposure to specific family planning messages: Men

Percentage of ever-married men age 15-49 who heard or saw a family planning message on radio, on television, or in a newspaper or magazine in the past few months by type of message received, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

family	Late marriage	Spacing children	Use contra- ceptives	Welfare of family	Maternal and child health	mean prosperous life	poverty and starvation	Importance of breast- feeding	Number of men
*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	15
55.7	3.4	48.5	8.8	18.8	6.3	28.8	3.1	0.0	97
54.1	6.6	56.3	13.1	23.8	17.1	19.8	2.2	3.4	230
68.6	10.7	55.9	13.0	31.0	8.9	16.1	3.0	0.5	335
74.7	8.8	53.9	15.9	29.7	11.5	15.9	2.9	1.3	344
65.7	4.4	48.9	9.2	32.5	11.9	21.6	6.6	0.8	329
70.8	10.6	44.5	20.3	30.1	10.1	20.5	1.3	1.9	297
70.5	12.5	52.0	15.4	31.2	11.9	18.3	3.1	0.6	698
64.2	4.8	51.5	12.8	27.7	10.9	19.7	3.3	1.9	949
69.2	9.4	62.1	11.8	27.0	8.0	17.3	3.7	0.3	1,062
65.9	3.5	36.6	18.9	31.4	13.7	27.9	1.9	0.3	341
57.0	6.7	20.6	14.0	33.6	22.9	15.7	3.7	8.7	181
65.8	17.8	52.3	21.7	45.0	24.4	12.2	2.1	2.7	47
51.6	6.3	32.3	19.3	27.3	14.4	13.0	3.3	6.7	11
46.8	0.0	47.1	19.2	35.7	14.9	12.6	1.2	0.0	4
62.5	3.4	48.5	11.3	24.2	7.3	16.4	5.5	1.4	282
61.7	8.3	52.6	9.6	26.7	9.7	23.3	4.6	1.0	318
63.6	5.0	52.9	12.3	27.0	7.0	21.4	1.3	1.1	334
78.9	14.5	56.3	15.6	31.3	13.3	19.2	1.6	0.9	349
66.3	8.2	47.9	19.3	35.1	18.1	15.5	3.8	2.3	364
51.3	5.0	42.9	11.8	20.9	12.7	23.8	8.8	1.1	157
63.0	5.4	47.6	11.3	23.9	13.6	20.5	3.4	2.7	251
68.1	4.3	55.2	9.8	32.1	10.0	18.1	4.6	1.8	317
67.5	4.9	55.6	13.5	33.0	9.2	16.3	2.5	1.0	466
73.0	16.5	50.6	19.2	29.0	12.8	20.4	1.1	0.8	456
66.9	8.1	51.7	13.9	29.2	11.4	19.1	3.3	1.4	1,647
	* 55.7 54.1 68.6 74.7 65.7 70.8 70.5 64.2 69.2 65.9 57.0 65.8 51.6 46.8 62.5 61.7 63.6 78.9 66.3 51.3 63.0 68.1 67.5 73.0 66.9 9 10.5 64.2	* * 55.7 3.4 54.1 6.6 68.6 10.7 74.7 8.8 65.7 4.4 70.8 10.6 70.5 12.5 64.2 4.8 69.2 9.4 65.9 3.5 57.0 6.7 65.8 17.8 51.6 6.3 46.8 0.0 62.5 3.4 61.7 8.3 63.6 5.0 78.9 14.5 66.3 8.2 51.3 5.0 63.0 5.4 68.1 4.3 67.5 4.9 73.0 16.5 66.9 8.1	* * * * 55.7 3.4 48.5 54.1 6.6 56.3 54.1 6.6 56.3 56.3 58.6 10.7 55.9 74.7 8.8 53.9 65.7 4.4 48.9 70.8 10.6 44.5 70.5 12.5 52.0 64.2 4.8 51.5 59.9 53.5 36.6 57.0 6.7 20.6 65.8 17.8 52.3 51.6 63.3 32.3 46.8 0.0 47.1 62.5 3.4 48.5 61.7 8.3 52.6 63.6 5.0 52.9 78.9 14.5 56.3 66.3 8.2 47.9 51.3 5.0 42.9 63.0 5.4 47.6 68.1 4.3 55.2 67.5 4.9 55.6 73.0 16.5 50.6 66.9 8.1 51.7	\star \star \star \star 55.7 3.4 48.5 8.8 54.1 6.6 56.3 13.1 68.6 10.7 55.9 13.0 74.7 8.8 53.9 15.9 65.7 4.4 48.9 9.2 70.8 10.6 44.5 20.3 70.5 12.5 52.0 15.4 64.2 4.8 51.5 12.8 69.2 9.4 62.1 11.8 65.9 3.5 36.6 18.9 57.0 6.7 20.6 14.0 65.8 17.8 52.3 21.7 51.6 6.3 32.3 19.3 46.8 0.0 47.1 19.2 62.5 3.4 48.5 11.3 61.7 8.3 52.6 9.6 63.6 5.0 52.9 12.3 78.9 14.5 56.3 15.6 66.3	\star <td>* *</td> <td>* $*$ $*$<td>i i i<td>3 3 4 5 1 1</td></td></td>	* *	* $*$ <td>i i i<td>3 3 4 5 1 1</td></td>	i i <td>3 3 4 5 1 1</td>	3 3 4 5 1

7.18 CONTACT OF NONUSERS WITH FAMILY PLANNING PROVIDERS

When family planning providers visit women in their home or when women visit health facilities, health providers are expected to discuss reproductive needs and the contraceptive options available and to counsel women on adopting a method of family planning. In Pakistan, family planning services and information are provided by Family Welfare Workers and LHWs. To gain insight into the level of contact between nonusers and health workers, women who were not using contraception were asked whether any fieldworker had visited them during the 12 months preceding the survey and discussed family planning. Women were also asked whether they had visited a health facility in the 12 months preceding the survey for any reason and whether anyone at the facility had discussed family planning are being reached by family planning programs.

Table 7.19 shows that fieldworkers discussed family planning with only 29 percent of nonusers during the 12 months preceding the survey. Three in four nonusers visited a health facility, but only 6 percent discussed family planning at the facility. Overall, 68 percent of women who could have been exposed to family planning information did not discuss family planning either during a field visit or at a health facility, indicating numerous missed opportunities to inform and educate women about family planning. The low levels of contact between nonusers and family planning providers do not vary substantially by background characteristics.

Table 7.19 Contact of nonusers with family planning providers

Among women age 15-49 who are not using contraception, the percentage who during the past 12 months were visited by a fieldworker who discussed family planning, the percentage who visited a health facility and discussed family planning, the percentage who visited a health facility but did not discuss family planning, and the percentage who did not discuss family planning either with a fieldworker or at a health facility, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Percentage of women who were visited by fieldworker who	Percentage of wor health facility in the wh	men who visited a past 12 months and to:	Percentage of women who did not discuss family planning either	
Background characteristic	discussed family planning	Discussed family planning	Did not discuss family planning	with fieldworker or at a health facility	Number of women
Age					
15-19	17.9	2.6	64.5	80.2	543
20-24	28.3	5.1	72.5	69.3	1,668
25-29	36.4	8.1	71.3	60.5	1,893
30-34	32.8	8.3	74.2	62.7	1,506
35-39	29.1	5.6	71.8	68.2	1,204
40-44	26.4	6.5	64.4	70.0	1,051
45-49	21.7	2.8	66.8	76.2	1,113
Residence					
Urban	22.4	6.4	73.4	73.3	2,607
Rural	32.0	5.9	69.1	65.6	6,370
Region					
Puniab	36.7	5.3	72.5	60.8	4.790
Sindh	23.1	8.1	81.3	72.0	2,248
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	20.7	7.0	62.7	76.6	1,387
Balochistan	6.2	1.6	20.9	92.8	461
ICT Islamabad	18.9	8.9	63.8	75.5	27
Gilgit Baltistan	29.2	3.5	48.3	69.7	64
Education					
No education	27.8	5.6	69.1	69.1	5,515
Primary	34.8	5.8	72.9	63.4	1,316
Middle	30.9	5.9	71.9	66.4	603
Secondary	31.3	8.5	71.6	64.6	819
Higher	25.4	7.6	72.3	70.4	723
Wealth quintile					
Lowest	26.7	5.3	68.2	70.5	2,068
Second	30.7	5.6	69.7	66.7	1,925
Middle	34.3	6.5	70.3	63.0	1,727
Fourth	32.2	7.0	70.2	64.9	1,679
Highest	21.8	6.1	74.0	74.0	1,578
Total	29.2	6.1	70.3	67.8	8,977

7.19 LADY HEALTH WORKER SERVICES

The National Program for Family Planning and Primary Health Care, also known as the Lady Health Worker Program, was launched in 1994 by the government of Pakistan with the objective of reducing poor health conditions through providing essential primary health care services to communities and improving national health indicators. The program contributes to the overall health sector goals of improving maternal, newborn, and child health; provision of family planning services; and integration of other vertical health promotion programs (Ministry of Health, 2013).

Table 7.20 shows that 68 percent of women were aware of the existence of LHWs in their respective communities. Among those who were aware of LHWs, services received from these individuals in the 12 months preceding the survey included child vaccinations (20 percent), treatments for minor ailments (7 percent), contraceptive supplies (7 percent), and information on maternal and child health (4 percent).

There are only small variations in awareness of the existence of LHWs by age. Rural women (73 percent) are more likely to know about the presence of LHWs than urban women (59 percent). Regional variations by residence are notable, ranging from 29 percent in rural Balochistan to 84 percent in rural Punjab. Variations in awareness of the presence of LHWs by educational level and wealth quintile are small.

There is no clear pattern in services received according to age, education, or wealth quintile. Rural women and women living in Punjab and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa are more likely to receive vaccination services than other women. Overall, 22 percent of women who were aware of the presence of LHWs in their area did not receive any services.

Table 7.20 Service from lady health worker (LHWs)

Percentage of currently married women age 15-49 who know about the presence of LHWs in their area and the percentage of these women by types of services received from LHWs in the last 12 months, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Percentage who know		Among those	e who know	about LHWs,	the type of se	ervice rece	ived in the last	12 months:
Background characteristic	about the presence of LHWs in their area	Number of women	Information on mother and child health	Contra- ceptive supplies	Vaccination	Treatment of minor ailments	Other	No service received	Number of women
Age									
15-19	61.5	594	0.9	0.6	7.7	0.8	1.4	20.1	366
20-24	65.1	2,053	3.6	6.2	25.0	5.8	2.3	19.5	1,336
25-29	71.2	2,663	5.8	6.7	24.9	6.8	3.1	24.0	1,895
30-34	68.0	2,454	4.4	8.0	24.0	9.3	3.3	22.6	1,668
35-39	71.0	2,137	4.2	9.3	19.9	8.9	2.9	21.0	1,516
40-44	67.5	1,617	2.7	7.4	14.0	8.0	2.1	24.5	1,092
45-49	68.4	1,419	1.6	2.8	9.3	4.1	1.2	24.1	970
Residence									
Urban	59.4	4,304	4.6	5.3	14.8	4.5	1.5	22.0	2,558
Rural	72.8	8,633	3.6	7.3	22.2	8.1	3.0	22.6	6,285
Region									
Punjab	78.4	7,374	4.6	7.2	23.9	7.1	2.3	23.2	5,780
Urban	65.9	2,402	5.6	5.4	16.7	3.5	0.8	22.5	1,584
Rural	84.4	4,972	4.2	7.9	26.7	8.4	2.9	23.5	4,196
Sindh	57.3	3,002	1.8	3.2	7.3	3.5	1.5	26.9	1,721
Urban	46.3	1,432	2.0	3.4	8.0	3.8	1.5	24.4	662
Rural	67.4	1,570	1.8	3.0	6.9	3.3	1.6	28.5	1,058
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	57.3	1,855	4.0	10.3	23.5	13.2	5.7	12.7	1,064
Urban	75.4	308	5.5	10.6	24.1	12.4	6.1	14.0	232
Rural	53.8	1,547	3.5	10.3	23.3	13.4	5.5	12.3	832
Balochistan	33.6	553	2.8	2.2	5.0	2.6	2.2	13.6	186
Urban	52.3	110	5.0	2.7	9.4	6.3	3.3	15.0	58
Rural	28.9	443	1.9	1.9	3.0	0.9	1.7	13.0	128
ICT Islamabad	44.7	62	2.7	5.6	9.9	3.6	0.6	25.7	28
Gilgit Baltistan	71.0	91	2.0	8.5	10.6	17.8	3.5	19.0	65
Education									
No education	67.5	7,347	2.5	5.9	20.1	7.2	2.4	22.5	4,962
Primary	73.6	2,057	6.1	8.2	22.5	8.0	3.2	22.5	1,514
Middle	75.0	958	7.1	7.8	18.1	7.1	3.0	20.5	719
Secondary	68.3	1,351	5.1	8.9	18.0	6.8	2.6	23.4	923
Higher	59.2	1,225	4.2	5.6	20.1	4.6	2.5	22.9	725
Wealth quintile									
Lowest	60.0	2,501	1.2	4.1	20.9	6.9	1.8	26.0	1,500
Second	70.6	2,533	3.8	7.5	21.7	8.6	2.7	23.5	1,789
Middle	78.3	2,550	4.9	7.3	21.9	9.1	3.6	21.5	1,996
Fourth	74.7	2,677	5.2	8.5	20.7	6.7	2.2	20.3	2,001
Highest	58.2	2,676	3.8	5.3	14.4	3.5	2.3	21.8	1,557
Total	68.4	12,937	3.9	6.7	20.1	7.1	2.6	22.4	8,843

7.20 SATISFACTION WITH FAMILY PLANNING SERVICE OUTLETS

Client satisfaction is a key component in assessing the services provided at family planning outlets. In the 2012-13 PDHS, women who were aware of outlets that provided family planning services and had ever visited these service outlets were asked how satisfied they were with specific services offered.

Table 7.21 shows that overall satisfaction with specific services is high (between 68 percent and 87 percent). Eighty percent or more of women are satisfied with the attitude of staff members, counseling services, timely treatment in case of emergency, follow-up care, staff punctuality, and provision of contraceptives. Women were less satisfied with infection prevention services, handling of complications, and timely referral to other facilities for better care.

Overall, respondents were more satisfied with services provided in private and nongovernmental facilities. However, they were more satisfied with provision of contraceptives in public facilities than in private facilities.

Among currently married women age 15-49 who know about a service outlet that provides family planning services and have ever visited these outlets, the percentage citing satisfaction towards the specific services by type of service outlet, Pakistan 2012-13										
		Outlet								
Service	Government sector	Private/NGO sector	Other	Overall satisfaction						
Provision of contraceptives	86.4	71.4	90.2	80.0						
Follow-up care	79.4	87.7	71.4	82.8						
Infection prevention	73.8	84.3	65.4	78.1						
Counseling services	82.9	92.6	86.4	87.1						
Timely treatment	79.3	92.4	69.8	84.8						
Attitude of staff	83.2	93.4	74.6	87.4						
Punctuality maintained by staff	78.6	87.2	70.8	82.1						
Timely referring	67.6	75.4	60.1	70.8						
Cooperative	65.9	72.5	51.5	68.4						
Handle complications properly	72.8	78.5	56.2	75.0						
Number of women 2,208 1,731 77 4,024										
Note: Total includes 7 cases with missing information on source of service.										

7.21 REASONS FOR NOT VISITING FAMILY PLANNING SERVICE OUTLETS

Table 7.22 presents the distribution of women who know of a facility that provides family planning services but have never visited such an outlet, along with their reasons for not visiting the outlet. Fifty-two percent of women have never visited an outlet that provides family planning services. The most commonly cited reasons for not visiting such outlets were "no need" (63 percent), "wanted more children" (32 percent), and services already available at home (16 percent).

Sixty percent of women age 15-19 did not visit a family planning outlet because they wanted more children. Women age 30-39 were more likely not to visit a family planning outlet because the services were available at their home. Women's reported need to visit a family planning outlet decreased with increasing age, with 8 in 10 women age 45-49 not believing that it was necessary to visit a center. Urban women (20 percent) were more likely than their rural counterparts (15 percent) to say that the services were available at home. Rural women were more likely than urban women to mention that they did not visit a family planning outlet because of their desire for more children (36 percent versus 23 percent). This reason was most often cited in rural Sindh (62 percent).

Overall, 70 percent or more of women in Punjab, Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, Gilgit Baltistan, and ICT Islamabad said that there was no need to visit an outlet. Women with no education and women in the lowest wealth quintile were more likely than better educated women and women in the higher quintiles to say that they did not visit a family planning outlet because they wanted more children.

Table 7.22 Reasons for not visiting family planning service outlets

Among currently married women age 15-49 who know of an outlet that provides family planning services, the percentage who have never visited such an outlet and the percentage citing specific reasons for not visiting the outlet, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Percentage of		Reasons for not visiting the outlet						
Background characteristic	women who have never visited an outlet that provides family planning services	Number of women who know of an outlet that provides family planning services	Get service at home	No need to visit the center	Wanted more children	Other ¹	Number of women who have never visited an outlet		
Age									
15-19 20-24	76.1 63.9	245 1,095	3.6 13.0	55.3 53.7	60.0 51.9	6.8 9.2	186 700		
25-29 30-34	57.1 47.9	1,684 1,682	19.1 20.6	58.7 61.2	39.4 30.0	12.8 18.1	962 806		
35-39	44.7	1,518	19.5	64.8	23.1	20.7	679		
40-44 45-49	42.9 49.9	1,165 935	15.4 9.5	72.5 79.0	13.3 11.2	22.7 21.0	500 466		
Residence									
Urban Rural	51.8 51.5	2,809 5,515	19.6 14.6	65.6 61.6	23.3 36.3	15.2 16.7	1,456 2,842		
Region							,		
Punjab	42.4 41 2	4,948 1,516	17.4 19.6	72.0 73.4	28.7 24 0	17.9 17.8	2,100 625		
Rural	43.0	3,432	16.5	71.4	30.7	17.9	1,475		
Sindh	67.5	2,013	12.9	45.9	43.3	12.6	1,360		
Rural	67.6	1,017	6.9	33.9	62.0	12.6	688		
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	60.7	1,070	20.3	71.1	18.5	19.3	649		
Rural	63.2	862	19.3	71.1	20.2	19.6	545		
Balochistan	75.1	190	15.3	53.7	35.5	13.2	143		
Rural	69.4 77.3	54 136	14.4	57.1	35.9 35.3	10.8	37 105		
ICT Islamabad	43.6	40	18.2	69.8	14.1	15.2	17		
Gilgit Baltistan	46.6	63	10.1	73.7	23.3	12.5	30		
Education No education Primary Middle Secondary	52.6 46.9 47.9 50.4	4,452 1,389 672 910	12.7 20.1 21.2 22.2	58.7 66.4 71.9 67.9	35.6 30.9 23.6 27.2	18.2 15.7 14.1 10.4	2,343 651 322 459		
Higher	58.0	902	19.7	68.5	25.7	14.7	523		
Wealth quintile Lowest Second Middle Fourth	63.6 51.2 46.5 46.9	1,325 1,565 1,754 1.793	7.6 13.8 19.2 19.7	49.2 57.2 68.3 71.9	50.0 34.0 28.9 23.5	16.8 20.2 16.2 12.6	843 801 815 840		
Highest	52.9	1,887	20.4	67.4	24.5	15.6	999		
Total	51.6	8,324	16.3	63.0	31.9	16.2	4,298		

Key Findings

- Infant and under-five mortality rates in the past five years are 74 and 89 deaths per 1,000 live births, respectively. At these mortality levels, 1 in every 14 Pakistani children die before reaching age 1, and 1 in every 11 do not survive to their fifth birthday.
- Neonatal mortality has remained unchanged for the last 20 years, whereas infant mortality has decreased by 19 percent and under-five mortality has decreased by 24 percent over the same period.
- The neonatal mortality rate in the past five years is 55 deaths per 1,000 live births, which is almost three times the postneonatal mortality rate. The perinatal mortality rate is 75 per 1,000 pregnancies.
- Childhood mortality is relatively higher in Balochistan and Punjab than in the other provinces.

This chapter describes levels of and trends and differentials in early childhood mortality in Pakistan. Infant and child mortality rates are important indicators of a country's socioeconomic development and quality of life, as well as the population's health status. Measures of childhood mortality also contribute to a better understanding of the progress of population and health programs and policies. Analyses of mortality measures are useful in identifying promising directions for health and nutrition programs and improving child survival efforts. Disaggregation of mortality measures by socioeconomic and demographic characteristics helps to identify differentials in population subgroups and target high-risk groups for effective programs. Measures of childhood mortality are also useful for population projections.

Childhood mortality in general and infant mortality in particular are often used as broad indicators of socioeconomic development or specific indicators of health status. Childhood mortality rates are used for monitoring a country's progress toward Millennium Development Goal (MDG) 4, which aims for a two-thirds reduction in child mortality by the year 2015 (United Nations Development Programme, 2013). Results from the 2012-13 PDHS can be used to monitor the impact of major national neonatal and child health interventions, strategies, and policies such as Pakistan's flagship Maternal, Newborn, and Child Health Program (MNCH), which was launched in 2005. The focus of the MNCH program has been twofold: to coordinate, improve, and promote primary health service delivery to end users and to elicit tangible behavior changes that will improve acceptance of, demand for, and utilization of those services. The program is in the process of deploying a new cadre of 12,000 community midwives with the aim of increasing skilled birth attendance in underserved communities and thus lowering neonatal and maternal mortality through early detection and timely referral of obstetric and newborn complications (Government of Pakistan, 2010b).

In Pakistan, neonatal, postneonatal, infant, child, and under-five mortality rates are calculated from household surveys because the vital registration system is not complete. The reliability of mortality estimates depends on the accuracy and completeness of reporting and recording of births and deaths. Underreporting and misclassification are common, especially for deaths occurring early in life (World Health Organization, 2006a).

The 2012-13 PDHS provides various measures of mortality. The mortality rates presented in this chapter are computed from information gathered in the pregnancy history section of the Woman's

Questionnaire. The 2012-13 PDHS asked all ever-married women age 15-49 to provide a complete history of their pregnancies in chronological order starting with the first pregnancy. Women were asked whether a pregnancy was single or multiple, the sex of the child, the date of birth (month and year), survival status, the age of the child on the date of the interview if alive, and, if not alive, the age at death of each child born alive or the duration in months of a pregnancy that ended before full term. Age at death was recorded in days for children dying in the first month of life, in months for children dying before their second birthday, and in years for children dying at later ages. Since the primary causes of childhood mortality change as children age—from biological factors to environmental factors—childhood mortality rates are expressed in age categories and are customarily defined as follows:

- Neonatal mortality (NN): the probability of dying within the first month of life
- Postneonatal mortality (PNN): the difference between infant and neonatal mortality
- Infant mortality: the probability of dying between birth and the first birthday
- Child mortality: the probability of dying between the first and fifth birthday
- Under-five mortality: the probability of dying between birth and the fifth birthday

All rates are expressed as deaths per 1,000 live births, except in the case of child mortality, which is expressed as deaths between age 1 and age 4 per 1,000 children surviving to age 1.

Information on stillbirths and deaths that occurred within seven days of birth is used to estimate perinatal mortality, which is the number of stillbirths and early neonatal deaths per 1,000 stillbirths and live births.

8.1 ASSESSMENT OF DATA QUALITY

The accuracy of mortality estimates depends on the sampling variability of the estimates and on nonsampling errors. Sampling variability and sampling errors are discussed in detail in Appendix B. Nonsampling errors depend on the extent to which the date of birth and age at death are accurately reported and recorded and the completeness with which child deaths are reported. Omission of births and deaths affects mortality estimates, displacement of birth and death dates impacts mortality trends, and misreporting of age at death may distort the age pattern of mortality. Typically, the most serious source of nonsampling errors in a survey that collects retrospective information on births and deaths is underreporting of births and deaths of children who were dead at the time of the survey. It may be that mothers are reluctant to talk about their dead children because of the sorrow associated with their death, or they may live in a culture that discourages discussion of the dead. The possible occurrence of these data problems in the 2012-13 PDHS is discussed in Appendix D. Underreporting of births and deaths is generally more severe the further back in time an event occurred.

An unusual pattern in the distribution of births by calendar years is an indication of omission of children or age displacement. In the 2012-13 PDHS, the cutoff point for asking health-related questions was January 2007. Appendix Table D.4 shows that the overall percentage of births for which a month and year of birth were reported is almost 100 percent for both children who have died and children who are alive.

Furthermore, Table D.4 shows that there is practically no age displacement across the 2007 boundary for either living or dead children. The distribution of living children and the total number of children do not show a deficit in 2007 in relation to 2008 or 2006, as denoted by the calendar year ratios. However, among dead children, there is a slight deficit in 2007. This transference of deceased children out of the five-year period preceding the survey likely leads to an underestimation of the true level of childhood mortality for that period.
Underreporting of deaths is usually assumed to be higher for deaths that occur very early in infancy. Also, omission of deaths or misclassification of deaths as stillbirths may be more common among women who have had several children or in cases where a death occurred in the distant past. Two indicators are used to assess the impact of such issues on measures of child mortality: the ratio of deaths that occurred within the first seven days of life to deaths that occurred within one month and the ratio of neonatal deaths to infant deaths. It is hypothesized that omissions will be more prevalent among those who died immediately after birth than those who lived longer and more prevalent for events that took place in the distant past than for those that occurred in the more recent past. Table D.5 shows data on age at death for early infant deaths. Selective underreporting of early neonatal deaths would result in an abnormally low ratio of deaths within the first seven days of life to all neonatal deaths. Early infant deaths were not severely underreported in the 2012-13 PDHS, as suggested by the high ratio of deaths in the first seven days of life to all neonatal deaths in the first seven days of life to all neonatal deaths in the first seven days of life to all neonatal deaths in the first seven days of life to all neonatal deaths in the first seven days of life to all neonatal deaths in the first seven days of life to all neonatal deaths in the first seven days of life to all neonatal deaths in the first seven days of life to all neonatal deaths in the first seven days of life to all neonatal deaths in the first seven days of life to all neonatal deaths in the first seven days of life to all neonatal deaths in the first seven days of life to all neonatal deaths (79 percent) of infant deaths in the five years before the survey as occurring in the first month of life (neonatal).

Heaping of age at death on certain digits is another problem that is inherent in most retrospective surveys. Misreporting of age at death biases age-specific estimates of mortality if the net result is transference of deaths between age segments for which the rates are calculated; for example, child mortality may be overestimated relative to infant mortality if children who died in the first year of life are reported as having died at age 1 or older. In an effort to minimize misreporting of age at death, interviewers were instructed to record deaths under one month in days and deaths under two years in months. In addition, they were trained to probe deaths reported at exactly one year or 12 months to ensure that they had actually occurred at 12 months. The distribution of deaths under two years during the 20 years prior to the survey by month of death shows that there is some heaping at 6, 12, and 18 months of age, with corresponding deficits in adjacent months (Table D.6). However, heaping at these ages is less pronounced for deaths in the five years preceding the survey, for which the most recent mortality rates are calculated, although there is some heaping at 8 and 18 months of age.

8.2 LEVELS AND TRENDS IN INFANT AND CHILD MORTALITY

Table 8.1 presents neonatal, postnatal, infant, child, and under-five mortality rates for three successive five-year periods preceding the survey. The neonatal mortality rate in the most recent period (2008-2012) is 55 deaths per 1,000 live births. This rate is almost three times the postneonatal rate (19 deaths per 1,000 live births) during the same period. Therefore, the risk of dying for any Pakistani child who survived the first month of life is reduced enormously in the remaining 11 months of the first year of life. The infant mortality rate in the five years preceding the survey is 74 deaths per 1,000 live births, and the under-five mortality rate for the same period is 89 deaths per 1,000 live births. This means that 1 in every 14 Pakistani children die before reaching age 1, while 1 in every 11 do not survive to their fifth birthday.

Table 8.1 Ear Neonatal, pos survey, Pakista	l <u>y childhood morta</u> tneonatal, infant, an 2012-13	<u>lity rates</u> child, and ur	nder-five mortality	rates for five	e-year periods	preceding the
Years	Approximate	Neonatal	Postneonatal	Infant	Child	Under-five
preceding the	time period of	mortality	mortality	mortality	mortality	mortality
survey	estimated rates	(NN)	(PNN) ¹	(1q0)	(4q1)	(5q0)
0-4	2008-2012	55	19	74	17	89
5-9	2003-2007	60	28	88	19	105
10-14	1998-2002	59	33	92	23	113
¹ Computed as	s the difference be	ween the infa	ant and neonatal	mortality rates	3	

Mortality trends can be examined in two ways: by comparing mortality rates for three successive five-year periods preceding a single survey and by comparing mortality estimates obtained from various

surveys. However, comparisons between surveys should be interpreted with caution because of variations in quality of data, time references, and sample coverage. In particular, sampling errors associated with mortality estimates are large and should be taken into account when examining trends between surveys.

Data from the 2012-13 PDHS show that neonatal mortality decreased by only 7 percent over the 15-year period preceding the survey, from 59 to 55 deaths per 1,000 live births (Table 8.1). The corresponding declines in postneonatal, infant, and under-five mortality over the 15-year period are 42 percent, 20 percent, and 21 percent.

Mortality trends can also be observed by comparing data from the 2012-13 PDHS with data from the 1990-91 and 2006-07 PDHS surveys (Figure 8.1). Infant and under-five mortality rates for the five years preceding the three surveys confirm a declining trend in all mortality rates except neonatal mortality. Infant mortality has decreased by 5 percent over the last five years, from 78 deaths per 1,000 live births in 2002-2006 to 74 per 1,000 live births deaths in 2008-2012. An even more impressive decline was observed in postneonatal mortality, which decreased by 21 percent (from 24 to 19 deaths per 1,000 live births) over the same period. Under-five mortality has declined by 5 percent over the last six years, from 94 deaths per 1,000 live births in 2002-2006 to 89 deaths per 1,000 live births in 2008-2012.





Table 8.2 shows the same pattern of increasing neonatal mortality in all of the provinces except Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, where the neonatal mortality rate has decreased from 48 deaths per 1,000 live births to 41 deaths per 1,000 live births. Neonatal mortality has increased from 46 deaths per 1,000 live births to 63 deaths per 1,000 live births in Balochistan, from 44 to 54 deaths per 1,000 live births in Sindh, and from 58 to 63 deaths per 1,000 live births in Punjab. Under-five mortality is highest in Balochistan (111 deaths per 1,000 live births), followed by Punjab (105 deaths per 1,000 live births), Sindh (93 deaths per 1,000 live births), and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (70 deaths per 1,000 live births). There has been a 10 percent increase in under-five mortality in Balochistan during the last 20 years; in contrast, under-five mortality has decreased by 29 percent in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, by 21 percent in Punjab, and by 12 percent in Sindh during the same period.

Table 8.2 Trends in early childhood mortality rates

Trends in neonatal, postneonatal, infant, child, and under-five mortality rates for the 10-year periods preceding PDHS surveys by region, Pakistan 2012-13

Region	Survey	Approximate calendar years	Neonatal mortality (NN)	Postneonatal mortality (PNN) ¹	Infant mortality (1q0)	Child mortality (4q1)	Under-five mortality (₅q₀)		
Punjab	2012-13 PDHS	2003-2012	63	25	88	18	105		
	2006-07 PDHS	1997-2006	58	23	81	18	97		
	1990-91 PDHS	1981-1990	58	46	104	32	133		
Sindh	2012-13 PDHS	2003-2012	54	20	74	20	93		
	2006-07 PDHS	1997-2006	53	28	81	22	101		
	1990-91 PDHS	1981-1990	44	36	81	27	106		
KPK	2012-13 PDHS	2003-2012	41	17	58	13	70		
	2006-07 PDHS	1997-2006	41	22	63	13	75		
	1990-91 PDHS	1981-1990	48	31	80	20	98		
Balochistan	2012-13 PDHS	2003-2012	63	34	97	15	111		
	2006-07 PDHS	1997-2006	30	18	49	11	59		
	1990-91 PDHS	1981-1990	46	26	72	31	101		
¹ Computed as the difference between the infant and neonatal mortality rates									

It is interesting to note that there has been an increase (although small) in neonatal mortality in the past 20 years. In 1990-91 neonatal mortality was estimated at 51 deaths per 1,000 live births during the five years preceding the survey, and in 2012-13 it is estimated to be 55 deaths per 1,000 live births for the five years preceding the survey. This indicates that there has been an 8 percent increase in the neonatal mortality rate over the last 20 years. This increase points to an alarming situation in which neonatal mortality in Pakistan has stagnated at a very high level relative to other neighboring countries. Unless the neonatal mortality rate begins to drop, it will be difficult for Pakistan to achieve MDG 4.

With support from a number of donors, the government of Pakistan has invested in maternal health programs to achieve MDG 4 and its target of reducing under-five mortality to 52 per 1,000 live births by 2015 (Planning Commission, 2010). Since 1990, under-five mortality has decreased by 28 deaths per 1,000 (from 117 to 89). The question is, can Pakistan save an additional 37 child deaths in every 1,000 live births to achieve MDG 4 by 2015, given the slow pace the country has observed during the past two decades?

Data from the 2012-13 PDHS show increased antenatal care and postnatal visits, improved delivery practices, and improved maternal health care indicators (see Chapter 9). These indicators are directly or indirectly related to neonatal health. Despite these improvements, neonatal mortality has remained the same over the past five years. An in-depth examination of the reasons for the stagnation in neonatal mortality is outside the scope of this report and is suggested for further analysis.

8.3 SOCIOECONOMIC DIFFERENTIALS IN CHILDHOOD MORTALITY

Differentials in childhood mortality by socioeconomic characteristics are presented in Table 8.3. The findings must be interpreted with caution given the low precision of mortality estimates due to sampling errors. To minimize sampling errors associated with mortality estimates and to ensure a sufficient number of cases for statistical reliability, the mortality rates shown in the table are calculated for the 10-year period preceding the survey.

Table 8.3 Early childhood mortality rates by socioeconomic characteristics

Neonatal, postneonatal, infant, child, and under-five mortality rates for the 10-year period preceding the survey, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

Background characteristic	Neonatal mortality (NN)	Postneonatal mortality (PNN) ¹	Infant mortality $(_1q_0)$	Child mortality (₄ q ₁)	Under-five mortality (₅q₀)
Residence Urban Rural	47 62	17 26	63 88	11 20	74 106
Region Punjab Urban Rural	63 50 68	25 17 28	88 67 96	18 11 21	105 78 115
Sindh Urban Rural	54 42 62	20 14 24	74 56 86	20 14 25	93 68 109
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Urban Rural	41 34 42	17 19 16	58 53 59	13 5 14	70 58 72
Balochistan Urban Rural	63 68 62	34 25 36	97 93 98	15 10 16	111 102 112
ICT Islamabad	26	9	35	9	43
Gilgit Baltistan	39	32	71	19	89
Mother's education No education Primary Middle Secondary Higher	65 54 48 47 27	27 25 21 8 3	92 79 68 55 30	23 16 4 2 5	112 93 72 57 36
Wealth quintile Lowest Second Middle Fourth Highest	62 67 63 55 34	28 30 21 20 10	90 97 85 75 44	32 20 15 10 5	119 115 98 84 48

¹ Computed as the difference between the infant and neonatal mortality rates

Table 8.3 shows that mortality rates in all categories are higher in rural areas than in urban areas. For example, infant mortality in rural areas is 88 deaths per 1,000 live births, as compared with 63 deaths per 1,000 live births in urban areas. Rural-urban differences are also substantial in the case of neonatal, postneonatal, child, and under-five mortality rates. Moreover, there are wide differentials in infant and under-five mortality by region, with under-five mortality ranging from 111 deaths per 1,000 live births in Balochistan to 43 deaths per 1,000 live births in ICT Islamabad. Similarly, infant mortality is highest in Balochistan (97 deaths per 1,000 live births) and lowest in ICT Islamabad (35 deaths per 1,000 live births). Neonatal mortality is highest in Punjab and Balochistan (63 deaths per 1,000 live births), followed by Sindh (54 deaths per 1,000 live births), Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (41 deaths per 1,000 live births). A detailed analysis of the 1990-91 PDHS showed a similar neonatal mortality pattern, with higher odds of dying among children born in Punjab than among children born in other provinces (Mahmood, 2002).

Infant and under-five mortality rates are considerably higher in rural areas than in urban areas in all of the provinces. In Sindh the under-five mortality rate is 60 percent higher in rural areas (109 deaths per 1,000 live births) than in urban areas (68 deaths per 1,000 live births), while in Balochistan it is 10 percent higher in rural than urban areas. The rural-urban difference in mortality is especially large for children age 1-4; in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, the rate among these children is almost three times as high in rural areas as in urban areas, and in Punjab the rate is almost twice as high in rural as in urban areas. In Sindh, neonatal mortality is 48 percent higher in rural areas than in urban areas (Table 8.3).

As expected, mother's education is inversely related to child mortality. Under-five mortality among children born to mothers with no education (112 deaths per 1,000 live births) is almost twice that of children born to mothers with a secondary education (57 deaths per 1,000 live births) and more than three times that of children born to mothers with a higher education (36 deaths per 1,000 live births). Table 8.3 also shows that the risk of dying among children below age 5 gradually decreases with increasing household wealth, from 119 deaths per 1,000 live births in the poorest households to 48 deaths per 1,000 live births in the wealthiest households.

8.4 DEMOGRAPHIC DIFFERENTIALS IN MORTALITY

Demographic characteristics of both mother and child play an important role in the survival of children. Table 8.4 shows that neonatal mortality is higher among male children and postneonatal mortality is higher among female children. Male mortality is generally higher than female mortality because, in the first month after birth, males are biologically weaker than females; as children become older, however, females are exposed to higher mortality than males mainly as a result of sociocultural and environmental factors, especially in South Asia (Das Gupta, 1987; Basu, 1989).

As expected, the relationship between maternal age at birth and childhood mortality is generally U-shaped, being relatively higher among children born to mothers under age 20 and over age 30 than among children born to mothers in the 20-29 age group. This pattern is especially obvious in the case of neonatal and under-five mortality. In general, mortality rates are higher among first births and births of order seven or above than among births of order two or three.

Table 0.4 Faul	بالمام معرام ممالما المامي			
Table 8.4 Earl	y childhood mortalit	y rates by	demographic	characteristics

Neonatal, postneonatal, infant, child, and under-five mortality rates for the 10-year period preceding the survey, by demographic characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

Demographic characteristic	Neonatal mortality (NN)	Postneonatal mortality (PNN) ¹	Infant mortality (1q0)	Child mortality (₄q₁)	Under-five mortality (₅q₀)
Child's sex					
Male	61	21	82	17	98
Female	54	25	79	18	96
Mother's age at birth					
<20	79	24	103	19	120
20-29	52	22	74	19	91
30-39	60	27	88	14	101
40-49	67	8	76	(20)	(94)
Birth order					
1	63	17	80	13	93
2-3	47	20	68	16	82
4-6	52	23	75	21	95
7+	89	41	130	23	150
Previous birth interval ²					
<2 years	87	39	126	29	151
2 years	34	18	52	16	67
3 years	36	17	54	7	60
4+ years	36	8	45	8	52
Birth size ³					
Small/very small	86	25	111	na	na
Average or larger	48	17	64	na	na

Note: Figures in parentheses are based on 250-499 unweighted person-years of exposure to the risk of death.

na = Not available

¹ Computed as the difference between the infant and neonatal mortality rates

² Excludes first-order births

³ Rates for the five-year period before the survey

The spacing of births is another factor that has a substantial impact on a child's chances of survival. A short birth interval does not give the mother sufficient time to recuperate from the birth and to replenish her stores of nutrients used during pregnancy, especially in conditions of malnutrition (Mahmood, 2002). Generally, shorter birth intervals are associated with higher mortality, both during and after infancy. The 2012-13 PDHS data confirm this pattern. All childhood mortality rates show a strong relationship with the length of the previous birth interval. For example, neonatal mortality is two and a half times higher among children born less than two years after a preceding sibling than among children born more than two years after a previous child (87 deaths and 34 deaths per 1,000 live births, respectively). Similarly, under-five mortality is almost three times higher among children born less than two years after a previous child (151 deaths and 52 deaths per 1,000 live births, respectively). These findings are consistent with observations from other sources (Cecatti et al., 2008; Rutstein, 2005).

Studies have shown that children's birth weight is an important determinant of their survival chances. Since almost half of births in Pakistan occur at home, where children often are not weighed at birth, data on birth weight are available for only a small proportion of children (see Chapter 10). However, mothers in the 2012-13 PDHS were asked whether their child was very large, larger than average, average, smaller than average, or very small at birth, since this has been found to be a good proxy for a child's weight. This question was asked regarding all children born since 2007. As expected, the size of the baby at birth and mortality are negatively associated. For example, 1 in 9 children regarded as very small or small at birth did not survive to the first year, as compared with 1 in 16 children regarded as average or large in size.

8.5 PERINATAL MORTALITY

The 2012-13 PDHS asked women to report on any pregnancy losses that had occurred in the five years preceding the survey. For each pregnancy that did not end in a live birth, the duration of pregnancy was recorded. In this report, perinatal deaths include pregnancy losses of at least seven months' gestation (stillbirths) and deaths to live births within the first seven days of life (early neonatal deaths). The perinatal mortality rate is the sum of stillbirths and early neonatal deaths divided by the sum of all stillbirths and live births. Information on stillbirths and infant deaths within the first week of life is highly susceptible to omission and misreporting. Nevertheless, retrospective surveys in developing countries provide more representative and accurate perinatal death rates than do vital registration systems and hospital-based studies. The distinction between a stillbirth and an early neonatal death may be a fine one, depending often on the observed presence or absence of faint signs of life after delivery.

Table 8.5 shows that of the 12,389 reported pregnancies of at least seven months' gestation in the five years preceding the survey, 412 were stillbirths and 522 were early neonatal deaths, yielding an overall perinatal mortality rate of 75 per 1,000 pregnancies and indicating only marginal improvement in the last six years.¹ Because the rate is subject to a high degree of sampling variation, differences by background characteristics should be interpreted with caution.

¹ Caution should be taken in comparing the overall perinatal mortality rate in 2012-13 with the rate in 2006-07 given that, unlike the 2012-13 PDHS, the 2006-07 PDHS did not include an event "calendar" for recording the outcomes of pregnancies in the five years preceding the survey. The revised 2006-07 PDHS result indicates a perinatal mortality rate of 73 per 1,000 pregnancies.

Table 8.5 Perinatal mortality

Number of stillbirths and early neonatal deaths, and the perinatal mortality rate for the fiveyear period preceding the survey, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

				Number of
		Number of early		pregnancies of
Background	Number of	neonatal	Perinatal	7+ months'
characteristic	stillbirths	deaths	mortality rate [°]	duration
Mother's age at birth				
<20	50	69	104	1,136
20-29	251	241	65	7,546
30-39	102	183	84	3,402
40-49	9	30	127	305
Previous pregnancy interval in months ⁴				
First pregnancy	125	114	95	2,522
<15	99	131	129	1,784
15-26	106	149	68	3,769
27-38	47	52	42	2,364
39+	34	75	56	1,951
Residence				
Urban	74	107	51	3,563
Rural	338	415	85	8,827
Region				
Puniab	229	317	77	7.088
Sindh	100	121	78	2,840
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	53	55	63	1,707
Balochistan	29	25	88	619
ICT Islamabad	1	1	43	48
Gilgit Baltistan	1	2	37	88
Mother's education				
No education	277	346	87	7,129
Primary	66	82	70	2,105
Middle	24	35	64	929
Secondary	27	40	54	1,235
Higher	19	18	37	991
Wealth quintile				
Lowest	146	156	101	3,010
Second	96	131	86	2,631
Middle	70	97	69	2,416
Fourth	63	86	62	2,412
Highest	37	51	46	1,920
Total	412	522	75	12,389

¹ Stillbirths are fetal deaths in pregnancies lasting 7 or more months.

² Early neonatal deaths are deaths at age 0-6 days among live-born children.

³ The sum of the number of stillbirths and early neonatal deaths divided by the number of

pregnancies of 7 or more months' duration, expressed per 1,000

⁴ Categories correspond to birth intervals of <24 months, 24-35 months, 36-47 months, and 48+ months.

Pregnancies among the youngest and oldest women are more likely to end in a perinatal death than are pregnancies among women age 20-39. The perinatal mortality rate is highest (127 deaths per 1,000 pregnancies) among older mothers (age 40-49), followed by the youngest mothers (below age 20) (104 deaths per 1,000 pregnancies), and is highest among births that occur less than 15 months after the previous birth (129 deaths per 1,000 pregnancies). The perinatal mortality rate is higher in rural areas (85 deaths per 1,000 pregnancies) than in urban areas (51 deaths per 1,000 pregnancies) and higher in Balochistan than in the other regions.

There are marked differences in perinatal mortality by mother's education. It is more than twice as high among women with no education (87 deaths per 1,000 pregnancies) as among women with a higher education (37 deaths per 1,000 pregnancies). Perinatal mortality is lowest (46 deaths per 1,000 pregnancies) among women in the highest wealth quintile and highest among women in the lowest quintile (101 deaths per 1,000 pregnancies).

The perinatal mortality rate not only is related to maternal health status but is also a sensitive indicator of the quality of maternal and neonatal health care (Richardus et al., 1997). There is an urgent need to design and implement programs that focus on reducing maternal and perinatal mortality and improving the health status of women. The Pakistan Initiative for Mothers and Newborns (PAIMAN), a project funded by the U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID), was recently implemented in 10 of the country's districts, and results showed significantly greater reductions in perinatal mortality among women who were exposed to at least one PAIMAN intervention than among women who were not exposed to any of the interventions (Mahmood, 2010). The challenge is to scale up interventions that have the greatest impact on perinatal mortality and create a sustainable framework that will allow women and newborns across the country to reap the benefits of the PAIMAN project's success.

8.6 HIGH-RISK FERTILITY BEHAVIOR

The survival of infants and children depends in part on the demographic and biological characteristics of their mothers. Typically, the probability of dying in infancy is much greater among children born to mothers who are too young (under age 18) or too old (over age 34), children who are too closely spaced (children born less than 24 months after the preceding birth), and children born to mothers of high parity (more than three children). First births may be at increased risk of dying relative to births of other orders; however, this distinction is not included in the risk categories in Table 8.6 because it is not considered avoidable fertility behavior. Also, for the short birth interval category, only children with a preceding interval of less than 24 months are included. Short succeeding birth intervals are not included, even though they can influence the survivorship of a child, because of the problem of reverse causal effect (i.e., a short succeeding birth interval can be the result of the death of a child rather than being the cause of the death of a child). The risk is elevated when a child is born to a mother who has a combination of these risk characteristics.

Table 8.6 shows the percentages of births occurring in the five years before the survey that fall into the various risk categories. A total of 58 percent of births in the last five years are in an avoidable high-risk category. In 37 percent of the cases, the risk is higher only because of a single-risk category (mother's age, birth order, or birth interval), and in 21 percent of cases the risk is higher because of multiple risk categories. The largest groups of children at risk are those who are of a high birth order (20 percent) and those whose preceding birth interval was shorter than 24 months (14 percent). Eleven percent of births occur after an interval shorter than 24 months and at a birth order higher than three.

Table 8.6 also shows the relative risk of dying for children born in the last five years by comparing the proportion dead in each risk category with the proportion dead among children with no risk factors. The single most detrimental factors are young age at birth, short birth intervals, and older age at birth. Children in these groups are 2.2 to 2.5 times more likely to die than children not in any risk category. Fortunately, only small percentages of children are born to very young mothers and older mothers; however, a sizable proportion of children are born after short intervals. The combination of a short birth interval and high birth order (above three) results in a risk ratio that is almost four times higher than births not in any high-risk group. Eleven percent of births fall into this category. The combination of an older mother, a short birth interval, and a high birth order also results in a risk ratio that is almost four times higher; however, only 2 percent of births fall into this category.

Table 8.6 High-risk fertility behavior

Percent distribution of children born in the five years preceding the survey by category of elevated risk of mortality, the risk ratio, and percent distribution of currently married women by category of risk if they were to conceive a child at the time of the survey, Pakistan 2012-13

	Births in th preceding t	Percentage of currently	
Risk category	Percentage of births	Risk ratio	married women ¹
Not in any high-risk category	20.8	1.00	21.2 ^a
Unavoidable risk category First-order births between age 18 and age 34	20.8	1.40	10.4
Single high-risk category Mother's age <18 Mother's age >34 Birth interval <24 months Birth order >3	2.3 1.1 14.2 19.6	2.54 2.23 2.32 1.45	0.5 5.4 10.0 13.6
Subtotal	37.3	1.87	29.5
Multiple high-risk category Age <18 and birth interval <24 months ² Age >34 and birth interval <24 months Age >34 and birth order >3 Age >34 and birth interval <24 months and birth order >3 Birth interval <24 months and birth order >3	0.2 0.2 7.2 2.2 11.3	(2.86) 1.19 3.68 3.75	0.1 0.2 26.6 3.0 9.1
Subtotal	21.1	2.89	39.0
In any avoidable high-risk category	58.3	2.24	68.5
Total Number of births/women	100.0 11,977	na na	100.0 12,937

Note: Risk ratio is the ratio of the proportion dead among births in a specific high-risk category to the proportion dead among births not in any high-risk category. Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases. An asterisk indicates that a figure is based on fewer than 25 unweighted cases and has been suppressed. na = Not applicable

¹ Women are assigned to risk categories according to the status they would have at the birth of a child if they were to conceive at the time of the survey: current age less than 17 years and 3 months or above 34 years and 2 months, latest birth less than 15 months ago, or latest birth being of order 3 or higher.

² Includes the category age <18 and birth order >3

^a Includes sterilized women

The last column of Table 8.6 presents the distribution of currently married women according to category of increased risk. Women are placed in categories according to the status they would have at the birth of a child conceived at the time of the survey: women who were younger than 17 years and 3 months or older than 34 years and 2 months, women whose most recent birth was less than 15 months before the survey, and women whose most recent birth was of order three or higher. Many women are protected from the risk of pregnancy by contraception, postpartum insusceptibility, and prolonged abstinence; however, for the sake of simplicity, only sterilized women are classified as not being in any risk category.

About 7 in 10 married women (69 percent) are susceptible to conceiving a child who will be at an increased risk of dying. Thirty percent of married women fall into a single high-risk category—mainly high-order births or short birth intervals—while 39 percent of women fall into a multiple high-risk category, mainly those who are above age 34 and have had three or more births.

The figures in Table 8.6 demonstrate the strong contribution of short birth intervals and high birth order (the number of children the mother has had) to the risk of dying among children under age 5. Thus, infant and child mortality can be reduced substantially in Pakistan by using contraception to space and limit births.

In view of the above, there is an urgent need to integrate birth spacing into strategies and programs. The Healthy Timings and Spacing of Pregnancies initiative (World Health Organization, 2006b) should be considered a priority in Pakistan because of its significant health benefits for mothers and babies and hence the family and community at large. It is associated with helping women and families make informed decisions about spacing and timing a pregnancy to achieve healthy pregnancy outcomes. The involvement of all stakeholders, especially health care providers, in promoting birth spacing and family planning as health interventions is essential. Therefore, all tiers of the public health care system, including basic health units, rural health centers, Tehsil hospitals, and district hospitals, need to provide family planning services as an integral component of the MNCH program. The USAID-funded Family Advancement for Life and Health (FALAH) project will seek support from health providers and community and religious leaders in promoting messages regarding birth spacing. Evidence shows that promoting birth spacing as a health intervention will also contribute significantly to reducing sociocultural and religious barriers to adoption of contraceptives (Mahmood, 2012). Expected results include increases in contraceptive use, reductions in unmet need, and declines in fertility, all of which will contribute to lowering neonatal mortality and achieving MDGs 4.

Key Findings

- More than 7 in 10 mothers receive antenatal care from a skilled provider.
- Thirty-seven percent of women make four or more antenatal care visits during their pregnancy. The median duration of pregnancy at the first antenatal visit is 3.7 months.
- Sixty-four percent of mothers with a birth in the five years preceding the survey had their last birth protected against neonatal tetanus.
- More than half of births in the past five years have been assisted by a skilled provider.
- Three-fifths of women giving birth in the two years preceding the survey received postnatal care for their last birth in the first two days after delivery.
- More than two in five newborns received a postnatal checkup in the first two days after birth.
- More than 6 in 10 women face at least one problem in seeking health care for themselves when they are sick.

health care system aiming to reduce pregnancy-related morbidity and mortality must focus on maternal and newborn health. Reproductive health care, the care a woman receives before and during pregnancy, at the time of delivery, and soon after delivery, is important for the survival and well-being of the mother and her child. It encompasses the health care dimensions of family planning and prenatal, natal, and postnatal care with the aim of reducing maternal morbidity and mortality (Franny, 2013).

The imperatives of reproductive health recognize the importance of a safe pregnancy and childbirth to the health of the mother and the newborn child, as well as recognizing that a healthy start in life is an essential step towards a sound childhood and a productive life. Maternal morbidity and mortality represent the largest and the most persistent gaps in health indicators between the developed and developing world, reflecting the dilapidated state of reproductive health care in some developing countries. Maternal mortality is also recognized as a key human rights issue (Rosenfield et al., 2006). According to the International Conference on Population and Development Action Program (ICPD), every woman has the right to enjoy good reproductive health, and every birth should be safe (United Nations, 1994). The Universal Declaration of Human Rights states that "motherhood and childhood are entitled to special care and assistance."

The importance of maternal health was recognized by the International Conference on Safe Motherhood held in 1987 and continued through the ICPD and the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs). The International Conference on Safe Motherhood included a declaration targeting a reduction in maternal mortality by at least half by the year 2000, while the ICPD targeted a reduction in maternal mortality to one half of the 1990 levels by 2000 and a further one-half reduction by 2015 (World Health Organization [WHO], United Nations Children's Fund [UNICEF], and United Nations Population Fund [UNFPA], 2004). Unfortunately many developing countries, including Pakistan, are not on track to achieve these targets; Pakistan is unlikely to meet the MDGs in maternal health and child health by 2015. Pakistan's Maternal, Newborn, and Child Health Program set a goal of reducing the maternal mortality ratio (MMR) to 140 maternal deaths per 100,000 live births by 2015 (Planning Commission, 2010). The MMR in Pakistan is 276 maternal deaths per 100,000 live births (National Institute of Population Studies

[NIPS] and Macro International Inc., 2008), indicating the dire state of reproductive health care and women's rights.

About 529,000 women are estimated to die every year as a result of problems related to pregnancy and childbirth, nearly all of them in developing countries. These countries also have the highest maternal morbidity and mortality rates (UNICEF, 2004). Moreover, there is evidence that for every woman who dies from a pregnancy-related complication, at least 30 suffer a disability (United States Agency for International Development [USAID], 2005). Further evidence shows that slightly more than half of the maternal deaths that take place in developing countries occur in the sub-Saharan African region, with the next highest number in South Asia. The vast majority of maternal deaths occur around the time of delivery and are attributed to a lack of skilled care at birth, yet about 60 million deliveries worldwide take place at home without skilled care each year (Yasir et al., 2009). Interventions needed to reach these women include provision of skilled birth attendants and emergency obstetric care (Campbell and Graham, 2006; NIPS and Macro International Inc., 2008).

Pakistan's National Health Policy (2009) aims to implement the strategy of protecting the population from hazardous diseases by promoting public health and upgrading curative health care facilities (Ministry of Health, 2009). The policy identifies a series of measures, programs, and projects as the means for enhancing equity, efficiency, and effectiveness in the health sector through focused interventions, including improved safe motherhood services and focused reproductive health services through a life cycle approach. Pakistan introduced a national program for maternal, neonatal, and child health in 2006, and the program was devolved to the provinces in 2010. Under this program, a new cadre of community midwives were introduced and maternal and child health services were strengthened in the public sector. Primary health care services were also extended through the lady health worker (LHW) program, which provides services through home visits in rural areas. LHWs contribute directly to improved hygiene and higher levels of contraceptive use, antenatal care, iron supplementation during pregnancy, growth monitoring of children, and vaccination of mothers and children.

Various studies have shown that reproductive health practices and use of reproductive health care are shaped mainly by level of education, place of residence, region of residence, occupation, mobility, and religious beliefs (Maqsood, 2009; Midhet and Becker, 2010; Yasir et al., 2009). This chapter presents findings from the 2012-13 PDHS on reproductive health status and practices, focusing mainly on use of maternal health services. Differentials by women's background characteristics and comparisons with the 1990-91 and 2006-07 PDHS surveys are also presented where appropriate.

9.1 ANTENATAL CARE

Antenatal care (ANC) from a skilled provider is important to monitor pregnancy and reduce the risk of morbidity for the mother and baby during pregnancy and delivery. The quality of antenatal care can be monitored through the content of services received and the kind of information mothers are given during their visits. In 2012-13 PDHS, information on ANC coverage was obtained from all ever-married women who gave birth in the five years preceding the survey. For women with more than one live birth during the five-year period, information was collected on the most recent birth.

Table 9.1 shows the percent distribution of mothers in the five years preceding the survey by source of antenatal care received during pregnancy, according to background characteristics. Women were asked to report on all health providers they saw for antenatal care for their most recent birth. However, if a woman saw more than one provider, only the provider with the highest qualification is considered in the table.

Younger mothers (age 35 or below) are more likely to receive antenatal care from a skilled health provider than older mothers (age 35-49). The likelihood of receiving ANC from a skilled health provider declines with increasing number of children. More than 8 in 10 mothers receive care from a skilled health provider for their first birth (84 percent), as compared with 57 percent for births of order six and higher.

Table 9.1 Antenatal care

Percent distribution of women age 15-49 who had a live birth in the five years preceding the survey by antenatal care (ANC) provider during pregnancy for the most recent birth and the percentage receiving antenatal care from a skilled provider for the most recent birth, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

_	Antenatal care provider						_		Percentage receiving	
Background characteristic	Doctor	Nurse/ midwife/ lady health visitor	Lady health worker	Dai/ traditional birth attendant	Other	Missing	No ANC	Total	antenatal care from a skilled provider ¹	Number of women
Mother's age at birth										
<20	70.5	5.5	0.0	2.4	0.0	0.4	21.2	100.0	75.9	543
20-34	68.8	6.3	0.2	1.8	0.2	0.1	22.6	100.0	75.1	5,868
35-49	54.1	6.0	0.5	4.1	0.0	0.1	35.1	100.0	60.1	1,035
Birth order										
1	78.7	5.6	0.1	1.5	0.1	0.2	13.9	100.0	84.2	1,437
2-3	72.7	5.6	0.1	1.6	0.1	0.1	19.9	100.0	78.3	2,699
4-5	63.3	6.9	0.3	2.2	0.5	0.1	26.7	100.0	70.2	1,737
6+	49.9	7.3	0.4	3.7	0.1	0.1	38.5	100.0	57.1	1,572
Residence										
Urban	83.7	4.1	0.2	1.4	0.1	0.3	10.3	100.0	87.8	2,244
Rural	59.6	7.2	0.2	2.4	0.2	0.0	30.3	100.0	66.7	5,202
Region										
Punjab	69.8	8.0	0.3	2.0	0.1	0.2	19.5	100.0	77.8	4,180
Urban	81.7	5.7	0.2	1.8	0.0	0.5	10.1	100.0	87.4	1,254
Rural	64.7	9.0	0.4	2.1	0.2	0.0	23.5	100.0	73.7	2,927
Sindh	76.2	2.0	0.0	0.6	0.2	0.0	20.9	100.0	78.2	1,714
Urban	90.9	1.3	0.0	0.6	0.1	0.1	6.9	100.0	92.2	719
Rural	65.5	2.5	0.0	0.6	0.3	0.0	31.1	100.0	68.0	995
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	53.8	6.7	0.2	1.6	0.1	0.1	37.5	100.0	60.5	1,117
Úrban	81.1	3.9	0.4	0.7	0.2	0.0	13.7	100.0	85.0	177
Rural	48.7	7.3	0.1	1.8	0.1	0.1	42.0	100.0	55.9	941
Balochistan	27.7	2.9	0.1	12.9	0.5	0.3	55.7	100.0	30.6	348
Urban	49.9	4.0	0.4	5.8	0.0	0.0	39.9	100.0	53.8	68
Rural	22.2	2.7	0.0	14.6	0.6	0.3	59.6	100.0	24.9	280
ICT Islamabad	93.1	1.2	1.0	0.4	0.8	0.3	3.2	100.0	94.3	31
Gilgit Baltistan	46.2	17.7	0.2	1.8	0.0	0.0	33.9	100.0	64.0	56
Education										
No education	52.9	7.0	0.3	2.9	0.3	0.0	36.6	100.0	59.9	4,155
Primary	74.4	7.0	0.2	2.5	0.0	0.0	16.0	100.0	81.4	1,230
Middle	83.0	8.0	0.0	0.8	0.0	0.4	7.8	100.0	91.0	587
Secondary	91.6	3.7	0.3	0.2	0.0	0.1	4.1	100.0	95.3	792
Higher	95.8	1.4	0.2	0.3	0.0	0.6	1.7	100.0	97.2	682
Wealth quintile										
Lowest	46.3	4.6	0.0	3.3	0.5	0.1	45.2	100.0	50.9	1,698
Second	53.1	8.5	0.2	2.9	0.2	0.0	35.3	100.0	61.5	1,544
Middle	66.8	9.9	0.6	2.5	0.0	0.0	20.2	100.0	76.7	1,464
Fourth	81.8	5.0	0.1	1.3	0.0	0.2	11.5	100.0	86.9	1,469
Highest	93.7	2.9	0.3	0.3	0.1	0.4	2.3	100.0	96.6	1,272
Total	66.8	6.2	0.2	2.1	0.2	0.1	24.3	100.0	73.1	7,446

Note: If more than one source of ANC was mentioned, only the provider with the highest qualifications is considered in this tabulation. ¹ Skilled provider includes doctor, nurse, midwife, and lady health visitor.

There are large differences in the use of antenatal care services between urban and rural women. Eighty-eight percent of urban mothers receive antenatal care from a skilled health provider, as compared with only 67 percent of rural mothers. Across regions, the proportion of mothers reporting that they received antenatal care from a skilled health provider varies markedly, ranging from 31 percent in Balochistan to 94 percent in ICT Islamabad ANC coverage is 61 percent in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa and 78 percent in Punjab and Sindh. Very large urban-rural differentials are also observed within regions. For example, in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 85 percent of women in urban areas were attended by a skilled health provider during ANC visits, as compared with 56 percent of women in rural areas.

As the mother's educational level and wealth increase, so does the likelihood that she will see a skilled health provider for care during pregnancy. Women with more than a secondary education are one and a half times as likely to receive antenatal care from a skilled health provider (97 percent) as women with no education (60 percent). Similarly, women in the highest wealth quintile are almost twice as likely

to receive care from a skilled health provider (97 percent) as women in the lowest wealth quintile (51 percent).

There has been a substantial improvement over the past two decades in the proportion of mothers receiving antenatal care from a skilled health provider, increasing from 26 percent in 1990-91 to 61 percent in 2006-07 and 73 percent in 2012-13.

Figure 9.1 shows that 73 percent of mothers receive antenatal care from skilled health providers (67 percent from a doctor and 6 percent from a nurse, midwife, or lady health visitor). Only 2 percent of women receive antenatal care from a traditional birth attendant (dai). Twenty-four percent of women receive no antenatal care at all.



Figure 9.1 Source of antenatal care

9.1.1 Number and Timing of Antenatal Visits

Antenatal care is more beneficial in preventing adverse pregnancy outcomes when it is sought early in the pregnancy and is continued through delivery. The World Health Organization recommends that a woman without pregnancy complications have at least four visits to provide sufficient antenatal care (WHO, 2006c). It is possible during these visits to detect health problems associated with a pregnancy. In the event of complications, more frequent visits are advised and admission to a health facility may be necessary.

Table 9.2 shows that more than one-third (37 percent) of pregnant women make four or more antenatal care visits during their pregnancy. Urban women are more likely (62 percent) to have four or more antenatal visits than rural women (26 percent). Forty-two percent of women make their first antenatal care visit during the first trimester of pregnancy. Urban women are almost twice as likely as rural women to start ANC in the first trimester (65 percent and 33 percent, respectively). The overall median length of pregnancy at the first antenatal care visit is 3.7 months (2.9 months in urban areas and 4.3 months in rural areas).

Appendix Table A9.1 shows, as expected, that women in ICT Islamabad are more likely than women in other regions to have four or more antenatal care visits (82 percent) and to make the first antenatal visit in the first trimester of pregnancy (73 percent). Consequently, the median length of pregnancy at first antenatal visit is lowest in ICT Islamabad (2.8 months). In other regions, the median length ranges from 3.4 months in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa to 4.4 months in Balochistan.

The percentage of women with four or more antenatal care visits during their pregnancy has more than doubled over the last 20 years, from 14 percent in 1990-91 to 28 percent in 2006-07 and 37 percent in 2012-13. At the same time, the percentage of women who make their first antenatal visit in the first six months of pregnancy has increased from 20 percent in 1990-91 to 44 percent in 2006-07 and 57 percent in 2012-13.

9.2 COMPONENTS OF ANTENATAL CARE

The components of an antenatal care visit are an essential indicator of the quality of health services provided to pregnant women. Focused antenatal care hinges on the principle that every pregnancy is at risk of complications.

Table 9.2 Number of antenatal care visits and timing of first visit

Percent distribution of women age 15-49 who had a live birth in the five years preceding the survey by number of antenatal care (ANC) visits for the most recent live birth, and by the timing of the first visit, and among women with ANC, median months pregnant at first visit, according to residence. Pakistan 2012-13

Number and timing of	Resi	dence	
ANC visits	Urban	Rural	Total
Number of ANC visits			
None	10.6	30.3	24.4
1	7.0	16.1	13.3
2-3	20.6	27.7	25.6
4+	61.6	25.8	36.6
Don't know/missing	0.3	0.1	0.1
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0
Number of months pregnant at time of first ANC visit			
No antenatal care	10.6	30.3	24.4
<4	64.9	32.7	42.4
4-5	13.3	15.0	14.5
6-7	7.6	14.4	12.4
8+ Danit han suu (asia sin s	3.5	7.5	6.3
Don't know/missing	0.2	0.1	0.1
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0
Number of women	2,244	5,202	7,446
Median months pregnant at first visit (for those with ANC)	2.9	4.3	3.7
Number of women with ANC	2,008	3,623	5,631

Therefore, apart from receiving basic care, every pregnant woman should be assessed for her risk of complications during pregnancy or childbirth. Ensuring that every pregnant woman receives basic information about preexisting health conditions (e.g., anemia, hypertension), potential complications, and birth preparedness should be a routine part of antenatal care. To assess quality of antenatal care, mothers in the 2012-13 PDHS were asked a number of questions about selected types of examinations for their most recent live birth in the five years preceding the survey.

Table 9.3 presents information on the percentage of women who took iron tablets or syrup during their last pregnancy in the five years preceding the survey. The table also shows the percentage of women who were informed about signs of pregnancy complications and were examined for such signs (by measuring blood pressure and weight, testing urine and blood, and conducting ultrasound procedures).

Among women with a live birth in the past five years, 45 percent took iron tablets or syrup and 3 percent took intestinal parasite drugs. There are substantial variations in iron supplementation by background characteristics. Younger women, women pregnant with their first child, urban women, better educated women, and wealthier women are more likely than other women to have taken iron supplements during pregnancy. For example, 46 percent of both women under age 20 and women age 20-34 took iron supplements during pregnancy, as compared with 38 percent of women age 35-49.

Women in ICT Islamabad are most likely to take iron supplements during pregnancy (80 percent); in other regions, the proportion of women who take iron supplements ranges between 17 percent (Balochistan) and 50 percent (Khyber Pakhtunkhwa).

Women with more than a secondary education (77 percent) and women in the highest wealth quintile (68 percent) are more likely to have taken iron supplements during their pregnancy than women with less education and those in lower wealth quintiles. There are substantial urban-rural differences in the percentage of pregnant women taking iron supplements within regions.

Table 9.3 Components of antenatal care

Among women with a live

Among women age 15-49 with a live birth in the five years preceding the survey, the percentage who took iron tablets or syrup and drugs for intestinal parasites during the pregnancy of the most recent birth, and among women receiving antenatal care (ANC) for the most recent live birth in the five years preceding the survey, the percentage receiving specific antenatal services, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	the percer during the p their las	ntage who regnancy of st birth:	,	Among wome	en who receive five years, t	ed antenatal of he percentag	care for their r ge with selecte	nost recent bi ed services:	rth in the past	
Background	Took iron tablets or syrup	Took intestinal parasite drugs	Number of women with a live birth in the past five years	Informed of signs of pregnancy complica- tions	Blood pressure measured	Urine sample taken	Blood sample taken	Weighed	Ultrasound taken	Number of women with ANC for their most recent birth
Mother's age at birth <20 20-34 35-49	46.2 45.8 38.0	1.4 2.5 2.9	543 5,868 1,035	47.5 51.2 47.0	81.6 86.9 82.2	56.4 63.0	51.2 57.5 45.8	38.5 54.0	85.7 90.0 82.0	426 4,535 670
Birth order 1 2-3 4-5 6+	53.2 47.4 43.4 33.8	2.7 1.9 3.1 2.7	1,437 2,699 1,737 1,572	53.5 52.2 46.3 47.6	88.9 89.0 83.6 78.3	71.1 66.0 55.5 43.0	65.0 62.4 48.9 37.5	56.8 57.6 49.6 36.9	92.5 91.6 87.1 79.5	1,235 2,158 1,272 966
Residence Urban Rural	57.2 39.3	2.9 2.3	2,244 5,202	52.3 49.3	93.4 81.8	80.6 49.9	77.1 43.7	72.0 41.0	94.1 85.8	2,008 3,623
Region Punjab Urban Rural	43.7 54.4 39.1	3.1 3.9 2.8	4,180 1,254 2,927	51.3 52.9 50.4	83.3 91.7 79.1	60.6 80.4 50.7	54.6 76.4 43.7	52.1 70.9 42.7	91.6 95.2 89.7	3,358 1,121 2,238
Sindh Urban Rural	49.2 61.7 40.1	1.6 1.3 1.8	1,714 719 995	42.8 49.5 36.3	89.9 96.0 83.9	58.7 82.5 35.5	57.2 80.6 34.4	50.2 75.3 25.6	86.8 93.5 80.4	1,355 669 685
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Urban Rural	50.0 68.7 46.5	2.1 3.0 2.0	1,117 177 941	59.0 57.1 59.5	93.9 95.5 93.4	66.2 77.1 63.1	59.7 72.5 56.2	53.9 65.7 50.7	87.5 94.9 85.4	697 152 545
Balochistan Urban Rural	17.1 26.7 14.7	0.7 0.5 0.8	348 68 280	49.9 50.2 49.8	69.5 86.5 63.2	51.9 64.4 47.3	37.3 51.4 32.1	48.3 61.8 43.4	51.4 68.4 45.2	153 41 112
ICT Islamabad Gilgit Baltistan	79.5 30.0	3.3 1.5	31 56	76.2 66.8	97.7 88.9	92.9 66.4	90.3 60.7	93.7 65.5	96.0 72.7	30 37
Education No education Primary Middle Secondary Higher	33.8 47.0 55.7 62.4 77.1	1.9 3.7 2.5 3.2 2.9	4,155 1,230 587 792 682	45.1 50.7 54.7 59.4 57.2	78.4 87.7 91.3 95.9 97.2	43.3 63.8 72.9 83.3 90.1	37.3 55.3 66.7 82.6 88.9	33.0 54.9 61.8 78.9 84.5	82.3 90.4 94.5 96.2 98.2	2,632 1,034 539 759 667
Wealth quintile Lowest Second Middle Fourth Highest	28.6 34.5 43.1 55.8 67.6	1.4 1.6 3.2 3.3 3.3	1,698 1,544 1,464 1,469 1,272	41.1 46.7 48.0 56.4 56.3	71.2 80.2 83.5 92.3 97.2	30.4 43.3 56.8 74.2 87.6	25.5 36.0 48.1 68.9 87.4	21.3 34.8 46.5 62.4 83.5	76.7 81.6 88.9 93.8 98.1	929 1,000 1,168 1,297 1,238
IUIAI	44./	2.5	7,440	JU.4	00.9	δ.υσ	ວວ. <i>1</i>	52.1	00./	5,031

Eighty-nine percent of mothers who received antenatal care reported that they had an ultrasound procedure, and 86 percent had their blood pressure measured. More than half of pregnant women had their weight taken and were informed about pregnancy complications during their antenatal visit, and 56 percent provided a urine sample.

Quality of antenatal care is related to women's residence, education, and wealth. For example, 90 percent of women with a higher education provided urine samples for testing, as compared with 43 percent of women with no education. Similarly, virtually all women with more than a secondary education (98 percent) had an ultrasound, as compared with about 82 percent of women with no education. Large urbanrural differences are also found within regions. In rural Balochistan, 32 percent of women provided a blood sample, while the corresponding proportion in urban Balochistan was 51 percent. With regard to information about pregnancy complications, however, there was little variation by residence, wealth quintile, or education. Overall, exactly half of the women were informed about pregnancy complications during their antenatal visit.

The overall quality of antenatal care has improved substantially in the past six years. For example, the percentage of women who had blood tests increased from 44 percent in 2006-07 to 56 percent in 2012-13. At the same time, the proportion of women receiving information about pregnancy complications during their antenatal care visit has doubled, from 25 percent in 2006-07 to 50 percent in 2012-13.

9.3 TETANUS TOXOID VACCINATIONS

Table 9.4 Tetanus toxoid injections

Neonatal tetanus is the leading cause of infant death in developing countries, where a considerable proportion of deliveries take place at home or at health facilities with poor hygienic conditions. Tetanus toxoid injections are given to women during pregnancy to prevent maternal and neonatal tetanus. For full protection, women should receive at least two doses of tetanus toxoid during their pregnancy. If a woman has been vaccinated during a previous pregnancy, however, she may require only one dose for the current pregnancy if the previous pregnancy occurred within 3 years of the last live birth. Five doses are considered to provide lifetime protection against tetanus.

Table 9.4 shows that 59 percent of pregnant women received two or more tetanus injections during their last pregnancy, and 64 percent of women who had a live birth in the five years preceding the survey had their last live birth protected against neonatal tetanus. It is clear that tetanus toxoid vaccination coverage among pregnant women in Pakistan is far from universal.

Differentials in tetanus toxoid coverage across subgroups of women are similar to those in other maternal health indicators. Births to younger women, those who are first-time mothers, women in urban areas, better educated women, and those in the highest wealth quintile are most likely to be protected against tetanus. Also, protection against tetanus is highest for births in ICT Islamabad (86 percent) and lowest for births in Balochistan (23 percent).

As shown in Table 9.4, the urban-rural difference in women receiving two or more tetanus toxoid injections during their last pregnancy within regions is highest in Balochist areas).

mong mothers age 15-49 with a live birth in the five years preceding the urvey, the percentage receiving two or more tetanus toxoid injections								
luring the pregnancy for the last live birth and the percentage whose last								
ve birth was protected against neonatal tetanus, according to								
ackground characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13								

	103, 1 48131411 2012	2-10	
Background characteristic	Percentage receiving two or more injections during last pregnancy	Percentage whose last birth was protected against neonatal tetanus ¹	Number of mothers
Mother's age at birth			
<20	53.3	55.5	543
20-34	61.3	67.1	5,868
35-49	45.9	50.2	1,035
Birth order			
1	66.3	66.8	1,437
2-3	64.6	71.5	2,699
4-5	57.0	64.0	1,737
0+	42.0	40.3	1,572
Residence	00 F	75.0	0.044
Urban	69.5 53.8	75.3	2,244
	55.0	55.0	5,202
Region	07.0	70.0	1 1 0 0
Punjab	67.9 73.2	73.8	4,180
Rural	65.7	71.7	2.927
Cindh	40.4	F2 F	4 74 4
Jinun	40.4	53.5 74.6	710
Rural	33.3	38.3	995
Khuhar Dakhtuakhua	E1 0	EE C	4 4 4 7
Lirban	51.0	55.0 65.5	1,117
Rural	49.9	53.7	941
Palachiston	20.0	22 2	240
Urban	20.9	23.2 42.3	540 68
Rural	16.7	18.5	280
ICT Islamabad	75.4	85.8	31
Gilgit Baltistan	45.3	51.8	56
Education			
No education	45.0	50.3	4,155
Primary	66.9	73.2	1,230
Middle	74.2	79.5	587
Secondary	82.0	86.2	792
riigriei	00.1	90.9	002
Wealth quintile	25.2	40.9	1 609
Second	50.5 50.3	40.0 54.2	1,090
Middle	63.4	69.5	1,464
Fourth	69.5	75.8	1,469
Highest	81.4	86.5	1,272
Total	58.6	63.9	7,446

¹ Includes mothers with two injections during the pregnancy of their last birth or two or more injections (the last within 3 years of the last live birth), three or more injections (the last within 5 years of the last birth), four or more injections (the last within 10 years of the last live birth), or five or more injections at any time prior to the last birth

pregnancy within regions is highest in Balochistan (42 percent in urban areas and 18 percent in rural areas).

Between 2006-07 and 2012-13, the percentage of mothers who received at least two doses of tetanus toxoid for their last birth increased from 53 percent to 56 percent. At the same time, the percentage of most recent births protected against neonatal tetanus increased from 60 percent in 2006-07 to 64 percent in 2012-13.

9.4 PLACE OF DELIVERY

Proper medical attention and hygienic conditions during delivery reduce the risk of complications and infections that may cause death or serious illness for the mother, the baby, or both. Hence, an important component in efforts to reduce the health risks of mothers and children is to increase the proportion of babies delivered in a safe and clean environment under the supervision of skilled health professionals. Pakistan's provincial maternal, neonatal, and child health programs promote skilled birth attendance by introducing trained community midwives in rural areas and providing delivery services by lady health visitors in basic health units and rural health centers.

Table 9.5 presents the percent distribution of live births in the five years preceding the survey by place of delivery, according to background characteristics. Forty-eight percent of births in Pakistan take place in a health facility; 15 percent are delivered in a public facility and 34 percent in a private facility. More than half of births (52 percent) take place at home. Delivery in a health facility is more common among mothers under age 35 and urban mothers. More than two-thirds (68 percent) of births in urban areas take place in a health facility, as compared with 40 percent in rural areas. The likelihood of delivering in a health facility increases with increasing number of children, number of antenatal visits, education, and wealth quintile. For example, 65 percent of first-time mothers deliver in a health facility, as compared with 51 percent of mothers with two to three births and 33 percent of mothers with six or more births. Delivery in a health facility also varies by region, ranging from 16 percent in Balochistan to 86 percent in ICT Islamabad. There is a strong association between health facility delivery and mother's education and wealth quintile. Only 34 percent of births to uneducated mothers occur in a health facility, as compared with 90 percent of births to mothers with a higher education. Similarly, delivery at a health facility is markedly lower among births in the lowest wealth quintile (27 percent) than among those in the highest quintile (84 percent).

The urban-rural difference in health facility deliveries within regions is highest in Sindh (78 percent and 47 percent, respectively). In Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, the corresponding proportions are 63 percent in urban areas and 36 percent in rural areas.

Table 9.5 Place of delivery

Percent distribution of live births in the five years preceding the survey by place of delivery and percentage delivered in a health facility, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Health	facility					Percentage	
Background characteristic	Public sector	Private sector	Home	Other	Missing	Total	delivered in a health facility	Number of births
Mother's age at birth <20 20-34 35-49	16.2 14.9 10.8	32.6 34.3 29.6	50.9 50.6 59.4	0.2 0.1 0.0	0.2 0.1 0.1	100.0 100.0 100.0	48.7 49.2 40.4	1,086 9,614 1,277
Birth order								
1 2-3 4-5 6+	17.3 16.9 12.5 9.2	47.1 34.3 26.6 23.6	35.2 48.6 60.7 67.1	0.1 0.0 0.1 0.1	0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1	100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0	64.5 51.2 39.1 32.7	2,783 4,374 2,564 2,256
Antenatal care visits ¹ None 1-3 4+	5.4 14.7 22.5	11.6 33.4 55.8	82.5 51.8 21.6	0.1 0.0 0.0	0.4 0.0 0.0	100.0 100.0 100.0	17.0 48.1 78.3	1,815 2,897 2,723
Residence Urban Rural	22.2 11.5	45.7 28.7	31.7 59.7	0.1 0.1	0.3 0.1	100.0 100.0	67.9 40.1	3,489 8,488
Region Punjab Urban Rural	14.6 24.4 10.5	34.0 40.7 31.2	51.3 34.3 58.3	0.0 0.1 0.0	0.2 0.5 0.1	100.0 100.0 100.0	48.5 65.1 41.7	6,859 2,007 4,852
Sindh Urban Rural	14.0 17.6 11.8	44.6 60.0 34.7	41.4 22.4 53.5	0.0 0.0 0.0	0.0 0.0 0.0	100.0 100.0 100.0	58.6 77.6 46.5	2,740 1,070 1,670
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Urban Rural	16.5 23.3 15.2	24.0 39.7 21.0	59.3 36.9 63.6	0.2 0.2 0.2	0.0 0.0 0.0	100.0 100.0 100.0	40.5 63.0 36.2	1,654 267 1,388
Balochistan Urban Rural	7.7 14.9 6.2	8.1 15.7 6.4	83.1 68.9 86.3	0.2 0.1 0.2	0.8 0.4 0.9	100.0 100.0 100.0	15.8 30.6 12.6	590 107 484
ICT Islamabad	54.7	31.7	12.9	0.0	0.7	100.0	86.4	47
Gilgit Baltistan	23.1	19.5	57.3	0.2	0.0	100.0	42.6	87
Mother's education No education Primary Middle Secondary Higher	10.4 16.8 22.4 23.7 21.1	23.6 35.2 43.8 52.2 68.6	65.9 47.9 33.6 23.8 9.6	0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0	0.1 0.1 0.3 0.3 0.7	100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0	34.0 52.0 66.2 75.9 89.7	6,852 2,039 905 1,209 973
Wealth quintile Lowest Second Middle Fourth Highest Total	7.7 10.3 14.5 22.0 21.8 14.6	19.4 23.5 31.1 41.4 62.2 33.6	72.8 66.0 54.2 36.3 15.6 51.6	0.0 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1	0.1 0.1 0.2 0.4 0.1	100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0	27.1 33.8 45.6 63.4 84.0 48.2	2,864 2,535 2,346 2,349 1,883 11,977

Note: Total includes 11 cases with missing information on number of antenatal care visits. ¹ Includes only the most recent birth in the 5 years preceding the survey

Figure 9.2 shows that there has been significant progress in the percentage of births that take place in a health facility. The proportion has increased by 14 percentage points, from 34 percent in 2006-07 to 48 percent in 2012-13. At the same time, home delivery has declined drastically, from 85 percent in 1990-91 to 65 percent in 2006-07 and 52 percent in 2012-13.



Figure 9.2 Trends in place of delivery

9.5 Assistance during Delivery

Obstetric care provided by a qualified health professional during delivery (skilled birth attendance) is recognized as the most critical factor in reducing maternal and neonatal mortality. Births delivered at home are more likely to be delivered without assistance from a skilled provider, whereas births delivered at a health facility are more likely to be delivered by skilled health professionals. Women who had a live birth in the five years preceding the survey were asked who assisted in the delivery. Interviewers recorded multiple responses if more than one person assisted. However, for tabulation purposes, only the most qualified attendant was considered if there was more than one in attendance.

Table 9.6 shows the type of health provider who assisted during delivery by selected background characteristics. A little over half (52 percent) of births take place with the assistance of a skilled health provider (doctor, nurse, midwife, or lady health visitor). Traditional birth attendants assist with less than half (41 percent) of all deliveries, while friends and relatives assist with 6 percent of deliveries. Less than 1 percent of births are delivered with no assistance.

Skilled health providers are more likely to deliver births to women less than age 20 and first-order births (55 percent and 68 percent, respectively) than to deliver births to older women (age 35-49) and higher order births (44 percent and 36 percent, respectively).

Births in urban areas are much more likely to be assisted by a skilled health provider (71 percent) than births in rural areas (44 percent). As expected, 9 in 10 (88 percent) births in ICT Islamabad are attended by a skilled health provider, as compared with 18 percent in Balochistan.

There is a strong positive relationship between mother's education and delivery by a skilled health provider. Births to women with more than a secondary education are more than twice as likely to receive assistance from a skilled health provider as births to uneducated mothers (92 percent and 38 percent, respectively). Similarly, assistance during delivery by a skilled health provider increases with increasing wealth. Births to women in the highest wealth quintile are almost three times as likely to be assisted by a skilled health provider as births to women in the lowest wealth quintile (85 percent and 30 percent, respectively). There are marked differentials by urban and rural areas within regions in assistance by skilled providers. In all regions, the proportion in urban areas is 20-30 percentage points higher than in rural areas.

Table 9.6 Assistance during delivery

		Person	providing assis	stance during						
Background characteristic	Doctor	Nurse/ midwife/ lady health visitor	Traditional birth attendant	Relative/ other	No one	Don't know/ missing	Total	Percentage delivered by a skilled provider ¹	Percentage delivered by C-section	Number of births
Mother's age at birth										
<20	44.2	10.7	37.1	7.2	0.2	0.5	100.0	55.0	13.5	1,086
20-34	42.6	10.3	40.9	5.6	0.2	0.4	100.0	52.9	14.8	9,614
35-49	34.5	9.3	46.7	8.3	0.7	0.4	100.0	43.8	8.9	1,277
Birth order										
1	57.4	11.0	28.1	3.0	0.1	0.4	100.0	68.4	22.7	2,783
2-3	45.0	10.2	38.3	5.6	0.2	0.5	100.0	55.3	16.5	4,374
4-5	33.2	10.1	49.6	6.6	0.2	0.3	100.0	43.3	8.6	2,564
6+	26.6	9.4	53.3	10.0	0.6	0.2	100.0	36.0	4.8	2,256
Antenatal care visits ²										
None	12.4	8.4	61.3	16.7	0.5	0.8	100.0	20.8	2.1	1.815
1-3	39.0	13.2	42.1	5.0	0.4	0.2	100.0	52.2	10.7	2,897
4+	72.8	8.6	17.3	1.2	0.1	0.1	100.0	81.4	30.1	2,723
Place of delivery ³										
Hoalth facility	95.2	13 7	0.6	0.3	0.0	0.2	100.0	00.0	20.2	5 777
Elsewhere	1.5	7.0	79.2	11.5	0.0	0.2	100.0	85	29.2	6 183
	1.0	7.0	15.2	11.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	0.0	0.0	0,100
Residence	04.0	7.0	07.0				100.0	74.0		0.400
Urban	64.0	7.0	27.2	1.5	0.0	0.3	100.0	/1.0	23.6	3,489
Rurai	32.8	11.6	46.9	7.9	0.3	0.4	100.0	44.4	10.2	8,488
Region										
Punjab	40.9	11.6	45.0	2.0	0.2	0.3	100.0	52.5	16.9	6,859
Urban	60.3	8.2	30.3	0.7	0.0	0.5	100.0	68.5	24.6	2,007
Rural	32.9	13.0	51.1	2.5	0.3	0.2	100.0	45.9	13.8	4,852
Sindh	56 1	44	37.3	21	0.0	0.0	100.0	60.5	15.4	2 740
Urban	75.8	3.3	20.2	0.7	0.0	0.0	100.0	79.1	26.7	1.070
Rural	43.5	5.1	48.3	3.1	0.0	0.0	100.0	48.6	8.2	1,670
Khuhar Dakhtuakhua	24.6	10.7	22.0	0F F	0.0	1 4	100.0	40.0	4.6	1 654
Knyber Pakntunknwa	57.0	10.7	23.9	25.5	0.9	1.4	100.0	48.3	4.0	1,654
Dural	26.6	12.3	22.1	20.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	70.2	11.0	1 299
Kuldi	20.0	17.5	24.2	23.0	1.1	1.0	100.0	44.1	5.2	1,500
Balochistan	15.8	2.0	70.4	10.8	0.0	1.0	100.0	17.8	1.5	590
Urban	30.0	4.4	61.0	4.3	0.0	0.4	100.0	34.4	2.2	107
Rural	12.7	1.5	72.5	12.3	0.0	1.1	100.0	14.2	1.3	484
ICT Islamabad	84.8	3.3	7.1	3.8	0.0	1.0	100.0	88.1	26.6	47
Gilgit Baltistan	21.4	22.3	9.9	45.8	0.5	0.0	100.0	43.7	3.3	87
Mother's education										
No education	27.7	10.0	52.6	89	0.4	0.4	100.0	37 7	65	6 852
Primary	45.7	11.3	39.7	3.1	0.1	0.1	100.0	57.0	16.0	2 039
Middle	57.9	12.3	27.2	2.4	0.0	0.3	100.0	70.2	20.2	905
Secondary	69.1	11.3	17.0	1.8	0.1	0.9	100.0	80.3	29.4	1.209
Higher	85.3	6.4	6.5	1.0	0.0	0.7	100.0	91.7	38.7	973
Woolth quintile										
	22 Q	60	50 0	10.7	0.4	03	100.0	20.8	43	2 864
Second	20.0	13.2	51 1	97	0.4	0.5	100.0	38.1	4.5 6.8	2,004
Middle	36.0	15.1	43.6	45	0.0	0.5	100.0	51 2	11 2	2,346
Fourth	57.2	11 7	28.6	22	0.1	0.3	100.0	68.9	20.7	2 349
Highest	80.5	4.7	13.4	0.9	0.0	0.5	100.0	85.2	33.9	1,883
Total	41.9	10.2	41.2	6.1	0.2	0.4	100.0	52.1	14.1	11,977

Percent distribution of live births in the five years preceding the survey by person providing assistance during delivery, percentage of births assisted by a skilled provider, and percentage delivered by caesarean section, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

Note: If the respondent mentioned more than one person attending during delivery, only the most qualified person is considered in this tabulation. Total includes 11 cases with missing information on number of antenatal care visits.

¹ Skilled provider includes doctor, nurse, midwife, and lady health visitor.

² Includes only the most recent birth in the five years preceding the survey

³ Excludes 18 cases with missing information on place of delivery

In the past six years, there has been an increase of 13 percentage points in births assisted by a skilled provider, from 39 percent in 2006-07 to 52 percent in 2012-13.

Table 9.6 shows that 14 percent of births are delivered by caesarean section. Delivery by caesarean section is highest among births to first-time mothers (23 percent), births to women with four or more antenatal visits (30 percent), births delivered in a health facility (29 percent), births to highly educated mothers (39 percent), and births to mothers in the highest wealth quintile (34 percent).

There are urban-rural differences in deliveries by caesarean section within regions. The difference is highest in Sindh, where 27 percent of births in urban areas and only 8 percent in rural areas are delivered by caesarean section.

Figure 9.3 presents the percent distribution of women who gave birth in a health facility in the five years preceding the survey by duration of stay in the facility and type of delivery. Among women who give birth by caesarean section, 78 percent stayed at the hospital for more than three days, as compared with 3 percent of women who had a vaginal birth. The majority (64 percent) of women who had a vaginal birth in a health facility were discharged less than six hours after delivery.





9.6 POSTNATAL CARE

The postpartum period is particularly important for women, because during this period they may develop serious, life-threatening complications, especially in the interval immediately after delivery. There is evidence that a large proportion of maternal and neonatal deaths occur during the first 48 hours after delivery. Postnatal care visits provide an ideal opportunity to educate a new mother on how to care for herself and her newborn baby.

9.6.1 Timing of First Postnatal Checkup for Mother

Table 9.7 shows that in the two years preceding the survey, 60 percent of women received postnatal care for their last birth within the first two days following delivery. One percent of women received postnatal care on the third day or later after delivery. Among women who had postnatal checkups, 54 percent received postnatal care within 4 hours of delivery, 5 percent received care within the first 4-23 hours, and 2 percent received postnatal 1-2 days after delivery. Overall, 38 percent of women had no postnatal checkup.

While differences by mother's age are not pronounced, there are prominent variations in levels of postnatal care by birth order, place of residence, and mother's education and wealth quintile. Mothers of children of higher birth orders, mothers who did not give birth in a health facility, rural women, women with no education, and women in the lowest wealth quintile are much less likely than other women to have postnatal checkups. Postnatal care also varies widely between urban and rural areas within regions, with the widest gap being observed in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (64 percent in urban and 33 percent in rural areas). Three in four (76 percent) mothers in Gilgit Baltistan did not receive a postnatal checkup.

Table 9.7 Timing of first postnatal checkup for the mother

Among women age 15-49 giving birth in the two years preceding the survey, the percent distribution of the mother's first postnatal checkup for the last live birth by time after delivery, and the percentage of women with a live birth in the two years preceding the survey who received a postnatal checkup in the first two days after giving birth, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Tim	e after deliv	very of moth	ier's first po	_		Percentage of women with a postnatal			
Background characteristic	Less than 4 hours	4-23 hours	1-2 days	3-6 days	7-41 days	Don't know/ missing	No postnatal checkup ¹	Total	checkup in the first two days after birth	Number of women
Mother's age at birth										
<20	53.2	4.0	1.4	1.8	0.0	1.6	38.0	100.0	58.6	350
20-34	54.3	5.2	1.7	0.6	0.5	1.0	36.6	100.0	61.2	3,416
35-49	50.2	2.9	1.9	0.4	0.0	0.1	44.5	100.0	55.0	479
Birth order										
1	61.4	6.5	1.9	0.8	0.7	2.0	26.7	100.0	69.8	1,014
2-3	53.3	5.9	2.1	0.6	0.4	1.0	36.7	100.0	61.3	1,611
4-5	50.2	2.3	1.6	0.9	0.5	0.6	44.0	100.0	54.1	913
6+	48.2	3.3	0.8	0.3	0.3	0.0	47.0	100.0	52.3	707
Place of delivery										
Health facility	74.3	8.5	1.9	0.6	0.4	1.4	12.9	100.0	84.7	2,295
Elsewhere	29.6	0.6	1.5	0.8	0.5	0.4	66.6	100.0	31.7	1,948
Residence										
Urban	63.1	8.1	2.7	0.8	1.0	1.0	23.4	100.0	73.9	1,256
Rural	49.8	3.5	1.3	0.6	0.2	1.0	43.6	100.0	54.6	2,990
Region										
Puniah	58 1	62	16	07	0.3	15	31.6	100.0	66.0	2 425
Urban	65.7	9.1	1.8	0.8	0.7	1.4	20.4	100.0	76.6	736
Rural	54.8	4.9	1.5	0.6	0.1	1.5	36.5	100.0	61.3	1,690
Sindh	60.2	10	2.0	0.0	0.6	0.0	22.2	100.0	66.2	061
Jirbon	61.6	4.0	2.0	0.9	0.0	0.0	32.2	100.0	74.0	90 I 277
Rural	59.3	0.0 1.5	4.4	0.9	1.0	0.0	23.4	100.0	61.3	585
	00.0	1.0	0.4	1.0	0.0	0.0	07.0	100.0	01.0	000
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	36.3	0.9	0.5	0.4	0.7	0.5	60.7	100.0	37.7	623
Urban	61.4	1.6	1.3	0.3	0.5	1.7	33.2	100.0	64.3	99
Rurai	31.6	0.8	0.3	0.4	0.7	0.3	65.9	100.0	32.7	524
Balochistan	28.1	3.4	5.7	0.7	0.0	0.9	61.1	100.0	37.2	187
Urban	32.4	5.0	4.9	0.3	0.3	0.7	56.4	100.0	42.3	32
Rural	27.2	3.0	5.9	0.8	0.0	0.9	62.1	100.0	36.2	156
ICT Islamabad	56.6	17.6	3.8	0.0	0.8	1.4	19.9	100.0	77.9	16
Gilgit Baltistan	15.2	4.2	0.4	1.0	1.9	1.3	75.9	100.0	19.9	33
Education										
No education	48.0	2.0	1.5	0.6	0.2	1.0	46.6	100.0	51.6	2,304
Primary	53.9	4.6	0.7	0.6	0.5	1.0	38.8	100.0	59.1	741
Middle	58.9	9.3	2.6	0.9	0.7	0.0	27.6	100.0	70.8	346
Secondary	64.2	8.3	2.2	1.1	0.8	1.8	21.7	100.0	74.7	480
Higher	70.3	14.5	3.5	0.6	1.0	0.8	9.3	100.0	88.3	374
Wealth guintile										
Lowest	39.0	2.1	0.9	1.2	0.0	0.1	56.7	100.0	42.0	934
Second	50.0	2.4	2.1	0.2	0.5	0.8	44.0	100.0	54.5	914
Middle	52.8	3.8	1.1	0.8	0.4	2.2	39.0	100.0	57.6	858
Fourth	64.4	5.9	1.9	0.5	0.7	1.2	25.4	100.0	72.2	873
Highest	66.7	12.0	3.0	0.7	0.7	0.7	16.3	100.0	81.7	667
Total	53.7	4.8	1.7	0.7	0.4	1.0	37.6	100.0	60.3	4,246

Note: Total includes 3 cases with missing information on place of delivery. ¹ Includes women who received a checkup after 41 days

9.6.2 **Provider of First Postnatal Checkup for Mother**

Table 9.8 presents information on the type of postnatal care provider by mother's background characteristics. Among mothers who received postnatal care, 48 percent received care from a skilled health provider and 12 percent from a traditional birth attendant (dai). Differentials in types of providers across subgroups are the same as those for timing of postnatal care.

Table 9.8 Type of provider of first postnatal checkup for the mother

Among women age 15-49 giving birth in the two years preceding the survey, the percent distribution by type of provider of the mother's first postnatal health check in the two days after the last live birth, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Type of hea	Ith provider of mo ostnatal checkup	other's first	No postnatal		
	Doctor/	Dai/traditional		the first two		
Background	nurse/	birth	0.1	days after	-	Number of
characteristic	midwife/LHV	attendant	Other	birth	lotal	women
Mother's age at birth						
<20	46.9	11.6	0.0	41.4	100.0	350
20-34 35-49	49.3	16.6	0.3	30.0 45.0	100.0	3,410 479
Dirth and an	00.1	10.0	0.0	10.0	100.0	
1	62.2	72	04	30.2	100.0	1 014
2-3	50.6	10.6	0.2	38.7	100.0	1,611
4-5	38.8	15.1	0.2	45.9	100.0	913
6+	32.5	19.4	0.4	47.7	100.0	707
Place of delivery						
Health facility	84.0	0.4	0.3	15.3	100.0	2,295
Elsewhere	5.3	26.2	0.2	68.3	100.0	1,948
Residence						
Urban	64.5	9.0	0.3	26.1	100.0	1,256
Rula	40.0	13.0	0.5	45.4	100.0	2,990
Region	50.5	45.0	0.4	04.0	400.0	0.405
Punjab	50.5 63.5	15.0	0.4	34.0 23.4	100.0	2,425
Rural	44.9	16.0	0.4	38.7	100.0	1.690
Sindh	56 5	9.6	0.1	33.7	100.0	961
Urban	70.6	3.5	0.0	26.0	100.0	377
Rural	47.4	13.6	0.2	38.7	100.0	585
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	35.3	2.4	0.0	62.3	100.0	623
Urban	62.0	2.4	0.0	35.7	100.0	99
Rural	30.3	2.4	0.0	67.3	100.0	524
Balochistan	12.5	24.7	0.0	62.8	100.0	187
Urban	28.2	14.1	0.0	57.7	100.0	32
Rural	9.3	26.9	0.0	63.8	100.0	156
ICT Islamabad	75.9	1.5	0.5	22.1	100.0	16
Gilgit Baltistan	19.2	0.7	0.1	80.1	100.0	33
Education						
No education	34.2	17.2	0.2	48.4	100.0	2,304
Primary	48.8	9.8	0.5	40.9	100.0	741
Secondary	71.0	3.3	0.5	29.2	100.0	480
Higher	86.8	1.5	0.0	11.7	100.0	374
Wealth quintile						
Lowest	26.1	15.9	0.0	58.0	100.0	934
Second	37.7	16.5	0.4	45.5	100.0	914
Middle	43.6	13.8	0.3	42.4	100.0	858
Fourth	61.9	9.8	0.6	27.8	100.0	8/3
	19.2	2.0	0.0	10.3	100.0	007
Iotal	47.8	12.2	0.3	39.7	100.0	4,246

Note: Total includes 3 cases with missing information on place of delivery.

LHV = Lady health visitor

9.7 NEWBORN CARE

Newborn care is essential to reduce neonatal problems and death. To identify, manage, and prevent complications, it is recommended that the mother and the newborn have at least three checkups within seven days after delivery (WHO and UNICEF, 2009), which is considered a critical period for neonates and mothers.

Table 9.9 shows the percent distribution of last births in the two years preceding the survey by timing of the first postnatal checkup after birth, along with the percentage of newborns with a postnatal checkup in the first two days after birth, according to background characteristics.

Overall, 43 percent of newborns received their first postnatal checkup within two days after birth. Among these newborns, one in four had a postnatal checkup less than one hour after birth, and 14 percent had a checkup between one and three hours after birth. In all, 41 percent of newborns had a postnatal checkup within 24 hours after birth.

Fifty-four percent of newborns did not receive a postnatal checkup. Newborns delivered outside of a health facility were less likely to receive a postnatal checkup within the first week after birth (29 percent) than newborns delivered in a health facility (60 percent). Similarly, postnatal checkups were less likely among births to mothers age 35-49, births of order six and over, births to rural women, and births in Gilgit Baltistan than among births in the other categories.

The highest urban-rural difference in percent of newborns having a checkup within two days after birth was found in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (47 percent and 18 percent in urban and rural areas, respectively). The highest urban-rural differences in no postnatal checkups of the newborns are also in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (49 percent and 77 percent in urban and rural areas, respectively).

Table 9.9 Timing of first postnatal checkup for the newborn

Percent distribution of last births in the two years preceding the survey by time after birth of first postnatal checkup, and the percentage of births with a postnatal checkup in the first two days after birth, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Т	ïme after bir	rth of newbor	n's first post	natal checku	ip	_		births with a postnatal		
Background characteristic	Less than 1 hour	1-3 hours	4-23 hours	1-2 days	3-6 days	Don't know/ missing	No postnatal checkup ¹	Total	checkup in the first two days after birth	Number of births	
Mother's age at birth											
<20	24.4	7.6	1.9	1.7	2.9	1.9	59.5	100.0	35.6	350	
20-34	24.6	15.4	1.5	2.1	2.9	0.6	52.8	100.0	43.7	3,416	
35-49	25.7	12.5	0.4	3.5	1.9	0.1	56.0	100.0	42.1	479	
Birth order	00.4		4 7	0.5		~ ~	40.7	100.0	10.4		
1	28.1	14.2	1.7	2.5	4.1	0.8	48.7	100.0	46.4	1,014	
2-3 4-5	23.0	14.3	2.0	2.0	2.4	1.0	56.5	100.0	43.4	013	
4-5 6+	23.2	12.2	0.7	2.7	2.6	0.2	58.6	100.0	38.8	707	
Place of delivery											
Health facility	32.8	20.8	21	21	17	10	39.5	100.0	57.9	2 295	
Elsewhere	15.2	7.0	0.6	2.4	4.1	0.2	70.4	100.0	25.2	1,948	
Residence											
Urban	31.3	17.0	2.1	2.0	2.6	0.5	44.5	100.0	52.4	1,256	
Rural	22.0	13.3	1.1	2.4	2.9	0.7	57.6	100.0	38.8	2,990	
Region											
Punjab	34.2	14.0	1.5	1.6	2.3	1.1	45.3	100.0	51.3	2,425	
Urban	38.4	14.0	2.0	1.0	2.6	0.8	41.3	100.0	55.3	736	
Rural	32.4	14.0	1.3	1.9	2.1	1.2	47.0	100.0	49.6	1,690	
Sindh	15.4	20.9	1.4	3.4	3.5	0.0	55.4	100.0	41.1	961	
Urban	21.9	23.5	2.5	3.8	2.5	0.1	45.7	100.0	51.7	377	
Rural	11.3	19.3	0.7	3.1	4.1	0.0	61.6	100.0	34.3	585	
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	11.1	8.5	0.8	2.1	4.7	0.0	72.9	100.0	22.4	623	
Urban	26.7	16.5	1.5	1.8	3.8	0.3	49.4	100.0	46.5	99	
Rural	8.2	7.0	0.6	2.1	4.8	0.0	77.3	100.0	17.9	524	
Balochistan	0.5	6.6	1.8	5.9	0.5	0.0	84.7	100.0	14.8	187	
Urban	2.4	10.4	0.8	3.0	0.5	0.0	82.9	100.0	16.6	32	
Rural	0.1	5.9	2.0	6.5	0.5	0.0	85.1	100.0	14.4	156	
ICT Islamabad	14.2	34.0	3.7	3.1	3.6	0.4	41.0	100.0	55.1	16	
Gilgit Baltistan	0.4	1.0	1.0	1.1	2.1	0.8	93.5	100.0	3.5	33	
Mother's education											
No education	20.7	11.3	0.6	1.8	2.8	0.7	62.0	100.0	34.5	2,304	
Primary	27.1	15.7	1.3	3.1	4.3	0.5	48.0	100.0	47.2	741	
Middle	27.8	17.1	2.6	1.6	3.3	0.0	47.6	100.0	49.2	346	
Secondary	27.6	19.4	3.3	2.6	1.2	1.5	44.4	100.0	52.9	480	
Higher	38.5	22.3	2.7	3.3	1.6	0.1	31.5	100.0	66.7	374	
Wealth quintile											
Lowest	12.4	10.6	0.7	3.1	3.3	0.0	70.0	100.0	26.7	934	
Secona	25.5 25.6	10.5 13 P	0.9	2.2	3.7	0.6	50.5	100.0	39.1	914 859	
Fourth	29.6	18.8	1.0	24	2.0	0.7	44.6	100.0	52.5	873	
Highest	33.6	20.3	3.3	2.1	2.7	0.6	37.5	100.0	59.2	667	
Total	24.7	14.4	1.4	2.3	2.8	0.6	53.7	100.0	42.8	4,246	
										-	

Note: Total includes 3 cases with missing information on place of delivery. ¹ Includes newborns who received a checkup after the first week

9.7.1 Provider of First Postnatal Checkup for Newborn

Table 9.10 presents the percent distribution of the most recent births occurring in the two years preceding the survey by type of provider of newborn care during the first two days after delivery, according to background characteristics.

Table 9.10 Type of provider of first postnatal checkup for the newborn

Percent distribution of last births in the two years preceding the survey by type of provider of the newborn's first postnatal health check during the two days after the last live birth, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Type of hea	alth provider of new postnatal checkup	/born's first	No postnatal checkup in		
Background characteristic	Doctor/ nurse/ midwife	Auxiliary nurse/midwife	Other	the first two days after birth ¹	Total	Number of births
Mother's age at birth						
<20 20-34 35-49	28.1 35.5 30.3	7.4 8.0 11.5	0.0 0.2 0.3	64.4 56.3 57.9	100.0 100.0 100.0	350 3,416 479
Birth order						
1 2-3 4-5 6+	42.9 36.3 28.1 25.4	3.3 7.1 12.5 12.9	0.2 0.0 0.4 0.5	53.6 56.6 59.0 61.2	100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0	1,014 1,611 913 707
Place of delivery Health facility Elsewhere	57.6 6.8	0.0 18.1	0.2 0.3	42.1 74.8	100.0 100.0	2,295 1,948
Residence						
Urban Rural	45.8 29.4	6.4 9.1	0.1 0.3	47.6 61.2	100.0 100.0	1,256 2,990
Region Punjab Urban Rural	39.4 46.1 36.5	11.7 9.0 12.9	0.2 0.2 0.2	48.7 44.7 50.4	100.0 100.0 100.0	2,425 736 1,690
Sindh Urban Rural	36.7 49.0 28.7	4.3 2.7 5.4	0.1 0.0 0.2	58.9 48.3 65.7	100.0 100.0 100.0	961 377 585
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Urban Rural	21.0 45.0 16.5	1.2 1.6 1.2	0.2 0.0 0.3	77.6 53.5 82.1	100.0 100.0 100.0	623 99 524
Balochistan Urban Rural	3.8 10.1 2.5	10.4 6.1 11.3	0.6 0.4 0.6	85.2 83.4 85.6	100.0 100.0 100.0	187 32 156
ICT Islamabad	53.8	1.2	0.0	44.9	100.0	16
Gilgit Baltistan	2.9	0.0	0.6	96.5	100.0	33
Mother's education	22.2	10.0	0.2	65 F	100.0	2 204
Primary Middle Secondary Higher	23.3 38.4 41.3 50.7 66.0	8.7 7.4 2.2 0.5	0.2 0.2 0.5 0.0 0.3	52.8 50.8 47.1 33.3	100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0	2,304 741 346 480 374
Wealth quintile						
Lowest Second Middle Fourth Highost	17.3 26.4 32.5 44.8	9.2 12.2 9.3 7.2	0.1 0.4 0.0 0.5	73.3 60.9 58.2 47.5	100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0	934 914 858 873
Total	34.3	8.3	0.2		100.0	4,246

Note: Total includes 3 cases with missing information on place of delivery.

¹ Includes newborns who received a checkup after the first week

The findings show that 34 percent of newborns received postnatal care in the two days following birth from a doctor, nurse, or midwife. An additional 8 percent of newborns received care from an auxiliary nurse or midwife. The distribution of newborns who received care from a skilled birth attendant by background characteristics is more or less similar to the pattern described for providers of mothers' postnatal checkups.

Urban-rural differences in types of health providers for postnatal checkups are highest in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, where newborn babies of urban women are more likely to have checkups from a skilled health provider (45 percent and 17 percent in urban and rural areas, respectively).

9.8 PROBLEMS IN ACCESSING HEALTH CARE

In the 2012-13 PDHS, women were asked whether or not each of the following factors would be a serious problem for them in seeking medical care: getting permission to go for treatment, getting money for advice or treatment, distance to a health facility, not wanting to go alone, and management of transportation. The majority of women (63 percent) reported that at least one of these problems would pose a barrier in seeking health care for themselves when they are sick (Table 9.11). More than half (53 percent) of women stated that not wanting to go alone is a problem, while 40 percent cited managing transportation. Thirty-seven percent mentioned distance from a health facility as a problem, while 30 percent cited getting money for advice or treatment. Only 18 percent of women mentioned getting permission to go as a problem.

Problems in accessing health care decrease with increasing age, education, and wealth. Women who are employed not for cash are more likely to have problems in accessing health care than women who are not employed and women who are employed for cash (63 percent each). Urban women are much less likely than rural women to mention problems in accessing health care. There are urban-rural differentials in access to health care in all regions. The most pronounced urban-rural differential is in Sindh (46 percent in urban areas and 86 percent in rural areas).

Table 9.11 Problems in accessing health care

Percentage of women age 15-49 who reported that they have serious problems in accessing health care for themselves when they are sick, by type of problem, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Problems in accessing health care								
Background	Getting permission to go for	Getting money for advice or	Distance to	Not wanting	Management	At least one problem accessing	Number of		
characteristic	treatment	treatment	health facility	to go alone	of transport	health care	women		
Age 15-19 20-34 35-49	23.9 20.2 13.8	36.0 29.9 28.8	52.6 38.1 34.0	78.0 59.7 41.7	55.4 42.0 36.6	83.3 67.8 55.0	605 7,359 5,594		
Number of living children									
0	21.4	28.0	39.7	66.3	43.2	72.2	1,828		
1-2	17.0	26.5	35.3	57.1	37.6	64.6	4,059		
3-4	15.7	28.6	35.5	48.0	39.1	59.8	3,912		
5+	18.8	35.1	39.4	47.7	43.1	61.0	3,760		
Marital status Married or living together Divorced/separated/widowed	18.0 12.4	29.4 35.6	37.5 28.4	53.9 37.9	40.6 35.0	63.6 55.3	12,937 621		
Employed in last 12 months									
Not employed	18.0	28.4	36.0	54.0	38.9	62.8	9,606		
Employed for cash	16.0	32.9	38.0	49.2	42.9	62.9	3,077		
Employed not for cash	20.6	33.5	45.4	56.9	47.7	69.0	873		
Residence									
Urban	10.5	17.1	17.0	37.1	21.0	45.3	4,536		
Rural	21.4	36.1	47.1	61.2	50.0	72.3	9,022		
Region									
Punjab	10.3	19.5	25.7	45.1	28.1	55.3	7,790		
Urban	9.5	13.8	12.9	34.3	16.2	42.0	2,526		
Rural	10.7	22.2	31.8	50.3	33.8	61.7	5,264		
Sindh	19.1	32.4	43.5	56.2	51.0	66.5	3,133		
Urban	7.7	15.8	18.0	37.4	24.4	45.6	1,521		
Rural	29.7	48.0	67.7	73.9	76.1	86.2	1,612		
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	34.2	57.0	63.0	75.1	62.8	85.2	1,908		
Urban	19.7	37.7	32.4	52.4	31.1	63.7	320		
Rural	37.2	60.9	69.2	79.7	69.1	89.6	1,588		
Balochistan	57.1	62.4	69.7	73.1	72.6	81.3	568		
Urban	44.4	47.8	52.6	57.4	53.7	67.4	114		
Rural	60.3	66.1	74.0	77.1	77.3	84.8	454		
ICT Islamabad	6.5	11.3	13.6	25.4	15.9	32.8	64		
Gilgit Baltistan	20.2	50.4	57.5	66.2	69.2	76.2	94		
Education									
No education	23.1	39.7	46.5	58.7	50.6	70.7	7,736		
Primary	14.3	23.9	32.6	50.8	35.8	61.5	2,156		
Middle	11.0	18.8	26.3	50.7	29.8	57.2	993		
Secondary	9.4	12.2	21.3	44.4	22.4	50.9	1,413		
Higher	5.3	6.5	12.6	34.4	13.8	38.9	1,260		
Wealth quintile									
Lowest	31.9	54.3	65.1	75.5	71.6	87.0	2,589		
Second	22.1	41.2	47.9	60.2	52.6	74.4	2,676		
Middle	15.7	26.5	35.1	52.0	37.1	62.4	2,700		
rourn Highest	13.1	19.8	25.6	44.9 35 0	28.2	54.9 20 7	2,789		
าแรกธระ	7.0	9.2	14.1	33.0	15.0	39.1	2,004		
Total	17.7	29.7	37.1	53.1	40.3	63.2	13,558		

Note: Total includes 2 cases with missing information on status of employment in the last 12 months.

Key Findings

- There has been a slow improvement in the percentage of fully immunized children age 12-23 months, from 47 percent in 2006-07 to 54 percent in 2012-13.
- Only one-third of children age 12-23 months have a vaccination card.
- Sixteen percent of children under age 5 showed symptoms of acute respiratory infection in the two weeks before the survey; 64 percent of these children were taken to a health facility or care provider for advice or treatment, and 42 percent received antibiotics.
- About 38 percent of children under age 5 had a fever in the two weeks before the survey, and 65 percent of them were taken to a health facility or care provider for advice or treatment.
- Twenty-three percent of children under age 5 had diarrhea in the two weeks before the survey.
- The proportion of children with diarrhea taken to a health care provider for advice or treatment has increased over time, from 48 percent in 1990-91 to 61 percent in 2012-13.
- The use of ORS among children with diarrhea is not popular; only 38 percent of children who had diarrhea in the two weeks preceding the survey received ORS.

ealth is one of the foremost underlying factors that define the welfare of a country's population, and children, as the building blocks of society, represent the very essence of the health situation prevalent in a country. The overall maternal, neonatal, and child health and family planning effort in Pakistan is well directed and has been a priority in all policies, with resource allocations, unacceptably low in the past, substantially increasing during the last decade (Siddiqi et al., 2004).

Pakistan is a signatory to the International Charter for the Achievement of the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs), and it continuously strives for achievement of the MDGs and significant improvements in its performance in areas such as health and nutrition (Government of Punjab, 2013). The past few years have seen landmark constitutional developments establishing a new framework of devolution of power from the federal level to the provinces and enhancing the prospects of better service delivery and greater scope for public participation (Planning Commission and UNICEF, 2012).

However, health status indicators in Pakistan remain poorer than in most low-income countries. Although the overall health status of Pakistan's population has improved over the past few decades, the rate of improvement remains inadequate, largely as a result of poverty, low literacy levels, and lack of civic facilities such as proper sanitation.

One characteristic that distinguishes populations in less developed countries from those of industrialized ones is infant mortality. Taking a comprehensive look at the underlying causes of child mortality, it can safely be established that, outside the critical period of childbirth, a large proportion of child deaths are related to infectious diseases. The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that children under age 15 account for 36 percent of the total number of years of healthy life lost globally, while children under age 5 accounts for 90 percent. A large proportion (60 percent) of these deaths are related to communicable and vaccine-preventable diseases (Bhutta et al., 2004).

In order to elaborately evaluate such data, the 2012-13 PDHS synthesized health statistics among children under age 5 through information gathered from mothers on their children's birth weight, immunization status, and prevalence and treatment of common childhood illnesses such as diarrhea, acute respiratory infection (ARI), and fever. Birth weight data were compiled for all live births in the five years preceding the survey. Analysis of these data will help policymakers in planning appropriate strategies to improve child health.

10.1 CHILD'S WEIGHT AND SIZE AT BIRTH

Information on birth weight or size at birth is important for the design and implementation of public health programs aimed at reducing neonatal and infant mortality. A child's birth weight or size not only indicates the child's vulnerability to the risk of childhood illnesses but also defines the child's chances of survival.

The 2012-13 PDHS questionnaire recorded birth weight, available from written records or mother's recall, for births in the five years preceding the survey. Since birth weight may not be known for many babies, the mother's estimate of the baby's size at birth was also obtained; responses were categorized as "very small," "smaller than average," "average," "larger than average," and "very large." Children whose birth weight is less than 2.5 kilograms and children reported to be very small or smaller than average are considered to have a higher than average risk of early childhood death. Mother's estimates, even though subjective, can be a useful proxy for the weight of the child. This is particularly true in societies such as Pakistan, where babies are often delivered at home and not weighed at birth. In 2006-07, only 1 in 10 infants had a birth weight recorded, and 26 percent of these infants were reported to have a low birth weight (National Institute of Population Studies and Macro International Inc., 2008).

Table 10.1 presents information on children's weight and size at birth according to background characteristics. Only 12 percent of children born in the past five years were weighed at birth. This is not surprising given that the majority of births do not take place in a health facility and children are less likely to be weighed at birth in a non-institutional setting. Among children born in the five years before the survey with a reported birth weight, one-fourth were of low birth weight (less than 2.5 kg).

There is visible variation in the percentage of children of low birth weight by background characteristics. Table 10.1 shows that children of young mothers are more likely to be of low birth weight (29 percent) than children of older mothers (22 percent). Birth order does not exhibit linear variations; children of birth order four or five are more likely to have a low birth weight (31 percent) than children of other birth orders. Birth weight varies by place of residence. The percentage of low birth weight children in rural areas is 33 percent, as compared with 21 percent in urban areas. In case of region, no set pattern is observed with respect to low birth weights. Gilgit Baltistan has the highest incidence of low birth weight (30 percent), followed by Khyber Pakhtunkhwa and Punjab (27 percent each). Children of mothers with no education are most likely to be of low birth weight (40 percent) and children of mothers with a higher education are least likely (16 percent). Similarly, the incidence of low birth weight decreases with increasing wealth, from 67 percent in the lowest wealth quintile to 19 percent in the highest wealth quintile.

In the absence of birth weight, a mother's subjective assessment of the size of her baby at birth may be a useful proxy. Only 4 percent of children were reported to be very small at birth, and 16 percent were reported to be smaller than average. On the other hand, 80 percent of children were reported to be average or larger in size. There were some interesting variations by background characteristics, especially among babies categorized as "very small." For example, babies of older mothers (age 35-49) were more likely to be reported as very small at birth than babies of mothers age 20-34. Children of birth order six or above were more likely (5 percent) than those of first-order parity (3 percent) to be reported as very small at birth. There were wide variations according to mother's smoking status; mothers who smoke were more likely to report having very small babies (8 percent) than nonsmokers (4 percent). There was some regional variation, with Punjab and Sindh having the lowest percentage (3 percent each) of very small births and Balochistan (8 percent) and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (7 percent) having the highest percentages. Children of

mothers with no education and those from households in the lowest wealth quintile were more likely to be reported as very small than their counterparts in other categories.

Table 10.1 Child's size and weight at birth

Percent distribution of live births in the five years preceding the survey by mother's estimate of baby's size at birth, percentage of live births in the five years preceding the survey that have a reported birth weight, and among live births in the five years preceding the survey with a reported birth weight, percentage less than 2.5 kg, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Percent di	stribution of	all live births	by size of chil	Percentage of		Births with a reported birth weight ¹		
Background characteristic	Very small	Smaller than average	Average or larger	Don't know/ missing	Total	all births that have a reported birth weight ¹	Number of births	Percentage less than 2.5 kg	Number of births
Mother's age at birth									
<20	4.7	19.6	75.0	0.6	100.0	8.4	1,086	28.8	91
20-34	3.3	15.3	81.0	0.4	100.0	12.9	9,614	25.0	1,236
35-49	5.7	14.8	79.0	0.4	100.0	10.3	1,277	22.2	132
Birth order									
1	3.0	16.3	80.2	0.5	100.0	18.1	2,783	24.1	504
2-3	3.3	15.7	80.4	0.6	100.0	14.0	4,374	23.8	614
4-5	3.9	16.0	79.7	0.4	100.0	8.4	2,564	31.0	216
6+	4.8	14.4	80.7	0.1	100.0	5.6	2,256	24.4	125
Mother's smoking status									
Smokes cigarettes/tobacco	8.4	26.9	63.4	1.3	100.0	3.3	118	*	4
Does not smoke	3.6	15.5	80.5	0.4	100.0	12.3	11,840	24.9	1,450
Residence									
Urban	2.9	11.5	85.0	0.6	100.0	27.8	3,489	21.0	970
Rural	4.0	17.4	78.3	0.4	100.0	5.8	8,488	33.0	488
Region									
Punjab	2.7	15.7	81.1	0.4	100.0	11.6	6,859	26.6	797
Sindh	2.7	16.6	80.6	0.0	100.0	19.1	2,740	21.7	524
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	7.3	13.5	78.2	0.9	100.0	5.0	1,654	27.2	82
Balochistan	7.8	16.2	75.0	1.0	100.0	1.2	590	(44.4)	7
ICT Islamabad	6.6	10.0	82.7	0.7	100.0	60.5	47	25.0	28
Gilgit Baltistan	5.3	19.7	74.8	0.1	100.0	22.9	87	29.8	20
Mother's education									
No education	4.1	17.9	77.7	0.3	100.0	3.4	6,852	40.2	235
Primary	3.6	13.6	82.4	0.4	100.0	7.9	2,039	31.5	162
Middle	3.5	14.0	81.5	1.0	100.0	21.2	905	35.6	191
Secondary	3.0	10.6	86.1	0.3	100.0	30.4	1,209	19.5	367
Higher	1.7	12.0	85.1	1.2	100.0	51.7	973	15.8	503
Wealth quintile									
Lowest	4.4	20.2	75.2	0.2	100.0	1.9	2,864	67.1	55
Second	4.0	18.7	76.8	0.5	100.0	3.3	2,535	42.7	84
Middle	4.2	13.8	81.8	0.2	100.0	5.4	2,346	40.0	127
Fourth	2.9	12.0	84.5	0.6	100.0	15.0	2,349	22.8	353
Highest	2.3	11.5	85.5	0.7	100.0	44.5	1,883	19.1	839
Total	3.6	15.7	80.3	0.4	100.0	12.2	11,977	25.0	1,458

Note: Total includes 4 cases with missing information on mother's smoking status. Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases. An asterisk indicates that a figure is based on fewer than 25 unweighted cases and has been suppressed. ¹ Based on either a written record or the mother's recall

10.2 VACCINATION COVERAGE

Universal immunization of children under age 1 against major vaccine-preventable diseases (tuberculosis, diphtheria, pertussis, tetanus, hepatitis B, *Haemophilus influenzae* type B [Hib], poliomyelitis, and measles) is one of the most cost-effective means of reducing infant and child morbidity and mortality. Following the guidelines of the World Health Organization (Hasan et al., 2010), the government of Pakistan initiated a national immunization program, the Expanded Program on Immunization (EPI), three decades ago. The EPI program was launched with all six recommended antigens (BCG; diphtheria, pertussis, and tetanus [DPT]; oral polio vaccine [OPV]; and measles). In 2003, the monovalent hepatitis B (HepB) vaccine was introduced, which was later administered as a single tetravalent (DPT-HepB) injection. In 2009, a vaccination against Hib was included to form pentavalent (DPT-HEpB-Hib) and launched in different phases in the country.

According to the WHO immunization guidelines, children are considered fully immunized when they have received one dose of the vaccine against tuberculosis (BCG); three doses of the vaccine against diphtheria, pertussis, and tetanus (DPT); three doses of polio vaccine (excluding polio vaccine given at birth); and one dose of measles vaccine. All children should receive the suggested number of doses of BCG, DPT, OPV, and measles vaccines during their first year of life. BCG is given at birth or at first clinical contact; DPT and polio require three doses at approximately age 6, 10, and 14 weeks; and measles vaccine is given soon after age 9 months. All of the vaccines in the routine immunization schedule are provided free of cost in all public health facilities in Pakistan.

Data on differences in immunization coverage among subgroups of the population are useful for program planning and targeting resources to areas most in need. Additionally, information on immunization coverage is important for the monitoring and evaluation of the EPI program. The 2012-13 PDHS collected information on immunization coverage for all living children born in the five years preceding the survey.

In the 2012-13 PDHS, as in previous PDHS surveys, information on immunization coverage was collected in two ways: from immunization cards shown to the interviewer and from mothers' verbal reports. If the immunization card was available, the interviewer copied the immunization dates directly onto the questionnaire. When there was no immunization card, or if a vaccine had not been recorded on the card as being administered, the respondent was asked to recall the specific vaccines given to her child.

Information on vaccination coverage among children age 12-23 months is shown in Table 10.2 by source of information (i.e., vaccination record or mother's report). This is the youngest cohort of children who have reached the age by which they should be fully immunized. The table shows the proportion of children age 12-23 months who were immunized at any age up to the time of the survey as well as the proportion who were vaccinated by age 12 months, the age at which vaccination coverage should be complete.

Table 10.2 Vaccinations by source of information

Percentage of children age 12-23 months who received specific vaccines at any time before the survey, by source of information (vaccination card or mother's report), and percentage vaccinated by 12 months of age, Pakistan 2012-13

			DPT ¹			Pol	lio ²			All basic	No vaccina-	Number of
Source of information	BCG	1	2	3	0	1	2	3	Measles	tions ³	tions	children
Vaccinated at any time before survey Vaccination card Mother's report Either source	35.9 49.3 85.2	35.1 43.7 78.8	33.8 39.0 72.7	32.2 33.0 65.2	34.3 35.2 69.4	35.3 57.0 92.3	34.0 55.2 89.2	32.8 52.5 85.3	28.7 32.7 61.4	28.1 25.7 53.8	0.0 5.4 5.4	748 1,327 2,074
Vaccinated by 12 months of age ⁴	83.2	76.8	70.5	62.5	67.8	90.2	86.4	82.1	49.7	43.0	7.3	2,074

¹ DPT vaccinations include DPT/HepB (tetravalent) as well as DPT/HepB/Hib (pentavalent).

² Polio 0 is the polio vaccination given at birth.

³ BCG, measles, and 3 doses each of DPT and polio vaccine (excluding polio vaccine given at birth)

⁴ For children whose information is based on the mother's report, the proportion of vaccinations given during the first year of life is assumed to be the same as for children with a written record of vaccination.

Overall, 54 percent of children age 12-23 months had been fully immunized by the time of the survey. With regard to specific vaccines, 85 percent of children had received the BCG immunization and 61 percent had been immunized against measles. Coverage of the first dose of the DPT and polio vaccines was relatively high (79 percent and 92 percent, respectively); however, only 65 percent and 85 percent of these children went on to receive the third dose of DPT and polio, respectively. Thus, there was a large dropout of 14 percent and 7 percent, respectively, between the first and third dose of the DPT and polio vaccines. Five percent of children did not receive any vaccine at all.

10.3 VACCINATION BY BACKGROUND CHARACTERISTICS

Table 10.3 presents data on vaccination coverage of children age 12-23 months by background characteristics. Boys are more likely than girls to be fully immunized (56 percent versus 52 percent). Birth

order varies inversely with immunization coverage; as birth order increases, immunization coverage generally decreases. Sixty-four percent of first-born children have been fully immunized, in contrast to 39 percent of children of birth order six and above.

Table 10.3 Vaccinations by background characteristics

Percentage of children age 12-23 months who received specific vaccines at any time before the survey (according to a vaccination card or the mother's report) and percentage with a vaccination card, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

												Percentage	
						Po	lio ²			All basic	No	with a	
Background characteristic	BCG	1	2	3	0	1	2	3	Measles	tions ³	vaccina- tions	vaccination card seen	Number of children
Sex													
Male	86.3	79.5	74.8	67.2	69.9	93.0	89.3	86.1	63.0	56.0	4.9	36.6	1,050
Female	84.0	78.0	70.6	63.1	69.0	91.7	89.0	84.5	59.7	51.5	5.9	35.5	1,024
Birth order													
1	90.4	84.4	79.8	73.0	73.9	93.5	90.8	87.9	70.6	63.5	3.4	40.6	566
2-3	84.3	79.0	72.8	65.8	71.0	91.6	89.9	85.5	60.7	53.7	5.8	38.4	736
4-5	85.8	80.5	73.0	66.0	67.4	91.1	87.7	83.7	60.6	53.3	6.6	36.0	417
6+	77.9	67.3	61.0	50.3	61.5	93.2	86.7	82.5	49.1	39.3	6.3	23.8	356
Residence													
Urban	93.0	87.9	85.8	79.0	84.9	93.9	91.1	86.8	74.3	65.8	2.6	45.7	640
Rural	81.7	74.7	66.9	59.0	62.5	91.6	88.3	84.6	55.6	48.4	6.7	31.7	1,434
Region													
Punjab	91.6	87.2	81.0	76.3	72.0	97.4	95.2	92.4	70.0	65.6	1.5	40.7	1,215
Urban	94.4	90.5	88.9	86.5	86.4	95.3	94.7	91.0	78.1	74.4	1.6	46.6	390
Rural	90.3	85.6	77.2	71.4	65.2	98.3	95.5	93.1	66.2	61.5	1.4	37.9	825
Sindh	78.5	65.1	56.8	38.6	68.9	87.2	82.2	77.5	44.6	29.1	8.5	25.9	437
Urban	92.8	86.3	83.5	66.5	83.9	92.5	85.4	80.1	71.1	51.5	2.8	46.9	178
Rural	68.6	50.5	38.5	19.5	58.6	83.6	80.0	75.8	26.4	13.7	12.4	11.5	260
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	79.7	77.1	73.9	69.6	70.8	83.6	79.5	75.7	57.8	52.7	12.0	39.7	309
Urban	89.3	82.4	79.3	74.4	82.6	91.2	88.4	84.2	63.1	58.0	4.7	41.2	50
Rural	77.8	76.0	72.9	68.6	68.5	82.2	77.8	74.0	56.8	51.7	13.4	39.4	259
Balochistan	48 9	37.7	33.7	27 1	34.8	78 1	74 9	60.6	37.3	16.4	20.8	8.0	88
Urban	72.2	58.6	56.2	46.2	67.4	81.6	79.3	68.9	49.1	35.9	16.7	22.3	15
Rural	44.1	33.4	29.1	23.2	28.0	77.4	74.0	58.9	34.9	12.3	21.6	5.1	73
ICT Islamabad	96.5	95.1	93.2	91.2	90.9	97.0	89.4	85.6	85.2	73.9	2.7	52.6	9
Gilgit Baltistan	78.6	62.4	62.2	55.3	40.7	89.6	85.2	75.2	51.0	47.0	9.4	29.2	16
Mother's education													
No education	78.4	68.3	59.7	50.9	60.8	90.6	86.2	82.0	47.2	39.8	7.2	27.9	1,118
Primary	89.2	86.0	80.0	74.4	74.6	91.7	89.3	85.4	70.0	62.0	5.6	40.1	361
Middle	94.9	91.1	91.1	86.9	78.9	98.2	97.4	93.7	81.2	76.4	0.2	48.0	156
Secondary	94.5	92.7	90.3	84.8	79.9	93.1	92.8	92.0	79.9	73.6	4.0	48.9	249
Higher	97.2	98.1	97.5	88.1	88.7	97.6	95.0	88.7	87.6	75.6	0.5	49.4	190
Wealth quintile													
Lowest	70.6	52.0	40.9	29.9	51.4	85.9	82.0	76.7	35.1	23.4	12.4	18.5	456
Second	84.3	80.4	73.5	67.1	63.4	92.6	87.6	84.6	60.6	53.9	5.1	27.4	444
Middle	86.7	83.1	77.2	69.2	69.9	94.4	91.6	87.1	62.5	57.4	4.4	41.4	400
Fourth	90.4	87.8	85.0	78.8	77.8	94.6	93.2	89.8	72.1	65.4	2.5	46.3	437
Highest	97.3	95.9	93.7	88.0	90.3	95.1	92.9	89.7	82.8	/5.4	1.5	51.5	338
Total	85.2	78.8	72.7	65.2	69.4	92.3	89.2	85.3	61.4	53.8	5.4	36.0	2,074

¹ DPT vaccinations include DPT/HepB (tetravalent) as well as DPT/HepB/Hib (pentavalent).

² Polio 0 is the polio vaccination given at birth.

BCG, measles, and 3 doses each of DPT and polio vaccine (excluding polio vaccine given at birth)

Urban-rural differences in immunization coverage are quite visible. Children residing in urban areas are more likely to be fully immunized (66 percent) than children in rural areas (48 percent). There are wide differences in coverage by region. ICT Islamabad has the highest percentage of children who are fully immunized (74 percent), followed by Punjab (66 percent) and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (53 percent); immunization coverage is lowest in Sindh (29 percent) and Balochistan (16 percent). This clearly indicates the need for provincial health departments to revisit their programs.

There are marked differences in immunization coverage between children of women with no education (40 percent) and children of women at the middle, secondary, and higher educational levels (74 percent and above). Children from households in the highest wealth quintile (75 percent) are much more likely to be fully immunized than those from households in the lowest quintile (23 percent).

Table 10.3 also shows that an immunization card was seen for 36 percent of children age 12-23 months. Cards were most likely to be seen for children of birth order one (41 percent), children living in urban areas (46 percent), children living in ICT Islamabad (53 percent), children of mothers with a secondary or higher education (49 percent each), and children of mothers in the highest wealth quintile (52 percent).

10.4 TRENDS IN IMMUNIZATION COVERAGE

Trends in vaccination coverage over the past 22 years can be seen by comparing data from the 1990-91, 2006-07, and 2012-13 PDHS surveys (Figure 10.1 and Table 10.4). Full vaccination coverage in Pakistan has been gradually improving over the past two decades, with an increase from 35 percent in 1990-91 to 54 percent in 2012-13. There was 15 percent increase between 2006-07 and 2012-13, as compared with a 34 percent increase between 1990-91 and 2006-07. It is encouraging that the percentage of children not receiving any of the six basic immunizations has decreased substantially since 1990-91, from 28 percent to 5 percent. A marked increase in the coverage of polio vaccine was observed between 1990-91 and 2006-07, but coverage more or less stagnated in 2012-13 for polio 1 and 2.



Figure 10.1 Trends in vaccination coverage among children age 12-23 months

Table 10.4 Trends in vaccination coverage

Percentage of children age 12-23 months who received specific vaccines at any time before the survey (according to a vaccination card or the mother's report), Pakistan

			DPT ¹			Po	lio²			All basic	No vaccina-	Percentage with a	Number of
Age in months	BCG	1	2	3	0	1	2	3	Measles	tions ³	tions	card seen	children
1990-91 PDHS 2006-07 PDHS 2012-13 PDHS	69.7 80.3 85.2	64.1 74.8 78.8	60.0 66.5 72.7	42.7 58.5 65.2	na 56.3 69.4	64.8 93.0 92.3	60.5 90.6 89.2	42.9 83.1 85.3	50.2 59.9 61.4	35.1 47.3 53.8	28.3 6.0 5.4	29.6 23.7 36.0	1,215 1,522 2,074

Note: Information was obtained from the vaccination card or, if there was no written record, from the mother. For children whose information is based on the mother's report, the proportion of vaccinations given during the first year of life is assumed to be the same as for children with a written record of vaccinations.

na = Not available

¹ DPT vaccinations include DPT/HepB (tetravalent) as well as DPT/HepB/Hib (pentavalent) for the 2012-13 PDHS.

 2 Polio 0 is the polio vaccination given at birth.

³ BCG, measles, and 3 doses each of DPT and polio vaccine (excluding polio vaccine given at birth)

10.5 PREVALENCE AND TREATMENT OF SYMPTOMS OF ARI

Acute respiratory infections, malaria, and dehydration caused by severe diarrhea are major causes of childhood mortality in Pakistan. Each year approximately 91,000 and 53,300 children in the country die from pneumonia and diarrhea, respectively. Diarrhea, pneumonia, and malaria collectively contribute to around 50 percent of deaths in children (Das and Bhutta, 2013). These three diseases thus represent a challenging but surmountable obstacle to achieving the MDG 4 target. Information on the prevalence and treatment of ARIs, including early diagnosis and treatment with antibiotics, is crucial in reducing childhood deaths. ARIs kill more children under age 5 than any other infectious disease, and the children most vulnerable to infection include those with low birth weights and those whose immune systems have been weakened by malnutrition or other diseases. Without early treatment for ARI, children can die very rapidly. Many deaths are the result of failure to take the child to a health center in time or of misdiagnosis by a health care worker.

Pneumonia, which is caused by acute respiratory infection, is still a leading cause of death among children under age 5 in Pakistan. The Maternal, Newborn, and Child Health Program (MNCH) has launched the integrated management of newborn and childhood illness (IMNCI) strategy to address the management of diseases such as pneumonia, diarrhea, malaria, and measles, as well as malnutrition, among children age 2 months to 5 years (Atwood et al., 2010). The program follows WHO guidelines on standard ARI case management. Accordingly, all ARI cases assessed by health workers are classified into one of the following categories: severe or very severe pneumonia, pneumonia, or no pneumonia (cough and cold). The IMNCI strategy recognizes the important role of mothers and other caretakers in identifying the difference between the need for home care in the case of cough and cold symptoms that do not result in pneumonia and the need for referral to a health facility in the case of pneumonia and severe pneumonia.

In the 2012-13 PDHS, mothers of children under age 5 were asked whether, in the two weeks before the survey, these children had symptoms of ARI (cough with short, rapid breathing), fever, and diarrhea. It should be noted that the data collected on ARI symptoms are subjective because they are based on a mother's perceptions without validation by medical personnel.

Table 10.5 presents the data on ARI symptoms. It shows that 16 percent of children under age 5 exhibited symptoms of ARI in the two weeks preceding the survey. The prevalence of ARI symptoms varies by the age of the child. Children age 6-23 months were more likely to have symptoms of ARI (about 20 percent) than children in the older age groups (13 percent). There is not much difference by sex of the child or mother's smoking status. ARI symptoms were most likely to be reported for children whose mothers had a primary education and children of mothers in the second wealth quintile (18 percent each), as well as those from rural areas and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa. Children in households where charcoal was used as a cooking fuel (21 percent) were more likely to have symptoms of ARI than children in households using wood or straw (17 percent) and those using liquid petroleum gas (LPG) or natural gas (15 percent). Symptoms of ARI were less common among children in households where animal dung was used (10 percent).

In terms of ARI treatment, 64 percent of children with symptoms of ARI were taken to a health facility or health care provider. However, use of health facilities has slightly declined since 2006-07 (69 percent). There were no substantial differences in use of a health facility by age and sex of the child. Treatment at a health facility was most likely to be reported for children less than age 6 months, children in urban areas (75 percent), children residing in Sindh and Gilgit Baltistan (82 percent each), children of mothers with a higher education (83 percent), and children of mothers in the highest wealth quintile (79 percent).

Forty-two percent of children with ARI symptoms received antibiotics. Use of antibiotics for ARI treatment did not differ substantially by age and sex of the child or mother's education or wealth quintile (about 40 percent). Treatment with antibiotics was most likely to be reported in rural areas (43 percent) and in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (46 percent).

Table 10.5 Prevalence and treatment of symptoms of ARI

Among children under age 5, the percentage who had symptoms of acute respiratory infection (ARI) in the two weeks preceding the survey and among children with symptoms of ARI, the percentage for whom advice or treatment was sought from a health facility or provider and the percentage who received antibiotics as treatment, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Among children ur	nder age 5:	Among children und	der age 5 with symptor	ms of ARI:
			Percentage for whom advice or treatment was sought from a		
Background characteristic	Percentage with symptoms of ARI ¹	Number of children	health facility or provider ²	Percentage who received antibiotics	Number of children
Age in months					
<6	15.3	1,164	70.7	41.4	178
6-11	21.2	1.024	62.7	44.1	217
12-23	20.2	2,074	65.5	43.5	420
24-35	15.8	2,277	64.0	40.1	359
36-47	12.9	2,286	60.5	41.8	294
48-59	12.8	2,216	64.9	38.3	283
Sex					
Male	16.4	5,625	66.4	43.2	921
Female	15.3	5,415	62.3	39.7	830
Mother's smoking status					
Smokes cigarettes/tobacco	13.6	114	*	*	16
Does not smoke	15.9	10,907	64.3	41.4	1,732
Missing	*	19	×	*	3
Cooking fuel		2 002	70.0	20.0	FF7
Cool/lignite	10.0	3,602	70.8	39.Z *	557
Chargen	(11.2)	222	(69 5)	(52.0)	16
Wood/straw ³	20.9	6 234	(08.5)	(00.9)	1 053
Animal dung	9.5	975	65.4	41.7	1,000
Pacidonas	0.0	515	00.4	40.0	00
Urban	14.6	2 201	75.1	20.0	170
Rural	16.4	7 759	60.4	42.5	1 273
Decien	10.4	1,100	00.4	42.5	1,275
Region	15 0	6 207	70.4	11.2	007
Fulijab	10.0	0,307	72.1	44.3	997
Burgl	10.0	1,079	79.3	43.9	200
	10.0	4,420	09.7	44.0	
Sindh	12.8	2,510	81.6	31.6	320
Urban	14.5	1,015	80.4	28.3	147
Rurai	11.0	1,495	82.0	34.4	173
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	23.4	1,560	29.3	45.9	365
Urban	24.9	252	45.5	43.9	63
Rural	23.1	1,308	25.9	46.3	302
Balochistan	9.7	536	53.5	23.0	52
Urban	12.1	98	77.8	38.9	12
Rural	9.1	438	46.3	18.2	40
ICT Islamabad	8.9	45	66.9	32.8	4
Gilgit Baltistan	15.3	81	81.5	29.1	12
Mother's education					
No education	16.2	6,226	58.7	42.2	1,008
Primary	18.1	1,870	63.9	37.9	338
Middle	13.2	851	70.3	41.3	112
Secondary	12.9	1,151	82.1	42.8	149
Higher	15.3	942	83.1	44.2	144
Wealth quintile					
Lowest	13.4	2,574	56.6	41.8	345
Second	18.1	2,301	57.7	42.3	417
	1/./	2,1/2	60.3	40.4	385
Fourth	16.3	2,189	/4.4	41.5	356
rignest	13.7	1,804	10.0	41./	248
Total	15.9	11.040	64.4	41.5	1.751

Note: Total includes 1 case with missing information on cooking fuel. Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases. An asterisk indicates that a figure is based on fewer than 25 unweighted cases and has been suppressed. ¹ Symptoms of ARI (cough accompanied by short, rapid breathing that is chest-related and/or by difficult breathing that is chest-related) are considered a proxy for pneumonia. ² Excludes pharmacy, shop, homeopath, dispenser, compounder, hakim, and dai/traditional practitioner ³ Includes grass, shrubs, and crop residues LPG = Liquid petroleum gas
10.6 PREVALENCE AND TREATMENT OF FEVER

Fever is a major manifestation of malaria and other acute respiratory infections in young children. Malaria and fever contribute to high levels of malnutrition and mortality. In Pakistan, the major malaria transmission period is from August to November (i.e., post-monsoon) (Directorate of Malaria Control, 2013). The major vectors are *Anopheles culicifacies* and *A. stephensi*, both of which are still susceptible to the insecticides in current use. The widely distributed causative organisms are *Plasmodium falciparum* and *P. vivax*.

Table 10.6 shows the percentage of children under age 5 who had a fever during the two weeks preceding the survey and the percentage receiving various treatments, by selected background characteristics. Thirty-eight percent of children under age 5 had a fever in the two weeks before the survey. The prevalence of fever varied by age and was highest among children age 6-11 (50 percent). Fever prevalence also varied by region, ranging from a low of 23 percent in Balochistan to a high of 44 percent in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa. Children of mothers with a primary education (40 percent) were more likely to have had a fever than children of mothers at other educational levels. There were no visible variations in occurrence of fever by child sex, residence, or wealth quintile.

The data also show that 65 percent of children under age 5 with fever had received advice or treatment from a health facility or provider. There is little variation in treatment-seeking behavior by age and sex of the child (62 percent or above). Children residing in urban areas are more likely to receive treatment (75 percent) than those living in rural areas (61 percent), and children from Sindh are more likely to get treatment (78 percent) than those from Balochistan (42 percent) and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (27 percent). Highly educated mothers are more likely (78 percent) than those with no education (60 percent) to seek treatment for their children. Similarly, children in the highest wealth quintile are more likely to receive treatment (79 percent) than those in the lowest wealth quintile (56 percent). Surprisingly, the percentage of children with fever for whom medical care is sought from a health facility or provider has not changed over the past two decades (65 percent in 1990-91, 66 percent in 2006-07, and 65 percent in 2012-13).

Since malaria is a major cause of death in infancy and childhood in many developing countries, presumptive treatment of fever with antimalarial medication is advocated in many countries where malaria is endemic. However, the 2012-13 PDHS fieldwork was carried out from October 2012 to March 2013, almost a month after the rainy season, and thus the use of antimalarial medication may have lower during that period. The data (Table 10.6) show that use of antimalarial drugs was quite low (3 percent) and that there was little variation by sex of child, urban-rural residence, or wealth quintile. Children age 6-11 months, those living in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, those whose mothers had a primary education, and those in the highest wealth quintile were more likely than other children to receive antimalarial drugs.

Table 10.6 also shows that 40 percent of children with fever received antibiotics. Children age 24-35 months, male children, children residing in rural areas and Punjab, those whose mothers had a higher education, and those in the middle wealth quintile were more likely than other children to receive antibiotics.

Table 10.6 Prevalence and treatment of fever

Among children under age 5, the percentage who had a fever in the two weeks preceding the survey, and among children with fever, the percentage for whom advice or treatment was sought from a health facility or provider, the percentage who took antimalarial drugs, and the percentage who received antibiotics as treatment, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Among children under age							
Background characteristic	Percentage with fever	Number of children	Percentage for whom advice or treatment was sought from a health facility or provider ¹	Percentage who took antimalarial drugs	Percentage who took antibiotic drugs	Number of children		
Age in months					0			
49 minoritis <	33.8 49.8 46.4 39.2 32.6 29.3	1,164 1,024 2,074 2,277 2,286 2,216	66.7 64.9 66.0 64.4 62.3 64.9	2.4 5.3 4.0 3.8 2.5 1.9	32.0 41.1 40.0 41.7 41.3 39.3	394 510 962 892 745 650		
Sex Male Female	38.6 36.5	5,625 5,415	67.3 62.0	3.0 3.8	41.4 38.2	2,174 1,979		
Residence Urban Rural	36.5 38.1	3,281 7,759	74.8 60.7	4.0 3.1	37.2 41.0	1,198 2,954		
Region Punjab Urban Rural	37.9 37.6 38.0	6,307 1,879 4,428	71.9 75.6 70.4	2.4 4.8 1.4	43.4 40.6 44.5	2,388 707 1,681		
Sindh Urban Rural	36.0 34.5 37.0	2,510 1,015 1,495	77.6 79.9 76.2	2.5 1.5 3.2	32.2 29.6 33.8	904 350 553		
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Urban Rural	44.4 40.7 45.1	1,560 252 1,308	26.5 54.1 21.7	7.5 5.2 7.9	41.9 41.4 42.0	692 102 590		
Balochistan Urban Rural	22.6 25.2 22.0	536 98 438	42.1 65.3 36.2	5.5 9.7 4.4	22.4 33.7 19.6	121 25 96		
ICT Islamabad	40.8	45	72.5	3.1	29.0	18		
Gilgit Baltistan	35.5	81	76.1	0.0	24.3	29		
Mother's education No education Primary Middle Secondary Higher	36.6 40.1 38.9 38.1 37.4	6,226 1,870 851 1,151 942	59.5 69.0 65.4 73.6 78.4	3.3 4.2 4.0 2.7 2.0	39.9 41.1 40.1 36.2 41.7	2,280 750 331 439 352		
Wealth quintile Lowest Second Middle Fourth Highest	35.0 38.7 39.1 38.8 36.7	2,574 2,301 2,172 2,189 1,804	56.4 56.5 63.4 72.6 79.0	2.4 3.8 3.1 3.3 4.5	37.2 41.7 42.7 38.3 39.5	901 891 850 848 663		
Total	37.6	11,040	64.8	3.4	39.9	4,153		
¹ Excludes pharmacy st	on homeonath di	snenser com	nounder hakim a	nd dai/traditional pr	actitioner			

Excludes pharmacy, shop, homeopath, dispenser, compounder, hakim, and dai/traditional practitioner

10.7 **PREVALENCE OF DIARRHEA**

Diarrhea remains a leading cause of childhood morbidity and mortality in developing countries. Unfortunately, despite simple treatment guidelines, 53,300 children die of diarrhea each year, and there are an average of four to six episodes of diarrhea per child per year. Diarrhea is a major cause of mortality and morbidity among Pakistani children despite decades of concerted efforts and special programs. There have been considerable improvements, however, with the advent of oral rehydration salts (ORS) (Memon, 2012). Because diarrhea causes a rapid loss of body fluids, it leaves children continually at risk of dehydration. If left untreated, dehydration caused by severe diarrhea is a major cause of morbidity among young children. This condition can be easily treated with oral rehydration therapy (ORT), a simple solution prepared by mixing water with a commercially prepared packet of oral rehydration salts or by making a homemade mixture of sugar, salt, and water. Oral rehydration packets are available through health facilities and at shops and pharmacies.

In the 2012-13 PDHS, information on diarrhea was gathered by asking mothers whether their child had experienced any episode of diarrhea in the two weeks before the survey. If the child had had diarrhea, the mother was asked about feeding practices during diarrhea, types of treatment, and her knowledge and use of ORS.

Table 10.7 shows that 23 percent of children under age 5 suffered from diarrhea in the two weeks preceding the survey. Diarrhea with blood was reported for only a very small proportion of children (2 percent). The prevalence of diarrhea was reported to be 15 percent in 1990-91 and 22 percent in 2006-07. Although diarrhea prevalence varies seasonally, the three PDHS surveys were conducted in more or less the same period, and thus the diarrhea episodes reported in the three surveys depict a realistic trend.

The prevalence of diarrhea is highest among children age 6-11 months (35 percent), a span during which solid foods are first introduced into the child's diet. This period is believed to be associated with

Table 10.7 Prevalence of diarrhea

Percentage of children under age 5 who had diarrhea in the two weeks preceding the survey, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

Background characteristic Diarrhea All diarrhea Diarrhea with blood Number of children Age in months <6 25.8 1.4 1,164 6-11 35.3 3.4 1,024 12-23 32.9 3.5 2,074 24-35 22.0 2.6 2,277 36-47 16.3 1.5 2,286 48-59 12.0 1.8 2,216 Sex		Diarrhea in th preceding	e two weeks the survey	
Age in months<6	Background characteristic	All diarrhea	Diarrhea with blood	Number of children
co 25.8 1.4 1,104 6-11 35.3 3.4 1,024 12-23 32.9 3.5 2,074 24-35 22.0 2.6 2,277 36-47 16.3 1.5 2,266 48-59 12.0 1.8 2,216 Sex	Age in months	05.0		4 4 6 4
b-11 35.3 3.4 1,024 12-23 32.9 3.5 2,074 24-35 22.0 2.6 2,277 36-47 16.3 1.5 2,286 48-59 12.0 1.8 2,216 Sex	<0	25.8	1.4	1,164
12:23 32:9 3.3 2.074 36:47 16.3 1.5 2.286 48:59 12.0 1.8 2.216 Sex	6-11 10.02	35.3	3.4	1,024
24-33 22.0 2.0 2.15 2.27 36-47 16.3 1.5 2.286 48-59 12.0 1.8 2.216 Sex Male 22.7 2.4 5.625 Female 22.3 2.2 5,415 Source of drinking water ¹ Improved 25.5 2.6 796 Other/missing 35.5 0.1 75 Toilet facility ² Improved, not shared 21.9 2.1 6,164 Shared ³ 23.2 2.3 1,188 Non-improved 23.2 2.7 3,659 Residence Urban 21.9 1.7 3,281 Rural 22.5 1.8 1,879 Rural 21.9 2.5 6,307 Urban 21.9 1.5 1,015 Rural 23.1 2.5 2,510 Urban 21.9 1.5 1,015 Rural 23.1 2.5 2,510 Urban <t< td=""><td>12-23</td><td>32.9</td><td>3.5</td><td>2,074</td></t<>	12-23	32.9	3.5	2,074
30-47 10.3 1.3 2,206 Sex	24-33	22.0	2.0	2,277
Sex Male 22.7 2.4 5,625 Female 22.3 2.2 5,415 Source of drinking water ¹ 1 1 Improved 22.2 2.3 10,170 Not improved 25.5 2.6 796 Other/missing 35.5 0.1 75 Toilet facility ² 1 6,164 Improved, not shared 21.9 2.1 6,164 Shared ⁸ 23.2 2.3 1,188 Non-improved 23.2 2.7 3,659 Residence 1 7 3,281 Urban 21.9 2.5 6,307 Urban 21.9 2.5 2,510 Urban 21.6 2.8 4,428 Sindh 23.1 2.5 2,510 Urban 21.9 1.5 1,015 Rural 23.9 3.1 1,495 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 27.9 1.9 1,560 Urban 12.1	48-59	12.0	1.5	2,280 2,216
Male Female 22.7 2.4 5,625 Female 22.3 2.2 5,415 Source of drinking water ¹ Improved 22.2 2.3 10,170 Improved 25.5 2.6 796 0ther/missing 35.5 0.1 75 Toilet facility ² Improved, not shared 21.9 2.1 6,164 Shared ³ 23.2 2.7 3,659 Residence Urban 21.9 1.7 3,281 Rural 22.7 2.6 7,759 Region Punjab 21.9 2.5 6,307 Urban 21.9 2.5 6,307 Urban 21.9 1.5 1,015 Rural 23.1 2.5 2,510 Urban 21.9 1.5 1,015 Rural 23.9 3.1 1,495 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 27.9 1.9 1,560 Urban 11.3 0.9 98 Rural 20.5	Sex			
Female 22.3 2.2 5,415 Source of drinking water ¹ Improved 25.5 2.6 796 Not improved 25.5 2.6 796 0ther/missing 35.5 0.1 75 Toilet facility ² Improved, not shared 21.9 2.1 6,164 Shared ³ 23.2 2.3 1,188 Non-improved 23.2 2.7 3,659 Residence Urban 21.9 1.7 3,281 Rural 22.5 1.8 1,879 Rural 21.6 2.8 4,428 Sindh 23.1 2.5 6,307 Urban 21.9 1.5 1,015 Rural 23.1 2.5 2,510 Urban 21.9 1.5 1,015 Rural 23.9 3.1 1,495 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 27.9 1.9 1,308 Balochistan 12.1 1.2 536 Urban 1.3 <td< td=""><td>Male</td><td>22.7</td><td>2.4</td><td>5.625</td></td<>	Male	22.7	2.4	5.625
Source of drinking water1Improved 22.2 2.3 $10,170$ Not improved 25.5 2.6 796 Other/missing 35.5 0.1 75 Toilet facility2Improved, not shared 21.9 2.1 $6,164$ Shared ³ 23.2 2.3 $1,188$ Non-improved 23.2 2.7 $3,659$ ResidenceUrban 21.9 1.7 $3,281$ Rural 22.7 2.6 $7,759$ RegionPunjab 21.9 2.5 $6,307$ Urban 22.5 1.8 $1,879$ Rural 21.6 2.8 $4,428$ Sindh 23.1 2.5 $2,510$ Urban 21.9 1.5 $1,015$ Rural 23.9 3.1 $1,495$ Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 27.9 1.9 $1,560$ Urban 21.6 1.6 252 Rural 22.1 1.9 $3,30$ Balochistan 12.1 1.2 536 Urban 11.3 0.9 98 Rural 12.2 1.3 438 ICT Islamabad 20.5 0.9 45 Gilgit Baltistan 16.7 1.1 811 Mother's education 22.9 2.4 $6,226$ Primary 25.0 3.3 $1,870$ Middle 23.7 2.6 2.172 Fourth 23.6 1.7 $2,89$ Highe	Female	22.3	2.2	5,415
Improved 22.2 2.3 10,170 Not improved 25.5 2.6 796 Other/missing 35.5 0.1 75 Toilet facility² Improved, not shared 21.9 2.1 6,164 Shared³ 23.2 2.3 1,188 Non-improved 23.2 2.7 3,659 Residence Urban 21.9 1.7 3,281 Rural 22.7 2.6 7,759 Region Punjab 21.9 2.5 6,307 Urban 21.5 1.8 1,879 Rural 23.1 2.5 2.510 Urban 21.9 1.5 1,015 Rural 23.9 3.1 1,495 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 27.9 1.9 1,560 Urban 21.6 1.6 252 Rural 12.1 1.2 536 Urban 11.3 0.9 98 Rural 12.2 1.3	Source of drinking water ¹			
Not improved Other/missing 25.5 2.6 796 Other/missing Toilet facility ² Improved, not shared 21.9 2.1 6,164 Shared ³ 23.2 2.3 1,188 Non-improved 23.2 2.7 3,659 Residence Urban 21.9 1.7 3,281 Rural 22.7 2.6 7,759 Region Punjab 21.9 2.5 6,307 Urban 21.9 2.5 2,510 Urban 21.9 2.5 2,510 Urban 21.9 1.5 1,015 Rural 23.1 2.5 2,510 Urban 21.9 1.5 1,015 Rural 23.9 3.1 1,495 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 27.9 1.9 1,308 Balochistan 12.1 1.2 536 Urban 12.1 1.2 536 Urban 11.3 0.9 98 Rural 22.5<	Improved	22.2	2.3	10,170
Other/missing 35.5 0.1 75 Toilet facility ² Improved, not shared 21.9 2.1 6,164 Shared ³ 23.2 2.3 1,188 Non-improved 23.2 2.7 3,659 Residence 1.7 3,281 Wrban 21.9 2.5 6,307 Urban 22.5 1.8 1,879 Rural 21.6 2.8 4,428 Sindh 23.1 2.5 2,510 Urban 21.9 1.5 1,015 Rural 23.9 3.1 1,495 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 27.9 1.9 1,560 Urban 21.6 1.6 252 Rural 2.1 1.9 1,308 Balochistan 12.1 1.2 536 Urban 11.3 0.9 98 Rural 12.2 1.3 438 ICT Islamabad 20.5 0.9 4	Not improved	25.5	2.6	796
Toilet facility²Improved, not shared 21.9 2.1 $6,164$ Shared³ 23.2 2.3 $1,188$ Non-improved 23.2 2.7 $3,659$ Residence $urban$ 21.9 1.7 $3,281$ Urban 21.9 2.7 2.6 $7,759$ Region $urban$ 22.5 1.8 $1,879$ Rural 21.6 2.8 $4,428$ Sindh 23.1 2.5 $2,510$ Urban 21.9 1.5 $1,015$ Rural 23.9 3.1 $1,495$ Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 27.9 1.9 $1,560$ Urban 21.6 1.6 252 Rural 29.1 1.9 $1,560$ Urban 11.3 0.9 98 Rural 12.2 1.3 438 ICT Islamabad 20.5 0.9 45 Gilgit Baltistan 16.7 1.1 81 Mother's education 22.9 2.4 $6,226$ Primary 25.0 3.3 $1,870$ Middle 22.6 2.1 851 Secondary 21.1 1.3 $1,151$ Higher 16.4 0.9 942 Wealth quintile 22.6 2.7 $2,574$ Lowest 22.8 2.5 $2,574$ Second 24.3 3.1 $2,301$ Middle 23.7 2.6 $2,172$ Fourth 23.6 1.7 $2,189$ Highest 17.1	Other/missing	35.5	0.1	75
Improved, not shared 21.9 2.1 6,164 Shared ³ 23.2 2.3 1,188 Non-improved 23.2 2.7 3,659 Residence 1.7 3,281 Urban 21.9 1.7 3,281 Rural 22.7 2.6 7,759 Region 1.8 1.879 Punjab 21.6 2.8 4,428 Sindh 23.1 2.5 2,510 Urban 21.9 1.5 1,015 Rural 23.9 3.1 1,495 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 27.9 1.9 1,560 Urban 21.6 1.6 252 Rural 29.1 1.9 1,308 Balochistan 12.1 1.2 536 Urban 11.3 0.9 98 Rural 12.2 1.3 438 ICT Islamabad 20.5 0.9 45 Gilg	Toilet facility ²			
Shared ³ 23.2 2.3 1,188 Non-improved 23.2 2.7 3,659 Residence	Improved, not shared	21.9	2.1	6,164
Non-improved 23.2 2.7 3,659 Residence	Shared ³	23.2	2.3	1,188
Residence J.ro 3,281 Urban 21.9 1.7 3,281 Rural 22.7 2.6 7,759 Region 21.9 2.5 6,307 Urban 22.5 1.8 1,879 Rural 21.6 2.8 4,428 Sindh 23.1 2.5 2,510 Urban 21.9 1.5 1,015 Rural 23.9 3.1 1,495 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 27.9 1.9 1,560 Urban 21.6 1.6 252 Rural 29.1 1.9 1,308 Balochistan 12.1 1.2 536 Urban 11.3 0.9 98 Rural 12.2 1.3 438 ICT Islamabad 20.5 0.9 45 Gilgit Baltistan 16.7 1.1 81 Mother's education 22.9 2.4 6,226 Primary 25.0 3.3	Non-improved	23.2	2.7	3,659
Urban Rural21.9 22.71.7 2.63,281 7,759Region	Residence			
Rural 22.7 2.6 7,759 Region	Urban	21.9	1.7	3,281
Region 21.9 2.5 6,307 Urban 22.5 1.8 1,879 Rural 21.6 2.8 4,428 Sindh 23.1 2.5 2,510 Urban 21.9 1.5 1,015 Rural 23.9 3.1 1,495 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 27.9 1.9 1,560 Urban 21.6 1.6 252 Rural 29.1 1.9 1,308 Balochistan 12.1 1.2 536 Urban 12.2 1.3 438 ICT Islamabad 20.5 0.9 45 Gilgit Baltistan 16.7 1.1 81 Mother's education 22.9 2.4 6,226 Primary 25.0 3.3 1,870 Middle 22.6 2.1 851 Secondary 21.1 1.3 1,51 Higher 16.4 0.9 942 Lowest 22.8	Rural	22.7	2.6	7,759
Punjab 21.9 2.5 6,307 Urban 22.5 1.8 1,879 Rural 21.6 2.8 4,428 Sindh 23.1 2.5 2,510 Urban 21.9 1.5 1,015 Rural 23.9 3.1 1,495 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 27.9 1.9 1,560 Urban 21.6 1.6 252 Rural 29.1 1.9 1,308 Balochistan 12.1 1.2 536 Urban 12.2 1.3 438 ICT Islamabad 20.5 0.9 45 Gilgit Baltistan 16.7 1.1 81 Mother's education 22.9 2.4 6,226 Primary 25.0 3.3 1,870 Middle 22.6 2.1 851 Secondary 21.1 1.3 1,151 Higher 16.4 0.9 942 Weath quintile 2.5	Region			
Urban22.51.81,879Rural21.62.84,428Sindh23.12.52,510Urban21.91.51,015Rural23.93.11,495Khyber Pakhtunkhwa27.91.91,560Urban21.61.6252Rural29.11.91,308Balochistan12.11.2536Urban11.30.998Rural12.21.3438ICT Islamabad20.50.945Gilgit Baltistan16.71.181Mother's education22.92.46,226Primary25.03.31,870Middle22.62.1851Secondary21.11.31,151Higher16.40.9942Wealth quintile23.72.62,172Fourth23.61.72,189Highest17.11.31,804Total22.52.311,040	Puniab	21.9	2.5	6.307
Rural 21.6 2.8 4,428 Sindh 23.1 2.5 2,510 Urban 21.9 1.5 1,015 Rural 23.9 3.1 1,495 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 27.9 1.9 1,560 Urban 21.6 1.6 252 Rural 29.1 1.9 1,308 Balochistan 12.1 1.2 536 Urban 11.3 0.9 98 Rural 12.2 1.3 438 ICT Islamabad 20.5 0.9 45 Gilgit Baltistan 16.7 1.1 81 Mother's education 22.9 2.4 6,226 Primary 25.0 3.3 1,870 Middle 22.6 2.1 851 Secondary 21.1 1.3 1,151 Higher 16.4 0.9 942 Wealth quintile 23.7 2.6 2,172 Second 24.3<	Urban	22.5	1.8	1,879
Sindh 23.1 2.5 2,510 Urban 21.9 1.5 1,015 Rural 23.9 3.1 1,495 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 27.9 1.9 1,560 Urban 21.6 1.6 252 Rural 29.1 1.9 1,308 Balochistan 12.1 1.2 536 Urban 11.3 0.9 98 Rural 12.2 1.3 438 ICT Islamabad 20.5 0.9 45 Gilgit Baltistan 16.7 1.1 81 Mother's education 22.9 2.4 6,226 Primary 25.0 3.3 1,870 Middle 22.6 2.1 851 Secondary 21.1 1.3 1,151 Higher 16.4 0.9 942 Wealth quintile 23.7 2.6 2,172 Second 24.3 3.1 2,301 Middle 23.7	Rural	21.6	2.8	4,428
Urban 21.9 1.5 1,015 Rural 23.9 3.1 1,495 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 27.9 1.9 1,560 Urban 21.6 1.6 252 Rural 29.1 1.9 1,308 Balochistan 12.1 1.2 536 Urban 11.3 0.9 98 Rural 12.2 1.3 438 ICT Islamabad 20.5 0.9 45 Gilgit Baltistan 16.7 1.1 81 Mother's education 22.9 2.4 6,226 Primary 25.0 3.3 1,870 Middle 22.6 2.1 851 Secondary 21.1 1.3 1,151 Higher 16.4 0.9 942 Wealth quintile 22.8 2.5 2,574 Second 24.3 3.1 2,301 Middle 23.7 2.6 2,172 Fourth 23.	Sindh	23.1	2.5	2.510
Rural 23.9 3.1 1,495 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 27.9 1.9 1,560 Urban 21.6 1.6 252 Rural 29.1 1.9 1,308 Balochistan 12.1 1.2 536 Urban 11.3 0.9 98 Rural 12.2 1.3 438 ICT Islamabad 20.5 0.9 45 Gilgit Baltistan 16.7 1.1 81 Mother's education 22.9 2.4 6,226 Primary 25.0 3.3 1,870 Middle 22.6 2.1 851 Secondary 21.1 1.3 1,151 Higher 16.4 0.9 942 Weath quintile 2 2 8 2.5 2,574 Second 24.3 3.1 2,301 Middle 23.7 2.6 2,172 Fourth 23.6 1.7 2,189 11,304 1,804<	Urban	21.9	1.5	1.015
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 27.9 1.9 1,560 Urban 21.6 1.6 252 Rural 29.1 1.9 1,308 Balochistan 12.1 1.2 536 Urban 11.3 0.9 98 Rural 12.2 1.3 438 ICT Islamabad 20.5 0.9 45 Gilgit Baltistan 16.7 1.1 81 Mother's education 22.9 2.4 6,226 Primary 25.0 3.3 1,870 Middle 22.6 2.1 851 Secondary 21.1 1.3 1,151 Higher 16.4 0.9 942 Weath quintile 22.8 2.5 2,574 Second 24.3 3.1 2,301 Middle 23.7 2.6 2,172 Fourth 23.6 1.7 2,189 Highest 17.1 1.3 1,804	Rural	23.9	3.1	1,495
Urban 21.6 1.6 252 Rural 29.1 1.9 1,308 Balochistan 12.1 1.2 536 Urban 11.3 0.9 98 Rural 12.2 1.3 438 ICT Islamabad 20.5 0.9 45 Gilgit Baltistan 16.7 1.1 81 Mother's education 22.9 2.4 6,226 Primary 25.0 3.3 1,870 Middle 22.6 2.1 851 Secondary 21.1 1.3 1,151 Higher 16.4 0.9 942 Weath quintile 22.8 2.5 2,574 Second 24.3 3.1 2,301 Middle 23.7 2.6 2,172 Fourth 23.6 1.7 2,189 Highest 17.1 1.3 1,804	Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	27.9	1.9	1.560
Rural 29.1 1.9 1,308 Balochistan 12.1 1.2 536 Urban 11.3 0.9 98 Rural 12.2 1.3 438 ICT Islamabad 20.5 0.9 45 Gilgit Baltistan 16.7 1.1 81 Mother's education 22.9 2.4 6,226 Primary 25.0 3.3 1,870 Middle 22.6 2.1 851 Secondary 21.1 1.3 1,151 Higher 16.4 0.9 942 Wealth quintile 22.8 2.5 2,574 Second 24.3 3.1 2,301 Middle 23.7 2.6 2,172 Fourth 23.6 1.7 2,189 Highest 17.1 1.3 1,804	Urban	21.6	1.6	252
Balochistan 12.1 1.2 536 Urban 11.3 0.9 98 Rural 12.2 1.3 438 ICT Islamabad 20.5 0.9 45 Gilgit Baltistan 16.7 1.1 81 Mother's education 22.9 2.4 6,226 Primary 25.0 3.3 1,870 Middle 22.6 2.1 851 Secondary 21.1 1.3 1,151 Higher 16.4 0.9 942 Weath quintile 2 2.5 2,574 Lowest 22.8 2.5 2,574 Second 24.3 3.1 2,301 Middle 23.7 2.6 2,172 Fourth 23.6 1.7 2,189 Highest 17.1 1.3 1,804	Rural	29.1	1.9	1,308
Urban Rural 11.3 12.2 0.9 1.3 98 438 ICT Islamabad 20.5 0.9 45 Gilgit Baltistan 16.7 1.1 81 Mother's education No education 22.9 2.4 6,226 Primary 25.0 3.3 1,870 Middle 22.6 2.1 851 Secondary 21.1 1.3 1,151 Higher 16.4 0.9 942 Wealth quintile 2 2.5 2,574 Lowest 22.8 2.5 2,574 Second 24.3 3.1 2,301 Middle 23.7 2.6 2,172 Fourth 23.6 1.7 2,189 Highest 17.1 1.3 1,804	Balochistan	12.1	1.2	536
Rural 12.2 1.3 438 ICT Islamabad 20.5 0.9 45 Gilgit Baltistan 16.7 1.1 81 Mother's education 22.9 2.4 6,226 Primary 25.0 3.3 1,870 Middle 22.6 2.1 851 Secondary 21.1 1.3 1,151 Higher 16.4 0.9 942 Wealth quintile 22.8 2.5 2,574 Second 24.3 3.1 2,301 Middle 23.7 2.6 2,172 Fourth 23.6 1.7 2,189 Highest 17.1 1.3 1,804	Urban	11.3	0.9	98
ICT Islamabad 20.5 0.9 45 Gilgit Baltistan 16.7 1.1 81 Mother's education 22.9 2.4 6,226 Primary 25.0 3.3 1,870 Middle 22.6 2.1 851 Secondary 21.1 1.3 1,151 Higher 16.4 0.9 942 Wealth quintile 2 2.5 2,574 Second 24.3 3.1 2,301 Middle 23.7 2.6 2,172 Fourth 23.6 1.7 2,189 Highest 17.1 1.3 1,804	Rural	12.2	1.3	438
Gilgit Baltistan16.71.181Mother's education22.92.46,226Primary25.03.31,870Middle22.62.1851Secondary21.11.31,151Higher16.40.9942Wealth quintileLowest22.82.52,574Second24.33.12,301Middle23.72.62,172Fourth23.61.72,189Highest17.11.31,804Total22.52.311,040	ICT Islamabad	20.5	0.9	45
Mother's education 22.9 2.4 6,226 Primary 25.0 3.3 1,870 Middle 22.6 2.1 851 Secondary 21.1 1.3 1,151 Higher 16.4 0.9 942 Wealth quintile 22.8 2.5 2,574 Lowest 22.8 2.5 2,511 Middle 23.7 2.6 2,172 Fourth 23.6 1.7 2,189 Highest 17.1 1.3 1,804 Total 22.5 2.3 11,040	Gilgit Baltistan	16.7	1.1	81
No education 22.9 2.4 6,226 Primary 25.0 3.3 1,870 Middle 22.6 2.1 851 Secondary 21.1 1.3 1,151 Higher 16.4 0.9 942 Wealth quintile 22.8 2.5 2,574 Second 24.3 3.1 2,301 Middle 23.7 2.6 2,172 Fourth 23.6 1.7 2,189 Highest 17.1 1.3 1,804 Total 22.5 2.3 11,040	Mother's education			
Primary 25.0 3.3 1,870 Middle 22.6 2.1 851 Secondary 21.1 1.3 1,151 Higher 16.4 0.9 942 Wealth quintile 22.8 2.5 2,574 Lowest 22.8 2.5 2,301 Middle 23.7 2.6 2,172 Fourth 23.6 1.7 2,189 Highest 17.1 1.3 1,804 Total 22.5 2.3 11,040	No education	22.9	2.4	6,226
Middle 22.6 2.1 851 Secondary 21.1 1.3 1,151 Higher 16.4 0.9 942 Wealth quintile 22.8 2.5 2,574 Lowest 22.3 3.1 2,301 Middle 23.7 2.6 2,172 Fourth 23.6 1.7 2,189 Highest 17.1 1.3 1,804 Total 22.5 2.3 11,040	Primary	25.0	3.3	1,870
Secondary Higher 21.1 16.4 1.3 0.9 1,151 942 Wealth quintile 22.8 2.5 2,574 Second 24.3 3.1 2,301 Middle 23.7 2.6 2,172 Fourth 23.6 1.7 2,189 Highest 17.1 1.3 1,804 Total 22.5 2.3 11,040	Middle	22.6	2.1	851
Higher16.40.9942Wealth quintile22.82.52,574Lowest22.82.52,574Second24.33.12,301Middle23.72.62,172Fourth23.61.72,189Highest17.11.31,804Total22.52.311,040	Secondary	21.1	1.3	1,151
Wealth quintile 22.8 2.5 2,574 Second 24.3 3.1 2,301 Middle 23.7 2.6 2,172 Fourth 23.6 1.7 2,189 Highest 17.1 1.3 1,804 Total 22.5 2.3 11,040	Higher	16.4	0.9	942
Lowest22.82.52,574Second24.33.12,301Middle23.72.62,172Fourth23.61.72,189Highest17.11.31,804Total22.52.311,040	Wealth quintile			
Second 24.3 3.1 2,301 Middle 23.7 2.6 2,172 Fourth 23.6 1.7 2,189 Highest 17.1 1.3 1,804 Total 22.5 2.3 11,040	Lowest	22.8	2.5	2,574
Middle 23.7 2.6 2,172 Fourth 23.6 1.7 2,189 Highest 17.1 1.3 1,804 Total 22.5 2.3 11,040	Second	24.3	3.1	2,301
Fourth Highest23.6 17.11.7 1.32,189 1,804Total22.52.311,040	Middle	23.7	2.6	2,172
Highest 17.1 1.3 1,804 Total 22.5 2.3 11,040	Fourth	23.6	1.7	2,189
Total 22.5 2.3 11,040	Highest	17.1	1.3	1,804
	Total	22.5	2.3	11,040

Note: Total includes 29 cases with missing information on type of toilet facility

See Table 2.1 for definition of categories. See Table 2.2 for definition of categories.

³ Facilities that would be considered improved if they were not shared by two or more households

increased exposure to illness as a result of weaning and the immature immune systems of children in this age group. Prevalence of diarrhea does not show variations by sex of the child, type of toilet facility, or residence. Diarrhea prevalence is higher among households using a non-improved source of drinking water than among households using an improved source. There are visible variations in the prevalence of diarrhea by region. Khyber Pakhtunkhwa has the highest prevalence (28 percent), followed by Sindh (23 percent) and Punjab (22 percent); the lowest proportion is in Balochistan (12 percent). There are no substantial variations by mother's education and wealth quintile, except that children of mothers who have a higher education (16 percent) and children of mothers in the highest wealth quintile (17 percent) are less likely to suffer from diarrhea.

10.8 DIARRHEA TREATMENT

The MNCH program focuses on the management of diarrheal diseases among children under age 5. Pakistan is one of the first countries in the region to include zinc in the diarrhea treatment protocol along with low osmolality ORS and oral rehydration therapy. Treatment with zinc is not a substitute for ORT, but, when taken in addition to ORT, it can reduce the severity and duration of diarrhea. This improved treatment, recommended by WHO, has lower amounts of sodium and glucose and, thus, lower osmolality (WHO, 2006d). Pakistan initiated the protocol in 2005, and this newer version of ORS therapy is now available on the market.

The government's standard diarrhea case management strategy includes ORT, counseling on continued feeding, and zinc tablets provided through health service outlets. ORT services have been established in all hospitals, primary health care centers, lady health worker programs, and nongovernment health centers throughout the country. Health facilities and community health volunteers are the primary health providers with responsibility for treating diarrhea with ORS and zinc supplementation.

Table 10.8 shows data on the treatment of recent episodes of diarrhea among children under age 5, as reported by their mothers. Overall, 61 percent of children with diarrhea were taken to a medically trained health provider for advice or treatment. Children age 12-23 months, male children, children with bloody diarrhea, children living in urban areas and Sindh, children of mothers with a middle level of education, and children from households in the highest wealth quintile are more likely than other children to visit a health professional or a health facility for diarrhea treatment.

Forty-six percent of children with diarrhea were given ORT or increased fluids. Thirty-eight percent of children with diarrhea received ORS packets, while 9 percent were given a recommended homemade fluid. Overall, 42 percent were given either ORS or a recommended homemade fluid. Nine percent of children were given increased liquids.

After increasing from 39 percent in 1990-91 to 41 percent in 2006-07, the use of commercially available ORS packets stabilized to 38 percent in 2012-13. The percentage of children receiving homemade fluids increased from 12 percent in 1990-91 to 16 percent in 2006-07 and then decreased to 9 percent in 2012-13. The percentage of children receiving increased fluids has not changed substantially over the past two decades.

Only 2 percent of children were treated with zinc. Although not a preferred treatment, 5 percent of children were treated with antimotility drugs. Thirty-three percent of children with diarrhea were given antibiotic drugs. It is also vital to note that 11 percent of children did receive any form of treatment.

Use of ORT or increased fluids varies by age, from a low of 34 percent among children less than age 6 months to a high of 51 percent among children age 12-23 months. Use of ORT or increased fluids is more common among male than female children. In addition, there are differences in the use of this treatment by residence (51 percent in urban areas and 44 percent in rural areas) and region (43 percent in Punjab and 77 percent in Gilgit Baltistan). The proportion of children receiving ORT or increased fluids varies by mother's education as well, ranging from 43 percent of children whose mothers have no education to 59 percent of those whose mothers have a secondary education. Use of ORT or increased fluids is much higher among children in the highest wealth quintile (55 percent).

treatment
Diarrhea
Table 10.8

Among children under age 5 who had diarrhea in the two weeks preceding the survey, the percentage for whom advice or treatment was sought from a health facility or provider, the percentage given oral rehydration therapy

		or of the original sectors of	dration therac	N (ORT)		ר ביו ביו ומאס ב			ther treatment	ts		2		
Background characteristic	rercentage or children with diarrhea for whom advice or treatment was sought from a health facility or provider	Fluid from ORS packets or pre- packaged liquid	Recom- mended home fluids (RHF)	Either ORS or RHF	Increased fluids	ORT or increased fluids	Antibiotic drugs	Antimotility drugs	Zinc supple- ments	untravenous solution	Home remedy/ other	Missing	No treatment	Number of children with diarrhea
Age in months														
20 20	60.0	25.9	3.3	27.2	7.9	33.5	31.1	0.6	0.6	1.7	59.5	0.0	15.6	300
6-11	60.8	38.8	10.5	42.7	2.3	43.9	35.7	2.5	0.3	5.0	57.6	10	11.7	361
12-23	68.0	444	110	48.5	8.2	50.9	35.5	4.7	2.2	0.6	62.4	0.0	5.5	682
24-35	60.0 60 1	403	0.00	40.7	10.1	47 R	34.8	7 0	- -	0.0	50.7	0.0	10.1	501
36-47	51.8	39.6	8.6 8.6	42.8	13.2	49.6	31.3	0.4	0.5	5 - 1 -	58.9	0.3	13.4	373
48-59	55.4	27.8	13.7	36.7	7.3	40.5	27.9	4.1	1.8	0.5	58.7	0.4	14.6	265
Sex	63	44 E	с 0 0	0 11	7 0	10 6	22.4	4	,	a	0 U9		40 E	177
Female	58.6	4 34.4	9.9 4.0	38.6	9.8	43.0	33.8 33.8	4.8	2.0	2.3	58.9	0.2	11.0	1,208
Type of diarrhea														
Non-bloody	60.2	36.8	8.9	40.7	9.1	44.7	33.5	4.8	1.6	2.5	58.9	0.2	11.7	2,204
Bloody	71.1	50.2	14.7	52.8	10.4	57.1	33.1	4.9	1.0	2.2	68.1	0.0	3.7	256 22
MISSING	(30.0)	(23.1)	(0.0)	(1.52)	(2.0)	(4.62)	(6.02)	(3.U)	(0.0)	(8.7)	(2.00)	(8.1)	(n·n)	23
Residence Urban Rural	72.3 56.4	41.5 36.6	14.0 7.5	47.1 39.6	10.0 8.9	50.8 43.9	35.0 32.7	5.3 4.6	1.5 1.5	1.8 2.8	61.4 59.3	0.0 0.3	9.1 11.4	719 1,764
Region		0 10			1	0	1 00	c		c	C Li	Ċ	0.07	
Sindh	00.0 73.0	35.2 45.2	0.1 8.3	40.2 47.5	4.7 9.6	43.2 52.9	23.7 21.9	2.U 7.7	c: 1 0.1	4.0	66.4	0.0	7.2	1,301 579
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	23.0	35.5	5.8	37.6	14.2	43.8	48.8	9.4	2.3	1.7	36.3	0.9	14.8	435
Balochistan	43.4	41.5	4.5	43.0	6.2	43.6	30.3	7.6	8.0 1.8	6.4	46.4	0.0	17.6	65 2
ICI Islamabad Gilgit Baltistan	60.5 69.5	53.9 72.5	14.7	62.3 75.8	23.2 21.9	08.4 76.8	22.0	4.5 0.2	6:7 1:7	0.0	51.9 51.8	0.0	9.3 7.2	9 1 9 4
Mother's education														
No education	55.9	35.0	7.5	38.0	9.4	42.6	32.3	5.5	1.4	2.7	59.0	0.3	11.3	1,424
Middle	0.C0 0.T	38.2 41 q	10.8	41.3 52.6	0.0 9.0	44.4 万万 つ	30.2	1.7 6.4	9.0	2.9	63.U 57 1	0.0	7.2	408 192
Secondary	60.6	48.7	11.1	52.7	0.0 13.6	58.9	37.7	5 4 t -	1.2	2.6	62.9	0.0	8.0 8	243
Higher	70.8	44.2	9.7	47.6	7.2	48.5	40.8	6.8	1.2	2.2	57.5	0.0	9.3	155
Wealth quintile														
Lowest	54.0	33.6	7.7	37.7	8.8	43.0	28.4	6.4	2.2	2.0	58.5	0.4	11.5	586
Second	54.9	32.3	5.0	33.8	7.9	37.5	35.5	3.9	1.0	2.5	54.7	0.7	13.8	559
Middle	58.8	42.2	10.5	44.9	12.0	49.7	33.6	0.0 9	1.6	ထ၊ က်ပ	62.1	0.0	10.1	514
Fourth Higheet	00.3 76 p	39.0 18.2	12.7	40.U	0.0 7 0	40.1 74 0	30.4 7.3 7	4.7 6		с.7 ч	00.7 56 8	0.0	0.0 9 9	910 308
цурган	10.0	40.4	2.6	0.26	0.1	ъ. 1 0	40.7	0.	.	c.	0.00	0.0	0.0	000
Total	61.0	38.0	9.4	41.8	9.2	45.9	33.4	4.8	1.5	2.5	59.9	0.2	10.7	2,482
Note: ORT includes fluit ¹ Excludes pharmacy, s	d prepared from oral hop, homeopath, dist	rehydration se venser, compo	alt (ORS) pack ounder, hakim,	kets, pre-packa , and dai/traditi	ged ORS fluic	d, and recomm	nended home	fluids (RHF).	Figures in par	entheses are t	based on 25-4	49 unweighteo	d cases.	

10.9 FEEDING PRACTICES DURING DIARRHEA

Rapid rehydration and realimentation continues to be the cornerstone of treatment of diarrhea. Mothers are thus encouraged to continue feeding children with diarrhea normally and to increase the amount of fluids given. Table 10.9 shows that 54 percent of children who had diarrhea were given the same amount of fluid as usual and 9 percent were given more. A high percentage of children (30 percent) were given somewhat less than the usual amount, and 6 percent were given much less. One percent of children with diarrhea were not given any liquids.

Forty percent of children who had diarrhea were given the same amount of food as usual; 33 percent were given somewhat less than the usual amount of food, and 8 percent were given much less than the usual amount.

Children age 24-35 and 36-47 months are more likely (43 percent) than those in other age groups to be continually fed and given ORT and/or increased fluids during an episode of diarrhea. Children under age 6 months are least likely (10 percent) to be given ORT and/or increased fluids and fed normally during diarrhea.

There are variations in feeding practices by other background characteristics as well. Male children and children suffering from bloody diarrhea, children in urban areas, children residing in Gilgit Baltistan, children of mothers with a secondary education, and children from the highest wealth quintile are more likely than other children to receive ORT and/or increased fluids with continued feeding.

The percentage of children with diarrhea given increased fluids and fed continually has declined over the past six years, from 14 percent to 8 percent. Similarly, the practice of giving ORT and/or increased fluids along with continued feeding has decreased over this period, from 52 percent to 36 percent. The results outlined above clearly highlight the need for health program managers to revisit their plans and strategies to improve the health status of children in Pakistan.

2012-13			berceillage			nen ieeniin							1 fillinn spir			bercentade	Percentage	
			Amor	int of liquids	given						Amount of fe	ood given				i diven given increased	feeding and	Number of
Background characteristic	More	Same as usual	Some- what less	Much less	None	Don't know/ missing	Total	More	Same as usual	Some- what less	Much less	None	Never gave food	Don't know/ missing	Total	fluids and continued feeding ¹	ORT and/or increased fluids ¹	children with diarrhea
Age in months														0				
0 0	7.9	59.4	19.2	6.7	6.5	0.2	100.0	0.9	12.4	8.8	6.9	0.7	70.2	0.0	100.0	1.0	9.7	300
6-11	5.3	53.7	32.0	6.5	1.5	0.8	100.0	1.4	34.6	23.5	6.4	7.7	25.5	0.8	100.0	3.9	28.8	361
12-23	8.2	52.8	31.3	7.5	0.3	0.0	100.0	2.7	44.5	36.1	9.0 0	3.9	3.0	0.0	100.0	7.0	41.7	682
24-35	12.3	53.2	28.5	0. r 0. r	0.7	0.0	100.0	4.r	45.5	43.1	6.6 0.0	0.4 4.1	0.5	0.0	100.0	11.6	43.1	501
	7.3	40.0 56.6	32.7 31.0	5.1	0.0	0.0	100.0	- 8.8 - 8.8	44.0 49.1	42 34.2	6.8 0.3	1.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	6.3	43.1 35.2	265 265
Sex																		
Male Female	8.7 9.8	53.0 54.0	30.7 28.4	6.6 5.9	0.8 1.7	0.2 0.1	100.0 100.0	2.7 4.5	38.9 40.8	34.6 31.5	7.6 7.3	2.8 2.6	13.2 13.2	0.2 0.1	100.0 100.0	6.8 8.2	37.9 33.5	1,274 1,208
Type of diarrhea	č	c L		ľ		0		0	0		1	0				1	LC	
Non-bloody Bloody Miccing	9.1 10.4	0.42.9 42.8 0.00	28.9 9.95 9.92	10.6 10.6	- -	0.0	100.0	3.8 1.1 (c o)	40.3 36.0	32.3 40.3	0.7 13.5	3.5	7 0 0 2 0 0	0.0	100.0	8.5 8.5	41.9 41.9	256 256
	(7.0)	(6.20)	(1.62)	(0.11)	0.0	(10.4)	0.001	(0.0)	(20.3)	(0.02)	(0.11)	0.0	0.0	(1-0-1)	0.001	(2.0)	(1.02)	64
Kesidence Urban Rural	10.0 8.9	57.8 51.7	26.3 30.9	4.6 7.0	1.1 1.3	0.2 0.2	100.0 100.0	3.7 3.5	46.0 37.2	30.1 34.3	5.2 8.4	2.2	12.6 13.5	0.1 0.2	100.0 100.0	8.2 7.2	41.6 33.4	719 1,764
Region Duniah	7 4	67.4	27 E	.	۲ در	с U	0001	с г	50 R	05 F	ر در	у Г С	14 F	¢ 0	000	с у	47 A	1 381
Sindh Victoria Deletion biog	9.6	34.8 8.8	38.3	17.0	0,07	4.0 7 - 0 7 - 0	100.0	2.0	21.3	41.0	18.6	0 -	0.41	4.0 7 - C	100.0	7.2	33.6	579
Balochistan	6.2 6.2	28.0 28.0	39.1 39.1	21.8 21.8	5.0	0.0	100.0	3.0	26.2	40.0 35.8	20.8	6.4 6.4	7.8	0.0	100.0	3.8	20.2 26.9	65 65
ICT Islamabad Gilgit Baltistan	23.2 21.9	50.0 39.5	22.8 33.4	3.8 3.1	0.3 1.0	0.0 1.2	100.0 100.0	7.7 4.5	55.8 41.0	26.3 43.7	6.8 4.0	0.0 0.0	3.3 4.4	0.0 2.4	100.0 100.0	20.9 20.3	62.8 67.5	0 4 4
Mother's education																		
No education Primary	9.4 6.6	48.6 61.7	32.8 22.3	8.2	0.8 0.8	0.2	100.0	2.7 4.8	36.9 43.4	33.4 30.2	10.0 4 4	2.6 3.7	14.2 13.6	0.2	100.0	7.2	30.7 37.6	1,424 468
Middle	5.6	65.7	27.3	0.5	0.8	0.0	100.0	2.4	50.0	31.4	3.2	1.0	11.9	0.0	100.0	3.6	45.1	192
Secondary Higher	13.6 7.2	55.2 55.2	26.1 29.9	4.0 4.5	1.1 2.8	0.0 4.0	100.0 100.0	5.7 6.1	40.2 42.0	36.3 36.2	3.5 5.5	3.2 2.4	11.1 7.5	0.0 0.4	100.0 100.0	10.5 7.1	49.2 43.8	243 155
Wealth quintile																		
Lowest	8 0 9 0	44.3	36.6 20.7	9.4	8.0 0.8	0.0	100.0	3.3 2.3	34.7	35.4	11.2	2.8	12.6	0.1	100.0	6.3	32.1 25 7	586
Middle	12.0	55.4	23.9	6.4 6.4	0.0	0.5	100.0	5.4 7	38.2	32.4	9.4 7.3	- 7 - 7	0.41 0.42	7.0	100.0	11.2	39.2	514
Fourth	8.6	62.5	26.1	1.5	1.3	0.0	100.0	3.1	47.5	31.3	3.1	2.8	12.1	0.0	100.0	6.7	41.8	516
Highest	8.7	56.9	26.4	5.6	2.3	0.2	100.0	5.0	43.0	34.3	4.4	2.0	11.2	0.2	100.0	6.9	45.0	308
Total	9.2	53.5	29.6	6.3	1.3	0.2	100.0	3.6	39.8	33.1	7.5	2.7	13.2	0.2	100.0	7.5	35.8	2,482
Note: It is recommended ¹ Continued feeding inclu	that child des childı	lren should t ren who wer	oe given mo e given mo	re liquids to re, the same	drink durin as usual, (g diarrhea ar or somewhat	ld food sho less food d	uld not be r uring the di	educed. Fiç iarrhea epis	jures in pare ode.	entheses are	based on	25-49 unwe	ighted case	ũ			

 Table 10.9 Feeding practices during diarrhea

 Percent distribution of children under age 5 wh

Key Findings

- Forty-five percent of children under age 5 are stunted, 11 percent are wasted, and 30 percent are underweight.
- Ninety-four percent of children were reported to have been breastfed at some time.
- Thirty-eight percent of children less than age 6 months are exclusively breastfed. The median duration of exclusive breastfeeding is less than one month.
- Complementary foods are not introduced in a timely fashion for all children. Only 57 percent of breastfed children age 6-9 months received complementary foods.
- Overall, only 15 percent of children age 6-23 months are fed appropriately based on recommended infant and young child feeding (IYCF) practices.
- Fourteen percent of women are undernourished (BMI <18.5), and 40 percent are overweight or obese (BMI ≥25.0).

ood nutrition is a prerequisite for the national development of countries and for the well-being of individuals. Although problems related to poor nutrition affect the entire population, women and children are especially vulnerable because of their unique physiology and socioeconomic characteristics.

Adequate nutrition is essential to children's growth and development. The period from conception to age 2 is especially important for optimal physical, mental, and cognitive growth, health, and development. However, this period is often marked by protein-energy and micronutrient deficiencies that interfere with optimal growth. Illnesses such as diarrhea and acute respiratory infections are also common among children.

A woman's nutritional status has important implications for her health as well as for the health of her children. Among women, malnutrition results in reduced productivity, increased susceptibility to infections, slow recovery from illness, and a heightened risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes. For example, a woman with poor nutritional status, as indicated by a low body mass index (BMI), short stature, anemia, or other micronutrient deficiencies, has a greater risk of obstructed labor, of having a baby with a low birth weight, of producing low-quality breast milk, of death due to postpartum hemorrhage, and of morbidity for both herself and her baby.

This chapter reviews the nutritional status of children and women in Pakistan. Specific issues discussed include child nutrition based on anthropometric measurements, infant and young child feeding practices, and micronutrient intake among children and women.

11.1 NUTRITIONAL STATUS OF CHILDREN

The nutritional status of children under age 5 is an important measure of children's health. The anthropometric data on height and weight collected in the 2012-13 PDHS permit the measurement and evaluation of the nutritional status of young children in Pakistan.

11.1.1 Measurement of Nutritional Status among Young Children

The 2012-13 PDHS collected data on the nutritional status of children by measuring the height and weight of all children under age 5 in selected households. These data allow the calculation of three indices: height-for-age, weight-for-height, and weight-for-age.

Indicators of the nutritional status of children were calculated using growth standards published by the World Health Organization (WHO) in 2006. These growth standards were generated through data collected in the WHO Multicenter Growth Reference Study (WHO, 2006e). The findings of that study, which sampled 8,440 children in six countries (Brazil, Ghana, India, Norway, Oman, and the United States), illustrated how children should grow under optimal conditions. The WHO child growth standards can therefore be used to assess children all over the world, regardless of ethnicity, social and economic influences, or feeding practices. The WHO growth standards replaced the previously used NCHS/CDC/WHO (U.S. National Center for Health Statistics/U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention/World Health Organization) reference standards.

It should be noted that the WHO child growth standards are not comparable to the previously used NCHS/CDC/WHO standards. Several changes are evident when the WHO standards rather than the previous standards are used (WHO, 2006e). For example, the level of stunting is higher, and the level of underweight is substantially higher during the first half of infancy (0-6 months) and decreases thereafter.

The three nutritional status indices are expressed in standard deviation units from the Multicenter Growth Reference Study median. The height-for-age index is an indicator of linear growth retardation and cumulative growth deficits in children. Children whose height-for-age Z-score is below minus two standard deviations (-2 SD) from the median of the WHO reference population are considered short for their age (stunted), or chronically malnourished. Children who are below minus three standard deviations (-3 SD) from the reference median are considered severely stunted. Stunting reflects failure to receive adequate nutrition over a long period of time and is affected by recurrent and chronic illness. Height-for-age, therefore, represents the long-term effects of malnutrition in a population and is not sensitive to recent, short-term changes in dietary intake.

The weight-for-height index measures body mass in relation to height or length and describes current nutritional status. Children with Z-scores below minus two standard deviations (-2 SD) from the reference population median are considered thin (wasted) or acutely malnourished. Wasting represents the failure to receive adequate nutrition in the period immediately preceding the survey and may be the result of inadequate food intake or a recent episode of illness causing loss of weight and the onset of malnutrition. Children with a weight-for-height index below minus three standard deviations (-3 SD) from the reference median are considered severely wasted. The weight-for-height index also provides data on overweight and obesity. Children above two standard deviations (+2 SD) from the reference median are considered overweight or obese.

Weight-for-age is a composite index of height-for-age and weight-for-height. It takes into account both acute malnutrition (wasting) and chronic malnutrition (stunting), but it does not distinguish between the two. Children whose weight-for-age is below minus two standard deviations (-2 SD) from the reference population median are classified as underweight. Children whose weight-for-age is below minus three standard deviations (-3 SD) from the reference median are considered severely underweight.

Z-score means are also calculated as summary statistics representing the nutritional status of children in a population. These mean scores describe the nutritional status of the entire population without the use of a cutoff. A mean Z-score of less than 0 (i.e., a negative mean value for stunting, wasting, or underweight) suggests that the distribution of an index has shifted downward and that most if not all children in the population suffer from undernutrition relative to the reference population.

11.1.2 Data Collection

Measurements of height and weight were obtained for children born in the five years preceding the survey (i.e., born in January 2007 or later) in the subsample of households selected for the male survey as listed in the Household Questionnaire. Each team of interviewers carried a scale and measuring board. Measurements were made using lightweight SECA scales (with digital screens) designed and manufactured under the authority of the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). The measuring boards employed were specially made by Shorr Productions for use in survey settings. Children under age 2 or less than 85 cm (if the age was not known) were measured lying down on the board (recumbent length), and standing height was measured for all other children.

Every effort was made to successfully carry out the measurements of the eligible women and children. A total of 4,285 children under age 5 (unweighted) in the PDHS subsample households were eligible for anthropometric measurements. Given the law and order situation of the country during the fieldwork, it was very challenging to carry the instruments to the field and conduct the measurements, especially in Balochistan. There was an overall 12 percent nonresponse rate for children with respect to height and weight measurements.

In view of its security situation, the nonresponse in Balochistan for height and weight measurements was 20 percent, and only 41 percent of the measurements carried out in the province were valid. Given the low response rate in Balochistan, the National Institute of Population Studies (NIPS), as a means of assessing the provincial representativeness of the measurements, conducted a validation exercise after the completion of the fieldwork. However, fieldwork conditions had worsened over time, and it was not possible to complete the measurements in all of the proposed clusters. Only 58 percent of the proposed revisits could be completed, and most of these were concentrated in Quetta. This did not allow for a representative validation. Therefore, provincial results on anthropometry for children under age 5 in Balochistan are not presented separately in this report, although they are included in the national estimates. As Balochistan accounts for only 2 percent of the total representative sample of children, there is no substantial effect on overall national estimates.

The following analysis focuses on the 3,466 children for whom valid and complete information on date of birth, height (in centimeters), and weight (in kilograms) is available.

11.1.3 Measures of Child Nutritional Status

Height-for-age

Table 11.1 presents the nutritional status of children under age 5 by various background characteristics. Nationally, 45 percent of children under age 5 are stunted, and 24 percent are severely stunted. Analysis by age groups shows that stunting increases with age, peaking at 53 percent among children age 24-35 months (Figure 11.1). Severe stunting shows a similar pattern, with the highest proportion of severe stunting in children age 24-35 months (31 percent). Stunting is higher in male children (48 percent) than in female children (42 percent). Stunting is higher among children with a preceding birth interval of less than 24 months (47 percent) than among children who were first births and children with a preceding birth interval of 24-47 months or 48 months or more. More than half of children whose perceived size at birth (as reported by the mother) was very small or small are stunted. Mothers' nutritional status, as measured by their body mass index, also has an impact on the level of stunting in their children. Children whose mothers are overweight or obese (BMI of 25 or above) have the lowest levels (35 percent).

Table 11.1 Nutritional status of children

Percentage of children under age 5 classified as malnourished according to three anthropometric indices of nutritional status: height-for-age, weight-for-height, and weight-for-age, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Hei	aht-for-age ¹			Weight-for	-height			Weight-fo	or-age		
	Borooptogo	Doroontogo	Moon	Doroontogo	Dereenteree	Boroontogo	Meen	Doroontogo	Doroontogo		Meen	Number
Background	below	below		below	helow	above		below	below	above		of
characteristic	-3 SD	-2 SD ²	(SD)	-3 SD	-2 SD ²	+2 SD	(SD)	-3 SD	-2 SD ²	+2 SD	(SD)	children
Age in months											· ·	
<6	12.7	25.5	-0.8	6.1	16.8	7.5	-0.7	7.1	28.7	2.7	-1.1	337
6-8	13.2	27.1	-1.1	8.3	20.0	4.1	-0.8	13.5	29.6	0.7	-1.3	132
9-11	13.2	34.4	-1.3	5.0	18.1	4.8	-0.7	14.2	33.9	0.1	-1.3	186
12-17	23.6	45.6	-1.8	6.8	18.4	3.1	-0.8	13.8	33.9	0.5	-1.5	403
18-23	26.9	48.6	-1.9	2.6	12.9	0.6	-0.6	8.5	29.6	0.0	-1.4	243
24-35	31.0	52.8	-2.1	1.8	7.3	3.0	-0.3	9.3	29.6	0.5	-1.4	740
36-47	26.3	49.3	-2.0	2.5	9.2	2.2	-0.4	10.9	30.0	0.1	-1.4	682
48-59	22.8	45.6	-1.9	1.1	4.8	3.0	-0.4	6.4	27.9	0.3	-1.4	744
Sex												
Male	26.2	47.9	-1.9	3.8	11.7	3.1	-0.6	10.7	32.8	0.4	-1.5	1,728
Female	21.4	41.7	-1.7	2.8	9.9	3.4	-0.5	8.7	27.1	0.7	-1.3	1,739
Birth interval in months ³												
First birth ⁴	19.0	41.6	-1.7	3.5	10.0	2.6	-0.5	7.9	27.8	0.5	-1.3	675
<24	26.6	47.3	-1.9	3.0	10.8	3.5	-0.5	9.2	30.1	0.4	-1.4	1,154
24-47	23.8	44.1	-1.7	3.5	10.9	3.3	-0.5	10.4	30.3	0.5	-1.4	1,245
48+	19.9	43.0	-1.6	1.6	11.2	3.5	-0.6	10.6	28.4	1.5	-1.4	312
Size at birth ^{3,5}												
Verv small	37.6	51.5	-2.1	3.0	17.2	5.3	-0.7	18.9	37.6	0.5	-1.7	99
Small	30.6	55.5	-2.2	4.1	12.8	3.2	-0.7	16.0	40.0	0.0	-1.8	510
Average or larger	21.7	42.5	-1.7	3.0	10.1	3.2	-0.5	8.0	27.4	0.7	-1.3	2,762
Mother's interview status												
Interviewed	23.4	44.6	-18	3.1	10.7	33	-0.5	95	29.6	0.6	-14	3 385
Not interviewed but in	20.1	11.0	1.0	0.1	10.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	20.0	0.0		0,000
household	(49.2)	(68.4)	(-2.6)	(11.6)	(21.3)	(3.7)	(-0.6)	(15.0)	(53.9)	(0.0)	(-2.0)	41
Not interviewed and not in	()	(0000)	(=)	()	(=)	()	()	()	()	()	(=)	
the household ⁶	(25.3)	(37.3)	(-1.7)	(5.7)	(9.6)	(0.6)	(-0.7)	(17.2)	(40.2)	(0.0)	(-1.4)	40
Mother's nutritional status ⁷	. ,	. ,	. ,	. ,	. ,		. ,	. ,	. ,	. ,	. ,	
Thin (BMI <18.5)	32.4	55.4	-22	52	16.6	0.8	-0.9	17 7	44 2	0.4	-1 9	450
Normal (BMI 18 5-24 9)	24.4	47.2	-1.8	3.5	11.8	2.5	-0.6	9.8	33.2	0.3	-1.5	1 444
Overweight/obese (BMI ≥25)	16.8	35.3	-1.4	2.3	6.4	4.8	-0.2	4.5	18.5	0.8	-1.0	859
Pesidence												
Urban	18 7	37 1	-15	29	٩a	3.8	-0.5	73	24.1	0.6	-12	1 053
Rural	26.0	48.2	-1.9	3.4	11.2	3.0	-0.5	10.7	32.5	0.5	-1.5	2 413
Deview	2010			0.11		0.0	0.0		0210	0.0		_,
Region	176	20.9	16	20	0.5	17	0.5	7.0	26.1	0.4	1 2	2 1 5 5
Lirban	17.0	39.0	-1.0	2.0	9.5	1.7	-0.5	7.0	20.1	0.4	-1.5	2,100
Rural	10.3	12.4	-1.3	2.2	0.0	1.5	-0.5	7.8	20.4	0.0	-1.1	1 500
Sindh	35.1	56.7	-2.2	3.4	13.6	3.7	-0.7	16.7	42.3	0.4	-1.8	799
Urban	28.0	46.1	-1.9	4.3	12.8	7.2	-0.5	12.8	33.6	0.2	-1.5	305
Rural	39.5	63.3	-2.4	2.8	14.0	1.6	-0.7	19.1	47.7	0.4	-2.0	494
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	25.1	41.9	-1.6	4.5	12.0	5.0	-0.4	9.8	26.1	1.1	-1.2	392
Úrban	14.8	31.4	-1.3	1.4	7.2	2.6	-0.2	4.4	19.1	1.3	-0.9	70
Rural	27.3	44.2	-1.7	5.2	13.1	5.5	-0.4	11.0	27.6	1.0	-1.3	322
ICT Islamabad	8.4	22.2	-0.9	3.0	13.1	4.1	-0.6	2.8	14.4	1.3	-0.9	13
Gilgit Baltistan	21.9	35.9	-1.2	3.7	8.1	15.2	0.3	3.1	12.6	5.6	-0.5	25
Mother's education [®]												
No education	31.2	55.3	-2.1	4.1	13.5	2.5	-0.6	13.6	38.7	0.7	-1.7	1,875
Primary	22.5	45.8	-1.8	2.9	8.5	4.6	-0.4	5.2	27.5	0.0	-1.3	597
Middle	10.5	30.8	-1.3	1.3	8.0	2.0	-0.4	5.5	17.8	0.7	-1.0	287
Secondary	10.3	20.9	-1.1	2.9	7.3	3.8	-0.5	5.3	14.2	0.9	-0.9	370
Higher	8.8	20.7	-0.9	0.5	5.6	6.2	-0.2	2.3	9.9	0.4	-0.7	296
Wealth quintile												
Lowest	38.4	61.6	-2.5	4.5	17.3	2.9	-0.8	19.4	47.8	0.4	-2.0	762
Second	30.7	55.7	-2.0	3.2	10.5	3.3	-0.5	12.0	34.2	0.7	-1.6	707
Middle	19.6	40.6	-1.7	4.0	9.4	2.6	-0.5	6.0	26.1	0.5	-1.3	642
Fourth	16.6	37.8	-1.5	1.8	7.8	2.9	-0.4	5.9	22.4	0.7	-1.2	793
Hignest	10.0	23.0	-1.1	2.9	8.2	4.9	-0.3	3.0	15.6	0.4	-0.8	562
Total	23.7	44.8	-1.8	3.3	10.8	3.2	-0.5	9.7	30.0	0.5	-1.4	3,466

Note: Table is based on children who stayed in the household on the night before the interview. Each of the indices is expressed in standard deviation units (SD) from the median of the WHO child growth standards adopted in 2006. The indices in this table are NOT comparable to those based on the previously used NCHS/CDC/WHO reference. Table is based on children with valid dates of birth (month and year) and valid measurement of both height and weight. Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases.

Recumbent length is measured for children under age 2 and in the few cases when the age of the child is unknown and the child is less than 85 cm; standing height is measured for all other children. ² Includes children who are below -3 standard deviations (SD) from the WHO child growth standards population median

³ Excludes children whose mothers were not interviewed

⁴ First-born twins (triplets, etc.) are counted as first births because they do not have a previous birth interval.

⁵ Excludes 13 children for whom information on size at birth was missing

⁶ Includes children whose mothers are deceased

⁷ Excludes children whose mothers were not weighed and measured, children whose mothers were not interviewed, and children whose mothers were pregnant or gave birth within the preceding 2 months. Mother's nutritional status in terms of BMI (body mass index) is presented in Table 11.8.

Balochistan is not shown separately as only 41 percent of the measurements were valid, preventing provincial representation. However, it is included in the total national estimates.

For women who were not interviewed, information is taken from the Household Questionnaire. Excludes children whose mothers are not listed in the Household Questionnaire.

Children in rural areas are more likely to be stunted (48 percent) than those in urban areas (37 percent), and the pattern is similar for severe stunting (26 percent in rural areas and 19 percent in urban areas). Fifty-seven percent of children in Sindh are stunted followed by Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (42 percent) and Punjab (40 percent). The urban-rural differential is highest in Sindh, with more rural children than urban children being stunted (63 percent and 46 percent, respectively).

Mother's level of education generally has an inverse relationship with stunting; stunting ranges from a low of 21 percent among children whose mothers have a higher education to 55 percent among those whose mothers have no education. A similar inverse relationship is observed between household wealth and stunting. Children in the poorest households are almost three times as likely to be stunted (62 percent) as children in the wealthiest households (23 percent).

Weight-for-height

Table 11.1 also shows the nutritional status of children less than age 5 as measured by weight-forheight. Overall, 11 percent of children in Pakistan are wasted. Disaggregation of wasting by child's age shows that wasting is highest (20 percent) among children age 6-8 months and lowest (5 percent) among children age 48-59 months. Male children are more likely to be wasted (12 percent) than female children (10 percent). As expected, the data show a linear relationship between wasting and perceived size of the baby at birth. Wasting is higher (17 percent) among children who were reported to be very small at birth than among those whose perceived size at birth was small, average, or large. Children born to mothers who are thin (BMI less than 18.5) are more than twice as likely to be wasted as those born to mothers who are overweight or obese (BMI of 25 or above). Children residing in urban areas are less likely to be wasted (10 percent) than children in rural areas (11 percent). Wasting is highest in Sindh (not including Balochistan in this comparison), with more rural than urban children in the province being wasted.

In general, there is an inverse relationship between mother's level of education and wasting, with the lowest proportion of wasting among children of mothers with a higher education (6 percent) and the highest proportion among children of mothers with no education (14 percent). There is a similar inverse relationship between household wealth and wasting.

Weight-for-age

As shown in Table 11.1, 30 percent of children under age 5 are underweight (weight-for-age below -2 SD), and 10 percent are severely underweight. The proportion of underweight children is highest (34 percent) among those age 9-11 months and those age 12-17 months. Male children are more likely to be underweight (33 percent) than female children (27 percent). Similar to wasting, underweight shows a strong relationship with perceived size of the baby at birth. Children reported to be very small or small at birth are much more likely to be underweight (38 percent and 40 percent, respectively) than children reported to be average or large at birth (27 percent). Children born to mothers who are thin (BMI less than 18.5) are more than twice as likely to be underweight (44 percent) as children born to mothers who are overweight or obese (19 percent). Rural children are more likely to be underweight, with rural children more likely to be underweight than urban children in Sindh are underweight, with rural children more likely to be underweight than urban children in Sindh are underweight.



Figure 11.1 Nutritional status of children by age

As with wasting and stunting, mother's education is associated with underweight. Children born to mothers with no education (39 percent) are almost four times as likely to be underweight as children born to mothers with a higher education (10 percent). A similar inverse relationship is observed between household wealth and percentage of underweight children: children in the poorest households are three times more likely to be underweight (48 percent) than children in the wealthiest households (16 percent).

11.2 BREASTFEEDING AND COMPLEMENTARY FEEDING

Feeding practices play a critical role in child development. Poor feeding practices can adversely impact the health and nutritional status of children, which in turn has direct consequences for their mental and physical development. Duration and intensity of breastfeeding also affect a mother's period of postpartum infertility and, hence, the length of the birth interval and fertility levels.

11.2.1 Initiation of Breastfeeding

Early initiation of breastfeeding is important for both the mother and the child. Early suckling stimulates the release of prolactin, which helps in the production of milk, and oxytocin, which is responsible for the ejection of milk. It also stimulates contraction of the uterus after childbirth and reduces postpartum blood loss. The first liquid to come from the breast, known as colostrum, is produced in the first few days after delivery. Colostrum is highly nutritious and contains antibodies that provide natural immunity to the infant. It is recommended that children be fed colostrum immediately after birth (within one hour) and that they continue to be exclusively breastfed even if the regular breast milk has not yet started to flow.

Table 11.2 shows the percentage of last-born children born in the two years preceding the survey according to whether they were ever breastfed, when they began breastfeeding, and whether they were fed anything other than breast milk prior to the commencement of breastfeeding. Ninety-four percent of children were reported to have been breastfed at some time. Differences in the proportion of children ever breastfed by background characteristics are minor. One of the goals of the 2008 national IYCF strategy was to increase the percentage of newborns who are breastfed within one hour of birth to 60 percent

(Ministry of Health, 2008). However, only 18 percent of children were reported to have been breastfed within one hour of birth. A little over half (58 percent) of children were breastfed within one day of birth. Initiation of breastfeeding within one hour and within one day of birth varies by specific background characteristics.

Table 11.2 Initial breastfeeding

Among last-born children who were born in the two years preceding the survey, the percentage who were ever breastfed and the percentages who started breastfeeding within one hour and within one day of birth, and among last-born children born in the two years preceding the survey who were ever breastfed, the percentage who received a prelacteal feed, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

					Among last-bo	n children
	Among las	t-born children bo	rn in the past two	years:	who were ever	breastfed:
Background characteristic	Percentage ever breastfed	Percentage who started breastfeeding within 1 hour of birth	Percentage who started breastfeeding within 1 day of birth ¹	Number of last-born children	Percentage who received a prelacteal feed ²	Number of last-born children ever breastfed
Sex Male Female	94.5 94.3	17.3 18.8	56.8 59.0	2,168 2,078	76.0 74.3	2,048 1,960
Assistance at delivery Health personnel ³ Traditional birth attendant Other	93.5 95.5 97.2	16.9 17.9 29.3	58.7 55.2 66.1	2,444 1,545 239	74.6 77.4 65.7	2,286 1,476 232
Place of delivery Health facility At home	93.6 95.6	16.3 20.1	58.2 57.6	2,295 1,946	74.6 75.8	2,148 1,859
Residence Urban Rural	94.6 94.3	17.9 18.1	59.6 57.1	1,256 2,990	74.7 75.3	1,188 2,820
Region Punjab Sindh Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Balochistan ICT Islamabad Gilgit Baltistan	92.8 96.6 96.5 96.2 92.2 98.7	12.7 19.7 26.4 42.1 19.9 60.4	45.6 73.6 72.2 79.7 74.7 95.5	2,425 961 623 187 16 33	86.3 54.3 74.6 57.7 55.5 9.8	2,251 929 601 180 15 32
Mother's education No education Primary Middle Secondary Higher	94.7 94.1 91.2 93.5 97.2	18.8 12.3 17.6 18.7 23.8	57.8 55.0 51.2 57.6 70.3	2,304 741 346 480 374	73.1 81.3 77.8 80.1 67.4	2,182 698 316 449 364
Wealth quintile Lowest Second Middle Fourth Highest Total	94.7 95.6 93.3 92.8 95.9 94.4	21.7 17.1 17.2 12.8 21.9 18.0	62.6 57.7 53.1 51.5 66.0 57.9	934 914 858 873 667 4,246	66.0 75.0 80.8 82.4 71.8 75.2	884 873 801 810 640 4,008

Note: Table is based on last-born children born in the two years preceding the survey regardless of whether the children were living or dead at the time of the interview. Total includes cases for which assistance at delivery was missing and 4 cases for which no assistance was received and/or place of delivery was "other" or "missing."

¹ Includes children who started breastfeeding within 1 hour of birth

² Children given something other than breast milk during the first 3 days of life

³ Doctor, nurse/midwife, or lady health visitor

The prevalence of early initiation of breastfeeding (within one hour of birth) does not differ by area of residence (18 percent), but variations are evident by region. In Gilgit Baltistan, 60 percent of children were breastfeed within one hour of birth, as compared with Punjab, where breastfeeding in the first hour was initiated in only 13 percent of children. There was only a slight difference in the initiation of breastfeeding within one hour of birth among children born in a health facility (16 percent) and those delivered at home (20 percent). Last-born children of mothers with a higher education were more likely to

be breastfed within an hour of birth and within the first day than other children. In general, women from the highest wealth quintile initiated breastfeeding sooner than women from other wealth quintiles.

The practice of providing a prelacteal feed is discouraged because it limits the frequency of suckling by the infant and exposes the baby to the risk of infection. The data show that 75 percent of newborns were given something other than breast milk (prelacteal feed) during the first three days of life.

There is no difference among children who are given a prelacteal feed by place of birth. Prelacteal feeding is more common among newborns whose mothers have a primary education (81 percent) than among newborns whose mothers have a higher education (67 percent). Prelacteal feeding is most common (82 percent) among children in the fourth wealth quintile and least prevalent among those in the lowest quintile (66 percent). The practice of giving a prelacteal feed has increased from 68 percent in 2006-07 to 75 percent in 2012-13.¹

11.3 BREASTFEEDING STATUS BY AGE

UNICEF and WHO recommend that children be exclusively breastfed (no other liquid, solid food, or plain water) during the first six months of life (WHO/UNICEF, 2002; Pan American Health Organization [PAHO]/WHO, 2003). Pakistan's national nutrition strategy promotes exclusive breastfeeding through age 6 months and, thereafter, the introduction of semisolid or solid foods along with continued breast milk until the child is at least age 2 (Ministry of Health, 2004). Introducing breast milk substitutes to infants before age 6 months can displace exclusive breastfeeding. Substitutes such as formula, other kinds of milk, and porridge are often watered down and provide too few calories. Furthermore, possible contamination of these substitutes exposes infants to the risk of illness.

After six months, a child requires adequate complementary foods for normal growth. Lack of appropriate complementary feeding may lead to undernutrition and frequent illness, which in turn may lead to death. However, even with complementary feeding, children should continue to be breastfed for two years or more.

The 2012-13 PDHS used a 24-hour recall method to collect data on infant and young child feeding for all last-born children under age 2 living with their mothers. Table 11.3 shows the percentage of youngest children under age 2 by breastfeeding status and the percentage using a bottle with a nipple, according to age in months. Although the prevalence of breastfeeding in Pakistan is high, it is not universal and has not increased since 2006 (NIPS and Macro International Inc., 2008). The 2008 national IYCF strategy (Ministry of Health, 2008) set a target of increasing the percentage of infants less than age 6 months who are exclusively breastfed from 37 percent to 55 percent. However, Table 11.3 shows that the proportion of children under age 6 months who are exclusively breastfed has remained unchanged in the past six years (38 percent). As can be seen in Figure 11.2 and Table 11.3, supplementing breast milk with other liquids or foods starts at an early age in Pakistan. Contrary to the recommendation of exclusive breastfeeding, 17 percent of children under age 6 months were given plain water, 28 percent received other milk, and 10 percent were fed complementary foods in addition to breast milk.

¹ The data for the 2006-07 PDHS were rerun to allow a comparison of this indicator. In 2006-07 this information was derived for children born in the five years preceding the survey, whereas in 2012-13 it was calculated for last-born children in the two years preceding the survey.

Table 11.3 Breastfeeding status by age

Percent distribution of youngest children under age 2 who are living with their mother by breastfeeding status and the percentage currently breastfeeding, and the percentage of all children under age 2 using a bottle with a nipple, according to age in months, Pakistan 2012-13

			Bre	astfeeding st	atus						
Age in months	Not breast- feeding	Exclusively	Breast- feeding and consuming plain water only	Breast- feeding and consuming non-milk liquids ¹	Breast- feeding and consuming other milk	Breast- feeding and consuming comple- mentary foods	Total	Percentage currently breast- feeding	Number of youngest children under age 2 living with their mother	Percentage using a bottle with a nipple	Number of all children under age 2
0.4	10	547	40.7	0.7	00.5	0.4	400.0	05.7	000	00.7	202
0-1	4.3	54.7	13.7	0.7	23.5	3.1	100.0	95.7	299	22.7	302
2-3	6.3	38.7	15.8	0.0	34.3	4.8	100.0	93.7	452	39.3	454
4-5	9.6	24.1	21.1	0.7	25.0	19.4	100.0	90.4	401	35.1	408
6-8	15.9	5.7	10.8	0.7	11.8	55.0	100.0	84.1	455	43.4	466
9-11	17.3	3.8	6.5	0.6	6.0	65.7	100.0	82.7	554	45.5	557
12-17	24.6	1.3	3.0	0.3	1.0	69.7	100.0	75.4	1,167	43.9	1,238
18-23	38.9	0.5	0.7	0.3	1.1	58.4	100.0	61.1	679	47.7	837
0-3	5.5	45.1	15.0	0.3	30.0	4.1	100.0	94.5	750	32.7	756
0-5	7.0	37.7	17.1	0.4	28.3	9.5	100.0	93.0	1,151	33.5	1,164
6-9	16.2	5.3	10.4	0.5	11.1	56.6	100.0	83.8	665	44.0	677
12-15	19.4	1.5	3.6	0.4	1.2	74.0	100.0	80.6	831	41.9	864
12-23	29.9	1.0	2.2	0.3	1.1	65.6	100.0	70.1	1,846	45.4	2,074
20-23	43.9	0.3	0.5	0.0	0.5	54.7	100.0	56.1	396	51.3	518

Note: Breastfeeding status refers to a "24-hour" period (yesterday and last night). Children who are classified as breastfeeding and consuming plain water only consumed no liquid or solid supplements. The categories of not breastfeeding, exclusively breastfed, breastfeeding and consuming plain water, non-milk liquids, other milk, and complementary foods (solids and semisolids) are hierarchical and mutually exclusive, and their percentages sum to 100 percent. Thus, children who receive breast milk and non-milk liquids and who do not receive other milk and who do not receive complementary foods are classified in the non-milk liquid category even though they may also get plain water. Any children who get complementary food are classified in that category as long as they are breastfeeding as well.

¹ Non-milk liquids include juice, juice drinks, clear broth, or other liquids.



Figure 11.2 Infant feeding practices by age

Table 11.3 also shows complementary feeding practices among breastfeeding children of different ages. Three percent of children age 0-1 month, 5 percent of children age 2-3 months, and 19 percent of children age 4-5 months are given complementary foods in addition to breast milk. Although children age

6-8 months should receive solid/semisolid foods, Table 11.3 shows that 45 percent of breastfeeding children in this age group did not receive complementary foods the day or night preceding the survey. The data show that 34 percent of infants less than age 6 months are fed using a bottle with a nipple, which is 7 percentage points higher than in 2006-07.

Figure 11.3 shows the 2012-13 PDHS results for key IYCF breastfeeding practices among children under age 2 who are living with their mothers. Although 38 percent of children under age 6 months are exclusively breastfed, only 24 percent of those age 4-5 months are exclusively breastfed. Four in five children (81 percent) continue breastfeeding at age 1, and 56 percent continue to breastfeed until age 2. Sixty-six percent of children start receiving complementary foods at an appropriate age. Fifty-six percent of children age 0-23 months are breastfeed appropriately for their age (i.e., exclusive breastfeeding for children age 0-5 months and continued breastfeeding along with complementary foods for children age 6-23 months). Fifty-five percent of children are predominantly breastfeed (breast milk and only plain water or non-milk liquids such as juice, clear broth, and other liquids); 42 percent of children under age 2 are bottle fed.



Figure 11.3 IYCF indicators on breastfeeding status

11.4 DURATION OF BREASTFEEDING

Table 11.4 provides information on the median duration of any breastfeeding, exclusive breastfeeding, and predominant breastfeeding among children born in the three years preceding the survey by selected background characteristics. The median duration of any breastfeeding in Pakistan is 19.0 months, similar to the duration reported in the 2006-07 PDHS (18.9 months). Median duration of breastfeeding is slightly higher for male children (20.3 months), children residing in rural areas (19.6 months), children of mothers with no education (20.6 months), and children in the lowest wealth quintile (20.8 months). The mean duration of breastfeeding for all children is 18.3 months.

Table 11.4 shows that the median duration of exclusive breastfeeding is only 0.7 months. Median duration varies between less than a month (0.7) for male children and 1 month for female children and is less than a month among infants in both urban and rural areas (0.9 and 0.7 months, respectively). The median duration of predominant breastfeeding has remained unchanged in Pakistan over the past six years at 2.7 months.

Table 11.4 Median duration of breastfeeding

	-		
	Median duration children	n (months) of breas born in the past thre	tfeeding among ee years ¹
Background	Any	Exclusive	Predominant
characteristic	breastfeeding	breastfeeding	breastfeeding ²
Sev			
Male	20.3	07	27
Female	18.4	1.0	2.6
Desidence			
Kesidence	40.0	0.0	0.0
Orban	18.2	0.9	2.3
Rulai	19.0	0.7	2.0
Region			
Punjab	17.5	(0.7)	1.5
Sindh	20.6	1.3	3.9
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	21.0	3.3	4.9
Balochistan	19.6	(1.0)	1.6
Cilgit Boltistop	14.5	(1.9)	4.2
Giigit Bailistan	(20.1)	(3.5)	4.3
Mother's education			
No education	20.6	0.7	3.4
Primary	17.4	1.0	2.4
Middle	(17.5)	*	2.4
Secondary	17.7	1.3	1.4
Higher	18.1		
Wealth quintile			
Lowest	20.8	(0.7)	4.4
Second	19.9	(0.7)	2.6
Middle	19.1	1.2	2.9
Fourth	19.2	(0.7)	1.4
Hignest	17.2	1.0	1.3
Total	19.0	0.7	2.7
Mean for all children	18.3	3.1	4.7

Median duration of any breastfeeding, exclusive breastfeeding, and predominant breastfeeding among children born in the three years preceding the survey, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

Note: Median and mean durations are based on the distributions at the time of the survey of the proportion of births by months since birth. Includes children living and deceased at the time of the survey. Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases. An asterisk indicates that a figure is based on fewer than 25 unweighted cases and has been suppressed.

¹ It is assumed that non-last-born children and last-born children not currently living with the mother are not currently breastfeeding.

 $^{\rm 2}$ Either exclusively breastfed or received breast milk and plain water and/or non-milk liquids only

11.5 TYPES OF COMPLEMENTARY FOODS

It is recommended that complementary foods (solid or semisolid foods fed to infants in addition to breast milk) be started at age 6 months. The reason is that, at this age, breast milk alone is no longer sufficient to maintain the child's recommended daily nutritional requirements and enhance growth. Children are fed small quantities of solid and semisolid foods while continuing to breastfeed up to age 2 or beyond. The amount of food is increased gradually from 6 to 23 months, the period of transition to eating the regular family diet. This period is characterized by an increase in the prevalence of malnutrition because of poor feeding practices and infections. Table 11.5 shows the percentage of youngest children under age 2 who are living with their mother by types of foods consumed in the day or night preceding the interview, according to breastfeeding status and age.

The data show that, contrary to WHO recommendations, the practice of feeding children with solid or semisolid foods starts early in life. Five percent of breastfeeding children have received some kind of solid or semisolid food by age 2-3 months, and this proportion increases to 22 percent by age 4-5 months.

Overall, 85 percent of breastfed children age 6-23 months received solid or semisolid complementary foods in addition to breast milk. These complementary foods included fortified baby foods (16 percent), foods made from grains (70 percent), fruits and vegetables rich in vitamin A (19 percent), other fruits and vegetables (32 percent), and food made from roots and tubers (41 percent). Children were also fed protein-rich foods such as legumes and nuts (6 percent); meat, fish, and poultry (16 percent); and eggs (24 percent). Twelve percent of children age 6-23 months were given cheese, yogurt, and other milk products. In addition, 41 percent of children in this age group were given other milk, and 19 percent were given other liquids. Use of infant formula was minimal (4 percent).

Table 11.5 Foods and liquids consumed by children in the day or night preceding the interview

Percentage of youngest children under age 2 who are living with the mother by type of foods consumed in the day or night preceding the interview, according to breastfeeding status and age, Pakistan 2012-13

		Liquids					Solid or	r semisol	id foods					
Age in months	Infant formula	Other milk ¹	Other liquids ²	Fortified baby foods	Food made from grains ³	Fruits and vege- tables rich in vitamin A ⁴	Other fruits and vege- tables	Food made from roots and tubers	Food made from legumes and nuts	Meat, fish, poultry	Eggs	Cheese, yogurt, other milk products	Any solid or semi- solid food	Number of children
						BREAST	FEEDING C	HILDRE	N					
0-1 2-3	10.3 8.4	16.8 31.3	3.8 2.3	0.5 1.8	2.4 1.8	1.2 0.3	0.4 0.4	2.3 1.0	0.1 0.2	0.3 0.0	0.0 0.9	0.4 1.2	3.2 5.1	286 423
4-5 6-8	3.7 5.6	32.6 35.3	3.3 8.6	6.8 22.4	6.9 45.8	0.9 9.7	3.6 17.5	2.5 25.5	0.2 1.4	0.1 8.2	6.1 17.0	2.7 10.0	21.5 65.5	362 383
9-11 12-17 18-23	5.8 2.2 2.2	36.4 44.3 46.5	18.2 21.7 24.8	18.9 13.7 9.4	58.3 78.3 86.5	11.4 22.5 27.8	25.8 36.0 41.1	28.8 47.2 55.1	1.5 7.2 10.5	8.8 19.4 25.1	17.1 27.2 30.7	11.4 12.7 14.1	79.5 92.5 95.6	458 880 414
6-23	3.6	41.4	19.2	15.5	69.7	18.8	31.5	40.9	5.6	16.2	23.9	12.2	85.4	2,135
Total	4.8	36.9	13.8	11.4	47.7	12.8	21.5	27.8	3.8	10.8	16.7	8.6	60.3	3,206
					N	ONBREAS	STFEEDING	G CHILDI	REN					
0-5 6-8 9-11 12-17 18-23	42.0 21.4 24.1 10.1 9.4	60.5 67.1 73.8 75.7 70.7	3.7 6.7 15.0 21.4 28.6	9.9 25.2 20.9 15.7 8.1	8.1 42.7 75.9 83.6 87.2	0.5 4.7 21.0 14.7 31.3	7.4 25.2 36.0 41.2 45.2	0.1 19.3 32.9 42.7 53.7	0.0 1.6 3.5 6.0 11.2	3.7 8.2 14.0 21.7 31.5	2.5 10.9 27.5 26.8 33.7	2.5 15.5 15.9 15.3 21.5	22.1 70.8 89.3 95.2 96.8	81 72 96 287 264
6-23	12.9	72.7	21.7	14.6	79.8	20.6	40.4	43.1	7.1	22.9	27.8	17.7	92.5	720
Total	16.1	71.5	19.9	14.1	72.7	18.6	37.1	38.8	6.4	20.9	25.3	16.1	85.5	800

Note: Breastfeeding status and food consumed refer to a "24-hour" period (yesterday and last night).

¹ Other milk includes fresh, tinned, and powdered cow or other animal milk.

² Does not include plain water

³ Includes fortified baby food

⁴ Includes pumpkin, squash, carrots, red sweet potatoes, dark green leafy vegetables, mangoes, papayas, and other locally grown fruits and vegetables that are rich in vitamin A

More than 90 percent of nonbreastfeeding children age 6-23 months received solid or semisolid foods. With the exception of fortified baby foods, consumption of different types of food was higher among nonbreastfeeding children than among breastfeeding children.

11.6 INFANT AND YOUNG CHILD FEEDING (IYCF) PRACTICES

Appropriate IYCF practices include timely initiation of feeding solid or semisolid foods at age 6 months and increasing the amount and variety of foods and frequency of feeding as the child gets older while maintaining frequent breastfeeding (WHO, 2008). Guidelines have been established for IYCF practices among children age 0-23 months (PAHO/WHO, 2003; WHO, 2005; WHO, 2008). Although breastfeeding is recommended for infants up to age 2, some infants have stopped breastfeeding before reaching age 2 because, for example, their mother is HIV positive or has died; guidelines on feeding this group of children have also been developed (WHO, 2005).

Appropriate nutrition includes feeding children age 6-23 months a variety of foods a desired number of times to ensure that their nutrient and caloric requirements are met. Minimum dietary diversity

refers to feeding the child food from at least four food groups, a cutoff selected because of its association with better-quality diets for both breastfed and nonbreastfed children. Studies have shown that plant-based complementary foods by themselves are insufficient to meet the needs for certain micronutrients (WHO and UNICEF, 1998). Therefore, it is recommended that meat, poultry, fish, and eggs be eaten daily or as often as possible. Fruits and vegetables rich in vitamin A should be consumed daily to achieve the proven health benefits associated with vitamin A (Allen and Gillespie, 2001). Children's diets should include an adequate fat content, because fat provides essential fatty acids, facilitates absorption of fat-soluble vitamins (such as vitamin A), and enhances dietary energy density. It is highly likely that children consuming foods from at least four groups are consuming at least one animal source of food and at least one fruit or vegetable in addition to a staple food (grains, roots, or tubers) (WHO, 2008). These four food groups should come from the following seven categories: grains, roots, and tubers; legumes and nuts; dairy products (milk, yogurt, cheese); flesh foods (meat, fish, poultry, liver/organ meat); eggs; vitamin A-rich fruits and vegetables; and other fruits and vegetables.

The minimum dietary diversity may be reported separately for breastfed and nonbreastfed children. However, diversity scores for breastfed and nonbreastfed children should not be directly compared, because breast milk is not counted in any of the above stated food groups. The recommended numbers of feedings are as follows:

- Breastfed children age 6-23 months should receive animal-source foods and vitamin-A rich fruits and vegetables daily (PAHO/WHO, 2003). Breastfed infants age 6-8 months should be fed meals of complementary foods two to three times per day, with one to two snacks as desired; breastfed children age 9-23 months should be fed meals three to four times per day, with one to two snacks.
- Nonbreastfed children age 6-23 months should receive milk products at least twice a day to ensure that their calcium needs are met. In addition, they need animal-source foods and vitamin A-rich fruits and vegetables. Therefore, four food groups are considered the minimum acceptable number for nonbreastfed children. Nonbreastfed children should be fed meals four to five times per day, with one to two snacks as desired (WHO, 2005). Meal frequency is considered a proxy for energy intake from foods other than breast milk; therefore, the feeding frequency indicator for nonbreastfed children includes both milk feeds and solid/semisolid feeds (WHO, 2008).

These minimum feeding frequencies are based on the energy needs estimated from age-specific total daily energy requirements. Infants with low breast milk intake would need to be fed more frequently. However, overly frequent feeding may lead to displacement of breast milk (PAHO/WHO, 2003).

Table 11.6 and Figure 11.4 show IYCF practices according to breastfeeding status. The IYCF recommendations for children age 6-23 months take into account feeding practices that meet minimum standards with respect to:

- Food diversity (the number of food groups consumed)
- Feeding frequency (the number of times the child is fed)
- Consumption of breast milk or other types of milk or milk products

Table 11.6 shows that 20 percent of breastfed children age 6-23 months were fed foods from four or more food groups in the 24 hours preceding the survey. A little over one fourth (27 percent) of breastfed children residing in urban areas were given foods from four or more food groups, as compared with 17 percent of breastfed children living in rural areas. Children living in ICT Islamabad (38 percent), children of mothers with a higher education (43 percent), and children from the wealthiest households (36 percent) were more likely than their counterparts to receive foods from four or more food groups along with breast milk. More than half of breastfed children (55 percent) were fed the minimum number of times in the preceding day and night of the survey. Only 16 percent of breastfed children were fed in accord with the recommended guidelines, that is, given foods from four or more groups and fed the minimum number of times each day. The proportion of breastfeeding children age 6-23 months fed the recommended variety of foods at least three times daily increased with mother's level of education and wealth.

Table 11.6 Infant and young child feeding (IYCF) practices

Percentage of youngest children age 6-23 months living with their mother who are fed according to three IYCF feeding practices based on breastfeeding status, number of food groups, and times they are fed during the day or night preceding the survey, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Among b month	reastfed chi	ldren 6-23 ge fed:		Among non-breastfed children 6-23 months, percentage fed:					6-23 months, Among all children 6-23 months, percentage fed:					
Background characteristic	4+ food groups ¹	Minimum meal frequency ²	Both 4+ food groups and minimum meal frequency	- Number of breast- fed children 6-23 months	Milk or milk products ³	4+ food groups ¹	Minimum meal frequency ⁴	With 3 IYCF practices⁵	- Number of non- breastfed children 6-23 months	Breast milk, milk, or milk products ⁶	4+ food groups ¹	Minimum meal frequency ⁷	With 3 IYCF practices	Number of all children 6-23 months	
Age in months 6-8 9-11 12-17 18-23	12.8 9.3 23.2 30.4	56.1 39.0 57.8 67.3	12.5 7.6 17.8 26.8	383 458 880 414	73.1 84.4 76.1 70.0	10.8 22.6 25.7 41.4	76.4 89.6 84.9 84.7	1.9 10.8 7.8 14.0	72 96 287 264	95.7 97.3 94.1 88.3	12.5 11.6 23.8 34.7	59.4 47.8 64.4 74.1	10.8 8.2 15.4 21.8	455 554 1,167 679	
Sex Male Female	20.7 18.8	54.5 56.2	16.4 16.4	1,106 1,029	73.4 75.8	35.4 23.9	84.0 85.2	9.9 9.9	349 371	93.6 93.6	24.2 20.1	61.5 63.9	14.9 14.7	1,455 1,400	
Residence Urban Rural	26.5 17.2	61.0 53.2	23.3 13.8	587 1,548	85.1 67.9	38.6 23.6	90.6 80.7	13.6 7.5	285 435	95.1 92.9	30.5 18.6	70.6 59.2	20.2 12.4	872 1,983	
Region Punjab Urban Rural	19.3 26.9 16.3	48.8 54.5 46.6	15.4 23.2 12.3	1,143 325 818	83.7 89.1 79.9	29.3 40.5 21.4	87.2 92.8 83.2	11.2 13.8 9.4	467 193 273	95.3 95.9 95.0	22.2 31.9 17.6	59.9 68.8 55.7	14.2 19.7 11.5	1,609 518 1,091	
Sindh Urban Rural	23.7 26.2 22.2	63.8 69.7 60.1	20.6 24.2 18.2	494 193 301	70.8 82.3 59.1	29.1 33.5 24.7	84.0 89.3 78.6	9.4 12.1 6.7	118 60 59	94.4 95.8 93.3	24.8 27.9 22.6	67.7 74.3 63.1	18.4 21.4 16.3	612 253 359	
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Urban Rural	17.9 29.2 16.2	61.5 69.2 60.3	15.2 23.1 14.1	371 48 324	40.3 66.6 32.4	35.5 41.3 33.8	77.6 79.3 77.1	6.7 19.3 2.9	95 22 73	87.8 89.4 87.5	21.5 33.0 19.4	64.8 72.4 63.4	13.5 21.9 12.0	467 70 397	
Balochistan Urban Rural	8.8 13.6 8.1	61.3 57.4 62.0	8.8 13.6 8.1	101 14 86	63.4 60.7 64.1	10.1 12.1 9.5	73.3 79.3 71.7	1.0 4.6 0.0	31 7 24	91.4 87.8 92.1	9.1 13.1 8.4	64.1 64.2 64.1	7.0 10.8 6.3	131 21 110	
ICT Islamabad	37.5	76.4	35.0	8	83.9	50.6	88.9	14.2	5	93.7	42.6	81.3	26.9	12	
Gilgit Baltistan	26.8	61.7	25.3	19	29.7	46.3	55.3	14.5	4	86.8	30.5	60.5	23.2	23	
Mother's education No education Primary Middle Secondary Higher	14.7 19.5 20.8 28.5 42.8	54.0 51.9 53.5 59.1 68.1	12.2 16.0 18.1 22.8 36.8	1,223 362 143 233 174	62.3 79.0 91.5 86.0 87.7	20.1 28.9 36.5 48.4 39.9	76.2 91.3 94.5 92.6 89.8	5.3 9.6 15.1 15.4 17.1	334 123 77 90 95	91.9 94.7 97.0 96.1 95.6	15.9 21.9 26.3 34.0 41.8	58.7 61.9 67.8 68.4 75.8	10.7 14.4 17.1 20.7 29.8	1,557 485 221 323 269	
Wealth quintile Lowest Second Middle Fourth Highest	11.6 15.7 18.1 25.1 35.8	54.6 49.5 53.2 55.8 69.1	9.8 11.5 14.5 21.5 32.3	502 499 433 417 284	50.7 71.3 73.8 78.6 88.4	13.5 17.8 30.2 33.9 43.7	69.0 83.5 82.7 89.4 91.4	2.8 3.3 11.4 13.0 15.2	101 138 139 176 167	91.8 93.8 93.6 93.7 95.7	11.9 16.2 21.0 27.7 38.7	57.0 56.8 60.4 65.8 77.4	8.6 9.7 13.7 19.0 26.0	603 637 571 593 451	
Total	19.7	55.3	16.4	2,135	74.7	29.5	84.6	9.9	720	93.6	22.2	62.7	14.8	2,855	

¹ Food groups: a. infant formula, milk other than breast milk, cheese or yogurt or other milk products; b. foods made from grains, roots, and tubers, including porridge and fortified baby food from grains; c. vitamin A-rich fruits and vegetables (and red palm oil); d. other fruits and vegetables; e. eggs; f. meat, poultry, fish, and shellfish (and organ meats); g. legumes and nuts

For breastfed children, minimum meal frequency is receiving solid or semisolid food at least twice a day for infants age 6-8 months and at least 3 times a day for children age 9-23 months.

Includes 2 or more feedings of commercial infant formula; fresh, tinned, and powdered animal milk; and yogurt

For nonbreastfed children age 6-23 months, minimum meal frequency is receiving solid or semisolid food or milk feeds at least 4 times a day. Nonbreastfed children age 6-23 months are considered to be fed with a minimum standard of 3 infant and young child feeding practices if they receive other milk or milk products at least twice a day, receive the minimum meal frequency, and receive solid or semisolid foods from at least 4 food groups not including the milk or milk products food group. ⁶ Breastfeeding, or not breastfeeding and receiving 2 or more feedings of commercial infant formula; fresh, tinned, and powdered animal milk; and yogurt ⁷ Children are fed the minimum recommended number of times per day according to their age and breastfeeding status as described in notes 2 and 4.

Overall, Table 11.6 shows that most breastfed and nonbreastfed children age 6-23 months are given breast milk or other milk products (94 percent). Only one in five children are given the appropriately diverse diet, and 63 percent of children are fed the recommended number of times with solid or semisolid foods. Only 15 percent of children are fed in compliance with the IYCF recommendations of consuming breast milk or other milk products, having the minimum dietary diversity, and having the minimum meal frequency. The targets identified in the 2008 national IYCF strategy do not seem to be nearing achievement.

The proportion of children age 6-23 months who are fed according to all three IYCF recommendations does not vary between boys and girls, but there are differences across other background characteristics. Children living in urban areas (20 percent) are more likely to be fed according to the recommendations than their rural counterparts (12 percent). Children living in Balochistan are least likely to be fed according to all three IYCF practices (7 percent); in other regions, the proportion ranges from 14 percent (Khyber Pakhtunkhwa and Punjab) to 27 percent (ICT Islamabad). There is a positive relationship between infant and child feeding practices and mother's education and wealth.



Figure 11.4 IYCF indicators on minimum acceptable diet

11.7 MICRONUTRIENT INTAKE AMONG CHILDREN

Micronutrient deficiency is a major contributor to childhood morbidity and mortality. Children can receive micronutrients from foods, food fortification, and direct supplementation. The 2012-13 PDHS collected information on consumption of foods rich in vitamin A and iron and the status of children receiving vitamin A capsules, iron supplements, and deworming medication during national campaigns.

Table 11.7 Micronutrient intake among children

Among youngest children age 6-23 months who are living with their mother, the percentages who consumed vitamin A-rich and iron-rich foods in the day or night preceding the survey, and among all children age 6-59 months, the percentages who were given vitamin A supplements in the six months preceding the survey, who were given iron supplements in the past seven days, and who were given deworming medication in the six months preceding the survey, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

Percentage who Percentage of the invitaminal of chin vitaminal in the invitaminal interim in the invitaminal interim invitaminal interim invitaminal interim invitaminal interim invitaminal invitaminal interim interim invitaminal interim invitaminal interim interim invitaminal interim interinterim interimal interim interim interiminterinterim interim inte		Among youngest months living v	children age 6-23 vith the mother:		Among a	ll children age 6-5	9 months:	
Background in last 24 hours Automs Columns of anacteristic Section last 34 model Section last 34 model Se		Percentage who consumed foods	Percentage who consumed foods		Percentage given vitamin A	Percentage given iron	Percentage given deworming	
Age in months 7.5 466 7.5 7.8 7.5 466 6-3 25.0 23.5 554 655 9.3 10.9 557 12-17 50.0 38.6 1.67 71.5 7.0 14.8 1.238 18-23 58.1 45.4 1.67 71.5 7.0 30.8 2.277 36-47 na na na 7.3 7.6 36.1 2.216 Sex Media 45.6 35.2 1.455 72.1 8.0 27.6 36.1 2.216 Sex Media 45.3 33.9 1.400 72.0 7.2 29.0 4.851 Breastleeding 42.7 33.0 2.135 70.1 7.9 15.0 2.571 Not breastleeding 42.7 33.0 2.135 70.1 7.9 15.0 2.571 Not breastleeding 42.7 33.0 7.2 13.1 <	Background characteristic	rich in vitamin A in last 24 hours ¹	rich in iron in last 24 hours ²	Number of children	supplements in last 6 months	supplements in last 7 days	medication in last 6 months ³	Number of children
3-4 25.3 21.5 456 67.5 7.8 7.5 446 $12+17$ 50.0 38.6 1.677 71.5 7.0 14.8 1.238 $18-23$ 55.1 45.4 679 74.4 8.7 19.0 837 24.35 na na na 7.2 7.6 37.3 2.2266 $36-47$ na na na 7.2 7.6 37.3 2.2266 $36-47$ na na na 7.2 29.0 4.651 7.6 37.3 2.286 7.2 7.5 30.0 7.66 $8resteeding status$ 8 9.1 71.7 7.5 30.7 7.7 $8resteeding$ 42.7 30.0 2.135 70.1 7.9 7.5 30.7 7.7 7.7 7.7 5.77 5.072 5.25 456.1 57.7 7.7 5.77 </td <td>Age in months</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Age in months							
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	6-8	25.3	21.5	455	67.5	7.8	7.5	466
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	9-11	32.0	23.5	554	65.5	9.3	10.9	557
18-23 58.1 45.4 679 74.4 8.7 19.0 637 24435 na na na 73.1 7.0 30.8 2,276 36.47 na na na 72.3 7.6 37.3 2,286 Sex	12-17	50.0	38.6	1.167	71.5	7.0	14.8	1.238
24.35 na na na na 73.1 7.0 30.8 2.277 36-47 na na na na 72.3 7.6 37.3 2.286 48-59 na na na 72.3 7.6 36.1 2.216 Sox	18-23	58.1	45.4	679	74.4	8.7	19.0	837
36.47 na na na na na 72.3 7.6 37.3 2.286 Sox </td <td>24-35</td> <td>na</td> <td>na</td> <td>na</td> <td>73.1</td> <td>7.0</td> <td>30.8</td> <td>2,277</td>	24-35	na	na	na	73.1	7.0	30.8	2,277
48-59 na na na na 7.2.8 7.6 36.1 2.216 Sox Breastleeding status Breastleeding 42.7 33.0 2.135 70.1 7.9 15.0 2.571 Mothersatteeding 49.8 39.1 719 72.8 7.5 33.0 7.266 Missing 1 (60.7) (0.0) (22.7) 39 Mothersatteeding 49.8 39.1 34.6 1,846 72.8 7.7 27.1 5,072 30.3 2.5.7 10.4 65.3 7.2 13.1 163 20.29 43.7 34.6 1,846 72.8 7.7 27.1 5,072 30.3 7.2 6.0 87.1 7.8 7.0 31.2 6.633 Casidance Bulcatine 51.5 46.0 <t< td=""><td>36-47</td><td>na</td><td>na</td><td>na</td><td>72.3</td><td>7.6</td><td>37.3</td><td>2,286</td></t<>	36-47	na	na	na	72.3	7.6	37.3	2,286
SecMale45.635.21.45572.18.027.65.026Preastleeding43.333.91.40072.07.27.229.04.851Breastleeding42.733.02.13570.17.97.533.07.266Not breastleeding49.839.171972.87.731.1163202943.734.61.64672.87.721.11.60730.3945.135.498671.07.630.24.02040.4954.435.111974.96.529.76.62ReidenceUthan51.345.451.876.310.025.16.693Punjab91.436.087268.09121.42.943ReidenceUthan51.345.451876.310.025.11.692Wiban51.345.451876.310.025.11.692Uban51.345.451876.310.025.11.692Uban54.435.561259.93.912.22.219Uban54.435.561259.93.912.22.219Uban54.435.561259.93.912.22.219Uban54.435.561259.93.912.22.219Uban54.435.561259.93.914.190.0<	48-59	na	na	na	72.8	7.6	36.1	2,216
Male45.635.21.45572.18.027.65.026Female43.333.91.40072.07.229.04.851Breastfeeding42.733.02.13570.17.915.02.571Not breastfeeding48.839.171972.87.533.07.266Missing**1(60.7)(0.0)(22.7)39Mother's age at birth </td <td>Sex</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Sex							
Female43.333.91,40072.07.229.04,851Breastfeeding thissing42.733.02,13570.17.97.533.07.266Not breastfeeding thissing42.733.02,57170.17.97.533.07.266Mot preastfeeding thissing49.839.171972.87.533.07.266Mother's age at birth $$	Male	45.6	35.2	1,455	72.1	8.0	27.6	5,026
Breastleeding status Breastleeding 42.7 Brastleeding 49.8 Brastleeding 49.4 Brastleeding 49.4 Brastleeding 49.4 Brastleeding 49.4 Brastleeding 49.4 Brastleeding 49.4 Brastleeding 49.4 Brastleeding 49.8 Brastleeding 49.4 Brastleeding 49.8 Brastleeding 49.4 Brastleeding 49.8 Brastleeding 49.4 Brastleeding 49.8 Brastleeding 49.4 Brastleeding 49.4 Brastleeding 49.8 Brastleeding 49.4 Brastleeding 49.8 Brastleeding 49.4 Brastleeding 49.8 Brastleeding 49.4 Brastleeding 49.8 Brastleeding 49.4 Brastleeding 49.8 Brastleeding 49.4 Brastleeding 49.8 Brastleeding 49.4 Brastleeding 49.4 Brastleedin	Female	43.3	33.9	1,400	72.0	7.2	29.0	4,851
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Breastfeeding status							
Not breasitie-ding Missing49.8 *39.1 *719 172.8 (60.7)7.5 (0.0)33.0 (22.7)7.266 39Mother's age at birth115-1939.225.7 34.6104 166.465.3 7.27.7 7.27.115.172 5.072 30.3915.1163 40.2920-2943.7 44.135.4986 98671.0 74.97.6 6.530.2 29.740.29 622ResidenceUtban 10.452.5 46.046.0 872 198387.8 7.07.0 31.221.4 6.933RegionPunjab 11.341.4 45.451.8 5.61276.9 5.93.9 3.1212.2 6.221Rural Urban36.7 51.331.5 45.41.091 51.8 5.61276.9 5.93.9 3.912.2 12.22.162 2.11 1.682Rural Urban36.7 51.331.5 45.451.1 51.876.3 76.310.0 10.022.1 1.682Rural Urban36.7 51.331.5 45.451.2 51.853.3 41.839.31Sindh Urban Rural A2.932.0 46.7 45.346.7 41.211.0 41.427.3 41.42Urban Rural Urban54.329.0 45.339.7 45.311.7 45.38.4 496Urban Rural Urban26.4 47.617.6 45.311.0 45.327.0 41.411.0 40.9Cillibana Rural Urban26.4 47.617.6 45.311.7 45.38.4 496496 40.7	Breastfeeding	42.7	33.0	2,135	70.1	7.9	15.0	2,571
MissingMissingMother's age at birth(60.7)(0.0)(22.7)39Mother's age at birth116.07.213.116320-2943.734.61.64672.87.727.15.07230-3945.135.498671.07.630.240.2040-4954.435.111974.96.529.7622ResidenceUrban52.546.087268.09.121.42.943Rural41.029.51.98373.87.031.26.933Region	Not breastfeeding	49.8	39.1	719	72.8	7.5	33.0	7.266
Mother's age at birth $15-19$ 39.2 25.7 104 65.3 7.2 13.1 16.3 $20-29$ 43.7 34.6 1.646 72.8 7.7 27.1 5.072 $30-39$ 45.1 35.4 986 71.0 7.6 30.2 $4,020$ $40-49$ 54.4 35.1 119 74.9 6.5 29.7 622 ResidenceUrban 52.5 46.0 872 66.0 9.1 21.4 2.943 Rural 41.0 29.5 1.983 73.8 7.0 31.2 6.933 RegionPunjab 41.4 36.0 1.609 77.9 8.8 36.8 36.8 5.623 Rural 36.7 31.5 1.091 78.6 8.3 41.8 3.931 Sindh 47.6 35.5 612 59.9 3.9 12.2 2.219 Urban 54.4 47.6 253 52.1 53 14.1 902 Rural 42.9 26.9 359 65.2 2.9 10.8 1.318 Sindh 47.6 35.5 612 59.9 3.9 27.0 1.197 Rural 42.9 26.9 359 65.2 2.9 10.8 1.318 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 54.9 32.0 467 81.2 10.6 10.4 90 Rural 26.4 17.6 131 <td>Missing</td> <td>*</td> <td>*</td> <td>1</td> <td>(60.7)</td> <td>(0.0)</td> <td>(22.7)</td> <td>39</td>	Missing	*	*	1	(60.7)	(0.0)	(22.7)	39
15-19 39.2 25.7 104 65.3 7.2 13.1 163 20-29 43.7 34.6 1.646 72.8 7.7 27.1 5.072 30-39 45.1 35.4 966 71.0 7.6 30.2 4.020 $40-49$ 54.4 35.1 119 74.9 6.5 29.7 622 Residence Urban 52.5 46.0 872 68.0 9.1 21.4 2.943 Wral 41.0 29.5 1.983 73.8 7.0 31.2 6.933 Region - - - - - - - Punjab 41.4 36.0 1.609 77.9 8.8 36.8 5.623 Rural 36.7 31.5 1.01 78.6 8.3 14.8 3.931 Sindh 47.6 35.5 612 59.9 3.9 12.2 2.219 Urban 54.3 29.0 367 81.2 11.0 27.3 1.423 Urban 54.3	Mother's age at birth							
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	15-19	39.2	25.7	104	65.3	7.2	13.1	163
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	20-29	43.7	34.6	1,646	72.8	7.7	27.1	5,072
40-49 54.4 35.1 119 74.9 6.5 29.7 622 Residence	30-39	45.1	35.4	986	71.0	7.6	30.2	4,020
Residence Urban 52.5 46.0 872 68.0 9.1 21.4 2.943 Rural 41.0 29.5 1,983 73.8 7.0 31.2 6.933 Region	40-49	54.4	35.1	119	74.9	6.5	29.7	622
Urban 52.5 46.0 872 68.0 9.1 21.4 2.943 Rural 41.0 29.5 1,983 73.8 7.0 31.2 6,933 Region	Residence							
Rural 41.0 29.5 1,983 73.8 7.0 31.2 6,933 Region	Urban	52.5	46.0	872	68.0	9.1	21.4	2,943
RegionPunjab41.436.01.60977.98.836.85.623Hurban51.345.451876.310.025.11.692Rural36.731.51.09178.68.341.83,931Sindh47.635.561259.93.912.22,219Urban54.447.625352.15.314.1902Rural42.926.935965.22.910.81,318Khyber Pakhtunkhwa54.932.046781.211.027.31,423Urban58.249.07081.519.728.5225Rural54.329.03981.29.327.01,197Balochistan26.417.613145.31.78.4496Urban34.826.12152.14.510.490Rural24.716.011043.81.18.0407ICT Islamabad63.558.81250.68.520.042Gilgit Baltistan55.345.3238.82.018.173.8No education38.225.31,55770.45.825.65,626Primary40.933.248575.97.432.51,646Middle44.739.622176.58.131.8746Secondary62.856.9 <td>Rural</td> <td>41.0</td> <td>29.5</td> <td>1,983</td> <td>73.8</td> <td>7.0</td> <td>31.2</td> <td>6,933</td>	Rural	41.0	29.5	1,983	73.8	7.0	31.2	6,933
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Region							
Urban 51.3 45.4 518 76.3 10.0 25.1 1,692 Rural 36.7 31.5 1,091 78.6 8.3 41.8 3,931 Sindh 47.6 35.5 612 59.9 3.9 12.2 2,219 Urban 54.4 47.6 25.3 52.1 5.3 14.1 902 Rural 42.9 26.9 359 65.2 2.9 10.8 1,318 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 54.9 32.0 467 81.2 11.0 27.3 1,423 Urban 58.2 49.0 70 81.5 19.7 28.5 225 Rural 54.3 29.0 397 81.2 9.3 27.0 1,197 Balochistan 26.6 17.6 131 45.3 1.7 8.4 496 Urban 34.8 26.1 21 52.1 4.5 10.4 90 Rural 24.7 16.0	Punjab	41.4	36.0	1,609	77.9	8.8	36.8	5,623
Rural 36.7 31.5 1,091 78.6 8.3 41.8 3,931 Sindh 47.6 35.5 612 59.9 3.9 12.2 2,219 Urban 54.4 47.6 253 52.1 5.3 14.1 902 Rural 42.9 26.9 359 65.2 2.9 10.8 1,318 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 54.9 32.0 467 81.2 11.0 27.3 1,423 Urban 58.2 49.0 70 81.5 19.7 28.5 225 Rural 54.3 29.0 397 81.2 9.3 27.0 1,197 Balochistan 26.4 17.6 131 45.3 1.7 8.4 496 Urban 34.8 26.1 21 52.1 4.5 10.4 90 Rural 24.7 16.0 110 43.8 1.1 8.0 407 ICT Islamabad 63.5 58.8	Urban	51.3	45.4	518	76.3	10.0	25.1	1,692
Sindh 47.6 35.5 612 59.9 3.9 12.2 2.219 Urban 54.4 47.6 253 52.1 5.3 14.1 902 Rural 42.9 26.9 359 65.2 2.9 10.8 1,318 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 54.9 32.0 467 81.2 11.0 27.3 1,423 Urban 58.2 49.0 70 81.5 19.7 28.5 225 Rural 54.3 29.0 397 81.2 9.3 27.0 1,197 Balochistan 26.4 17.6 131 45.3 1.7 8.4 496 Urban 34.8 26.1 21 52.1 4.5 10.4 90 Rural 24.7 16.0 110 43.8 1.1 8.0 407 ICT Islamabad 63.5 58.8 12 50.6 8.5 20.0 42 Gilgit Baltistan 55.3 35.2 <td>Rural</td> <td>36.7</td> <td>31.5</td> <td>1,091</td> <td>78.6</td> <td>8.3</td> <td>41.8</td> <td>3,931</td>	Rural	36.7	31.5	1,091	78.6	8.3	41.8	3,931
Urban 54.4 47.6 253 52.1 5.3 14.1 902 Rural 42.9 26.9 359 65.2 2.9 10.8 1,318 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 54.9 32.0 467 81.2 11.0 27.3 1,423 Urban 58.2 49.0 70 81.5 19.7 28.5 225 Rural 54.3 29.0 397 81.2 9.3 27.0 1,197 Balochistan 26.4 17.6 131 45.3 1.7 8.4 496 Urban 34.8 26.1 21 52.1 4.5 10.4 90 Rural 24.7 16.0 110 43.8 1.1 8.0 407 ICT Islamabad 63.5 58.8 12 50.6 8.5 20.0 42 Gilgit Baltistan 55.3 45.3 23 8.8 2.0 18.1 73 No education 38.2 25.3<	Sindh	47.6	35.5	612	59.9	3.9	12.2	2.219
Rural 42.9 26.9 359 65.2 2.9 10.8 1,318 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 54.9 32.0 467 81.2 11.0 27.3 1,423 Urban 58.2 49.0 70 81.5 19.7 28.5 225 Rural 54.3 29.0 397 81.2 9.3 27.0 1,197 Balochistan 26.4 17.6 131 45.3 1.7 8.4 496 Urban 34.8 26.1 21 52.1 4.5 10.4 90 Rural 24.7 16.0 110 43.8 1.1 8.0 407 ICT Islamabad 63.5 58.8 12 50.6 8.5 20.0 42 Gilgit Baltistan 55.3 45.3 23 8.8 2.0 18.1 73 Mother's education 38.2 25.3 1,557 70.4 5.8 25.6 5.626 Primary 40.9	Urban	54.4	47.6	253	52.1	5.3	14.1	902
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 54.9 32.0 467 81.2 11.0 27.3 1,423 Urban 58.2 49.0 70 81.5 19.7 28.5 225 Rural 54.3 29.0 397 81.2 9.3 27.0 1,197 Balochistan 26.4 17.6 131 45.3 1.7 8.4 496 Urban 34.8 26.1 21 52.1 4.5 10.4 90 Rural 24.7 16.0 110 43.8 1.1 8.0 407 ICT Islamabad 63.5 58.8 12 50.6 8.5 20.0 42 Gilgit Baltistan 55.3 45.3 23 8.8 2.0 18.1 73 Mother's education 38.2 25.3 1,557 70.4 5.8 25.6 5,626 Primary 40.9 33.2 485 75.9 7.4 32.5 1,646 Middle 44.7	Rural	42.9	26.9	359	65.2	2.9	10.8	1,318
Urban58.249.07081.519.728.5225Rural54.329.039781.29.327.01,197Balochistan26.417.613145.31.78.4496Urban34.826.12152.14.510.490Rural24.716.011043.81.18.0407ICT Islamabad63.558.81250.68.520.042Gilgit Baltistan55.345.3238.82.018.173Mother's education38.225.31,55770.45.825.65,626Primary40.933.248575.97.432.51,646Middle44.739.622176.58.131.8746Secondary62.856.932.372.611.335.21,018Higher64.959.826970.915.125.8841Lowest32.619.560362.93.917.62,316Second39.525.363776.74.729.62,070Middle44.634.957177.39.737.51,935Fourth49.543.059374.610.233.11,951Highest60.656.245169.711.124.91,605	Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	54.9	32.0	467	81.2	11.0	27.3	1.423
Rural 54.3 29.0 397 81.2 9.3 27.0 1,197 Balochistan 26.4 17.6 131 45.3 1.7 8.4 496 Urban 34.8 26.1 21 52.1 4.5 10.4 90 Rural 24.7 16.0 110 43.8 1.1 8.0 407 ICT Islamabad 63.5 58.8 12 50.6 8.5 20.0 42 Gilgit Baltistan 55.3 45.3 23 8.8 2.0 18.1 73 Mother's education 38.2 25.3 1,557 70.4 5.8 25.6 5,626 Primary 40.9 33.2 485 75.9 7.4 32.5 1,646 Middle 44.7 39.6 221 76.5 8.1 31.8 746 Secondary 62.8 56.9 323 72.6 11.3 35.2 1,018 Meath quintile Lowest	Urban	58.2	49.0	70	81.5	19.7	28.5	225
Balochistan 26.4 17.6 131 45.3 1.7 8.4 496 Urban 34.8 26.1 21 52.1 4.5 10.4 90 Rural 24.7 16.0 110 43.8 1.1 8.0 407 ICT Islamabad 63.5 58.8 12 50.6 8.5 20.0 42 Gilgit Baltistan 55.3 45.3 23 8.8 2.0 18.1 73 Mother's education 38.2 25.3 1,557 70.4 5.8 25.6 5,626 Primary 40.9 33.2 485 75.9 7.4 32.5 1,646 Middle 44.7 39.6 221 76.5 8.1 31.8 746 Secondary 62.8 56.9 323 72.6 11.3 35.2 1,018 Higher 64.9 59.8 269 70.9 15.1 25.8 841 Decest 32.6 <th1< td=""><td>Rural</td><td>54.3</td><td>29.0</td><td>397</td><td>81.2</td><td>9.3</td><td>27.0</td><td>1,197</td></th1<>	Rural	54.3	29.0	397	81.2	9.3	27.0	1,197
Urban34.826.12152.14.510.490Rural24.716.011043.81.18.0407ICT Islamabad63.558.81250.68.520.042Gilgit Baltistan55.345.3238.82.018.173Mother's education38.225.31,55770.45.825.65,626Primary40.933.248575.97.432.51,646Middle44.739.622176.58.131.8746Secondary62.856.932372.611.335.21,018Higher64.959.826970.915.125.8841Wealth quintileUUUUUULowest32.619.560362.93.917.62,316Second39.525.363776.74.729.62,070Middle44.634.957177.39.737.51,935Fourth49.543.059374.610.233.11,951Highest60.656.245169.711.124.91,605	Balochistan	26.4	17.6	131	45.3	1.7	8.4	496
Rural24.716.011043.81.18.0407ICT Islamabad63.558.81250.68.520.042Gilgit Baltistan55.345.3238.82.018.173Mother's education38.225.31,55770.45.825.65,626Primary40.933.248575.97.432.51,646Middle44.739.622176.58.131.8746Secondary62.856.932372.611.335.21,018Higher64.959.826970.915.125.8841Wealth quintileLowest32.619.560362.93.917.62,316Second39.525.363776.74.729.62,070Middle44.634.957177.39.737.51,935Fourth49.543.059374.610.233.11,951Highest60.656.245169.711.124.91,605	Urban	34.8	26.1	21	52.1	4.5	10.4	90
ICT Islamabad63.558.81250.68.520.042Gilgit Baltistan55.345.3238.82.018.173Mother's education38.225.31,55770.45.825.65,626Primary40.933.248575.97.432.51,646Middle44.739.622176.58.131.8746Secondary62.856.932372.611.335.21,018Higher64.959.826970.915.125.8841Wealth quintileLowest32.619.560362.93.917.62,316Second39.525.363776.74.729.62,070Middle44.634.957177.39.737.51,935Fourth49.543.059374.610.233.11,951Highest60.656.245169.711.124.91,605	Rural	24.7	16.0	110	43.8	1.1	8.0	407
Gilgit Baltistan 55.3 45.3 23 8.8 2.0 18.1 73 Mother's education 38.2 25.3 1,557 70.4 5.8 25.6 5,626 Primary 40.9 33.2 485 75.9 7.4 32.5 1,646 Middle 44.7 39.6 221 76.5 8.1 31.8 746 Secondary 62.8 56.9 323 72.6 11.3 35.2 1,018 Higher 64.9 59.8 269 70.9 15.1 25.8 841 Wealth quintile Lowest 32.6 19.5 603 62.9 3.9 17.6 2,316 Second 39.5 25.3 637 76.7 4.7 29.6 2,070 Middle 44.6 34.9 571 77.3 9.7 37.5 1,935 Second 39.5 25.3 637 76.7 4.7 29.6 2,070 Middle <td>ICT Islamabad</td> <td>63.5</td> <td>58.8</td> <td>12</td> <td>50.6</td> <td>8.5</td> <td>20.0</td> <td>42</td>	ICT Islamabad	63.5	58.8	12	50.6	8.5	20.0	42
Mother's education No education 38.2 25.3 1,557 70.4 5.8 25.6 5,626 Primary 40.9 33.2 485 75.9 7.4 32.5 1,646 Middle 44.7 39.6 221 76.5 8.1 31.8 746 Secondary 62.8 56.9 323 72.6 11.3 35.2 1,018 Higher 64.9 59.8 269 70.9 15.1 25.8 841 Wealth quintile Lowest 32.6 19.5 603 62.9 3.9 17.6 2,316 Second 39.5 25.3 637 76.7 4.7 29.6 2,070 Middle 44.6 34.9 571 77.3 9.7 37.5 1,935 Fourth 49.5 43.0 593 74.6 10.2 33.1 1,951 Highest 60.6 56.2 451 69.7 11.1 24.9 1,605 </td <td>Gilgit Baltistan</td> <td>55.3</td> <td>45.3</td> <td>23</td> <td>8.8</td> <td>2.0</td> <td>18.1</td> <td>73</td>	Gilgit Baltistan	55.3	45.3	23	8.8	2.0	18.1	73
Where Second 38.2 25.3 1,557 70.4 5.8 25.6 5,626 Primary 40.9 33.2 485 75.9 7.4 32.5 1,646 Middle 44.7 39.6 221 76.5 8.1 31.8 746 Secondary 62.8 56.9 323 72.6 11.3 35.2 1,018 Higher 64.9 59.8 269 70.9 15.1 25.8 841 Wealth quintile Lowest 32.6 19.5 603 62.9 3.9 17.6 2,316 Second 39.5 25.3 637 76.7 4.7 29.6 2,070 Middle 44.6 34.9 571 77.3 9.7 37.5 1,935 Fourth 49.5 43.0 593 74.6 10.2 33.1 1,951 Highest 60.6 56.2 451 69.7 11.1 24.9 1,605	Mother's education							
No constraint 30.2 25.5 1,07 10.4 30.5 25.5 5,025 Primary 40.9 33.2 485 75.9 7.4 32.5 1,646 Middle 44.7 39.6 221 76.5 8.1 31.8 746 Secondary 62.8 56.9 323 72.6 11.3 35.2 1,018 Higher 64.9 59.8 269 70.9 15.1 25.8 841 Wealth quintile Lowest 32.6 19.5 603 62.9 3.9 17.6 2,316 Second 39.5 25.3 637 76.7 4.7 29.6 2,070 Middle 44.6 34.9 571 77.3 9.7 37.5 1,935 Fourth 49.5 43.0 593 74.6 10.2 33.1 1,951 Highest 60.6 56.2 451 69.7 11.1 24.9 1,605	No education	38.2	25.3	1 557	70.4	5.8	25.6	5 626
Middle 44.7 39.6 221 76.5 8.1 31.8 746 Secondary 62.8 56.9 323 72.6 11.3 35.2 1,018 Higher 64.9 59.8 269 70.9 15.1 25.8 841 Wealth quintile Lowest 32.6 19.5 603 62.9 3.9 17.6 2,316 Second 39.5 25.3 637 76.7 4.7 29.6 2,070 Middle 44.6 34.9 571 77.3 9.7 37.5 1,935 Fourth 49.5 43.0 593 74.6 10.2 33.1 1,951 Highest 60.6 56.2 451 69.7 11.1 24.9 1,605	Primary	40.9	33.2	485	75.9	74	32.5	1 646
Mathe 11.1 60.5 12.1 10.5 0.1.1 61.5 11.05 Secondary 62.8 56.9 323 72.6 11.3 35.2 1,018 Higher 64.9 59.8 269 70.9 15.1 25.8 841 Wealth quintile Lowest 32.6 19.5 60.3 62.9 3.9 17.6 2,316 Second 39.5 25.3 637 76.7 4.7 29.6 2,070 Middle 44.6 34.9 571 77.3 9.7 37.5 1,935 Fourth 49.5 43.0 593 74.6 10.2 33.1 1,951 Highest 60.6 56.2 451 69.7 11.1 24.9 1,605	Middle	44 7	39.6	221	76.5	8.1	31.8	746
Higher 64.9 59.8 269 70.9 15.1 25.8 841 Wealth quintile Lowest 32.6 19.5 60.3 62.9 3.9 17.6 2,316 Second 39.5 25.3 637 76.7 4.7 29.6 2,070 Middle 44.6 34.9 571 77.3 9.7 37.5 1,935 Fourth 49.5 43.0 593 74.6 10.2 33.1 1,951 Highest 60.6 56.2 451 69.7 11.1 24.9 1,605	Secondary	62.8	56.9	323	72.6	11.3	35.2	1 018
Lowest 32.6 19.5 603 62.9 3.9 17.6 2,316 Second 39.5 25.3 637 76.7 4.7 29.6 2,070 Middle 44.6 34.9 571 77.3 9.7 37.5 1,935 Fourth 49.5 43.0 593 74.6 10.2 33.1 1,951 Highest 60.6 56.2 451 69.7 11.1 24.9 1,605	Higher	64.9	59.8	269	70.9	15.1	25.8	841
Lowest 32.6 19.5 603 62.9 3.9 17.6 2,316 Second 39.5 25.3 637 76.7 4.7 29.6 2,070 Middle 44.6 34.9 571 77.3 9.7 37.5 1,935 Fourth 49.5 43.0 593 74.6 10.2 33.1 1,951 Highest 60.6 56.2 451 69.7 11.1 24.9 1,605	Wealth quintile							
Second 39.5 25.3 637 76.7 4.7 29.6 2,070 Middle 44.6 34.9 571 77.3 9.7 37.5 1,935 Fourth 49.5 43.0 593 74.6 10.2 33.1 1,951 Highest 60.6 56.2 451 69.7 11.1 24.9 1,605	Lowest	32.6	19.5	603	62.9	3.9	17.6	2.316
Middle 44.6 34.9 571 77.3 9.7 37.5 1,935 Fourth 49.5 43.0 593 74.6 10.2 33.1 1,951 Highest 60.6 56.2 451 69.7 11.1 24.9 1,605	Second	39.5	25.3	637	76.7	4.7	29.6	2,070
Fourth 49.5 43.0 593 74.6 10.2 33.1 1,951 Highest 60.6 56.2 451 69.7 11.1 24.9 1,605	Middle	44.6	34.9	571	77.3	9.7	37.5	1,935
Highest 60.6 56.2 451 69.7 11.1 24.9 1,605 Total 44.5 24.5 70.4 7.0 20.0 20.77	Fourth	49.5	43.0	593	74.6	10.2	33.1	1,951
	Highest	60.6	56.2	451	69.7	11.1	24.9	1,605
10181 44.5 34.0 2.855 72.1 7.6 28.3 9.877	Total	44.5	34.6	2,855	72.1	7.6	28.3	9.877

Note: Information on vitamin A is based on both mother's recall and the immunization card (where available). Information on iron supplements and deworming medication is based on the mother's recall. Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases. An asterisk indicates that a figure is based on fewer than 25 unweighted cases and has been suppressed.

na = Not applicable ¹ Includes meat (and organ meat), fish, poultry, eggs, pumpkin, red or yellow yams or squash, carrots, red sweet potatoes, dark green leafy vegetables, mango, papaya, and other locally grown fruits and vegetables that are rich in vitamin A ² Includes meat (and organ meat), fish, poultry, and eggs

³ Deworming for intestinal parasites is commonly done for helminthes and for schistosomiasis.

Vitamin A is an essential micronutrient for the immune system that plays an important role in maintaining the epithelial tissue in the body. Severe vitamin A deficiency (VAD) can cause eye damage. VAD can also increase the severity of infections, such as measles and diarrheal diseases in children, and slow recovery from illness. Vitamin A is found in breast milk, other milk, liver, eggs, fish, butter, mangoes, papayas, carrots, pumpkins, and dark green leafy vegetables. The liver can store an adequate amount of the vitamin for four to six months.

Table 11.7 shows that 45 percent of children age 6-23 months consumed foods rich in vitamin A the day or night preceding the survey. The proportion of children consuming vitamin A-rich foods increases with age. There are only slight differences in consumption by sex. Nonbreastfeeding children (50 percent) are more likely to consume foods rich in vitamin A than breastfeeding children (43 percent). Urban children are more likely to consume vitamin A-rich foods (53 percent) than children in rural areas (41 percent). Children residing in ICT Islamabad are most likely to consume vitamin A-rich foods (64 percent) and children in Balochistan (26 percent) are least likely. Mother's education has a positive relationship with consumption of vitamin A-rich foods: 38 percent of children whose mothers have no education consume vitamin A-rich foods, as compared with 65 percent of children whose mothers have a higher education. Children born to families in the highest wealth quintile are almost twice as likely as children born to families in the lowest wealth quintile to consume vitamin A-rich foods (61 percent versus 33 percent).

Iron is essential for cognitive development, and low iron intake can contribute to anemia. Iron requirements are greatest at age 6-23 months, when growth is extremely rapid. The results of the 2012-13 PDHS (Table 11.7) show that 35 percent of children age 6-23 months consumed foods rich in iron in the 24 hours prior to the survey. Consumption of iron-rich foods is highest among children age 18-23 months, children in urban areas, children in ICT Islamabad, and children in the highest wealth quintile. Children whose mothers have a higher education (60 percent) are more likely to consume iron-rich foods than those whose mothers have no education (25 percent).

Periodic dosing (usually every six months) of vitamin A supplements is one method of ensuring that children at risk do not develop VAD. In Pakistan, campaigns are in place for semiannual mass supplementation with vitamin A capsules.

The 2012-13 PDHS collected data on vitamin A supplements for children under age 5. Table 11.7 shows that 72 percent of children age 6-59 months were given vitamin A supplements in the six months before the survey. Children age 18-23 months (74 percent), those living in rural areas (74 percent), and those born to older mothers are more likely to receive vitamin A supplementation. There are substantial differences in the proportion of children receiving vitamin A supplements by geographical area, with the coverage in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa being nine times higher (81 percent) than that in Gilgit Baltistan (9 percent). Mother's education and wealth do not have any marked impact on use of vitamin A supplementation.

As a means of assessing iron supplementation coverage, mothers were asked if their children under age 5 had received an iron tablet in the seven days prior to the survey. Table 11.7 shows that, overall, only 8 percent of children age 6-59 months received iron supplementation.

Certain types of intestinal parasites can cause anemia. Periodic deworming for organisms such as helminthes can improve children's micronutrient status. Table 11.7 shows that 28 percent of children age 6-59 months received deworming medication in the six months before the survey. Children in rural areas were more likely than children in urban areas to receive deworming medication. Likelihood of receiving deworming medication increased with child's age, mother's education, and mother's wealth. More children in Punjab (37 percent) than in Balochistan (8 percent) received deworming medication.

11.8 NUTRITIONAL STATUS OF WOMEN

The nutritional status of women was assessed with two anthropometric indices: height and body mass index. To derive these indices, the 2012-13 PDHS took height and weight measurements among women age 15-49 in every third household that was selected for a male interview. Women who were pregnant and women who had given birth in the two months preceding the survey were excluded from the analysis.

Short stature is associated with poor socioeconomic conditions and inadequate nutrition during childhood and adolescence. In a woman, short stature is a risk factor for poor birth outcomes and obstetric complications. For example, short stature is associated with small pelvic size, which increases the likelihood of difficulty during delivery and the risk of bearing low birth weight babies. A woman is considered to be at risk if her height is below 145 cm.

According to Table 11.8, 5 percent of women are shorter than 145 cm. Women in rural areas are slightly more likely to be below 145 cm than women in urban areas. Women in Sindh are most likely to be shorter than 145 cm (7 percent), while women in ICT Islamabad and Gilgit Baltistan are least likely (3 percent each). Likelihood of short stature decreases with increasing education and wealth quintile.

BMI (expressed as the ratio of weight in kilograms to the square of height in meters $[kg/m^2]$) is used to measure thinness or obesity. A BMI below 18.5 kg/m² indicates thinness or acute undernutrition, and a BMI of 25.0 kg/m² or above indicates overweight or obesity. A BMI below 16 kg/m² indicates severe undernutrition and is associated with increased mortality. Low pre-pregnancy BMI, as with short stature, is associated with poor birth outcomes and obstetric complications.

Table 11.8 Nutritional status of women

Among women age 15-49, the percentage with height under 145 cm, mean body mass index (BMI), and the percentage with specific BMI levels, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

		Body mass index ¹									
	Height			Normal	Jormal Thin			Overweig		se	
Background characteristic	Percentage below 145 cm	Number of women	Mean BMI	18.5-24.9 (total normal)	<18.5 (total thin)	17.0-18.4 (mildly thin)	<17 (moderate- ly and severely thin)	≥25.0 (total over- weight or obese)	25.0-29.9 (over- weight)	≥30.0 (obese)	Number of women
Age 15-19 20-29 30-39 40-49	6.1 5.3 4.0 4.6	222 1,729 1,605 1,242	20.7 22.7 25.0 25.8	73.0 52.4 43.0 38.8	20.3 20.3 10.3 10.4	15.5 13.8 6.7 6.7	4.8 6.4 3.6 3.7	6.7 27.3 46.7 50.8	6.6 19.3 29.0 29.7	0.2 8.1 17.7 21.1	163 1,326 1,451 1,231
Residence Urban Rural	3.7 5.3	1,596 3,203	26.1 23.4	38.2 49.9	7.4 17.1	4.5 11.7	2.9 5.4	54.3 33.0	31.8 21.9	22.5 11.1	1,403 2,767
Region Punjab Sindh Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Balochistan ICT Islamabad Gilgit Baltistan	4.0 7.0 4.0 5.9 2.8 2.9	2,801 1,106 657 181 20 33	24.6 22.9 25.4 24.0 26.7 22.5	43.6 51.0 43.4 55.9 35.4 79.9	13.9 19.6 6.3 9.0 5.5 5.4	9.2 12.8 5.0 6.5 2.7 3.6	4.6 6.8 1.3 2.5 2.8 1.8	42.5 29.4 50.3 35.1 59.1 14.7	25.0 20.4 33.9 28.1 32.4 11.8	17.5 9.0 16.4 6.9 26.7 2.9	2,455 948 572 150 17 29
Education No education Primary Middle Secondary Higher	5.6 6.3 2.5 1.7 1.7	2,719 800 341 490 448	23.6 24.8 24.7 26.0 26.0	49.0 41.7 48.6 37.4 41.6	16.8 13.1 10.5 8.0 5.8	11.0 9.9 6.4 5.7 3.6	5.8 3.2 4.1 2.3 2.3	34.1 45.2 41.0 54.5 52.5	22.5 25.0 25.0 33.9 33.1	11.6 20.2 16.0 20.6 19.5	2,392 689 286 423 381
Wealth quintile Lowest Second Middle Fourth Highest	6.8 6.5 4.3 4.1 2.3 4 7	894 922 930 1,067 985 4 798	21.3 22.7 24.3 25.6 27.1 24.3	56.2 56.5 46.1 38.8 35.0 45.9	27.0 18.0 13.8 8.7 4.4 13.9	17.3 11.4 11.6 5.0 2.9 9.3	9.7 6.6 2.2 3.7 1.5 4.6	16.8 25.5 40.1 52.5 60.6 40.2	12.7 18.2 25.9 32.0 34.4 25.2	4.0 7.3 14.2 20.5 26.2 15.0	755 786 823 930 876 4 170

Note: Body mass index is expressed as the ratio of weight in kilograms to the square of height in meters (kg/m²).

¹ Excludes pregnant women and women with a birth in the preceding 2 months

Table 11.8 shows that the mean BMI among women age 15-49 is 24.3 kg/m². Mean BMI generally increases with age. Urban women have a slightly higher mean BMI (26.1 kg/m²) than rural women (23.4 kg/m²). There are only small differences among women living in the different regions, although women in ICT Islamabad have a better mean BMI (26.7 kg/m²). Women with no education are more likely to have a lower mean BMI than those with a secondary or higher education (23.6 kg/m² and 26.0 kg/m², respectively). Mean BMI shows a steady increase with increasing wealth, from 21.3 kg/m² among women in the lowest wealth quintile to 27.1 kg/m² among those in the highest quintile.

Fourteen percent of women of reproductive age are thin or undernourished (BMI less than 18.5 kg/m²). The proportions of mild thinness (17.0-18.4 kg/m²) and moderate and severe thinness (less than 17 kg/m²) are 9 percent and 5 percent, respectively. Women age 15-19 and 20-29 are more likely to be thin (20 percent each) than older women. Rural women are more likely to be thin (17 percent) than urban women (7 percent). Women in Sindh are four times as likely to be thin (20 percent) as women in Gilgit Baltistan (5 percent).

One quarter (25 percent) of women are overweight (BMI of 25-29 kg/m²), and 15 percent are obese (BMI of 30 kg/m² or above). Recent estimates from WHO suggest that 26 percent of women in Pakistan are obese (Associated Press of Pakistan, 2013). Obesity is emerging in Pakistan as a public health problem even as the country attempts to cope with the more traditional problems of undernutrition and infectious diseases (Nanan, 2002). According to James and Ralph (1999; as cited in Nanan, 2002), the situation in Pakistan is similar to other countries undergoing a number of transitions, with obesity initially affecting urban middle-aged women and then, with increasing urbanization and lifestyle changes (including changes in diet and physical activity), having an impact among younger women.

Variations in overweight or obesity among women are apparent by background characteristics. The prevalence of overweight and obesity among women of reproductive age increases with age and is higher in urban areas. Almost 50 percent of women age 15-49 in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa and ICT Islamabad are either overweight or obese. As one would expect, overnutrition is more prevalent in wealthier households. Women in the highest wealth quintile (26 percent) are more than six times as likely to be obese as women in the lowest quintile (4 percent).

11.9 MICRONUTRIENT INTAKE AMONG MOTHERS

Adequate micronutrient intake by women has important benefits for both women and their children. Breastfeeding children benefit from micronutrient supplementation that mothers receive, especially vitamin A. Iron supplementation of women during pregnancy protects the mother and infant against anemia, which is considered a major cause of perinatal and maternal mortality. Anemia also results in an increased risk of premature delivery and low birth weight. Finally, iodine deficiency is related to a number of adverse pregnancy outcomes including abortion, fetal brain damage and congenital malformation, stillbirth, and prenatal death.

In Pakistan, micronutrient deficiency among pregnant and lactating mothers is a common public health problem. Thus, the 2012-13 PDHS collected data on the use of vitamin A and iron-folic acid supplements among women age 15-49 with a child born in the past five years, as well as the use of deworming medication during the last pregnancy.

A single dose of vitamin A is typically given to women within 45 days of childbirth, aimed at increasing the mother's vitamin A level and the content of the vitamin in her breast milk for the benefit of her child. Because of the risk of teratogenesis (abnormal development of the fetus) resulting from high doses of vitamin A during pregnancy, the supplement should not be given to pregnant women.

Table 11.9 includes measures that are useful in assessing micronutrient intake by women during pregnancy and the two months after delivery (postpartum period). The findings show that only 14 percent of women received a vitamin A dose during the postpartum period, which is a lower proportion than in

2006-07 (20 percent). There is substantial variation across geographical areas, with the highest proportion in ICT Islamabad (32 percent) and the lowest in Gilgit Baltistan (4 percent). The proportion of women receiving postpartum vitamin A also differs by urban and rural residence (19 percent and 11 percent, respectively). Women with a higher education were more than three times as likely as mothers with no education to have received a vitamin A supplement (27 and 9 percent, respectively). The prevalence of postpartum vitamin A supplementation increases with increasing wealth, from 7 percent in the lowest quintile to 26 percent in the highest quintile.

Table 11.9 Micronutrient intake among mothers

Among women age 15-49 with a child born in the past five years, the percentage who received a vitamin A dose in the first two months after the birth of the last child, the percent distribution by number of days they took iron tablets or syrup during the pregnancy of the last child, and the percentage who took deworming medication during the pregnancy of the last child, Pakistan 2012-13

Among women with a child born in the past five years:								
	Ν	lumber of d du	Percentage of women who					
Percentage who received vitamin A dose postpartum ¹	None	ne <60 60		60-89 90+		Total	took deworming medication during pregnancy of last birth	Number of women
11.5	52.5	17.9	6.5	22.0	1.0	100.0	1.0	229
14.2	54.0	14.5	8.1	22.1	1.4	100.0	2.5	3,696
13.6	54.0	13.4	7.7	23.5	1.4	100.0	2.6	2,961
8.6	65.9	12.3	6.0	14.8	1.0	100.0	2.5	560
19.3	42.0	16.0	8.1	32.4	1.5	100.0	2.9	2,244
10.9	60.4	13.1	7.5	17.7	1.3	100.0	2.3	5,202
11.5	55.7	14.2	7.1	22.1	0.9	100.0	3.1	4,180
17.4	50.6	14.9	9.8	23.9	0.9	100.0	1.6	1,714
16.9	49.8	13.9	8.6	24.3	3.5	100.0	2.1	1,117
6.1	82.7	7.5	2.2	5.0	2.7	100.0	0.7	348
32.2	20.2	16.5	9.4	52.7	1.1	100.0	3.3	31
4.2	70.0	11.9	4.7	13.4	0.0	100.0	1.5	56
8.6	65.9	12.6	6.3	14.2	1.0	100.0	1.9	4,155
15.5	52.9	15.8	9.0	21.3	1.1	100.0	3.7	1,230
16.8	43.5	15.2	9.4	30.3	1.7	100.0	2.5	587
21.2	37.1	17.3	10.6	33.6	1.5	100.0	3.2	792
27.4	21.2	14.5	9.3	51.5	3.4	100.0	2.9	682
6.9	71.3	10.9	5.4	11.5	0.8	100.0	1.4	1,698
7.5	65.2	13.5	6.9	13.1	1.3	100.0	1.6	1,544
12.6	56.9	14.5	8.2	19.0	1.4	100.0	3.2	1,464
17.3	42.8	16.1	10.4	28.4	2.2	100.0	3.3	1,469
26.0	31.9	15.6	8.0	43.4	1.1	100.0	3.3	1,272
13.5	54.8	14.0	7.7	22.1	1.4	100.0	2.5	7,446
	Percentage who received vitamin A dose postpartum ¹ 11.5 14.2 13.6 8.6 19.3 10.9 11.5 17.4 16.9 6.1 32.2 4.2 8.6 15.5 16.8 21.2 27.4 6.9 7.5 12.6 17.3 26.0 13.5	Percentage who received vitamin A dose postpartum ¹ None 11.5 52.5 14.2 54.0 13.6 54.0 13.6 54.0 10.9 60.4 11.5 55.7 17.4 50.6 16.9 49.8 6.1 82.7 32.2 20.2 4.2 70.0 8.6 65.9 15.5 52.9 16.8 43.5 21.2 37.1 27.4 21.2 6.9 71.3 7.5 65.2 12.6 56.9 17.3 42.8 26.0 31.9 13.5 54.8	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c } \hline Among w \\ \hline Number of d \\ du \\ \hline None ceived \\ vitamin A dose \\ postpartum1 None <60 \\ \hline 11.5 52.5 17.9 \\ 14.2 54.0 14.5 \\ 13.6 54.0 13.4 \\ 8.6 65.9 12.3 \\ \hline 19.3 42.0 16.0 \\ 10.9 60.4 13.1 \\ \hline 11.5 55.7 14.2 \\ 17.4 50.6 14.9 \\ 16.9 49.8 13.9 \\ 6.1 82.7 7.5 \\ 32.2 20.2 16.5 \\ 4.2 70.0 11.9 \\ \hline 8.6 65.9 12.6 \\ 15.5 52.9 15.8 \\ 16.8 43.5 15.2 \\ 21.2 37.1 17.3 \\ 27.4 21.2 14.5 \\ \hline 6.9 71.3 10.9 \\ 7.5 65.2 13.5 \\ 12.6 56.9 14.5 \\ 17.3 42.8 16.1 \\ 26.0 31.9 15.6 \\ 13.5 54.8 14.0 \\ \hline \end{tabular}$	Among women with a Number of days women i during pregnar Percentage who received vitamin A dose postpartum ¹ None <60 60-89 11.5 52.5 17.9 6.5 14.2 54.0 14.5 8.1 13.6 54.0 13.4 7.7 8.6 65.9 12.3 6.0 19.3 42.0 16.0 8.1 10.9 60.4 13.1 7.5 11.5 55.7 14.2 7.1 17.4 50.6 14.9 9.8 16.9 49.8 13.9 8.6 6.1 82.7 7.5 2.2 32.2 20.2 16.5 9.4 4.2 70.0 11.9 4.7 8.6 65.9 12.6 6.3 15.5 52.9 15.8 9.0 16.8 43.5 15.2 9.4	Among women with a child borr Number of days women took iron ta during pregnancy of last I Percentage who received vitamin A dose postpartum ¹ None <60 60-89 90+ 11.5 52.5 17.9 6.5 22.0 14.2 54.0 14.5 8.1 22.1 13.6 54.0 13.4 7.7 23.5 8.6 65.9 12.3 6.0 14.8 19.3 42.0 16.0 8.1 32.4 10.9 60.4 13.1 7.5 17.7 11.5 55.7 14.2 7.1 22.1 17.4 50.6 14.9 9.8 23.9 16.9 49.8 13.9 8.6 24.3 6.1 82.7 7.5 2.2 5.0 32.2 20.2 16.5 9.4 52.7 4.2 70.0 11.9 4.7 13.4 8.6 65.9 12.6 6.3 14.2 1	Among women with a child born in the past fine Number of days women took iron tablets or syru during pregnancy of last birth Percentage who received vitamin A dose postpartum ¹ Don't know/ 11.5 52.5 17.9 6.5 22.0 1.0 14.2 54.0 14.5 8.1 22.1 1.4 13.6 54.0 13.4 7.7 23.5 1.4 8.6 65.9 12.3 6.0 14.8 1.0 19.3 42.0 16.0 8.1 32.4 1.5 10.9 60.4 13.1 7.5 17.7 1.3 11.5 55.7 14.2 7.1 22.1 0.9 17.4 50.6 14.9 9.8 23.9 0.9 16.9 49.8 13.9 8.6 24.3 3.5 6.1 82.7 7.5 2.2 5.0 2.7 32.2 20.2 16.5 9.4 52.7 1.1 4.2 70.0 11.9<	Among women with a child born in the past five years: Number of days women took iron tablets or syrup during pregnancy of last birth Percentage who received vitamin A dose postpartum' Don't know/ 11.5 52.5 17.9 6.5 22.0 1.0 100.0 14.2 54.0 14.5 8.1 22.1 1.4 100.0 13.6 54.0 13.4 7.7 23.5 1.4 100.0 19.3 42.0 16.0 8.1 32.4 1.5 100.0 19.3 42.0 16.0 8.1 32.4 1.5 100.0 11.5 55.7 14.2 7.1 22.1 0.9 100.0 19.3 42.0 16.0 8.1 32.4 1.5 100.0 16.9 49.8 13.9 8.6 24.3 3.5 100.0 17.4 50.6 14.9 9.8 23.9 0.9 100.0 16.9 49.8 13.9 8.6 24.3 3.5 <td< td=""><td>Among women with a child born in the past five years: Number of days women took iron tablets or syrup during pregnancy of last birth Percentage of women who took deworming medication during pregnancy of last birth Percentage who received vitamin A dose postpartum¹ None colspan="2">Colspan="2">Percentage of women who took deworming medication 11.5 52.5 17.9 6.5 22.0 1.0 100.0 1.0 14.2 54.0 14.5 8.1 22.1 1.4 100.0 2.5 13.6 54.0 13.4 7.7 23.5 1.4 100.0 2.6 8.6 65.9 12.3 6.0 14.8 1.0 100.0 2.5 19.3 42.0 16.0 8.1 32.4 1.5 100.0 2.9 10.9 60.4 13.1 7.5 17.7 1.3 100.0 2.1 16.1 82.7 7.5 2.2 5.0 2.7 100.0 3.1 15.5 52.9 15.8 9.0 21.3</td></td<>	Among women with a child born in the past five years: Number of days women took iron tablets or syrup during pregnancy of last birth Percentage of women who took deworming medication during pregnancy of last birth Percentage who received vitamin A dose postpartum ¹ None colspan="2">Colspan="2">Percentage of women who took deworming medication 11.5 52.5 17.9 6.5 22.0 1.0 100.0 1.0 14.2 54.0 14.5 8.1 22.1 1.4 100.0 2.5 13.6 54.0 13.4 7.7 23.5 1.4 100.0 2.6 8.6 65.9 12.3 6.0 14.8 1.0 100.0 2.5 19.3 42.0 16.0 8.1 32.4 1.5 100.0 2.9 10.9 60.4 13.1 7.5 17.7 1.3 100.0 2.1 16.1 82.7 7.5 2.2 5.0 2.7 100.0 3.1 15.5 52.9 15.8 9.0 21.3

Nutritional deficiencies such as anemia are often exacerbated during pregnancy because of the additional nutrient demands associated with fetal growth. Iron status can be enhanced by including iron supplements in food consumed by women, improving women's diets, and controlling parasites. Iron supplementation is necessary for pregnant women because their needs are usually too high to be met solely by food intake. According to Table 11.9, 22 percent of women took iron tablets daily for 90 or more days during their last pregnancy. Eight percent took iron supplements for 60 to 89 days, and 14 percent took supplements for fewer than 60 days. Fifty-five percent of pregnant women did not take iron supplements at all.

The proportion of women taking daily iron supplements for 90 or more days differs substantially between urban and rural areas (32 percent and 18 percent, respectively). Pregnant women in ICT Islamabad are more likely to take iron supplements daily for 90 or more days (53 percent) than those in

Balochistan (5 percent). Women with a higher education are more likely to take iron tablets for 90 or more days (52 percent) than women with no education (14 percent). Women in the highest wealth quintile are more than three times as likely to take iron tablets for 90 or more days (43 percent) as those in the lowest wealth quintile (12 percent).

Infections caused by helminthes (intestinal parasites) are one of the factors contributing to anemia among pregnant women. Deworming during pregnancy is a cost-effective intervention against intestinal worms that allows better absorption of nutrients and iron, thus reducing the prevalence of anemia.

Table 11.9 shows that 3 percent of women took deworming medication during their last pregnancy. There is no difference in use of deworming medication by residence, region, education, or wealth quintile.

Key Findings

- Four in 10 ever-married women and 7 in 10 ever-married men age 15-49 have heard of AIDS.
- Comprehensive knowledge of AIDS is not widespread among either women (7 percent) or men (12 percent).
- Only 12 percent of women and 18 percent of men know of ways to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HIV.
- Only 17 percent of women and 15 percent of men express accepting attitudes toward people living with AIDS.
- Thirty-six percent of men and 11 percent of women know of a place where they can go to get an HIV test.
- Sixty-one percent of women and 53 percent of men reported receiving a medical injection from a health worker during the 12-month period preceding the survey.

cquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) is one of the most serious public health and development challenges facing the world today. AIDS is caused by the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV). HIV weakens the immune system, making the body susceptible to secondary infections and opportunistic diseases. Without treatment, HIV infection leads to AIDS, which is invariably fatal. The predominant mode of HIV transmission is sexual contact. Other modes of transmission are unsafe injections, use of tainted blood supplies during blood transfusions, and mother-to-child transmission (in which the mother passes HIV to her child during pregnancy, delivery, or breastfeeding).

Internationally, AIDS was first recognized in 1981. According to the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), an estimated 34 million adults and children around the world were living with HIV and AIDS in 2011 (UNAIDS, 2012). A large proportion of those who are infected with HIV die within 5-10 years (Munoz et al., 1997). The HIV/AIDS pandemic is one of the most serious health concerns in the world today because of its high case fatality rate and the lack of a curative treatment or vaccines. HIV cannot be transmitted through food, water, insect vectors, or casual contact.

The first case of HIV in Pakistan was diagnosed in 1987. As of February 2013, a total of approximately 7,750 cases had been diagnosed, based on reports from National AIDS Control Program (NACP) treatment centers (NACP, 2013). However, because the infection remains asymptomatic for many years, most infected individuals are unaware that they are infected; therefore, the actual number of people infected with HIV in Pakistan may be much larger. Indeed, NACP, UNAIDS, and the Ministry of National Health Services, Regulation and Coordination estimate that approximately 112,000 people are currently living with HIV in Pakistan (NACP, 2013). Limited data suggest that infection is extremely common among sex workers and highly uncommon among the general population.

There have been various efforts by both the government and nongovernmental organizations to prevent HIV transmission, including public health education through the media. In particular, information, education, and communication efforts are directed at increasing awareness of issues related to prevention. The findings of the 2012-13 PDHS will be helpful in shaping these initiatives. The survey included a section on HIV/AIDS in order to assess respondents' knowledge of the modes of HIV transmission and the ways in which HIV can be prevented, as well as their attitudes toward persons living with AIDS. The survey also included questions on sexually transmitted infections and injection safety practices.

12.1 KNOWLEDGE OF AIDS

The 2012-13 PDHS included a series of questions to gauge respondents' knowledge and attitudes about AIDS. Ever-married women and men age 15-49 were first asked whether they had heard of AIDS. Those who reported having heard of AIDS were asked a number of additional questions about various modes of prevention, including whether it is possible to reduce the chance of getting the AIDS virus by having just one faithful sex partner and using a condom during every sexual encounter. To allow an the level assessment of of possible misconceptions, respondents were also asked whether they think it is possible for a healthylooking person to have the AIDS virus and whether a person can contract AIDS from mosquito bites, by sharing food with a person who has AIDS, or through supernatural means.

Table 12.1 shows that 42 percent of women and 69 percent of men have heard of AIDS. Knowledge of AIDS among women varies by age and marital status, with women in the 15-24 and 40-49 age groups and women who are divorced, separated, or widowed being less likely to know about AIDS than women who are 25-39 and women who are married. Knowledge of AIDS is higher among urban women than rural women (69 percent and 28 percent, respectively). A similar urban-rural pattern is observed among men, although the differential is smaller.

Across regions, knowledge of AIDS ranges from a high of 83 percent among women in ICT Islamabad to a low of 12 percent among women in Gilgit Baltistan. There are large urbanTable 12.1 Knowledge of AIDS

Percentage of ever-married women and ever-married men age 15-49 who have heard of AIDS, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Woi	men	Men			
Background characteristic	Has heard of AIDS	Number of women	Has heard of AIDS	Number of men		
Age						
15-24	33.6	2,711	53.5	255		
15-19	20.4	605	(28.5)	36		
20-24	37.4	2,106	57.6	219		
25-29	48.4	2,724	67.7	521		
30-39	45.5	4,755	72.6	1,234		
40-49	38.1	3,368	67.7	1,124		
Marital status						
Married	42.1	12,937	69.2	3,071		
Divorced/separated/						
widowed	36.8	621	(31.3)	63		
Residence						
Urban	69.1	4,536	84.0	1,107		
Rural	28.2	9,022	60.0	2,027		
Pegion						
Puniah	45 7	7 790	73.1	1 804		
Urban	68.2	2 526	81.2	618		
Rural	34.9	5,264	68.8	1,186		
Cindh	42.6	0 400	FO 4	706		
Jirban	43.0	3,133	59.1 99.1	790		
Rural	13.5	1,521	33.1	420		
	10.0	1,012		420		
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	29.3	1,908	70.9	347		
Urban	53.6	320	86.5	67		
Rural	24.4	1,588	67.2	281		
Balochistan	21.8	568	58.2	151		
Urban	45.6	114	80.6	32		
Rural	15.8	454	52.2	119		
ICT Islamabad	82.9	64	91.2	18		
Gilgit Baltistan	12.1	94	43.9	18		
Education						
No education	18.4	7.736	35.8	905		
Primary	50.2	2,156	67.5	657		
Middle	72.9	993	79.2	525		
Secondary	87.4	1,413	87.3	557		
Higher	96.0	1,260	97.2	491		
Wealth guintile						
Lowest	6.5	2,589	32.6	607		
Second	18.0	2,676	58.4	574		
Middle	37.7	2,700	70.7	567		
Fourth	59.1	2,789	83.0	713		
Highest	84.2	2,804	92.2	673		
Total	41.9	13,558	68.5	3,134		
Note: Figures in parent	neses are ba	sed on 25-49) unweighted	l cases.		

rural differentials within regions. The percentage of women who have heard of AIDS in urban areas of Punjab and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa is twice that of their counterparts living in rural areas of these regions. Likewise, women in urban Balochistan and Sindh are much more likely than their rural counterparts to have heard of AIDS. Similar patterns are observed among men within each region.

Nearly all women with a higher education have heard of AIDS, as compared with only 18 percent of women with no education. The proportion of women who have heard of AIDS increases with increasing wealth. Men show similar patterns of knowledge of AIDS by education and wealth, although the differentials are not as marked as for women.

12.2 KNOWLEDGE OF HIV PREVENTION METHODS

Pakistan's National AIDS Control Program seeks to reduce sexual transmission of the AIDS virus by promoting HIV/AIDS prevention programs. These programs focus on health education messages related to two important aspects of HIV/AIDS prevention behaviors: limiting sexual intercourse to one uninfected partner and using condoms. To ascertain whether programs have effectively communicated these messages, respondents were asked specific questions about whether it is possible to reduce the

chance of getting the AIDS virus by using a condom during every sexual encounter and by limiting sexual intercourse to one uninfected partner.

Table 12.2 presents knowledge of HIV prevention methods among ever-married women and men age 15-49, by background characteristics. Since only women and men who had heard of AIDS were asked questions about how HIV can be prevented, knowledge levels are low, especially among women. Only 32 percent of women are aware that the risk of contracting the AIDS virus can be reduced by limiting sexual intercourse to one uninfected partner who has no other partners; 22 percent know that using condoms every time they have sexual intercourse reduces the risk of getting the AIDS virus. Twenty percent of women are aware of both means of reducing the risk of AIDS virus transmission.

Table 12.2 Knowledge of HIV prevention methods

Percentage of ever-married women and ever-married men age 15-49 who, in response to prompted questions, say that people can reduce the risk of getting the AIDS virus by using condoms every time they have sexual intercourse, and by having one sex partner who is not infected and has no other partners, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

		Wom	en		Men					
	Percer	ntage who say HIN prevented by:	/ can be		Percer	ntage who say HIV prevented by:	/ can be			
Background	Using condoms ¹	Limiting sexual intercourse to one uninfected partner ²	Using condoms and limiting sexual intercourse to one uninfected partner ^{1,2}	Number	Using condoms ¹	Limiting sexual intercourse to one uninfected partner ²	Using condoms and limiting sexual intercourse to one uninfected partner ^{1,2}	Number of men		
Ane			1							
15-24	16.1	23.7	14.0	2,711	27.5	44.6	26.3	255		
15-19	6.2	11.0	4.3	605	(19.0)	(28.5)	(19.0)	36		
20-24	19.0	27.3	16.7	2,106	28.9	¥7.3	27.4	219		
25-29	25.4	35.7	22.0	2,724	40.4	57.0	38.3	521		
30-39	24.7	35.4	22.3	4,755	42.3	61.7	39.3	1,234		
40-49	19.9	29.8	18.0	3,368	37.1	55.8	35.1	1,124		
Marital status										
Married Divorced/separated/	22.1	32.0	19.7	12,937	39.3	58.1	37.0	3,071		
widowed	18.3	24.9	15.9	621	(20.0)	(24.2)	(17.1)	63		
Residence										
Urban	37.6	55.2	34.3	4,536	54.8	75.4	52.7	1,107		
Rural	14.1	19.9	12.1	9,022	30.3	47.6	27.8	2,027		
Region										
Punjab	25.1	34.8	22.4	7,790	38.5	60.4	36.8	1,804		
Urban	38.7	54.0	34.9	2,526	53.7	73.3	52.9	618		
Rurai	10.0	25.0	10.4	5,264	30.7	53.7	20.4	1,100		
Sindh	21.4	34.1	19.4	3,133	39.4	53.2	37.3	796		
Urban	38.5	61.4	36.0	1,521	56.3	79.1	52.5	376		
Rurai	5.2	0.4	3.0	1,012	24.3	30.1	23.0	420		
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	12.5	19.6	10.3	1,908	44.7	57.2	39.7	347		
Urban	27.6	40.5	24.1	320	62.0	79.4	58.6	67		
	9.5	15.4	7.5	1,300	40.0	51.9	35.5	201		
Balochistan	11.8	16.1	10.1	568	27.7	44.6	22.2	151		
Urban Burol	24.3	30.1	20.4	114	42.9	64.1 20.2	37.0	32		
	0.0	70.5	7.5	454	23.7	39.3	10.2	119		
ICT Islamabad	54.0	70.5	49.5	64	58.4	81.4	56.2	18		
Gilgit Baltistan	8.0	8.4	6.6	94	22.7	35.4	20.5	18		
Education										
No education	8.4	12.1	6.9	7,736	14.0	23.4	11.6	905		
Primary	23.6	35.5	20.2	2,156	32.9	54.7	30.5	657		
Middle	33.4	52.1	29.4	993	43.2	67.9	41.0	525		
Secondary	49.9	71.1 95 A	44.6	1,413	56.1	75.4	53.6	557		
	02.1	05.4	59.5	1,200	09.0	92.5	00.0	491		
wealth quintile	2.4	2.0	2.4	2 500	16 5	047	14.0	607		
Lowest	3.1	3.9	2.1	2,589	10.5	24.1 16 0	14.9	574		
Middle	7.9 17.8	26.0	15.0	2,070	20.7	40.2 55.7	23.0 33.4	567		
Fourth	29.1	44 0	25.7	2,789	51.5	70.5	47.6	713		
Highest	49.6	69.7	45.7	2,804	59.6	84.1	58.0	673		
Total 15-49	22.0	31.7	19.5	13 558	38.9	57.4	36.6	3 134		
		.		,	00.0		00.0	2,.2.		

Note: Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases.

¹ Using condoms every time they have sexual intercourse

² Partner who has no other partners

Knowledge of HIV prevention methods among men is greater than that among women. Thirtynine percent of men know that the risk of transmitting the AIDS virus can be reduced by using condoms, and 57 percent know that transmission risk can be reduced by limiting sexual intercourse to one uninfected partner. Over one-third of men (37 percent) know both means of reducing transmission.

Women and men age 15-19 and 40-49 are less knowledgeable about methods of HIV prevention than respondents in other age groups. Female and male respondents living in urban areas are more knowledgeable about HIV prevention methods than those living in rural areas; 34 percent of urban women and 53 percent of urban men know that that the risk of transmitting the AIDS virus can be reduced by using condoms and limiting sexual intercourse to one uninfected partner, whereas only 12 percent of rural women and 28 percent of rural men know both means of prevention. A similar pattern is observed in urban-rural areas within regions. Among both women and men, knowledge of prevention methods is positively correlated with education and wealth.

12.3 COMPREHENSIVE KNOWLEDGE ABOUT AIDS

As part of the effort to assess knowledge regarding AIDS, the 2012-13 PDHS collected information on common misconceptions about HIV transmission. As noted above, respondents were asked whether they think it is possible for a healthy-looking person to have the AIDS virus and whether they believe the AIDS virus can be transmitted through mosquito bites, supernatural means, or sharing food with a person who has the AIDS virus. Comprehensive knowledge of HIV/AIDS is defined as follows: (1) knowing that consistent condom use and having just one faithful partner can reduce the chance of getting the AIDS virus, (2) knowing that a healthy-looking person can have the AIDS virus, and (3) rejecting the two most common local misconceptions about HIV transmission—that the AIDS virus can be transmitted through mosquito bites and by sharing food.

As shown in Tables 12.3.1 and 12.3.2, many Pakistani adults lack accurate knowledge about the ways through which the AIDS virus can and cannot be transmitted. Table 12.3.1 shows that only 28 percent of ever-married women know that a healthy-looking person can have the AIDS virus, 21 percent know that the AIDS virus cannot be transmitted through mosquito bites, and 30 percent know that the AIDS virus cannot be transmitted by supernatural means. Twenty-one percent of women correctly believe that a person cannot become infected by sharing food with a person who has the AIDS virus.

Only 7 percent of women have comprehensive knowledge about AIDS. Comprehensive knowledge about AIDS among women varies little by age, with the exception that only 1 percent of women age 15-19 have comprehensive knowledge of AIDS. Urban women (15 percent) and those living in ICT Islamabad (25 percent) are much more likely than women from rural areas (3 percent) or other regions (3-9 percent) to have comprehensive knowledge about AIDS. Comprehensive knowledge about AIDS increases with increasing education and wealth, rising from 1 percent among women with no education to 34 percent among women with a higher education and from less than 1 percent among women in the lowest wealth quintile to 21 percent among those in the highest quintile.

Table 12.3.1 Comprehensive knowledge about AIDS: Women

Percentage of ever-married women age 15-49 who say that a healthy-looking person can have the AIDS virus and who, in response to prompted questions, correctly reject local misconceptions about transmission or prevention of the AIDS virus, and the percentage with comprehensive knowledge about AIDS, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

					Percentage who say that a		
	Pe	rcentage of respo	ndents who say th	person can have			
Background characteristic	A healthy-looking person can have the AIDS virus	The AIDS virus cannot be transmitted by mosquito bites	The AIDS virus cannot be transmitted by supernatural means	A person cannot become infected by sharing food with a person who has AIDS	the AIDS virus and who reject the two most common local misconceptions ¹	Percentage with comprehensive knowledge about AIDS ²	Number of women
Age 15-24 15-19 20-24 25-29 30-39 40-49	22.3 11.2 25.5 32.4 30.3 26.1	15.4 8.5 17.4 25.2 22.5 18.3	24.3 14.6 27.1 34.9 32.8 25.7	14.6 5.6 17.2 24.4 23.0 19.2	6.6 2.3 7.8 12.8 11.0 10.1	4.2 0.6 5.2 8.7 7.5 6.5	2,711 605 2,106 2,724 4,755 3,368
Marital status Married Divorced/separated/ widowed	28.3 22.9	20.8 16.1	30.2 20.5	21.0 14.3	10.5 6.4	7.0 4.6	12,937 621
Residence Urban Rural	47.3 18.4	38.2 11.7	52.8 18.2	39.6 11.1	21.1 4.8	14.7 2.9	4,536 9,022
Region Punjab Sindh Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Balochistan ICT Islamabad Gilgit Baltistan	30.9 30.4 17.9 10.8 60.7 8.3	21.2 25.4 12.7 9.7 58.9 7.9	32.3 32.3 19.4 14.2 72.5 11.3	21.1 25.2 13.7 10.8 57.4 7.5	10.2 13.8 5.9 4.5 35.1 4.2	7.1 9.4 2.6 2.8 24.5 3.0	7,790 3,133 1,908 568 64 94
Education No education Primary Middle Secondary Higher	11.0 31.0 47.6 61.6 75.1	6.3 19.3 32.2 49.5 68.4	10.4 33.2 51.4 68.1 82.5	6.0 18.7 34.9 49.2 70.4	2.1 7.8 13.3 24.9 45.9	1.1 4.5 7.8 17.1 33.8	7,736 2,156 993 1,413 1,260
Wealth quintile Lowest Second Middle Fourth Highest	4.0 10.8 23.6 39.5 59.8 28.1	2.4 7.7 14.3 24.2 52.0 20.6	3.9 10.4 23.4 40.2 67.9 29.8	1.9 6.1 14.0 25.6 53.4 20.7	0.5 2.5 5.6 11.3 30.2	0.2 1.4 3.1 7.5 21.2 6.8	2,589 2,676 2,700 2,789 2,804 13,558
10101	20.1	20.0	23.0	20.7	10.5	0.0	15,550

¹ Two most common local misconceptions: a person can become infected by sharing food with someone who has AIDS and the AIDS virus can be transmitted through mosquito bites.

² Comprehensive knowledge means knowing that consistent use of condoms during sexual intercourse and having just one uninfected faithful partner can reduce the chance of getting the AIDS virus, knowing that a healthy-looking person can have the AIDS virus, and rejecting the two most common local misconceptions about AIDS transmission or prevention.

Table 12.3.2 shows that 46 percent of ever-married men age 15-49 know that a healthy-looking person can have the AIDS virus, 40 percent know that the AIDS virus cannot be transmitted through mosquito bites, and 55 percent know that the AIDS virus cannot be transmitted by supernatural means. Thirty-four percent of men correctly believe that a person cannot become infected by sharing food with a person who has the AIDS virus. Men are more likely than women to have comprehensive knowledge about AIDS (Figure 12.1). As was observed among women, comprehensive knowledge about AIDS among men increases with increasing education and wealth quintile.

Table 12.3.2 Comprehensive knowledge about AIDS: Men

Percentage of ever-married men age 15-49 who say that a healthy-looking person can have the AIDS virus and who, in response to prompted questions, correctly reject local misconceptions about transmission or prevention of the AIDS virus, and the percentage with comprehensive knowledge about AIDS, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

					Percentage who sav that a		
	Pe	rcentage of respo	ndents who say th	healthy-looking			
			The AIDS virus	A person cannot	the AIDS virus	Percentage with	
	A healthy-looking	cannot be	transmitted by	by sharing food	the two most	comprehensive	
Background	person can have	transmitted by	supernatural	with a person	common local	knowledge about	Number of
characteristic	the AIDS virus	mosquito bites	means	who has AIDS	misconceptions ¹	AIDS ²	men
Age							
15-24	29.5	22.8	38.7	22.7	7.1	5.2	255
15-19	(16.4)	(17.2)	(19.9)	(16.3)	(5.4)	(5.4)	36
20-24	31.7 [´]	23.7	41.8 [´]	23.7	7.4	5.2	219
25-29	46.7	41.3	53.4	35.4	19.4	14.5	521
30-39	49.2	45.0	59.3	37.8	19.7	13.3	1,234
40-49	45.8	38.1	54.5	32.9	16.4	10.3	1,124
Marital status							
Married	46.6	40.7	55.7	34.8	17.7	12.0	3,071
Divorced/separated/							
widowed	(16.6)	(11.0)	(19.1)	(16.0)	(5.6)	(3.0)	63
Residence							
Urban	55.3	57.0	69.5	48.1	22.9	15.9	1,107
Rural	40.9	30.8	47.0	26.9	14.5	9.6	2,027
Region							
Punjab	52.1	39.3	58.0	34.1	18.7	12.4	1,804
Sindh	34.1	39.7	46.2	30.9	12.0	8.4	796
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	47.8	43.0	58.7	38.8	19.0	15.4	347
Balochistan	31.1	42.0	53.8	41.9	24.1	12.2	151
ICT Islamabad	68.2	70.7	85.0	73.8	49.4	32.8	18
Gilgit Baltistan	26.9	29.6	41.2	26.3	15.4	7.6	18
Education							
No education	19.0	15.2	23.7	13.1	4.2	2.2	905
Primary	42.9	33.2	51.1	33.5	12.2	6.7	657
Middle	51.4	41.4	63.3	34.5	17.2	12.1	525
Secondary	62.9	61.9	73.0	43.6	27.5	20.8	557
Higner	74.8	68.9	88.1	64.3	37.6	25.6	491
Wealth quintile							
Lowest	21.4	11.0	22.5	8.4	4.4	2.1	607
Second	36.7	30.0	43.7	22.0	9.1	4.8	574
Middle	46.7	36.2	52.0	32.1	16.1	10.7	567
Fourth	56.6	46.2	68.6	44.5	21.9	16.8	/13
rignest	04.∠	(1.7	81.0	59.6	32.1	22.1	6/3
Total	46.0	40.1	54.9	34.4	17.4	11.8	3,134

Note: Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases. ¹ Two most common local misconceptions: a person can become infected by sharing food with someone who has AIDS and the AIDS virus can be

² Comprehensive knowledge means knowing that consistent use of condoms during sexual intercourse and having just one uninfected faithful partner can reduce the chance of getting the AIDS virus, knowing that a healthy-looking person can have the AIDS virus, and rejecting the two most common local misconceptions about AIDS transmission or prevention.


Figure 12.1 Comprehensive knowledge about AIDS among ever-married women and men age 15-49

12.4 KNOWLEDGE OF MOTHER-TO-CHILD TRANSMISSION OF HIV

Knowledge about how to prevent mother-to-child transmission (MTCT) of HIV is critical in the fight against HIV/AIDS. To assess MTCT knowledge, ever-married women and men age 15-49 were asked whether HIV can be transmitted from a mother to a child through breastfeeding and whether a mother can reduce the risk of transmitting HIV to her child during pregnancy by taking antiretroviral drugs.

Table 12.4 shows that 27 percent of women know that HIV can be transmitted through breastfeeding and 13 percent know that risk of mother-to-child transmission can be reduced through mothers taking special drugs during pregnancy. Only 12 percent of women are knowledgeable regarding both of these ways of preventing mother-to-child transmission of HIV. Although knowledge of prevention of MTCT varies little by current marital status, it is higher among urban women than rural women and higher among those living in ICT Islamabad than those in other regions. Knowledge of prevention of MTCT increases with increasing education and wealth.

Table 12.4 also shows that 40 percent of men know that HIV can be transmitted through breastfeeding and 22 percent know that the risk of mother-to-child transmission can be reduced by mothers taking special drugs during pregnancy. Variations by background characteristics in knowledge of prevention of MTCT are similar to those observed for women.

Table 12.4 Knowledge of prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV

Percentage of ever-married women and men age 15-49 who know that HIV can be transmitted from mother to child by breastfeeding and that the risk of mother to-child transmission (MTCT) of HIV can be reduced by the mother taking special drugs during pregnancy, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

		Wome	en	Men						
-	Per	centage who know	that:		Per	centage who know	that:			
Background characteristic	HIV can be transmitted by breastfeeding	Risk of MTCT can be reduced by mother taking special drugs during pregnancy	HIV can be transmitted by breastfeeding and risk of MTCT can be reduced by mother taking special drugs during pregnancy	Number of women	HIV can be transmitted by breastfeeding	Risk of MTCT can be reduced by mother taking special drugs during pregnancy	HIV can be transmitted by breastfeeding and risk of MTCT can be reduced by mother taking special drugs during pregnancy	Number of men		
Age										
15-24 15-19 20-24 25-29 30-39 40-49	20.7 10.3 23.7 31.1 28.6 24.2	10.7 4.2 12.6 15.8 13.4 12.7	9.6 3.7 11.2 13.4 12.2 11.4	2,711 605 2,106 2,724 4,755 3,368	26.9 (19.9) 28.0 36.3 43.3 41.5	14.4 (8.6) 15.4 22.4 23.7 22.2	12.0 (5.5) 13.1 18.4 19.0 18.5	255 36 219 521 1,234 1,124		
Marital status Married Divorced/separated/ widowed	26.5 25.1	13.3	11.8	12,937	40.5	22.4	18.2	3,071		
	23.1	11.5	10.5	021	(22.0)	(14.5)	(14.3)	05		
Pregnant Not pregnant or not	24.0	11.7	10.3	1,461	na	na	na	na		
sure	26.7	13.4	11.9	12,097	na	na	na	na		
Residence Urban Rural	42.5 18.4	21.4 9.1	18.5 8.3	4,536 9,022	47.9 35.9	25.6 20.3	20.6 16.8	1,107 2,027		
Region Punjab Sindh Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Balochistan ICT Islamabad Gilgit Baltistan	30.1 25.4 17.4 12.9 48.4 6.8	15.4 14.0 6.0 3.4 23.5 4.4	14.0 11.7 5.2 3.2 18.8 3.5	7,790 3,133 1,908 568 64 94	44.1 36.9 38.7 14.4 45.5 20.1	21.1 18.6 36.7 19.8 50.6 8.6	18.8 14.9 26.9 7.5 31.0 6.8	1,804 796 347 151 18 18		
Education										
No education Primary Middle Secondary Higher	11.8 31.3 44.5 55.5 61.2	5.8 16.2 21.1 26.3 32.5	5.4 14.8 19.9 23.1 25.9	7,736 2,156 993 1,413 1,260	19.3 37.8 45.4 55.4 58.7	8.4 20.1 23.0 31.7 38.7	7.4 17.5 19.1 25.6 29.3	905 657 525 557 491		
Wealth quintile										
Lowest Second Middle Fourth Highest	4.4 12.7 24.3 37.4 51.1	2.4 5.0 12.1 17.8 27.4	2.4 4.8 10.9 16.6 22.8	2,589 2,676 2,700 2,789 2,804	20.5 33.0 41.4 47.5 55.0	6.9 21.0 27.7 26.3 28.0	6.0 16.6 23.3 22.2 21.7	607 574 567 713 673		
Total	26.5	13.2	11.7	13,558	40.1	22.2	18.1	3,134		

Note: Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases. na = Not applicable

12.5 ACCEPTING ATTITUDES TOWARD THOSE LIVING WITH HIV AND AIDS

The HIV/AIDS epidemic has generated fear, anxiety, and prejudice against people living with HIV and AIDS, and people who are HIV positive face widespread stigma and discrimination. These societal attitudes can adversely affect both people's willingness to be tested for HIV and their initiation of and adherence to antiretroviral therapy. Reducing stigma and discrimination is therefore an important factor in the prevention, management, and control of the HIV epidemic.

In the 2012-13 PDHS, ever-married women and men age 15-49 who had heard of AIDS were asked a number of questions to assess the level of stigma associated with HIV and AIDS. Results for women and men are shown in Tables 12.5.1 and 12.5.2, respectively. Similar proportions of women and men reported that they would be willing to take care of a family member with HIV at home (92 percent and 90 percent, respectively) and that they would buy fresh vegetables from a shopkeeper who has HIV

(47 percent each). However, women were much more likely than men to think that a female teacher with HIV should be allowed to continue teaching (65 percent versus 52 percent). Differences between women and men were minimal regarding the desire to keep secret a family member's HIV infection status (42 percent versus 38 percent, respectively).

Overall, 17 percent of women and 15 percent of men express accepting attitudes regarding all four situations. Among both women and men, accepting attitudes toward those living with HIV/AIDS increase with increasing education and wealth. Except for women in Balochistan and men in Balochistan and Sindh, accepting attitudes toward people with HIV/AIDS are more or less similar in all regions.

Table 12.5.1 Accepting attitudes toward those living with HIV/AIDS: Women

Among ever-married women age 15-49 who have heard of AIDS, percentage expressing specific accepting attitudes toward people with HIV/AIDS, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Percentage of women who:										
	Are willing to care		Say that a female								
	for a family	Would buy fresh	teacher who has	Would not want to	Percentage						
	member with	vegetables from	the AIDS virus but	keep secret that a	expressing	Number of					
	AIDS in the	shopkeeper who	is not sick should	family member	accepting	women who					
Background	respondent's	has the AIDS	be allowed to	got infected with	attitudes on all	have heard of					
characteristic	home	virus	continue teaching	the AIDS virus	four indicators	AIDS					
Age											
15-24	93.2	46.4	68.7	40.0	15.9	911					
15-19	92.5	45.6	68.8	26.1	10.0	123					
20-24	93.3	46.5	68.7	42.2	16.8	787					
25-29	92.6	49.5	68.1	39.8	17.2	1,318					
30-39	91.9	46.7	63.0	42.9	16.8	2,164					
40-49	91.1	43.1	60.5	45.2	15.7	1,282					
Marital status											
Married	92.1	46.6	64.7	42.1	16.5	5,447					
Divorced/separated/											
widowed	91.4	43.3	62.3	44.4	15.9	229					
Residence											
Urban	91.4	49.9	65.2	42.4	17.3	3,135					
Rural	92.9	42.3	63.8	42.1	15.6	2,540					
Region											
Punjab	92.8	45.2	65.3	43.8	17.1	3,562					
Sindh	91.9	48.9	63.7	38.6	15.2	1,365					
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	90.8	47.6	63.6	44.4	17.6	560					
Balochistan	78.3	49.8	53.8	27.8	9.5	124					
ICT Islamabad	90.6	55.7	72.9	37.8	18.5	53					
Gilgit Baltistan	94.6	38.9	51.0	53.2	15.7	11					
Education											
No education	90.9	36.3	55.0	38.6	10.7	1,424					
Primary	93.9	38.2	61.1	43.1	14.4	1,083					
Middle	93.5	43.9	64.9	42.1	16.4	723					
Secondary	91.4	51.7	67.2	45.8	18.9	1,235					
Higher	91.8	62.2	76.1	42.1	22.9	1,210					
Wealth quintile											
Lowest	87.8	30.4	47.3	32.5	8.9	168					
Second	92.2	36.5	60.7	40.6	13.1	482					
Middle	92.2	43.6	65.1	43.3	16.9	1,017					
Fourth	92.2	42.4	60.3	44.0	16.0	1,648					
Highest	92.2	53.8	69.3	41.6	17.9	2,361					
Total	92.1	46.5	64.6	42.2	16.5	5,675					

Table 12.5.2 Accepting attitudes toward those living with HIV/AIDS: Men

Among ever-married men age 15-49 who have heard of HIV/AIDS, percentage expressing specific accepting attitudes toward people with HIV/AIDS, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Percentage	of men who:			
Are willing to care for a family member with AIDS in the respondent's home	Would buy fresh vegetables from shopkeeper who has the AIDS virus	Say that a female teacher who has the AIDS virus but is not sick should be allowed to continue teaching	Would not want to keep secret that a family member got infected with the AIDS virus	Percentage expressing accepting attitudes on all four indicators	Number of men who have heard of AIDS
87.9 * 93.5 89.3 89.6 90.1	51.0 55.1 50.5 48.6 43.5 47.2	53.8 * 57.3 54.8 53.3 48.4 51.9	30.5 * 33.0 38.9 36.7 39.3 37.4	10.6 * 11.4 19.0 14.4 15.0 15.2	136 10 126 352 896 761 2.127
*	*	*	*	*	20
94.1 86.9	56.0 40.6	60.2 45.4	32.8 41.2	16.3 14.2	929 1,217
87.7 99.1 94.3 62.7 92.4 88.3	45.4 50.8 54.2 34.5 68.1 23.6	52.1 50.8 52.2 49.9 71.2 39.8	45.7 19.6 31.5 26.7 42.0 49.7	18.0 8.1 15.1 8.9 24.4 4.8	1,318 471 246 88 16 8
87.5 87.8 91.5 89.4 93.0	35.8 40.9 46.9 53.1 55.3	37.8 44.2 53.7 57.5 61.0	38.7 42.9 36.9 38.1 31.9	9.6 11.8 15.6 17.7 18.9	324 443 416 486 477
82.8 88.1 86.7 93.1 92.5 90.0	31.3 35.2 43.2 50.0 58.9 47.3	31.8 39.9 51.1 56.1 61.0 51.8	36.3 39.4 43.2 39.6 31.4 37.6	9.8 8.6 16.6 20.1 14.7 15.1	198 335 401 592 621 2,146
	Are willing to care for a family member with AIDS in the respondent's home 87.9 * 86.9 93.5 89.6 90.1 * 94.1 86.9 90.1 * 94.1 86.9 87.7 99.1 94.3 62.7 92.4 88.3 87.5 87.8 91.5 87.8 91.5 89.4 93.0 82.8 88.1 86.7 93.1 92.5 90.0	Percentage Are willing to care for a family member with AIDS in the respondent's home Would buy fresh vegetables from shopkeeper who has the AIDS virus 87.9 51.0 * * 86.9 55.1 93.5 50.5 89.6 43.5 90.1 47.2 * * 94.1 56.0 86.9 40.6 87.7 45.4 99.1 50.8 94.3 54.2 62.7 34.5 92.4 68.1 88.3 23.6 87.5 35.8 87.8 40.9 91.5 46.9 89.4 53.1 93.0 55.3 82.8 31.3 88.1 35.2 86.7 43.2 93.1 50.0 92.5 58.9 90.0 47.3	Are willing to care for a family member with AIDS in the respondent's home Would buy fresh vegetables from shopkeeper who has the AIDS virus Say that a female teacher who has the AIDS virus but is not sick should be allowed to continue teaching 87.9 51.0 53.8 * * * 86.9 55.1 57.3 93.5 50.5 54.8 89.6 43.5 48.4 90.1 47.2 51.9 * * * 94.1 56.0 60.2 86.9 40.6 45.4 99.1 50.8 50.8 94.1 56.0 60.2 86.9 40.6 45.4 87.7 45.4 52.1 99.1 50.8 50.8 94.3 54.2 52.2 62.7 34.5 49.9 92.4 68.1 71.2 88.3 23.6 39.8 87.5 35.8 37.8 93.0 55.3 61.0 93.1 50.0	Are willing to care for a family member with AIDS in the respondent's home Would buy fresh vegetables from shopkeeper who has the AIDS Say that a female the AIDS virus but is not sick should be allowed to continue teaching Would not want to keep secret that a family member got infected with the AIDS virus 87.9 51.0 53.8 30.5 86.9 55.1 57.3 33.0 93.5 50.5 54.8 38.9 89.3 48.6 53.3 36.7 89.6 43.5 48.4 39.3 90.1 47.2 51.9 37.4 * * * * * 94.1 56.0 60.2 32.8 86.9 40.6 45.4 41.2 87.7 45.4 52.1 45.7 99.1 50.8 19.6 94.3 54.2 52.2 31.5 62.7 34.5 49.9 26.7 92.4 68.1 71.2 42.0 88.3 23.6 39.8 49.7 87.5 35.8	Percentage of men who: Are willing to care for a family member with AIDS in the respondent's home Would buy fresh sopkeeper who is not sick should bas the AIDS virus Say that a female teacher who has to sick should be allowed to continue teaching Percentage expressing accepting attitudes on all four indicators 87.9 51.0 53.8 30.5 10.6 * * * * * 86.9 55.1 57.3 33.0 11.4 93.5 50.5 54.8 38.9 19.0 89.3 48.6 53.3 36.7 14.4 89.6 43.5 48.4 39.3 15.0 90.1 47.2 51.9 37.4 15.2 * * * * * 94.1 56.0 60.2 32.8 16.3 94.3 54.2 52.2 31.5 15.1 92.7 45.4 52.1 45.7 18.0 99.1 50.8 50.8 19.6 8.1 94.3 54.2 52.2

Note: An asterisk indicates that a figure is based on fewer than 25 unweighted cases and has been suppressed.

12.6 KNOWLEDGE ABOUT TESTING FOR HIV

The Pakistan National AIDS Control Program developed HIV counseling and testing guidelines in 2005. Voluntary counseling and testing services that adhere to these guidelines are provided in 18 NACP treatment centers (Ministry of Health, 2005).

Ever-married women and men age 15-49 were asked whether they know of a place where people can go to get tested for the AIDS virus. As shown in Table 12.6, men are more likely than women to know of a place where they can go to get an HIV test (36 percent and 11 percent, respectively).

Knowledge of facilities offering HIV testing differs by respondents' background characteristics. Among both women and men, knowledge about where one can get an HIV test generally increases with age. Urban residents are much more likely than rural residents to know where one can get tested; 17 percent of urban women and 48 percent of urban men know of a testing facility, as compared with only 8 percent of rural women and 30 percent of rural men. Respondents from ICT Islamabad are more knowledgeable regarding where to go to get an HIV test than their counterparts in other regions. Among both women and men, knowledge of a place offering HIV testing increases steadily with increasing education and wealth.

Table 12.6 Knowledge on where to get HIV testing

Percentage of ever-married women and ever-married men age 15-49 who know where to get an HIV test, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Wome	en	Men		
	Percentage who		Percentage who		
Background	know where to	Number of	know where to	Number of	
characteristic	get an HIV test	women	get an HIV test	men	
Age					
15-24	8.4	2,711	23.2	255	
15-19	4.6	605	(12.2)	36	
20-24	9.4	2,106	25.0	219	
25-29	12.2	2,724	31.7	521	
30-39	11.5	4,755	39.9	1,234	
40-49	10.7	3,368	37.2	1,124	
Marital status					
Married	10.9	12,937	36.6	3,071	
Divorced/separated/					
widowed	10.7	621	(19.2)	63	
Residence					
Urban	16.8	4,536	48.2	1,107	
Rural	7.9	9,022	29.7	2,027	
Region					
Punjab	12.0	7,790	39.6	1,804	
Sindh	10.7	3,133	26.5	796	
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	7.2	1,908	41.7	347	
Balochistan	5.8	568	35.2	151	
ICT Islamabad	38.5	64	49.1	18	
Gilgit Baltistan	4.4	94	14.9	18	
Education					
No education	3.9	7,736	11.8	905	
Primary	11.8	2,156	31.7	657	
Middle	17.5	993	42.9	525	
Secondary	22.2	1,413	48.9	557	
Higher	33.8	1,260	65.7	491	
Wealth quintile					
Lowest	1.9	2,589	10.1	607	
Second	4.3	2,676	27.8	574	
Middle	10.2	2,700	37.3	567	
Fourth	12.8	2,789	45.5	713	
Highest	24.1	2,804	56.3	673	
Total 15-49	10.8	13,558	36.2	3,134	

Note: Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases.

12.7 SELF-REPORTING OF SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED INFECTIONS (STIS)

Information about the prevalence of sexually transmitted infections (STIs) is useful not only as a marker of unprotected sexual intercourse but also as a cofactor for HIV transmission. STIs are closely associated with HIV because they increase the likelihood of contracting HIV and share similar risk factors. The 2012-13 PDHS asked ever-married women and men age 15-49 whether, in the past 12 months, they had contracted a disease through sexual contact. Women were also asked if they had symptoms of an STI (a bad-smelling, abnormal discharge from the vagina or a genital sore or ulcer). It should be noted that although these symptoms are useful in identifying STIs, they may be misinterpreted in women because women may experience reproductive tract infections unrelated to STIs that produce a genital discharge.

Table 12.7 shows that the prevalence of self-reported STIs among women and men in Pakistan is small. Two percent of women and a negligible proportion (0.4 percent) of men report having had an STI in the 12 months prior to the survey. It is likely that these figures underestimate the actual prevalence of STIs among the sexually active population in Pakistan, as many STI symptoms are not easily recognized and many STIs do not have visible symptoms.

Table 12.7 Self-reported prevalence of sexually transmitted infections (STIs) and STI symptoms

Among ever-married women and ever-married men age 15-49 who ever had sexual intercourse, the percentage reporting having an STI and/or symptoms of an STI in the past 12 months, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Percenta	age of women wh	no reported hav	ving in the past 1	2 months:	Percentag reported ha 12 r	e of men who ving in the past nonths:
		Bad-smelling/					
		abnormal		STI/genital			
Background		genital	Genital	discharge/	Number of	071	Number of
characteristic	SII	discharge	sore/ulcer	sore or ulcer	women	SII	men
Age							
15-24	2.3	12.8	7.5	15.4	2,711	1.7	255
15-19	2.1	11.2	7.1	13.5	605	(3.0)	36
20-24	2.3	13.2	7.6	16.0	2,106	1.4	219
25-29	2.4	14.3	5.9	16.3	2,724	0.1	521
30-39	2.2	17.0	7.8	19.4	4,755	0.5	1,234
40-49	1.4	11.7	6.2	14.1	3,368	0.3	1,124
Marital status							
Married	2.1	14.6	7.1	17.0	12,937	0.4	3,071
Divorced/separated/							
widowed	0.3	8.5	3.3	9.4	621	(3.1)	63
Male circumcision							
Don't know/missing	na	na	na	na	na	0.4	3,134
Residence							
Urban	1.7	13.3	7.1	16.2	4,536	0.6	1,107
Rural	2.2	14.8	6.9	17.0	9,022	0.4	2,027
Region							
Punjab	1.2	13.4	6.1	16.1	7,790	0.3	1,804
Sindh	0.7	6.8	3.2	8.4	3,133	0.7	796
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	8.3	27.0	16.4	29.9	1,908	0.4	347
Balochistan	0.7	23.9	8.2	25.1	568	1.1	151
ICT Islamabad	2.5	21.0	11.4	26.6	64	1.2	18
Gilgit Baltistan	0.0	14.6	2.4	15.5	94	0.0	18
Education							
No education	2.1	14.3	7.0	16.5	7,736	0.0	905
Primary	2.0	13.9	8.1	16.8	2,156	0.4	657
Middle	2.4	13.2	6.8	16.6	993	1.0	525
Secondary	1.9	16.2	7.3	19.2	1,413	0.1	557
Higher	1.8	13.2	4.8	15.2	1,260	1.0	491
Wealth guintile							
Lowest	1.4	13.6	5.9	15.8	2,589	0.2	607
Second	3.1	17.0	9.0	19.6	2,676	0.4	574
Middle	2.3	14.1	6.3	15.7	2,700	0.9	567
Fourth	1.8	14.0	7.2	17.0	2,789	0.3	713
Highest	1.6	12.7	6.5	15.5	2,804	0.4	673
Total	2.0	14.3	7.0	16.7	13,558	0.4	3,134

Note: Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases.

na = Not applicable

Seventeen percent of women report having had an STI and/or symptoms of an STI in the 12 months prior to the survey. Women who report STI symptoms are more likely to say they have had a bad-smelling or abnormal genital discharge (14 percent) than a genital ulcer or sore (7 percent). The percentage of women reporting an STI and/or STI symptoms is highest in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (30 percent) and lowest in Sindh (8 percent).

When respondents reported having an STI or STI symptoms in the past 12 months, they were asked whether they sought any advice or treatment. Figure 12.2 shows that 51 percent of women sought no advice or treatment, while 41 percent sought advice or treatment from a clinic, hospital, private doctor, or other health professional. The figure excludes the findings for men as the results were based on few cases and were not representative.



Figure 12.2 Women seeking treatment for STIs

12.8 PREVALENCE OF MEDICAL INJECTIONS

Use of non-sterile injections in a health care setting can contribute to the transmission of bloodborne pathogens. To measure the potential risk of transmission of HIV and other diseases associated with medical injections, respondents in the 2012-13 PDHS were asked whether they had received an injection in the past 12 months; if so, they were asked how many injections they had received and whether their last injection was given with a syringe from a newly opened package.

Table 12.8 shows the reported prevalence of medical injections among ever-married women and men age 15-49. Sixty-one percent of women and 53 percent of men reported receiving a medical injection from a health worker (doctor, nurse, pharmacist, dentist, or other health professional) during the 12-month period preceding the survey. On average, both women and men received five medical injections during the 12-month period. The vast majority of women (85 percent) and men (90 percent) reported that the last injection was given with a syringe from a newly opened package. Differentials by background characteristics among both women and men are generally small with the exception of differentials by region. Respondents in Gilgit Baltistan were least likely to receive a medical injection in the last 12 months (24 percent of women and 16 percent of men) and received the fewest average number of injections. Respondents in Balochistan were least likely to report having received their last injection from a syringe and needle taken from a new, unopened package (68 percent of women and 58 percent of men).

Table 12.8 Prevalence of medical injections

Percentage of ever-married women and men age 15-49 who received at least one medical injection in the last 12 months, the average number of medical injections per person in the last 12 months, and among those who received a medical injection, the percentage of last medical injections for which the syringe and needle were taken from a new, unopened package, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

			Women					Men		
Background characteristic	Percentage who received a medical injection in the last 12 months	Average number of medical injections per person in the last 12 months	Number of respondents	For last injection, syringe and needle taken from a new, unopened package	Number of respondents receiving medical injections in the last 12 months	Percentage who received a medical injection in the last 12 months	Average number of medical injections per person in the last 12 months	Number of respondents	For last injection, syringe and needle taken from a new, unopened package	Number of respondents receiving medical injections in the last 12 months
Age										
15-24 15-19 20-24 25-29 30-39	66.1 63.8 66.7 61.7 60.4	4.9 4.5 5.0 4.5 5.4	2,711 605 2,106 2,724 4,755	83.3 82.2 83.6 86.2 84.8	1,791 386 1,405 1,680 2,872	50.6 (25.9) 54.7 56.9 50.6	4.9 (3.2) 5.1 5.4 4.2	255 36 219 521 1,234	90.0 * 90.5 89.3 90.1	129 9 120 296 624
40-49	55.7	6.7	3,368	86.4	1,875	54.0	5.5	1,124	91.1	608
Marital status Married Divorced/separated/ widowed	61.0 53.1	5.4 7.3	12,937 621	85.0 87.2	7,888	53.2 (38.2)	4.9 (3.4)	3,071 63	90.3 (88.8)	1,633 24
B al la sa	00.1	1.0	021	07.2	000	(00.2)	(0.1)	00	(00.0)	
Urban Rural	58.5 61.6	4.7 5.8	4,536 9,022	91.4 82.1	2,656 5,562	49.9 54.5	4.4 5.2	1,107 2,027	93.0 89.0	553 1,104
Region										
Punjab Sindh Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Balochistan ICT Islamabad Gilgit Baltistan	59.5 66.3 68.0 27.5 49.8 23.7	5.5 4.7 7.9 2.0 3.3 1.0	7,790 3,133 1,908 568 64 94	89.8 81.6 76.0 68.0 91.1 85.0	4,635 2,076 1,297 156 32 22	51.1 55.1 63.3 46.0 25.8 15.9	4.9 5.3 4.8 4.3 1.2 0.5	1,804 796 347 151 18 18	96.0 79.9 97.4 58.3 96.2 (94.5)	922 439 220 69 5 3
Education										
No education Primary Middle Secondary Higher	59.4 65.7 64.7 62.8 53.7	6.0 5.4 5.2 4.8 3.0	7,736 2,156 993 1,413 1,260	79.8 89.1 91.8 92.9 96.0	4,595 1,416 643 888 677	54.0 56.2 57.1 51.5 43.3	6.7 4.6 5.2 3.9 2.9	905 657 525 557 491	83.0 88.6 94.7 97.2 94.4	488 369 300 287 213
Wealth quintile										
Lowest Second Middle Fourth Highest	59.9 61.0 61.8 63.2 57.1	5.0 6.2 5.8 5.9 4.3	2,589 2,676 2,700 2,789 2,804	73.1 79.5 86.7 91.7 93.6	1,550 1,633 1,669 1,763 1,602	58.5 55.2 50.5 54.0 46.6	5.7 5.8 4.4 4.8 4.0	607 574 567 713 673	75.3 91.6 93.4 97.1 94.8	355 317 287 385 314
Total	60.6	5.4	13,558	85.1	8,218	52.9	4.9	3,134	90.3	1,657

Note: Medical injections are those given by a doctor, nurse, pharmacist, dentist, or other health worker. Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases. An asterisk indicates that a figure is based on fewer than 25 unweighted cases and has been suppressed.

Key Findings

- More than half of currently married women who earn cash make independent decisions about how to use their earnings, while only 9 percent say they decide solely about using their husband's earnings.
- Only 11 percent of ever-married women own a house, either alone or jointly, and only 4 percent own land.
- Only 38 percent of currently married women participate jointly with their husbands in making decisions pertaining to their own health care, major household purchases, and visits to their family or relatives.
- Contraceptive use is positively associated with women's empowerment.
- Unmet need for family planning decreases with increasing women's empowerment.
- Access to antenatal care, delivery assistance from a skilled provider, and postnatal care within the first two days after delivery increase with increasing women's empowerment.

The concept of women's empowerment has recently gained the attention of development partners, policymakers, planners, and researchers all over the world. It is unanimously agreed that balanced growth is not attainable without empowering women, who constitute half of the world's population. In the 2012-13 PDHS, efforts were made to understand women's empowerment with respect to health outcomes.

Empowerment is a blend of agency, resources, and achievements (Kabeer, 1999). Although the terms "empowerment" and "autonomy" are often used interchangeably, some differentiate the two by defining autonomy as the freedom to do certain things and empowerment as resisting denial of one's rights (Dixon-Mueller, 1998). Others define empowerment as the process of being able to take charge of one's own life (Malhotra and Mather, 1997).

According to the 1994 International Conference on Population and Development, "advancing gender equality and equity and the empowerment of women and the elimination of all kinds of violence against women, and ensuring women's ability to control their own fertility...are cornerstones of population and development-related programs" (United Nations, 1994). In addition, Article 34 of the Constitution of Pakistan states that "steps shall be taken to ensure full participation of women in all spheres of national life" (Government of Pakistan, 1973).

The 2012-13 PDHS collected data on the status of women including information on gender differences in access to and control over cash earnings, ownership of assets, relative earnings of husbands and wives, participation in household decisionmaking, and women's attitudes toward wife beating.

The data discussed in Chapter 3 showed that women in Pakistan are predominantly engaged in agricultural work and are much less likely than men to have skilled manual jobs. Furthermore, women lag behind men in educational attainment, literacy, and exposure to mass media, all of which are critical contributors to women's empowerment.

Two separate indices were developed to assess women's empowerment status, one based on the number of household decisions in which women participate and the other based on the number of situations in which they believe wife beating is justified. Women's rankings on these two indices are examined with respect to selected demographic and health outcomes including contraceptive use, ideal family size, unmet need for contraception, early childhood mortality, and receipt of health care services during pregnancy, at delivery, and in the postnatal period.

13.1 EMPLOYMENT AND FORM OF EARNINGS

Economic empowerment gives women an opportunity for increased participation in family decisionmaking, and it is expected that women who are employed and who receive cash earnings are more likely to have control over household resources.

Table 13.1 shows the percentage of currently married women and men age 15-49 who were employed at any time in the 12 months preceding the survey and the percent distribution of employed women and men by the type of earnings they received (cash only, cash and in-kind, in-kind only), if any. It can be seen that 29 percent of women were employed in the 12 months preceding the survey, as compared with 98 percent of men. Women age 15-24 are slightly less likely than older women to be employed, while there is not much variation by age among men.

Employed women and men differ greatly in the types of earnings they receive for their work. Eighty-seven percent of men receive cash only and 12 percent receive cash and in-kind payment, as compared with 71 percent of women receiving cash only and 6 percent receiving cash and in-kind payment. Fifteen percent of women are not paid for their work at all, as compared with less than 1 percent of men. Thus, not only are currently married women much less likely than currently married men to be employed, they are also much less likely to be paid for the work they perform. It is encouraging to note that the proportion of women who are employed has increased from 25 percent in 2006-07 to 29 percent in 2012-13 (National Institute of Population Studies [NIPS] and Macro International Inc., 2008).

Table 13.1 Employment and cash earnings of currently married women and men

Percentage of currently married women and men age 15-49 who were employed at any time in the past 12 months and the percent distribution of currently married women and men employed in the past 12 months by type of earnings, according to age, Pakistan 2012-13

	Among curr respoi	ently married ndents:	Percent dis	tribution of curr past 12 m	nployed in the				
Age	Percentage employed in past 12 months	Number of respondents	Cash only	Cash and in- kind	In-kind only	Not paid	Missing/don't know	Total	Number of respondents
				W	/OMEN				
15-19	24.5	594	57.8	9.7	14.6	17.9	0.0	100.0	145
20-24	22.8	2,053	69.0	6.8	6.8	17.3	0.0	100.0	467
25-29	28.8	2,003	76.4	5.9	0.4	11.3	0.0	100.0	700
30-34	28.3	2,454	70.4	0.0	9.7	13.8	0.0	100.0	695 720
35-39	34.1	2,137	09.5 70.0	8.1	9.7	12.5	0.3	100.0	729
40-44	30.3	1,017	72.2	0.0 4.2	0.7	15.2	0.0	100.0	490
40-49	27.9	1,419	70.0	4.3	4.2	20.6	0.0	100.0	390
Total	28.5	12,937	71.1	6.4	7.9	14.6	0.1	100.0	3,689
					MEN				
15-19	(96.4)	36	(86.1)	(13.9)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(0.0)	100.0	35
20-24	93.5	209	77.9	14.9	3.6	3.5	0.0	100.0	195
25-29	97.7	516	88.2	10.4	0.6	0.6	0.2	100.0	504
30-34	99.2	636	88.1	9.8	2.1	0.0	0.0	100.0	631
35-39	99.1	579	87.4	11.8	0.8	0.0	0.0	100.0	574
40-44	97.9	516	86.9	11.4	1.0	0.7	0.0	100.0	505
45-49	97.6	580	85.3	13.1	1.6	0.0	0.0	100.0	566
Total	98.0	3,071	86.6	11.5	1.4	0.5	0.0	100.0	3,009
Note: Fig	gures in parenthe	eses are based	on 25-49 unw	eighted cases.					

13.2 WOMEN'S CONTROL OVER THEIR OWN EARNINGS AND RELATIVE MAGNITUDE OF WOMEN'S EARNINGS

Women's equal access to financial resources has become a human rights issue and is considered to be an important mechanism for reducing women's poverty; consequently, it has been an explicit focus of a variety of human rights instruments. Control over cash earnings is another dimension of empowerment. In the 2012-13 PDHS, currently married women who earn cash for their work were asked who the main decisionmaker is regarding the use of their earnings. They were also asked about the relative magnitude of their earnings compared with their husband's earnings. This information provides insight into women's empowerment within the family and the extent of their control over resources.

Table 13.2.1 Control over women's cash earnings and relative magnitude of women's cash earnings

Percent distribution of currently married women age 15-49 who received cash earnings for employment in the 12 months preceding the survey by person who decides how wife's cash earnings are used and by whether she earned more or less than her husband, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Person	who decide	es how the w are used:	ife's cash	earnings	Wife's cash earnings compared with husband's cash earnings:				band's			
Background characteristic	Mainly wife	Wife and husband jointly	Mainly husband	Other	Missing	Total	More	Less	About the same	Husband has no earnings	Don't know/ missing	Total	Number of women
Age													
15-19	49.3	24.7	4.5	20.1	1.4	100.0	0.0	35.8	6.2	56.6	1.4	100.0	98
20-24	44.9	31.5	14.0	9.4	0.1	100.0	3.5	54.6	10.2	30.9	0.9	100.0	354
25-29	50.5	35.4	10.6	3.2	0.3	100.0	6.4	73.6	4.8	14.6	0.6	100.0	630
30-34	51.5	37.2	9.8	1.6	0.0	100.0	6.8	74.2	7.1	11.3	0.5	100.0	531
35-39	51.5	38.5	8.8	0.8	0.4	100.0	6.0	78.2	8.5	6.9	0.4	100.0	566
40-44	58.5	33.5	7.6	0.0	0.5	100.0	11.8	74.4	8.1	4.8	0.9	100.0	382
45-49	55.6	33.6	9.0	1.1	0.7	100.0	10.7	70.2	9.6	8.2	1.2	100.0	298
Number of living children													
0	46.9	30.2	8.6	13.7	0.6	100.0	3.6	50.1	6.1	39.0	1.2	100.0	355
1-2	49.1	34.4	12.5	3.9	0.0	100.0	7.4	67.0	9.1	16.2	0.2	100.0	745
3-4	55.6	36.1	67	0.9	0.6	100.0	7.8	77.0	6.5	7.6	11	100.0	867
5+	52.1	36.4	10.8	0.5	0.2	100.0	7.2	76.0	8.1	8.2	0.6	100.0	893
Residence													
Urban	63.8	29.0	4.9	1.9	0.5	100.0	8.9	70.2	9.5	10.3	1.1	100.0	781
Rural	47.2	37.3	11.6	3.6	0.3	100.0	6.3	70.9	6.9	15.3	0.6	100.0	2,079
Region													
Puniab	52.5	37.9	5.8	3.4	0.3	100.0	6.9	70.0	9.1	13.3	0.7	100.0	1.768
Sindh	52.2	31.7	13.9	2.2	0.1	100.0	7.1	73.1	4.6	14.9	0.3	100.0	892
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	57.8	23.1	12.8	4 1	2.3	100.0	6.5	69.0	6.4	15.5	2.5	100.0	112
Balochistan	17.7	24.0	51.6	5.9	0.8	100.0	6.0	64.0	10.9	15.3	3.8	100.0	72
ICT Islamabad	51.6	38.3	8.6	14	0.0	100.0	13.7	61.1	18.9	5.6	0.7	100.0	11
Gilgit Baltistan	39.3	44.2	2.4	9.6	4.5	100.0	25.5	52.0	2.9	15.1	4.5	100.0	4
Education													
No education	47.5	37.2	11.8	3.1	0.4	100.0	5.4	73.2	7.6	12.9	0.8	100.0	1.930
Primary	61.8	27.2	7.0	3.5	0.5	100.0	3.8	70.1	6.2	19.5	0.5	100.0	395
Middle	54.0	37.8	7.5	0.3	0.5	100.0	9.0	68.9	10.4	11.2	0.6	100.0	120
Secondary	66.5	27.6	2.0	3.8	0.0	100.0	11.8	67.1	5.5	15.6	0.0	100.0	159
Higher	57.5	33.9	4.6	3.8	0.0	100.0	20.2	56.1	9.8	12.9	1.0	100.0	256
Wealth quintile													
Lowest	40.3	38.6	17.6	32	0.2	100.0	40	73.6	87	13.0	07	100.0	918
Second	51.6	38.3	7.3	24	0.4	100.0	7.8	72.0	7 1	12.7	0.4	100.0	642
Middle	56.2	36.2	6.1	12	0.3	100.0	6.5	70.5	6.1	16.0	1.0	100.0	534
Fourth	59.2	27.2	5.8	6.8	0.0	100.0	7.6	67.6	6.8	17.0	0.9	100.0	436
Highest	66.4	27.4	3.6	2.5	0.0	100.0	13.0	64.0	0.0	11.3	0.5	100.0	320
riigilest	00.4	27.4	5.0	2.5	0.0	100.0	13.9	04.9	9.5	11.5	0.0	100.0	523
Total	51.7	35.0	9.7	3.1	0.3	100.0	7.0	70.7	7.6	13.9	0.7	100.0	2,860

Table 13.2.1 shows the percent distribution of currently married women who received cash earnings in the 12 months before the survey, according to the person who controls their earnings and their perception of the magnitude of their earnings relative to those of their husband. A little over half (52 percent) of currently married women who earn cash said that they themselves mainly decide on how their earnings are spent, while more than one-third indicated that the decision is made jointly with their husbands and 10 percent reported that their husbands mainly make the decision alone.

The proportion of married women who mainly decide themselves how to use their earnings shows a slight tendency to increase with the age of the woman. Women with three to four children are more likely

to mainly decide how to use their cash earnings than women with one to two children and those with no children. Women's primary participation in the use of their own earnings varies by 17 percentage points between urban and rural areas. Educated women and those in the higher wealth quintiles are more likely than women with no education and those in the lower wealth quintiles to mainly make decisions on using their cash earnings.

There are regional variations in who makes decisions on how women's cash earnings are used. The proportion of married women who mainly decide on the use of their earnings is highest in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (58 percent) and lowest in Balochistan (18 percent). More than half of married women in Balochistan who earn cash for their work say that their husbands are the ones who mainly decide how their earnings are used.

Table 13.2.1 also shows women's perceptions of their cash earnings relative to their husbands' earnings. Among currently married women who earn cash, 71 percent say that they earn less than their husbands, 7 percent say that they earn more than their husbands, and 8 percent say that they earn about the same amount as their husbands. Thus, 15 percent of women who have cash earnings in Pakistan earn about the same as or more than their husbands. Fourteen percent of women say their husbands have no earnings.

The proportion of currently married women who are employed for cash and earn about the same as or more than their husbands generally increases with increasing age, wealth, and education and is higher among urban than rural women. ICT Islamabad has the highest proportion of married women earning the same as or more than their husbands (33 percent), followed by Gilgit Baltistan (28 percent).

13.3 CONTROL OVER HUSBANDS' EARNINGS

Currently married men age 15-49 who receive cash earnings were asked who—the men themselves, their wife, the husband and wife jointly, or someone else—mainly decides how their own cash earnings are used. In addition, currently married women were asked who decides how their husbands' cash earnings are used. Table 13.2.2 shows that 38 percent of men who receive cash earnings report that they decide jointly with their wives on how their earnings will be used, while 35 percent say they mainly make these decisions themselves. A small percentage of men say that decisions on how their earnings are used are mainly made by their wives (6 percent).

The proportion of men who have earnings and who say that they make decisions about the use of their earnings jointly with their wives increases from 18 percent in the 20-24 age group to 47 percent in the 35-39 age group and remains more or less constant in the older age cohorts. The proportion of men making decisions alone about the use of their income is higher in rural areas (39 percent) than in urban areas (28 percent). Men with a higher education and those in the highest wealth quintile tend to more often allow their wife to mainly make decisions or make decisions jointly with their wife rather than on their own.

The main decisionmaker regarding the use of men's earnings varies greatly by region. Decisionmaking by men alone is highest in Balochistan (71 percent), followed by Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (68 percent). It is interesting to note that 16 percent of men in Sindh reported that the prime decisionmakers on spending of their earnings are their wives, the highest proportion among all regions.

Table 13.2.2 also shows women's responses about who mainly makes decisions about how to use their husbands' earnings. Only currently married women whose husbands had cash earnings are included in this assessment. Nearly half (48 percent) of women whose husbands receive cash earnings say that they decide jointly with their husband about the use of his cash earnings, 9 percent say that they mainly decide by themselves, 40 percent say that their husband mainly decides alone, and 2 percent say that someone else decides.

Table 13.2.2 Control over men's cash earnings

	Men							Women						
	Pe	erson who cash e	decides ho arnings are	w husban e used:	ďs			Pe	erson who cash e	decides ho arnings are	w husbar e used:	ıd's		
Background characteristic	Mainly wife	Husband and wife jointly	Mainly husband	Other ¹	Missing	Total	Number of men	Mainly wife	Husband and wife jointly	Mainly husband	Other ¹	Missing	Total	Number of women
Age														
15-19	(0.0)	(5.1)	(18.2)	(76.7)	(0.0)	100.0	35	4.7	39.4	46.6	9.3	0.0	100.0	263
20-24	0.4	17.7	`28.0 [´]	` 53.9 [´]	`0.0 [´]	100.0	181	4.5	50.3	42.2	2.9	0.1	100.0	1,137
25-29	3.3	27.6	26.0	43.0	0.0	100.0	497	7.0	48.1	43.8	1.0	0.1	100.0	1,853
30-34	4.7	32.1	37.0	26.2	0.0	100.0	618	10.2	45.4	43.3	0.8	0.3	100.0	2,035
35-39	4.5	46.9	36.4	12.0	0.2	100.0	569	10.8	49.0	38.8	1.2	0.2	100.0	1,921
40-44	7.8	46.3	37.2	8.6	0.0	100.0	496	10.7	52.5	34.8	1.9	0.1	100.0	1,546
45-49	9.7	46.3	40.2	3.9	0.0	100.0	557	12.8	47.6	36.7	2.9	0.0	100.0	1,345
Number of living children														
0	3.6	22.8	22.8	50.9	0.0	100.0	423	5.1	43.6	47.4	3.8	0.1	100.0	901
1-2	4.7	35.5	30.2	29.6	0.0	100.0	861	8.1	49.6	40.3	1.9	0.1	100.0	2.649
3-4	5.4	45.0	36.6	12.9	0.1	100.0	905	11.2	49.3	37.9	1.3	0.2	100.0	3,214
5+	8.0	41.2	44.9	5.9	0.0	100.0	764	9.7	47.8	40.7	1.7	0.1	100.0	3,334
Residence														
Urban	12.3	42 7	27.5	17 4	0.0	100.0	1 075	11.5	51.2	35.8	12	04	100.0	3 488
Rural	1.7	35.4	39.2	23.7	0.0	100.0	1,878	8.2	46.9	42.7	2.1	0.0	100.0	6,611
Pagion														
Puniah	2.1	10.5	25.5	22.8	0.0	100.0	1 712	10.4	56 3	21.2	10	0.1	100.0	5 767
Sindh	16.1	26.9	25.5	22.0	0.0	100.0	7/0	7.5	42.7	/87	0.8	0.1	100.0	2 301
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	2.0	13.1	67.9	16.0	0.0	100.0	313	11.3	34.5	50.8	33	0.0	100.0	1 310
Balochistan	0.4	15.4	71 1	12.5	0.6	100.0	146	1.3	24.2	73.7	0.7	0.0	100.0	488
ICT Islamabad	4.3	34.9	35.6	25.2	0.0	100.0	17	10.2	50.8	37.6	0.6	0.8	100.0	54
Gilgit Baltistan	3.2	27.1	47.6	22.0	0.0	100.0	15	3.0	22.0	64.6	10.2	0.1	100.0	79
Education														
No education	4 1	39.2	37.6	19.0	0.1	100.0	832	86	45.8	43.5	20	0.1	100.0	6 017
Primary	67	38.0	31.9	23.4	0.0	100.0	626	10.3	51 7	36.3	17	0.0	100.0	1 508
Middle	3.1	39.3	35.2	22.4	0.0	100.0	496	11.3	51.0	36.6	0.9	0.2	100.0	686
Secondary	5.1	33.4	38.8	22.8	0.0	100.0	535	10.1	51.0	36.6	2.0	0.3	100.0	983
Higher	10.0	40.1	29.3	20.6	0.0	100.0	464	10.4	54.6	33.1	1.2	0.7	100.0	905
Wealth quintile														
Lowest	0.6	31.0	44 6	23.7	0.0	100.0	561	5.0	38.8	54 0	22	0.0	100.0	2 072
Second	2.5	41.6	36.9	18.9	0.0	100.0	521	87	50.0	39.4	1.6	0.0	100.0	2,072
Middle	44	38.5	34.1	23.0	0.0	100.0	530	10.6	51.3	36.0	21	0.0	100.0	1 948
Fourth	6.9	37.1	35.8	20.2	0.0	100.0	689	12.1	48.8	37.1	1.9	0.1	100.0	1 963
Highest	12.0	41.9	24.6	21.5	0.0	100.0	652	10.6	52.7	34.8	1.4	0.4	100.0	2,084
Total	5.6	38.1	34.9	21.4	0.0	100.0	2,953	9.4	48.4	40.3	1.8	0.1	100.0	10,099

Percent distributions of currently married men age 15-49 who receive cash earnings and of currently married women age 15-49 whose husbands receive cash earnings, by person who decides how husband's cash earnings are used, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

Note: Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases.

Includes family elders

A comparison between women's responses about the main decisionmaker regarding the use of their husbands' earnings and men's responses about the use of their own earnings shows variations. Men are much more likely than women to report that someone else in the family makes the decision on using their income (21 percent and 2 percent, respectively). In general, wives' participation in decisionmaking increases with increasing age, education, and wealth and is higher in urban areas.

The level of women's earnings relative to their husbands' earnings is expected to be associated with women's control over their own and their husbands' earnings. To examine this association, Table 13.3 shows the percent distribution of currently married women with cash earnings by the person who has the main say in the use of their earnings and the distribution of currently married women by the person who has the main say in the use of their husbands' earnings, according to women's perception of the size of their own earnings relative to their husbands' earnings.

Table 13.3 shows that women's participation in the use of their own and their husbands' earnings varies by their relative earnings; however, the variation is not necessarily as expected. Women who earn about the same as their husbands are more likely to jointly decide about the use of their own earnings (63 percent) and their husbands' earnings (67 percent) than women in other categories. Women who earn more

than their husbands are more likely than other women to be the main decisionmaker about the use of their husbands' earnings (17 percent), but it is surprising to note that women who earn more and women who earn less than their husbands are about equally likely to be the main decisionmakers about their own earnings (51 percent versus 54 percent, respectively). Women who worked but had no cash earnings and women who did not work are far less likely to have a say in how their husbands' earnings are used; close to half of these women say that their husbands mainly decide alone how to use their earnings.

Table 13.3 Women's control over their own earnings and over those of their husbands

Percent distribution of currently married women age 15-49 with cash earnings in the last 12 months by person who decides how the wife's cash earnings are used and percent distribution of currently married women age 15-49 whose husbands have cash earnings by person who decides how the husband's cash earnings are used, according to the relation between wife's and husband's cash earnings, Pakistan 2012-13

	Person v	vho decide	h earnings			Person who decides how husband's cash earnings are used:								
Women's earnings relative to husband's earnings	Mainly wife	Wife and husband jointly	Mainly husband	Other	Missing	Total	Number of women	Mainly wife	Wife and husband jointly	Mainly husband	Other	Missing	Total	Number of women
More than husband	50.5 54 2	36.0 35 1	12.3 10 1	1.1 0.6	0.0	100.0 100.0	200 2 023	16.7 9.2	48.7 56.5	31.6 34 1	3.0 0.3	0.0	100.0 100.0	200 2 023
Same as husband Husband has no cash	24.5	62.7	11.6	1.2	0.0	100.0	218	8.5	66.9	24.3	0.3	0.0	100.0	218
earnings or did not work Woman worked but has	56.3	20.5	5.2	17.9	0.0	100.0	398	na	na	na	na	na	na	0
no cash earnings	na	na	na	na	na	na	0	5.1	44.2	48.1	2.5	0.0	100.0	652
Woman did not work	na	na	na	na	na	na	0	9.6	45.9	42.1	2.2	0.2	100.0	6,986
Total ¹	51.7	35.0	9.7	3.1	0.3	100.0	2,860	9.4	48.4	40.3	1.8	0.1	100.0	10,099

na = Not applicable

Includes cases where a woman does not know whether she earned more or less than her husband

13.4 WOMEN'S AND MEN'S OWNERSHIP OF SELECTED ASSETS

Ownership of assets, particularly high-value assets, has many beneficial effects for households, including protection against financial ruin. Women's individual ownership of assets provides economic empowerment and protection in the case of marital dissolution or abandonment. The 2012-13 PDHS collected information on women's and men's ownership (alone, jointly, and alone and jointly) of two high-value assets, namely land and a house.

As shown in Table 13.4.1, 89 percent of ever-married women age 15-49 do not own a house, and 96 percent do not own any land. Two percent each of women own a house alone and land alone, with the percentage of land ownership similar to that found in a NIPS study focusing on the status of women (NIPS, 2007). Women who own houses tend to own them jointly with someone else. Overall, only 11 percent of ever-married women in Pakistan own a house alone or jointly.

The proportion of women who do not own a house shows little variation by age and residence, although it tends to decline slightly as education and wealth quintile increase. Variation by region, however, is strong. Women in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa and Gilgit Baltistan are far more likely to own a house (mainly jointly) than women in other regions.

A higher proportion of men than women in Pakistan own a house or land. As shown in Table 13.4.2, 40 percent of ever-married men age 15-49 own a house alone, and 34 percent own a house jointly with someone else (as compared with only 2 percent and 7 percent of women, respectively). Similarly, 31 percent of men own land either alone or jointly, as compared with only 4 percent of women. Women's disadvantage relative to men in asset ownership is evident in every demographic and socioeconomic category (Tables 13.4.1 and 13.4.2).

Table 13.4.1 Ownership of assets: Women

Percent distribution of ever-married women age 15-49 by ownership of housing and land, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Perc	entage who a house:	o own			Percentage who own land:		_					
Background characteristic	Alone	Jointly	Alone and jointly	Percentage who do not own a house	Missing	Total	Alone	Jointly	Alone and jointly	Percentage who do not own land	Missing	Total	Number of women
Age													
15-19	1.7	8.7	1.5	88.2	0.0	100.0	2.1	2.4	0.0	95.4	0.1	100.0	605
20-24	1.0	6.6	1.1	91.3	0.1	100.0	1.6	1.2	0.2	96.9	0.1	100.0	2.106
25-29	1.0	7.0	0.8	91.2	0.0	100.0	1.5	1.7	0.0	96.7	0.1	100.0	2,724
30-34	2.0	6.5	1.7	89.6	0.2	100.0	2.5	1.5	0.2	95.6	0.2	100.0	2,528
35-39	1.8	7.4	1.3	89.3	0.2	100.0	1.2	2.5	0.2	95.9	0.2	100.0	2,226
40-44	4.2	8.3	1.3	86.1	0.0	100.0	2.8	1.9	0.1	95.2	0.1	100.0	1,766
45-49	3.2	9.3	2.1	85.4	0.1	100.0	2.7	2.0	0.0	95.0	0.2	100.0	1,602
Residence													
Urban	3.1	6.7	1.4	88.5	0.3	100.0	1.8	1.1	0.1	96.6	0.3	100.0	4,536
Rural	1.5	7.8	1.3	89.4	0.0	100.0	2.0	2.1	0.1	95.6	0.1	100.0	9,022
Region													
Puniab	2.2	0.8	1.1	95.9	0.1	100.0	2.8	0.4	0.0	96.7	0.1	100.0	7.790
Sindh	2.2	5.8	2.3	89.5	0.2	100.0	0.6	0.6	0.1	98.5	0.2	100.0	3,133
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	1.5	36.7	0.7	61.0	0.1	100.0	1.0	7.1	0.3	91.5	0.1	100.0	1,908
Balochistan	0.9	5.3	1.1	92.6	0.0	100.0	1.2	4.9	0.9	92.9	0.1	100.0	568
ICT Islamabad	3.9	4.2	4.8	86.4	0.7	100.0	6.4	2.0	0.6	90.1	0.9	100.0	64
Gilgit Baltistan	1.0	33.9	0.0	65.1	0.0	100.0	1.1	33.1	0.0	65.7	0.0	100.0	94
Education													
No education	1.3	7.8	1.3	89.6	0.0	100.0	1.3	2.0	0.1	96.5	0.1	100.0	7,736
Primary	1.9	5.4	1.5	91.2	0.0	100.0	1.7	1.3	0.0	96.8	0.2	100.0	2,156
Middle	2.4	5.2	1.1	91.3	0.1	100.0	2.2	1.7	0.1	96.0	0.1	100.0	993
Secondary	3.2	7.9	1.3	87.4	0.2	100.0	2.9	1.5	0.2	95.2	0.2	100.0	1,413
Higher	5.4	9.9	1.3	82.9	0.5	100.0	5.2	1.9	0.2	92.2	0.5	100.0	1,260
Wealth quintile													
Lowest	0.6	5.2	0.8	93.4	0.0	100.0	1.0	1.9	0.2	96.9	0.0	100.0	2,589
Second	1.8	9.1	2.2	86.8	0.0	100.0	2.0	2.4	0.0	95.4	0.1	100.0	2,676
Middle	1.8	7.7	1.2	89.2	0.0	100.0	1.2	1.3	0.2	97.1	0.1	100.0	2,700
Fourth	1.6	6.3	1.0	91.0	0.1	100.0	1.2	1.6	0.1	97.0	0.1	100.0	2,789
Highest	4.2	8.7	1.4	85.4	0.3	100.0	4.3	1.7	0.2	93.5	0.3	100.0	2,804
Total	2.0	7.4	1.3	89.1	0.1	100.0	2.0	1.8	0.1	96.0	0.1	100.0	13,558

Table 13.4.2 Ownership of assets: Men

i.

Percent distribution of ever-married men age 15-49 by ownership of housing and land, according to background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Perc	entage who	o own										
_		a house:		Percentage			Percent	age who o	wn land:	_			
Background characteristic	Alone	Jointly	Alone and jointly	who do not own a house	Missing	Total	Alone	Jointly	Alone and jointly	Percentage who do not own land	Missing	Total	Number
Age													
15-19	(16.7)	(42.2)	(2.8)	(38.3)	(0.0)	100.0	(0.0)	(13.0)	(0.0)	(87.0)	(0.0)	100.0	36
20-24	24.4	`43.3 [´]	1.5	`30.7 [´]	`0.1 [′]	100.0	¥.6	`21.6 [´]	0.6	` 73.0 [´]	`0.1 [′]	100.0	219
25-29	23.9	45.3	1.6	29.1	0.0	100.0	5.2	20.7	1.2	72.8	0.0	100.0	521
30-34	35.6	37.1	1.6	25.7	0.0	100.0	12.9	17.3	1.3	68.5	0.0	100.0	646
35-39	38.4	36.1	1.6	23.9	0.0	100.0	10.6	17.5	0.8	71.1	0.0	100.0	588
40-44	51.0	26.6	1.0	21.5	0.0	100.0	21.1	15.4	0.8	62.7	0.0	100.0	530
45-49	56.8	22.2	0.9	20.2	0.0	100.0	21.0	10.4	0.5	68.0	0.0	100.0	594
Residence													
Urban	27.2	34.3	1.5	37.0	0.0	100.0	9.2	9.0	0.6	81.2	0.0	100.0	1,107
Rural	46.7	34.1	1.3	17.9	0.0	100.0	15.7	20.7	1.1	62.6	0.0	100.0	2,027
Region													
Punjab	39.3	35.8	0.6	24.3	0.0	100.0	14.8	16.7	0.1	68.4	0.0	100.0	1,804
Sindh	39.3	32.1	0.9	27.7	0.0	100.0	7.1	13.4	0.5	79.0	0.0	100.0	796
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	36.9	37.0	4.5	21.6	0.0	100.0	11.6	22.4	4.5	61.6	0.0	100.0	347
Balochistan	54.8	18.9	5.5	20.5	0.2	100.0	31.3	14.4	3.6	50.5	0.2	100.0	151
ICT Islamabad	39.1	29.1	2.6	28.6	0.6	100.0	12.2	26.5	3.2	57.8	0.3	100.0	18
Gilgit Baltistan	47.2	35.0	0.3	17.5	0.0	100.0	38.4	36.9	0.6	24.2	0.0	100.0	18
Education													
No education	47.4	26.0	0.8	25.8	0.0	100.0	15.6	10.8	0.6	73.0	0.0	100.0	905
Primary	42.0	33.4	1.1	23.4	0.0	100.0	11.3	16.3	0.8	71.6	0.0	100.0	657
Middle	32.0	41.1	1.4	25.5	0.0	100.0	15.5	17.8	0.8	65.9	0.0	100.0	525
Secondary	35.6	40.2	2.0	22.1	0.0	100.0	11.8	22.5	0.9	64.8	0.0	100.0	557
Higher	35.8	36.1	2.0	26.1	0.0	100.0	11.6	19.4	1.7	67.3	0.0	100.0	491
Wealth quintile													
Lowest	51.3	26.0	0.7	22.0	0.0	100.0	17.4	12.7	0.3	69.5	0.0	100.0	607
Second	46.7	28.1	0.6	24.6	0.0	100.0	15.4	15.8	0.8	68.0	0.0	100.0	574
Middle	43.7	32.6	2.1	21.5	0.1	100.0	13.1	17.8	1.3	67.7	0.1	100.0	567
Fourth	35.8	37.6	1.4	25.2	0.0	100.0	8.8	20.5	0.9	69.8	0.0	100.0	713
Highest	24.5	44.4	1.9	29.2	0.0	100.0	13.2	15.4	1.1	70.3	0.0	100.0	673
Total	39.8	34.2	1.4	24.7	0.0	100.0	13.4	16.5	0.9	69.2	0.0	100.0	3,134
Note: Figures in parenth	leses are	based on 2	25-49 unw	eighted cases									

Ownership of land and a house among men increases with age. The proportions of older women and older men owning these high-value assets alone are vastly different. For example, only 3 percent of women age 45-49 own a house and/or land alone (Table 13.4.1), whereas 57 percent of men age 45-49 own a house alone and 21 percent own land alone. Rural men are more likely than urban men to own either asset. Men in rural areas are more likely than men in urban areas to solely own a house (47 percent) and land (16 percent). Men's sole ownership of a house decreases considerably with increasing education (from 47 percent among those with no education to 36 percent among those with a higher education), while joint ownership rises. This pattern is not evident in the case of land ownership. While sole ownership of a house decreases with wealth, joint ownership increases. Sole ownership of a house among men is highest in Balochistan (55 percent), and sole ownership of land is highest in Gilgit Baltistan (38 percent).

13.5 WOMEN'S PARTICIPATION IN DECISIONMAKING

The ability of women to make decisions that affect their personal circumstances is an essential element of their empowerment and serves as an important contributor to their overall development. To assess currently married women's decisionmaking autonomy, the 2012-13 PDHS collected information on their participation in three types of decisions: their own health care, making major household purchases, and visits to family or relatives. To provide an understanding of gender differences in household decisionmaking, currently married men were asked about their participation in decisions about their own health care and major household purchases. Table 13.5 shows the percent distribution of currently married women and men according to the person in the household who usually makes decisions concerning these matters. Women are considered to participate in decisionmaking if they make decisions alone or jointly with their husbands.

Table 13.5 Participation in deci	Table 13.5 Participation in decisionmaking								
Percent distribution of currently married women and currently married men age 15-49 by person who usually makes decisions about various issues, Pakistan 2012-13									
Decision	Mainly wife	Wife and husband jointly	Mainly husband	Someone else ¹	Missing	Total	Number of women		
WOMEN									
Own health care	11.1	40.8	30.5	17.5	0.1	100.0	12,937		
Major household purchases	7.8	39.2	28.6	24.3	0.1	100.0	12,937		
Visits to her family or relatives	8.7	41.2	26.2	23.8	0.1	100.0	12,937		
			MEN						
Own health care	4.5	46.3	28.8	20.3	0.0	100.0	3,071		
Major household purchases	1.3	45.4	29.3	24.1	0.0	100.0	3,071		
¹ Includes family elders									

As shown in Table 13.5, 11 percent of married women say they mainly make decisions themselves regarding their own health care. On the contrary, 29 percent of men say they mainly make decisions themselves regarding their own health care. Eight percent of women and 29 percent of men say that they alone make decisions about major household purchases. Only 9 percent of women decide on their own regarding visits to their family or relatives. This finding depicts the typical Pakistani culture wherein the role of the family is very important and the practice of men and women making sole decisions is rare. About two in five women and men reported making joint decisions with their spouse regarding health care, the purchase of major household items, and, in the case of women, visits to her family and relatives. The role of other family members in such decisionmaking is also quite prominent.

Women may have a say in some but not other decisions. The total number of decisions in which a woman participates (i.e., she mainly makes decisions or does so jointly with her husband) is one simple measure of her empowerment. Figure 13.1 presents the percentage of currently married women according to the number of decisions in which they participate. Thirty-nine percent of married women say they do not participate in any of the three decisions, while 12 percent participate in only one decision, 11 percent participate in two decisions, and 38 percent participate in all three decisions.

Figure 13.1 Number of decisions in which currently married women participate

Percent of women



Table 13.6.1 shows how currently married women's participation (alone or jointly) in decisionmaking varies by background characteristics. The table presents the results for the three specific types of decisions asked about, namely the woman's own health care, making major household purchases, and visits to her family or relatives. In addition, the table includes two summary indicators: the proportion of women involved in making all three decisions and the proportion not involved in making any of the three decisions.

Table 13.6.1 shows that, overall, about half of married women participate in decisions regarding their own health care and visits to their family or relatives, and 47 percent participate in making major household purchases; however, only 38 percent report taking part in all three decisions.

The percentage of married women participating in all three decisions tends to increase with age (from 10 percent to 56 percent). Half of women who are employed for cash take part in all three decisions, while women who are employed but do not earn cash (32 percent) and women who are not employed (35 percent) are less likely take part in all three decisions. Women in urban areas are more likely to participate in all three decisions (46 percent) than women in rural areas (35 percent). Women's participation in all three decisions ranges from a low of 18 percent in Balochistan to a high of 45 percent in ICT Islamabad. Differentials by number of children show that participation of women in all three decisions increases with increasing number of children. Participation in all three decisions varies minimally by education, although it is higher among women with a higher education. Forty-four percent of women in the highest wealth quintile participate in all three decisions, as compared with 29 percent of women in the lowest wealth quintile.

At the provincial level, there is little urban-rural variation in women's participation in decisionmaking in Punjab and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (Table 13.6.1). However, differences with respect to participating in all three decisions are more prominent in Sindh (49 percent in urban areas versus 23 percent in rural areas) and Balochistan (26 percent in urban areas versus 16 percent in rural areas).

Table 13.6.1 Women's participation in decisionmaking by background characteristics

Percentage of currently married women age 15-49 who usually make specific decisions either by themselves or jointly with their husband, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

Woman's characteristic Making major yurchases Visits to her fealitives None of the decisions None of the three decisions Nome of the women Age 15-19 25.7 14.9 18.2 9.6 65.5 594 20-24 35.3 27.8 30.4 21.1 57.1 2.053 30-34 53.5 48.3 52.1 38.8 36.4 2.44 45.49 66.2 66.4 68.3 56.2 22.4 1.4119 Employment (last 12 months) Not employed 48.4 59.6 62.0 49.8 26.2 2.880 Not employed for cash 42.8 40.4 49.9 32.2 46.3 82.6 21-2 47.0 40.7 42.3 30.0 3.580 Employed for cash 42.8 40.4 49.3 32.2 46.3 30.0 3.580 Region Number of living children 0 33.4 23.7 77.2 18.5 43.0 8.833 Region Number of 55.2		Specific decisions									
Background own health purchases Number of purchases All three relatives three decisions three women Age 15:19 25.7 14.9 18.2 9.6 65.5 594 20:24 35.3 27.8 30.4 21.1 57.1 2.053 25:29 45.6 36.4 39.9 23.1 44.8 2.663 30:34 60.5 56.7 60.4 48.0 22.9 2.137 40:44 66.2 66.2 69.9 55.3 22.4 1.617 40:44 66.2 66.4 68.3 56.2 2.33 1.617 45.49 66.9 65.2 69.9 55.3 22.4 1.617 57 14.9 9.235 Employed not cash 64.8 55.6 62.0 48.8 22.2 2.600 Employed not cash 64.8 55.6 62.0 48.8 22.2 2.600 12 47.0 40.7 42.3 32.2 44.3 3.63 <td>-</td> <td>Woman's</td> <td>Making major</td> <td>Visits to her</td> <td></td> <td>None of the</td> <td></td>	-	Woman's	Making major	Visits to her		None of the					
characteristic care purchases relatives decisions decisions women Age 15-19 25.7 14.9 18.2 9.6 65.5 594 20-24 33.3 27.8 30.4 21.1 57.1 2.053 30-34 53.5 44.3 52.1 38.8 36.4 2.463 33-39 60.5 56.7 60.4 48.0 29.9 2.137 40-44 66.2 66.4 68.3 56.2 2.3.4 1.617 47.44 66.2 66.4 68.3 56.2 2.89 53.3 22.2 46.3 828 Not employed for cash 42.8 40.4 44.9 32.2 44.3 828 Number of living children 0 33.4 23.7 27.7 18.5 59.3 1.728 1-2 47.0 40.7 42.3 32.2 44.1 3.866 3-4 55.6 64.9 57.7 45.1 3	Background	own health	household	family or	All three	three	Number of				
Age 15.19 25.1 14.2 96 65.5 544 15.19 25.3 27.8 30.4 21.1 57.1 2.053 25.29 45.6 38.4 39.9 29.1 44.8 2.663 30:34 55.5 48.3 52.1 38.8 36.4 2.454 35:39 60.5 56.7 60.4 48.0 2.9.9 2.137 40:44 66.2 66.4 66.3 56.2 23.4 1.617 45.49 66.8 56.6 62.0 48.8 43.7 46.7 55.2 41.9 9.235 Employed for cash 42.8 40.4 44.9 32.2 46.3 828 Numeer of living children 0 3.4 23.7 27.2 18.5 59.3 1.728 1-2 47.0 40.7 42.3 32.2 44.1 3.565 6.7 60.9 46.9 30.0 3.580 Residence Urban <td>characteristic</td> <td>care</td> <td>purchases</td> <td>relatives</td> <td>decisions</td> <td>decisions</td> <td>women</td>	characteristic	care	purchases	relatives	decisions	decisions	women				
15-19 25.7 14.9 18.2 9.6 65.5 504 20-24 36.3 27.8 30.4 21.1 57.1 2.053 30-34 53.5 48.3 52.1 38.8 36.4 2.454 35-39 60.5 56.7 60.4 48.0 29.9 2.137 40-44 66.2 66.4 68.3 56.2 2.3 1.617 45-49 66.9 65.2 69.9 55.3 22.4 1.1419 Employed for cash 64.8 50.6 62.0 49.8 25.2 2.860 Mott employed for cash 64.8 50.6 62.0 49.8 25.2 2.860 Employed for cash 64.8 50.6 62.0 49.8 25.2 2.860 St 59.1 56.7 60.9 30.0 3.580 Farloy and for cash 42.8 40.4 44.9 30.0 3.580 Rural 47.5 42.9 45.8 34.5	Age										
20-24 35.3 27.8 30.4 21.1 57.1 2.053 30-34 53.5 48.3 52.1 38.8 36.4 2.454 30-34 66.5 56.7 60.4 48.0 29.9 2.137 40-44 66.2 66.4 68.3 56.2 23.4 1.617 45-49 66.9 65.2 69.9 55.3 22.4 1.719 Employed for cash 64.8 56.6 62.0 49.8 25.2 2.860 Employed for cash 64.8 56.6 62.0 49.8 25.2 2.860 Employed for cash 42.8 40.4 44.9 32.2 46.3 828 Number of living children	15-19	25.7	14.9	18.2	9.6	65.5	594				
25-29 45.6 38.4 39.9 29.1 44.8 2,663 30-34 55.5 46.3 52.1 38.8 36.4 2,464 35-39 60.5 56.7 60.4 48.0 29.9 2,137 45-49 66.9 65.2 69.9 55.3 22.4 1,419 Employed for cash 64.8 59.6 62.0 49.8 25.2 2,860 Employed for cash 42.8 40.4 44.9 32.2 46.3 828 Number of living children 77.2 7.2 18.5 59.3 1,728 1-2 47.0 40.7 42.3 32.2 44.1 3,865 3-4 58.6 54.9 57.7 45.1 31.3 3,772 5+ 59.1 56.7 60.9 46.9 30.0 3,580 Rural 47.5 42.9 48.8 34.5 43.0 8,633 Rural 47.5 52.2 58.3 45.6 2,73 2,402 Rural 47.5 27.3 2,402 <td>20-24</td> <td>35.3</td> <td>27.8</td> <td>30.4</td> <td>21.1</td> <td>57.1</td> <td>2,053</td>	20-24	35.3	27.8	30.4	21.1	57.1	2,053				
30-34 53.5 48.3 52.1 38.8 36.4 2.454 35-39 60.5 56.7 60.4 48.0 29.9 2.137 40-44 66.2 66.4 68.3 56.2 23.4 1.617 45-49 66.9 65.2 69.9 56.3 22.4 1.191 Pemployment (last 12 months) Employed for cash 64.8 59.6 62.0 49.8 25.2 2.860 Employed for cash 42.8 40.4 44.9 32.2 46.3 828 Number of living children 0 3.3 2.3.7 27.2 1.8.5 59.3 1.728 3.4 2.6.6 54.9 57.7 45.1 31.3 3.727 5+ 5.4 59.1 56.7 60.9 46.9 30.0 3.580 Residence Urban 60.7 55.2 58.3 34.5 43.0 8.633 Punjab 58.3 54.7 56.4 44.1 31.0 7.374 Urban 61.3 58.5 60.5 47.5 <t< td=""><td>25-29</td><td>45.6</td><td>38.4</td><td>39.9</td><td>29.1</td><td>44.8</td><td>2,663</td></t<>	25-29	45.6	38.4	39.9	29.1	44.8	2,663				
35-39 60.5 56.7 60.4 48.0 29.9 2,137 45-49 66.9 65.2 69.9 55.3 22.4 1,419 Employed (1st 12 months) Not employed 48.8 43.7 46.7 35.2 41.9 9,235 Employed for cash 64.8 59.6 62.0 49.8 25.2 2,860 Employed for cash 42.8 40.4 44.9 32.2 46.3 828 Number of living children 0 33.4 23.7 27.2 18.5 59.3 1,728 1-2 47.0 40.7 42.3 32.2 44.1 3,866 3-4 58.6 54.9 57.7 45.1 31.3 3,772 5+ 59.1 56.7 60.9 46.9 30.0 3,580 Residence Urban 60.7 55.2 58.3 45.6 29.5 4,304 Rural 47.5 42.9 45.8 34.4 42.5 32.8 4,972 Sindh 51.7 41.4 44.0 35.1 <td< td=""><td>30-34</td><td>53.5</td><td>48.3</td><td>52.1</td><td>38.8</td><td>36.4</td><td>2,454</td></td<>	30-34	53.5	48.3	52.1	38.8	36.4	2,454				
40-44 66.2 66.4 68.3 56.2 23.4 1,617 45-49 66.9 65.2 69.9 55.3 22.4 1,419 Employed mot for cash 64.8 59.6 62.0 49.8 25.2 2,860 Employed for cash 64.8 59.6 62.0 49.8 25.2 2,860 Number of living children 0 33.4 23.7 27.2 18.5 59.3 1,728 0 33.4 23.7 27.2 18.5 59.3 1,728 1,2 3-4 58.6 64.9 57.7 45.1 31.3 3,772 5+ 59.1 56.7 60.9 46.9 30.0 3,580 Residence Urban 60.7 55.2 58.3 45.6 29.5 4,304 8633 Rural 47.5 42.9 45.8 34.5 49.0 8633 8633 Rural 61.3 58.5 50.5 47.5 27.3 2,402 Rural 51.7 41.4 48.0 35.1 40.2 30.	35-39	60.5	56.7	60.4	48.0	29.9	2,137				
45-49 66.9 65.2 69.9 55.3 22.4 1,419 Employment (last 12 months) Not employed 48.8 43.7 46.7 35.2 41.9 9,235 Employed for cash 64.8 59.6 62.0 49.8 25.2 2,860 Number of living children 0 33.4 23.7 27.2 18.5 59.3 1,728 1-2 47.0 40.7 42.3 32.2 44.1 3,856 3-4 58.6 54.9 57.7 45.1 31.3 3,772 St+ 59.1 56.7 60.9 46.9 30.0 3,580 Rural 47.5 42.9 45.8 43.0 8,633 Region 7 75.2 58.3 45.6 1,432 Punjab 58.3 54.7 56.4 44.1 31.0 7,374 Urban 61.3 58.5 60.5 47.5 27.3 2,402 Rural 37.5 27.6 35.9 22.6 55.1 3002 Urban 67.1	40-44	66.2	66.4	68.3	56.2	23.4	1,617				
Employeent (last 12 months) Not employed for cash 64.8 59.6 62.0 49.8 25.2 2.8600 Employed for cash 64.8 59.6 62.0 49.8 25.2 2.8600 Number of living children 0 33.4 23.7 27.2 18.5 59.3 1,728 1-2 47.0 40.7 42.3 32.2 44.1 3.856 3-4 58.6 54.9 57.7 45.1 31.3 3.772 5+ 59.1 56.7 60.9 46.9 30.0 3.580 Residence Urban 60.7 55.2 58.3 45.6 29.5 4.304 Rural 47.5 42.9 45.8 34.5 43.0 8.633 Region	45-49	66.9	65.2	69.9	55.3	22.4	1,419				
Notemployed 48.8 43.7 46.7 35.2 41.9 9.235 Employed not for cash 42.8 40.4 44.9 32.2 46.3 828 Number of living children 0 33.4 23.7 27.2 18.5 59.3 1.728 1-2 47.0 40.7 42.3 32.2 44.1 3.866 3-4 58.6 54.9 57.7 45.1 31.3 3.772 5+ 59.1 56.7 60.9 46.9 30.0 3.680 Residence Utban 60.7 55.2 58.3 45.6 29.5 4.304 Rural 47.5 42.9 45.8 34.5 43.0 8.633 Region	Employment (last 12 months)										
Employed for cash 64.8 59.6 62.0 49.8 25.2 2,660 Number of living children 33.4 23.7 27.2 18.5 59.3 1,728 1-2 47.0 40.7 42.3 32.2 44.1 3856 3-4 58.6 54.9 57.7 45.1 31.3 3,772 5+ 59.1 56.7 60.9 46.9 30.0 3,880 Residence Urban 60.7 55.2 58.3 45.6 29.5 4,304 Rural 47.5 42.9 45.8 34.5 43.0 8,633 Region Punjab 58.3 54.7 56.4 44.1 31.0 7,374 Urban 61.3 58.5 60.5 47.5 27.3 2,402 Rural 51.7 41.4 48.0 35.1 40.2 3,002 Urban 67.1 56.5 61.3 48.8 25.6 1,432 Rural <td< td=""><td>Not employed</td><td>48.8</td><td>43.7</td><td>46.7</td><td>35.2</td><td>41.9</td><td>9,235</td></td<>	Not employed	48.8	43.7	46.7	35.2	41.9	9,235				
Employed not for cash42.840.444.932.246.3828Number of living children033.423.727.218.559.31,7281-247.040.742.332.244.13,8563-458.654.957.745.131.33,7725+59.156.760.946.930.03,580ResidenceUrban60.755.258.345.629.54,304Rural47.542.945.834.543.08,633RegionPunjab58.354.756.444.131.07,374Urban61.358.560.547.527.32,402Rural56.852.854.442.532.84,972Sindh51.741.448.035.140.23,002Urban67.156.561.348.825.61,432Rural35.333.534.925.653.51,570Khyber Pakhtunkhwa35.333.934.926.456.51,547Balcchistan24.821.324.518.070.3553Urban36.431.634.522.055.1308Rural22.519.022.315.972.9443ICT Islamabad60.961.262.645.122.962Gigit Baltistan41.431.1	Employed for cash	64.8	59.6	62.0	49.8	25.2	2,860				
Number of living children033.423.727.218.559.31,7281-234.7.040.742.332.244.13,8563-458.654.957.745.131.33,7725+59.156.760.930.03,580ResidenceUrban60.755.258.345.629.54,304Rural47.542.945.834.543.08,633RegionPunjab58.354.756.444.131.07,374Rural56.852.854.442.532.84,972Sindh51.741.448.035.140.23,002Rural56.852.854.442.532.84,972Sindh51.741.448.035.140.23,002Wural37.527.635.922.653.51,570Khyber Pakhtunkhwa36.333.534.925.866.31,855Urban35.431.634.523.055.1308Rural35.333.934.925.64.342IUrban35.431.634.522.962Gilgit Baltistan41.431.144.725.049.291ICT Islamabad60.961.262.645.122.962Gilgit Baltistan41.431.144.725.049.2 <t< td=""><td>Employed not for cash</td><td>42.8</td><td>40.4</td><td>44.9</td><td>32.2</td><td>46.3</td><td>828</td></t<>	Employed not for cash	42.8	40.4	44.9	32.2	46.3	828				
0 33.4 23.7 27.2 18.5 59.3 1.728 1-2 47.0 40.7 42.3 32.2 44.1 3.856 3-4 58.6 54.9 57.7 45.1 31.3 3.772 5+ 59.1 56.7 60.9 46.9 30.0 3.580 Residence Urban 60.7 55.2 58.3 45.6 29.5 4.304 Rural 47.5 42.9 45.8 34.5 43.0 8.633 Region	Number of living children										
1-2 47.0 40.7 42.3 32.2 44.1 3.856 3-4 58.6 54.9 57.7 45.1 31.3 3.772 5+ 59.1 56.7 60.9 46.9 30.0 3.580 Residence Urban 60.7 55.2 58.3 45.6 29.5 4.304 Rural 47.5 42.9 45.8 34.5 43.0 8.633 Punjab 58.3 54.7 56.4 44.1 31.0 7.374 Urban 61.3 58.5 60.5 47.5 27.3 2.402 Rural 56.8 52.8 54.4 42.5 32.8 4.972 Sindh 51.7 41.4 48.0 35.1 40.2 3.002 Urban 67.1 56.5 61.3 48.8 25.6 1.432 Rural 35.3 33.5 34.9 25.8 56.3 1.855 Urban 35.4 31.6 34.5 23.0 55.1 308 Rural 25	0	33.4	23.7	27.2	18.5	59.3	1,728				
3-458.654.957.745.131.33.772 $5+$ 59.156.760.946.930.03,580ResidenceUrban60.755.258.345.629.54,304Rural47.542.945.834.543.08,633RegionPunjab58.354.756.444.131.07,374Urban61.358.560.547.527.32,402Rural56.852.854.442.532.84,972Sindh51.741.448.035.140.23,002Urban67.156.561.348.825.61,432Rural37.527.635.922.653.51,570Khyber Pakhtunkhwa35.333.534.925.856.31,855Urban34.130.333.226.456.51,547Balochistan24.821.324.518.070.3553Urban34.130.333.226.259.6110Rural22.519.022.315.972.9443ICT Islamabad60.961.262.645.122.962Gilgit Battistan41.431.144.725.049.291Education48.644.847.737.042.37,347Niddle54.851.738.036.82,0571,225 </td <td>1-2</td> <td>47.0</td> <td>40.7</td> <td>42.3</td> <td>32.2</td> <td>44.1</td> <td>3,856</td>	1-2	47.0	40.7	42.3	32.2	44.1	3,856				
5+ 59.1 56.7 60.9 46.9 30.0 3,580 Residence Urban 60.7 55.2 58.3 45.6 29.5 4,304 Rural 47.5 42.9 45.8 34.5 43.0 8,633 Region Punjab 58.3 54.7 56.4 44.1 31.0 7,374 Urban 61.3 58.5 60.5 47.5 27.3 2,402 Rural 56.8 52.8 54.4 42.5 32.8 4,972 Sindh 51.7 41.4 48.0 35.1 40.2 3,002 Urban 67.1 56.5 61.3 48.8 25.6 1,432 Rural 37.5 27.6 35.9 22.6 53.5 1,570 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 35.3 33.5 34.9 26.4 56.5 1,547 Balochistan 24.8 21.3 24.5 18.0 70.3 553 Urban 34.1	3-4	58.6	54.9	57.7	45.1	31.3	3,772				
Residence Utban 60.7 55.2 58.3 45.6 29.5 4,304 Rural 47.5 42.9 45.8 34.5 43.0 8,633 Region -<	5+	59.1	56.7	60.9	46.9	30.0	3,580				
Urban 60.7 55.2 58.3 45.6 29.5 4,304 Rural 47.5 42.9 45.8 34.5 43.0 8,633 Region -	Residence										
Rural 47.5 42.9 45.8 34.5 43.0 8,633 Punjab 58.3 54.7 56.4 44.1 31.0 7,374 Urban 61.3 58.5 60.5 47.5 27.3 2,402 Rural 56.8 52.8 54.4 42.5 32.8 4,972 Sindh 51.7 41.4 48.0 35.1 40.2 3,002 Urban 67.1 56.5 61.3 48.8 25.6 1,432 Rural 37.5 27.6 35.9 22.6 53.5 1,570 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 35.3 33.5 34.9 26.4 56.5 1,547 Balochistan 24.8 21.3 24.5 18.0 70.3 553 Urban 34.1 30.3 33.2 26.2 59.6 110 Rural 22.5 19.0 22.3 15.9 72.9 443 ICT Islamabad 60.9 61.2 62.6	Urban	60.7	55.2	58.3	45.6	29.5	4,304				
Region Punjab 58.3 54.7 56.4 44.1 31.0 7.374 Urban 61.3 58.5 60.5 47.5 27.3 2,402 Rural 56.8 52.8 54.4 42.5 32.8 4,972 Sindh 51.7 41.4 48.0 35.1 40.2 3,002 Urban 67.1 56.5 61.3 48.8 25.6 1,432 Rural 37.5 27.6 35.9 22.6 53.5 1,570 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 35.3 33.5 34.9 25.8 56.3 1,855 Urban 35.4 31.6 34.5 23.0 55.1 308 Rural 35.3 33.9 34.9 26.4 56.5 1,547 Balochistan 24.8 21.3 24.5 18.0 70.3 553 Urban 34.1 30.3 33.2 26.2 59.6 110 Rural 22.5 19.0	Rural	47.5	42.9	45.8	34.5	43.0	8,633				
Punjab 58.3 54.7 56.4 44.1 31.0 7,374 Urban 61.3 58.5 60.5 47.5 27.3 2,402 Rural 56.8 52.8 54.4 42.5 32.8 4,972 Sindh 51.7 41.4 48.0 35.1 40.2 3,002 Urban 67.1 56.5 61.3 48.8 25.6 1,432 Rural 37.5 27.6 35.9 22.6 53.5 1,570 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 35.3 33.5 34.9 26.4 56.5 1,547 Balochistan 24.8 21.3 24.5 18.0 70.3 553 Urban 34.1 30.3 33.2 26.2 59.6 110 Rural 22.5 19.0 22.3 15.9 72.9 443 ICT Islamabad 60.9 61.2 62.6 45.1 22.9 62 Gilgit Baltistan 41.4 31.1 4	Region										
Urban 61.3 58.5 60.5 47.5 27.3 2,402 Rural 56.8 52.8 54.4 42.5 32.8 4,972 Sindh 51.7 41.4 48.0 35.1 40.2 3,002 Urban 67.1 56.5 61.3 48.8 25.6 1,432 Rural 37.5 27.6 35.9 22.6 53.5 1,570 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 35.3 33.5 34.9 25.8 56.3 1,855 Urban 35.4 31.6 34.5 23.0 55.1 308 Rural 35.3 33.9 34.9 26.4 56.5 1,547 Balochistan 24.8 21.3 24.5 18.0 70.3 553 Urban 34.1 30.3 33.2 26.2 59.6 110 Rural 22.5 19.0 22.3 15.9 72.9 443 ICT Islamabad 60.9 61.2 62.6	Punjab	58.3	54.7	56.4	44.1	31.0	7,374				
Rural 56.8 52.8 54.4 42.5 32.8 4,972 Sindh 51.7 41.4 48.0 35.1 40.2 3,002 Urban 67.1 56.5 61.3 48.8 25.6 1,432 Rural 37.5 27.6 35.9 22.6 53.5 1,570 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 35.3 33.5 34.9 25.8 56.3 1,855 Urban 35.4 31.6 34.5 23.0 55.1 308 Rural 35.3 33.9 34.9 26.4 56.5 1,547 Balochistan 24.8 21.3 24.5 18.0 70.3 553 Urban 34.1 30.3 33.2 26.2 59.6 110 Rural 22.5 19.0 22.3 15.9 72.9 443 ICT Islamabad 60.9 61.2 62.6 45.1 22.9 62 Gilgit Baltistan 41.4 31.1 44.7	Urban	61.3	58.5	60.5	47.5	27.3	2,402				
Sindh 51.7 41.4 48.0 35.1 40.2 3,002 Urban 67.1 56.5 61.3 48.8 25.6 1,432 Rural 37.5 27.6 35.9 22.6 53.5 1,570 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 35.3 33.5 34.9 25.8 56.3 1,855 Urban 35.4 31.6 34.5 23.0 55.1 308 Rural 35.3 33.9 34.9 26.4 56.5 1,547 Balochistan 24.8 21.3 24.5 18.0 70.3 553 Urban 34.1 30.3 33.2 26.2 59.6 110 Rural 22.5 19.0 22.3 15.9 72.9 443 ICT Islamabad 60.9 61.2 62.6 45.1 22.9 62 Gilgit Baltistan 41.4 31.1 44.7 25.0 49.2 91 Education No education 48.6	Rural	56.8	52.8	54.4	42.5	32.8	4,972				
Urban 67.1 56.5 61.3 48.8 25.6 1,432 Rural 37.5 27.6 35.9 22.6 53.5 1,570 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 35.3 33.5 34.9 25.8 56.3 1,855 Urban 35.4 31.6 34.5 23.0 55.1 308 Rural 35.3 33.9 34.9 26.4 56.5 1,547 Balochistan 24.8 21.3 24.5 18.0 70.3 553 Urban 34.1 30.3 33.2 26.2 59.6 110 Rural 22.5 19.0 22.3 15.9 72.9 443 ICT Islamabad 60.9 61.2 62.6 45.1 22.9 62 Gilgit Baltistan 41.4 31.1 44.7 25.0 49.2 91 Education No education 48.6 44.8 47.7 37.0 42.3 7,347 Primary 51.7 47.8 51.6 38.0 36.8 2,057 1,225 Weal	Sindh	517	41 4	48.0	35.1	40.2	3 002				
Rural 37.5 27.6 35.9 22.6 53.5 1,570 Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 35.3 33.5 34.9 25.8 56.3 1,855 Urban 35.4 31.6 34.5 23.0 55.1 308 Rural 35.3 33.9 34.9 26.4 56.5 1,547 Balochistan 24.8 21.3 24.5 18.0 70.3 553 Urban 34.1 30.3 33.2 26.2 59.6 110 Rural 22.5 19.0 22.3 15.9 72.9 443 ICT Islamabad 60.9 61.2 62.6 45.1 22.9 62 Gilgit Baltistan 41.4 31.1 44.7 25.0 49.2 91 Education Keducation 48.6 44.8 47.7 37.0 42.3 7,347 Primary 51.7 47.8 51.6 38.0 36.8 2,057 Middle 54.8 46.8 49.6 38.5 37.4 958 Secondary 57.	Urban	67.1	56.5	61.3	48.8	25.6	1 432				
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 35.3 33.5 34.9 25.8 56.3 1,855 Urban 35.4 31.6 34.5 23.0 55.1 308 Rural 35.3 33.9 34.9 26.4 56.5 1,547 Balochistan 24.8 21.3 24.5 18.0 70.3 553 Urban 34.1 30.3 33.2 26.2 59.6 110 Rural 22.5 19.0 22.3 15.9 72.9 443 ICT Islamabad 60.9 61.2 62.6 45.1 22.9 62 Gilgit Baltistan 41.4 31.1 44.7 25.0 49.2 91 Education 48.6 44.8 47.7 37.0 42.3 7.347 Primary 51.7 47.8 51.6 38.0 36.8 2.057 Middle 54.8 46.8 49.6 38.5 37.4 958 Secondary 57.6 48.8 51.4 38.0 40.1 2.533 Higher 63.6 56.7 <td>Rural</td> <td>37.5</td> <td>27.6</td> <td>35.9</td> <td>22.6</td> <td>53.5</td> <td>1.570</td>	Rural	37.5	27.6	35.9	22.6	53.5	1.570				
Nivber Parklum (MWa 35.3 33.3 34.9 20.0 30.3 1,603 Urban 35.4 31.6 34.5 23.0 55.1 308 Rural 35.3 33.9 34.9 26.4 56.5 1,547 Balochistan 24.8 21.3 24.5 18.0 70.3 553 Urban 34.1 30.3 33.2 26.2 59.6 110 Rural 22.5 19.0 22.3 15.9 72.9 443 ICT Islamabad 60.9 61.2 62.6 45.1 22.9 62 Gilgit Baltistan 41.4 31.1 44.7 25.0 49.2 91 Education 48.6 44.8 47.7 37.0 42.3 7,347 Primary 51.7 47.8 51.6 38.0 36.8 2,057 Middle 54.8 46.8 49.6 38.5 37.4 958 Secondary 57.6 48.8 51.4 38.0 45.0 25.7 1,225 Wealth quintile <t< td=""><td>Khyber Bakhtunkhwa</td><td>25.2</td><td>22.5</td><td>24.0</td><td>25.9</td><td>56.2</td><td>1 955</td></t<>	Khyber Bakhtunkhwa	25.2	22.5	24.0	25.9	56.2	1 955				
Balochistan 35.3 33.9 34.9 26.4 56.5 1,547 Balochistan 24.8 21.3 24.5 18.0 70.3 553 Urban 34.1 30.3 33.2 26.2 59.6 110 Rural 22.5 19.0 22.3 15.9 72.9 443 ICT Islamabad 60.9 61.2 62.6 45.1 22.9 62 Gilgit Baltistan 41.4 31.1 44.7 25.0 49.2 91 Education No education 48.6 44.8 47.7 37.0 42.3 7,347 Primary 51.7 47.8 51.6 38.0 36.8 2,057 Middle 54.8 46.8 49.6 38.5 37.4 958 Secondary 57.6 48.8 51.4 38.0 43.0 1,351 Higher 63.6 56.7 58.9 45.0 25.7 1,225 Weath quintile 20.7 48.8 50.2 39.3 37.8 2,550 Lowest	Lirban	35.3	33.5	34.9	23.0	55.1	1,855				
Hardi 50.5 50.5 50.5 125.4 50.5 1,641 Balochistan 24.8 21.3 24.5 18.0 70.3 553 Urban 34.1 30.3 33.2 26.2 59.6 110 Rural 22.5 19.0 22.3 15.9 72.9 443 ICT Islamabad 60.9 61.2 62.6 45.1 22.9 62 Gilgit Baltistan 41.4 31.1 44.7 25.0 49.2 91 Education 48.6 44.8 47.7 37.0 42.3 7,347 Primary 51.7 47.8 51.6 38.0 36.8 2,057 Middle 54.8 46.8 49.6 38.5 37.4 958 Secondary 57.6 48.8 51.4 38.4 33.0 1,351 Higher 63.6 56.7 58.9 45.0 25.7 1,225 Weath quintile Lowest 41.5 36.0 39.8 29.2 50.2 2,501 Second 49.9 </td <td>Bural</td> <td>35.3</td> <td>33.0</td> <td>34.0</td> <td>26.4</td> <td>56.5</td> <td>1 547</td>	Bural	35.3	33.0	34.0	26.4	56.5	1 547				
Balochistan 24.8 21.3 24.5 18.0 70.3 553 Urban 34.1 30.3 33.2 26.2 59.6 110 Rural 22.5 19.0 22.3 15.9 72.9 443 ICT Islamabad 60.9 61.2 62.6 45.1 22.9 62 Gilgit Baltistan 41.4 31.1 44.7 25.0 49.2 91 Education No education 48.6 44.8 47.7 37.0 42.3 7,347 Primary 51.7 47.8 51.6 38.0 36.8 2,057 Middle 54.8 46.8 49.6 38.5 37.4 958 Secondary 57.6 48.8 51.4 38.4 33.0 1,351 Higher 63.6 56.7 58.9 45.0 25.7 1,225 Weath quintile Lowest 41.5 36.0 39.8 29.2 50.2 2,501 Second 49.9 46.3 49.3 38.0 40.1 2,533		00.0	00.0	04.5	20.4	50.0	1,047				
Urban 34.1 30.3 33.2 26.2 59.6 110 Rural 22.5 19.0 22.3 15.9 72.9 443 ICT Islamabad 60.9 61.2 62.6 45.1 22.9 62 Gilgit Baltistan 41.4 31.1 44.7 25.0 49.2 91 Education 88.6 44.8 47.7 37.0 42.3 7,347 Primary 51.7 47.8 51.6 38.0 36.8 2,057 Middle 54.8 46.8 49.6 38.5 37.4 958 Secondary 57.6 48.8 51.4 38.4 33.0 1,351 Higher 63.6 56.7 58.9 45.0 25.7 1,225 Wealth quintile Lowest 41.5 36.0 39.8 29.2 50.2 2,501 Second 49.9 46.3 49.3 38.0 40.1 2,533 Middle 52.7 48.8 50.2 39.3 37.8 2,550 Fourth 54.1 <td>Balochistan</td> <td>24.8</td> <td>21.3</td> <td>24.5</td> <td>18.0</td> <td>70.3</td> <td>553</td>	Balochistan	24.8	21.3	24.5	18.0	70.3	553				
Rufal 22.5 19.0 22.3 15.9 72.9 443 ICT Islamabad 60.9 61.2 62.6 45.1 22.9 62 Gilgit Baltistan 41.4 31.1 44.7 25.0 49.2 91 Education No education 48.6 44.8 47.7 37.0 42.3 7,347 Primary 51.7 47.8 51.6 38.0 36.8 2,057 Middle 54.8 46.8 49.6 38.5 37.4 958 Secondary 57.6 48.8 51.4 38.4 33.0 1,351 Higher 63.6 56.7 58.9 45.0 25.7 1,225 Wealth quintile Lowest 41.5 36.0 39.8 29.2 50.2 2,501 Second 49.9 46.3 49.3 38.0 40.1 2,533 Middle 52.7 48.8 50.2 39.3 37.8 2,550 Fourth 54.1 48.5 51.5 39.9 36.6 2,677 <th< td=""><td>Urban</td><td>34.1</td><td>30.3</td><td>33.2</td><td>26.2</td><td>59.6</td><td>110</td></th<>	Urban	34.1	30.3	33.2	26.2	59.6	110				
ICT Islamabad 60.9 61.2 62.6 45.1 22.9 62 Gilgit Baltistan 41.4 31.1 44.7 25.0 49.2 91 Education No education 48.6 44.8 47.7 37.0 42.3 7,347 Primary 51.7 47.8 51.6 38.0 36.8 2,057 Middle 54.8 46.8 49.6 38.5 37.4 958 Secondary 57.6 48.8 51.4 38.4 33.0 1,351 Higher 63.6 56.7 58.9 45.0 25.7 1,225 Wealth quintile Lowest 41.5 36.0 39.8 29.2 50.2 2,501 Second 49.9 46.3 49.3 38.0 40.1 2,533 Middle 52.7 48.8 50.2 39.3 37.8 2,550 Fourth 54.1 48.5 51.5 39.9 36.6 2,677 Highest 60.8 54.7 58.1 44.0 28.7 2,676	Rurai	22.5	19.0	22.3	15.9	72.9	443				
Gilgit Baltistan 41.4 31.1 44.7 25.0 49.2 91 Education No education 48.6 44.8 47.7 37.0 42.3 7,347 Primary 51.7 47.8 51.6 38.0 36.8 2,057 Middle 54.8 46.8 49.6 38.5 37.4 958 Secondary 57.6 48.8 51.4 38.4 33.0 1,351 Higher 63.6 56.7 58.9 45.0 25.7 1,225 Wealth quintile 2000 49.9 46.3 49.3 38.0 40.1 2,533 Middle 52.7 48.8 50.2 39.3 37.8 2,550 Fourth 54.1 48.5 51.5 39.9 36.6 2,677 Highest 60.8 54.7 58.1 44.0 28.7 2,676 Total 51.9 47.0 49.9 38.2 38.5 12,937	ICT Islamabad	60.9	61.2	62.6	45.1	22.9	62				
Education48.644.847.737.042.37,347Primary51.747.851.638.036.82,057Middle54.846.849.638.537.4958Secondary57.648.851.438.433.01,351Higher63.656.758.945.025.71,225Wealth quintileLowest41.536.039.829.250.22,501Second49.946.349.338.040.12,533Middle52.748.850.239.337.82,550Fourth54.148.551.539.936.62,677Highest60.854.758.144.028.72,676Total51.947.049.938.238.512,937	Gilgit Baltistan	41.4	31.1	44.7	25.0	49.2	91				
No education 48.6 44.8 47.7 37.0 42.3 7,347 Primary 51.7 47.8 51.6 38.0 36.8 2,057 Middle 54.8 46.8 49.6 38.5 37.4 958 Secondary 57.6 48.8 51.4 38.4 33.0 1,351 Higher 63.6 56.7 58.9 45.0 25.7 1,225 Wealth quintile Lowest 41.5 36.0 39.8 29.2 50.2 2,501 Second 49.9 46.3 49.3 38.0 40.1 2,533 Middle 52.7 48.8 50.2 39.3 37.8 2,550 Fourth 54.1 48.5 51.5 39.9 36.6 2,677 Highest 60.8 54.7 58.1 44.0 28.7 2,676 Total 51.9 47.0 49.9 38.2 38.5 12,937	Education										
Primary51.747.851.638.036.82,057Middle54.846.849.638.537.4958Secondary57.648.851.438.433.01,351Higher63.656.758.945.025.71,225Wealth quintileLowest41.536.039.829.250.22,501Second49.946.349.338.040.12,533Middle52.748.850.239.337.82,550Fourth54.148.551.539.936.62,677Highest60.854.758.144.028.72,676Total51.947.049.938.238.512,937	No education	48.6	44.8	47.7	37.0	42.3	7.347				
Middle 54.8 46.8 49.6 38.5 37.4 958 Secondary 57.6 48.8 51.4 38.4 33.0 1,351 Higher 63.6 56.7 58.9 45.0 25.7 1,225 Wealth quintile Lowest 41.5 36.0 39.8 29.2 50.2 2,501 Second 49.9 46.3 49.3 38.0 40.1 2,533 Middle 52.7 48.8 50.2 39.3 37.8 2,550 Fourth 54.1 48.5 51.5 39.9 36.6 2,677 Highest 60.8 54.7 58.1 44.0 28.7 2,676 Total 51.9 47.0 49.9 38.2 38.5 12,937	Primary	51.7	47.8	51.6	38.0	36.8	2,057				
Secondary 57.6 48.8 51.4 38.4 33.0 1,351 Higher 63.6 56.7 58.9 45.0 25.7 1,225 Wealth quintile Lowest 41.5 36.0 39.8 29.2 50.2 2,501 Second 49.9 46.3 49.3 38.0 40.1 2,533 Middle 52.7 48.8 50.2 39.3 37.8 2,550 Fourth 54.1 48.5 51.5 39.9 36.6 2,677 Highest 60.8 54.7 58.1 44.0 28.7 2,676 Total 51.9 47.0 49.9 38.2 38.5 12,937	Middle	54.8	46.8	49.6	38.5	37.4	958				
Higher63.656.758.945.025.71,225Wealth quintileLowest41.536.039.829.250.22,501Second49.946.349.338.040.12,533Middle52.748.850.239.337.82,550Fourth54.148.551.539.936.62,677Highest60.854.758.144.028.72,676Total51.947.049.938.238.512,937Note: Total includes 14 cases with missing information on employment status in the last 12 months	Secondary	57.6	48.8	51.4	38.4	33.0	1,351				
Wealth quintile Lowest 41.5 36.0 39.8 29.2 50.2 2,501 Second 49.9 46.3 49.3 38.0 40.1 2,533 Middle 52.7 48.8 50.2 39.3 37.8 2,550 Fourth 54.1 48.5 51.5 39.9 36.6 2,677 Highest 60.8 54.7 58.1 44.0 28.7 2,676 Total 51.9 47.0 49.9 38.2 38.5 12,937	Higher	63.6	56.7	58.9	45.0	25.7	1,225				
Lowest41.536.039.829.250.22,501Second49.946.349.338.040.12,533Middle52.748.850.239.337.82,550Fourth54.148.551.539.936.62,677Highest60.854.758.144.028.72,676Total51.947.049.938.238.512,937Note: Total includes 14 cases with missing information on employment status in the last 12 months	Wealth guintile										
Second 49.9 46.3 49.3 38.0 40.1 2,533 Middle 52.7 48.8 50.2 39.3 37.8 2,550 Fourth 54.1 48.5 51.5 39.9 36.6 2,677 Highest 60.8 54.7 58.1 44.0 28.7 2,676 Total 51.9 47.0 49.9 38.2 38.5 12,937	Lowest	41.5	36.0	39.8	29.2	50.2	2,501				
Middle 52.7 48.8 50.2 39.3 37.8 2,550 Fourth 54.1 48.5 51.5 39.9 36.6 2,677 Highest 60.8 54.7 58.1 44.0 28.7 2,676 Total 51.9 47.0 49.9 38.2 38.5 12,937	Second	49.9	46.3	49.3	38.0	40.1	2,533				
Fourth Highest 54.1 60.8 48.5 54.7 51.5 58.1 39.9 44.0 36.6 2,677 2,676 Total 51.9 47.0 49.9 38.2 38.5 12,937 Note: Total includes 14 cases with missing information on employment status in the last 12 months 51.9 47.0 49.9 38.2 38.5 12,937	Middle	52.7	48.8	50.2	39.3	37.8	2,550				
Highest 60.8 54.7 58.1 44.0 28.7 2,676 Total 51.9 47.0 49.9 38.2 38.5 12,937 Note: Total includes 14 cases with missing information on employment status in the last 12 months 51.9 47.0 49.9 38.2 38.5 12,937	Fourth	54.1	48.5	51.5	39.9	36.6	2,677				
Total 51.9 47.0 49.9 38.2 38.5 12,937 Note: Total includes 14 cases with missing information on employment status in the last 12 months	Highest	60.8	54.7	58.1	44.0	28.7	2,676				
	Total	51.9	47.0	49.9	38.2	38.5	12,937				
The second	Note: Total includes 14 cases wi	th missing info	ormation on emp	oloyment status	in the last 12	months.					

Table 13.6.2 presents data on currently married men's participation (alone or jointly) in two types of decisions—their own health care and making major household purchases—by background characteristics. The table shows that three-fourths of men participate in decisions about their own health care and in decisions about major household purchases, while one-fifth do not participate in either of the two decisions. Overall, 70 percent of men participate in both of these decisions. The proportion of currently married men participating in both decisions increases sharply with age and number of living children, but there is a mixed pattern with respect to education and wealth. Men employed for cash are most likely to participate in both decisions, followed by those who are employed but do not earn cash and

those who are not employed. Men's participation in both decisions is very similar in rural and urban areas. By region, participation in both decisions ranges from 62 percent among men in ICT Islamabad to 77 percent among those in Balochistan.

Percentage of currently married men age 15-49 who usually make specific decisions either alone or jointly with their wife, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13									
	Specific	decisions							
Background characteristic	Man's own health	Making major household purchases	Both decisions	Neither of the two decisions	Number of men				
Age									
15-19	(21.4)	(25.5)	(19.1)	(72.2)	36				
20-24	43.1	40.6	36.5	52.8	209				
25-29	55.1	52.7	47.3	39.5	516				
30-34	71.9	72.0	65.9	22.0	636				
35-39 40-44	80.7 88.0	84.8 86.4	81.1 83.7	10.6	579				
45-49	89.4	91.7	86.9	5.8	580				
Employment (last 12 months)									
Not employed	61.7	58.5	55.9	35.8	62				
Employed for cash	75.5	75.1	70.5	19.8	2,953				
Employed not for cash	72.8	67.2	66.2	26.1	55				
Number of living children									
0	48.6	45.4	41.0	47.0	453				
1-2	67.6	66.1	60.3	26.6	900				
3-4	83.3	84.1	80.1	12.7	924				
5+	89.3	89.9	86.0	6.8	794				
Residence									
Urban	74.6	79.1	70.6	16.9	1,091				
Rural	75.4	72.2	69.8	22.2	1,980				
Region									
Punjab	76.7	75.6	73.5	21.1	1,761				
Urban	80.0	80.6	78.1	17.5	609				
Rulai	75.0	73.0	71.0	23.1	1,152				
Sindh	67.2	74.0	63.2	22.0	779				
Urban	63.1	78.9	58.8	16.8	371				
Rural	71.0	69.6	67.3	26.7	408				
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	82.0	69.1	65.7	14.5	345				
Urban	83.9	67.7	65.0	13.4	65				
Rural	81.6	69.4	65.8	14.8	280				
Balochistan	81.8	80.4	76.8	14.6	150				
Urban	87.3	82.3	80.7	11.2	32				
Rural	80.3	79.9	75.7	15.5	119				
ICT Islamabad	67.1	68.8	62.2	26.3	18				
Gilgit Baltistan	82.3	69.5	67.6	15.7	18				
Education									
No education	79.6	78.3	75.7	17.8	869				
Primary	71.3	72.4	66.2	22.5	652				
Middle	75.2	71.6	68.2	21.5	516				
Secondary	71.9	73.3	67.9	22.7	548				
Higher	75.8	75.9	69.5	17.8	487				
Wealth quintile									
Lowest	78.3	74.9	74.0	20.8	591				
Second	78.0 74.4	/4.8	/2.1	19.3	557				
Fourth	14.4 75 1	/ 1.3 76 9	07.0 72.4	∠1.ŏ 20.2	549 706				
Highest	70.2	74.8	64.4	19.5	668				
	75.4	74.0	70.4	10.0	0.074				
10(a) 15-49	/5.1	74.6	70.1	20.3	3,071				

Table 13.6.2 Men's participation in decisionmaking by background characteristics

Note: Total includes 2 cases with missing information on employment status in the last 12 months. Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases.

13.6 ATTITUDES TOWARD WIFE BEATING

The critical problems that women face are many and diverse. Among the most serious is violence, and Pakistan is no exception in this regard. One of the most common forms of violence against women worldwide is abuse by their husband or partner (Heise et al., 1999). The 2012-13 PDHS gathered information on women's attitudes toward wife beating by asking ever-married women whether a husband is justified in hitting or beating his wife under a series of six circumstances: if she burns the food, if she argues with him, if she goes out without telling him, if she neglects the children, if she refuses to have sexual intercourse with him, and if she neglects her in-laws. A woman's attitude toward wife beating is considered a proxy for her perception of women's status. A lower score on the "number of reasons wife beating is justified" empowerment indicator signals a greater sense of entitlement, self-esteem, and status and reflects positively on a woman's sense of empowerment. Agreement with wife beating as justified indicates that a woman generally accepts the right of a man to control her behavior even by means of violence. Such a perception could act as a barrier to accessing health care for her children and herself and could have an impact on her general well-being.

Table 13.7.1 shows the percentage of ever-married women age 15-49 who agree that a husband is justified in hitting or beating his wife for specific reasons, by background characteristics. Forty-three percent of women agree that a husband is justified in beating his wife for at least one of the reasons listed.

The most widely accepted reason for wife beating among women in Pakistan is arguing with the husband (34 percent), followed closely by neglecting the children (31 percent), refusing to have sexual intercourse (31 percent), and going out without telling the husband (30 percent). Twenty-eight percent of women agree that a husband is justified in beating his wife if she neglects her in-laws. Similarly, 18 percent of women agree that a husband is justified in beating his wife if she burns the food.

Women age 15-19 are more likely to agree with at least one reason for wife beating than older women. Agreement with at least one reason for wife beating does not differ by marital status. Women who are not employed (42 percent), those who reside in urban areas (28 percent) and ICT Islamabad (23 percent), those who have a higher education (15 percent), and those in the highest wealth quintile (19 percent) are least likely to agree with at least one reason for wife beating.

With regard to urban-rural differentials within provinces, it is apparent that rural women in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa are most likely to agree that a husband is justified in beating his wife for at least one of the specified reasons (76 percent). High urban-rural differentials are also found in Punjab (25 percent and 42 percent, respectively) and Sindh (22 percent and 51 percent, respectively).

Ever-married men were asked similar questions on wife beating to elicit their perceptions on domestic violence. The results are presented in Table 13.7.2. Overall, men are less likely than women to agree with at least one specified reason to justify wife beating (34 percent and 43 percent, respectively). Similar to the pattern among women, men are least likely to agree that burning the food is a valid reason to justify wife beating. They also show similar levels of support for the other five reasons (16-20 percent), although at much lower levels than among women.

Among men, there is little variation by age in agreement with at least one reason for wife beating. Men who are employed and paid in cash (33 percent), those who reside in urban areas (25 percent) and ICT Islamabad (25 percent), those with a higher education (23 percent), and those in the highest wealth quintile (20 percent) are less likely than other men to agree with at least one reason for wife beating.

Men in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (73 percent) and Balochistan (67 percent) are most likely to justify wife beating for at least one of the specified reasons. The urban-rural differential within provinces regarding attitudes toward wife beating is highest in Sindh (25 percent and 59 percent, respectively).

Table 13.7.1 Attitude toward wife beating: Women

Percentage of ever-married women age 15-49 who agree that a husband is justified in hitting or beating his wife for specific reasons, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Husband is justified in hitting or beating his wife if she:							
					Refuses to have		who agree with at least	
Background characteristic	Burns the food	Argues with him	Goes out without telling him	Neglects the children	sexual intercourse with him	Neglects the in-laws	one specified reason	Number of women
Age								
15-19	25.0	43.2	37.8	39.4	38.0	37.9	52.8	605
20-24	19.3	34.5	31.4	33.0	31.2	31.2	43.3	2 106
25-29	17.0	33.5	28.2	30.1	30.0	27.3	12.2	2 724
30-34	17.0	31.5	28.8	29.6	20.3	25.2	10 9	2,724
35-39	16.6	32.5	20.0	30.0	29.0	20.2	40.5 /1 7	2,020
40-44	17.2	33.3	29.0	30.5	20.0	24.0	41.6	1 766
45-49	19.9	34.9	20.4	31.7	32.5	20.3	42.8	1,602
Employment (last 12								
months)	10.0	00.0	00.0	00.0	00.0	07.0	44 7	0.504
Not employed	16.9	33.0	29.3	30.8	29.8	27.2	41.7	9,594
Employed for cash	21.3	34.1	29.4	30.2	31.5	27.3	42.9	3,077
	23.9	40.7	34.1	37.0	30.1	33.1	50.5	013
Number of living children	16.9	31 1	27.4	27.8	28.3	26.0	40.2	1 828
1-2	16.9	31.7	27.4	29.0	28.2	26.0	39.1	4 059
3-4	17.7	32.5	28.2	30.0	20.2	26.8	12.2	3,012
5+	21.4	38.9	34.1	36.1	35.0	31.0	47.6	3,760
Marital status		0010	• …	0011	0010	0110		0,100
Married	10.0	22.0	20.5	21.1	20.5	27.6	12 5	12 027
Nameu Diverced/concreted/	10.2	33.0	29.5	31.1	30.5	27.0	42.5	12,937
widowed	22.8	31.3	31.0	30.5	31.7	27.0	41.8	621
Residence								
Urban	8.9	18.8	16.6	16.9	16.6	14.0	27.5	4.536
Rural	23.1	41.2	36.2	38.2	37.6	34.4	50.1	9,022
Region								
Puniab	16.6	27.0	22.5	25.7	24 1	22.6	36.3	7 790
Lirban	87	15.4	14.3	15.0	13.9	12.0	25.0	2 526
Rural	20.4	32.5	26.4	30.9	28.9	27.6	41.7	5.264
	10.1	02.0	07.0	00.0	20.0	20.4	07.0	0,201
Sinan	18.1	29.9	27.6	26.2	28.9	23.4	37.0	3,133
Urban	7.0	15.7	13.0	12.5	13.9	10.3	22.4	1,521
Rurai	28.0	43.2	41.3	39.2	43.1	35.7	50.7	1,612
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	25.7	64.9	59.5	59.1	58.9	54.4	73.5	1,908
Urban	17.8	53.6	45.3	47.0	45.2	40.4	62.1	320
Rural	27.2	67.2	62.4	61.5	61.7	57.2	75.8	1,588
Balochistan	16.6	39.9	34.0	33.9	30.9	25.7	51.3	568
Urban	14.5	38.2	32.3	31.1	31.0	26.0	51.1	114
Rural	17.1	40.3	34.4	34.6	30.9	25.6	51.3	454
ICT Islamabad	6.2	14.2	11.4	13.6	9.6	11.0	23.1	64
Gilgit Baltistan	46.8	62.9	64.3	63.1	61.4	63.1	76.4	94
Education								
No education	25.1	44 0	38.6	40.0	40.2	36.4	52 4	7 736
Primary	14.7	27.6	25.0	27.5	26.4	23.0	10.8	2 156
Middle	10.5	27.0	20.0	27.0	10.4	18.6	32.5	2,100
Secondary	6.0	15.2	11.2	13/	12.5	10.0	22.5	1 /13
Higher	3.4	9.0	7 1	86	7.8	6.0	14 7	1,413
	5.1	5.0		5.0		5.0		.,_00
wealth quintile	<u> </u>	15 5	/1 1	12.5	12 0	38.2	53 G	2 580
Second	20.2	40.0	41.1	42.0	43.2	30.Z	57.0	2,309
Middla	20.0	40.2 20.2	-+ 1.U 2/ /	40.2	44.1 22 0	40.0	10 2	2,070
Fourth	20.8 12.2	25.3	04.4 22.6	04.0 01.0	22.9	32.0 20.2	40.0	2,100
Highest	10.0	∠J.9 12.2	22.0	24.3	22.9 Q Q	20.2 7 9	10.0	2,109
i iigiicat	4.2	12.3	10.0	10.0	3.0	1.0	13.2	2,004
Total	18.4	33.7	29.6	31.1	30.6	27.6	42.5	13,558
Note: Total includes 14 case	s with missir	na information	on employm	nent status in	the last 12 m	onths		

Table 13.7.2 Attitude toward wife beating: Men

Percentage of ever-married men age 15-49 who agree that a husband is justified in hitting or beating his wife for specific reasons, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	ł	Husband is jus	stified in hitti	ng or beating	his wife if she	e:	Percentage	
			_		Refuses to have		who agree with at least	
Background characteristic	Burns the food	Argues with him	Goes out without telling him	Neglects the children	sexual intercourse with him	Neglects the in-laws	one specified reason	Number
A.c.o.			, i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i					
15-10	(10.4)	(26.6)	(28.0)	(23.2)	(23.4)	(24.3)	(33.3)	36
20-24	(10.4)	22.0)	29.0	25.5	22.5	23.7	(33.3)	210
20-24	0.4 4 8	18.0	29.0	23.3	17.0	23.7	42.1	521
30-34	4.0	18.9	19.1	16.3	16.5	17.7	33.8	646
35-39	5.6	18.7	19.0	17.2	13.6	17.2	33.1	588
40-44	47	17.6	18.7	20.6	15.0	16.2	34.6	530
45-49	4.6	18.3	17.6	18.3	15.7	14.9	31.8	594
Employment (last 12								
Not employed	59	21.8	26.6	24.6	19.6	127	43.3	64
Employed for cash	4 Q	18.6	19.0	17.9	15.0	16.8	33.0	3 008
Employed not for cash	15.8	27.8	49.6	41.2	37.7	47 7	70.0	60
Number of living children	10.0	21.0	10.0					
0	4.5	17.9	19.5	16.0	18.4	16.8	30.3	481
1-2	4.2	17.3	18.7	18.2	15.3	16.3	32.3	918
3-4	3.0	15.0	18.2	14.7	13.0	13.4	30.5	936
5+ Marital status	9.0	25.7	23.0	24.7	19.9	23.4	42.0	798
Married Divorced/separated/	5.2	18.8	19.8	18.7	16.3	17.5	34.0	3,071
widowed	(1.2)	(22.0)	(18.1)	(9.1)	(17.1)	(9.5)	(30.5)	63
Residence								
Urban Rural	2.8 6.4	13.4 21.8	12.3 23.9	12.4 21.8	9.1 20.2	11.0 20.8	25.1 38.8	1,107 2,027
Region								
Puniab	2.1	9.9	9.9	8.9	3.1	8.2	19.7	1.804
Urban	1.1	9.0	7.4	8.6	2.4	8.2	19.2	618
Rural	2.6	10.3	11.2	9.0	3.5	8.3	19.9	1,186
Cindh		20.0	25.0	22.5	20.0	01.0	40.0	700
Sindh	8.0	29.0	20.8	22.5	20.8	21.8	42.9	790
Burol	3.1 12.4	15.9	13.5	11.0	11.5	7.5	20.1	370
Ruiai	13.4	41.0	30.9	32.5	40.4	34.0	50.0	420
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	2.8	30.9	50.3	53.3	44.3	45.3	72.9	347
Urban	5.4	29.4	42.7	44.3	34.9	45.3	62.1	67
Rural	2.1	31.3	52.2	55.4	46.6	45.3	75.4	281
Balochistan	28.7	40.9	36.3	33.1	53.1	37.5	66.5	151
Urban	26.4	36.2	29.5	29.4	54.0	31.9	60.7	32
Rural	29.4	42.1	38.1	34.1	52.9	38.9	68.0	119
ICT Islamabad	3.0	8.6	8.9	7.3	9.5	9.4	24.8	18
Gilgit Baltistan	3.6	36.3	28.0	19.1	28.9	27.9	54.9	18
Education		00 F		05.0	05.7	05.7		005
No education	8.8	28.5	24.8	25.8	25.7	25.7	44.9	905
Primary	5.1	19.2	20.9	18.4	13.7	15.9	34.3	657
Middle	2.7	12.3	15.0	13.5	8.9	13.5	26.2	525
Secondary	3.8	17.0	19.5	17.0	15.4	15.5	32.8	557
Highei	2.5	9.0	14.5	12.0	11.5	9.9	22.9	491
Wealth quintile								
Lowest	12.0	33.8	34.0	29.0	33.7	32.9	54.1	607
Second	7.8	26.7	27.9	29.4	23.0	22.4	43.3	574
Middle	3.9	17.8	18.3	20.2	15.0	15.9	34.1	567
Fourth	1.3	11.0	11.9	10.3	6.6	9.7	22.8	713
Highest	1.6	7.9	9.6	6.8	6.2	8.3	19.6	673
Total	5.1	18.9	19.8	18.5	16.3	17.3	34.0	3,134

13.7 WOMEN'S EMPOWERMENT INDICATORS

The two sets of empowerment indicators—women's participation in making household decisions and their attitude toward wife beating—can be summarized into two separate indices. The first index shows the number of decisions (see Table 13.5 for the list of decisions) in which women participate alone or jointly with their husband. This index ranges from 0 to 3 and is positively related to women's empowerment. It reflects the degree of decisionmaking control that women are able to exercise in areas that affect their own lives and environments.

The second indicator, which ranges from 0 to 6, is the total number of reasons (see Table 13.7.1 for the list of reasons) for which the respondent feels that a husband is justified in beating his wife. A lower score on this indicator is interpreted as reflecting a greater sense of entitlement and self-esteem and higher status.

Table 13.8 Indicators of women's	s empowerment								
Percentage of currently married women age 15-49 who participate in all decisionmaking and the percentage who disagree with all of the reasons justifying wife beating, by value on each of the indicators of women's empowerment, Pakistan 2012-13									
Empowerment indicator	Percentage who participate in all decisionmaking	Percentage who disagree with all reasons justifying wife beating	Number of women						
Number of decisions in which women participate ¹									
0	na	46.8	4,983						
1-2	na	59.7	3,016						
3	na	67.5	4,938						
Number of reasons for which wife beating is justified ²									
0	44.8	na	7,434						
1-2	31.6	na	1,426						
3-4	30.6	na	1,409						
5-6	27.3	na	2,668						
na = Not applicable									

 $\frac{1}{2}$ See Table 13.6.1 for the list of decisions.

 2 See Table 13.7.1 for the list of reasons.

In general, it is expected that women who participate in making household decisions are more likely to have gender-egalitarian beliefs and to reject wife beating. Table 13.8 provides an overview of how these two basic empowerment indices (number of decisions in which women participate and number of reasons for which wife beating is justified) relate to one another.

As expected, women's rejection of all reasons for wife beating increases with the number of decisions they participate in. Specifically, 47 percent of married women who participate in none of the decisions reject all of the reasons for wife beating, as compared with 68 percent of women who participate in all three decisions. Also, the proportion of women who participate in all three decisions varies uniformly with the number of reasons for which wife beating is justified. As expected, the percentage of women who participate in all three decisions is highest (45 percent) among those who do not agree with any reason for wife beating and falls to 27 percent among those who agree with five to six reasons for wife beating.

13.8 CURRENT USE OF CONTRACEPTION BY WOMEN'S EMPOWERMENT

A woman's desire and ability to control her fertility and the contraceptive method she chooses are likely to be affected by her status in the household, her self-image, and her sense of empowerment. A woman who feels that she is unable to control other aspects of her life may be less likely to feel that she can make and carry out decisions about her fertility. She may also feel the need to choose methods that can be hidden from others or that do not depend on her husband's cooperation. Table 13.9 presents the distribution of currently married women age 15-49 by contraceptive method used, according to the two empowerment indices.

Contraceptive use is positively associated with women's participation in household decisionmaking. In particular, use of any method and use of any modern method are more prevalent among women who participate in all three decisions (44 percent and 33 percent, respectively) than among women who participate in none of the decisions (25 percent and 19 percent, respectively).

Contraceptive use is inversely associated with the number of reasons for which women believe wife beating is justified. Specifically, use of any method and use of any modern method are more prevalent among women who reject wife beating (38 percent and 28 percent, respectively) than among women who cite five to six reasons for which wife beating is justified (27 percent and 20 percent, respectively).

Table 13.9 Current use of contraception by women's empowerment

Percent distribution of currently married women age 15-49 by current contraceptive method, according to selected indicators of women's status, Pakistan 2012-13

		Modern methods								
Empowerment indicator	Any method	Any modern Female method ¹ sterilization ster		Male sterilization	Temporary modern Male female Male sterilization methods ¹ condom			Not currently using	Total	Number of women
Number of decisions in which women participate ² 0 1-2 3	25.3 37.7 44.2	18.8 26.7 33.1	4.7 9.1 12.4	0.0 0.2 0.5	7.4 8.5 9.3	6.6 8.9 11.0	6.5 11.1 11.0	74.7 62.3 55.8	100.0 100.0 100.0	4,983 3,016 4,938
Number of reasons for which wife beating is justified ³ 0 1-2 3-4 5-6	38.0 40.2 32.3 27.4	28.0 29.7 24.3 19.9	9.1 9.7 8.5 7.1	0.2 0.4 0.9 0.1	7.9 10.7 7.7 8.9	10.9 8.8 7.2 3.9	10.0 10.5 8.0 7.5	62.0 59.8 67.7 72.6	100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0	7,434 1,426 1,409 2,668
Total	35.4	26.1	8.7	0.3	8.4	8.8	9.3	64.6	100.0	12,937

Note: If more than one method is used, only the most effective method is considered in this tabulation.

¹ Pill, IUD, injectables, implants, female condom, diaphragm, foam/jelly, and lactational amenorrhea method

 2 See Table 13.6.1 for the list of decisions.

³ See Table 13.7.1 for the list of reasons.

13.9 IDEAL FAMILY SIZE AND UNMET NEED BY WOMEN'S EMPOWERMENT

The ability of women to make decisions effectively has important implications for their fertility preferences and for meeting their family-size goals. It is expected that more empowered women will want smaller families and be better able to negotiate decisions regarding fertility and family planning. Hence, unmet need for family planning, which reflects women's unsatisfied need for contraception, should be lower among more empowered women.

An increase in women's status and empowerment is recognized as important for efforts to reduce fertility through at least two main pathways: its negative association with desired family size and its positive association with a woman's ability to meet family-size goals through the effective use of contraception. Table 13.10 shows how women's ideal family size and their unmet need for family planning vary by the two indicators of women's empowerment: number of decisions in which the woman participates and number of reasons for which the woman feels a husband is justified in beating his wife.

Although mean ideal family size shows no uniform variation by the number of decisions in which women participate, it increases uniformly with the number of reasons for which women feel wife beating is justified. Women who agree that wife beating is not justified at all have a mean ideal family size of 3.9

children, as compared with 4.5 children among women who agree that wife beating is justified for five to six reasons.

There is an association between participation in decisionmaking and unmet need for family planning. Women who participate in no household decisions have a higher unmet need for family planning (22 percent) than women who participate in one to two decisions or three decisions (19 percent and 18 percent, respectively). Unmet need is lowest among women who agree with one to two reasons for wife beating (17 percent) and increases to 25 percent among women who agree with five to six reasons.

Table 13.10 Ideal number of children and unmet need for family planning by women's empowerment

Mean ideal number of children for women age 15-49 and the percentage of currently married women age 15-49 with an unmet need for family planning, by indicators of women's empowerment, Pakistan 2012-13

	Mean ideal number of	Number of	Percentage with an unm	Number of currently married		
Empowerment indicator	children ¹	women	For spacing	For limiting	Total	women
Number of decisions in which women participate ²						
0	4.3	4,756	12.7	9.7	22.4	4,983
1-2	3.9	2,874	8.5	10.9	19.4	3,016
3	4.0	4,794	5.1	13.0	18.1	4,938
Number of reasons for which wife beating is justified ³						
0	3.9	7,555	8.7	9.9	18.7	7,434
1-2	4.1	1,437	7.1	9.9	17.0	1,426
3-4	4.3	1.360	9.2	12.6	21.7	1,409
5-6	4.5	2,641	9.8	15.0	24.8	2,668
Total	4.1	12,992	8.8	11.3	20.1	12,937

¹ Mean excludes respondents who gave non-numeric responses.

²Restricted to currently married women. See Table 13.6.1 for the list of decisions.

³ See Table 13.7.1 for the list of reasons.

13.10 REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH CARE BY WOMEN'S EMPOWERMENT

Table 13.11 examines whether empowered women are more likely to access antenatal, delivery, and postnatal care services from a skilled health provider. In societies where health care is widespread, women's empowerment may not affect their access to reproductive health services. In other societies, however, increased empowerment is likely to enhance women's ability to seek out and use health services from qualified health providers to better meet their own reproductive health goals, including the goal of safe motherhood. In Pakistan, skilled health providers include doctors, nurses, midwives, and lady health visitors, all of whom are qualified to provide antenatal care, delivery, and postnatal care services. The table includes only women who had a birth in the five years preceding the survey.

Both indicators of women's empowerment are related to women's access to reproductive health care for their most recent birth. For example, the proportion of women receiving antenatal care from a skilled health provider increases from 69 percent among women who participate in no decisions to 80 percent among women who participate in one to two decisions before decreasing to 74 percent among women who participate in all three decisions. A similar pattern is observed among women receiving delivery assistance from a skilled provider. There is an increase of about 6 percentage points in the proportion of women who received postnatal care within two days of delivery between those with the lowest and highest values on the decisionmaking index.

Women's attitudes toward wife beating are also related to their use of all three health services. The proportions of women receiving all three types of care decline uniformly as the number of reasons they believe wife beating is justified increases. For example, women who believe that wife beating is not justified for any reason are more likely to receive skilled antenatal care than women who accept five to six

reasons for wife beating (78 and 63 percent, respectively). There is an even larger decline among women receiving delivery care from a skilled provider, from 63 percent of those who reject wife beating to 42 percent of those who agree with wife beating for five to six reasons. Women who agree with five to six reasons justifying wife beating are also less likely to have receive postnatal care (46 percent) within the first two days of delivery from health personnel than women who reject all of the reasons for wife beating (65 percent).

Table 13.11 Reproductive health care by women's empowerment

Percentage of women age 15-49 with a live birth in the five years preceding the survey who received antenatal care, delivery assistance, and postnatal care from health personnel for the most recent birth, by indicators of women's empowerment, Pakistan 2012-13

Empowerment indicator	Percentage receiving antenatal care from a skilled provider ¹	Percentage receiving delivery care from a skilled provider ¹	Received postnatal care from health personnel within the first two days after delivery ²	Number of women with a child born in the last five years
Number of decisions in which women participate ³				
0	68.5	51.9	54.0	3,166
1-2	79.9	59.2	60.7	1,744
3	74.4	56.3	60.3	2,440
Number of reasons for which wife beating is justified ⁴				
0	77.6	62.5	64.5	4,167
1-2	75.8	53.8	53.7	816
3-4	68.8	46.1	50.8	794
5-6	62.5	42.1	45.8	1,669
Total	73.1	55.2	57.7	7,446

¹ "Skilled provider" includes doctor, nurse, midwife, or lady health visitor.

² Includes women who received a postnatal checkup from a doctor, nurse, midwife, community health worker, or traditional birth attendant in the first 2 days after the birth. Includes women who gave birth in a health

facility and those who did not give birth in a health facility.

³ Restricted to currently married women. See Table 13.6.1 for the list of decisions.

⁴ See Table 13.7.1 for the list of reasons.

13.11 INFANT AND CHILD MORTALITY AND WOMEN'S EMPOWERMENT

The abilities of women to access information, make decisions, and act effectively in their own interests or in the interests of those who depend on them are essential aspects of empowerment. It follows that if women, who are the primary caretakers of children, are empowered, the health and survival of their children will be enhanced. In fact, maternal empowerment fits into the Mosley-Chen framework on child survival as an intervening individual-level variable that affects child survival through proximate determinants (Mosley and Chen, 1984).

Table 13.12 presents information on the impact on infant and child mortality of women's empowerment as measured by the two empowerment indicators (participation in household decisionmaking and reasons justifying wife beating). It shows that infant and under-five mortality rates decrease as women's participation in decisionmaking increases. For example, infant mortality is 86 deaths per 1,000 live births and under-five mortality is 103 deaths per 1,000 live births in the case of women who make no decisions, while the corresponding figures are 77 and 90 deaths per 1,000 live births for women who participate in all three decisions. Similarly, infant mortality and under-five mortality tend to rise with the number of reasons women cite to justify wife beating. Among women who do not agree with any reason for wife beating, infant mortality and under-five mortality are 78 and 91 per 1,000 live births, respectively, as compared with 95 and 115 among women who agree with three to four reasons for wife beating.

Table 13.12 Early childhood mortality rates by women's status

Infant,	child,	and	under-five	mortality	rates	for	the	10-year	period	preceding	the
survey	, by inc	dicato	ors of wome	en's empo	werme	ent,	Paki	stan 201	2-13		

Empowerment indicator	Infant mortality (1q0)	Child mortality (4q1)	Under-five mortality (₅q₀)
Number of decisions in which women participate ¹			
0	86	19	103
1-2	79	20	97
3	77	14	90
Number of reasons for which wife beating is justified ²			
0	78	14	91
1-2	78	15	92
3-4	95	22	115
5-6	82	25	105

 1 Restricted to currently married women. See Table 13.6.1 for the list of decisions. 2 See Table 13.7.1 for the list of reasons.

Key Findings

- Thirty-two percent of ever-married women age 15-49 have experienced physical violence at least once since age 15, and 19 percent experienced physical violence within the 12 months prior to the survey.
- Overall, 39 percent of ever-married women age 15-49 report ever having experienced physical and/or emotional violence from their spouse, and 33 percent report having experienced it in the past 12 months.
- Among ever-married women who had experienced spousal physical violence in the past 12 months, 35 percent reported experiencing physical injuries.
- One in 10 women reported experiencing violence during pregnancy.
- Fifty-two percent of Pakistani women who experienced violence never sought help or never told anyone about the violence they had experienced.

Domestic violence, also known as domestic abuse, spousal violence, family violence, and intimate partner violence, is broadly defined as a pattern of abusive behaviors by one or both partners in an intimate relationship. Domestic violence, so defined, has many forms, including physical aggression (hitting, kicking, biting, shoving, restraining, slapping, or throwing objects) as well as threats, sexual and emotional abuse, controlling or domineering behaviors, intimidation, stalking, and passive or covert abuse (e.g., neglect or economic deprivation).

The United Nations defines domestic violence as "any act of gender-based violence that results in physical, sexual or mental harm or suffering to women including threats of such acts, coercion or arbitrary deprivation of liberty, whether occurring in public or in private life" (United Nations, 1993; United Nations, 1995). The same definition has been adopted by Pakistan's Ministry of Law and Justice and Human Rights.

In 2012-13, a domestic violence module was included in the PDHS for the first time. Domestic violence is an endemic problem in Pakistan and may be the most underreported form of violence against women residing in the country, with only 608 cases reported nationwide in 2009. The problem persists despite several laws designed to protect women from domestic violence.

14.1 VALID MEASURES OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

Collecting accurate gender-disaggregated data is an issue in most countries, and Pakistan is no exception. Collection of valid, reliable, and ethical data on domestic violence involves particular challenges because what constitutes violence or abuse varies across cultures and individuals, and a culture of silence usually affects reporting of violence. Moreover, the sensitivity of the topic must be addressed. Responses to these challenges in the 2012-13 PDHS are described below.

14.1.1 Use of Valid Measures of Violence

In the 2012-13 PDHS, information was obtained from ever-married women age 15-49 on violence committed by their current and former spouses and by others. Since international research shows that intimate partner violence is one of the most common forms of violence against women, spousal violence was measured in more detail than violence committed by other perpetrators. These detailed measurements

were made using a shortened and modified version of the Conflict Tactics Scale (Straus, 1990). Specifically, spousal physical violence by the husband for currently married women and the most recent husband for formerly married women was measured by asking all ever-married women the following set of questions. Does (did) your (last) husband ever:

- (a) Push you, shake you, or throw something at you?
- (b) Slap you?
- (c) Twist your arm or pull your hair?
- (d) Punch you with his fist or with something that could hurt you?
- (e) Kick you, drag you, or beat you up?
- (f) Try to choke you or burn you on purpose?
- (g) Threaten or attack you with a knife, gun, or any other weapon?

For every question that a woman answered "yes," she was asked about the frequency of the act in the 12 months preceding the survey. A "yes" answer to one or more of items (a) to (g) above constitutes evidence of physical violence.

Similarly, emotional violence among ever-married women was measured with the following questions.

Does (did) your (last) husband ever:

- (a) Say or do something to humiliate you in front of others?
- (b) Threaten to hurt or harm you or someone close to you?
- (c) Insult you or make you feel bad about yourself?

This approach of asking about specific acts to measure different forms of violence has the advantage of not being affected by different understandings of what constitutes a summary term such as violence. By including a wide range of acts, the approach has the additional advantage of giving the respondent multiple opportunities to disclose any experience of violence.

In addition to these questions, women were asked about physical violence from persons other than the current or most recent spouse. Respondents who answered this question in the affirmative were asked who committed the violence against them and the frequency of such violence during the 12 months preceding the survey. Although this approach to questioning is generally considered to be optimal, the possibility of underreporting of violence cannot be entirely ruled out in any survey, and this survey is no exception.

14.1.2 Ethical Considerations in the 2012-13 PDHS

In recognition of the challenges in collecting data on violence, the interviewers in the 2012-13 PDHS were given special training. The training focused on how to ask sensitive questions, ensure privacy, and build rapport between interviewer and respondent. Rapport with the interviewer, confidentiality, and privacy are all keys to building respondents' confidence so that they can safely share their experiences with the interviewer. Also, placement of the violence questions at the end of the questionnaire provided time for the interviewer to develop a certain degree of intimacy that should have further encouraged respondents to share their experiences of violence, if any. In addition, the following protections were built into the survey

in keeping with the World Health Organization's ethical and safety recommendations for research on domestic violence (WHO, 2001):

- 1. Only one woman per household was administered the questions on violence to maintain confidentiality. One in every three households was preselected for an interview on violence, and in the selected household one female respondent was randomly selected to be administered the questions on domestic violence. The random selection of one woman was done through a simple selection procedure based on the Kish grid, which was built into the Household Questionnaire (Kish, 1965).
- 2. As a means of obtaining additional consent beyond the initial consent provided at the start of the interview, the respondent was informed that the questions could be sensitive and was reassured regarding the confidentiality of her responses.
- 3. The violence module was implemented only if privacy could be obtained. The interviewers were instructed to skip the module, thank the respondent, and end the interview if they could not maintain privacy.
- 4. A brochure that includes information on domestic violence and contact information for service centers across the country is generally prepared to be given to all eligible women selected for the domestic violence module. However, in the case of Pakistan, it was not deemed suitable to produce such a brochure for distribution due to the sensitivity of the issue. Instead, supervisors were told during training to identify and locate such centers (if available) in the community and inform the interviewers so that if any respondents who reported violence asked for assistance, the interviewers would be able to provide information on services available.

14.1.3 Subsample for the Violence Module

The domestic violence module was implemented only in the subsample of households selected for the men's survey. Furthermore (as mentioned above), in keeping with ethical requirements, only one woman per household was selected for the module. These restrictions resulted in a total of 3,743 women being eligible for the module, of whom 3,687 were successfully interviewed. Forty-three eligible women were not interviewed because complete privacy could not be obtained. There were 13 missing cases for which information was not collected due to other reasons. Specially constructed weights were used to adjust for the selection of only one woman per household and to ensure that the domestic violence subsample was nationally representative.

14.2 EXPERIENCE OF PHYSICAL VIOLENCE

Table 14.1 shows that about one in three (32 percent) women age 15-49 have experienced physical violence since age 15 and that 19 percent experienced physical violence in the 12 months prior to the survey. Overall, 5 percent of women reported that they had experienced physical violence often in the past 12 months, and 14 percent said they had experienced physical violence sometimes during the past 12 months.

The experience of physical violence varies substantially by background characteristics. Women age 15-24 are less likely than older women to have experienced physical violence since the age 15. However, women age 15-19 are more likely than other women to have experienced physical violence during the 12 months prior to the survey.

Rural women (34 percent) are more likely to have ever experienced physical violence than urban women (28 percent). They are also more likely to have experienced physical violence in the 12 months prior to the survey (21 percent and 16 percent, respectively). Khyber Pakhtunkhwa has the highest

percentage of women who have ever experienced physical violence (57 percent), followed by Balochistan (43 percent). Reported experience of violence is also relatively high in Punjab and Sindh (29 and 25 percent, respectively) but less prevalent than in ICT Islamabad (32 percent). The regional pattern of women's experience of physical violence in the 12 months prior to the survey is similar to the pattern among women who have ever experienced physical violence.

Table 14.1 Experience of physical violence

Percentage of ever-married women age 15-49 who have ever experienced physical violence since age 15 and percentage who have experienced violence during the 12 months preceding the survey, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

who have ever experienced Percentage who have experienced physical physical violence in the past 12 months	
Background violence since Often or characteristic age 15 ¹ Often Sometimes sometimes ²	Number of women
Age	
15-19 30.0 7.4 16.8 24.3	133
20-24 28.0 4.1 13.4 17.6	617
25-29 31.5 7.1 15.8 22.9	703
30-39 34.3 4.7 15.0 19.7 40-49 32.9 4.5 12.0 16.5	1,259 976
Residence	0.0
Urban 28.4 4.1 11.9 16.0	1.216
Rural 34.0 5.6 15.3 20.8	2,471
Region	
Punjab 28.6 5.3 11.3 16.6	2,139
Urban 29.6 5.5 11.8 17.3	702
Rural 28.1 5.1 11.1 16.2	1,437
Sindh 25.0 1.2 14.6 15.8	835
Urban 21.3 0.9 9.9 10.8	383
Rural 28.2 1.5 18.6 20.1	452
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa 56.6 9.4 23.2 32.6	512
Urban 46.3 6.0 17.5 23.5	83
Rulai 50.5 10.1 24.5 34.4	430
Balochistan 42.8 9.7 21.8 31.4	160
Urban 42.0 8.5 23.8 32.3 Purel 43.0 10.0 21.2 21.2	35
Kulai 43.0 10.0 21.2 51.2 IOT Islamshad 04.0 0.0 44.0 00.0	124
ICT Islamabad 31.8 8.2 14.6 22.8 Off the Dubit is 40.4 4.4 0.5 0.5	15
Gilgit Baltistan 12.1 1.1 8.4 9.5	25
Marital status	0.540
Married 31.6 4.8 14.3 19.2 Divorced/separated/	3,518
widowed 43.5 10.8 10.3 21.0	169
Number of living children	
0 21.3 3.5 5.9 9.5	458
1-2 31.1 4.7 14.5 19.3	1,114
3-4 32.0 5.1 14.9 20.0	1,039
5+ 38.1 6.1 16.5 22.6	1,076
Employment	
Employed for cash 37.3 5.8 16.5 22.4	889
Employed not for cash 32.1 4.7 13.1 17.8	244
Not employed 30.3 4.9 13.4 18.3	2,551
Education	0.404
No education 30.8 5.7 10.0 21.7	2,124
Middle 364 58 172 23.0	257
Secondary 21.8 4.4 8.1 12.5	395
Higher 12.5 1.4 5.3 6.7	339
Wealth quintile	
Lowest 34.3 3.2 21.6 24.8	690
Second 40.7 9.0 14.2 23.2	730
Miaale 37.5 7.8 15.8 23.6	/13
Highest 19.3 2.8 8.0 10.8	020 734
Total 32.2 5.1 14.1 19.2	3.687

Note: Total includes 3 cases with missing information on employment status. ¹ Includes violence in the past 12 months. For women who were married before age 15 and who reported physical violence by a spouse, the violence could have occurred before age 15. 2 Includes women for whom frequency in the past 12 months is not known.

Forty-four percent of women who are divorced, separated, or widowed and 32 percent of currently married women have experienced physical violence since age 15. Currently married women are less likely to have experienced physical violence in the past 12 months (19 percent) than formerly married women (21 percent).

Experience of physical violence among women increases with the number of living children. While 21 percent of women with no children report having ever experienced physical violence, this percentage increases to 38 percent among women with five or more children. Experience of physical violence in the past 12 months follows a similar pattern, ranging from 10 percent among women with no children to 23 percent among women with five or more children.

Women who are employed for cash are more likely than other women to have experienced physical violence since age 15 as well as during the 12 months preceding the survey (37 percent and 22 percent, respectively).

Experience of physical violence since age 15 generally shows a decrease with educational attainment, from 37 percent among women with no education to 13 percent among women with a higher education. However, 36 percent of women at the middle educational level report having experienced physical violence. Experience of physical violence in the 12 months preceding the survey shows a similar pattern.

The pattern of relationship between wealth and experience of physical violence varies across the wealth quintiles. Experience of physical violence since age 15 increases from 34 percent among women in the lowest wealth quintile to 41 percent among women in the second quintile and then decreases to 19 percent among women in the highest wealth quintile. Women's experience of physical violence in the past 12 months shows a more or less decreasing trend from the lowest to the highest wealth quintile.

14.3 PERPETRATORS OF PHYSICAL VIOLENCE

Table 14.2 shows the percentage of ever-married women reporting any physical violence since age 15 by the person or persons who committed the acts of violence against them. The most commonly reported perpetrator of physical violence among evermarried women is the current husband (79 percent), indicating a high level of spousal violence. Twelve percent of women reported their mother or stepmother as the perpetrator, and 8 percent reported former husbands. Violence from in-laws seems to be quite predominant in Pakistan, with 20 percent of women reporting inlaws as the perpetrators.

14.4 VIOLENCE DURING PREGNANCY

Respondents who had ever been pregnant were asked specifically whether they had ever experienced physical violence while pregnant and, if so, who the perpetrators of the violence were. Table 14.3 shows that 11 percent of women experienced physical violence during a pregnancy. Although there is no clear pattern between current age and violence during pregnancy, younger women (age 15-19) are more likely than older women to report having experienced violence during pregnancy. Table 14.2 Persons committing physical violence

Among ever-married women age 15-49 who
have experienced physical violence since
age 15, percentage who report specific
persons who committed the violence,
Pakistan 2012-13

Person	Percentage of ever-married women
Current husband Former husband Father/stepfather Mother/stepmother Sister/brother Daughter/son Other relative Mother-in-law Father-in-law Other in-law Teacher Employer/someone at work Police/soldier Other	79.4 8.0 7.0 11.9 5.6 0.1 1.6 6.5 3.3 9.8 0.9 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.5
Number of women who have experienced physical violence since age 15	1,186

The proportion of women experiencing violence during pregnancy is higher in rural areas (12 percent) than in urban areas (8 percent). Among regions, the percentage is highest in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (21 percent), followed by Balochistan (19 percent). The prevalence is lower in Punjab, Sindh, and ICT Islamabad, and Gilgit Baltistan has the lowest percentage of women experiencing physical violence during pregnancy (4 percent).

Women who are divorced, separated, or widowed are more likely to report experiencing violence during pregnancy (14 percent) than women who are currently married (11 percent). The proportion of physical violence during pregnancy is higher among women with five or more living children (16 percent) than among women with fewer children or no living children (between 8 and 9 percent).

Violence during pregnancy shows a varied pattern by educational status. Thirteen percent of both women with no education and women at the middle educational level reported experiencing physical violence during pregnancy, as compared with only 3 percent of women with a higher education. Women in the lowest wealth quintile are more likely than those in the highest wealth quintile to have experienced violence during pregnancy.

14.5 MARITAL CONTROL BY HUSBAND

Attempts by husbands to closely control and monitor their wives' behavior are known to be an important warning sign and precursor of violence in a relationship. A series of questions were included in the 2012-13 PDHS to elicit the degree of marital control exercised by husbands over wives. Controlling

Table 14.3 Experience of violence during pregnancy

Among ever-married women age 15-49 who have ever been pregnant, percentage who have ever experienced physical violence during pregnancy, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

	Percentage				
	who	Number of			
	experienced	women who			
Background	violence during	have ever been			
characteristic	pregnancy	pregnant			
Age					
15-19	17.4	77			
20-24	9.4	535			
25-29	10.0	636			
30-39	12.4	1,193			
40-49	9.9	954			
Residence					
Urban	8.4	1,124			
Rural	12.1	2,271			
Region					
Punjab	9.2	1,967			
Sindh	7.8	772			
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	20.9	472			
Balochistan	18.8	146			
ICT Islamabad	8.3	15			
Gilgit Baltistan	4.2	23			
Marital status					
Married	10.7	3,243			
Divorced/separated/					
widowed	14.2	152			
Number of living children					
0	7.7	166			
1-2	9.3	1,114			
3-4	7.8	1,039			
5+	16.0	1,076			
Education					
No education	13.4	1,999			
Primary	7.0	528			
Middle	13.0	232			
Secondary	7.9	350			
Higher	2.5	285			
Wealth quintile					
Lowest	13.1	645			
Second	15.2	666			
Middle	12.1	669			
Fourth	9.9	747			
nignest	4.3	667			
Total	10.9	3,395			

behaviors most often manifest themselves in terms of extreme possessiveness, jealousy, and attempts to isolate the wife from her family and friends. To determine the degree of marital control husbands exercise over their wives, ever-married women age 15-49 were asked whether their current or former husband exhibited each of the following controlling behaviors: (1) he is jealous or gets angry if she talks to other men, (2) he frequently accuses her of being unfaithful, (3) he does not permit meetings with female friends, (4) he tries to limit contact with her family, and (5) he insists on knowing where she is at all times. Because the concentration of such behaviors is more significant than the display of any single behavior, the proportion of women whose husbands display at least three of the specified behaviors is highlighted. Table 14.4 presents the percentage of ever-married women whose husbands display each of the listed behaviors, by selected background characteristics.

Table 14.4 Marital control exercised by husbands

Percentage of ever-married women age 15-49 whose husbands have ever demonstrated specific types of controlling behaviors, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

			Percentage of women whose husband:					
Background characteristic	Is jealous or angry if she talks to other men	Frequently accuses her of being unfaithful	Does not permit her to meet her female friends	Tries to limit her contact with her family	Insists on knowing where she is at all times	Displays 3 or more of the specific behaviors	Displays none of the specific behaviors	Number of ever-married women
Age								
15-10	22.6	52	12/	12.8	18.0	12.2	70.6	133
20-24	22.0	6.2	8.2	12.0	16.0	6.3	67.1	617
20-24	21.5	6.4	0.2	4.4	12.0	0.5	60.4	702
20.20	20.5	0.4 5.2	0.5	0.9	15.0	9.0	67.4	1 250
40.40	20.7	0.5	9.5	1.1 5.4	10.9	0.0 6.0	60.0	076
40-49	21.0	4.9	5.0	5.4	10.0	0.0	09.9	970
Residence								
Urban	18.0	3.7	7.3	5.4	10.6	6.0	76.3	1,216
Rural	28.4	6.4	8.6	7.1	18.7	8.8	64.6	2,471
Region								
Puniah	20.6	5.6	65	4.6	13.7	6 1	73 5	2 1 2 0
Sindh	20.0	2.0	0.5	4.0	10.6	7 0	73.5	2,133
Siliuli Khyhar Dakhtuakhwa	19.0	5.5	0.9	0.0	20.2	12.0	13.4	630 E10
Rhyber Pakhtunkhwa	50.4	0.7	12.2	9.2	30.2	13.0	44.2	512
Balochistan	34.7	11.6	13.9	13.6	32.2	15.4	53.0	160
ICT Islamabad	15.8	5.3	6.6	6.0	12.3	5.1	75.1	15
Gilgit Baltistan	25.3	8.1	1.6	6.3	12.5	5.5	70.4	25
Marital status								
Married	24.7	4.6	7.4	5.9	15.6	7.1	69.0	3.518
Divorced/separated/								-,
widowed	31.2	25.5	24.3	20.0	24 9	22.4	58.0	169
	0.12	2010	2.1.0	2010	2		00.0	
Number of living children								
0	18.9	4.0	8.1	6.0	11.3	5.7	75.0	458
1-2	27.5	6.7	8.0	6.3	17.0	8.7	67.3	1,114
3-4	22.4	4.4	6.8	5.6	11.7	6.0	72.2	1,039
5+	27.5	6.1	9.6	8.0	21.3	9.6	63.4	1,076
Employment								
Employed for cash	23.7	6.9	8.5	6.4	15.1	8.1	68.9	889
Employed not for cash	25.2	67	11 7	11.3	22.9	12.7	66.3	244
Not employed	25.4	49	77	6.2	15.8	7.3	68.5	2 551
	2011			0.2		110	00.0	2,001
Education								
No education	28.1	6.3	9.5	7.5	18.6	9.2	64.3	2,124
Primary	25.3	5.5	6.3	6.2	15.3	5.8	67.7	572
Middle	25.5	10.8	9.9	7.8	14.1	11.2	70.6	257
Secondary	17.8	1.6	7.6	4.6	13.7	6.0	77.1	395
Higher	12.9	1.1	2.3	2.3	5.7	2.1	84.4	339
Wealth guintile								
Lowest	31.0	62	10.5	87	18 9	10.9	62.1	690
Second	32.5	8.0	0.0	0. <i>1</i> 8 1	21 /	10.3	50.8	730
Middle	32.3	7.0	9.9 10.0	0.1	107	10.5	53.0	730
Fourth	20.4	1.2	10.9	0.0	10.7	9.0 F 7	70 5	113 820
Fullin	21.0	3.9	5.9	4.9	13.0	0.7	70.5	724
nignest	14.4	2.1	4.1	2.9	0.1	3.3	61.0	104
Woman afraid of husband								
Afraid most of the time	54.5	21.8	21.7	16.6	39.9	25.8	35.8	554
Sometimes afraid	31.0	4.6	8.7	7.9	19.2	8.2	61.0	1,472
Never	9.7	0.9	3.1	2.0	5.3	1.4	86.2	1,646
Total	05.0		0.4	0.5	10.4	7.0	C0 F	2,007
TOTAL	25.0	5.5	ð.1	0.5	10.1	٥.١	0.50	3,087

Note: Husband refers to the current husband for currently married women and the most recent husband for divorced, separated, or widowed women. Total includes 3 cases with missing information on employment status and 15 cases with missing information on women being afraid of their husbands.

The main controlling behaviors women experienced from their husbands were jealousy or anger if they talked to other men (25 percent) and husbands insisting on knowing where they are at all times (16 percent). Other common behaviors were trying to limit her contact with female friends (8 percent), trying to limit her contact with her family (7 percent), and frequently accusing her of being unfaithful (6 percent). Eight percent of ever-married women say that their husbands display three or more of these controlling behaviors, and 69 percent say their husbands display none of the behaviors.

Seven percent of currently married women reported that their husbands display at least three controlling behaviors, as compared with 22 percent women who are divorced, separated, or widowed. The percentage of women whose husband displays at least three controlling behaviors is higher in rural areas and tends to decrease with increasing wealth, whereas there is no consistent pattern according to women's education. Women who are afraid of their husbands most of the time are more likely to report controlling behavior than women who are never afraid of their husbands. However, variations are minimal and inconsistent according to other background characteristics.

Women were also asked whether they had ever initiated physical violence against their husband when he was not beating or physically hurting them. As less than 1 percent of women reported that they had physically hurt their husbands, a detailed assessment by background characteristics is not presented in this report.

14.6 FORMS OF SPOUSAL VIOLENCE

Different types of violence are not mutually exclusive, and women may report multiple forms of violence. Research suggests that physical violence in intimate relationships is often accompanied by psychological abuse (Krug et al., 2002). Table 14.5 shows the percentage of ever-married women age 15-49 who have experienced various forms of violence by their husbands over the course of the marriage and in the 12 months preceding the survey. Women who are currently married reported on violence committed by their current husband, and women who are widowed, divorced, or separated reported on violence committed by their most recent husband.

Table 14.5 Forms of spousal violence

Percentage of ever-married women age 15-49 who have experienced various forms of violence ever or in the 12 months preceding the survey, committed by their husband, Pakistan 2012-13

		In the past 12 months					
				Often or			
Type of violence	Ever	Often	Sometimes	sometimes			
SPOUSAL VIOLENCE COMMITTED BY CURRENT OR MOST RECENT HUSBAND							
Physical violence							
Any physical violence	26.8	4.7	13.3	18.0			
Pushed her, shook her, or threw something							
at her	16.0	2.4	7.3	9.7			
Slapped her	25.2	3.7	12.2	15.9			
Twisted her arm or pulled her hair	10.9	2.1	4.4	6.5			
Punched her with his fist or with something							
that could hurt her	8.7	1.8	3.5	5.3			
Kicked her, dragged her, or beat her up	5.3	1.0	2.0	3.0			
Tried to choke her or burn her on purpose	2.1	0.6	0.6	1.2			
Threatened her or attacked her with a knife,							
gun, or other weapon	1.7	0.4	0.6	1.0			
Emotional violence							
Any emotional violence	32.2	10.7	17.6	28.3			
Said or did something to humiliate her in							
front of others	25.9	8.3	13.6	21.9			
Threatened to hurt or harm her or someone							
she cared about	4.8	1.9	1.8	3.8			
Insulted her or made her feel bad about							
herself	27.3	8.5	15.2	23.8			
Any form of emotional and/or physical							
violence	38.5	11.4	21.3	32.8			
	07.4	2.7		10.0			
Physical violence	27.1	na	na	18.0			
Number of ever-married women	3,687	3,687	3,687	3,687			

Note: Husband refers to the current husband for currently married women and the most recent husband for divorced, separated, or widowed women. na = Not available

na = not available
The results show that 27 percent of ever-married women reported ever experiencing physical violence from their husband and that 32 percent reported experiencing emotional violence. Overall, 39 percent of women experienced physical and/or emotional violence from their husband. Twenty-seven percent of women reported having experienced physical violence from any husband (current or former).

Slapping is the most common form of spousal violence, experienced by 25 percent of women (Table 14.5 and Figure 14.1). Sixteen percent of women reported having been pushed, been shaken, or had something thrown at them. The most common forms of emotional violence reported by women were insulting them or making them feel bad about themselves (27 percent) and saying something to humiliate them in front of others (26 percent). The majority of women who have ever experienced each of these forms of violence have also experienced the same type of violence in the past 12 months.

Thirty-three percent of ever-married women reported experiencing spousal physical and/or emotional violence in the past 12 months, with 21 percent having experienced violence sometimes and 11 percent having experienced it often.



Figure 14.1 Forms of spousal violence

14.7 SPOUSAL VIOLENCE BY BACKGROUND CHARACTERISTICS

Table 14.6 shows the percentage of ever-married women age 15-49 who have experienced spousal emotional or physical violence by selected background characteristics. Women's experience of each type of spousal violence increases with age and number of children. Women who are employed for cash are more likely than other women to have ever experienced either of the two forms of violence. Formerly married women are more likely to have experienced either physical or emotional spousal violence (50 percent) than currently married women (38 percent). Women's experience of violence differs by urbanrural residence (32 percent and 42 percent, respectively). At the regional level, women in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa are most likely to have experienced physical or emotional violence (57 percent), followed by women in Balochistan (50 percent); the lowest proportion is reported in Gilgit Baltistan (20 percent).

Table 14.6 Spousal violence by background characteristics

Percentage of ever-married women age 15-49 who have ever experienced emotional or physical violence committed by their husband, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

Background	Emotional	Physical	Physical or	Number of ever-married
Characteristic	VIOIEIICE	VIOIENCE	emolional	women
Age 15-19 20-24 25-29 30-39 40-49	24.8 27.6 27.2 33.9 37.5	24.4 22.2 24.2 29.4 28.6	27.8 33.0 33.0 41.2 43.8	133 617 703 1,259 976
Residence Urban Rural	26.6 35.0	22.8 28.8	32.2 41.6	1,216 2,471
Region Punjab Urban Rural	34.9 33.0 35.8	23.1 24.4 22.5	39.3 37.9 40.0	2,139 702 1,437
Sindh Urban Rural	14.4 12.2 16.3	19.8 14.8 24.1	23.0 17.4 27.8	835 383 452
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Urban Rural	47.3 35.5 49.5	50.7 39.2 52.9	57.4 47.4 59.4	512 83 430
Balochistan Urban Rural	42.9 36.4 44.8	39.3 40.1 39.0	50.1 45.2 51.4	160 35 124
ICT Islamabad	33.9	24.2	38.9	15
Gilgit Baltistan	16.4	10.4	20.0	25
Marital status Married Divorced/separated/ widowed	31.6 44.4	26.1 42.0	37.9 49.8	3,518 169
Number of living				
children 0 1-2 3-4 5+	19.7 29.6 30.3 42.1	15.3 25.4 27.6 32.5	22.6 34.7 39.3 48.4	458 1,114 1,039 1,076
Employment Employed for cash Employed not for cash Not employed	36.2 36.3 30.5	31.7 25.1 25.4	43.9 40.1 36.5	889 244 2,551
Education No education Primary Middle Secondary Higher	36.5 33.3 28.9 23.0 16.3	31.1 28.0 26.8 16.6 10.5	43.5 40.3 36.5 26.3 19.8	2,124 572 257 395 339
Wealth quintile Lowest Second Middle Fourth Highest Total	33.2 41.1 37.0 31.2 18.9 32.2	30.1 34.0 33.4 23.1 14.5 26.8	41.4 46.9 43.8 37.1 23.7 38.5	690 730 713 820 734 3,687

Note: Husband refers to the current husband for currently married women and the most recent husband for divorced, separated, or widowed women. Total includes 3 cases with missing information on employment status.

Women's experience of most forms of violence decreases sharply with increasing education. For example, 44 percent of women with no education have experienced spousal physical or emotional violence, as compared with 20 percent of women who have a higher education. The relationship between women's experience of violence and wealth is not consistent. Both forms of violence are higher among women in the second quintile than among women in the higher or lower quintiles. While women in the highest quintile are consistently less likely than women in any other quintile to experience any form of

spousal violence, it is important to note that almost 1 in 4 women in the highest quintile have experienced some form of physical or emotional violence.

14.8 VIOLENCE BY SPOUSAL CHARACTERISTICS AND WOMEN'S EMPOWERMENT INDICATORS

Table 14.7 presents information on ever-married women's experience of spousal emotional and physical violence according to husbands' characteristics and women's empowerment indicators. The table shows that spousal violence decreases with increasing education of the husband. For example, 44 percent of women whose spouses have no education have experienced physical or emotional forms of violence, as compared with 26 percent of women whose spouses have more than a secondary education. Spousal violence is much higher (45 percent) among couples where both partners are uneducated than among couples where both partners have the same level of education (26 percent).

There is a very strong relationship between the experience of emotional and physical violence and the husband's alcohol use. Women whose husbands get drunk often are 35 percentage points more likely to experience both types of spousal violence than women whose husbands do not drink. Women who are 10 years younger than their spouse are more likely (41 percent) than women who are the same age as or older than their spouse to experience emotional and physical violence (36 percent and 37 percent, respectively).

Spousal violence increases linearly with the number of controlling behaviors displayed by the husband. Among women whose husbands exhibit five or six types of controlling behaviors, almost all (96 percent) have experienced one or more forms of violence. In contrast, one-fourth of women (27 percent) whose husbands display none of the six controlling behaviors have experienced some form of spousal violence. There is an inconsistent relationship between women's participation in household decisions and their experience of violence. Women who participate in one or two decisions (44 percent) are more likely to experience violence than those with no participation in decisionmaking (36 percent) and those who participate in three decisions (37 percent).

Women who justify wife beating for any of the six reasons have a higher prevalence of physical or emotional violence; women who reject any of the reasons experience less violence (32 percent) than women who agree with one to two reasons (42 percent), three to four reasons (51 percent), or five to six reasons (50 percent). It is often stated that violence perpetuates violence. As can be seen in Table 14.7, a family history of domestic violence is associated with a respondent's own experience of domestic violence. Among women whose fathers beat their mothers, 66 percent have experienced emotional or physical violence, as compared with 31 percent of women whose fathers did not beat their mothers.

Women who report being afraid of their husbands most of the time are more likely to suffer spousal violence (66 percent) than women who are afraid only sometimes (48 percent) and those who are never afraid (21 percent).

Table 14.7 Spousal violence by husband's characteristics and empowerment indicators

Percentage of ever-married women age 15-49 who have ever experienced emotional or physical violence committed by their husband, by husband's characteristics and empowerment indicators, Pakistan 2012-13

Background characteristic	Emotional violence	Physical violence	Physical or emotional	Number of women
Husband's education No education Primary Secondary More than secondary	37.1 33.8 32.1 20.1	33.1 29.5 24.3 15.6	44.4 40.0 37.3 26.2	1,212 629 1,234 600
Husband's alcohol consumption ¹ Does not drink Drinks/never gets drunk Gets drunk sometimes Gets drunk verv often	30.5 * 58.8	24.8 * 58.8 71.1	36.8 * 69.2 71.6	3,486 19 72
Spousal education difference Husband better educated Wife better educated Both equally educated Neither educated	32.0 27.3 23.8 37.6	26.3 22.0 15.9 33.2	38.7 31.7 26.1 45.0	1,797 566 306 1,007
Spousal age difference ² Wife is older Wife is same age Wife is 1-4 years younger Wife is 5-9 years younger Wife is 10+ years younger	28.9 28.2 32.1 29.9 35.9	20.7 21.5 28.7 24.8 27.1	36.9 36.1 38.4 36.2 40.7	282 210 1,267 1,146 607
Number of marital control behaviors displayed by husband ³ 0 1-2 3-4 5-6	20.8 53.8 58.2 95.9	16.2 45.5 56.0 87.4	26.5 62.2 63.9 95.9	2,526 873 222 67
Number of decisions in which women participate ⁴ 0 1-2 3	30.1 35.6 30.8	25.7 30.7 23.9	35.6 44.2 36.6	1,326 791 1,401
Number of reasons for which wife beating is justified ⁵ 0 1-2 3-4 5-6	26.7 34.6 43.2 40.6	20.4 29.1 38.7 38.3	31.8 41.7 50.8 49.5	2,147 445 610 485
Woman's father beat her mother Yes No Does not know/missing	54.2 26.4 27.0	57.5 18.3 26.8	66.0 31.0 35.3	763 2,729 195
Woman afraid of husband Afraid most of the time Sometimes afraid Never Total	57.9 39.1 17.5 32.2	54.6 34.4 10.8 26.8	65.7 48.0 21.0 38.5	554 1,472 1,646 3,687

Note: Husband refers to the current husband for currently married women and the most recent husband for divorced, separated, or widowed women. Total includes 11 cases for which information on husband's education is not known and 15 cases with missing information on women being afraid of their husbands. An asterisk indicates that a figure is based on fewer than 25 unweighted cases and has been suppressed.

Excludes 3 women with no information on husband's alcohol consumption status

² Includes only women who have been married only once. Excludes 7 women with no information on spouse's age.

3 According to the wife's report. See Table 14.4 for the list of behaviors.

According to the wife's report. See Table 13.6.1 for the list of decisions. Includes only currently married women.

According to the wife's report. See Table 13.7.1 for the list of reasons.

14.9 RECENT SPOUSAL VIOLENCE

Recent experience of spousal violence is an indicator of the extent to which domestic violence is a current problem. Table 14.8 shows that, overall, 18 percent of ever-married women experienced physical violence perpetrated by their current or most recent husband in the 12 months preceding the survey.

Women's experience of physical violence in the past 12 months decreases with age and increases with number of children. Women employed for cash are more likely than women in the other employment categories to have experienced physical violence in the past 12 months. Urban women are less likely than rural women to have experienced emotional and physical violence in the past 12 months. Also, women in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa and Balochistan are more likely than women in other regions to have experienced violence in the past 12 months. Recent experience of spousal physical violence does not vary consistently with education and wealth, although women with a higher education and those in the highest wealth quintile are least likely to have experienced violence. Moreover, the proportions of women who experienced spousal physical violence are approximately the same among those who are currently married and those who are divorced, separated, or widowed. Women who are never afraid of their husbands are least likely to report recent physical violence from their husbands.

14.10 ONSET OF SPOUSAL VIOLENCE

To obtain information on the onset of marital violence, currently married women were asked when the first episode of violence took place, if ever. Table 14.9 shows the interval between marriage and the first episode of physical violence by the current husband. Seventy-four percent of ever-married women have never experienced spousal physical violence from their current husband. The likelihood of experiencing spousal physical violence increases with marital duration. For instance, 90 percent of women who have been married for less than two years have never faced violence from

Table 14.8 Physical violence in the past 12 months by any husband

Percentage of ever-married women who have experienced physical violence by any husband in the past 12 months, by background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

Background characteristic	Percentage of women who have experienced physical violence in the past 12 months from any husband	Number of ever-married women
Age	,	
15-19	21.8	133
20-24	17.3	617
25-29	19.9	703
30-39	18.7	1,259
40-49	15.5	976
Residence	15 1	1 016
Bural	15.1	1,210 2.471
Rula	13.4	2,471
Puniah	14 9	2 139
Sindh	15.5	835
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	31.1	512
Balochistan	31.3	160
ICT Islamabad	21.3	15
Gilgit Baltistan	9.5	25
Marital status		
Married	17.9	3,518
Divorced/separated/	10.0	160
	19.0	109
Number of living children	07	150
0 1-2	0.7 18 1	400
3-4	18.5	1.039
5+	21.3	1,076
Employment		
Employed for cash	21.3	889
Employed not for cash	16.5	244
Not employed	17.0	2,551
Education		
No education	20.3	2,124
Primary	19.1	572
Secondary	19.0	395
Higher	6.7	339
Wealth quintile		
Lowest	23.7	690
Second	21.0	730
Middle	22.2	713
Fourth	13.8	820
nignest	10.2	734
Woman afraid of husband	40.0	
Arraid most of the time	42.9	554 1 472
Never	5.2	1,472
Total	18.0	3,697
IUIdI	10.0	3,007

Note: Any husband includes all current, most recent, and former husbands. Total includes 3 cases with missing information on employment status and 15 cases with missing information on women being afraid of their husbands.

their husbands, as opposed to 71 percent among those who have been married for 10 years or more.

Table 14.9 shows that 19 percent of women who had been married for two to four years first experienced spousal physical violence during their second year of marriage. Fourteen percent of women who had been married for more than 10 years first experienced violence during their second year of marriage, and 24 percent first experienced it during their fifth year of marriage. Twenty-seven percent of women who had been married for more than 10 years reported that they first experienced spousal physical violence during the tenth year of marriage.

Table 14.9 Experience of spousal violence by duration of marriage

Among currently married women age 15-49 who have been married only once, the percentage who first experienced physical violence committed by their current husband by specific exact years since marriage according to marital duration, Pakistan 2012-13

	Percentag spousal ph m	je who first ex nysical violen narital duratio	xperienced ce by exact n:	Percentage who have not experienced spousal physical	Number of currently married women who have been married only
Duration of marriage	2 years	5 years	10 years	violence	once
Years since marriage					
<2	na	na	na	90.4	318
2-4	18.5	na	na	76.9	440
5-9	13.1	22.8	na	75.4	674
10+	14.1	23.9	27.1	70.6	2,004
Total	14.0	22.3	24.5	74.2	3,437
na = Not applicable					

14.11 PHYSICAL CONSEQUENCES OF SPOUSAL VIOLENCE

In the 2012-13 PDHS, ever-married women age 15-49 were asked whether they had sustained some form of injury as a result of physical violence inflicted by their husband. Among women who had experienced any physical violence from their spouse, 29 percent reported that they suffered cuts, bruises, or aches; 10 percent had eye injuries, sprains, dislocations, or burns; and 6 percent had deep wounds, broken bones, broken teeth, or other serious injuries (Table 14.10). Overall, 31 percent of women who had ever experienced spousal physical violence suffered one or more of these injuries. The prevalence of all forms of injuries was higher among women who had experienced violence in the past 12 months than among women who had ever experienced spousal violence.

Table 14.10 Injuries to women due to spousal violence

Percentage of ever-married women age 15-49 who have experienced specific types of spousal violence by types of injuries resulting from the violence, according to the type of violence and whether they experienced the violence ever and in the 12 months preceding the survey, Pakistan 2012-13

Type of violence	Cuts, bruises, or aches	Eye injuries, sprains, dislocations, or burns	Deep wounds, broken bones, broken teeth, or any other serious injury	Any of these injuries	Number of ever-married women who have ever experienced any physical violence
Experienced physical violence ¹	28.0	0.6	5 5	30.6	990
In the past 12 months	32.7	13.1	7.1	34.8	663

Note: Husband refers to the current husband for currently married women and the most recent husband for divorced, separated, or widowed women.

Excludes women who reported violence only in response to a direct question on violence during pregnancy

² Includes in the past 12 months

14.12 HELP-SEEKING BEHAVIOR BY WOMEN WHO EXPERIENCE VIOLENCE

Table 14.11 shows the percent distribution of women who have ever experienced physical violence committed by anyone, according to whether they sought help to stop the violence and, among those who did not seek help, whether or not they told anyone about the violence. Overall, 52 percent of women who have experienced any type of physical violence have never sought help and never told anyone about the violence. Ten percent never sought help but told someone that they were victims of violence. Only 35 percent of women in Pakistan who have ever experienced any form of physical violence have sought help from any source.

Table 14.11 Help seeking to stop violence

Percent distribution of ever-married women age 15-49 who have ever experienced physical violence by their help-seeking behavior, according to type of violence and background characteristics, Pakistan 2012-13

Background characteristic	Sought help to stop violence	Never sought help but told someone	Never sought help, never told anyone	Missing/don't know	Total	Number of women who have ever experienced any physical violence
Age						
15-19	(32.0)	(11.8)	(51.4)	(4.7)	100.0	40
20-24	33.0	7.2	58.0	1.8	100.0	173
25-29	40.5	11.2	47.0	1.3	100.0	221
30-39	33.1	10.5	52.2	4.2	100.0	432
40-49	36.1	10.9	51.3	1.8	100.0	321
Residence						
Urban	35.9	10.8	52.6	0.7	100.0	345
Rural	35.0	10.1	51.5	3.5	100.0	841
Region						
Punjab	50.4	7.3	40.6	1.8	100.0	611
Sindh	23.3	15.5	58.9	2.2	100.0	209
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	16.4	12.4	66.8	4.4	100.0	290
Balochistan	16.9	11.8	66.4	4.8	100.0	68
ICT Islamabad	29.2	19.6	46.8	4.3	100.0	5
Gilgit Baltistan	(32.5)	(9.5)	(58.0)	(0.0)	100.0	3
Marital status						
Married	34.1	9.8	53.5	2.6	100.0	1.113
Divorced/separated/						, -
widowed	52.6	17.9	26.6	2.9	100.0	73
Number of living children						
0	35.2	13.1	47.6	4.0	100.0	98
1-2	36.9	10.1	51.6	1.4	100.0	346
3-4	34.9	9.0	52.6	3.5	100.0	332
5+	34.2	10.8	52.3	2.7	100.0	410
Employment						
Employed for cash	45.1	10.0	43.7	1.3	100.0	331
Employed not for cash	45.1	3.5	49.3	2.1	100.0	78
Not employed	30.2	11.2	55.3	3.3	100.0	773
Education						
No education	34.0	10.6	52.4	3.0	100.0	782
Primary	36.3	6.0	56.3	1.4	100.0	182
Middle	46.6	12.0	37.2	4.2	100.0	94
Secondary	35.9	9.6	53.1	1.3	100.0	86
Higher	27.4	20.4	50.7	1.6	100.0	43
Wealth quintile						
Lowest	32.3	12.2	53.4	2.0	100.0	237
Second	33.5	11.7	51.6	3.1	100.0	297
Middle	40.6	8.0	46.9	4.5	100.0	268
Fourth	36.7	8.8	52.5	2.0	100.0	243
Highest	31.0	11.0	57.5	0.5	100.0	142
Total	35.2	10.3	51.8	2.7	100.0	1,186

Note: Women can report more than one source from which they sought help. Total includes 3 cases with missing information on employment status. Figures in parentheses are based on 25-49 unweighted cases.

Help-seeking behavior varies inconsistently with age and number of children. A much higher proportion of divorced, separated, or widowed women (53 percent) than currently married women (34 percent) have ever sought help to stop violence.

There are only minimal differences in help-seeking behavior among urban and rural women. Among the regions, the proportion of women seeking help varies from a maximum of 50 percent in Punjab to a minimum of 6 percent in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa. The data suggest that neither education nor wealth results in a greater likelihood of women seeking help: the most educated women and those in the highest wealth quintile are less likely to seek help than less educated or less wealthy women. Table 14.12 shows information on sources of help. The most common source of help is the woman's own family. Seventy-four percent of abused women who sought help did so from their own family, 22 percent did so from their husband's family, and 7 percent sought help from their husband. Neighbors are a source for 6 percent of abused women seeking help. Notably few women seek help from the police, lawyers, doctors or medical personnel, or social service organizations. Thus, despite the availability of social work and crisis management services catering to victims of violence, the data suggest that few abused women are accessing these services.

Table 14.12 Sources for help to stop violence

Percentage of women age 15-49 who have experienced physical violence and sought help by sources from which they sought help, Pakistan 2012-13

	Type of violence experienced
Person	Physical only
Own family	74.1
Husband's family Husband	22.0
Friend	2.1
Neighbor	5.6
Doctor/medical personnel	0.1
Police	0.8
Lawyer	0.4
Social work organization	0.1
Other	2.0
Number of women who have experienced violence and	
sought help	418

REFERENCES

Allen, L.H., and S.R. Gillespie. 2001. *What works? A review of the efficacy and effectiveness of nutrition interventions*. ACC/SCN Nutrition Policy Paper 19; Asian Development Bank (ADB) Nutrition and Development Series 5. Geneva, Switzerland: United Nations Administrative Committee on Coordination/Sub-Committee on Nutrition; Manila, the Philippines: ADB.

Alvi, A.M. 1993. *National registration system in Pakistan*. Islamabad, Pakistan: Directorate of Registration, Government of Pakistan.

Associated Press of Pakistan. 2013. Obesity on increase in Pakistan. http://www.thenews.com.pk/article-83095-Obesity-on-the-increase-in-Pakistan

Atwood, S.J., J. Fullerton, N.S. Khan, and S. Sharif. 2010. USAID/Pakistan: Maternal newborn and child health program final evaluation. Report No. 10-01-394. Washington D.C.: Global Health Technical Assistance Project.

Basu, A.M. 1989. Is discrimination in food really necessary for explaining sex differentials in childhood mortality? *Population Studies* 43(2):193-210.

Bhutta, Z.A., I. Gupta, H. de'Silva, D.S. Manandhar, S. Awasthi, S.M.M. Hossain, and M.A. Salam. 2004. Maternal and child health: is South Asia ready for change? *British Medical Journal* 328(7443):816–819.

Bradley, S. E. K., T.N. Croft, J.D. Fishel, and C.F. Westoff. 2012. Revising unmet need for family planning. DHS Analytical Studies No. 25. Calverton, Maryland: ICF International.

Campbell, O.M., and W.J. Graham. 2006. Strategies for reducing maternal mortality: getting on with what works. *The Lancet* 368(9543):1284-1299.

Cecatti J.G., E.P. Correa-Silva, H. Milanez, S.S. Morais, and J.P. Souza. 2008. The associations between inter-pregnancy interval and maternal and neonatal outcomes in Brazil. *Maternal and Child Health Journal* 12:275-281.

Chintahpalli, K. 2013. First cousin marriage can double the risk of birth defects, finds study. *British Medical Journal* 347:f4374.

Das, J., and Z.A. Bhutta. 2013. *Scale-up plan for essential medicine for child health, diarrhea, pneumonia and malaria*. Karachi, Pakistan: Aga Khan University.

Das Gupta, M. 1987. Selective discrimination against female children in rural Punjab, India. *Population and Development Review* 13(1):77-101.

Directorate of Malaria Control (DMC) [Pakistan]. 2013. *Provision of free of cost curative and preventive services for malaria control in Pakistan*. Islamabad, Pakistan: Ministry of National Health Services, Regulations and Coordination.

Dixon-Mueller, R. 1998. *Female empowerment and demographic process: moving beyond Cairo*. Policy and Research Papers No. 13. Paris, France: International Union for the Scientific Study of Population.

Ekouevi, K., M. Ayad, B. Barrere, and D.C. Cantor. 1991. Household structure from a comparative perspective. In: *Proceedings of the Demographic and Health Surveys World Conference*. Vol. 3. Columbia, Maryland: IRD/Macro International Inc.

Feeney, G., and I. Alam. 2003. Fertility, population growth, and accuracy of census enumeration in Pakistan 1961-1998. In: A.R. Kemal, M. Irfan, and N. Mehmood, eds. *Population of Pakistan: An analysis of 1998 Population and Housing Census*. Islamabad, Pakistan: Pakistan Institute of Development Economics/United Nations Population Fund.

Franny, A. 2013. Gulu women economic development and globalization. http://www.globalgiving.org/pfil/9326/Quaterly_Report_April_June_2013.pdf

Government of Pakistan. 1973. Constitution of Pakistan. Islamabad, Pakistan: Printing Press of Pakistan.

Government of Pakistan. 1987. *Pakistan Contraceptive Prevalence Survey, 1984-85.* Islamabad, Pakistan: Population Welfare Division, Ministry of Planning and Development.

Government of Pakistan. 2010a. *The Medium Term Development Framework (MTDF) of Pakistan*. Islamabad, Pakistan: Planning Commission.

Government of Pakistan. 2010b. National Program for Maternal, Newborn and Child Health (2006-2012), Government of Pakistan's Initiative for Millennium Developments Goals 4 and 5. Islamabad, Pakistan: Ministry of Health.

Government of Pakistan. 2013. *Pakistan Economic Survey*, 2012-13. Islamabad, Pakistan: Finance Division, Economic Advisor's Wing.

Government of Punjab. 2013. Strategic Plan for Maternal, Newborn and Child Health (MNCH), Punjab-Pakistan 2013-15 (unpublished).

Hasan, Q., A.H. Bosan, and K.M. Bile. 2010. A review of EPI progress in Pakistan towards achieving coverage targets: present situation and the way forward. *Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal* 16(Supplement):31-38.

Heise, L., M. Ellsberg, and M. Goettemoeller. (1999). *Ending violence against women*. Population Reports Series L, No. 11. Baltimore, Maryland: Johns Hopkins University, School of Public Health, Population Information Program.

Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS). 2012. UNAIDS World AIDS Day report 2012. Geneva, Switzerland: UNAIDS.

Kabeer, N. 1999. Resources, agency, achievements: reflections on the measurement of women's empowerment. *Development and Change* 30:435-464.

Khan, A. H. 1998. 1998 census: the results and implications. Pakistan Development Review 37(4):481-493.

Kish, L. 1965. Survey sampling. New York: John Wiley and Sons Inc.

Krug E.G., L. Dahlberg, J. Mercy, A. Zwi, and R. Lozano, eds. 2002. *World report on violence and health*. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.

Mahmood, A. 2002. Determinants of neonatal and postneonatal mortality in Pakistan. *Pakistan Development Review* 41(4):723–744.

Mahmood, A. 2010. Improving maternal and neonatal health: measuring the impact of the PAIMAN Project in ten districts in Pakistan, comparing baseline and end line household survey findings (2005-2010). http://www.popcouncil.org/pdfs/2010PAIMAN_EndlineReport.pdf

Mahmood, A. 2012. Birth spacing and family planning uptake in Pakistan: evidence from FALAH. http://www.popcouncil.org/pdfs/2012RH_FALAH-EndlineReport.pdf

Malhotra, A., and M. Mather. 1997. Do schooling and work empower women in developing countries? Gender and domestic decisions in Sri Lanka. *Sociological Forum* 12(4):599-630.

Maqsood, F. 2009. Effect of socio-cultural exclusion and community level factors on reproductive level: comparison between urban and rural Pakistani women. Lahore, Pakistan: University of Punjab, Department of Social and Cultural Studies.

Memon, I.A. 2012. Diarrhea demands continued attention (editorial). *Pakistan Pediatric Journal* 36(3):119-121.

Midhet, F., and S. Becker. 2010. Impact of community-based interventions on maternal and neonatal health indicators: results from a community randomized trial in rural Balochistan, Pakistan. http://www.reproductive-health-journal.com/content/7/1/30

Ministry of Health (MOH) [Pakistan]. 2001. Pakistan health policy. Islamabad, Pakistan: Ministry of Health.

Ministry of Health (MOH) [Pakistan]. 2004. *National nutrition strategic plan*. Islamabad, Pakistan: Ministry of Health.

Ministry of Health (MOH) [Pakistan]. 2005. National AIDS Control Program (NACP), HIV voluntary counselling and testing (VCT) guidelines for Pakistan. Islamabad, Pakistan: Ministry of Health.

Ministry of Health (MOH) [Pakistan]. 2008. *National strategy for infant and young child feeding in Pakistan*. Islamabad, Pakistan: Ministry of Health.

Ministry of Health (MOH) [Pakistan]. 2009. *National health policy 2009: stepping towards better health*. Islamabad, Pakistan: Ministry of Health.

Ministry of Health (MOH) [Pakistan]. 2013. National Program for Family Planning and Primary Health Care. Islamabad, Pakistan: Ministry of Health.

Ministry of Population Welfare (MOPW) [Pakistan]. 2002. *Population policy of Pakistan*. Islamabad, Pakistan: Ministry of Population Welfare.

Ministry of Population Welfare (MOPW) [Pakistan]. 2009. *Manual of national standards for family planning services*. Islamabad, Pakistan: Ministry of Population Welfare.

Mosley, W.H., and L.C. Chen. 1984. An analytical framework for the study of child survival in developing countries. *Population and Development Review* 10(Supplement):25-45.

Munoz, A., C.A. Sabin, and A.N. Phillips. 1997. The incubation period of AIDS. *AIDS* Supplement: 565-576.

Muslim Family Law Ordinance. 1961. Muslim Marriages and Divorces (Registration) Act 1974.

Nanan, D.J. 2002. The obesity pandemic—implications for Pakistan. *Journal of the Pakistan Medical Association* 52(8):342-346.

National AIDS Control Program (NACP) [Pakistan]. 2013. *Monthly report—February 2013*. Islamabad, Pakistan: Ministry of National Health Services, Regulations and Coordination.

National Institute of Population Studies (NIPS) [Pakistan]. 2007. *Status of women, Reproductive Health and Family Planning Survey: main report*. Islamabad, Pakistan: NIPS.

National Institute of Population Studies (NIPS) [Pakistan]. 2009. *Gilgit Baltistan Demographic and Health Survey 2008*. Islamabad, Pakistan: Ministry of Population Welfare.

National Institute of Population Studies (NIPS) [Pakistan] and IRD/Macro International Inc. 1992. *Pakistan Demographic and Health Survey, 1990-91*. Columbia, Maryland: NIPS and IRD/Macro International Inc.

National Institute of Population Studies (NIPS) [Pakistan] and Macro International Inc. 2008. *Pakistan Demographic and Health Survey 2006-07*. Islamabad, Pakistan: National Institute of Population Studies and Macro International Inc.

Osaki, K.O. 1991. Female headed households in developing countries by choice or by circumstances. In: *Proceedings of the Demographic and Health Surveys World Conference*. Vol. 3. Columbia, Maryland: IRD/Macro International Inc.

Pan American Health Organization (PAHO)/World Health Organization (WHO). 2003. *Guiding principles for complementary feeding of the breastfed child*. Washington, D.C., and Geneva, Switzerland: WHO.

Planning Commission [Pakistan]. 2010. *Pakistan Millennium Development Goals report 2010*. Islamabad, Pakistan: Planning Commission, Centre for Poverty Reduction and Social Policy Development.

Planning Commission [Pakistan] and United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). 2012. Situational analysis of children and women in Pakistan. http://www.unicef.org/pakistan/National_Report.pdf

Richardus, J.H., W.C. Graafmans, K.M. Van Der Pal De Bruin, M.P. Amelink-Verburg, S.P. Verloove-Vanhorick, and J.P. Mackenbach. 1997. A European concerted action investigating the validity of perinatal mortality as an outcome indicator for quality of antenatal and perinatal care. *Journal of Perinatal Medicine* 25:313-324.

Rosenfield, A., D. Maine, and L. Freedman. 2006. Meeting MDG-5: an impossible dream? *The Lancet* 368(9542):1133-1135.

Rutstein, S. 1999. Wealth versus expenditure: comparison between the DHS wealth index and household expenditures in four departments of Guatemala. Calverton, Maryland: ORC Macro (unpublished).

Rutstein, S. 2005. Effects of preceding birth intervals on neonatal, infant and under-five years mortality and nutritional status in developing countries: evidence from the Demographic and Health Surveys. *International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 89:S7-S24.

Rutstein, S., K. Johnson, and D. Gwatkin. 2000. *Poverty, health inequality, and its health and demographic effects.* Paper presented at the annual meeting of the Population Association of America, Los Angeles, California.

Siddiqi S., I.U. Haq, A. Ghaffar, T. Akhtar, and R. Mahaini. 2004. Pakistan's maternal and child health policy: analysis, lessons and the way forward. *Health Policy* 69(1):117-130.

Straus, M. A. 1990. Measuring intra-family conflict and violence: the Conflict Tactics Scale. In: *Physical violence in American families: risk factors and adaptation to violence in 8,145 families.* New Brunswick, New Jersey: Transaction Publications.

United Nations. 1983. *Manual X: indirect techniques for demographic estimation*. New York: United Nations Department of International Economic and Social Affairs.

United Nations. 1993. Declaration on the elimination of violence against women. New York: United Nations.

United Nations. 1994. *Program of action adopted at the International Conference on Population and Development*. New York: United Nations.

United Nations. 1995. Beijing declaration and platform for action at the Fourth World Conference on Women. http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/beijing/pdf/BDPfA%20E.pdf

United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). 2004. *Surviving childbirth and pregnancy in South Asia*. Kathmandu, Nepal: UNICEF Regional Office for South Asia.

United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). 2006. *Education in emergencies, a resource tool kit.* New York: UNICEF.

United Nations Development Program (UNDP). 2013. The Millennium Development Goals report 2013. http://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/librarypage/mdg/the-millennium-development-goals-report-2013.html

U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID). 2005. *Household-to-hospital continuum of maternal and newborn care*. Baltimore, Maryland: USAID.

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 2006. *The health consequences of involuntary exposure to tobacco smoke: a report of the surgeon general*. Rockville, Maryland: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

Windham, G.C., A. Eaton, and B. Hopkins. 1999. Evidence for an association between environmental tobacco smoke exposure and birth weight: a meta-analysis and new data. *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology* 13:35-37.

World Health Organization (WHO). 2001. *Putting women first: ethical and safety recommendations for research on domestic violence against women*. Geneva, Switzerland: Department of Gender and Women's Health, World Health Organization.

World Health Organization (WHO). 2005. *Guiding principles for feeding nonbreastfed children 6-24 months of age*. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.

World Health Organization (WHO). 2006a. *Neonatal and perinatal mortality, country, regional and global estimates*. Publication 9241563206. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.

World Health Organization (WHO). 2006b. Report of a WHO technical consultation on birth spacing. http://www.who.int/making_pregnancy_safer/publications/policy_brief_birth_spacing.pdf

World Health Organization (WHO). 2006c. *Provision of effective antenatal care: standards for maternal and neonatal care.* Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.

World Health Organization (WHO). 2006d. *Implementing the new recommendations on the clinical management of diarrhea*. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.

World Health Organization (WHO), Multicenter Growth Reference Study Group. 2006e. WHO child growth standards: length/height-for-age, weight-for-length, weight-for-height and body mass index-for-age: methods and development. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.

World Health Organization (WHO). 2008. Indicators for assessing infant and young child feeding practices. Part I: definitions. http://www.who.int/nutrition/publications/infantfeeding/9789241596664/en/

World Health Organization (WHO). 2010. A global strategy for malaria control. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.

World Health Organization (WHO)/United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). 1998. *Complementary feeding of young children in developing countries: a review of current scientific knowledge*. WHO/NUT98.1. Geneva: World Health Organization.

World Health Organization (WHO)/United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). 2002. *Infant and young child feeding strategy*. Geneva: World Health Organization.

World Health Organization (WHO) and United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). 2009. WHO/UNICEF joint statement: home visits for the newborn and a strategy to improve survival. http://www.unicef.org/health/files/WHO_FCH_CAH_09.02_eng.pdf

World Health Organization (WHO) and United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), Joint Monitoring Program for Water Supply and Sanitation. 2010. *Progress on sanitation and drinking water: 2010 update*. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization and United Nations Children's Fund.

World Health Organization (WHO), United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), and United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA). 2004. *Maternal mortality in 2000: estimates developed by WHO, UNICEF, and UNFPA*. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.

Yasir, P.K., Z.B. Shereen, M. Sharma, and A.B. Zulfiqar. 2009. Maternal health and survival in Pakistan: issues and options. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*. 31:920-929.



Table A2.1 Household drinking water

Percent distribution of households by source of drinking water, time to obtain drinking water, and treatment of drinking water, according to region, Pakistan 2012-13

	Region									
Characteristic	Punjab	Sindh	Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	Balochistan	ICT Islamabad	Gilgit Baltistan				
Source of drinking water										
Improved source	98.6	93.7	77.5	67.2	94.9	79.5				
Piped into dwelling/yard/plot	29.8	37.0	18.2	25.9	25.0	62.3				
Public tap/standpipe	6.2	4.4	11.1	10.4	5.4	13.5				
Tube well or borehole/hand										
DUMD	55.5	44 4	34.9	20.7	30.0	0.2				
Protected well	0.6	1.5	8.4	3.8	4.3	27				
Protected spring/rain water	0.2	0.0	4.5	4 2	0.1	0.5				
Bottled water	13	49	0.1	1.8	8.8	0.0				
Filtration plant	5.1	14	0.1	0.3	21.3	0.1				
	0.1	1.4	0.2	0.0	21.0	0.2				
Non-improved source	0.6	6.0	21.5	32.7	4.5	20.4				
Unprotected well	0.2	2.4	4.7	3.3	1.7	1.1				
Unprotected spring	0.0	0.0	11.7	7.2	0.1	3.5				
Tanker truck/cart with drum	0.1	2.7	4.1	8.6	2.7	1.4				
Surface water	0.3	0.9	1.1	13.6	0.0	14.3				
Other source	0.7	0.3	1.0	0.0	0.4	0.1				
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0				
Time to obtain drinking water (round trip)										
Water on premises	83.6	69.7	68.0	39.9	49.8	67.7				
Less than 30 minutes	12.0	18.6	16.8	18.3	37.8	29.6				
30 minutes or longer	4.0	11.5	14.5	40.6	11.4	2.4				
Don't know/missing	0.4	0.3	0.7	1.1	0.9	0.4				
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0				
Water treatment prior to drinking ¹										
Boiled	5.4	15.0	1.9	2.1	13.5	3.4				
Bleach/chlorine added	0.1	0.8	0.1	0.4	0.9	0.0				
Strained through cloth	1.1	6.0	1.9	5.3	2.8	0.2				
Ceramic, sand, or other filter	0.7	1.2	0.1	0.1	2.9	0.2				
Solar disinfection	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.0				
Other	0.3	0.3	0.6	2.6	0.9	0.3				
No treatment	92.6	80.1	95.6	89.3	79.9	95.4				
Dereentage using on										
appropriate treatment										
method ²	6.2	16.5	2.1	2.7	16.7	3.5				
Number	7,614	3,004	1,711	450	72	91				

¹ Respondents may report multiple treatment methods, so the sum of treatment may exceed 100 percent.
² Appropriate water treatment methods include boiling, bleaching, filtering, and solar disinfecting.

Table A2.2 Household sanitation facilities

Percent distribution of households by type of toilet/latrine facilities, according to region, Pakistan 2012-13

	Region							
Type of toilet/latrine facility	Punjab	Sindh	Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	Balochistan	ICT Islamabad	Gilgit Baltistan		
Improved, not shared facility	58.8	56.9	61.8	46.2	92.1	82.0		
Flush/pour flush to piped sewer system	23.4	47.5	8.8	4.5	66.4	0.7		
Flush/pour flush to septic tank	22.8	2.1	18.3	5.4	11.5	0.5		
Flush/pour flush to pit latrine	12.4	4.6	29.7	8.0	13.3	56.9		
Ventilated improved pit (VIP) latrine	0.1	0.4	1.7	6.5	0.0	0.0		
Pit latrine with slab	0.2	2.3	3.3	21.8	1.0	23.8		
Shared facility ¹	13.6	7.0	7.4	6.2	3.7	0.9		
Flush/pour flush to piped sewer system	3.9	2.6	1.2	0.3	1.7	0.0		
Flush/pour flush to septic tank	5.6	1.2	3.3	0.3	1.3	0.0		
Flush/pour flush to pit latrine	4.0	2.1	2.0	0.7	0.6	0.5		
Ventilated improved pit (VIP) latrine	0.0	0.4	0.2	2.4	0.0	0.0		
Pit latrine with slab	0.1	0.7	0.7	2.5	0.0	0.4		
Non-improved facility	27.5	36.0	30.7	47.6	4.2	17.1		
topk/pit latring	0.1	2.0	2.0	47	2.2	17		
Pit latring without slab/open pit	0.1	2.0	3.0 2.4	4.7	2.3	7.1		
Bucket	0.0	5.9 1.0	2.4	0.9	0.2	0.2		
Hanging toilet/banging latrine	0.0	0.1	1.0	0.0	0.0	0.2		
No facility/bush/field	18.7	26.9	21.3	30.2	0.0	77		
Other	0.2	0.2	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.0		
Missing	0.2	0.0	0.3	0.6	0.4	0.4		
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0		
Number	7,614	3,004	1,711	450	72	91		
¹ Facilities that would be considered improv	ed if they were	e not shared b	by two or more ho	useholds				

Table A2	.3 Househ	old populati	on by age, s	sex, and reg	<u>ion</u>							
Percent of	distribution	of the de fa	cto househo	old populatio	n by five-ye	ear age grou	ups, accord	ing to sex an	d region, F	Pakistan 20 ⁻	12-13	
	Punjab				Si	ndh			Khyber Pa	akhtunkhwa	a	
Age	Male	Female	Total	Sex ratio	Male	Female	Total	Sex ratio	Male	Female	Total	Sex ratio
<5	13.7	13.2	13.5	103.6	12.9	13.6	13.2	94.7	14.1	13.2	13.6	106.3
5-9	13.7	12.3	13.0	111.7	13.2	12.7	13.0	104.3	15.8	14.0	14.9	113.2
10-14	12.7	10.8	11.8	117.8	12.2	11.9	12.1	102.7	14.4	12.3	13.3	117.1
15-19	11.0	11.5	11.3	96.0	11.2	10.8	11.0	104.0	11.9	11.9	11.9	99.9
20-24	8.7	10.6	9.7	82.2	9.8	10.5	10.1	92.8	8.8	9.7	9.2	91.0
25-29	7.2	8.4	7.8	86.4	8.9	8.9	8.9	101.0	6.2	7.7	7.0	80.5
30-34	5.8	6.6	6.2	87.5	6.6	6.4	6.5	103.1	5.2	5.8	5.5	89.8
35-39	5.0	5.8	5.4	86.6	5.4	5.6	5.5	97.2	4.4	6.1	5.2	72.5
40-44	5.0	4.6	4.8	108.2	4.1	4.0	4.0	101.8	3.4	4.3	3.9	79.8
45-49	4.3	3.8	4.1	114.1	3.9	4.3	4.1	90.6	3.6	3.9	3.7	92.3
50-54	2.5	2.8	2.7	86.9	2.5	2.7	2.6	90.3	2.7	2.8	2.8	94.6
55-59	2.3	3.0	2.6	77.9	2.9	3.4	3.2	86.0	2.3	2.9	2.6	80.0
60-64	2.5	2.2	2.4	111.4	2.7	2.3	2.5	117.6	2.5	2.3	2.4	110.2
65-69	1.9	1.7	1.8	112.6	1.7	1.2	1.4	140.3	1.8	1.1	1.5	163.4
70-74	1.6	1.1	1.4	141.9	1.2	1.0	1.1	119.2	1.6	1.2	1.4	132.4
75-79	0.8	0.6	0.7	119.5	0.3	0.3	0.3	128.3	0.5	0.4	0.4	120.3
80 +	1.2	0.9	1.0	136.4	0.5	0.5	0.5	98.5	0.8	0.4	0.6	182.7
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	-	100.0	100.0	100.0	-	100.0	100.0	100.0	-
Number	24,657	24,751	49,408	-	10,706	9,991	20,697	-	6,208	6,328	12,536	-

Continued...

		Balochistan				ICT Islamabad			Gilgit Baltistan			
Age	Male	Female	Total	Sex ratio	Male	Female	Total	Sex ratio	Male	Female	Total	Sex ratio
<5	14.4	15.0	14.7	96.4	10.8	10.3	10.6	104.7	13.7	12.1	12.9	112.7
5-9	16.9	15.9	16.4	105.7	9.1	11.2	10.1	81.4	16.5	14.1	15.3	117.0
10-14	13.9	13.8	13.9	101.1	10.4	10.4	10.4	99.7	13.6	14.4	14.0	94.3
15-19	11.3	10.3	10.8	110.1	10.7	10.8	10.7	98.5	13.3	12.0	12.6	111.3
20-24	8.5	10.1	9.3	83.9	10.7	9.8	10.3	109.2	8.1	9.3	8.7	87.1
25-29	8.0	8.9	8.5	90.5	8.2	9.7	8.9	84.5	5.4	7.5	6.5	72.1
30-34	5.6	6.2	5.9	89.9	7.6	6.6	7.1	114.7	4.6	5.6	5.1	82.5
35-39	5.2	5.1	5.2	101.9	6.1	7.2	6.6	83.8	4.2	5.1	4.6	83.2
40-44	4.0	3.4	3.7	118.3	5.6	5.7	5.7	98.5	3.4	3.6	3.5	93.3
45-49	3.5	2.9	3.2	123.1	5.7	4.1	4.9	138.3	3.3	4.1	3.7	78.9
50-54	2.2	3.4	2.7	64.1	3.6	3.9	3.7	90.6	3.0	3.0	3.0	97.6
55-59	2.4	2.2	2.3	107.1	3.3	3.1	3.2	107.4	3.1	3.1	3.1	99.8
60-64	1.8	1.2	1.5	149.2	3.0	3.1	3.0	98.5	2.8	2.1	2.4	136.5
65-69	1.0	0.9	1.0	115.1	2.0	1.4	1.7	151.1	1.8	1.4	1.6	127.7
70-74	0.6	0.4	0.5	137.6	1.4	1.0	1.2	131.2	1.4	0.9	1.2	150.6
75-79	0.2	0.1	0.2	156.2	0.8	0.6	0.7	138.5	0.7	0.7	0.7	109.6
80 +	0.4	0.1	0.3	299.2	1.0	1.0	1.0	107.9	1.0	0.9	0.9	119.8
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	-	100.0	100.0	100.0	-	100.0	100.0	100.0	-
Number	2,082	1,944	4,026	-	225	203	429	-	349	340	689	-

Table A5.1 Current fertility

Age-specific and total fertility rates and the general fertility rate for the three years preceding the survey, by region, Pakistan 2012-13

Age group	Punjab	Sindh	Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	Balochistan	ICT Islamabad	Gilgit Baltistan
15-19	41	43	62	48	25	54
20-24	194	186	181	198	124	174
25-29	237	201	206	236	221	208
30-34	181	189	173	162	149	172
35-39	75	117	111	111	68	107
40-44	24	34	4	66	1	37
45-49	3	12	11	24	0	13
TFR (15-49) GFR	3.8 131	3.9 132	3.9 130	4.2 144	3.0 106	3.8 127

Note: Age-specific fertility rates are per 1,000 women. Rates for age group 45-49 may be slightly biased due to truncation. Rates are for the period 1-36 months prior to the interview.

TFR: Total fertility rate expressed per woman

GFR: General fertility rate expressed per 1,000 women age 15-44

Table A9.1 Number of antenatal care visits and timing of first visit

Percent distribution of women age 15-49 who had a live birth in the five years preceding the survey by number of antenatal care (ANC) visits for the most recent live birth, and by the timing of the first visit, and among women with ANC, median months pregnant at first visit, according to residence, Pakistan 2012-13

	Region									
Number and timing			Khyber		ICT	Gilgit				
of ANC visits	Punjab	Sindh	Pakhtunkhwa	Balochistan	Islamabad	Baltistan				
Number of ANC visits										
None	19.7	20.9	37.6	56.0	3.5	33.9				
1	15.2	11.9	10.4	9.0	2.1	9.8				
2-3	26.6	22.6	27.8	21.9	12.3	25.4				
4+	38.5	44.4	24.0	12.2	82.1	30.9				
Don't know/missing	0.0	0.2	0.2	1.0	0.0	0.0				
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0				
Number of months pregnant at time of first ANC visit										
No antenatal care	19.7	20.9	37.6	56.0	3.5	33.9				
<4	45.2	41.7	39.7	18.8	73.3	32.7				
4-5	14.6	15.7	12.6	12.2	16.6	18.4				
6-7	13.7	14.3	6.2	7.3	5.3	10.5				
8+	6.7	7.2	3.7	5.5	1.1	4.5				
Don't know/missing	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.0				
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0				
Number of women	4,180	1,714	1,117	348	31	56				
Median months pregnant at first visit (for those with ANC) Number of women with ANC	3.7 3,358	3.8 1,355	3.4 697	4.4 153	2.8 30	4.0 37				

B.1 INTRODUCTION

The 2012-13 Pakistan Demographic and Health Survey (PDHS) is the third DHS in Pakistan, following those implemented in 1990-91 and 2006-07. A nationally representative sample of 14,000 households from 500 primary sampling units (PSUs) was selected. All ever-married women age 15-49 in selected households (both de jure and de facto) were eligible for individual interviews. In the selected households, 14,569 eligible women were identified for individual interviews and 13,558 were successfully interviewed. As with previous PDHS surveys, the main objective of the 2012-13 PDHS was to provide reliable information on fertility and fertility preferences; awareness, approval, and use of family planning methods; maternal and child health; childhood mortality levels; knowledge and attitudes toward HIV/AIDS other sexually transmitted infections (STIs); and knowledge about other illnesses such as tuberculosis, hepatitis B, and hepatitis C. The survey was designed to produce reliable estimates for key indicators at the national and provincial levels, including urban-rural breakdowns, as well as for Gilgit Baltistan and ICT Islamabad.

One in three households in the survey was selected for a male survey. In these households, all ever-married men age 15-49 who were usual members of the selected households or who spent the night before the survey in the selected households were eligible for individual interviews. The survey collected information on their basic demographic status and knowledge and attitudes toward HIV/AIDS and other sexually transmitted infections. In the households selected for the male survey, all eligible women age 15-49 and children under age 5 were measured for their height and weight.

B.2 SAMPLE FRAME

The universe consists of all of the urban and rural areas of the four provinces of Pakistan, Gilgit Baltistan, and ICT Islamabad, defined as such by 1998 population census and excluding Azad Jammu and Kashmir, the Federally Administered Tribal Areas, and military restricted and protected areas of Pakistan.

Each province in Pakistan is subdivided into divisions, each division into districts, each district into Tehsils, and each Tehsil into urban and rural areas. Urban areas are subdivided into municipal committees/town committees/cantonments, which are further divided into urban circles. Urban circles consist of enumeration blocks. Rural areas are subdivided into Qanungo Halqa/Union Council/Tapedar Circle and further subdivided into villages/dehs.

The Pakistan Bureau of Statistics (PBS) developed its own urban area frame. All urban areas comprising cities and towns were divided into mutually exclusive small compact areas known as enumeration blocks (EBs), identifiable through sketch maps. Each EB, consisting of about 200-250 households on average, was further categorized into low-, middle-, and high-income groups, keeping in view the socioeconomic status of households in the block. The urban area sampling frame consists of 26,543 EB, a figure that was updated through the economic census conducted in 2003-04.

In the case of rural areas, the lists of villages/mouzas/dehs developed through the 1998 population census were used as the sampling frame. In this frame, each village/mouza/deh is identifiable by its name, Had Bast number, and Cadastral map and the name of the Tehsil, district, and province in which it is located. The rural sampling frame, comprising 46,307 mouzas/dehs/villages, was used in drawing the sample for this survey. Details on the urban and rural area frames are provided below:

Table B.1 Enumeration areas

Distribution of the enumeration areas in the sampling frame by region and residence, Pakistan 2012-13 $\,$

	Enumeration blocks	No. of villages
Region	Urban	Rural
Punjab	14,549	25,875
Sindh	9,052	5,870
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	1,936	7,337
Balochistan	618	6,527
ICT Islamabad	324	132
Gilgit Baltistan	64	566
Pakistan	26,543	46,307

B.3 SAMPLE DESIGN AND IMPLEMENTATION

A two-stage stratified sample design was adopted for this survey. Enumeration blocks demarcated as part of the urban sampling frame in the urban domain and mouzas/dehs/villages in the rural domain were taken as PSUs. In the first stage, 500 PSUs—248 urban areas and 252 rural areas—were selected using a probability proportional to size sampling scheme with independent selection in each sampling stratum. The number of households in each enumeration block (as per the 2003-04 economic census) and the number in each village/mouza/deh (as per the 1998 population census) were considered as the measure of size. A total of 143 sample points were selected in Punjab, 106 in Sindh, 91 in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, 67 in Balochistan, 48 in ICT Islamabad, and 45 in Gilgit Baltistan (Table B.2).

The PBS staff undertook the task of compiling a fresh listing of households in the selected EBs and villages. Among the 500 sample points, listing operations could not be carried out in two areas of Balochistan (Punjgur and Dera Bugti) due to the law and order situation. The resulting lists of households served as the sampling frame for the selection of households in the second stage. In urban areas, enumeration blocks were considered as PSUs. The sketch map of enumeration blocks demarcated by the PBS for urban areas of Pakistan was used to perform listing activities. In rural areas, villages were treated as PSUs. Large villages with populations above 2,000 (as per the 1998 population census) were split into hamlets and blocks of equal size. One block was selected randomly for data collection. In the case of small villages, the entire village was listed.

In the second stage, a fixed number of households (28) were selected from each sample point, adopting a systematic sampling technique with a random start. In this way, 14,000 households were allocated. Households were considered as secondary sampling units. Table B.2 shows the sample allocation of PSUs and households by region, according to residence. Of the allocated households, 6,944 were in urban areas and 7,056 in rural areas.

Table B.2 Sample allocation of clusters and households											
Sample allocation of clusters and households by region, according to residence, Pakistan 2012-13											
Allocation of clusters Allocation of households											
Region	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total					
Punjab	58	85	143	1,624	2,380	4,004					
Sindh	64	42	106	1,792	1,176	2,968					
Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	35	56	91	980	1,568	2,548					
Balochistan	33	34	67	924	952	1,876					
ICT Islamabad	35	13	48	980	364	1,344					
Gilgit Baltistan	23	22	45	644	616	1,260					
Pakistan	248	252	500	6,944	7,056	14,000					

The provincial population distribution ranges from 5 percent in Balochistan to 55 percent in Punjab. A proportional allocation provides the best precision for national-level indictors but not for provincial/regional-level indicators. Because regions with smaller populations such as ICT Islamabad,

Gilgit Baltistan, and Balochistan would be allocated a very small sample size, the sample was not spread geographically in proportion to the population; rather, smaller geographic regions were oversampled. As a result, the final sample allocation was not self-weighting at the national level. Oversampling of urban areas was adjusted to the actual proportions by applying sampling weights during analysis.

Sample Implementation

Tables B.3 and B.4 present response rates for women and men, respectively, by urban and rural areas and by regions. The male subsample constituted one in three of the households selected for the woman's sample.

Table B.3 Sample implementation: Women

Percent distribution of households and eligible women by results of the household and individual interviews, and household, eligible women, and overall women response rates, according to urban-rural residence and region (unweighted), Pakistan 2012-13

	Resi	dence		Region							
Result	Urban	Rural	Punjab	Sindh	Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	Balochistan	ICT Islamabad	Gilgit Baltistan	Total		
Selected households											
Completed (C)	91.2	94.4	94.5	95.9	94.1	86.2	87.3	93.1	92.8		
Household present but no											
competent respondent at											
home (HP)	1.6	1.4	2.0	0.4	0.9	3.5	1.3	0.6	1.5		
Postponed (P)	0.1	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.4	0.1	1.0	0.2		
Refused (R)	2.9	0.5	0.6	0.9	1.0	2.7	7.6	1.0	1.7		
Dwelling not found (DNF)	0.4	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.3	1.4	0.1	0.0	0.4		
Household absent (HA)	2.4	2.1	1.7	1.3	2.3	4.2	3.1	2.1	2.2		
Dwelling vacant/address not											
a dwelling (DV)	1.2	0.7	0.7	1.1	0.8	0.6	0.4	2.1	0.9		
Dwelling destroyed (DD)	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.8	0.0	0.0	0.2		
Other (O)	0.1	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.5	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1		
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0		
Number of sampled											
households	6,944	7,000	4,004	2,968	2,548	1,820	1,344	1,260	13,944		
Household response rate	,	,	,	,	,			,			
(HRR) ¹	94.8	97.5	97.1	98.4	97.7	91.5	90.5	97.3	96.1		
Eligible women											
Completed (EWC)	91.2	94.8	92.9	93.2	95.1	93.1	85.7	94.9	93.1		
Not at home (EWNH)	5.6	4.2	5.6	4.6	3.6	5.9	6.1	3.5	4.9		
Postponed (EWP)	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.5	0.6	0.1		
Refused (EWR)	2.2	0.4	0.9	1.3	1.0	0.6	6.3	0.1	1.3		
Partly completed (EWPC)	0.4	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.7	0.0	0.3		
Incapacitated (EWI)	0.4	0.2	0.3	0.4	0.1	0.0	0.4	0.5	0.3		
Other (EWO)	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.4	0.1		
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0		
Number of women	6 964	7 605	4 089	3 154	2 835	2 098	1 112	1 281	14 569		
Fligible women response rate	0,001	1,000	1,000	0,101	2,000	2,000	1,112	1,201	11,000		
(FWRR) ²	91.2	94 8	92.9	93.2	95.1	93.1	85.7	94 9	93.1		
()	02	01.0	02.0	30.L	20.1	00.1	00.1	0 1.0	00.1		
Overall women response rate											
(ORR) [°]	86.4	92.4	90.2	91.7	92.9	85.2	77.6	92.3	89.5		

¹ Using the number of households falling into specific response categories, the household response rate (HRR) is calculated as:

² The eligible women response rate (EWRR) is equivalent to the percentage of interviews completed (EWC).

³ The overall women response rate (OWRR) is calculated as:

OWRR = HRR * EWRR/100

Table B.4 Sample implementation: Men

Percent distribution of households and eligible men by results of the household and individual interviews, and household, eligible men, and overall men response rates, according to urban-rural residence and region (unweighted), Pakistan 2012-13

	Residence			Region							
Result	Urban	Rural	Punjab	Sindh	Khyber Pakhtunkhwa	Balochistan	ICT Islamabad	Gilgit Baltistan	Total		
Selected households											
Completed (C)	91.7	95.2	95.2	96.2	93.3	89.5	88.8	92.2	93.4		
Household present but no competent respondent at											
home (HP)	1.3	1.2	1.7	0.2	1.1	2.2	1.3	0.9	1.2		
Postponed (P)	0.1	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.5	0.0	1.1	0.2		
Refused (R)	3.1	0.4	0.6	1.1	1.2	2.3	7.8	0.9	1.7		
Dwelling not found (DNF)	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.2	0.3	0.6	0.0	0.0	0.2		
Household absent (HA)	2.3	2.0	1.7	1.2	2.9	3.4	1.9	2.7	2.1		
a dwalling (D)()	1 1	0.6	07	1.0	07	0.0	0.2	2.2	0.0		
a dwelling (DV)	1.1	0.0	0.7	1.0	0.7	0.9	0.2	2.2	0.9		
Other (O)	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.6	0.0	0.0	0.1		
Other (O)	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1		
Total Number of sampled	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0		
households	2,476	2,496	1,430	1,060	908	649	475	450	4,972		
(HRR) ¹	95.1	98.0	97.6	98.5	97.2	94.2	90.8	97.0	96.6		
Eligible men											
Completed (EMC)	75.8	81.3	72.3	82.6	78.4	83.1	77.7	80.1	78.5		
Not at home (EMNH)	20.9	17.5	26.7	15.0	19.6	16.1	15.2	16.0	19.2		
Postponed (EMP)	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.3	1.3	0.1		
Refused (EMR)	2.7	0.3	0.5	1.5	1.7	0.8	5.5	1.3	1.5		
Partly completed (EMPC)	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.6	0.3	0.2		
Incapacitated (EMI)	0.2	0.3	0.1	0.5	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.7	0.3		
Other (EMO)	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.8	0.3	0.2		
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0		
Number of men	2 007	1 984	1 106	918	634	663	363	307	3 991		
Eligible mon response rate	2,007	1,504	1,100	510	004	000	000	007	0,001		
(EMRR) ²	75.8	81.3	72.3	82.6	78.4	83.1	77.7	80.1	78.5		
Overall men response rate	70.4	70 7	70.6	01.0	76.0	70.0	70 F	77 7	75.0		
(UKK)	72.1	19.1	70.6	81.3	10.2	18.3	70.5	11.1	75.8		

¹ Using the number of households falling into specific response categories, the household response rate (HRR) is calculated as:

100 * C

C + HP + P + R + DNF

² The eligible men response rate (EMRR) is equivalent to the percentage of interviews completed (EMC).

³ The overall men response rate (OMRR) is calculated as:

OMRR = HRR * EMRR/100

B.4 SELECTION PROBABILITIES AND SAMPLE WEIGHTS

Since the PDHS sample is a two-stage stratified cluster sample, sampling weights were calculated based on sampling probabilities separately for each sampling stage and for each EB/village. We use the following notations:

 P_{1hi} : first-stage sampling probability of the i^{th} PSU in stratum h

 P_{2hi} : second-stage sampling probability within the i^{th} PSU (households)

Let a_h be the number of PSUs selected in stratum h, M_{hi} the number of households according to the sampling frame in the i^{th} PSU, and $\sum M_{hi}$ the total number of households in the stratum. The probability of selecting the i^{th} PSU in the 2012-13 PDHS sample was calculated as follows:

$$\frac{a_h M_{hi}}{\sum M_{hi}}$$

Let b_{hi} be the proportion of households in the selected cluster compared to the total number of households in cluster *i* in stratum *h* if the cluster is segmented, otherwise $b_{hi} = 1$. Then the probability of selecting cluster *i* in the sample is:

$$P_{1hi} = \frac{a_h M_{hi}}{\sum M_{hi}} \times b_{hi}$$

Let L_{hi} be the number of households listed in the household listing operation in cluster *i* in stratum *h*, and let g_{hi} be the number of households selected in the cluster. The second stage's selection probability for each household in the cluster is calculated as follows:

$$P_{2hi} = \frac{g_{hi}}{L_{hi}}$$

The overall selection probability of each household in cluster i of stratum h is therefore the product of the two-stage selection probabilities:

$$P_{hi} = P_{1hi} \times P_{2hi}$$

The design weight for each household in cluster i of stratum h is the inverse of its overall selection probability:

$$W_{hi} = 1 / P_{hi}$$

Design weights were adjusted for household non-response as well as for individual (women and men) non-response to get the sampling weights. Sampling weights are normalized so that the number of weighted cases equals the number of unweighted cases at the national level for households, women, and men, respectively. Normalized weights are valid for estimating means, proportions, and ratios but are not valid for estimating population totals or for pooled data.

The estimates from a sample survey are affected by two types of errors: non-sampling errors and sampling errors. Non-sampling errors are the results of mistakes made in implementing data collection and data processing, such as failure to locate and interview the correct household, misunderstanding of the questions on the part of either the interviewer or the respondent, and data entry errors. Although numerous efforts were made during the implementation of the 2012-13 Pakistan Demographic and Health Survey (PDHS) to minimize this type of error, non-sampling errors are impossible to avoid and difficult to evaluate statistically.

Sampling errors, on the other hand, can be evaluated statistically. The sample of respondents selected in the 2012-13 PDHS is only one of many samples that could have been selected from the same population, using the same design and expected size. Each of these samples would yield results that differ somewhat from the results of the actual sample selected. Sampling errors are a measure of the variability between all possible samples. Although the degree of variability is not known exactly, it can be estimated from the survey results.

Sampling error is usually measured in terms of the *standard error* for a particular statistic (mean, percentage, etc.), which is the square root of the variance. The standard error can be used to calculate confidence intervals within which the true value for the population can reasonably be assumed to fall. For example, for any given statistic calculated from a sample survey, the value of that statistic will fall within a range of plus or minus two times the standard error of that statistic in 95 percent of all possible samples of identical size and design.

If the sample of respondents had been selected as a simple random sample, it would have been possible to use straightforward formulas for calculating sampling errors. However, the 2012-13 PDHS sample is the result of a multi-stage stratified design, and, consequently, it was necessary to use more complex formulae. Sampling errors are computed in either ISSA or SAS, using programs developed by ICF International. These programs use the Taylor linearization method of variance estimation for survey estimates that are means, proportions, or ratios. The Jackknife repeated replication method is used for variance estimation of more complex statistics such as fertility and mortality rates.

The Taylor linearization method treats any percentage or average as a ratio estimate, r = y/x, where y represents the total sample value for variable y and x represents the total number of cases in the group or subgroup under consideration. The variance of r is computed using the formula given below, with the standard error being the square root of the variance:

$$SE^{2}(r) = \operatorname{var}(r) = \frac{1-f}{x^{2}} \sum_{h=1}^{H} \left[\frac{m_{h}}{m_{h}-1} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m_{h}} z_{hi}^{2} - \frac{z_{h}^{2}}{m_{h}} \right) \right]$$

in which

$$z_{hi} = y_{hi} - rx_{hi}$$
, and $z_h = y_h - rx_h$

where h

h represents the stratum which varies from 1 to *H*,

 m_h is the total number of clusters selected in the h^{th} stratum,

 y_{hi} is the sum of the weighted values of variable y in the *i*th cluster in the *h*th stratum,

 x_{hi} is the sum of the weighted number of cases in the *i*th cluster in the *h*th stratum, and

f is the overall sampling fraction, which is so small that it is ignored.

The Jackknife repeated replication method derives estimates of complex rates from each of several replications of the parent sample and calculates standard errors for these estimates using simple formulae. Each replication considers *all but one* cluster in the calculation of the estimates. Pseudo-independent replications are thus created. In the 2012-13 PDHS, there were 500 non-empty clusters. Hence, 422 replications were created. The variance of a rate r is calculated as follows:

$$SE^{2}(r) = \operatorname{var}(r) = \frac{1}{k(k-1)} \sum_{i=1}^{k} (r_{i} - r)^{2}$$

in which

$$r_i = kr - (k-1)r_{(i)}$$

where r is the estimate computed from the full sample of 500 clusters,

- $r_{(i)}$ is the estimate computed from the reduced sample of 499 clusters (i^{th} cluster excluded), and
- *k* is the total number of clusters.

In addition to the standard error, the design effect (DEFT) for each estimate is also calculated. The design effect is defined as the ratio between the standard error using the given sample design and the standard error that would result if a simple random sample had been used. A DEFT value of 1.0 indicates that the sample design is as efficient as a simple random sample, while a value greater than 1.0 indicates the increase in the sampling error due to the use of a more complex and less statistically efficient design. Relative standard errors and confidence limits for the estimates are also calculated.

Sampling errors for the 2012-13 PDHS are calculated for selected variables considered to be of primary interest. The results are presented in this appendix for the country as a whole, for urban and rural areas, and for each of the six regions. For each variable, the type of statistic (mean, proportion, or rate) and the base population are given in Table C.1. Tables C.2 through C.10 present the value of the statistic (R), its standard error (SE), the number of unweighted (N) and weighted (WN) cases, the design effect (DEFT), the relative standard error (SE/R), and the 95 percent confidence limits ($R\pm 2SE$) for each selected variable. The DEFT is considered undefined when the standard error considering a simple random sample is zero (when the estimate is close to 0 or 1).

The confidence interval (e.g., as calculated for *children ever born to women age 40-49*) can be interpreted as follows: the overall average from the national sample is 5.619 and its standard error is 0.074. Therefore, to obtain the 95 percent confidence limits, one adds and subtracts twice the standard error to the sample estimate, i.e., $5.619\pm2\times0.074$. There is a high probability (95 percent) that the true proportion of women age 40-49 with children ever born is between 5.471 and 5.766.

For the total sample, the value of the DEFT, averaged over all variables, is 1.728. This means that, due to multi-stage clustering of the sample, the average standard error is increased by a factor of 1.728 over that in an equivalent simple random sample.

Table C.1 List of selected variables for sampling errors. Pakista	n 2012-13	
Variable	Estimate	Base population
	WOMEN	
Urban residence	Proportion	Ever-married women 15-49
Literacy	Proportion	Ever-married women 15-49
No education	Proportion	Ever-married women 15-49
Never married	Proportion	All women 15-49
Currently married	Proportion	All women 15-49
Married before age 20	Proportion	All women 20-49
Married to first cousin	Proportion	Ever-married women 15-49
Currently pregnant	Proportion	All women 15-49
Children ever born	Mean	All women 15-49
Children surviving	Mean	All women 15-49
Know any contracentive method	Proportion	All women 40-49 Currently married women 15-49
Know a modern method	Proportion	Currently married women 15-49
Ever used a contraceptive method	Proportion	Currently married women 15-49
Currently using any method	Proportion	Currently married women 15-49
Currently using a modern method	Proportion	Currently married women 15-49
Currently using a traditional method	Proportion	Currently married women 15-49
Currently using pill	Proportion	Currently married women 15-49
Currently using IUD	Proportion	Currently married women 15-49
Currently using condoms	Proportion	Currently married women 15-49
Currently using Injectables	Proportion	Currently married women 15-49
Currently using remain stering allow	Proportion	Currently married women 15-49
Currently using withdrawal	Proportion	Currently married women 15-49
Used public sector source	Proportion	Current users of modern method
Want no more children	Proportion	Currently married women 15-49
Want to delay next birth at least 2 years	Proportion	Currently married women 15-49
Ideal number of children	Mean	All women 15-49
Mothers received antenatal care for last birth	Proportion	Women with a live birth in last five years
Nothers protected against tetanus for last birth	Proportion	Women with a live birth in last live years
Had diarrhea in the past 2 weeks	Proportion	Children under 5
Treated with ORS	Proportion	Children under 5 with diarrhea in past 2 weeks
Sought medical treatment for diarrhea	Proportion	Children under 5 with diarrhea in past 2 weeks
Vaccination card seen	Proportion	Children 12-23 months
Received BCG vaccination	Proportion	Children 12-23 months
Received DPT vaccination (3 doses)	Proportion	Children 12-23 months
Received polio vaccination (3 doses)	Proportion	Children 12-23 months
Received measures vaccination	Proportion	Children 12-23 months
Height-for-age (-2 SD)	Proportion	Children under 5 who are measured
Weight-for-height (-2 SD)	Proportion	Children under 5 who are measured
Weight-for-age (-2 SD)	Proportion	Children under 5 who are measured
Body mass index (BMI) <18.5	Proportion	All women 15-49 who were measured
Accepting attitudes toward people with HIV	Proportion	All women who have heard of HIV/AIDS
Ever experienced any physical violence since age 15	Proportion	Ever-married women 15-49
Ever experienced any physical violence by husband	Proportion	Ever-married women 15-49
Ever experienced any physical violence in the last 12 months	Proportion	Ever-married women 15-49 Women-years of exposure to childhearing
Neonatal mortality rate ¹	Rate	Children exposed to the risk of mortality
Post-neonatal mortality rate ¹	Rate	Children exposed to the risk of mortality
Infant mortality rate ¹	Rate	Children exposed to the risk of mortality
Child mortality rate ¹	Rate	Children exposed to the risk of mortality
Under-five mortality rate ¹	Rate	Children exposed to the risk of mortality
	MEN	
Urban residence	Proportion	Ever-married men 15-49
Literacy	Proportion	Ever-married men 15-49
No education	Proportion	Ever-married men 15-49
Secondary education or higher	Proportion	Ever-married men 15-49
Never married	Proportion	All men 15-49
Currently married	Proportion	All men 15-49
Know any contraceptive method	Proportion	Currently married men 15-49
Want no more children	Proportion	Currently married men 15-49
Want to delay next birth at least 2 years	Proportion	Currently married men 15-49
Ideal number of children	Mean	All men 15-49

¹ The mortality rates are calculated for 5 years and 10 years before the survey for the national sample and regional samples, respectively.

Table C.2 Sampling errors for national sample,	Pakistan 20	<u>12-13</u>						
		Standard	Number	of cases	Design	Relative	Confide	nce limits
Variable	Value	error	Unweighted	Weighted	effect	error	P-2SE	R±2SE
Valiable	(11)	(02)	WOMEN	(111)	(BEI I)	(02/10)	IT LOL	IN LOL
Urban residence	0.335	0.009	13558	13558	2 165	0.026	0.317	0.352
Literacy	0.434	0.011	13558	13558	2.519	0.025	0.413	0.455
No education	0.571	0.011	13558	13558	2.574	0.019	0.549	0.592
Secondary education or higher	0.197	0.009	13558	13558	2.701	0.047	0.179	0.216
Never married	0.333	0.013	20286	20321	1.407	0.039	0.307	0.359
Currently married	0.637	0.012	20286	20321	1.368	0.019	0.613	0.661
Married before age 20	0.489	0.007	16094	16052	1.969	0.015	0.475	0.504
	0.465	0.009	20286	20321	2.193	0.019	0.400	0.504
Children ever born	2.416	0.053	20286	20321	1.340	0.022	2.310	2.522
Children surviving	2.145	0.048	20286	20321	1.377	0.022	2.049	2.241
Children ever born to women age 40-49	5.619	0.074	3547	3427	1.567	0.013	5.471	5.766
Know any contraceptive method	0.989	0.002	13010	12937	1.658	0.002	0.986	0.992
Know a modern method	0.987	0.002	13010	12937	1.811	0.002	0.983	0.991
Ever used a contraceptive method	0.548	0.008	13010	12937	1.933	0.015	0.531	0.565
Currently using any method	0.354	0.008	13010	12937	1.976	0.023	0.338	0.371
Currently using a modern method	0.201	0.007	13010	12937	1.700	0.026	0.247	0.275
Currently using a traditional method	0.093	0.004	13010	12937	1.729	0.047	0.004	0.102
Currently using IUD	0.023	0.002	13010	12937	1.591	0.090	0.019	0.013
Currently using condoms	0.088	0.004	13010	12937	1.716	0.048	0.080	0.097
Currently using injectables	0.028	0.002	13010	12937	1.458	0.076	0.023	0.032
Currently using female sterilization	0.087	0.004	13010	12937	1.694	0.048	0.078	0.095
Currently using rhythm	0.007	0.001	13010	12937	1.680	0.181	0.004	0.009
Currently using withdrawal	0.085	0.004	13010	12937	1.666	0.048	0.077	0.093
Used public sector source	0.456	0.016	3363	3160	1.835	0.035	0.424	0.487
Want no more children	0.512	0.006	13010	12937	1.462	0.013	0.499	0.525
Want to delay next birth at least 2 years	0.191	0.005	13010	12937	1.348	0.024	0.182	0.201
Methors received enternatel care for last hirth	4.070	0.037	7461	7446	2.477	0.009	4.003	4.149
Mothers protected against tetanus for last	0.731	0.011	7401	7440	2.110	0.015	0.709	0.752
hirth	0.639	0.013	7461	7446	2 295	0.020	0.614	0.665
Births with skilled attendant at delivery	0.521	0.016	11763	11977	2.682	0.030	0.490	0.552
Had diarrhea in the past 2 weeks	0.225	0.007	10935	11040	1.722	0.032	0.210	0.239
Treated with ORS	0.380	0.017	2298	2482	1.630	0.045	0.346	0.415
Sought medical treatment for diarrhea	0.610	0.016	2298	2482	1.519	0.027	0.578	0.642
Vaccination card seen	0.360	0.016	2039	2074	1.511	0.044	0.329	0.392
Received BCG vaccination	0.852	0.012	2039	2074	1.573	0.014	0.827	0.876
Received DPT vaccination (3 doses)	0.652	0.020	2039	2074	1.908	0.031	0.612	0.692
Received polio vaccination (3 doses)	0.853	0.013	2039	2074	1.623	0.015	0.827	0.878
Received measures vaccination	0.614	0.017	2039	2074	1.018	0.028	0.579	0.648
Height-for-age (-2 SD)	0.556	0.019	2039	2074	1.713	0.035	0.300	0.375
Weight-for-height (-2 SD)	0.108	0.014	3134	3466	1 884	0.092	0.420	0.475
Weight-for-age (-2 SD)	0.300	0.014	3134	3466	1.581	0.048	0.271	0.328
Body mass index (BMI) <18.5	0.139	0.009	4029	4170	1.766	0.068	0.120	0.158
Accepting attitudes toward people with HIV	0.165	0.008	5906	5675	1.556	0.046	0.150	0.180
Ever experienced any physical violence since								
_age 15	0.322	0.012	3687	3687	1.543	0.037	0.298	0.345
Ever experienced any physical violence by	0.074	0.011	2697	2607	1 5 4 2	0.042	0.040	0.000
First experienced any physical violence in the	0.271	0.011	3007	3007	1.543	0.042	0.246	0.293
last 12 months	0 180	0.010	3687	3687	1 537	0.054	0 160	0 199
Total fertility rate (3 years)	3.831	0.061	57239	57617	1.341	0.016	3.709	3.953
Neonatal mortality rate (last 0-4 years)	55.110	3.565	11866	12103	1.515	0.065	47.980	62.239
Post-neonatal mortality rate (last 0-4 years)	18.520	1.816	11875	12144	1.388	0.098	14.888	22.152
Infant mortality rate (last 0-4 years)	73.630	3.730	11881	12120	1.353	0.051	66.170	81.090
Child mortality rate (last 0-4 years)	16.544	1.886	11848	12037	1.709	0.114	12.772	20.315
Under-five mortality rate (last 0-4 years)	88.955	4.471	11948	12196	1.543	0.050	80.013	97.898
			MEN					
Urban residence	0.353	0.016	3134	3134	1.882	0.046	0.321	0.385
Literacy	0.654	0.014	3134	3134	1.643	0.021	0.626	0.682
No education	0.289	0.014	3134	3134	1.729	0.048	0.261	0.317
Secondary education or higher	0.334	0.017	3134	3134	1.979	0.050	0.301	0.368
Never married	0.4/6	0.057	5/12	5982	1.631	0.120	0.362	0.590
Currently married	0.513	0.056	5/12	5982	1.033	0.109	0.401	0.626
Know a modern method	0.907	0.000	3000	3071	1.701	0.007	0.944	0.909
Want no more children	0.940	0.007	3085	3071	1 710	0.007	0.334	0.302
Want to delay next birth at least 2 years	0.208	0.011	3085	3071	1,495	0.053	0.186	0.230
Ideal number of children	4.296	0.055	2971	2910	1.497	0.013	4.186	4.406

Table C.3 Sampling errors for urban areas, Pak	istan 2012-1	3						
		Standard	Number	of cases	Design	Relative	Confide	nce limits
Variable	Value	error	Unweighted	Weighted	effect	error		
Variable	(R)	(SE)		(VVIN)	(DEFT)	(SE/R)	R-25E	R+25E
	1 000	0.000	62E1	1526	20	0.000	1 000	1 000
Literacy	0.689	0.000	6351	4536 4536	na 3 190	0.000	0.652	0.726
No education	0.321	0.020	6351	4536	3.393	0.062	0.281	0.361
Secondary education or higher	0.394	0.024	6351	4536	3.877	0.060	0.347	0.442
Never married	0.242	0.013	10390	7103	1.739	0.055	0.216	0.269
Married before age 20	0.399	0.024	7907	5588	1.812	0.039	0.380	0.418
Married to first cousin	0.379	0.012	6351	4536	1.978	0.032	0.354	0.403
Currently pregnant	0.055	0.005	10390	7103	1.767	0.086	0.046	0.065
Children ever born	2.149	0.093	10390	7103	1.397	0.043	1.963	2.335
Children ever born to women age 40-49	5.064	0.000	1810	1285	1.993	0.024	4.816	5.312
Know any contraceptive method	0.993	0.002	6071	4304	2.169	0.002	0.988	0.997
Know a modern method	0.992	0.002	6071	4304	2.136	0.002	0.987	0.997
Ever used a contraceptive method	0.651	0.012	6071	4304	2.026	0.019	0.626	0.676
Currently using a modern method	0.440	0.013	6071	4304	2.333	0.034	0.418	0.478
Currently using a traditional method	0.128	0.008	6071	4304	1.977	0.066	0.111	0.145
Currently using pill	0.015	0.002	6071	4304	1.178	0.122	0.011	0.019
Currently using IUD	0.026	0.005	6071	4304	2.250	0.176	0.017	0.035
Currently using condoms	0.146	0.007	6071	4304	1.571	0.048	0.133	0.162
Currently using female sterilization	0.096	0.006	6071	4304	1.583	0.062	0.084	0.108
Currently using rhythm	0.010	0.003	6071	4304	2.243	0.291	0.004	0.015
Currently using withdrawal	0.117	0.008	6071	4304	1.850	0.065	0.102	0.133
Want no more children	0.349	0.022	6071	4304	2.019	0.063	0.305	0.393
Want to delay next birth at least 2 years	0.185	0.008	6071	4304	1.666	0.045	0.168	0.201
Ideal number of children	3.610	0.041	6082	4385	2.100	0.011	3.528	3.692
Mothers received antenatal care for last birth Mothers protected against tetanus for last	0.878	0.014	3278	2244	2.493	0.017	0.849	0.907
Births with skilled attendant at delivery	0.733	0.013	4970	3489	2.679	0.031	0.665	0.754
Had diarrhea in the past 2 weeks	0.219	0.011	4680	3281	1.744	0.052	0.196	0.242
Treated with ORS	0.415	0.036	934	719	2.145	0.086	0.343	0.487
Sought medical treatment for diarrhea	0.723	0.023	934	719	1.500	0.031	0.678	0.769
Received BCG vaccination	0.437	0.025	878	640 640	1.420	0.013	0.905	0.955
Received DPT vaccination (3 doses)	0.790	0.018	878	640	1.326	0.023	0.754	0.827
Received polio vaccination (3 doses)	0.868	0.016	878	640	1.430	0.019	0.835	0.900
Received measles vaccination	0.743	0.022	878	640 640	1.532	0.030	0.699	0.788
Height-for-age (-2 SD)	0.038	0.023	1356	1053	1.421	0.057	0.329	0.703
Weight-for-height (-2 SD)	0.099	0.014	1356	1053	1.797	0.142	0.071	0.126
Weight-for-age (-2 SD)	0.241	0.019	1356	1053	1.418	0.079	0.203	0.279
Body mass index (BMI) <18.5	0.074	0.009	1864	1403	1.480	0.118	0.057	0.092
Ever experienced any physical violence since	0.173	0.010	3903	3135	1.097	0.059	0.152	0.195
age 15 Ever experienced any physical violence by	0.284	0.019	1734	1216	1.752	0.067	0.246	0.322
Ever experienced any physical violence in the	0.230	0.020	1734	1216	1.949	0.086	0.190	0.269
last 12 months	0.151	0.016	1734	1216	1.852	0.106	0.119	0.183
Total fertility rate (3 years)	3.158	0.078	28940	20208	1.654	0.025	3.002	3.314
Neonatal mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	46.730	3.710	10106	6798	1.270	0.079	39.311	54.149
Infant mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	63 267	2.317	10112	6808	1.825	0.140	54 987	21.170 71.548
Child mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	11.477	1.700	10150	6741	1.344	0.148	8.078	14.877
Under-five mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	74.019	4.564	10135	6823	1.348	0.062	64.892	83.146
			MEN					
Urban residence	1.000	0.000	1521	1107	na	0.000	1.000	1.000
Literacy No adjugation	0.761	0.021	1521	1107	1.960	0.028	0.718	0.804
Secondary education or higher	0.450	0.020	1521	1107	2.094	0.087	0.134	0.210
Never married	0.351	0.047	2393	1706	0.978	0.133	0.258	0.445
Currently married	0.639	0.046	2393	1706	0.975	0.072	0.547	0.732
Know any contraceptive method	0.974	0.010	1498 1498	1091	2.311 2.300	0.010	0.955	0.993
Want no more children	0.458	0.033	1498	1091	2.521	0.071	0.393	0.523
Want to delay next birth at least 2 years	0.198	0.017	1498	1091	1.661	0.086	0.164	0.232
Ideal number of children	3.937	0.092	1456	1047	2.035	0.023	3.753	4.121
na = Not applicable								

Table C.4 Sampling errors for rural areas, Paki	stan 2012-13							
		Standard	Number	of cases	Design	Relative	Confide	nce limits
	Value	error	Unweighted	Weighted	effect	error		
Variable	(R)	(SE)	(N)	(WN)	(DEFT)	(SE/R)	R-2SE	R+2SE
			WOMEN					
Urban residence	0.000	0.000	7207	9022	na 2 272	na 0.040	0.000	0.000
No education	0.696	0.012	7207	9022	2.336	0.040	0.671	0.721
Secondary education or higher	0.098	0.008	7207	9022	2.212	0.079	0.083	0.114
Never married	0.381	0.019	10592	13222	1.248	0.049	0.344	0.419
Married before age 20	0.653	0.014	8398	10446	1.242	0.021	0.625	0.661
Married to first cousin	0.539	0.012	7207	9022	2.051	0.022	0.515	0.563
Currently pregnant	0.081	0.003	10592	13222	1.211	0.043	0.074	0.088
Children ever born Children surviving	2.558	0.065	10592	13222	1.227	0.026	2.427	2.689
Children ever born to women age 40-49	5.944	0.090	1735	2145	1.319	0.015	5.765	6.123
Know any contraceptive method	0.987	0.002	6939	8633	1.442	0.002	0.983	0.991
Know a modern method	0.985	0.002	6939	8633	1.628	0.002	0.980	0.989
Ever used a contraceptive method	0.497	0.011	6939	8633	1.805	0.023	0.474	0.519
Currently using a modern method	0.231	0.009	6939	8633	1.694	0.037	0.214	0.249
Currently using a traditional method	0.076	0.005	6939	8633	1.551	0.065	0.066	0.086
Currently using pill	0.016	0.002	6939	8633	1.377	0.129	0.012	0.020
Currently using condoms	0.022	0.002	6939	8633	1.230	0.086	0.017	0.028
Currently using injectables	0.029	0.003	6939	8633	1.347	0.094	0.024	0.034
Currently using female sterilization	0.082	0.006	6939	8633	1.683	0.068	0.071	0.093
Currently using rhythm	0.005	0.001	6939	8633	1.275	0.214	0.003	0.007
Used public sector source	0.536	0.000	1455	1807	1.669	0.041	0.492	0.579
Want no more children	0.494	0.008	6939	8633	1.376	0.017	0.478	0.511
Want to delay next birth at least 2 years	0.195	0.006	6939	8633	1.184	0.029	0.183	0.206
Mothers received antenatal care for last birth	4.314	0.048	6918 4183	8607 5202	2.342	0.011	4.217	4.410
Mothers protected against tetanus for last	0.001	0.011	1100	0202	1.000	0.020	0.010	0.001
birth	0.590	0.017	4183	5202	2.247	0.029	0.556	0.624
Births with skilled attendant at delivery	0.444	0.019	6793	8488	2.442	0.042	0.406	0.481
Treated with ORS	0.366	0.003	1364	1764	1.408	0.053	0.203	0.405
Sought medical treatment for diarrhea	0.564	0.019	1364	1764	1.347	0.035	0.525	0.603
Vaccination card seen	0.317	0.020	1161	1434	1.431	0.062	0.278	0.357
Received DPT vaccination (3 doses)	0.817	0.017	1161	1434	1.403	0.020	0.783	0.850
Received polio vaccination (3 doses)	0.846	0.017	1161	1434	1.570	0.020	0.812	0.879
Received measles vaccination	0.556	0.023	1161	1434	1.563	0.041	0.510	0.602
Received all vaccinations	0.484	0.025	1161	1434	1.684	0.051	0.435	0.534
Weight-for-height (-2 SD)	0.112	0.017	1778	2413	1.760	0.114	0.086	0.138
Weight-for-age (-2 SD)	0.325	0.018	1778	2413	1.481	0.057	0.288	0.362
Body mass index (BMI) <18.5	0.171	0.013	2165	2767	1.654	0.077	0.145	0.198
Ever experienced any physical violence since	0.156	0.011	1923	2540	1.371	0.073	0.133	0.178
age 15	0.340	0.015	1953	2471	1.398	0.044	0.310	0.370
Ever experienced any physical violence by	0.004	0.04.4	1050	0.474	4 000	0.047	0.004	0.040
Ever experienced any physical violence in the	0.291	0.014	1953	24/1	1.330	0.047	0.264	0.318
last 12 months	0.194	0.012	1953	2471	1.346	0.062	0.170	0.218
Total fertility rate (3 years)	4.195	0.081	29855	37450	1.208	0.019	4.033	4.356
Neonatal mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	61.957 25.746	3.117	13819	17007	1.205	0.050	55.723 21.072	68.191
Infant mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	87.703	3.478	13837	17026	1.096	0.040	80.746	94.659
Child mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	20.211	2.283	13887	16921	1.481	0.113	15.646	24.776
Under-five mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	106.142	4.385	13876	17072	1.231	0.041	97.372	114.911
			MEN					
Urban residence	0.000	0.000	1613	2027	na	na	0.000	0.000
Literacy	0.596	0.017	1613	2027	1.419	0.029	0.561	0.631
Secondary education or higher	0.351	0.017	1613	2027	1.404	0.050	0.243	0.300
Never married	0.526	0.071	3319	4276	1.538	0.135	0.384	0.668
Currently married	0.463	0.069	3319	4276	1.540	0.150	0.324	0.602
Know any contraceptive method	0.947	0.008	1587 1587	1980 1980	1.422	0.008	0.931	0.963
Want no more children	0.395	0.009	1587	1980	1.288	0.040	0.363	0.933
Want to delay next birth at least 2 years	0.214	0.014	1587	1980	1.357	0.065	0.186	0.242
Ideal number of children	4.498	0.072	1515	1863	1.316	0.016	4.354	4.642
na = Not applicable								

Table C.5 Sampling errors for Punjab, Pakistar	<u>1 2012-13</u>							
		Standard	Number	of cases	Desian	Relative	Confide	nce limits
Variable	Value	error	Unweighted	Weighted	effect	error	D 28E	D. 28E
Valiable	(K)	(32)	WOMEN	(0010)	(DEFT)	(3E/K)	R-23E	R+23E
I Irban residence	0.324	0.014	3800	7700	1 780	0.042	0.207	0 351
Literacy	0.324	0.014	3800	7790	2 1 1 6	0.042	0.297	0.534
No education	0.511	0.017	3800	7790	2.130	0.034	0.477	0.546
Secondary education or higher	0.204	0.014	3800	7790	2.194	0.070	0.175	0.233
Never married	0.297	0.018	5507	11539	1.281	0.062	0.260	0.334
Currently married	0.639	0.020	5507	11539	1.257	0.031	0.599	0.679
Married before age 20	0.453	0.012	4520	9252	1.713	0.026	0.429	0.476
Married to first cousin	0.477	0.015	3800	7790	1.807	0.031	0.447	0.506
Children ever born	2 300	0.004	5507	11539	1.194	0.064	0.059	0.076
Children surviving	2.000	0.004	5507	11539	1.174	0.035	1 953	2.307
Children ever born to women age 40-49	5.433	0.104	995	1974	1.204	0.019	5.224	5.642
Know any contraceptive method	0.996	0.001	3595	7374	1.368	0.001	0.993	0.999
Know a modern method	0.995	0.002	3595	7374	1.344	0.002	0.992	0.998
Ever used a contraceptive method	0.612	0.011	3595	7374	1.393	0.019	0.589	0.635
Currently using any method	0.407	0.013	3595	7374	1.532	0.031	0.382	0.432
Currently using a modern method	0.290	0.010	3595	7374	1.290	0.034	0.270	0.309
Currently using a traditional method	0.117	0.007	3595	7374	1.387	0.064	0.102	0.132
Currently using pill	0.011	0.002	3595	7374	1.137	0.179	0.007	0.015
Currently using toD	0.029	0.003	3090	7374	1.241	0.120	0.022	0.030
Currently using injectables	0.099	0.007	3595	7374	1.390	0.070	0.000	0.113
Currently using female sterilization	0.020	0.006	3595	7374	1 199	0.059	0.090	0.020
Currently using routine otomication	0.010	0.002	3595	7374	1.233	0.203	0.006	0.014
Currently using withdrawal	0.106	0.007	3595	7374	1.330	0.065	0.092	0.119
Used public sector source	0.484	0.023	991	1953	1.417	0.047	0.439	0.529
Want no more children	0.540	0.010	3595	7374	1.157	0.018	0.521	0.559
Want to delay next birth at least 2 years	0.169	0.007	3595	7374	1.069	0.040	0.156	0.182
Ideal number of children	3.756	0.061	3632	7449	2.591	0.016	3.635	3.877
Mothers received antenatal care for last birth	0.778	0.014	2008	4180	1.560	0.018	0.750	0.807
hirth	0 738	0.016	2008	4180	1 645	0.022	0 706	0 770
Births with skilled attendant at delivery	0.525	0.070	3266	6859	2 108	0.022	0.478	0.572
Had diarrhea in the past 2 weeks	0.219	0.011	3013	6307	1.350	0.049	0.198	0.240
Treated with ORS	0.352	0.025	659	1381	1.232	0.070	0.303	0.401
Sought medical treatment for diarrhea	0.686	0.020	659	1381	1.019	0.029	0.646	0.726
Vaccination card seen	0.407	0.024	593	1215	1.182	0.059	0.359	0.455
Received BCG vaccination	0.916	0.014	593	1215	1.246	0.016	0.887	0.944
Received DPT vaccination (3 doses)	0.763	0.031	593	1215	1.729	0.040	0.702	0.824
Received polio vaccination (3 doses)	0.924	0.014	593	1215	1.301	0.015	0.896	0.952
Received measies vaccination	0.700	0.026	593	1215	1.389	0.038	0.647	0.753
Height for age (2 SD)	0.000	0.029	593	1215	1.401	0.044	0.358	0.714
Weight-for-beight (-2 SD)	0.390	0.020	1044	2155	1.133	0.050	0.338	0.437
Weight-for-age (-2 SD)	0.000	0.010	1044	2155	1.342	0.082	0.218	0.304
Body mass index (BMI) <18.5	0.139	0.014	1207	2455	1.386	0.100	0.111	0.166
Accepting attitudes toward people with HIV	0.171	0.010	1896	3562	1.207	0.061	0.150	0.192
Ever experienced any physical violence since								
age 15	0.286	0.016	1092	2139	1.201	0.058	0.253	0.319
Ever experienced any physical violence by								
husband	0.234	0.016	1092	2139	1.225	0.067	0.203	0.266
Ever experienced any physical violence in the	0.140	0.012	1000	2120	1 200	0.007	0 100	0.475
Total fortility rate (2 years)	0.149	0.013	1092	2139	1.200	0.087	0.123	0.175
Neonatal mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	63 199	3 753	6486	13551	0.967	0.021	55 692	70 706
Post-neonatal mortality rate (last 0 5 years)	24 881	2 361	6492	13575	1 156	0.000	20 160	29 603
Infant mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	88.080	4.170	6493	13568	0.881	0.047	79.740	96.421
Child mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	18.205	2.801	6382	13303	1.316	0.154	12.604	23.807
Under-five mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	104.682	5.488	6513	13606	1.017	0.052	93.705	115.659
			MEN					
Urban residence	0.342	0 026	800	1804	1,559	0.077	0.290	0.395
Literacy	0.675	0.019	800	1804	1.167	0.029	0.637	0.714
No education	0.266	0.020	800	1804	1.263	0.074	0.227	0.306
Secondary education or higher	0.286	0.026	800	1804	1.605	0.090	0.234	0.337
Never married	0.463	0.097	1524	3358	1.291	0.210	0.268	0.657
Currently married	0.525	0.095	1524	3358	1.292	0.182	0.334	0.715
Know any contraceptive method	0.970	0.008	782	1761	1.325	0.008	0.954	0.986
Know a modern method	0.966	0.009	782	1761	1.338	0.009	0.949	0.983
want no more children	0.475	0.025	782	1761	1.421	0.053	0.424	0.526
Ideal number of children	U.1/4 3 850	0.016	/ 82 730	1636	1.150	0.090	0.143	0.205 1 012
	5.659	0.077	132	1030	1.314	0.020	5.700	4.012

Appendix C • 257

Table C.6 Sampling errors for Sindh, Pakistan	2012-13							
		Standard	Number	of cases	Desian	Relative	Confide	ence limits
Variable	Value (R)	error (SE)	Unweighted	Weighted	effect	error (SE/R)	R-2SE	R+2SE
Valiable	(14)	(02)	WOMEN	(****)	(DEI I)	(OE/IC)	11 202	IN120E
Urban residence	0 486	0.013	2941	3133	1 425	0.027	0 459	0.512
Literacy	0.418	0.018	2941	3133	1.980	0.043	0.382	0.454
No education	0.583	0.018	2941	3133	2.018	0.031	0.547	0.620
Secondary education or higher	0.243	0.016	2941	3133	2.059	0.067	0.211	0.276
Never married	0.376	0.027	4394	4742	1.091	0.071	0.322	0.429
Currently married	0.633	0.020	4394	4742	1.092	0.032	0.593	0.673
Married before age 20	0.539	0.010	3491	3703	1.354	0.019	0.518	0.560
Married to first cousin	0.527	0.016	2941	3133	1.686	0.029	0.496	0.558
Childron over horn	0.075	0.005	4394	4742	1.076	0.062	0.000	0.064
Children surviving	2.307	0.094	4394	4742	1.119	0.039	1 966	2.373
Children ever born to women age 40-49	5.800	0.171	776	796	1.562	0.029	5.458	6.141
Know any contraceptive method	0.995	0.002	2809	3002	1.241	0.002	0.991	0.998
Know a modern method	0.995	0.002	2809	3002	1.241	0.002	0.991	0.998
Ever used a contraceptive method	0.441	0.013	2809	3002	1.409	0.030	0.414	0.467
Currently using any method	0.295	0.012	2809	3002	1.448	0.042	0.270	0.320
Currently using a modern method	0.245	0.012	2809	3002	1.482	0.049	0.221	0.269
Currently using a traditional method	0.050	0.004	2809	3002	0.967	0.079	0.042	0.058
Currently using pill	0.018	0.003	2809	3002	1.098	0.153	0.013	0.024
Currently using IOD	0.012	0.003	2809	3002	1.251	0.218	0.007	0.017
Currently using condoms	0.080	0.005	2809	3002	1.060	0.066	0.069	0.090
Currently using injectables	0.033	0.004	2809	3002	1.003	0.091	0.020	0.040
Currently using revitate sternization	0.001	0.000	2809	3002	0.904	0.517	0.000	0.002
Currently using withdrawal	0.048	0.004	2809	3002	0.977	0.082	0.040	0.056
Used public sector source	0.411	0.027	729	726	1.486	0.066	0.357	0.465
Want no more children	0.468	0.012	2809	3002	1.244	0.025	0.445	0.492
Want to delay next birth at least 2 years	0.251	0.010	2809	3002	1.191	0.039	0.232	0.271
Ideal number of children	4.455	0.054	2891	3074	1.555	0.012	4.347	4.563
Mothers received antenatal care for last birth Mothers protected against tetanus for last	0.782	0.017	1591	1714	1.658	0.022	0.747	0.816
birth	0.535	0.026	1591	1714	2.123	0.049	0.482	0.588
Births with skilled attendant at delivery	0.605	0.024	2523	2740	1.992	0.040	0.557	0.653
Had diarrhea in the past 2 weeks	0.231	0.011	2328	2510	1.235	0.047	0.209	0.253
Treated with ORS	0.452	0.032	532	579	1.406	0.071	0.388	0.517
Sought medical treatment for diarrhea	0.730	0.019	532	579	0.963	0.026	0.692	0.769
Vaccination card seen	0.259	0.026	417	437	1.202	0.100	0.207	0.311
Received BCG vaccination	0.785	0.028	417	437	1.370	0.036	0.729	0.840
Received DPT vaccination (3 doses)	0.386	0.025	417	437	1.051	0.065	0.335	0.436
Received polici vaccination (3 doses)	0.775	0.035	417	437	1.090	0.045	0.706	0.645
Received all vaccinations	0.440	0.025	417	437	1.029	0.057	0.395	0.490
Height-for-age (-2 SD)	0.567	0.025	723	799	1.011	0.075	0.515	0.550
Weight-for-height (-2 SD)	0.136	0.015	723	799	1.191	0.110	0.106	0.166
Weight-for-age (-2 SD)	0.423	0.023	723	799	1.150	0.055	0.377	0.470
Body mass index (BMI) <18.5	0.196	0.018	887	948	1.387	0.094	0.159	0.233
Accepting attitudes toward people with HIV	0.152	0.012	1437	1365	1.289	0.080	0.127	0.176
Ever experienced any physical violence since								
_age 15	0.250	0.022	841	835	1.466	0.088	0.206	0.294
Ever experienced any physical violence by	0.400	0.040	0.44	005	4 000	0.000	0.400	0.000
husband	0.199	0.018	841	835	1.329	0.092	0.163	0.236
Ever experienced any physical violence in the	0 1 5 5	0.010	0/1	025	1 405	0 1 2 0	0 119	0 102
Total fartility rate (3 years)	3 908	0.019	1233/	13202	1.495	0.120	3.606	1 210
Neonatal mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	53 874	4 150	4872	5286	1.086	0.033	45 574	62 174
Post-neonatal mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	20.123	2.420	4861	5276	1.116	0.120	15.282	24.963
Infant mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	73.997	4.709	4878	5292	1.053	0.064	64.578	83.415
Child mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	20.305	2.780	4899	5320	1.146	0.137	14.744	25.866
Under-five mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	92.799	5.580	4888	5301	1.082	0.060	81.638	103.959
			MEN					
Urban residence	0.472	0.020	758	796	1.101	0.042	0.432	0.512
Literacy	0.615	0.028	758	796	1.580	0.046	0.559	0.671
No education	0.300	0.026	758	796	1.575	0.088	0.247	0.352
Secondary education or higher	0.399	0.025	758	796	1.420	0.063	0.348	0.449
Never married	0.496	0.046	1590	1581	0.866	0.093	0.404	0.588
Currently married	0.493	0.045	1590	1581	0.867	0.091	0.403	0.583
Know a modern method	0.947	0.013	739	770	1.564	0.014	0.922	0.973
Want no more children	0.929	0.016	739	779	0.962	0.017	0.097	0.901
Want to delay next birth at least 2 years	0.353	0.017	739	779	1 215	0.075	0.225	0.303
Ideal number of children	4.491	0.077	742	785	1.148	0.017	4.336	4.646

258 • Appendix C

Table C.7 Sampling errors for Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, Pakistan 2012-13									
		Standard	Number	of cases	Design	Relative	Confide	nce limits	
Variable	Value (R)	error (SE)	Unweighted (N)	Weighted (WN)	effect (DEFT)	error (SE/R)	R-2SE	R+2SE	
			WOMEN						
Urban residence	0.168	0.011	2695	1908	1.475	0.063	0.147	0.189	
Literacy	0.268	0.019	2695	1908	2.210	0.071	0.230	0.305	
No education Secondary education or higher	0.719	0.020	2090	1908	2.323	0.028	0.679	0.759	
Never married	0.120	0.012	4069	2886	1 205	0.071	0.359	0.143	
Currently married	0.643	0.022	4069	2886	1.162	0.034	0.599	0.687	
Married before age 20	0.537	0.010	3146	2226	1.344	0.019	0.516	0.558	
Married to first cousin	0.450	0.015	2695	1908	1.525	0.032	0.421	0.479	
Currently pregnant	0.079	0.005	4069	2886	1.133	0.067	0.069	0.090	
Children ever born	2.478	0.101	4069	2886	1.165	0.041	2.276	2.681	
Children surviving Children ever born to women age 40-49	2.278	0.094	4069	2886 501	1.179	0.041	2.090	2.467	
Know any contracentive method	0.991	0.003	2615	1855	1.140	0.013	0.985	0.996	
Know a modern method	0.982	0.007	2615	1855	2.651	0.007	0.969	0.996	
Ever used a contraceptive method	0.530	0.027	2615	1855	2.782	0.051	0.476	0.585	
Currently using any method	0.281	0.021	2615	1855	2.337	0.073	0.240	0.322	
Currently using a modern method	0.195	0.019	2615	1855	2.434	0.097	0.157	0.233	
Currently using a traditional method	0.086	0.007	2615	1855	1.308	0.084	0.071	0.100	
Currently using IUD	0.027	0.005	2615	1855	1.568	0.184	0.017	0.037	
Currently using condoms	0.015	0.003	2615	1855	1.101	0.162	0.010	0.021	
Currently using injectables	0.070	0.000	2615	1855	1.552	0.130	0.038	0.065	
Currently using female sterilization	0.024	0.006	2615	1855	2.167	0.272	0.011	0.037	
Currently using rhythm	0.003	0.001	2615	1855	1.072	0.404	0.001	0.005	
Currently using withdrawal	0.081	0.007	2615	1855	1.328	0.087	0.067	0.096	
Used public sector source	0.397	0.035	562	351	1.682	0.088	0.327	0.466	
Want no more children	0.534	0.013	2615	1855	1.298	0.024	0.509	0.560	
Ideal number of children	0.100 / 117	0.000	2010	1000	2.057	0.041	3 997	0.203	
Mothers received antenatal care for last birth Mothers protected against tetanus for last	0.605	0.036	1532	1117	2.913	0.059	0.534	0.677	
birth	0.556	0.035	1532	1117	2.781	0.063	0.486	0.625	
Births with skilled attendant at delivery	0.483	0.034	2270	1654	2.647	0.070	0.416	0.551	
Had diarrhea in the past 2 weeks	0.279	0.018	2154	1560	1.733	0.066	0.242	0.316	
Treated with ORS	0.355	0.036	570	435	1.682	0.101	0.284	0.426	
Vaccination card seen	0.230	0.037	370 422	435	1.099	0.139	0.157	0.303	
Received BCG vaccination	0.797	0.035	422	309	1.827	0.000	0.726	0.867	
Received DPT vaccination (3 doses)	0.696	0.043	422	309	1.960	0.062	0.609	0.783	
Received polio vaccination (3 doses)	0.757	0.033	422	309	1.613	0.044	0.691	0.823	
Received measles vaccination	0.578	0.036	422	309	1.520	0.062	0.506	0.650	
Received all vaccinations	0.527	0.037	422	309	1.534	0.070	0.454	0.600	
Height-for-age (-2 SD)	0.419	0.023	550	392	1.016	0.054	0.374	0.464	
Weight-for-age (-2 SD)	0.120	0.019	550	392	1.294	0.155	0.063	0.156	
Body mass index (BMI) <18.5	0.063	0.012	798	572	1.385	0.188	0.039	0.087	
Accepting attitudes toward people with HIV	0.176	0.021	990	560	1.718	0.118	0.135	0.218	
Ever experienced any physical violence since age 15	0.566	0.026	684	512	1.386	0.047	0.513	0.618	
Ever experienced any physical violence by husband	0.509	0.027	684	512	1.397	0.053	0.455	0.562	
Ever experienced any physical violence in the last 12 months	0 311	0.026	684	512	1 /50	0.083	0.260	0 363	
Total fertility rate (3 years)	3.919	0.125	11335	8047	1.297	0.032	3.669	4.168	
Neonatal mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	41.134	5.681	4683	3430	1.503	0.138	29.773	52.496	
Post-neonatal mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	16.728	1.963	4690	3436	1.020	0.117	12.803	20.654	
Infant mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	57.863	6.100	4687	3433	1.464	0.105	45.662	70.063	
Child mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	12.707	2.953	4718	3462	1.512	0.232	6.800	18.614	
Under-five mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	69.835	6.448	4700	3444	1.456	0.092	56.938	82.732	
			MEN				0./		
Urban residence	0.192	0.020	497	347	1.122	0.103	0.152	0.232	
Literacy No education	0.074 0.300	0.032	497 ⊿07	341 317	1.497	0.047	0.220	0.737	
Secondary education or higher	0.300	0.030	497	347	1 378	0.074	0.230	0 471	
Never married	0.540	0.111	985	755	1.179	0.206	0.318	0.762	
Currently married	0.457	0.110	985	755	1.178	0.241	0.236	0.677	
Know any contraceptive method	0.962	0.011	492	345	1.319	0.012	0.940	0.985	
Know a modern method	0.949	0.017	492	345	1.763	0.018	0.914	0.984	
Want to delay payt birth at least 2 years	0.351	0.023	492	345	1.083	0.066	0.305	0.398	
Ideal number of children	4.872	0.140	492 452	345 308	1.522	0.029	4.592	5.152	

Table C.8 Sampling errors for Balochistan, Pakistan 2012-13									
		Standard Number of cases		Design	Relative	Confidence limits			
Variable	Value (R)	error (SE)	Unweighted (N)	Weighted (WN)	effect	error (SE/R)	R-2SF	R+2SF	
Vanable	(14)	(02)	WOMEN	(111)	(8211)	(02/10)	IN LOL	111202	
Urban residence	0.201	0.021	1953	568	2.318	0.105	0.159	0.243	
Literacy	0.157	0.018	1953	568	2.129	0.112	0.122	0.192	
No education	0.846	0.018	1953	568	2.175	0.021	0.810	0.881	
Secondary education or higher	0.067	0.010	1953	568	1.833	0.155	0.046	0.088	
Never married	0.327	0.028	2869	858	1.315	0.086	0.271	0.383	
Currently married	0.644	0.045	2869	858	1.271	0.070	0.554	0.734	
Married before age 20	0.580	0.020	2267	670	2.126	0.034	0.541	0.619	
Married to first cousin	0.511	0.026	1953	568	2.305	0.051	0.459	0.563	
Currently pregnant	0.100	0.011	2869	858	1.454	0.112	0.078	0.123	
Children suniving	2.723	0.225	2009	000	1.300	0.065	2.272	3.174	
Children ever born to women age 40-49	6 591	0.192	2009	114	1.539	0.000	6.087	7.096	
Know any contracentive method	0.860	0.232	1896	553	2 899	0.030	0.007	0.906	
Know a modern method	0.856	0.023	1896	553	2.865	0.027	0.810	0.902	
Ever used a contraceptive method	0.320	0.028	1896	553	2.654	0.089	0.263	0.377	
Currently using any method	0.195	0.020	1896	553	2 247	0.105	0.154	0.236	
Currently using a modern method	0.163	0.018	1896	553	2.173	0.113	0.127	0.200	
Currently using a traditional method	0.031	0.007	1896	553	1.879	0.241	0.016	0.046	
Currently using pill	0.024	0.005	1896	553	1.502	0.220	0.013	0.035	
Currently using IUD	0.021	0.008	1896	553	2.354	0.368	0.006	0.037	
Currently using condoms	0.037	0.006	1896	553	1.458	0.170	0.025	0.050	
Currently using injectables	0.017	0.004	1896	553	1.233	0.213	0.010	0.025	
Currently using female sterilization	0.040	0.007	1896	553	1.553	0.174	0.026	0.054	
Currently using rhythm	0.001	0.000	1896	553	0.644	0.589	0.000	0.001	
Currently using withdrawal	0.030	0.008	1896	553	1.948	0.256	0.014	0.045	
Used public sector source	0.463	0.048	335	79	1.759	0.104	0.366	0.559	
Want no more children	0.289	0.020	1896	553	1.878	0.068	0.250	0.328	
Want to delay next birth at least 2 years	0.163	0.013	1896	553	1.539	0.080	0.137	0.189	
Ideal number of children	6.144	0.141	1884	549	2.399	0.023	5.863	6.425	
Mothers received antenatal care for last birth Mothers protected against tetanus for last	0.306	0.030	1149	348	2.277	0.100	0.245	0.367	
birth	0.232	0.044	1149	348	3.571	0.189	0.144	0.320	
Births with skilled attendant at delivery	0.178	0.025	1902	590	2.371	0.143	0.127	0.229	
Had diarrhea in the past 2 weeks	0.121	0.013	1738	536	1.612	0.110	0.094	0.147	
I reated with ORS	0.415	0.047	209	65	1.259	0.113	0.322	0.509	
Vessingtian aard eeen	0.434	0.057	209	00	1.000	0.131	0.320	0.546	
Pageived PCC vegeination	0.080	0.023	274	00	1.400	0.200	0.034	0.127	
Paceived DCG vaccination (2 docos)	0.409	0.073	274	00	2.512	0.149	0.343	0.033	
Received policy vaccination (3 doses)	0.271	0.000	274	88	2.343	0.242	0.140	0.402	
Received measles vaccination	0.000	0.042	274	88	2 654	0.009	0.323	0.009	
Received all vaccinations	0.575	0.074	274	88	1 930	0.200	0.224	0.322	
Body mass index (BMI) < 18.5	0.090	0.041	513	150	1.300	0.185	0.007	0.240	
Accepting attitudes toward people with HIV	0.095	0.031	562	124	2 5 1 1	0.328	0.033	0.158	
Ever experienced any physical violence since	0.000	0.001	002		2.011	01020	0.000	01100	
age 15	0.428	0.051	480	160	2.254	0.120	0.325	0.530	
husband	0.397	0.047	480	160	2.109	0.119	0.303	0.492	
last 12 months	0.313	0.039	480	160	1 822	0 124	0 236	0.390	
Total fertility rate (3 years)	4 224	0.319	8042	2363	1 872	0.076	3 585	4 863	
Neonatal mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	63.145	6.610	4152	1259	1.452	0.105	49.925	76.365	
Post-neonatal mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	33.924	4.738	4146	1255	1.386	0.140	24.448	43.399	
Infant mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	97.069	9.915	4154	1259	1.674	0.102	77.239	116.898	
Child mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	14.887	3.606	4284	1294	1.861	0.242	7.674	22.099	
Under-five mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	110.511	10.468	4164	1261	1.667	0.095	89.575	131.446	
MEN									
Urban residence	0 211	0.022	551	151	1 237	0 102	0 168	0 254	
Literacy	0.528	0.048	551	151	2.244	0.091	0.432	0.623	
No education	0.510	0.050	551	151	2.325	0.098	0.411	0.610	
Secondary education or higher	0.346	0.046	551	151	2.255	0.133	0.254	0.437	
Never married	0.347	0.035	806	231	0.925	0.100	0.277	0.416	
Currently married	0.652	0.035	806	231	0.924	0.053	0.583	0.722	
Know any contraceptive method	0.835	0.043	550	150	2.698	0.051	0.749	0.921	
Know a modern method	0.832	0.043	550	150	2.678	0.052	0.746	0.918	
Want no more children	0.203	0.019	550	150	1.083	0.092	0.166	0.240	
Want to delay next birth at least 2 years	0.191	0.030	550	150	1.794	0.158	0.130	0.251	
Ideal number of children	7.120	0.309	536	147	1.917	0.043	6.502	7.737	

Table C.9 Sampling errors for ICT Islamabad, Pakistan 2012-13								
		Standard	Number of cases		Design	Relative	Confidence limits	
Variable	Value (R)	error (SE)	Unweighted (N)	Weighted (WN)	effect	error (SE/R)	R-2SF	R+2SE
- Canado	(11)	(02)	WOMEN	(111)	(8211)	(02/11)	IT LOL	IN LOL
Urban residence	0.612	0.016	953	64	1.003	0.026	0.580	0.644
Literacy	0.814	0.020	953	64	1.565	0.024	0.774	0.853
No education	0.163	0.020	953	64	1.675	0.123	0.123	0.203
Secondary education or higher	0.595	0.027	953	64	1.688	0.045	0.541	0.648
Never married	0.155	0.011	1469	96	1.032	0.073	0.133	0.178
Currently married Married before age 20	0.041	0.030	1469	96	1.011	0.046	0.582	0.700
Married to first cousin	0.205	0.014	953	64	1 460	0.059	0.349	0.313
Currently pregnant	0.053	0.006	1469	96	1.086	0.121	0.040	0.066
Children ever born	2.039	0.110	1469	96	0.999	0.054	1.818	2.259
Children surviving	1.922	0.101	1469	96	0.977	0.053	1.720	2.124
Children ever born to women age 40-49	4.187	0.151	282	19	1.349	0.036	3.886	4.488
Know any contraceptive method	0.995	0.002	915	62	0.964	0.002	0.990	0.999
Ever used a contracentive method	0.995	0.002	915	62	0.964	0.002	0.990	0.999
Currently using any method	0.770	0.020	915	62	1.203	0.022	0.554	0.635
Currently using a modern method	0.441	0.016	915	62	0.999	0.037	0.408	0.473
Currently using a traditional method	0.154	0.012	915	62	1.044	0.081	0.129	0.179
Currently using pill	0.018	0.005	915	62	1.183	0.289	0.008	0.028
Currently using IUD	0.046	0.008	915	62	1.110	0.168	0.030	0.061
Currently using condoms	0.249	0.012	915	62	0.871	0.050	0.224	0.274
Currently using injectables	0.016	0.005	915	62	1.250	0.328	0.005	0.026
Currently using remaie sterilization	0.100	0.009	915	62	0.070	0.067	0.083	0.116
Currently using withdrawal	0.024	0.000	915	62	1.229	0.238	0.012	0.037
Used public sector source	0.328	0.033	389	27	1.392	0.101	0.262	0.395
Want no more children	0.603	0.020	915	62	1.247	0.033	0.563	0.644
Want to delay next birth at least 2 years	0.181	0.014	915	62	1.075	0.076	0.154	0.209
Ideal number of children	3.150	0.057	915	62	1.484	0.018	3.035	3.265
Mothers received antenatal care for last birth Mothers protected against tetanus for last	0.943	0.013	472	31	1.248	0.014	0.916	0.970
birth	0.858	0.019	472	31	1.201	0.023	0.819	0.897
Births with skilled attendant at delivery	0.881	0.022	709	47	1.386	0.025	0.838	0.924
Had diarrnea in the past 2 weeks	0.205	0.019	686 145	45	1.190	0.094	0.166	0.243
Sought medical treatment for diarrhea	0.539	0.040	145	9	0.987	0.060	0.440	0.032
Vaccination card seen	0.526	0.049	142	9	1.137	0.092	0.429	0.623
Received BCG vaccination	0.965	0.015	142	9	0.987	0.016	0.934	0.995
Received DPT vaccination (3 doses)	0.912	0.021	142	9	0.881	0.023	0.870	0.954
Received polio vaccination (3 doses)	0.856	0.034	142	9	1.159	0.040	0.787	0.925
Received measles vaccination	0.852	0.031	142	9	1.033	0.036	0.790	0.914
Received all vaccinations	0.739	0.043	142	9 13	1.144	0.058	0.654	0.824
Weight-for-height (-2 SD)	0.222	0.028	216	13	1 194	0.127	0.100	0.279
Weight-for-age (-2 SD)	0.144	0.029	216	13	1.217	0.204	0.085	0.203
Body mass index (BMI) <18.5	0.055	0.016	254	17	1.124	0.292	0.023	0.088
Accepting attitudes toward people with HIV	0.185	0.019	778	53	1.370	0.103	0.147	0.223
Ever experienced any physical violence since								
age 15 Ever experienced any physical violence by	0.318	0.044	257	15	1.499	0.138	0.231	0.405
husband	0.242	0.034	257	15	1.259	0.139	0.175	0.310
Ever experienced any physical violence in the	0.040	0.024	057	45	1 227	0.464	0.145	0.000
Total fertility rate (3 years)	2 984	0.034	207 4344	286	0.866	0.161	2 710	0.262
Neonatal mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	26 070	4 451	1376	91	0.000	0.040	17 168	34 972
Post-neonatal mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	9.064	3.192	1382	91	1.293	0.352	2.679	15.448
Infant mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	35.134	5.693	1376	91	1.033	0.162	23.747	46.520
Child mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	8.575	2.760	1372	90	0.993	0.322	3.056	14.094
Under-five mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	43.407	5.625	1377	91	0.926	0.130	32.158	54.657
<u></u>			MEN					
Urban residence	0.647	0.033	282	18	1.149	0.051	0.581	0.712
No education	0.945	0.013	∠0∠ 282	10	0.969	0.014	0.910	0.972
Secondary education or higher	0.717	0.037	282	18	1.384	0.052	0.643	0.792
Never married	0.345	0.079	427	27	1.080	0.228	0.187	0.502
Currently married	0.646	0.078	427	27	1.078	0.120	0.491	0.802
Know any contraceptive method	0.931	0.025	276	18	1.641	0.027	0.880	0.981
Know a modern method	0.924	0.025	276	18	1.567	0.027	0.874	0.974
Want to dolay part birth at least 2 years	0.4//	0.040	2/6	18	1.331	0.084	0.397	0.557
Ideal number of children	0.254	0.037	∠/b 273	18 17	1.408	0.140	2.180	0.329 2 906
	2.704	0.211	213	17	1.523	0.000	2.002	2.300

Table C.10 Sampling errors for Gilgit Baltistan, Pakistan 2012-13								
		Standard	Number of cases		Design	Relative	Confidence limits	
Variable	Value (R)	error (SE)	Unweighted (N)	Weighted (WN)	effect (DEET)	error (SE/R)	R-2SF	R+2SF
- Canadio	()	(0=)	WOMEN	()	(22)	(02/11)		
Urban residence	0.157	0.008	1216	94	0.804	0.053	0.140	0.174
Literacy	0.362	0.042	1216	94	3.007	0.115	0.279	0.445
No education	0.675	0.041	1216	94	3.071	0.061	0.593	0.758
Secondary education or higher	0.168	0.030	1216	94	2.770	0.177	0.109	0.228
Never married	0.338	0.044	2337	152	1.358	0.129	0.250	0.425
Currently married	0.599	0.046	2337	152	0.599	0.077	0.507	0.692
Married before age 20	0.586	0.021	1449	112	1.731	0.036	0.544	0.628
	0.403	0.041	2227	94 152	2.937	0.103	0.320	0.460
Children ever born	2 648	0.012	2337	152	0.631	0.133	2 208	3 087
Children surviving	2.342	0.220	2337	152	0.644	0.000	1 945	2 738
Children ever born to women age 40-49	6.830	0.233	324	26	1.554	0.034	6.363	7.296
Know any contraceptive method	0.945	0.032	1180	91	4.813	0.034	0.880	1.010
Know a modern method	0.945	0.032	1180	91	4.801	0.034	0.880	1.009
Ever used a contraceptive method	0.508	0.057	1180	91	3.870	0.112	0.395	0.621
Currently using any method	0.336	0.038	1180	91	2.735	0.112	0.261	0.412
Currently using a modern method	0.282	0.036	1180	91	2.735	0.127	0.210	0.354
Currently using a traditional method	0.054	0.015	1180	91	2.245	0.273	0.025	0.084
Currently using pill	0.037	0.006	1180	91	1.158	0.173	0.024	0.049
Currently using IUD	0.084	0.015	1180	91	1.828	0.176	0.055	0.114
Currently using condoms	0.030	0.010	1180	91	2.086	0.347	0.009	0.050
Currently using injectables	0.066	0.016	1180	91	2.220	0.244	0.034	0.098
Currently using remain sternization	0.046	0.014	1180	91	2.277	0.304	0.018	0.073
Currently using withdrawal	0.005	0.002	1180	91	2 237	0.410	0.001	0.009
Lised public sector source	0.515	0.038	357	25	1 445	0.075	0.438	0.591
Want no more children	0.508	0.027	1180	91	1.833	0.053	0.455	0.562
Want to delay next birth at least 2 years	0.271	0.021	1180	91	1.621	0.077	0.229	0.313
Ideal number of children	4.821	0.222	1195	93	4.219	0.046	4.376	5.265
Mothers received antenatal care for last birth	0.640	0.070	709	56	3.900	0.110	0.499	0.780
Mothers protected against tetanus for last	0 5 4 9	0.066	700	FC	2 5 2 2	0 107	0.200	0.650
Dirths with skilled attendant at delivery	0.516	0.066	109	20 87	3.522	0.127	0.360	0.650
Had diarrhea in the past 2 weeks	0.457	0.072	1035	81	1 903	0.100	0.119	0.302
Treated with ORS	0.725	0.024	183	14	1 159	0.059	0.640	0.210
Sought medical treatment for diarrhea	0.695	0.056	183	14	1.474	0.080	0.583	0.806
Vaccination card seen	0.292	0.060	191	16	1.884	0.205	0.172	0.412
Received BCG vaccination	0.786	0.056	191	16	1.934	0.071	0.674	0.897
Received DPT vaccination (3 doses)	0.553	0.098	191	16	2.817	0.178	0.357	0.750
Received polio vaccination (3 doses)	0.752	0.070	191	16	2.300	0.093	0.612	0.891
Received measles vaccination	0.510	0.096	191	16	2.729	0.188	0.319	0.701
Received all vaccinations	0.470	0.090	191	16	2.570	0.191	0.290	0.650
Height-for-age (-2 SD)	0.356	0.046	307	25	1.596	0.130	0.264	0.449
Weight for age (2 SD)	0.081	0.023	307	25	1.506	0.261	0.036	0.127
Body mass index (BMI) <18.5	0.120	0.033	370	20	1.741	0.200	0.000	0.191
Accepting attitudes toward people with HIV	0.054	0.020	243	11	1 232	0.000	0.014	0.004
Ever experienced any physical violence since	0.107	0.020	210		1.202	0.101	0.000	0.210
age 15	0.121	0.032	333	25	1.761	0.261	0.058	0.184
Ever experienced any physical violence by								
husband	0.112	0.032	333	25	1.814	0.281	0.049	0.175
Ever experienced any physical violence in the	0.005	0.004	000	05	1 005	0.000	0.000	0 457
Total fortility rate (2 years)	0.095	0.031	333 5573	20 /1/	1.920	0.326	0.032	0.157
Neonatal mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	38 860	6.046	2356	190	1.340	0.007	26 769	50 951
Post-neonatal mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	32 491	7 008	2367	190	1.806	0.216	18 474	46 508
Infant mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	71.351	11.481	2364	191	1.879	0.161	48.390	94.312
Child mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	19.153	3.828	2382	192	1.211	0.200	11.496	26.810
Under-five mortality rate (last 0-9 years)	89.137	13.014	2369	191	1.908	0.146	63.110	115.165
MEN								
Urban residence	0.178	0.019	246	18	0.768	0.105	0.140	0.215
Literacy	0.714	0.059	246	18	2.040	0.083	0.596	0.833
No education	0.230	0.057	246	18	2.088	0.246	0.117	0.343
Secondary education or higher	0.392	0.059	246	18	1.887	0.151	0.274	0.510
Never married	0.413	0.064	381	31	1.169	0.155	0.285	0.540
Currently married	0.587	0.064	381	31	1.169	0.109	0.460	0.715
know any contraceptive method	0.985	0.009	246	18	1.231	0.010	0.966	1.004
Now a modern method	0.985	0.009	246	10	1.231	0.010	0.966	1.004
Want to delay next hirth at least 2 years	0.310	0.047	240 246	18	1 441	0.093	0.412	0.396
Ideal number of children	4.401	0.151	236	18	1.387	0.034	4.098	4.704
			100					
DATA QUALITY TABLES

Table D.1 Household age distribution

Single-year age distribution of the de facto household population by sex (weighted), Pakistan 2012-13

	Wo	men	М	en		Wo	men	М	en
Age	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Age	Number	Percent	Number	Percent
0	1,167	2.7	1,197	2.7	36	451	1.0	401	0.9
1	1,035	2.4	1,118	2.5	37	370	0.8	280	0.6
2	1,204	2.8	1,171	2.6	38	581	1.3	453	1.0
3	1,296	3.0	1,236	2.8	39	255	0.6	234	0.5
4	1,124	2.6	1,283	2.9	40	764	1.8	887	2.0
5	1,126	2.6	1,307	3.0	41	230	0.5	170	0.4
6	1,073	2.5	1,193	2.7	42	440	1.0	463	1.0
7	1,201	2.8	1,360	3.1	43	251	0.6	231	0.5
8	1,244	2.9	1,327	3.0	44	211	0.5	228	0.5
9	922	2.1	1,016	2.3	45	538	1.2	727	1.6
10	1,168	2.7	1,357	3.1	46	255	0.6	252	0.6
11	730	1.7	845	1.9	47	302	0.7	265	0.6
12	1,203	2.8	1,391	3.1	48	315	0.7	332	0.8
13	894	2.1	969	2.2	49	286	0.7	231	0.5
14	982	2.3	1,137	2.6	50	190	0.4	398	0.9
15	968	2.2	1,090	2.5	51	178	0.4	114	0.3
16	1,049	2.4	1,016	2.3	52	395	0.9	283	0.6
17	879	2.0	896	2.0	53	277	0.6	150	0.3
18	1,288	3.0	1,254	2.8	54	199	0.5	157	0.4
19	753	1.7	708	1.6	55	653	1.5	502	1.1
20	1,308	3.0	1,115	2.5	56	251	0.6	206	0.5
21	666	1.5	552	1.2	57	140	0.3	152	0.3
22	1,054	2.4	1,009	2.3	58	204	0.5	167	0.4
23	776	1.8	583	1.3	59	68	0.2	67	0.2
24	739	1.7	716	1.6	60	655	1.5	693	1.6
25	1,057	2.4	1,030	2.3	61	62	0.1	69	0.2
26	741	1.7	690	1.6	62	146	0.3	224	0.5
27	642	1.5	528	1.2	63	60	0.1	63	0.1
28	795	1.8	751	1.7	64	45	0.1	68	0.2
29	425	1.0	331	0.7	65	415	1.0	506	1.1
30	999	2.3	1.016	2.3	66	52	0.1	88	0.2
31	318	0.7	276	0.6	67	60	0.1	80	0.2
32	696	1.6	608	1.4	68	85	0.2	82	0.2
33	384	0.9	382	0.9	69	25	0.1	43	0.1
34	400	0.9	324	0.7	70+	985	2.3	1.314	3.0
					Don't know/			.,	
35	854	2.0	863	2.0	missing	3	0.0	1	0.0
					Total	43,557	100.0	44,227	100.0
Note: The	de facto popu	lation include	es all residen	ts and nonres	sidents who stay	ed in the hou	sehold the nig	ght before the	e interview.

Table D.2.1 Age distribution of eligible and interviewed women

De facto household population of women age 10-54 and interviewed women age 15-49, and percent distribution and percentage of eligible women who were interviewed (weighted), by five-year age groups, Pakistan 2012-13

	Household population of women age 10-	Ever-married women age 10	Interviewed w	omen age 15-49	Percentage of eligible women
Age group	54	54 [°]	Number	Percentage	interviewed
10-14	4,977	0	na	na	na
15-19	4,937	656	598	4.4	91.1
20-24	4,543	2,259	2,113	15.7	93.6
25-29	3,660	2,956	2,770	20.5	93.7
30-34	2,798	2,606	2,429	18.0	93.2
35-39	2,510	2,434	2,284	16.9	93.8
40-44	1,895	1,852	1,747	13.0	94.4
45-49	1,696	1,673	1,546	11.5	92.4
50-54	1,239	1,208	na	na	na
15-49	22,040	14,436	13,489	100.0	93.4

Note: The de facto population includes all residents and nonresidents who stayed in the household the night before the interview. Weights for both household population of women and interviewed women are household weights. Age is based on the Household Questionnaire. na = Not applicable

Table D.2.2 Age distribution of eligible and interviewed men

De facto household population of men age 10-64 and interviewed men age 15-59, and percentage of eligible men who were interviewed (weighted), by five-year age groups, Pakistan 2012-13

	Household		Interviewed I	men age 15-49	Percentage of	
Age group	population of Ever-married men age 10-54 men age 10-54		Number	Percentage	eligible men interviewed	
10-14	2,032	0	na	na	na	
15-19	1,731	50	39	1.3	78.3	
20-24	1,416	303	228	7.7	75.2	
25-29	1,148	648	481	16.2	74.2	
30-34	934	786	623	21.0	79.2	
35-39	764	718	559	18.8	77.8	
40-44	693	675	491	16.5	72.8	
45-49	712	703	549	18.5	78.1	
50-54	341	332	na	na	na	
15-49	7,739	4,216	2,970	100.0	70.5	

Note: The de facto population includes all residents and nonresidents who stayed in the household the night before the interview. Weights for both household population of men and interviewed men are household weights. Age is based on the Household Questionnaire. na = Not applicable

Table D.3 Completeness of reporting

Percentage of observations missing information for selected demographic and health questions (weighted), Pakistan 2012-13

		Percentage	
	- /	with information	Number of
Subject	Reference group	missing	cases
Birth date			
Month only	Births in the 15 years preceding the survey	0.29	33,851
Month and year	Births in the 15 years preceding the survey	0.02	33,851
Age at death	Deceased children born in the 15 years preceding the survey	0.00	3,363
Age/date at first union ¹	Ever-married women age 15-49	0.18	13,558
-	Ever-married men age 15-49	0.07	3,134
Respondent's education	All women age 15-49	0.00	13,558
	All men age 15-49	0.00	3,134
Diarrhea in last 2 weeks	Living children age 0-59 months	0.45	11,040
Anthropometry of children	Living children age 0-59 months (from the Household Questionnaire)		
Height		10.18	4,304
Weight		9.40	4,304
Height or weight		10.33	4,304
Anthropometry of women	Women age 15-49 (from the Household Questionnaire)		
Height		8.14	5,241
Weight		8.06	5,241
Height or weight		8.20	5,241

Table D.4 Births by calendar years

Number of births, percentage with complete birth date, sex ratio at birth, and calendar year ratio by calendar year, according to living (L), dead (D), and total (T) children (weighted), Pakistan 2012-13

				Percenta	ige with comp	olete birth						
Calendar	N	Number of births			date1		Sex ratio at birth ²			Cal	endar year ra	atio ³
year	Living	Dead	Total	Living	Dead	Total	Living	Dead	Total	Living	Dead	Total
2013	30	7	37	100.0	100.0	100.0	116.8	0.0	76.9	na	na	na
2012	2,137	133	2,270	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.6	117.1	101.5	na	na	na
2011	2,056	167	2,223	100.0	100.0	100.0	101.2	119.5	102.5	92.6	106.5	93.5
2010	2,303	180	2,483	100.0	100.0	100.0	103.3	83.5	101.7	106.8	88.9	105.3
2009	2,257	238	2,494	100.0	100.0	100.0	99.7	90.5	98.8	99.9	124.4	101.8
2008	2,213	202	2,415	100.0	100.0	100.0	115.9	146.3	118.2	99.0	92.5	98.4
2007	2,214	199	2,414	100.0	99.9	100.0	113.0	123.8	113.9	103.8	82.4	101.6
2006	2,054	282	2,336	99.8	100.0	99.8	111.8	108.6	111.4	90.6	129.4	94.0
2005	2,320	236	2,556	99.0	100.0	99.1	105.7	106.6	105.8	110.8	83.0	107.5
2004	2,132	287	2,419	99.3	99.5	99.3	116.1	136.9	118.4	103.6	114.2	104.7
2009-2013	8,782	725	9,507	100.0	100.0	100.0	101.3	97.3	101.0	na	na	na
2004-2008	10,934	1,208	12,141	99.6	99.9	99.6	112.4	122.7	113.4	na	na	na
1999-2003	8,989	1,173	10,162	99.6	98.9	99.5	113.1	124.7	114.4	na	na	na
1994-1998	7,585	1,116	8,701	99.5	99.4	99.5	103.8	121.3	105.9	na	na	na
<1994	7,304	1,278	8,582	99.2	98.1	99.1	101.8	120.4	104.3	na	na	na
All	43,593	5,500	49,093	99.6	99.2	99.6	106.9	118.6	108.1	na	na	na

na = Not applicable ¹ Both year and month of birth given ² (Bm/Bf)x100, where Bm and Bf are the numbers of male and female births, respectively

³ [2Bx/(Bx-1+Bx+1)]x100, where Bx is the number of births in calendar year x

Table D.5 Reporting of age at death in days

Distribution of reported deaths under age 1 month by age at death in days and the percentage of neonatal deaths reported to occur at age 0-6 days, for fiveyear periods of birth preceding the survey (weighted), Pakistan 2012-13

Age at death	Numb	er of years p	receding the	survey	Total
(days)	0-4	5-9	10-14	15-19	0-19
<1	204	253	196	141	794
1	126	106	110	97	439
2	48	77	53	24	203
3	67	53	57	41	217
4	39	25	29	11	104
5	17	45	32	23	118
6	20	13	8	19	60
7	15	21	26	22	84
8	20	16	13	8	57
9	7	3	0	8	18
10	17	27	11	11	66
11	4	11	3	7	26
12	8	7	15	5	35
13	5	1	5	3	15
14	3	1	6	5	15
15	17	15	9	20	61
16	3	0	0	3	6
17	3	7	0	1	11
18	0	3	4	6	13
19	0	3	0	0	3
20	2	6	9	7	24
21	8	3	2	1	14
22	6	1	4	2	13
23	0	0	2	2	4
24	6	0	0	2	8
25	9	3	3	1	16
26	3	0	0	0	3
27	3	0	0	2	5
28	1	2	0	2	5
29	0	0	0	1	1
30	0	0	1	0	1
Total 0-30 Percentage early	661	702	600	476	2,439
neonatal ¹	79.0	81.6	80.7	74.6	79.3
1					

¹ ≤6 days / ≤30 days

Table D.6 Reporting of age at death in months

Age at death	Numb	per of years p	receding the	survey	Total	
(months)	0-4	5-9	10-14	15-19	0-19	
<1 ^a	661	702	600	476	2,439	
1	52	60	64	57	233	
2	40	31	45	22	138	
3	24	47	47	35	152	
4	13	51	18	20	102	
5	10	20	8	22	60	
6	12	37	34	51	134	
7	9	17	21	15	62	
8	22	22	17	15	76	
9	3	17	21	22	63	
10	2	7	8	2	19	
11	10	17	15	3	45	
12	10	29	40	40	119	
13	10	7	5	4	27	
14	4	1	9	10	24	
15	0	6	5	3	14	
16	0	2	6	2	10	
17	0	2	4	0	6	
18	10	46	24	22	102	
19	0	0	0	0	0	
20	0	1	0	1	2	
21	1	0	0	0	1	
22	4	2	0	0	7	
23	4	2	2	3	11	
1 year	0	0	3	0	4	
Total 0-11	859	1,026	899	740	3,523	
Percentage neonatal ¹	76.9	68.4	66.8	64.4	69.2	

Distribution of reported deaths under age 2 by age at death in months and the percentage of infant deaths reported to occur at under age 1 month, for five-year periods of birth preceding the survey, Pakistan 2012-13

^a Includes deaths under one month reported in days ¹ Under one month / under one year

NIPS Professional Staff

Project Director Ms. Tanvir Kiyani

Deputy Project Director Ms. Aysha Sheraz

Survey Advisor Syed Mazhar Hussain Hashmi

Principal Investigator Syed Mubasir Ali

Deputy Principal Investigator Mr. Faateh ud din Ahmad

Research Fellows

Mr. Zafar Zahir Mr. Ali Anwar Ms. Rabia Zafar

Administration & Financial Staff

Ms. Azra Aziz, Director (HRD) Mr. Zafar Iqbal Niazi, Secretary (M&S) Mr. Shahid Azeem, Accounts Officer Mr. Muhammad Jamil (DDO) Mr. Sajjad Umer(Cashier)

Support Staff

Mr. Muhammad Arif Mr. Muhammad Suba Mr. Muhammad Aslam Mr. Muhammad Imran Syed Dilnawaz Hussain Shah Syed Imtiaz Hussain Shah Mr. Muhammad Ashraf Ms. Rukhshan Farooq Mr. Haqnawaz Mr. Aurangzeb Mr. Abdul Mehfooz Mr. Fida Muhammad

Data Entry Operators

Mr. Shakeel Ahmad Mr. Farman Ali Mr. Oamer-ur-Rasool Mr. Dilnawaz Mr. Takasar Ameen Mr. Muniyam Rehman Mr. Muhammad Imtiaz Mr. Mudhair Rehman Mr. Asad Farooq

FIELD STAFF

Office Coordinator

Mr. Muhammad Asad Rajper Mr. Sohail Rizwan

Office Editor

Ms. Fozia Anjum Ms. Ishrat Naseem

Quality Control Officers

Mr. Muhammad Naeem Khan Ms. Fakhra Rasheed Ms. Samina Abbas Mr. Sajid Hussain Ms. Zahida Ali Ms. Irum Balouch Mr. Hamid Ali Syeda Khadijatul Kubra Mr. Abdul Razzag Mr. Haji Muhammad Siddique

List of Field Enumerators for Household Listing and Mapping

Mr. Muzammil Awan - Abbottabad Mr. M. Shahid Farooq - Bahawal Pur Mr. M. Aslam - Bahawal Pur Mr. Naeem ur Rehman - Bahawal Nagar Mr. Latifullah Khan - Bannu Mr. Muhammad Zafar - D.G Khan Mr. Ghulam Rabbani - D.I. Khan Mr. M. Nawaz Panhwar - Dadu Mr. Muhammad Nawaz Shahid - Faisalabad Mr. Muhammad Ali - Gilgit Mr. Zulfiqar Ali - Gilgit Mr. Rana Shaukat Ali - Gujranwala Mr. A. Saleem Khan - Hyderabad Mr. Irshad Ahmad - Jacobabad Mr. Nazar Hussain - Jhang Mr. M. Zahiruddin - Karachi Mr. M. Siraj Alam - Karachi Syed Bachal Shah Hussaini - Karachi Mr. M. Suleman - Khuzdar Mr. Muhammad Nawaz - Lahore Mr. Mushtaq Ahmad - Lahore

Mr. Nizam Uddin - Larkana

Mr. Fayyaz Ahmad - Loralai Mr. Rana Khalid Mahmood - Mianwali Mr. Muhammad Tahir - Mingora Mr. M. Tahir Qadri - Mirpur Khas Mr. Allah Bakhsh Shad - Multan Mr. Mohammad Nasir Raiput - Nawabshah Mr. Fakhr-i-Alam - Peshawar Mr. S. Jawad Hussain - Peshawar Mr. Muhammad Nawaz - Peshawar Mr. Habibullah - Quetta Mr. Muhammad Aslam - Quetta Mr. Muhammad Ashfaq - Rawalpindi Mr. Jamil Ahmad - Rawalpindi Mr. M. Bashir - Rawalpindi Mr. M. Mahmood Qureshi - Rawalpindi Mr. Mukhtar Ahmad - Sahiwal Mr. Ilmuddin - Sargodha Mr. Munir Ahmad Nadeem - Sialkot Mr. Muzafar Ali - Sukkur Mr. M. Arshad Goraya - Vehari Mr. Tariq Mahmood - Sargodha Mr. Maqsood Ahmad - Rawalpindi

List of Field Enumerators for Data Collection

Team 1 - Bahawalpur

Mr. Nadeem Raza, Supervisor Mr. Muhammad Awais, Field editor **Interviewers:** Mr. Rizwan-ul-Haq Ms. Mukhtiar Bibi Ms. Kashifa Naz Ms. Sadia Ali Khan

Team 3 - Faisalabad

Mr. Muhammad Adnan, Supervisor Mr. Muhammad Amjad, Field editor **Interviewers:** Mr. Mehmood Akhtar Ms. Asma Kaleem Ms. Nasreen Bukhari Ms. Samina Rafiq

Team 5 - Lahore

Mr. Nabeel Sarwar, Supervisor Mr. Shakeel Ahmad, Field editor **Interviewers:** Mr. Azhar Iqbal Ms. Shagufta Aslam Ms. Nosheen Rasheed Ms. Azra Iqbal

Team 7 - Rawalpindi

Mr. Muhammad Akmal Manzoor, Supervisor Mr. Muhammad Ali, Field editor Interviewers: Mr. Muhammad Sabir Khan Ms. Gul Naz Ms. Maryum Waqar Ms. Sumaira Naz

Team 9 - Karachi

Mr. Rizwan Khan, Supervisor Syed Salman Abbas, Field editor **Interviewers:** Syed Muhammad Shoaib Ms. Ume Sakeena Fatima Ms. Mubina Munir Ms. Safia Sultana

Team 11 - Larkana

Mr. Abdul Waheed Bhutto, Supervisor Mr. Ishfaq Hussain Khaskheli, Field editor **Interviewers:** Mr. Muhammad Ali Ghanghro Ms. Shabroz Jhullan Ms. Ghulam Kalsoom Chandio + Ms. Shabnam Tufail Ms. Shamim Ara

Team 2 - Multan

Mr. Muhammad Babar Hussain, Supervisor Mr. Kashan Andleeb, Field editor **Interviewers:** Mr. Miarza Adnan Ms. Mehvish Farooq Ms. Ayesha Noreen Ms. Rabia Ishfaq

Team 4 - Gujranwala

Mr. Muhammad Tariq, Supervisor Mr. Mudassar Iqbal, Field editor Interviewers: Mr. Babar Ali Ms. Shehzadi Arshad Ms. Shawana Aziz Ms. Sherjeela

Team 6 - Islamabad

Mr. Hammad Mustafa, Supervisor Mr. Hasan Raza, Field editor **Interviewers:** Mr. Muhammad Anwaar Ismail Ms. Ambreen Kousar Ms. Zobia Rafiq Ms. Kousar Parveen

Team 8 - Hyderabad

Mr. Ishtiaq Ahmad Soomro, Supervisor Mr. Waqar Hussain Khaskheli, Field editor **Interviewers:** Mr. Amjad Khan Soomro Ms. Hameeda Thahim Ms. Yasmin Ali Ms. Asma Kousar

Team 10 - Sukkur

Mr. Abdul Haleem Abbasi, Supervisor Mr. Zahid Ali, Field editor Interviewers: Mr. Manzoor Ahmad Ms. Shumaila Ghazal Ms. Kaneez Fatima Ms. Asiya Soomro

Team 12 - Hazara

Mr. Ishtiq Khan, Supervisor Mr. Allah Yar Khan, Field editor **Interviewers:** Syed Zia-ul-Hassan Ms. Wajeeha Farhat Ms. Faiza Ms. Fozia Khan

Team 13 - Kohat

Mr. Muhammad Tariq, Supervisor Mr. Hasan Ali Khan, Field editor **Interviewers:** Mr. Karamatullah Shah Ms. Shehnaz Abdullah Ms. Sajida Ambreen Ms. Nusrat Shaheen

Team 15 - Peshawar

Mr. Jan Ali, Supervisor Mr. Hamidullah Shah, Field editor **Interviewers:** Mr. Zafarullah Khan Ms. Nosheen Begum Ms. Roheela Ms. Zainab Bibi

Team 17 - Bolan

Mr. Abdul Razzaq, Supervisor Mr. Malook Khan, Field editor Interviewers: Mr. Ghulam Nabi Ms. Nasreen Ms. Rubina Aziz Ms. Aysha Jalal Ms. Rabia bibi

Team 19 - Gilgit

Mr. Ikhlaq Hussain, Supervisor Mr. Muhammad Jafari, Field editor **Interviewers:** Mr. Qaisar Abbas Ms. Sadiqa Ms. Rubina Shah Ms. Safina Hayat

Team 14 - Malakand

Mr. Muhammad Ismail, Supervisor Mr. Ayaz Khan, Field editor Interviewers: Mr. Muhammad Irfan Ms. Javida Ms. Salma Ms. Afsheen Tabssum

Team 16 - Quetta

Mr. Zahoor Ahmad, Supervisor Mr. Muhammad Ibad, Field editor **Interviewers:** Mr. Sibt-e-Hassan Ali Ms. Kanwal Noor Ms. Saima Akram Ms. Khalida Yaqoob + Ms. Abida

Team 18 - Kalat

Mr. Nabeel Baloch, Supervisor Mr. Qamber Khan, Field editor Interviewers: Mr. Muhammad Musa Ms. Munira Ms. Nadia Baloch Ms. Shereen

Team 20 - Baltistan

Mr. Muhammad Iqbal, Supervisor Mr. Muhammad Sikandar Hayat, Field editor **Interviewers:** Mr. Fazal Karim Ms. Jaria Fatima Ms. Noreen Maryam Ms. Samreen Hassan

ICF International Staff

Ms. Annie Cross (Deputy Director for Survey Operation - till March 2012) Ms. Anjushree Pradhan, Country Manager Dr. Ruilin Ren, Sampling Specialist
Mr. Guillermo Rojas, Data Processing Specialist
Dr. Fred Arnold, Senior Fellow
Ms. Sri Poedjastoeti, Survey Specialist
Ms. Yodit Bekele, Survey Specialist
Dr. Joana Lowell, Survey Specialist
Ms. Monica Kothari, Nutrition Specialist
Ms. Jyoti Manandhar, Consultant, Survey Field Monitoring
Ms. Mianmian Yu, Data Processing Specialist
Dr. Mahmoud Elkasabi, Sampling Statistician
Mr. Greg Edmondson, Consultant, Editor
Mr. Christopher Gramer, Graphics/Desktop Publishing Specialist
Ms. Sally Zweimueller, Communications Specialist



NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF POPULATION STUDIES PAKISTAN DEMOGRAPHIC AND HEALTH SURVEY 2012-13

HOUSEHOLD QUESTIONNAIRE

IDENTIFICATION									
PROVINCE/REGION (PU	NJAB=1; SINDH=2; KPK	=3; BALOCHISTAN=4; GB	=5; ICT=6)						
TEHSIL				_					
CLUSTER NUMBER									
HOUSEHOLD NUMBER									
LARGE CITY=1; SMALL (
HOUSEHOLD SELECTED (YES=1; NO= 2)									
PLACE NAME				_					
NAME OF HOUSEHOLD	HEAD			-					
		INTERVIEWER VISITS	;	<u> </u>					
	1	2	3	FINAL VISIT					
DATE	DATE								
INTERVIEWER'S NAME									
NEXT VISIT: DATE TIME				TOTAL NUMBER OF VISITS					
*RESULT CODES: 1 COMPLETED 2 NO HOUSEHOLD 3 ENTIRE HOUSEH 4 POSTPONED 5 REFUSED 2 DWELLING VACA	MEMBER AT HOME OF	R NO COMPETENT RESPO ENDED PERIOD OF TIME	ONDENT AT HOME	TOTAL PERSONS IN HOUSEHOLD					
7 DWELLING VACA 7 DWELLING DEST 8 DWELLING NOT I 9 OTHER	ROYED FOUND	A DWELLING							
LANGUAGE OF QUESTIC									
SUPERVI	SOR	FIELD EDIT	OR	OFFICE EDITOR KEYED BY					
NAME		AME							

INTRODUCTION AND CONSENT

Asalum-o-Alaikum My name is _______. I am working with National Institute of Population Studies. We are conducting a survey about health all over Pakistan. The information we collect will help the government to plan health services. Your household is selected for the survey. I would like to ask you some questions about your household. The questions usually take about 15 to 20 minutes. All of the answers you give will be confidential and will not be shared with anyone other than members of our survey team. You don't have to be in the survey, but we hope you will agree to answer the questions since your views are important. If I ask you any question you don't want to answer, just let me know and I will go on to the next question or you can stop the interview at any time. In case you need more information about the survey, you may contact the person listed on this card.

Do you have any questions?

May I begin the interview now?

SIGNATURE OF INTERVIEWER:

DATE:

RESPONDENT AGREES TO BE INTERVIEWED

.... 1 RESPONDENT DOES NOT AGREE TO BE INTEF.... 2 \longrightarrow END

HOUSEHOLD SCHEDULE

Now I would like to ask you some information about the people who usually live in your household or who are staying with you now.

LINE NO.	USUAL RESIDENTS AND VISITORS	RELATIONSHIP TO HEAD OF HOUSEHOLD	SEX	RESI	DENCE	AGE	IF AGE 15 YEARS OR OLDER
	Please give me the names of the persons who usually live in your household and guests of the household who stayed here last night, starting with the head of the household. AFTER LISTING NAMES, RELATIONSHIP AND SEX FOR EACH PERSON, ASK Qs. 2A-2C TO BE SURE THAT THE LISTING IS COMPLETE. THEN ASK QUESTIONS IN COLUMNS 5-25 FOR EACH PERSON.	What is the relationship of (NAME) to the head of the household?	Is (NAME) male or female?	Does (NAME) usually live here?	Did (NAME) stay here last night?	How old is (NAME)? IF LESS THAN 1 YEAR, WRITE 00'. IF AGE 95 YEARS OR MORE, WRITE '95'.	MARITAL STATUS What is (NAME'S) current marital status?
		(SEE CODES BELOW)					(SEE CODES BELOW)
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
01			M F 1 2	YES NO	YES NO		
02			1 2	1 2	1 2		
03			1 2	1 2	1 2		
04			1 2	1 2	1 2		
05			1 2	1 2	1 2		
06			1 2	1 2	1 2		
07			1 2	1 2	1 2		
08			1 2	1 2	1 2		
09			1 2	1 2	1 2		
10			1 2	1 2	1 2		

CODES FOR Q. 3RELATIONSHIP TO HEAD OF HOUSEHOLD:01 = HEAD0902 = WIFE OR HUSBAND1003 = SON OR DAUGHTER11

- 04 = SON-IN-LAW OR DAUGHTER-IN-LAW 05 = GRANDCHILD
- 06 = PARENT

07 = PARENT-IN-LAW 08 = BROTHER OR SISTER

09 =BROTHER/SISTER IN LAW 10 = NIECE/NEPHEW

11 = GRAND PARENTS

12 =AUNTS/UNCLE 13 = OTHER RELATIVE 14 = ADOPTED/STEPCHILD

- 15 = NOT RELATED
- 16= DOMESTIC SERVANT 98 = DON'T KNOW

CODES FOR Q. 8 MARITAL STATUS 1 = MARRIED 2 = WIDOWED

3 = **D**IVORCED/ SEPARATED 4 = **N**EVER MARRIED

Appendix F • 277

ELIGIBILITY			IF AGE 5 YE	IF AGE 5 YEARS OR OLDER		IF AGE 5-24 YEARS			
			EDU	CATION	CURREN	IT SCHOOLING	What is the main reason (Name) is not attending school?		
CIRCLE LINE NUMBER OF ALL WOMEN AGE 15-49 YEARS WHO ARE MARRIED, WIDOWED OR DIVORCED OR SEPARA- TED	CIRCLE LINE NUMBER OF ELIGIBLE MAN AGE 15-49 YEARS WHO ARE MARRIED, WIDOWED OR DIVORCED OR SEPARA- TED	CIRCLE LINE NUMBER OF ELIGIBLE CHILD AGE 0-5 YEARS	Has (NAME) has ever attended school?	What is the highest class (NAME) completed? (SEE CODES BELOW)	Did (NAME) attend school/ college/ university at any time during the 2012 year?	During this year, which class/grade (NAME) is attending? (SEE CODES BELOW)	Reasons for not attending school? 01.SCHOOL TOO FAR 02.TRANSPORT NOT AVAILABLE 03.FURTHER EDUCATION NOT NECESSARY 04.REQUIRED FOR HOUSEHOLD/ FARMA WORK 05.GOT MARRIED 06.COSTS TOO MUCH 07.NOT INTERESTED IN STUDIES 08.REPEATED FAILURE 09.DID NOT GET ADMISSION 10.NOT SAFE 11.NEED TO WORK TO EARN 96.OTHER 98.DON'T KNOW		
(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)	(15)	(16)		
01	01	01	YES NO 1 2 ↓ GO TO 17	CLASS	YES NO	CLASS GO TO 17			
02	02	02	1 2 ↓ GO TO 17		1 2 ↓ GO TO 16	GO TO 17			
03	03	03	1 2 ↓ GO TO 17		1 2 ↓ GO TO 16	GO TO 17			
04	04	04	1 2 ↓ GO TO 17		1 2 ↓ GO TO 16	GO TO 17			
05	05	05	1 2 ↓ GO TO 17		1 2 ↓ GO TO 16	GO TO 17			
06	06	06	1 2 ↓ GO TO 17		1 2 ↓ GO TO 16	GO TO 17			
07	07	07	1 2 ↓ GO TO 17		1 2 ↓ GO TO 16	GO TO 17			
08	08	08	1 2 ↓ GO TO 17		1 2 GO TO 16	GO TO 17			
09	09	09	1 2 ↓ GO TO 17		1 2 GO TO 16	GO TO 17			
10	10	10	1 2 ↓ GO TO 17		1 2 GO TO 16	GO TO 17			

CODES FOR Q. 13 AND 15 EDUCATION CLASS: 00 = LESS THAN 1 YEAR COMPLETED 01 = CLASS 1;

02 = CLASS 2

10 = MATRIC, CLASS 10 11 = CLASS 11

16 = MASTER'S DEGREE OR MBBS, PhD, MPHIL, BSc (4 YEARS) 98 = DON'T KNOW

	IF AGE 0-1	7 YEARS		FOR ALL AGES	FOR ALL USUAL MEMBERS				
	SURVIVOR BIOLOGICAL	SHIP OF PARENTS		REGISTRATION WITH NADRA			MIGRATION		
Is (NAME)'s natural mother alive?	Does (Names)'s natural mother usually live in this household or was she guest last night? If yes what is her name? [RECORD MOTHER'S LINE NUMBER] IF NO RECORD '00'	Is (NAME)'s natural father alive?	Does (Names)'s natural father usually live in this household or was he guest last night? If yes what is his name? [RECORD FATHER'S LINE NUMBER] IF NO RECORD '00'	Does (NAME) have NIC card or name entered onto a 'bay' form, or nothing at all? IF NAME ON BAY FORM, HAS (NAME) BIRTH CERTIFICATE? IF NEITHER NIC NOR NAME ON BAY FORM, HAS (NAME) BIRTH CERTIFICATE? (SEE CODES BELOW)	Was (Name) born in this village/ city?	From where did (Name) move to this village/ city? 1. CITY (IF URBAN) 2. DISTRICT (IF RURAL) 3. OUTSIDE COUNTRY	In which year did (Name) first move to this village/ city? [WRITE FOUR- DIGIT] DK - 9998	What was the primary reason for (Name's) move to this village/city? 01. BETTER ECONOMIC/ OPPORTUNITIES 02. ACCUMULATE SAVING 03. TRANSFERRED 04. SCHOOLING 05. BETTER INFRASTRUCTURE 06. ACCOMPNIED FAMILY 07. JOIN THE FAMILY 08. ESCAPE DRUGHT/FLOOD 09. ESCAPE WAR/VIOLENCE 10. ESCAPE OTHER NATURAL DISASTER 11. MARRIAGE 12. SINCE CHILDHOOD 13. BIRTH OF POSTPARTUM 96. OTHERS 98. DK	
(17)	(18)	(19)	(20)	(21)	(22)	(23)	(24)	(25)	
$\begin{array}{c} (17)\\ Y & N & DK\\ 1 & 2 \ \hline B \\ Go to 19\\ 1 & 2 \ \hline B \\ B \\ H \\$		$\begin{array}{c} (13) \\ Y N DK \\ 1 2 \overline{\downarrow} & 8 \\ \hline Go & to & 21 \\ \hline \end{array}$			(22) $Y \qquad N$ $1 \qquad 2$ $GO TO NEXT$ $1 \qquad 2$ $1 \qquad 2$	1 2 3 (NAME) 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3			
¹ ² ↓ ⁸ Go to 19		1 2 ↓ 8 Go to 21			GO TO NEXT				
$\begin{array}{c}1 \\ 2 \\ \hline \\ \\ Go \text{ to } 19 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ \hline \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\$		$\begin{array}{c} 1 & 2 \overrightarrow{\downarrow} 8 \\ \hline Go \text{ to } 21 \\ 1 & 2 \overrightarrow{\downarrow} 8 \\ \hline Go \text{ to } 21 \\ \end{array}$			1 2 ↓ GO TO NEXT 1 2 ↓ GO TO NEXT				
$\begin{array}{c}1 & 2 \overline{\downarrow} & 8\\ Go \text{ to } 19\end{array}$		$\begin{array}{c}1 & 2 \overline{\downarrow} \\ \hline \\ Go \text{ to } 21 \end{array}$			1 2 ↓ GO TO NEXT				
$\begin{array}{c}1 & 2 \overrightarrow{\downarrow} & 8\\ Go \text{ to } 19\end{array}$		$\begin{array}{c}1 & 2 \overline{\downarrow} 8\\ Go \text{ to } 21\end{array}$			1 2 ↓ GO TO NEXT				

CODES FOR Q. 21 1=HAS NIC 2=NAME ON 'BAY' FORM AND HAVING BIRTH CERTIFICATE 3=NAME ON 'BAY' FORM AND HAVING NO BIRTH CERTIFICATE

4=ONLY BIRTH CERTIFICATE 5=NEITHER OF ABOVE 8=DOES NOT KNOW

LINE NO.	USUAL RESIDENTS AND VISITORS	RELATIONSHIP TO HEAD OF HOUSEHOLD	SEX	RESI	DENCE	AGE	IF AGE 15 YEARS OR OLDER
	Please give me the names of the persons who usually live in your household and guests	What is the relationship of (NAME) to the	ls (NAME) male or female?	Does (NAME) usually live	Did (NAME) stay here	How old is (NAME)?	MARITAL STATUS
	of the household who stayed here last night, starting with the head of the household.	head of the		nere ?	last night?	IF LESS THAN 1	What is (NAME'S) current marital status?
	RELATIONSHIP AND SEX FOR EACH PERSON, ASK Qs. 2A-2C TO BE SURE THAT THE LISTING IS COMPLETE. THEN ASK QUESTIONS IN COLUMNS 5-25 FOR EACH PERSON.	(SEE CODES BELOW)				YEAR, WRITE 00'. IF AGE 95 YEARS OR MORE, WRITE '95'.	(SEE CODES BELOW)
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
(1)	(-)	(0)	M F	YES NO	YES NO	IN YEARS	(0)
11			1 2	1 2	1 2		
12			1 2	1 2	1 2		
13			1 2	1 2	1 2		
14			1 2	1 2	1 2		
15			1 2	1 2	1 2		
16			1 2	1 2	1 2		
17			1 2	1 2	1 2		
18			1 2	1 2	1 2		
19			1 2	1 2	1 2		
20			1 2	1 2	1 2		

CODES FOR Q. 3RELATIONSHIP TO HEAD OF HOUSEHOLD:01 = HEAD0902 = WIFE OR HUSBAND1003 = SON OR DAUGHTER1104 = SON-IN-LAW OR12

- DAUGHTER-IN-LAW 05 = GRANDCHILD
- 06 = PARENT
- 07 = PARENT-IN-LAW 08 = BROTHER OR SISTER
- 09 =BROTHER/SISTER IN LAW 10 = NIECE/NEPHEW 11 = GRAND PARENTS

12 =AUNTS/UNCLE

13 = OTHER RELATIVE 14 = ADOPTED/FOSTER/STEPCHILD

15 = NOT RELATED

- 16= DOMESTIC SERVANT
- 98 = DON'T KNOW

CODES FOR Q. 8 MARITAL STATUS 1 = MARRIED 2 = WIDOWED 3 = DIVORCED/

SEPARATED 4 = NEVER MARRIED

ELIGIBILITY		IF AGE 5 YEARS OR OLDER		IF AGE 5-24 YEARS			
			EDU	CATION	CURRENT SCHOOLING		What is the main reason (Name) is not attending school?
CIRCLE LINE NUMBER OF ALL WOMEN AGE 15-49 YEARS WHO ARE MARRIED, WIDOWED OR DIVORCED OR SEPARA- TED	CIRCLE LINE NUMBER OF ELIGIBLE MAN AGE 15-49 YEARS WHO ARE MARRIED, WIDOWED OR DIVORCED OR SEPARA- TED	CIRCLE LINE NUMBER OF ELIGIBLE CHILD AGE 0-5 YEARS	Has (NAME) has ever attended school?	What is the highest class (NAME) completed? (SEE CODES BELOW)	Did (NAME) attend school/ college/ university at any time during the 2012 year?	During this year, which class/grade (NAME) is attending? (SEE CODES BELOW)	Reasons for not attending school? 01.SCHOOL TOO FAR 02.TRANSPORT NOT AVAILABLE 03.FURTHER EDUCATION NOT NECESSARY 04.REQUIRED FOR HOUSEHOLD/ FARMA WORK 05.GOT MARRIED 06.COSTS TOO MUCH 07.NOT INTERESTED IN STUDIES 08.REPEATED FAILURE 09.DID NOT GET ADMISSION 10.NOT SAFE 11.NEED TO WORK TO EARN 96.OTHER 98.DON'T KNOW
(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)	(15)	(16)
11	11	11	YES NO 1 2 ↓ GO TO 17	CLASS	YES NO 1 2 ↓ GO TO 16	CLASS GO TO 17	
12	12	12	1 2 GO TO 17		1 2 ↓ GO TO 16	GO TO 17	
13	13	13	1 2 GO TO 17		1 2 GO TO 16	GO TO 17	
14	14	14	1 2 GO TO 17		1 2 ↓ GO TO 16	GO TO 17	
15	15	15	1 2 GO TO 17		1 2 GO TO 16	GO TO 17	
16	16	16.	1 2 GO TO 17		1 2 GO TO 16	GO TO 17	
17	17	17	1 2 GO TO 17		1 2 GO TO 16	GO TO 17	
18	18	18	1 2 GO TO 17		1 2 GO TO 16	GO TO 17	
19	19	19	1 2 GO TO 17		1 2 GO TO 16	GO TO 17	
20	20	20	1 2 ↓ GO TO 17		1 2 GO TO 16	GO TO 17	

CODES FOR Q. 13 AND 15 EDUCATION CLASS:

00 = LESS THAN 1 YEAR COMPLETED 01 = CLASS 1; 02 = CLASS 2

10 = MATRIC, CLASS 10 11 = CLASS 11

.... 16 = MASTER'S DEGREE OR MBBS, PhD, MPHIL, BSc (4 YEARS) 98 = DON'T KNOW

IF AGE 0-17 YEARS			FOR ALL AGES FOR ALL USUAL MEMBERS			RS		
	SURVIVOF BIOLOGICAL	RSHIP OF PARENTS		REGISTRATION WITH NADRA			MIGRATION	
Is (NAME)'s natural mother alive?	Does (Names)'s natural mother usually live in this household or was she guest last night? If yes what is her name? [RECORD MOTHER'S LINE NUMBER] IF NO RECORD "00"	Is (NAME)'s natural father alive?	Does (Names)'s natural father usually live in this household or was he guest last night? If yes what is his name? [RECORD FATHER'S LINE NUMBER] IF NO RECORD "00"	Does (NAME) have NIC card or name entered onto a 'bay' form, or nothing at all? IF NAME ON BAY FORM, HAS (NAME) BIRTH CERTIFICATE? IF NEITHER NIC NOR NAME ON BAY FORM, HAS (NAME) BIRTH CERTIFICATE? (SEE CODES BELOW)	Was (Name) born in this village/ city?	From where did (Name) move to this village/ city? 1. CITY (IF URBAN) 2. DISTRICT (IF RURAL) 3. OUTSIDE COUNTRY	In which year did (Name) first move to this village/ city? [WRITE FOUR- DIGIT] DK - 9998	What was the primary reason for (Name's) move to this village/city? 01. BETTER ECONOMIC/ OPPORTUNITIES 02. ACCUMULATE SAVING 03. TRANSFERRED 04. SCHOOLING 05. BETTER INFRASTRUCTURE 06. ACCOMPNIED FAMILY 07. JOIN THE FAMILY 07. JOIN THE FAMILY 08. ESCAPE DROUGHT/FLOOD 09. ESCAPE WAR/VIOLENCE 10. ESCAPE OTHER NATURAL DISASTER 11. MARRIAGE 12. SINCE CHILDHOOD 13. BIRTH OF POSTPARTUM 96. OTHERS 98. DK
(17)	(18)	(19)	(20)	(21)	(22)	(23)	(24)	(25)
Y N DK $1 \xrightarrow{2} 4$ Go to 19	NAME:	Y N DK $1 2 \downarrow 8$ Go to 22	NAME:		Y N 1 2 ↓ GO TO NEXT	1 2 3 (NAME)		
$\begin{array}{ccc} 1 & 2 \overline{\downarrow} & 8\\ & & \\$		$\begin{array}{ccc} 1 & 2 & \overline{\downarrow} & 8 \\ & & \\ & $			1 2 ↓ GO TO NEXT	1 2 3		
$\begin{array}{ccc}1 & 2 \\ \hline \downarrow & 8\\ \hline & \text{Go to 19}\end{array}$		$\begin{array}{cc}1 & 2 \overline{\downarrow} 8\\ Go \text{ to } 21\end{array}$			1 2 ↓ GO TO NEXT			
$\begin{array}{ccc}1 & 2 \overline{\downarrow} & 8\\ & & \\ $		$\begin{array}{c}1 & 2 \overline{\downarrow} 8\\ \text{Go to } 21\end{array}$			1 2 ↓ GO TO NEXT	1 2 3		
$\begin{array}{c}1 & 2 \overline{\downarrow} \\ \hline \\ Go to 19\end{array}$		$\begin{array}{c}1 & 2 \overline{\downarrow} 8\\ Go to 21\end{array}$			1 2 ↓ GO TO NEXT	1 2 3		
$\begin{array}{c}1 & 2 \overline{\downarrow} & 8\\ \hline & Go to 19\end{array}$		$\begin{array}{c}1 & 2 \overline{\downarrow} 8\\ Go to 21\end{array}$			1 2 ↓ GO TO NEXT	1 2 3		
$1 2 \downarrow 8$		$\begin{array}{c} 1 & 2 \overline{\downarrow} 8 \\ \hline 60 \text{ to } 21 \end{array}$			1 2 ↓ GO TO NEXT	1 2 3		
$1 2 \downarrow 8$		$\begin{array}{c} 1 & 2 \downarrow 8 \\ \hline 1 & 2 \downarrow 8 \\ \hline 60 \text{ to } 21 \end{array}$			1 2 ↓ GO TO NEXT	1 2 3		
$1 2 \overline{\downarrow} 8$		$1 2 \overline{\downarrow} 8$				1 2 3		
$\begin{array}{c} 1 \\ 2 \\ \hline \end{array} \\ 8 \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} 2 \\ \hline \end{array} \\ 8 \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} 8 \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} 6 \\ 0 \\ 1 \\ 0 \\ 1 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 1 \\ 0 \\ 0$		$1 2 \overline{\downarrow} 8$				1 2 3		
Go to 19 TICK HERE IF C Just to make sur 2A) Are there an have not lis 2B) Are there an such as do 2C) Are there an else who s	CONTINUATION SH e that I have a com y other persons suc sted? YES y other people who mestic servants, lo YES y guests or tempor lept here last night,	Go to 21 IEET USED plete household th as small child ADD TO TABLE may not be mer dgers or friends ADD TO TABLE any visitors stayin who have not be ADD TO ADD TO ADD T	listing: ren or infants that v NO nbers of your family who usually live he NO ng here, or anyone een listed?	ve 3=NAME 4=ONLY sere?	GO TO NEXT FOR Q. 21 IIC ON 'BAY' FORM A ON 'BAY' FORM A BIRTH CERTIFICA ER OF ABOVE NOT KNOW	ND HAVING BIRTH CER ND HAVING NO BIRTH (TE	TIFICATE CERTIFICATE	
IF NO MORE ME	IF NO MORE MEMBERS, GO TO 26.							

				OUT MIGRATIC	JN	
26	Now I would like to ask you about members of this household who lived here in the past 10 years but have since moved away. Are there any members of your household who lived here in the past 10 years but who have since moved away?		YES NO DON	1 	→ 34	
LINE NO.	MIGRANTS	SEX	MONTH AND YEAR MOVED AWAY	AGE	REASON FOR MOVING	PLACE TRAVELLED TO
(27)	(28)	(29)	(30)	(31)	(32)	(33)
	Please give me the names of the persons who are living outside of this household? AFTER LISTING THE NAMES AND RECORDING 'THE SEX FOR EACH PERSON, ASK QUESTIONS 31-34 FOR EACH PERSON	Is (NAME) male or female?	In what month and year did (NAME) move away? DK MONTH 98 DK YEAR . 9998	How old was (NAME) when she/he moved away? IF AGE 95 OR MORE, RECORD 95'. IF AGE LESS THAN 1 YEAR RECORD '00' DK 98	What was the main reason that (NAME) moved away? 01. BETTER ECONOMIC/ OPPORTUNITIES 02. ACCUMULATE SAVING 03. TRANSFERRED 04. SCHOOLING 05. BETTER INFRASTRUCTURE 06. ACCOMPNIED FAMILY 07. JOIN THE FAMILY 07. JOIN THE FAMILY 08. ESCAPE DROUGHT/FLOOD 09. ESCAPE WAR/VIOLENCE 10. ESCAPE OTHER NATURAL DISASTER 11. MARRIAGE 12. SINCE CHILDHOOD 96. OTHERS	Where has (NAME) travelled to? IF OTHER CITY OF PAKISTAN, ASK FOR NAME OF CITY AND CODE, IF OTHER PART OF PAKISTAN, ASK FOR NAME OF DISTRICT AND CODE. IF OTHER THAN PAKISTAN, ASK FOR NAME OF THE COUNTRY CIRCLE THE CODES AS PROVIDED. 1. CITY (IF URBAN) 2. DISTRICT (IF RURAL) 3. OUTSIDE COUNTRY
01		M F 1 2	MONTH YEAR	YEARS	DON'T KNOW 98	1 2 3 NAME: DON'T KNOW
02		M F 1 2	MONTH YEAR	YEARS	DON'T KNOW	1 2 3 NAME:
03		M F 1 2	MONTH YEAR	YEARS	DON'T KNOW 98	1 2 3
04		M F 1 2	MONTH YEAR	YEARS	DON'T KNOW	1 2 3 NAME: DON'T KNOW
05		M F 1 2	MONTH YEAR	YEARS	DON'T KNOW 98	1 2 3
33A	TOTAL NUMBER OF MIGRA	NTS .		TICK HERE IF	CONTINUATION SHEET USED	

34 CHECK THE IDENTIF	ICATION SECT	ION OF HOUSI	EHOLD QUEST	FIONNAIRE. IS	HOUSEHOLD	SELECTED		
HOUSEHOL	D SELECTED	↓ ↓		HOU	ISEHOLD NOT	SELECTED		101
35 TABLE FOR SELECT	ION OF RESPO	NDENTS FOR	SECTION ON	DOMESTIC VC	DILENCE			-
LOOK AT THE LAST DIGIT CHECK THE TOTAL NUME FOR EACH NON-ZERO NU NUMBER OF THE SELECT FOR EXAMPLE, IF THE HO HOUSEHOLD, GO TO COI HOUSEHOLD SCHEDULE	F OF THE HOUS BER OF ELIGIB JMBER, THIS IS TED WOMAN F OUSEHOLD NU LUMN '3'. FIND AND CIRCLE 1	SEHOLD NUMI LE FEMALE R S THE COLUMI OR DOMESTIC UMBER IS '16', I THE NUMBER THE LINE NUM	BER ON THE C ESPONDENTS N. YOU SHOUL C VOILENCE M GO TO ROW '6 IN THE BOX V BER OF THE S	OVER PAGE. ON THE COVI D GO TO THE IODULE. IN IF THRERE A VHERE THE RO SELECTED WC	THIS IS THE R ER SHEET OF CELL WHERE ARE THREE EI DW MEETS TH MAN	OW NUMBER THE HOUSEH THE ROW AN LIGIBLE WOMI IE COLUMN ('2	YOU SHOULD OLD QUESTIO ND COLUMN M EN AGE 15-49 2'). NOW GO T(GO TO. NNAIRE. EET; IS THE YEARS IN THI D THE
LAST DIGIT OF THE		TOTAL N	UMBER OF EL		EN 15-49 YEAF	S IN THE HOU	JSEHOLD	
HOUSEHOLD NUMBER	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
0	1	2	2	4	3	6	5	4
1	1	1	3	1	4	1	6	5
2	1	2	1	2	5	2	7	6
3	1	1	2	3	1	3	1	7
4	1	2	3	4	2	4	2	8
5	1	1	1	1	3	5	3	1
6	1	2	2	2	4	6	4	2
7	1	1	3	3	5	1	5	3
8	1	2	1	4	1	2	6	4

Name of selected woman:

HOUSEHOLD CHARACTERISTICS

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
101	How often does anyone smoke cigarette/huqa/berri or pipe inside your house? Would you say daily, weekly, monthly, less than monthly, or never?	DAILY 1 WEEKLY 2 MONTHLY 3 LESS THAN MONTHLY 4 NEVER 5	
102	What is the main source of drinking water for members of your household?	PIPED WATER PIPED INTO DWELLING 11 PIPED TO YARD/PLOT 12 PUBLIC TAP/STANDPIPE 13 TUBE WELL OR BOREHOLE 21 HAND PUMP 22 DUG WELL 31 PROTECTED WELL 31 UNPROTECTED WELL 32 WATER FROM SPRING 41 UNPROTECTED SPRING 42 RAINWATER 51 TANKER TRUCK 61 FILTRATION PLANT 62 CART WITH SMALL TANK 71 SURFACE WATER (RIVER/DAM/ 14 LAKE/POND/STREAM/CANAL/ 81 BOTTLED WATER 91 OTHER 96 (SPECIFY) 96	→ 105 → 105
103	Where is that water source located?	IN OWN DWELLING	105
104	How long does it take to go there, get water, and come back? IF WATER IS DELIVERED AT HOME, RECORD `000'	MINUTES	
105	Do you do anything to the water to make it safer to drink?	YES	107
106	What do you usually do to make the water safer to drink? Anything else? [CIRCLE ALL MENTIONED]	BOIL A ADD BLEACH/CHLORINE B STRAIN THROUGH A CLOTH C USE WATER FILTER (CERAMIC/ SAND/COMPOSITE/ETC.) D SOLAR DISINFECTION E LET IT STAND AND SETTLE F OTHER X (SPECIFY) D DON'T KNOW Z	

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
107	What kind of toilet facility do members of your household usually use?	FLUSH OR POUR FLUSH TOILET FLUSH TO PIPED SEWER SYSTEM SYSTEM FLUSH TO SEPTIC TANK 12 FLUSH TO SEPTIC TANK 13 FLUSH TO SEPTIC TANK 12 FLUSH TO SEPTIC TANK 13 FLUSH, DON'T KNOW WHERE ELSE 14 FLUSH, DON'T KNOW WHERE 15 PIT LATRINE VENTILATED IMPROVED PIT LATRINE WITH SLAB OPEN PIT 23 BUCKET TOILET HANGING TOILET/HANGING LATRINE LATRINE NO FACILITY/BUSH/FIELD OTHER 96	→ 110
108	Do you share this toilet facility with other households?	YES	→ 110
109	How many other households use this toilet facility?	NO. OF HOUSEHOLDS 0 IF LESS THAN 10 0 10 OR MORE HOUSEHOLDS 95 DON'T KNOW 98	
110	Does your household have: for example: a) Electricity? b) A radio? c) A television? d) A landline telephone? e) A refrigerator? f) Almirah/Cabinet? g) Chair? h) Room Cooler? i) Airconditioner? j) Washing Machine? k) Water Pump? l) Bed? m) Clock? n) Sofa? o) Camera? p) Sewing Machine? q) Computer? r) Internet connection?	YES NO ELECTRICITY 1 2 RADIO 1 2 TELEVISION 1 2 LANDLINE TELEPHONE 1 2 REFRIGERATOR 1 2 ALMIRAH/CABINET 1 2 CHAIR 1 2 ROOM COOLER 1 2 WASHING MACHINE 1 2 WASHING MACHINE 1 2 BED 1 2 SOFA 1 2 SOFA 1 2 SEWING MACHINE 1 2 SEWING MACHINE 1 2 INTERNET CONNECTIOI 1 2	
111	What type of fuel does your household mainly use for cooking?	ELECTRICITY 01 LPG 02 NATURAL GAS 03 BIOGAS 04 KEROSENE 05 COAL, LIGNITE 06 CHARCOAL 07 WOOD 08 STRAW/SHRUBS/GRASS 09 ANIMAL DUNG 10 NO FOOD COOKED 10 IN HOUSEHOLD 95 OTHER 96 (SPECIFY) (SPECIFY)	→ 114

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
112	Is the cooking usually done in the house, in a separate building, or outdoors?	IN THE HOUSE	114
113	Do you have a separate room which is used as a kitchen?	YES 1 NO 2	
114	MAIN MATERIAL OF THE FLOOR. RECORD OBSERVATION.	NATURAL FLOOREARTH/SAND/MUDDUNG12RUDIMENTARY FLOORWOOD PLANKSPALM/BAMBOO22FINISHED FLOORPARQUET OR POLISHEDWOODWOOD31VINYL OR ASPHALT STRIPS32CERAMIC TILES33CEMENT34CARPET35CHIPS/TERRAZZO36BRICKSMATS38MARBLE39OTHER96	
115	MAIN MATERIAL OF THE ROOF. RECORD OBSERVATION.	NATURAL ROOFING NO ROOF 11 THATCH/PALM LEAF 12 SOD/GRASS 13 RUDIMENTARY ROOFING 11 RUSTIC MAT 21 PALM/BAMBOO 22 WOOD PLANKS 23 CARDBOARD 24 FINISHED ROOFING 11 IRON SHEETS/ASBESTOS 31 REINFORCED BRICK CEMENT/RCC 32 METAL 33 WOOD/T IRON/MUD 34 CALAMINE/CEMENT FIBER 35 CERAMIC TILES 36 CEMENT/RCC 37 ROOFING SHINGLES 38 OTHER 96	

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
116	MAIN MATERIAL OF THE EXTERIOR WALLS.	NATURAL WALLS11NO WALLS11CANE/PALM/TRUNKS12DIRT13MUD/STONES14BAMBOO/STICKS/MUD15RUDIMENTARY WALLS11UNBAKED BRICKS/MUD21CARTON/PLASTIC22BAMBOO WITH MUD23STONE WITH MUD24UNCOVERED ADOBE25PLYWOOD26CARDBOARD27REUSED WOOD28FINISHED WALLS31BAKED BRICKS31TENT32CEMENT33STONE WITH LIME/CEMENT34BRICKS35CEMENT BLOCKS36COVERED ADOBE37WOOD PLANKS/SHINGLES38OTHER96	
117	How many rooms in this household are used for sleeping?	ROOMS	
118	Does any member of this household own: a) A watch? b) A mobile telephone? c) A bicycle? d) A motorcycle or motor scooter? e) An animal-drawn cart? f) A car or truck or bus? g) A Tractor? h) A boat with a motor? i) A boat without a motor?	YES NO WATCH 1 2 MOBILE TELEPHONE 1 2 BICYCLE 1 2 MOTORCYCLE/SCOOTER 1 2 ANIMAL-DRAWN CART 1 2 CAR/TRUCK/BUS 1 2 TRACTOR 1 2 BOAT WITH MOTOR 1 2 BOAT WITHOUT MOTOR 1 2	
119	Does any member of this household own any agricultural land?	YES	→ 121
120	How many acres or kanals of agricultural land do members of this household own? IF 95 OR MORE, RECORD '950' IN BOX.	AREA ACRE 1 . KANAL 2 . . DON'T KNOW . . .	
121	Does this household own any livestock, herds, other farm animals, or poultry?	YES	→ 123

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
122	How many of the following animals does this household own? IF NONE, ENTER '00'. IF 95 OR MORE, ENTER '95'. IF UNKNOWN, ENTER '98'.		
	a) Milk cows or bulls?	COWS/BULLS	
	b) Horses, donkeys, or mules?	HORSES/DONKEYS/MULES	
	c) Goats?	GOATS	
	d) Sheep?	SHEEP	
	e) Chickens?	CHICKENS	
	f) Buffalo?	BUFFALO	
	g) Camels?	CAMELS	
123	Does any member of this household have a bank account?	YES 1 NO 2	
124	At any time in the past 12 months, has anyone come into your dwelling to spray the interior walls against mosquitoes?	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8	↓ 126
125	Who sprayed the dwelling? [CIRCLE ALL MENTIONED]	GOVERNMENT WORKER/PROGRAM A PRIVATE COMPANY B NONGOVERNMENTAL C ORGANIZATION (NGO) C OTHER X (SPECIFY) C	
126	Does your household have any mosquito nets that can be used while sleeping?	YES	→ 131
127	How many mosquito nets does your household have? IF 7 OR MORE NETS, RECORD '7'.	NUMBER OF NETS	
128	How many of these mosquito nets are insecticide treated? CIRCLE "0" IF ANSWER IS "NONE" IF 7 OR MORE NETS RECORD "7"	NONE 0 NUMBER OF NETS	→ 131 → 131
129	Do you usually soak the mosquito nets in a liquid that kill or repel mosquitoes?	YES	→ 131
130	Generally, after how many months mosquito nets are soaked or dipped?	MONTHS	
	IF LESS THAN ONE MONTH, RECORD "00"	NOT SURE	
131	Do you think that the use of insecticide treated nets can reduce the incidence of Malaria?	YES	

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
132	What else your household does to avoid mosquitos?	YES	→ 134
133	What do you do? Any thing else? [CIRCLE ALL MENTIONED]	COIL A MATS B SPRAY C ELECTRIC SPRAY REPELLANT D INSECT REPELLANT E INFRARED ELECTRIC DEVICE F SMOKE G MEMBRANCE H OTHER X (SPECIFY)	
134	Please show me where members of your household most often wash their hands?	OBSERVED 1 NOT OBSERVED, 1 NOT IN DWELLING/YARD/PLOT 2 NOT OBSERVED, 1 NO PERMISSION TO SEE 3 NOT OBSERVED, OTHER REASON 4	201
135	OBSERVATION ONLY: OBSERVE PRESENCE OF WATER AT THE PLACE FOR HANDWASHING.	WATER IS AVAILABLE	
136	OBSERVATION ONLY: OBSERVE PRESENCE OF SOAP, DETERGENT, OR OTHER CLEANSING AGENT.	SOAP OR DETERGENT (BAR, LIQUID, POWDER, PASTE) A ASH, MUD, SAND B NONE C	

WEIGHT AND I	HEIGHT MEASUR	EMENT FOR C	HILDREN AGE 0-5

201	CHECK IDENTIFICATION SECTION OF HOUSEHOLD QUESTIONNAIRE:			
	HOUSEHOLD SELECTED FOR MEN INTERVIEW	YES	NO	END OF SECTION
202	CHECK COLUMN 11 IN HOUSEHOLD SCHEDULE. RECORD THE LINE NUMBER AND NAME FOR ALL ELIGIBLE CHILDREN 0-5 YEARS IN QUESTION 203. IF MORE THAN SIX CHILDREN, USE ADDITIONAL QUESTIONNAIRE(S).			
		CHILD 1	CHILD 2	CHILD 3
203	LINE NUMBER FROM COLUMN 11	LINE NUMBER	LINE NUMBER	LINE NUMBER
204	IF MOTHER INTERVIEWED, COPY MONTH AND YEAR OF BIRTH FROM PREGNANCY HISTORY AND ASK DAY; IF MOTHER NOT INTERVIEWED, ASK: What is (NAME)'s birth date?	DAY	DAY	DAY
205	CHECK 204: CHILD BORN IN JANUARY 2007 OR LATER?	YES 1 NO 2 (GO TO 204 FOR NEXT CHILD OR, IF NO MORE CHILDREN, GO TO 210)	YES 1 NO 2 (GO TO 204 FOR NEXT CHILD OR, IF NO MORE CHILDREN, GO TO 210)	YES 1 NO 2 (GO TO 204 FOR NEXT CHILD OR, IF NO MORE CHILDREN, GO TO 210)
206	WEIGHT IN KILOGRAMS	KG	KG	KG
207	HEIGHT IN CENTIMETERS	CM	CM. 9994 NOT PRESENT 9994 REFUSED 9995 OTHER 9996	CM. 9994 NOT PRESENT 9994 REFUSED 9995 OTHER 9996
208	MEASURED LYING DOWN OR STANDING UP?	LYING DOWN 1 STANDING UP 2 NOT MEASURED 3	LYING DOWN 1 STANDING UP 2 NOT MEASURED 3	LYING DOWN 1 STANDING UP 2 NOT MEASURED 3
209	GO BACK TO 204 IN NEXT COLUMN OF THIS QUESTIONNAIRE OR IN THE FIRST COLUMN OF THE NEXT PAGE; IF NO MORE CHILDREN, GO TO 210.			

		CHILD 4	CHILD 5	CHILD 6
203	LINE NUMBER FROM COLUMN 11	LINE NUMBER	LINE NUMBER	LINE NUMBER
204	IF MOTHER INTERVIEWED, COPY MONTH AND YEAR OF BIRTH FROM PREGNANCY HISTORY AND ASK DAY; IF MOTHER NOT INTERVIEWED, ASK: What is (NAME)'s birth date?	DAY	DAY	DAY
205	CHECK 204: CHILD BORN IN JANUARY 2007 OR LATER?	YES 1 NO	YES	YES
206	WEIGHT IN KILOGRAMS	KG	KG	KG
207	HEIGHT IN CENTIMETERS	CM CHILD NOT PRESENT9994 REFUSED 9995 OTHER 9996	CM CHILD NOT PRESENT9994 REFUSED 9995 OTHER 9996	CM. CHILD NOT PRESENT9994 REFUSED 9995 OTHER 9996
208	MEASURED LYING DOWN OR STANDING UP?	LYING DOWN 1 STANDING UP 2 NOT MEASURED 3	LYING DOWN 1 STANDING UP 2 NOT MEASURED 3	LYING DOWN 1 STANDING UP 2 NOT MEASURED 3
209	GO BACK TO 204 IN NEXT COLUMN OF THIS QUESTIONNAIRE OR IN THE FIRST COLUMN OF AN ADDITIONAL QUESTIONNAIRE; IF NO MORE CHILDREN, GO TO 210.			

TICK HERE IF ADDITIONAL SHEET USED

WEIGHT AND HEIGHT MEASUREMENT FOR ELIGIBLE WOMEN

210	CHECK COLUMN 9 IN HOUSEHOLD SCHEDULE. RECORD THE LINE NUMBER AND NAME FOR ALL ELIGIBLE WOMEN IN 211. IF THERE ARE MORE THAN THREE WOMEN, USE ADDITIONAL QUESTIONNAIRE(S).				
		WOMAN 1	WOMAN 2	WOMAN 3	
211	LINE NUMBER FROM COLUMN 9 NAME FROM	LINE NUMBER	LINE NUMBER	LINE NUMBER	
	COLUMN 2	NAME	NAME	NAME	
212	WEIGHT IN KILOGRAMS	кд.	кд.	кд.	
		NOT PRESENT 99994 REFUSED 99995 OTHER 99996	NOT PRESENT 99994 REFUSED 99995 OTHER 99996	NOT PRESENT 99994 REFUSED 99995 OTHER 99996	
213	HEIGHT IN CENTIMETERS	СМ	СМ	СМ	
		NOT PRESENT 9994 REFUSED 9995 OTHER 9996	NOT PRESENT 9994 REFUSED 9995 OTHER 9996	NOT PRESENT 9994 REFUSED 9995 OTHER 9996	
214	PREGNANCY STATUS: CHECK 234 IN WOMAN'S QUESTIONNAIRE OR ASK: Are you pregnant?	YES 1 NO 2 NOT PRESENT 4 NOT SURE/DON'T KNOW 8	YES 1 NO 2 NOT PRESENT 4 NOT SURE/DON'T KNOW 8	YES 1 NO 2 NOT PRESENT 4 NOT SURE/DON'T KNOW 8	
215	GO BACK TO 212 IN IF NO MORE WOME	NEXT COLUMN OF THIS QUESTIONN	AIRE OR IN THE FIRST COLUMN OF AN AIRE.	N ADDITIONAL QUESTIONNAIRE;	
	TICK HERE IF ADDITIONAL SHEET USED				

NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF POPULATION STUDIES PAKISTAN DEMOGRAPHIC AND HEALTH SURVEY 2012-13

EVER-MARRIED WOMAN'S QUESTIONNAIRE

IDENTIFICATION				
PROVINCE/REGION (PUNJAB=1; SINDH=2; KPK=3; BALOCHISTAN=4; GB=5; ICT=6)				
TEHSIL				
CLUSTER NUMBER				
HOUSEHOLD NUMBER				
LARGE CITY=1; SMALL (CITY=2; TOWN=3; RURAL	_=4		
NAME OF HOUSEHOLD	HEAD			
NAME AND LINE NUMBE	ER OF WOMAN			
		INTERVIEWER VISITS		
	1	2	3	FINAL VISIT
DATE				DAY MONTH
INTERVIEWER'S NAME RESULT*				YEAR 2 0 1 INT. NUMBER RESULT
NEXT VISIT: DATE TIME				TOTAL NUMBER OF VISITS
*RESULT CODES: 1 COMPLETED 4 REFUSED 2 NOT AT HOME 5 PARTLY COMPLETED 7 OTHER 3 POSTPONED 6 INCAPACITATED (SPECIFY)				
LANGUAGE OF QUESTIONNAIRE: ENGLISH 6 LANGUAGE OF INTERVIEW*				
* URDU = 1 SINDHI= 3 BALUCHI=5 BARUHI=7 OTHER=9 PUNJABI=2 PUSHTO=4 ENGLISH=6 SARAIKI=8 SPECIFY				
SUPERVI	SOR	FIELD EDIT	OR C	FFICE EDITOR KEYED BY
NAME		AME		

INFORMED CONSENT

Assalamo Alaikum. My name is ___. I am working with NIPS. We are conducting a survey about health all over Pakistan. The information we collect will help the government to plan health services. Your household is selected for the survey. The questions usually take about 45 to 60 minutes. All of the answers you give will be confidential and will not be shared with anyone other than members of our survey team. You don't have to be in the survey, but we hope you will agree to answer the questions since your views are important. If I ask you any question you don't want to answer, just let me know and I will go on to the next question or you can stop the interview at any time.

In case you need more information about the survey, you may contact the person listed on the card that has already been given to your household.

Do you have any questions? May I begin the interview now?

SIGNATURE OF INTERVIEWER:	DATE:	
RESPONDENT AGREES TO BE INTERVIEWED	1 RESPONDENT DOES NOT AGREE TO BE INTERVIEWED ↓	2→ END

SECTION 1. RESPONDENT'S BACKGROUND

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
101	RECORD THE TIME.	HOUR	
102	In what month and year were you born?	MONTH	
103	How old were you at your last birthday? COMPARE AND CORRECT 102 AND/OR 103 IF INCONSISTENT.	AGE IN COMPLETED YEARS	
104	What is your current marital status? Are you married, divorced, widowed, or separated?	MARRIED1WIDOWED2DIVORCED3SEPARATED4NEVER MARRIED5	→ 110 → END
105	Is your husband living with you now or is he staying elsewhere?	LIVING WITH HER 1 STAYING ELSEWHERE 2	
106	RECORD THE HUSBAND'S NAME AND LINE NUMBER FROM THE HOUSEHOLD QUESTIONNAIRE. IF HE IS NOT LISTED IN THE HOUSEHOLD, RECORD '00'.	NAME	
107	Does your husband have other wives?	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8	110
108	Including yourself, in total, how many wives does he have?	TOTAL NUMBER OF WIVES DON'T KNOW	
109	Are you the first, second, wife?	RANK 8	
110	Is/was there a blood relationship between you and your husband?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 112
111	What type of relationship (is/was) it?	FIRST COUSIN ON FATHER'S SIDE.1FIRST COUSIN ON MOTHER'S SIDE.2SECOND COUSINOTHER RELATIONSHIP.6	
112	Have you been married only once or more than once?	ONLY ONCE 1 MORE THAN ONCE 2	
113	While getting married, did you have a say in choosing your (first) husband?	YES 1 NO 2	

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP	
114	CHECK 112:		-	
	MARRIED MARRIED MARRIED MORE THAN ONCE	MONTH		
	In what month and year did you start living with your husband? Now I would like to ask about your first husband. In what month and year did you start living with him?	DON'T KNOW MONTH		
		YEAR9998	→ 116	
115	How old were you when you first started living with him?	AGE		
116	Have you ever attended school?	YES	→ 119	
117	What is the highest class you completed?	CLASS		
	IF COMPLETED LESS THAN CLASS ONE, WRITE '00'. IF MA, MPHIL, PHD, MBBS, OR BSC/4 YEARS, WRITE '16'.			
118	CHECK 117: CLASS 00-08 CLASS 09 OR HIGHER		—▶ 121	
119	Now I would like you to read this sentence to me. SHOW CARD TO RESPONDENT. IF RESPONDENT CANNOT READ WHOLE SENTENCE, PROBE: Can you read any part of the sentence to me?	CANNOT READ AT ALL		
120	CHECK 119: CODE '2', '3' OR '4' CIRCLED		122	
121	Do you read a newspaper or magazine daily, at least once a week, occasionally or not at all?	DAILY1AT LEAST ONCE A WEEK2OCCASIONALLY3NOT AT ALL4		
122	Do you listen to the radio daily, at least once a week, occasionally or not at all?	DAILY1AT LEAST ONCE A WEEK2OCCASIONALLY3NOT AT ALL4		
123	Do you watch television daily, at least once a week, occasionally or not at all?	DAILY1AT LEAST ONCE A WEEK2OCCASIONALLY3NOT AT ALL4		
		1		I
------------	--	--	--	------
NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES		SKIP
NO. 124	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS What is your mother tongue?	CODING CATEGORIES URDU PUNJABI SINDHI PUSHTO BALOCHI ENGLISH BARAUHI SIRAIKI HINDKO KASHMIRI	01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10	SKIP
		SHINA BRUSHASKI WAKHI CHITRALI/ KHWAR BALTI PAHARI POTOWARI MARWARI FARSI OTHER	11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 96	

SECTION 2. REPRODUCTION						
NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP			
200	Now I would like to ask you about all the pregnancies that you have had children born to you whether they were born alive or dead, whether the with you or somewhere else, and all the pregnancies that you have had understand that it is not easy to talk about children who have died, or but it is important that you tell us about all of them, so that the governm children's health.	ad during your life. By this I mean all the ey are still living or not, whether they live id that did not result in a live birth. I pregnancies that ended before full term, ment can develop programs to improve				
201	Now I would like to ask about all the births you have had during your life. Have you ever given birth?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 206			
202	Do you have any sons or daughters to whom you have given birth who are now living with you?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 204			
203	How many sons live with you?	SONS AT HOME				
	And how many daughters live with you?	DAUGHTERS AT HOME				
	IF NONE, RECORD '00'.					
204	Do you have any sons or daughters to whom you have given birth who are alive but do not live with you?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 206			
205	How many sons are alive but do not live with you?	SONS ELSEWHERE				
	And how many daughters are alive but do not live with you?	DAUGHTERS ELSEWHERE				
	IF NONE, RECORD '00'.					
206	Have you ever given birth to a boy or girl who was born alive but later died?					
	IF NO, PROBE: Any baby who cried or showed signs of life but did not survive?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 208			
207	How many boys have died?	BOYS DEAD				
	And how many girls have died?	GIRLS DEAD				
	IF NONE, RECORD '00'.					
208	Women sometimes have pregnancies that do not result in a live born child. That is, a pregnancy can end in a miscarriage, aborted or the child can be born dead. Have you ever had a pregnancy that did not end in a live birth?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 210			
209	How many pregnancies have you had that did not end in a live birth?	PREGNANCY LOSSES				
210	SUM ANSWERS TO 203, 205, 207 AND 209, AND ENTER TOTAL. IF NONE, RECORD '00'.	TOTAL PREGNANCIES				
211	CHECK 210:					
	Just to make sure that I have this right: you have had in TOTAL pregnancies during your life. Is that correct?					
	YES NO CORRECT 201-210 AS NECESSARY.					
212	CHECK 210:					
	ONE OR MORE NO PREGNANCY PREGNANCIES		234			

213	Now I would like to record all your pregnancies, whether born alive, born dead, or lost before full term, starting with the first one you had. RECORD ALL THE PREGNANCIES IN 215. RECORD TWINS AND TRIPLETS ON SEPARATE LINES. (IF THERE ARE MORE THAN 12 PREGNANCIES, USE AN ADDITIONAL QUESTIONNAIRE STARTING WITH THE SECOND ROW).						
214	215	216	217	218	219	220	221
PREGN ANCY HISTORY NUMBER	Think back to your first pregnancy. The pregnancy which was the first after your (first) marriage? Was that a single or multiple pregnancy?	Was the baby born alive or born dead or lost before birth?	Did that baby cry, move, or breathe when it was born?	What name was given to the child? [RECORD BABY-1 BABY-2 IN CASE NO (NAME) WAS GIVEN]	ls (NAME) a boy or a girl?	In what month and year was (NAME) born? PROBE: When is his/her birthday?	Is (NAME) still alive?
01	SING 1 MULT 2 DON'T KNOW . 8	BORN ALIVE 1 (SKIP TO 218) BORN DEAD 2 LOST BEFORE FULL TERM 3 (SKIP TO 226)	YES 1 NO 2 ↓ 226	NAME	BOY 1 GIRL 2	MONTH YEAR	YES 1 NO 2 ↓ 225
02	SING 1 MULT 2 DON'T KNOW . 8	BORN ALIVE 1 (SKIP TO 218) BORN DEAD 2 LOST BEFORE FULL TERM 3 (SKIP TO 226)	YES 1 NO 2 ↓ 226	NAME	BOY 1 GIRL 2	MONTH YEAR	YES 1 NO 2 ↓ 225
03	SING 1 MULT 2 DON'T KNOW 8	BORN ALIVE 1 (SKIP TO 218) → J BORN DEAD 2 LOST BEFORE FULL TERM 3 (SKIP TO 226) → J	YES 1 NO 2 ↓ 226	NAME	BOY 1 GIRL 2	MONTH YEAR	YES 1 NO 2 ↓ 225
04	SING 1 MULT 2 DON'T KNOW 8	BORN ALIVE 1 (SKIP TO 218) BORN DEAD 2 LOST BEFORE FULL TERM 3 (SKIP TO 226)	YES 1 NO 2 ↓ 226	NAME	BOY 1 GIRL 2	MONTH YEAR	YES 1 NO 2 ↓ 225
05	SING 1 MULT 2 DON'T KNOW . 8	BORN ALIVE 1 (SKIP TO 218) BORN DEAD 2 LOST BEFORE FULL TERM 3 (SKIP TO 226)	YES 1 NO 2 ↓ 226	NAME	BOY 1 GIRL 2	MONTH YEAR	YES 1 NO 2 ↓ 225
06	SING 1 MULT 2 DON'T KNOW . 8	BORN ALIVE 1 (SKIP TO 218) BORN DEAD 2 LOST BEFORE FULL TERM 3 (SKIP TO 226)	YES 1 NO 2 ↓ 226	NAME	BOY 1 GIRL 2	MONTH YEAR	YES 1 NO 2 ↓ 225
07	SING 1 MULT 2 DON'T KNOW 8	BORN ALIVE 1 (SKIP TO 218) BORN DEAD 2 LOST BEFORE FULL TERM 3 (SKIP TO 226)	YES 1 NO 2 ↓ 226	NAME	BOY 1 GIRL 2	MONTH YEAR	YES 1 NO 2 ↓ 225

214	215	216	217	218	219	220	221
PREGN ANCY HISTORY NUMBER	Think back to your first pregnancy. The pregnancy which was the first after your (first) marriage? Was that a single or multiple pregnancy?	Was the baby born alive or born dead or lost before birth?	Did that baby cry, move, or breathe when it was born?	What name was given to the child? [RECORD BABY-1 BABY-2 IN CASE NO (NAME) WAS GIVEN]	Is (NAME) a boy or a girl?	In what month and year was (NAME) born? PROBE: When is his/her birthday?	Is (NAME) still alive?
08	SING 1 MULT 2 DON'T KNOW . 8	BORN ALIVE 1 (SKIP TO 218) BORN DEAD 2 LOST BEFORE FULL TERM 3 (SKIP TO 226)	YES 1 NO 2 ↓ 226	NAME	BOY 1 GIRL 2	MONTH YEAR	YES 1 NO 2 ↓ 225
09	SING 1 MULT 2 DON'T KNOW . 8	BORN ALIVE 1 (SKIP TO 218) BORN DEAD 2 LOST BEFORE FULL TERM 3 (SKIP TO 226)	YES 1 NO 2 ↓ 226	NAME	BOY 1 GIRL 2	MONTH YEAR	YES 1 NO 2 ↓ 225
10	SING 1 MULT 2 DON'T KNOW . 8	BORN ALIVE 1 (SKIP TO 218) BORN DEAD 2 LOST BEFORE FULL TERM 3 (SKIP TO 226)	YES 1 NO 2 ↓ 226	NAME	BOY 1 GIRL 2	MONTH YEAR	YES 1 NO 2 ↓ 225
11	SING 1 MULT 2 DON'T KNOW . 8	BORN ALIVE 1 (SKIP TO 218) BORN DEAD 2 LOST BEFORE FULL TERM 3 (SKIP TO 226)	YES 1 NO 2 ↓ 226	NAME	BOY 1 GIRL 2	MONTH	YES 1 NO 2 ↓ 225
12	SING 1 MULT 2 DON'T KNOW . 8	BORN ALIVE 1 (SKIP TO 218) BORN DEAD 2 LOST BEFORE FULL TERM 3 (SKIP TO 226)	YES 1 NO 2 ↓ 226	NAME	BOY 1 GIRL 2	MONTH YEAR	YES 1 NO 2 ↓ 225

222	223	224	225	226	227	228	229
IF BORN ALIVE	AND STILL	LIVING:	IF DEAD:	IF BORN DEAD OR	LOST BEFORI	E BIRTH:	
How old was	Is (NAME)	RECORD	How old was (NAME)	In what month and	How many	Did you or	Were there
(NAME) at his/her	living with	HOUSE-	when he/she died?	year did this	months did	someone	any other
last birthday?	you?	HOLD LINE		pregnancy end?	this pregnancy	else do	pregnancies
			IF '1 YR', PROBE: How many months old		last? CHECK 217	something to end this	between the previous
RECORD		(RECORD '00'	was (NAME)?		IF CODE 2	pregnancy?	pregnancy
AGE IN		IF CHILD NOT	RECORD DAYS IF		SKIP 229		and this
COM-		LISTED IN	LESS THAN 1		RECORD		pregnancy?
YEARS.		HOUSE- HOLD).	LESS THAN TWO		PLETED		
			YEARS; OR YEARS.		MONTHS.		
		HOUSEHOLD					
AGE IN VEARS	VES 1	LINE NUMBER	DAYS 1	MONTH	MONTHS	YES 1	
TEARS	1201		MONTHS 2	YEAR		NO 2	
	NO 2	+					
			YEARS3				
		(NEXT LINE)	(NEXT LINE)				
AGE IN		LINE NUMBER	DAYS 1	MONTH	MONTHS		YES 1
YEARS	YES 1					YES 1	ADD 🚽
			MONTHS 2	YEAR			PREGNANCY
	NO 2	(GO TO 229)	YEARS 3			NO 2	NEXT
							PREGNANCY
			(GO TO 229)				
AGE IN			DAYS 1	MONTH	MONTHS		YES 1
YEARS	YES 1					YES 1	ADD 🚽
			MONTHS 2	YEAR			PREGNANCY
	NU 2	(GO TO 229)	YEARS 3			NO 2	NO 2 NEXT
							PREGNANCY
			(GO TO 229)				
AGE IN		LINE NUMBER	DAYS 1	MONTH	MONTHS		YES 1
YEARS	YES 1					YES 1	ADD 🚽
	NO 2		MONTHS 2	YEAR		NO 2	PREGNANCY
	NO 2	(GO TO 229)	YEARS 3			NO 2	NEXT
							PREGNANCY
			(GO TO 229)				
AGE IN			DAYS 1	MONTH	MONTHS		YES 1
YEARS	YES 1					YES 1	ADD 🚽
			MONTHS 2	YEAR			PREGNANCY
	NO 2	(GO TO 229)	YEARS 3			NO 2	NEXT
							PREGNANCY
			(GO TO 229)				
AGE IN		LINE NUMBER	DAYS 1	MONTH	MONTHS		YES 1
YEARS	YES 1					YES 1	ADD 🚽
	NO 2	╵┖╌╀╌┛	MONTHS 2	YEAR		NO 2	PREGNANCY
	NO 2	(GO TO 229)	YEARS3			110 2	NEXT
			(00 T0 000)				PREGNANCY
			(GO TO 229)				
AGE IN		LINE NUMBER	DAYS 1	MONTH	MONTHS		YES 1
YEARS	YES 1					YES 1	ADD 🚽
	NO 2	╽┖╌╀╌┛	MONTHS 2			NO 2	PREGNANCY
		(GO TO 229)	YEARS 3				NEXT
							PREGNANCY
			(GU TU 229)				

-					The second se			
222 IF BORN	N ALIVE	223 AND STILL	224 LIVING:	225 IF DEAD:	226 IF BORN DEAD OR	227 LOST BEFOR	228 E BIRTH:	229
How old w (NAME) at last birthda RECORD AGE IN COM- PLETED YEARS.	vas tt his/her lay?	Is (NAME) living with you?	RECORD HOUSE- HOLD LINE NUMBER OF CHILD (RECORD '00' IF CHILD NOT LISTED IN HOUSE- HOLD).	How old was (NAME) when he/she died? IF '1 YR', PROBE: How many months old was (NAME)? RECORD DAYS IF LESS THAN 1 MONTH; MONTHS IF LESS THAN TWO YEARS; OR YEARS.	In what month and year did this pregnancy end?	How many months did this pregnancy last? CHECK 217 IF CODE 2 SKIP 229 RECORD IN COM- PLETED MONTHS.	Did you or someone else do something to end this pregnancy?	Were there any other pregnancies between the previous pregnancy and this pregnancy?
AG YE	GE IN ARS	YES 1 NO 2	(GO TO 229)	DAYS 1 MONTHS 2 YEARS 3 (GO TO 229)	MONTH	MONTHS	YES 1 NO 2	YES 1 ADD ◀ PREGNANCY NO 2 NEXT◀ PREGNANCY
AG YE	GE IN ARS	YES 1 NO 2	HOUSEHOLD LINE NUMBER (GO TO 229)	DAYS 1	MONTH	MONTHS	YES 1 NO 2	YES 1 ADD ◄ ^J PREGNANCY NO 2 NEXT ◀ PREGNANCY
AG YE,	GE IN ARS	YES 1 NO 2	(GO TO 229)	DAYS 1 MONTHS 2 YEARS 3 (GO TO 229)	MONTH	MONTHS	YES 1 NO 2	YES 1 ADD ◄ ^J PREGNANCY NO 2 NEXT ◀ PREGNANCY
AG YE	GE IN ARS	YES 1 NO 2	HOUSEHOLD LINE NUMBER (GO TO 229)	DAYS 1 MONTHS 2 YEARS 3 (GO TO 229)	MONTH	MONTHS	YES 1 NO 2	YES 1 ADD ◄ ^J PREGNANCY NO 2 NEXT ◄ ^J PREGNANCY
AG YE	GE IN ARS	YES 1 NO 2	HOUSEHOLD LINE NUMBER (GO TO 229)	DAYS 1 MONTHS 2 YEARS 3 (GO TO 229)	MONTH	MONTHS	YES 1 NO 2	YES 1 ADD ◄ ^J PREGNANCY NO 2 NEXT ◀ PREGNANCY
230	230 Have you had any pregnancy since the last pregnancy mentioned? YES 1 IF YES, RECORD PREGNANCY(S) IN TABLE. NO 2							
231	COMPARE 210 WITH NUMBER OF PREGNANCIES IN HISTORY ABOVE AND MARK: NUMBERS ARE SAME DIFFERENT (PROBE AND RECONCILE)							
232	CHECI	K 220 AND E	ENTER THE NUM NI	IBER OF BIRTHS IN 200 UMBER OF BIRTHS ONE	D7 OR LATER.		0	→ 234

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP		
233	FOR EACH BIRTH SINCE JANUARY 2007, ENTER 'B' IN THE MONTH OF BIRTH IN THE CALENDAR. WRITE THE NAME OF THE CHILD TO THE LEFT OF THE 'B' CODE. FOR EACH BIRTH, ASK THE NUMBER OF MONTHS THE PREGNANCY LASTED AND RECORD 'P' IN EACH OF THE PRECEDING MONTHS ACCORDING TO THE DURATION OF PREGNANCY. (NOTE: THE NUMBER OF 'P'S MUST BE ONE LESS THAN THE NUMBER OF MONTHS THAT THE PREGNANCY LASTED.) CHECK 227 FOR EACH PREGNANCY THAT DID NOT END IN A LIVE BIRTH. CHECK 228. IF YES (CODE '1' CIRCLED), ENTER 'A' FOR ABORTION OR 'C' (IF CODE '2' CIRCLED) FOR MISCARRIAGE OR `S' FOR STILLBIRTH, IN CALENDAR IN THE MONTH THAT THE PREGNANCY TERMINATED AND 'P' FOR THE REMAINING NUMBER OF COMPLETED MONTHS OF PREGNANCY.				
234	Are you pregnant now?	YES 1 NO 2 UNSURE 8	238		
235	How many months pregnant are you? RECORD NUMBER OF COMPLETED MONTHS. ENTER 'P's IN THE CALENDAR, BEGINNING WITH THE MONTH OF INTERVIEW AND FOR THE TOTAL NUMBER OF COMPLETED MONTHS.	MONTHS			
236	When you got pregnant, did you want to get pregnant at that time?	YES 1 NO 2	 ▶ 238		
237	Did you want to have a baby later on or did you not want any (more) children?	LATER			
238	When did your last menstrual period start?	DAYS AGO 1 WEEKS AGO 2 MONTHS AGO 3 YEARS AGO 4			
	Date, If given	IN MENOPAUSE/ HAS HAD HYSTERECTOMY 994 BEFORE LAST BIRTH 995 NEVER MENSTRUATED 996			
239	From one menstrual period to the next, are there certain days when a woman is more likely to become pregnant?	YES	→ 301		
240	Is this time just before her period begins, during her period, right after her period has ended, or halfway between two periods?	JUST BEFORE HER PERIOD BEGINS . 1 DURING HER PERIOD 2 RIGHT AFTER HER PERIOD HAS ENDED 3 HALFWAY BETWEEN 2 PERIODS 4 OTHER6 (SPECIFY) DON'T KNOW 8			

SECTION 3. CONTRACEPTION

301	Now I would like to talk about family planning - the various ways a couple can use to delay or avoid a pregnancy.	or methods that	301A. Have you ever used (METHOD)?
	Have you ever heard of (METHOD)?		
	PROCEED DOWN COLUMN 301, READING THE NAME AND D METHOD. CIRCLE CODE 1 IF METHOD IS RECOGNIZED, AND THEN, FOR EACH METHOD WITH CODE 1 CIRCLED IN 301,	DESCRIPTION OF EACH D CODE 2 IF NOT RECOGNIZED. ASK 301A	
01	Female Sterilization. PROBE: Women can have an operation to avoid having any more children.	YES 1 NO 27	Have you ever had an oper- ation to avoid having any more pregnancies?YES1NO2
02	Male Sterilization. PROBE: Men can have an operation to avoid having any more children.	YES 1 NO 27	Has your husband ever had an operation to avoid having any more pregnancies? YESYES1NO2
03	IUD. PROBE: Women can have a loop or coil placed inside them by a doctor or a nurse.	YES 1 NO 27	YES 1 NO 2
04	Injectables. PROBE: Women can have an injection by a health provider that stops them from becoming pregnant for one or more months.	YES 1 NO 27	YES 1 NO 2
05	Implants. PROBE: Women can have one or more small rods placed in their upper arm by a doctor or nurse which can prevent pregnancy for one or more years.	YES 1 NO 27	YES 1 NO 2
06	Pill. PROBE: Women can take a pill every day to avoid becoming pregnant.	YES 1 NO 27	YES 1 NO 2
07	Condom. PROBE: Men can put a rubber sheath on their penis before sexual intercourse.	YES 1 NO 27	YES 1 NO 2
08	Standard Days Method. PROBE: A Woman uses a string of colored beads to know the days she can get pregnant. On the days she can get pregnant, they uses a condom or does not have sexual intercourse under 6-month and her monthly bleeding has not returned.	YES 1 NO 27	YES 1 NO 2
09	Lactational Amen. Method (LAM)	YES 1 NO 27	YES 1 NO 2
10	Rhythm Method. PROBE: Every month that a woman is sexually active she can avoid pregnancy by not having sexual intercourse on the days of the month she is most likely to get pregnant.	YES 1 NO 27	YES 1 NO 2
11	Withdrawal, Azal. PROBE: Men can be careful and pull out before climax.	YES 1 NO 27	YES 1 NO 2
12	Emergency Contraception. PROBE: As an emergency measure, within three days after they have unprotected sexual intercourse, women can take special pills to prevent pregnancy.	YES 1 NO 27	YES 1 NO 2
13	Have you heard of any other ways or methods that women or men can use to avoid pregnancy?	YES 1 (SPECIFY) (SPECIFY) NO 2	YES 1 NO 2 YES 1 NO 2
302	CHECK 301A: NOT A SINGLE "YES" (NEVER USED)	AT LEAST ONE "YES" (EVER USED)	→ 305

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP	
303	Have you ever used anything or tried in any way to delay or avoid getting pregnant?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 333	
	ENTER '0' IN COLUMN 1 FOR NON USE AND PROCEED			
304	What have you used or done? CORRECT 301 AND 301A (AND 302 IF NECESSARY).			
305	CHECK 104: CURRENTLY MARRIED WIDOWED, DI	VORCED OR	→ 316	
306	CHECK 301A (01)			
	WOMAN NOT STERILIZED WOMAN STERILIZED			
307	CHECK 234: NOT PREGNANT OR UNSURE	PREGNANT	→ 316	
308	Are you currently doing something or using any method to delay or avoid getting pregnant?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 316	
309	Which method are you using?	FEMALE STERILIZATION A		
	[CIRCLE ALL MENTIONED]	IUD C		
	IF MORE THAN ONE METHOD MENTIONED, FOLLOW SKIP	INJECTABLES D IMPLANTS E	→ 313A	
	INSTRUCTION FOR HIGHEST METHOD IN LIST.	PILL F CONDOM G	→ 311	
		SDM H		
		RHYTHM METHOD J WITHDRAWAL K OTHER MODERN METHOD X OTHER TRADITIONAL METHOD Y	→ 313A	
310	What is the brand name of the pills you are using?	NOVA PILLS 01	7	
	IF DON'T KNOW THE BRAND,	LO FEMENAL		
	ASK TO SEE THE PACKAGE.	OTHER 96 (SPECIFY)	_ → 313A	
		DON'T KNOW		

311	What is the brand name of the condoms you are using? IF DON'T KNOW THE BRAND, ASK TO SEE THE PACKAGE.	SATHI 01 TOUCH 02 OTHER 96 (SPECIFY) 98		
312	In what facility did the sterilization take place? PROBE TO IDENTIFY THE TYPE OF SOURCE. IF UNABLE TO DETERMINE IF PUBLIC OR PRIVATE	PUBLIC SECTOR GOVT. HOSPITAL/RHSC 11 RURAL HEALTH CENTRE 12 MCH 13 OTHER PUBLIC 16 (SPECIFY)		
	(NAME OF PLACE)	PRIVATE/NGO HOSPITAL/CLINIC 21 OTHER PRIVATE MEDICAL 26 (SPECIFY) 96		
313 313A	In what month and year was the sterilization performed? Since what month and year have you been using (CURRENT METHOD) without stopping? PROBE: For how long have you been using (CURRENT METHOD) now without stopping?	MONTH		
314	CHECK 313/313A, 220 AND 226: ANY BIRTH OR PREGNANCY TERMINATION AFTER MONTH AND YEAR OF START OF USE OF CONTRACEPTION IN 313/313A GO BACK TO 313/313A, PROBE AND RECORD MONTH AND YEAR AT START OF CONTINUOUS USE OF CURRENT METHOD (MUST BE AFTER LAST BIRTH OR PREGNANCY TERMINATION).			
315	CHECK 313/313A: YEAR IS 2007 OR LATER ENTER CODE FOR METHOD USED IN MONTH OF INTERVIEW IN THE CALENDAR AND IN EACH MONTH BACK TO THE DATE STARTED USING.	YEAR IS 2006 OR EARLIER		

316	I would like to ask you some questions about the times you or your husband may have used a method to avoid getting pregnant during the last few years.					
	USE CALENDAR TO PROBE FOR EARLIER PERIODS OF USE AND NONUSE, STARTING WITH MOST RECENT USE, BACK TO JANUARY 2007. USE NAMES OF CHILDREN, DATES OF BIRTH, AND PERIODS OF PREGNANCY AS REFERENCE POINTS.					
	IN COLUMN 1, ENTER METHOD USE CODE OR '0' FOR NONUSE IN EACH BLANK MONTH. ILLUSTRATIVE QUESTIONS: When was the last time you used a method? Which method was that? When did you start using that method? How long after the birth of (NAME)? How long did you use the method then? 					
	IN COLUMN 2 , ENTER CODES FOR DISCONTINUATION NEXT TO THE LAST MONTH OF USE. NUMBER OF CODES IN COLUMN 2 MUST BE SAME AS NUMBER OF INTERRUPTIONS OF METHOD USE IN COLUMN 1.					
	ASK WHY SHE STOPPED USING THE METHOD. IF A PREGNANCY FOLLOWED, ASK WHETHER SHE BECAME PREGNANT UNINTENTIONALLY WHILE USING THE METHOD OR DELIBERATELY STOPPED TO GET PREGNANT.					
	ILLUSTRATIVE QUESTIONS: * Why did you stop using the (METHOD)? Did you b stop to get pregnant, or did you stop for some othe * IF DELIBERATELY STOPPED TO BECOME PREC pregnant after you stopped using (METHOD)? AND	 ILLUSTRATIVE QUESTIONS: * Why did you stop using the (METHOD)? Did you become pregnant while using (METHOD), or did you stop to get pregnant, or did you stop for some other reason? * IF DELIBERATELY STOPPED TO BECOME PREGNANT, ASK: How many months did it take you to get pregnant after you stopped using (METHOD)? AND ENTER '0' IN EACH SUCH MONTH IN COLUMN 1. 				
317	CHECK 309:	NO CODE CIRCLED 00 FEMALE STERILIZATION 01	→ 333 → 320A			
	CIRCLE METHOD CODE: IF MORE THAN ONE METHOD CODE CIRCLED IN 309, CIRCLE CODE FOR HIGHEST METHOD IN LIST.	MALE STERILIZATION 02 IUD 03 INJECTABLES 04 IMPLANTS 05 PILL 06 CONDOM 07 SDM 08 LACTATIONAL AMENI METHOD (LAM) 09	→ 335			
		RHYTHM METHOD 10 WITHDRAWAL 11 OTHER MODERN METHOD 95 OTHER TRADITIONAL METHOD 96	→ 316A			

318	You first started using (CURRENT METHOD) in (DATE FROM 313/313A). Where did you get it at that time?	PUBLIC SECTOR GOVT. HOSPITAL/RHSA 11 RURAL HEALTH CENTRE 12 FAMILY WELFARE CENTRE/FWW 13 MCH 14 DISPENSORY 15 MOBILE SERVICE CAMP/ UNIT 16 LADY HEALTH WORKER 17 LH VISITOR 18 BASIC HEALTH UNIT 19 MALE MOBILIZER 20 FWA 21 OTHER PUBLIC	
318A	Where did you learn about LAM being a method of contraception/ how to use the SDM/ rhythm method? PROBE TO IDENTIFY THE TYPE OF SOURCE. IF UNABLE TO DETERMINE IF PUBLIC OR PRIVATE SECTOR, WRITE THE NAME OF THE PLACE. (NAME OF PLACE)	PRIVATE/NGO MEDICAL SECTOR PRIVATE/NGO HOSPITAL/CLINIC 31 PHARMACY, CHEMISTS 32 PRIVATE DOCTOR 33 HOMEOPATH 34 DISPENSER/COMPOUNDER 35 OTHER PRIVATE 36 (SPECIFY) 37 OTHER SOURCE 41 FRIEND/RELATIVE 42 HAKIM 43 DAI, TRAD. BIRTH ATTENDANT 44 OTHER 96 (SPECIFY) 98	
319	CHECK 309: CIRCLE METHOD CODE: IF MORE THAN ONE METHOD CODE CIRCLED IN 309, CIRCLE CODE FOR HIGHEST METHOD IN LIST.	IUD 03 INJECTABLES 04 IMPLANTS 05 PILL 06 CONDOM 07 SDM 08 LACTATIONAL AMEN. METHOD 09 RHYTHM METHOD 10	→ 332 → 335
320 320A	At that time, were you told about side effects or problems you might have with the method? When you got sterilized, were you told about side effects or problems	YES 1 NO 2	→ 322
321	Were you ever told by a health or family planning worker about side effects or problems you might have with the method?	YES 1	
322	Were you told what to do if you experienced side effects or problems?	YES	
323	Have you ever experienced side effects with your current family planning method?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 329

324	What major side effects did you experience? Any other? [CIRCLE ALL MENTIONED]	OBESITY/WEIGHT GAIN A HEADACHE B NAUSEA/DIZZINESS C EXCESSIVE BLEEDING D SPOTTING E IRREGULAR MENSES/NO MENSES F DEPRESSION G OTHERS X	
325	Did you seek any kind of treatment or medical advice for the side effects?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 328
326	From whom did you receive treatment?	HEALTH PERSON DOCTOR A NURSE/MIDWIFE/LHV B OTHER PERSON	
		DAI-TBA C LADY H.WORKER D HOMEOPATH F HAKIM F DISPENSER/COMPOUNDER G OTHER X SPECIFY NO ONE Y	
327	From where did you receive treatment?	PUBLIC SECTOR GOVT. HOSPITAL/RHSC A RURAL HEALTH CENTRE B FAMILY WELFARE CENTRE/ FWW C MCH D DISDENSORY E	
	[CIRCLE ALL MENTIONED]	MOBILE SERVICE CAMP/UNIT F LADY HEALTH WORKER G LH VISITOR H BASIC HEALTH UNIT I MALE MOBILIZER J FWA K OTHER PUBLIC L (SPECIFY)	
		PRIVATE/NGO MEDICAL SECTOR PRIVATE/NGO HOSPITAL/CLINIC M PHARMACY, CHEMISTS N PRIVATE DOCTOR O HOMEOPATH P DISPENSER/COMPOUNDER Q OTHER PRIVATE R (SPECIFY)	→ 329
		SHOP (NOT PHARMACY/CHEMIST) . S FRIEND/RELATIVE T HAKIM U DAI, TRAD. BIRTH ATTENDANT . V OTHER X (SPECIFY) DON'T KNOW Z	

328	Why did you not seek any treatment for side effects?	NOT NECESSARY A COSTS TOO MUCH B TOO FAR C NO TRANSPORT D NO ONE TO GO WITH E SERVICE NOT GOOD F NO TIME TO GO G DID NOT KNOW WHERE TO GO H LADY DOCTOR WAS NOT AVAILABLE I LONG WAITING TIME J NOT ALLOWED TO GO K OTHERS X	
329	CHECK 320: CODE '01' CIRCLED At that time, were you told about other methods of family planning that you could use? CODE '01' NOT CIRCLED When you obtained (CURRENT METHOD FROM 317) from (SOURCE OF METHOD FROM 312 OR 318), were you told about other methods of family planning that you could use?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 332
330	Were you ever told by a health or family planning worker about other methods of family planning that you could use?	YES 1 NO 2	
331	CHECK 309: CIRCLE METHOD CODE: IF MORE THAN ONE METHOD CODE CIRCLED IN 309, CIRCLE CODE FOR HIGHEST METHOD IN LIST.	FEMALE STERILIZATION01MALE STERILIZATION02IUD03INJECTABLES04IMPLANTS05PILL06CONDOM07SDM08LACTATIONAL AMEN. METHOD09RHYTHM METHOD10WITHDRAWAL11OTHER MODERN METHOD95OTHER TRADITIONAL METHOD96	→ ³³⁵

332	Where did you obtain (CURRENT METHOD) the last time?	PUBLIC SECTOR	
		GOVT. HOSPITAL/RHSC 11	
	PROBE TO IDENTIFY THE TYPE OF SOURCE.	MCH 13	
		FAMILY WELFARE CENTRE/FWW . 14	
	IF UNABLE TO DETERMINE IF PUBLIC OR PRIVATE	MOBILE SERVICE CAMP 15	
	SECTOR, WRITE THE NAME OF THE PLACE.	LADY HEALTH WORKER 16	
		LH VISITOR 17	
		BASIC HEALTH UNIT	
		MALE MOBILIZER 19	
		OTHER PUBLIC 21	
	(NAME OF PLACE)	(SPECIFY)	
		PRIVATE/NGO MEDICAL SECTOR	
		PRIVATE/NGO HOSPITAL/CLINIC 22	
		PHARMACY, CHEMISTS 23	→ 335
		PRIVATE DOCTOR	
		OTHER PRIVATE	
		MEDICAL 27	
		(SPECIFY)	
		OTHER SOURCE	
		SHOP (NOT PHARMACY/CHEMIST) 31	
		FRIEND/RELATIVE	
		DAI TRAD BIRTH ATTENDANT 34	
		OTHER 96	
		(SPECIFY)	
		DON'T KNOW	
333	Do you know of a place where you can obtain a method of family	YES 1	
	planning?	NO 2	→ 335
334	Where is that?	PUBLIC SECTOR	
		GOVT. HOSPITAL/RHSC A	
	Any other place?	RURAL HEALTH CENTRE, MCH B	
		FAMILY WELFARE CENTRE/FWW D	
	PROBE TO IDENTIFY EACH TYPE OF SOURCE.	MOBILE SERVICE CAMP	
		LADY HEALTH WORKER F	
	IF UNABLE TO DETERMINE IF PUBLIC OR PRIVATE	LH VISITOR G	
	SECTOR, WRITE THE NAME OF THE PLACE.	BASIC HEALTH UNIT	
		OTHER PUBLIC K	
		(SPECIFY)	
		PRIVATE/NGO MEDICAL SECTOR	
	(NAME OF PLACE(S))	PRIVATE/NGO HOSPITAL/CLINIC L	
		PHARMACY, CHEMISTS M	
		DISPENSER/COMPOUNDER P	
		OTHER PRIVATE	
		MEDICALQ	
		(SPECIFY)	
		OTHER SOURCE	
		HAKIM T	
		DAI, TRAD. BIRTH ATTENDANT U	
		OTHER X	

335	Do you know that LHW is present in your area?	YES]→ 339
336	In the last 12 months, were you visited by a LHW who talked to you about family planning?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 339
337	Did you receive any care and help from this woman?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 339
338	What type of help did you receive?	INFORMATION ON MOTHER AND A CHILD HEALTH A CONTRACEPTIVE SUPPLIES B REFERRED TO HEALTH/ F FP FACILITY C TREATMENT OF SIDE EFFECTS D VACCINATION E TREATMENT OF MINOR AILMENT F TREATMENT FOR MOTHER AND C CHILD G OTHERS X	
339	In the last 12 months, have you visited a health facility for care for yourself (or your children)?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 341
340	Did any staff member at the health facility speak to you about family planning methods?	YES 1 NO 2	
341	Do you know of any service outlet that provide family planning services?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 401
342	Have you ever visited any service outlet that provide family planning services?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 345
343	Usually which service outlet do you visit?	GOVT. HOSPITAL/CLINIC/RHSC 1 PRIVATE/NGO HOSPITAL/CLINIC 2 OTHERS6 (SPECIFY)	
344	Are you satisfied with the following services of that service outlet? a) Provision of contraceptives? b) Follow-up care? c) Infection prevention? d) Counseling services? e) Timely treatment? f) Attitude of staff? g) Punctuality maintained by staff? h) Timely referring? i) Cooperative? j) Handle complications promptly? x) Others SPECIFY What was reason for not visiting FP services outlets?	YNDKPROVISION OF CONTRACEPTIVES128FOLLOW-UP CARE128INFECTION PREVENTION128COUNSELING SERVICES128TIMELY TREATMENT128ATTITUDE OF STAFF128PUNCTUALITY MAINTAINED8128TIMELY REFERRING128COOPERATIVE128HANDLE COMPLICATIONS9128OTHERS128SERVICES PROVIDED AT THEIRDOOR STEPSAPREFERRED TO GO TO OTHER128	401
		SERVICE PROVIDERS	

401	CHECK 232: ONE OR MORE BIRTHS IN JANUARY 2007 OR LATER	BIRTHS IN JANUARY 200	IO 07 ER		→ 601
402	CHECK 214: ENTER IN THE TABLE THE PREGNANCY HISTORY NUMBER, NAME, AND SURVIVAL STATUS OF EACH BIR IN JAN. 2007 OR LATER. ASK THE QUESTIONS ABOUT ALL OF THESE BIRTHS. BEGIN WITH THE MOST RECENT BIRT (IF THERE ARE MORE THAN 3 BIRTHS, USE LAST 2 COLUMNS OF ADDITIONAL QUESTIONNAIRES). Now I would like to ask some questions about your children born in January 2007 and later. (We will talk about each separately.)				
403	PREGNANCY HISTORY NUMBER FROM 214 IN PREGNANCY HISTORY	LAST BIRTH PREGNANCY HISTORY NUMBER	NEXT-TO-LAST BIRTH PREGNANCY HISTORY NUMBER	SECOND-FROM-LA PREGNANCY HISTORY NUMBER	ST BIRTH
404	FROM 218 AND 221	NAME	NAME	NAME	EAD
405	When you got pregnant with (NAME), did you want to get pregnant at that time?	YES 1 (SKIP TO 408)← 1 NO 2	YES 1 (SKIP TO 424)← NO 2	YES (SKIP TO 42 NO	1 24) ≼ l 2
406	Did you want to have a baby later on, or did you not want any (more) children?	LATER	LATER 1 NO MORE 2 (SKIP TO 424) ← J	LATER NO MORE (SKIP TO 42	1 2 24) ← →
407	How much longer did you want to wait?	MONTHS1 YEARS 2 DON'T KNOW 998	MONTHS1 YEARS 2 DON'T KNOW 998	MONTHS1 YEARS 2 DON'T KNOW	. 998
408	Did you see anyone for antenatal care for this pregnancy?	YES 1 NO 2 (SKIP TO 415) ← J			
409	Whom did you see? Anyone else? PROBE TO IDENTIFY EACH TYPE OF PERSON AND RECORD ALL MENTIONED.	HEALTH PERSONNEL DOCTOR A NURSE/MIDWIFE/ LHV B OTHER PERSON DAI-TBA C LADY H. WORKER D HOMEOPATH E HAKIM F DISPENSER / COMPOUNDER G OTHER X (SPECIFY)			

		LAST BIRTH	NEXT-TO-LAST BIRTH	SECOND-FROM-LAST BIRTH
NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	NAME	NAME	NAME
410	Where did you receive antenatal care for this pregnancy? Anywhere else? PROBE TO IDENTIFY EACH TYPE OF SOURCE. IF UNABLE TO DETERMINE IF PUBLIC OR PRIVATE SECTOR, WRITE THE NAME OF THE PLACE. (NAME OF PLACE(S))	HOME YOUR HOME A OTHER HOME B PUBLIC SECTOR GOVT. HOSPITAI C RHC/MCH D BHU/FWC E OTHER PUBLIC F (SPECIFY) PRIVATE MED. SECTOR PVT. HOSPITAL/ CLINIC G PVT. DOCTOR H HOMEOPATH I DISPENSER / COMPOUNDER J OTHER PRIVATE MED. K (SPECIFY) HAKIM L OTHER X (SPECIFY)		
411	How many months pregnant were you when you first received antenatal care for this pregnancy?	MONTHS		
412	How many times did you receive antenatal care during this pregnancy?	NUMBER OF TIMES DON'T KNOW 98		
413	As part of your antenatal care during this pregnancy, were any of the following done at least once:	YES NO		
	 a) Was your blood pressure measure b) Were you weighted? c) Did you give a urine sample? d) Did you give a blood sample? e) Did you have ultrasound exam? 	d?BP 1 2 WEIGHTED . 1 2 URINE 1 2 BLOOD 1 2 ULTRASOUND 1 2		
414	During (any of) your antenatal care visit(s), were you told about things to look out for that might suggest problems with the pregnancy?	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8		
415	During this pregnancy, were you given an injection in the buttocks or your arm to prevent the baby from getting tetanus, that is, convulsions after birth?	YES 1 NO 2 (SKIP TO 418) ← DON'T KNOW 8		
416	During this pregnancy, how many times did you get a tetanus injection?	TIMES		

		LAST BIRTH	NEXT-TO-LAST BIRTH	SECOND-FROM-LAST BIRTH
NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	NAME	NAME	NAME
417	CHECK 416:	2 OR MORE OTHER TIMES (SKIP TO 421)		
418	At any time before this pregnancy, did you receive any tetanus injections?	YES		
419	Before this pregnancy, how many times did you receive a tetanus injection?			
420	How many years ago did you receive the last tetanus injection before this pregnancy?	YEARS AGO		
421	During this pregnancy, were you given or did you buy any iron tablets or iron syrup? SHOW TABLETS/SYRUP.	YES 1 NO 2 (SKIP TO 423) ← DON'T KNOW 8		
422	During the whole pregnancy, for how many days did you take the tablets or syrup? IF ANSWER IS NOT NUMERIC, PROBE FOR APPROXIMATE NUMBER OF DAYS.	DAYS DAYS 997 NOT TAKEN 997 DON'T KNOW 998		
423	During this pregnancy, did you take any drug for intestinal worms?	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8		
424	When (NAME) was born, was he/she very large, larger than average, average, smaller than average, or very small?	VERY LARGE1LARGER THAN2AVERAGE2AVERAGE3SMALLER THAN4AVERAGE4VERY SMALL5DON'T KNOW8	VERY LARGE 1 LARGER THAN AVERAGE 2 AVERAGE 3 SMALLER THAN AVERAGE 4 VERY SMALL 5 DON'T KNOW 8	VERY LARGE 1 LARGER THAN AVERAGE 2 AVERAGE 3 SMALLER THAN AVERAGE 4 VERY SMALL 5 DON'T KNOW 8
425	Was (NAME) weighed at birth?	YES 1 NO 2 (SKIP TO 427) ← DON'T KNOW 8	YES	YES
426	How much did (NAME) weigh? RECORD WEIGHT IN KILOGRAMS FROM HEALTH CARD, IF AVAILABLE.	KG FROM CARD 1 . KG FROM RECALL 2 . DON'T KNOW 99998	KG FROM CARD 1	KG FROM CARD 1

		LAST BIRTH	NEXT-TO-LAST BIRTH	SECOND-FROM-LAST BIRTH
NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	NAME	NAME	NAME
427	Who assisted with the delivery of (NAME)? Anyone else? PROBE FOR THE TYPE(S) OF PERSON(S) AND RECORD ALL MENTIONED. IF RESPONDENT SAYS NO ONE ASSISTED, PROBE TO DETERMINE WHETHER ANY ADULTS WERE PRESENT AT THE DELIVERY.	HEALTH PERSONDOCTORANURSE/MIDWIFE/LHVBOTHER PERSONDAI-TBACFWWDLADY H. WORKERHOMEOPATHFHAKIMGRELATIVE/FRIEND(NOT A DAI)HOTHERX(SPECIFY)NO ONEY	HEALTH PERSONDOCTORANURSE/MIDWIFE/LHVBOTHER PERSONDAI-TBACFWWDLADY H. WORKEREHOMEOPATHFHAKIMGRELATIVE/FRIEND(NOT A DAI)(NOT A DAI)HOTHERX(SPECIFY)NO ONENO ONEY	HEALTH PERSONDOCTORANURSE/MIDWIFE/BLHVBOTHER PERSONDAI-TBACFWWDLADY H. WORKEREHOMEOPATHFHAKIMGRELATIVE/FRIEND(NOT A DAI)(NOT A DAI)HOTHERX(SPECIFY)NO ONENO ONEY
428	Where did you give birth to (NAME)? PROBE TO IDENTIFY THE TYPE OF SOURCE. IF UNABLE TO DETERMINE IF PUBLIC OR PRIVATE SECTOR, WRITE THE NAME OF THE PLACE. (NAME OF PLACE)	HOME YOUR HOME 11 (SKIP TO 433) ← OTHER HOME 12 PUBLIC SECTOR GOVT. HOSPITAL 21 RHC/MCH 22 OTHER PUBLIC 26 (SPECIFY) PRIVATE MED. SECTOR PVT. HOSPITAL/ CLINIC 31 OTHER PRIVATE MED. 36 (SPECIFY) OTHER 96 (SPECIFY) (SKIP TO 433) ←	HOME YOUR HOME 11 (SKIP TO 442) ← OTHER HOME 12 PUBLIC SECTOR GOVT. HOSPITAL 21 RHC/MCH 22 OTHER PUBLIC 	HOME YOUR HOME 11 (SKIP TO 442) ← OTHER HOME 12 PUBLIC SECTOR GOVT. HOSPITAL 21 RHC/MCH 22 OTHER PUBLIC 26 (SPECIFY) PRIVATE MED. SECTOR PVT. HOSPITAL/ CLINIC 31 OTHER PRIVATE MED. 36 (SPECIFY) OTHER 96 (SPECIFY) (SKIP TO 442) ←
429	How long after (NAME) was delivered did you stay there? IF LESS THAN ONE DAY, RECORD HOURS. IF LESS THAN ONE WEEK, RECORD DAYS. IF ONE WEEK OR MORE RECORD WEEKS	HOURS 1 DAYS 2 WEEKS 3 DON'T REMEMBER/ DON'T KNOW . 998		
430	Was (NAME) delivered by caesarean, that is, did they cut your belly open to take the baby out?	YES 1 NO 2	YES 1 NO 2	YES 1 NO 2
431	I would like to talk to you about checks on your health after delivery, for example, someone asking you questions about your health or examining you. Did anyone check on your health while <u>you were still in</u> <u>the facility</u> ?	YES 1 (SKIP TO 434)← 1 NO 2		

		LAST BIRTH	NEXT-TO-LAST BIRTH	SECOND-FROM-LAST BIRTH
NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	NAME	NAME	NAME
432	Did anyone check on your health <u>after you left the facility</u> ?	YES 1 (SKIP TO 434) ← 1 NO 2 (SKIP TO 436) ← 1		
433	I would like to talk to you about checks on your health after delivery, for example, someone asking you questions about your health or examining you. Did anyone check on your health after you gave birth to (NAME)?	YES 1 NO 2 (SKIP TO 436) ∢		
434	Who checked on your health at that time? PROBE FOR MOST QUALIFIED PERSON.	HEALTH PERSONNEL DOCTOR 11 NURSE/MIDWIFE 12 LHV 12 OTHER PERSON 21 FWW 22 LADY H.WORKER 23 HOMEOPATH 24 HAKIM 25 DISPENSER / COMPOUNDER 26 OTHER 96 (SPECIFY) (SPECIFY)		
435	How long after delivery did the first check take place? IF LESS THAN ONE DAY, RECORD HOURS. IF LESS THAN ONE WEEK, RECORD DAYS. IF ONE WEEK OR MORE RECORD WEEKS.	HOURS 1 DAYS 2 DON'T REMEMBER/ DON'T KNOW 998		
436	In the two months after (NAME) was born, did any health care provider or a traditional birth attendant check on his/her health?	YES 1 NO 2 (SKIP TO 440) ← DON'T KNOW 8		
437	How many hours, days or weeks after the birth of (NAME) did the first check take place? IF LESS THAN ONE DAY, RECORD HOURS. IF LESS THAN ONE WEEK, RECORD DAYS. IF ONE WEEK OR MORE RECORD WEEKS.	HRS AFTER BIRTH 1 DAYS AFTER BIRTH 2 WKS AFTER BIRTH 3 DON'T KNOW 998		

		LAST BIRTH	NEXT-TO-LAST BIRTH	SECOND-FROM-LAST BIRTH
NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	NAME	NAME	NAME
438	Who checked on (NAME)'s health at that time? PROBE FOR MOST QUALIFIED PERSON.	HEALTH PERSONNEL DOCTOR 11 NURSE/MIDWIFE 12 LHV 12 OTHER PERSON 12 DAI- TBA 21 FWW 22 LADY H.WORKER 23 HOMEOPATH 24 HAKIM 25 DISPENSER / 26 OTHER 96 (SPECIFY) 96		
439	Where did this first check of (NAME) take place? PROBE TO IDENTIFY THE TYPE OF SOURCE AND CIRCLE THE APPROPRIATE CODE. IF UNABLE TO DETERMINE IF PUBLIC OR PRIVATE SECTOR, WRITE THE NAME OF THE PLACE. (NAME OF PLACE)	HOME YOUR HOME 11 OTHER HOME 12 PUBLIC SECTOR GOVT. HOSPITAL 21 RHC/MCH 22 BHU/FWC 23 OTHER PUBLIC 26 (SPECIFY) PRIVATE MED. SECTOR PVT. HOSPITAL/ CLINIC 31 OTHER PRIVATE MED. 36 (SPECIFY) OTHER 96 (SPECIFY)		
440	In the first two months after delivery, did you receive a vitamin A dose like (this/any of these)? SHOW COMMON TYPES OF CAPSULES.	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8		
441	Has your menstrual period returned since the birth of (NAME)?	YES 1 (SKIP TO 443) ← 1 NO 2 (SKIP TO 444) ← 1		
442	Did your period return between the birth of (NAME) and your next pregnancy?		YES 1 NO 2 (SKIP TO 446)←	YES 1 NO 2 (SKIP TO 446) ←
443	For how many months after the birth of (NAME) did you not have a period?			
		DON I KNOW 98	DON I KNOW 98	DOINT KINOVV 98

		LAST BIRTH	NEXT-TO-LAST BIRTH	SECOND-FROM-LAST BIRTH
NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	NAME	NAME	NAME
444	CHECK 234: IS RESPONDENT PREGNANT?	NOT PREGNANT PREG-OR OR NANT UNSURE (SKIP TO 446) ←		
445	Have you had sexual intercourse since the birth of (NAME)?	YES 1 NO 2 (SKIP TO 447)←		
446	For how many months after the birth of (NAME) did you not have sexual intercourse?	MONTHS	MONTHS	MONTHS
447	Did you ever breastfeed (NAME)?	YES 1 (SKIP TO 449)◀ ──── 2	YES 1 NO 2	YES 1 NO 2
448	CHECK 404: IS CHILD LIVING?	LIVING DEAD (SKIP TO 454) (GO BACK TO 405 IN NEXT COLUMN; OR IF NO MORE BIRTHS, GO TO 501)		
449 450	How long after birth did you first put (NAME) to the breast? IF LESS THAN 1 HOUR, RECORD '00' HOURS. IF LESS THAN 24 HOURS, RECORD HOURS. OTHERWISE, RECORD DAYS. In the first three days after delivery, was (NAME) given anything to drink other than breast milk?	IMMEDIATELY 000 HOURS 1 DAYS 2 YES 1 NO 2 (SKIP TO 452) 2		
451	What was (NAME) given to drink? Anything else? RECORD ALL LIQUIDS MENTIONED.	MILK (OTHER THAN BREAST MILK) A PLAIN WATER B HONEY OR SUGAR G WATER C GHEE, BUTTER D FRUIT JUICE E INFANT FORMULA F GHUTEE G GREEN TEA H GRIPE WATEF I OTHER X (SPECIFY) I		

		LAST BIRTH	NEXT-TO-LAST BIRTH	SECOND-FROM-LAST BIRTH
NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	NAME	NAME	NAME
452	CHECK 404: IS CHILD LIVING?	LIVING DEAD (GO BACK TO 405 IN NEXT COLUMN; OR, IF NO MORE BIRTHS, GO TO 501)	LIVING DEAD (GO BACK TO 405 IN NEXT COLUMN; OR, IF NO MORE BIRTHS, GO TO 501)	LIVING DEAD (GO BACK TO 405 IN NEXT-TO-LAST COLUMN OF NEW QUESTIONNAIRE; OR, IF NO MORE BIRTHS, GO TO 501)
453	Are you still breastfeeding (NAME)?	YES 1 NO 2		
454	Did (NAME) drink anything from a bottle with a nipple yesterday or last night?	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8	YES	YES
455		GO BACK TO 405 IN NEXT COLUMN; OR, IF NO MORE BIRTHS, GO TO 501.	GO BACK TO 405 IN NEXT COLUMN; OR, IF NO MORE BIRTHS, GO TO 501.	GO BACK TO 405 IN NEXT-TO-LAST COLUMN OF NEW QUESTIONNAIRE; OR, IF NO MORE BIRTHS, GO TO 501.

SECTION 5. CHILD IMMUNIZATION, HEALTH AND NUTRITION

501	ENTER IN THE TABLE TH OR LATER. ASK THE QUE (IF THERE ARE MORE TH	IE PREGNANCY HISTORY NUMBI ESTIONS ABOUT ALL OF THESE IAN 3 BIRTHS, USE LAST 2 COLU	R, NAME, AND SURVIVAL STATUS BIRTHS. BEGIN WITH THE LAST BIF MNS OF ADDITIONAL QUESTIONNA	OF EACH BIRTH IN JANUARY 200 RTH. AIRES).
502		LAST BIRTH	NEXT-TO-LAST BIRTH	SECOND-FROM-LAST BIRTH
	PREGNANCY HISTORY NUMBER FROM 214 IN BIRTH HISTORY	PREGNANCY HISTORY NUMBER	PREGNANCY HISTORY NUMBER	PREGNANCY HISTORY NUMBER
503	FROM 218	NAME	NAME	NAME
	AND 221	LIVING DEAD	LIVING DEAD	LIVING DEAD
				TO-LAST COLUMN OF
		OR, IF NO MORE BIRTHS, GO TO 536)	OR, IF NO MORE BIRTHS, GO TO 536)	NEW QUESTIONNAIRE, OR IF NO MORE
		•		BIRTHS, GO TO 536)
504	Do you have a card where (NAME'S) vaccinations are written down?	YES, SEEN	YES, SEEN 1 (SKIP TO 506)	YES, SEEN 1 (SKIP TO 506) 🛛 🛶 🗌
		YES, NOT SEEN 2	YES, NOT SEEN 2	YES, NOT SEEN 2
	May I see it please?	(SKIP 10 509) NO CARD 3	NO CARD 3	(SKIP 10 509) NO CARD 3
505	Did you ever have a	YES 1	YES 1	YES 1
	vaccination card for	(SKIP TO 509) ←	(SKIP TO 509) ←	(SKIP TO 509) ←
506				NO 2
500	(1) COPY DATE OF BIRTH IF GIVEN. IF NOT ON CARD, LEAVE IT BLANK. (2) COPY DATES FROM THE CARD.			
	(3) WRITE '44' IN 'DAY'	COLUMN IF CARD SHOWS THAT	A DOSE WAS GIVEN, BUT NO DATE	E IS RECORDED.
		DAY MONTH YEAR	DAY MONTH YEAR	DAY MONTH YEAR
	BIRTH	BIR	ГН ВІК	тн
	BCG	ВС	G BC	CG CONTRACTOR CONT
	POLIO 0 (POLIO GIVEN AT BIRTH)		20	PO
	POLIO 1		21	P1
	POLIO 2		2	P2
	POLIO 3		23	P3
	COMBO1=1/PENTA1=2/ DPT1=3		01	D1
	COMBO2=1/PENTA2=2/		02	D2
	COMBO3=1/PENTA3=2/	┝┼╢┼╢┼┼┼┥╷	03	
	DP13=3 Is COMBO or			
	Yes	Go to Measles	ES Go to Measles	YES Go to Measles
	No	Continue with HBV 1	Continue with HBV 1	NO Continue with HBV 1
	HBV 1		/1	
	HBV 2	нв	/2 HB	V2
	HBV 3	нв	/3 НВ	V3
	MEASLES			
507	(MUST RECENT)			
507		ALL RECORDED	ALL RECORDED	ALL RECORDED
		(GO TO 511)	(GO TO 511)	(GO TO 511)
		*	*	•

		LAST BIRTH	NEXT-TO-LAST BIRTH	SECOND-FROM-LAST BIRTH
NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	NAME	NAME	NAME
508	Has (NAME) had any vaccinations that are not recorded on this card, including vaccinations given in a national immunization day campaign? RECORD 'YES' ONLY IF THE RESPONDENT MENTIONS AT LEAST ONE OF THE VACCINATIONS IN 506 THAT ARE NOT RECORDED AS HAVING BEEN GIVEN.	YES 1 (PROBE FOR VACCINATIONS AND WRITE '66' IN THE CORRESPONDING DAY COLUMN IN 506) (SKIP TO 511) NO 2 (SKIP TO 511) DON'T KNOW 8	YES 1 (PROBE FOR VACCINATIONS AND WRITE '66' IN THE CORRESPONDING DAY COLUMN IN 506) (SKIP TO 511) NO 2 (SKIP TO 511) DON'T KNOW 8	YES 1 (PROBE FOR VACCINATIONS AND WRITE '66' IN THE CORRESPONDING DAY COLUMN IN 506) (SKIP TO 511) NO 2 (SKIP TO 511) DON'T KNOW 8
509	Did (NAME) ever have any vaccinations to prevent him/her from getting diseases, including vaccinations received in a national immunization day campaign?	YES 1 NO 2 (SKIP TO 511) ← DON'T KNOW 8	YES 1 NO 2 (SKIP TO 511) ← DON'T KNOW 8	YES 1 NO 2 (SKIP TO 511) ← DON'T KNOW 8
510	Please tell me if (NAME) had any of the following vaccinations:			
510A	A BCG vaccination against tuberculosis, that is, an injection in the arm or shoulder that usually causes a scar?	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8	YES
510B	Polio vaccine, that is, drops in the mouth?	YES	YES	YES
510C	Was the first polio vaccine given in the first two weeks after birth or later?	FIRST 2 WEEKS 1 LATER 2	FIRST 2 WEEKS 1 LATER 2	FIRST 2 WEEKS 1 LATER 2
510D	How many times was the polio vaccine given?	NUMBER OF TIMES	NUMBER OF TIMES	NUMBER OF TIMES
510E	A DPT/COMBO/PENTA vaccination, that is, an injection given in the thigh or buttocks, sometimes at the same time as polio drops?	YES	YES	YES 1 NO 2 (SKIP TO 510G) ← DON'T KNOW 8
510F	How many times was the DPT/COMBO/PENTA vaccination given?	NUMBER OF TIMES	NUMBER OF TIMES	NUMBER OF TIMES
510G	A hepatitus HBV vaccination, that is an injection given in the thigh or buttocks, sometimes at the same time as polio drops?	YES 1 NO 2 (SKIP TO 510I) ← DON'T KNOW 8	YES 1 NO 2 (SKIP TO 510I) ← DON'T KNOW 8	YES 1 NO 2 (SKIP TO 510I) ← DON'T KNOW 8
510H	How many times was an HBV vaccination received?	NUMBER OF TIMES	NUMBER OF TIMES	NUMBER OF TIMES
5101	A measles injection or an MMR injectionthat is, a shot in the arm at the age of 9 months or olderto prevent him/her from getting measles?	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8

		LAST BIRTH	NEXT-TO-LAST BIRTH	SECOND-FROM-LAST BIRTH
NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	NAME	NAME	NAME
511	Within the last six months, was (NAME) given a vitamin A dose like (this/any of these)? SHOW COMMON TYPES OF CAPSULES.	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8
512	In the last seven days, was (NAME) given iron pills, sprinkles with iron, or iron syrup like (this/any of these)? SHOW COMMON TYPES OF PILLS/SPRINKLES/SYRUPS.	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8
513	Was (NAME) given any drug for intestinal worms in the last six months?	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8
514	Has (NAME) had diarrhea in the last 2 weeks?	YES	YES	YES
515	Was there any blood in the stools?	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8	YES	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8
516	Now I would like to know how much (NAME) was <u>given to drink</u> during the diarrhea (including breastmilk). Was he/she given less than usual to drink, about the same amount, or more than usual to drink?	MUCH LESS 1 SOMEWHAT LESS 2 ABOUT THE SAME 3 MORE 4 NOTHING TO DRINK 5 DON'T KNOW 8	MUCH LESS 1 SOMEWHAT LESS 2 ABOUT THE SAME 3 MORE 4 NOTHING TO DRINK 5 DON'T KNOW 8	MUCH LESS 1 SOMEWHAT LESS 2 ABOUT THE SAME 3 MORE 4 NOTHING TO DRINK 5 DON'T KNOW 8
	IF LESS, PROBE: Was he/she given much less than usual to drink or somewhat less?			
517	When (NAME) had diarrhea, was he/she <u>given less than usual to eat</u> , about the same amount, more than usual, or nothing to eat? IF LESS, PROBE: Was he/she given much less than usual to eat or somewhat less?	MUCH LESS 1 SOMEWHAT LESS 2 ABOUT THE SAME 3 MORE 4 STOPPED FOOD 5 NEVER GAVE FOOD 6 DON'T KNOW 8	MUCH LESS 1 SOMEWHAT LESS 2 ABOUT THE SAME 3 MORE 4 STOPPED FOOD 5 NEVER GAVE FOOD 6 DON'T KNOW 8	MUCH LESS 1 SOMEWHAT LESS 2 ABOUT THE SAME 3 MORE 4 STOPPED FOOD 5 NEVER GAVE FOOD 6 DON'T KNOW 8
518	Did you seek advice or treatment for the diarrhea from any source?	YES 1 NO 2 (SKIP TO 520)←	YES 1 NO	YES 1 NO 2 (SKIP TO 520)←

		LAST BIRTH	NEXT-TO-LAST BIRTH	SECOND-FROM-LAST BIRTH
NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	NAME	NAME	NAME
519	Where did you seek advice or treatment? Anywhere else?	PUBLIC SECTOR GOVT. HOSPITAL A RHC/MCH B BHU/FWC C	PUBLIC SECTOR GOVT. HOSPITAL A RHC/MCH B BHU/FWC C	PUBLIC SECTOR GOVT. HOSPITAL A RHC/MCH B BHU/FWC C
	PROBE TO IDENTIFY EACH TYPE OF SOURCE.	LADY H.WORKER D OTHER PUBLIC E (SPECIFY)	LADY H.WORKER D OTHER PUBLIC E (SPECIFY)	LADY H.WORKER D OTHER PUBLIC E (SPECIFY)
	IF UNABLE TO DETERMINE IF PUBLIC OR PRIVATE SECTOR, WRITE THE NAME	PRIVATE MED. SECTOR PVT. HOSPITAL/ CLINIC F	PRIVATE MED. SECTOR PVT. HOSPITAL/ CLINIC F	PRIVATE MED. SECTOR PVT. HOSPITAL/ CLINIC F
	OF THE PLACE.	CHEMIST G PVT. DOCTOR H HOMEOPATH I DISPENSER /	CHEMIST G PVT. DOCTOR H HOMEOPATH I DISPENSER /	CHEMIST G PVT. DOCTOR H HOMEOPATH I DISPENSER /
	(NAME OF PLACE(S))	COMPOUNDER J OTHER PRIVATE MED. K (SPECIFY)	COMPOUNDER J OTHER PRIVATE MEDK (SPECIFY)	COMPOUNDER J OTHER PRIVATE MED. K (SPECIFY)
		OTHER SOURCE SHOP L HAKIM M DAI, TBA N OTHER X (SPECIFY)	OTHER SOURCE SHOP L HAKIM M DAI, TBA N OTHER X (SPECIFY)	OTHER SOURCE SHOP L HAKIM M DAI, TBA N OTHER X (SPECIFY)
520	Was he/she given any of the following to drink at any time since he/she started having the diarrhea:			
	a) A fluid made from a special packet called Nimkol/ ORS?	FLUID FROM ORS PKT 1 2 8	FLUID FROM ORS PKT 1 2 8	FLUID FROM ORS PKT 1 2 8
	b) A drink made at home with sugar, salt and water?	HOMEMADE FLUID 1 2 8	HOMEMADE FLUID 1 2 8	HOMEMADE FLUID 1 2 8
521	Was anything (else) given to treat the diarrhea?	YES	YES	YES
522	What (else) was given to treat the diarrhea? Anything else? RECORD ALL TREATMENTS GIVEN.	PILL OR SYRUP ANTIBIOTIC A ANTIMOTILITY B ZINC C OTHER (NOT ANTI- BIOTIC, ANTI- MOTILITY, OR ZINC) D UNKNOWN PILL OR SYRUP E INJECTION ANTIBIOTIC F NON-ANTIBIOTIC G UNKNOWN INJECTION H	PILL OR SYRUP ANTIBIOTIC A ANTIMOTILITY B ZINC C OTHER (NOT ANTI- BIOTIC, ANTI- MOTILITY, OR ZINC) D UNKNOWN PILL OR SYRUP E INJECTION ANTIBIOTIC F NON-ANTIBIOTIC G UNKNOWN INJECTION H (IV) INTRAVENOUS I	PILL OR SYRUP ANTIBIOTIC A ANTIMOTILITY B ZINC C OTHER (NOT ANTI- BIOTIC, ANTI- MOTILITY, OR ZINC) D UNKNOWN PILL OR SYRUP E INJECTION ANTIBIOTIC F NON-ANTIBIOTIC G UNKNOWN INJECTION H (IV) INTRAVENOUS I
		HOME REMEDY RICE STARCH K MINT EXTRACT L	HOME REMEDY RICE STARCH K MINT EXTRACT L	HOME REMEDY RICE STARCH K MINT EXTRACT . L
		OTHER X (SPECIFY)	OTHER X (SPECIFY)	OTHER X (SPECIFY)

		LAST BIRTH	NEXT-TO-LAST BIRTH	SECOND-FROM-LAST BIRTH
NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	NAME	NAME	NAME
523	Has (NAME) been ill with a fever at any time in the last 2 weeks?	YES 1 NO 2 (SKIP TO 525)◀┥ DON'T KNOW 8	YES	YES
524	At any time during the illness, did (NAME) have blood taken from his/her finger or heel for testing?	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8
525	Has (NAME) had an illness with a cough at any time in the last 2 weeks?	YES 1 NO 2 (SKIP TO 528) ◀— DON'T KNOW 8	YES	YES
526	When (NAME) had an illness with a cough, did he/she breathe faster than usual with short, rapid breaths or have difficulty breathing?	YES 1 NO 2 (SKIP TO 529) ◀— DON'T KNOW 8	YES	YES
527	Was the fast or difficult breathing due to a problem in the chest or to a blocked or runny nose?	CHEST ONLY 1 NOSE ONLY 2 BOTH 3 OTHER 6 (SPECIFY) DON'T KNOW 8 (SKIP TO 529)	CHEST ONLY 1 NOSE ONLY 2 BOTH 3 OTHER 6 (SPECIFY) DON'T KNOW 8 (SKIP TO 529)	CHEST ONLY 1 NOSE ONLY 2 BOTH 3 OTHER 6 (SPECIFY) DON'T KNOW 8 (SKIP TO 529)◀
528	CHECK 523: HAD FEVER?	YES NO OR DK (GO BACK TO 503 IN NEXT COLUMN; OR, IF NO MORE BIRTHS, GO TO 536)	YES NO OR DK (GO BACK TO 503 IN NEXT COLUMN; OR, IF NO MORE BIRTHS, GO TO 536)	YES NO OR DK (GO TO 503 IN NEXT-TO-LAST COLUMN OF NEW QUESTIONNAIRE; OR, IF NO MORE BIRTHS, GO TO 536)
529	Now I would like to know how much (NAME) was given to drink (including breastmilk) during the illness with a (fever/cough). Was he/she given less than usual to drink, about the same amount, or more than usual to drink? IF LESS, PROBE: Was he/she given much less than usual to drink or somewhat less?	MUCH LESS 1 SOMEWHAT LESS 2 ABOUT THE SAME 3 MORE 4 NOTHING TO DRINK 5 DON'T KNOW 8	MUCH LESS 1 SOMEWHAT LESS 2 ABOUT THE SAME 3 MORE 4 NOTHING TO DRINK 5 DON'T KNOW 8	MUCH LESS 1 SOMEWHAT LESS 2 ABOUT THE SAME 3 MORE 4 NOTHING TO DRINK 5 DON'T KNOW 8
530	When (NAME) had a (fever/cough), was he/she given less than usual to eat, about the same amount, more than usual, or nothing to eat? IF LESS, PROBE: Was he/she given much less than usual to eat or somewhat less?	MUCH LESS 1 SOMEWHAT LESS 2 ABOUT THE SAME 3 MORE 4 STOPPED FOOD 5 NEVER GAVE FOOD 6 DON'T KNOW 8	MUCH LESS 1 SOMEWHAT LESS 2 ABOUT THE SAME 3 MORE 4 STOPPED FOOD 5 NEVER GAVE FOOD 6 DON'T KNOW 8	MUCH LESS 1 SOMEWHAT LESS 2 ABOUT THE SAME 3 MORE 4 STOPPED FOOD 5 NEVER GAVE FOOD 6 DON'T KNOW 8
531	Did you seek advice or treatment for the illness from any source?	YES 1 NO 2 (SKIP TO 533)◀	YES 1 NO 2 (SKIP TO 533)◄───	YES 1 NO 2 (SKIP TO 533)←

		LAST BIRTH	NEXT-TO-LAST BIRTH	SECOND-FROM-LAST BIRTH
NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	NAME	NAME	NAME
532	Where did you seek advice or treatment? Anywhere else? PROBE TO IDENTIFY EACH TYPE OF SOURCE. IF UNABLE TO DETERMINE IF PUBLIC OR PRIVATE SECTOR, WRITE THE NAME OF THE PLACE. (NAME OF PLACE(S))	PUBLIC SECTOR GOVT. HOSPITAL A RHC/MCH B BHU/FWC C LADY H.WORKER D OTHER PUBLIC E (SPECIFY) PRIVATE MED. SECTOR PVT. HOSPITAL/ CLINIC F PHARMACY G PVT. DOCTOR H HOMEOPATH I DISPENSER / COMPOUNDER J OTHER PRIVATE MED. K (SPECIFY)	PUBLIC SECTOR GOVT. HOSPITAL A RHC/MCH B BHU/FWC C LADY H.WORKER D OTHER PUBLIC E (SPECIFY) PRIVATE MED. SECTOR PVT. HOSPITAL/ CLINIC F PHARMACY G PVT. DOCTOR H HOMEOPATH I DISPENSER / COMPOUNDER J OTHER PRIVATE MEDK (SPECIFY)	PUBLIC SECTOR GOVT. HOSPITAL A RHC/MCH B BHU/FWC C LADY H.WORKER D OTHER PUBLIC E (SPECIFY) PRIVATE MED. SECTOR PVT. HOSPITAL/ CLINIC F PHARMACY G PVT. DOCTOR H HOMEOPATH I DISPENSER / COMPOUNDER J OTHER PRIVATE MED. K (SPECIFY)
		OTHER SOURCE SHOP L HAKIM M DAI, TBA N OTHER X (SPECIFY)	OTHER SOURCE SHOP L HAKIM M DAI, TBA N OTHER X (SPECIFY)	OTHER SOURCE SHOP L HAKIM M DAI, TBA N OTHER X (SPECIFY) X
533	At any time during the illness, did (NAME) take any drugs for the illness?	YES	YES	YES
534	What drugs did (NAME) take? Any other drugs? [CIRCLE ALL MENTIONED]	ANTIMALARIAL DRUGS SP/FANSIDAR A CHLOROQUINE B AMODIAQUINE C QUININE D ARTEMISININ COMBINATION E OTHER ANTI- MALARIAL F (SPECIFY) ANTIBIOTIC DRUGS PILL/SYRUP G INJECTION H OTHER DRUGS PONSTAN I PARACETAMOL J IBUPROFEN K COUGH SYRUP . L OTHER X (SPECIFY) DON'T KNOW Z	ANTIMALARIAL DRUGS SP/FANSIDAR A CHLOROQUINE . B AMODIAQUINE C QUININE D ARTEMISININ COMBINATION E OTHER ANTI- MALARIAL F (SPECIFY) ANTIBIOTIC DRUGS PILL/SYRUP G INJECTION H OTHER DRUGS PONSTAN I PARACETAMOL J IBUPROFEN K COUGH SYRUP L OTHER X (SPECIFY)	ANTIMALARIAL DRUGS SP/FANSIDAR A CHLOROQUINE B AMODIAQUINE C QUININE D ARTEMISININ COMBINATION E OTHER ANTI- MALARIAL F (SPECIFY) ANTIBIOTIC DRUGS PILL/SYRUP G INJECTION H OTHER DRUGS PONSTAN I PARACETAMOL J IBUPROFEN K COUGH SYRUP L OTHER X (SPECIFY) DON'T KNOW Z
535		GO BACK TO 503 IN NEXT COLUMN; OR, IF NO MORE BIRTHS, GO TO 536.	GO BACK TO 503 IN NEXT COLUMN; OR, IF NO MORE BIRTHS, GO TO 536.	GO TO 503 IN NEXT-TO-LAST COLUMN OF NEW QUESTIONNAIRE; OR, IF NO MORE BIRTHS, GO TO 536.

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP		
536	CHECK 220 AND 223, ALL ROWS:				
	NUMBER OF CHILDREN BORN IN 2010 OR LATER LIVING WITH THE RESPONDENT				
			→ 601		
	RECORD NAME OF YOUNGEST CHILD LIVING WITH HER AND CONTINUE WITH 537				
	(NAME)				
537	Now I would like to ask you about liquids or foods that (NAME FROM am interested in whether your child had the item I mention even if it	1 536) had yesterday during the day or at nigh was combined with other foods.	t. I		
	Did (NAME FROM 536) (drink/eat):	YES NO D	к		
	a) Plain water?	a) 1 2 8			
	b) Juice or juice drinks?	b) 1 2 8			
	c) Clear broth?	c) 1 2 8			
	d) Milk such as tinned, powdered, or fresh animal milk?	d) 1 2 8			
	IF YES: How many times did (NAME) drink milk? IF 7 OR MORE TIMES, RECORD '7'.	NUMBER OF TIMES DRANK MILK]		
	e) Infant formula?	e) 1 2 8			
	IF YES: How many times did (NAME) drink infant formula? IF 7 OR MORE TIMES, RECORD '7'.	NUMBER OF TIMES DRANK FORMULA]		
	f) Any other liquids?	f) 1 2 8	. – –		
	g) Yogurt?	g) 1 2 8			
	IF YES: How many times did (NAME) eat yogurt? IF 7 OR MORE TIMES, RECORD '7'.	NUMBER OF TIMES ATE YOGURT]		
	h) Any [Nestle Cerelac, Nestum, Farex]? ASK TO SEE PACKAGE	h) 1 2 8			
	 Bread, roti, rice, noodles, kichrei, daliya, sewaian, sagudana or other foods made from grains? 	i) 1 2 8			
	j) Pumpkin, carrots, squash or sweet potatoes that are yellow or o	prange inside? j) 1 2 8	• = =		
	k) White potatoes, white yams, cassava, arvi, kachalu or any othe roots?	r foods made from k) 1 2 8			
	 Any dark green, leafy vegetables, like kale, etc.? palik, sarsoon kechanar, chana ka sag, phalian. 	, bathu, chulai, I) 1 2 8			
	m) Ripe mangoes, papayas, peach, apricot?	m) 1 2 8	·		
	 n) Any other fruits or vegetables? Cabbage, cauli flower, brinjal, a pomegravate, plum. 	pple, banana, n) 1 2 8			
	o) Liver, kidney, heart or other organ meats?	o) 1 2 8	·		
	p) Any meat, such as beef, lamb, mutton, chicken, or duck?	p) 1 2 8	·		
	q) Eggs?	q) 1 2 8	·		
	r) Fresh or dried fish or shellfish?	r) 1 2 8	· 		
	s) Any foods made from beans, peas, lentils, or nuts?	s) 1 2 8	·		
	t) Cheese or other food made from milk?	t) 1 2 8	· 		
	u) Any other solid, semi-solid, or soft food?	······································	·		
		w, 1 2 0			

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
538	CHECK 537 (CATEGORIES "g" THROUGH "u"):		
	NOT A SINGLE AT LEAST ONE "YES"		→ 540
539	Did (NAME) eat any solid, semi-solid, or soft foods yesterday during the day or at night?	YES 1 (GO BACK TO 537 TO RECORD	
	IF 'YES' PROBE: What kind of solid, semi-solid or soft foods did (NAME) eat?	NO 2	→ 601
540	How many times did (NAME FROM 536) eat solid, semi-solid, or soft foods yesterday during the day or at night? IF 7 OR MORE TIMES, RECORD '7'.	NUMBER OF TIMES	

SECTION 6. FERTILITY PREFERENCES

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
601	CHECK 104: CURRENTLY MARRIED WIDOWED, DIVORC SEPAI	ED OR RATED	→613
602	CHECK 309: NEITHER HE O STERILIZED STER		→ 613
603	CHECK 234:		→ 605
604	Now I have some questions about the future. After the child you are expecting now, would you like to have another child, or would you prefer not to have any more children?	HAVE ANOTHER CHILD 1 NO MORE 2 UNDECIDED/DON'T KNOW 8	→ 606 ↓ 612
605	Now I have some questions about the future. Would you like to have (a/another) child, or would you prefer not to have any (more) children?	HAVE (A/ANOTHER) CHILD1NO MORE/NONE2SAYS SHE CAN'T GET PREGNANT3UNDECIDED/DON'T KNOW8	→ 608 → 613 → 611
606	CHECK 234: NOT PREGNANT OR UNSURE How long would you like to wait from now before the birth of (a/another) child? After the birth of the child you are expecting now, how long would you like to wait before the birth of another child?	MONTHS 1 YEARS 2 SOON/NOW 993 SAYS SHE CAN'T GET PREGNANT 994 OTHER 996 (SPECIFY) 998	$\rightarrow 611$ $\rightarrow 613$ $\rightarrow 611$
607	CHECK 234: NOT PREGNANT PREC OR UNSURE	GNANT	612
608	CHECK 308: USING A CONTRACEPTIVE METHOD? NOT NOT CURR ASKED CURRENTLY USING		→ 613
609	CHECK 606: NOT 24 OR MORE MONTHS C ASKED OR 02 OR MORE YEARS C	00-23 MONTHS DR 00-01 YEAR	→ 612

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
610	CHECK 604 AND 605: WANTS TO HAVE A/ ANOTHER CHILD You have said that you do not want (a/another) child soon. Can you tell me why you are not using a method to prevent pregnancy? Any other reason? CIRCLE ALL MENTIONED]	FERTILITY-RELATED REASONS NOT HAVING SEX A INFREQUENT SEX B MENOPAUSAL/HYSTERECTOMY C CAN'T GET PREGNANT D NOT MENSTRUATED SINCE LAST BIRTH LAST BIRTH E BREASTFEEDING F UP TO GOD/FATALISTIC G OPPOSITION TO USE RESPONDENT OPPOSED RESPONDENT OPPOSED I OTHERS OPPOSED J RELIGIOUS PROHIBITION K LACK OF KNOWLEDGE KNOWS NO METHOD KNOWS NO SOURCE M METHOD-RELATED REASONS SIDE EFFECTS/HEALTH CONCERNS N LACK OF ACCESS/TOO FAR O COSTS TOO MUCH P PREFERRED METHOD N LACK OF ACCESS/TOO FAR O COSTS TOO MUCH P PREFERRED METHOD S INTERFERES WITH BODY'S NORMAL PROCESSES NORMAL PROCESSES T OTHER X (SPECIFY) DON'T KNOW	
611	CHECK 308: USING A CONTRACEPTIVE METHOD?		→ 613
611A	CHECK FOR PRESENCE OF OTHERS. BEFORE CONTINUING, M	AKE EVERY EFFORT TO ENSURE PRIVACY.	
612	Do you think you will use a contraceptive method to delay or avoid pregnancy at any time in the future?	YES	
613	CHECK 221: HAS LIVING CHILDREN If you could go back to the time you did not have any children and could choose exactly the number of children to have in your whole life, how many would that be? PROBE FOR A NUMERIC RESPONSE.	NONE 00 NUMBER 00 OTHER 96 (SPECIFY) 96	→ 615 → 615

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
614	How many of these children would you like to be boys, how many would you like to be girls and for how many would it not matter if it's a boy or a girl?	BOYS GIRLS EITHER NUMBER	
615	In the last few months have you:	YES NO	
	Heard about family planning on the radio? Seen anything about family planning on the television? Read about family planning in a newspaper or magazine?	RADIO 1 2 TELEVISION 1 2 NEWSPAPER OR MAGAZINE 1 2	
616	CHECK 615: HEARD MESSAGE NOT HEARD (ANY YES IN 615) MESSAGE		619
617	What messages did it convey to you? Anything else? [CIRCLE ALL MENTIONED]	LIMITING THE FAMILY A HIGHER AGE AT MARRIAGE B SPACING OF CHILDREN C USE OF CONTRACEPTIVES D WELFARE OF FAMILY E MATERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH F LESS CHILDREN MEAN PROSPEROUS LIFE POVERTY AND STARVATION H IMPORTANCE OF BREASTFEEDING I OTHER-1 X SPECIFY OTHER-2 ON'T KNOW/NOT REMEMBER Z	
618	Do you think that the message you heard was effective or not effective in persuading couples to use family planning?	EFFECTIVE 1 NOT EFFECTIVE 2 DON'T KNOW 8	
619	CHECK 104: CURRENTLY MARRIED MARRIED MARRIED CURRENTLY MIDOWED, DIVORCED OR SEPARATED		→ 701
620	CHECK 309: USING A CONTRACEPTIVE METHOD? NOT CURRENTLY USING USING OR NOT ASKED		→ 623
621	Would you say that using contraception is mainly your decision, mainly your husband's decision, or did you both decide together?	MAINLY RESPONDENT 1 MAINLY HUSBAND	
622	CHECK 309: NEITHER STERILIZED		→ 701
623	Does your husband want the same number of children that you want, or does he want more or fewer than you want?	SAME NUMBER	

SECTION 7	HUSBAND'S BACKGROUND	AND WOMAN'S WORK
SECTION 7.	TIUSBAIND S BACKGROUND	AND WOWANS WORK

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
701	CHECK 104:		
	CURRENTLY WIDOWED, DIVORCED, MARRIED SEPARATED		→ 703
702	How old was your husband on his last birthday?	AGE IN COMPLETED YEARS	
703	Did your (last) husband ever attend school?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 705
704	What was the highest class he completed?	CLASS	
	IF COMPLETED LESS THAN CLASS ONE, WRITE '00'. IF MA, MPHIL, PHD, MBBS, OR BSC/4 YEARS, WRITE '16'.	DON'T KNOW 98	
705	CHECK 701:		
	What is your husband's What was your (last) husband's		
	occupation? occupation? That is, what kind of work does That is, what kind of work did he he mainly do? mainly do?		
705A	Aside from housework, women work for cash or kind, did you work for cash or kind at any time <u>before</u> you (first) got married?	YES 1 NO 2	
705B	Did you work after you (first) got married?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 706
705C	When did you start work after (first) marriage?		
	IF LESS THAN ONE-YEAR WRITE '00'		
706	Aside from your own housework, have you done any work in the last seven days?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 710
707	As you know, some women take up jobs for which they are paid in cash or kind. Others sell things, have a small business or work on the family farm or in the family business. In the last seven days, have you done any of these things or any other	YES 1 NO	→ 710
	work?		
708	Although you did not work in the last seven days, do you have any job or business from which you were absent for leave, illness, vacation, maternity leave, or any other such reason?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 710
709	Have you done any work in the last 12 months?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 715
710	What is your occupation, that is, what kind of work do you mainly do?		
711	Do you do this work for a member of your family, for someone else, or are you self-employed?	FOR FAMILY MEMBER 1 FOR SOMEONE ELSE 2 SELF-EMPLOYED 3	
712	Do you usually work throughout the year, or do you work seasonally, or only once in a while?	THROUGHOUT THE YEAR1SEASONALLY/PART OF THE YEAR2ONCE IN A WHILE3	
NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
-----	--	---	-------
713	Do you work at home or away from home?	AT HOME	
714	Are you paid in cash or cash and kind both or kind only for this work or are you not paid at all?	CASH ONLY 1 CASH AND KIND 2 IN KIND ONLY 3 NOT PAID 4	
715	CHECK 104: CURRENTLY MARRIED MARRIED		→ 723
716	CHECK 714: CODE 1 OR 2 CIRCLED OTHER OTHER		→719
717	Who usually decides how the money you earn will be used: you, your husband, or you and your husband jointly or someone else?	RESPONDENT1HUSBAND2RESPONDENT AND1HUSBAND JOINTLY3FAMILY ELDERS4SOMEONE ELSE6	
718	Would you say that the money that you earn is more than what your husband earns, less than what he earns, or about the same?	MORE THAN HIM1LESS THAN HIM2ABOUT THE SAME3HUSBAND HAS NO EARNINGS4DON'T KNOW8	→ 720
719	Who usually decides how your husband's earnings will be used: you, your husband, or you and your husband jointly or someone else?	RESPONDENT1HUSBAND2RESPONDENT AND1HUSBAND JOINTLY3HUSBAND HAS NO EARNINGS4FAMILY ELDERS5SOMEONE ELSE6	
720	Who usually makes decisions about health care for yourself: you, your husband, you and your husband jointly, or someone else?	RESPONDENT1HUSBAND2RESPONDENT AND1HUSBAND JOINTLY3FAMILY ELDERS4SOMEONE ELSE6	
721	Who usually makes decisions about making major household purchases: you, your husband, you and your husband jointly, or someone else?	RESPONDENT1HUSBAND2RESPONDENT ANDHUSBAND JOINTLY3FAMILY ELDERS4SOMEONE ELSE6	
722	Who usually makes decisions about visits to your family or relatives: you, your husband, you and your husband jointly, or someone else??	RESPONDENT1HUSBAND2RESPONDENT AND1HUSBAND JOINTLY3FAMILY ELDERS4SOMEONE ELSE6	
723	Do you own this or any other house either alone or jointly with someone else?	ALONE ONLY 1 JOINTLY ONLY 2 BOTH ALONE AND JOINTLY 3 DOES NOT OWN 4	→ 725

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
724	Do you have the autonomy to sell the house you own?	YES 1 NO 2	
725	Do you own any land either alone or jointly with someone else?	ALONE ONLY 1 JOINTLY ONLY 2 BOTH ALONE AND JOINTLY 3 DOES NOT OWN 4	727
726	Do you have the autonomy to sell the land you own?	YES 1 NO 2	
727	PRESENCE OF OTHERS AT THIS POINT (PRESENT AND LISTENING, PRESENT BUT NOT LISTENING, OR NOT PRESENT) a) b) c) d)	PRES./ PRES./ NOT LISTEN. NOT PRES. LISTEN. CHILDREN < 10 1 2 3 HUSBAND 1 2 3 OTHER MALES 1 2 3 OTHER FEMALES 1 2 3	
728	 In your opinion, is a husband justified in hitting or beating his wife in the following situations: a) If she goes out without telling him? b) If she neglects the children? c) If she argues with him? d) If she burns the food? e) If she neglects the in-laws f) If she refuses to have sex with him? 	YES NO DK GOES OUT 1 2 8 NEGL. CHILDREN 1 2 8 ARGUES 1 2 8 BURNS FOOD 1 2 8 NEGL. IN-LAW\$ 1 2 8 REFUSES SEX 1 2 8	
729	CHECK 104: CURRENTLY WIDOWED, DIVORCED, MARRIED SEPARATED		→ 801
730	Now I would like to ask you some questions about your recent sexual a your answers are completely confidential and will not be told to anyone that you don't want to answer, just let me know and we will go to the ne When was the last time you had sexual intercourse? IF LESS THAN ONE WEEK RECORD DAYS IF LESS THAN ONE MONTH RECORD WEEKS IF LESS THAN 12-MONTHS RECORD MONTHS IF 12-MONTHS OR MORE RECORD YEARS	Activity. Let me assure you again that . If we should come to any question ext question. DAYS AGO	

SECTION 8. HIV/AIDS

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
801	Now I would like to talk about something else. Have you ever heard of an illness called AIDS?	YES	→ 817
802	Can people reduce their chance of getting the AIDS virus by having just one uninfected sex partner who has no other sex partners?	YES	
803	Can people get the AIDS virus from mosquito bites?	YES	
804	Can people reduce their chance of getting the AIDS virus by using a condom every time they have sex?	YES	
805	Can people get the AIDS virus by sharing food with a person who has AIDS?	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8	
806	Can people get the AIDS virus because of witchcraft or other supernatural means?	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8	
807	Is it possible for a healthy-looking person to have the AIDS virus?	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8	
808	Can the virus that causes AIDS be transmitted from a mother to her baby:	YES NO DK	
	a) During pregnancy?b) During delivery?c) By breastfeeding?	DURING PREG. 1 2 8 DURING DELIVERY 1 2 8 BREASTFEEDING 1 2 8	
809	CHECK 808: AT LEAST OTH ONE 'YES'	ER	→ 811
810	Are there any special drugs that a doctor or a nurse can give to a woman infected with the AIDS virus to reduce the risk of transmission to the baby?	YES	
811	Do you know of a place where people can go to get tested for the AIDS virus?	YES	→ 813
812	Where is that? Any other place? PROBE TO IDENTIFY EACH TYPE OF SOURCE. IF UNABLE TO DETERMINE IF PUBLIC OR PRIVATE SECTOR, WRITE THE NAME OF THE PLACE.	PUBLIC SECTOR GOVERNMENT HOSPITAL A GOVT. HEALTH CENTER B STAND-ALONE VCT CENTER C OTHER PUBLIC B SECTOR D (SPECIFY) PRIVATE MEDICAL SECTOR PRIVATE HOSPITAL/CLINIC/ PRIVATE DOCTOR STAND-ALONE VCT CENTER GOTHER PRIVATE	
		MEDICAL SECTOR G (SPECIFY) X (SPECIFY) X	

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
813	Would you buy fresh vegetables from a shopkeeper or vendor if you knew that this person had the AIDS virus?	YES	
814	If a member of your family got infected with the AIDS virus, would you want it to remain a secret or not?	YES, REMAIN A SECRET 1 NO 2 DK/NOT SURE/DEPENDS 8	
815	If a member of your family became sick with AIDS, would you be willing to care for her or him in your own household?	YES 1 NO 2 DK/NOT SURE/DEPENDS 8	
816	In your opinion, if a female teacher has the AIDS virus but is not sick, should she be allowed to continue teaching in the school?	SHOULD BE ALLOWED1SHOULD NOT BE ALLOWED2DK/NOT SURE/DEPENDS8	
817	CHECK 801: HEARD ABOUT AIDS Apart from AIDS, have you heard about other infections that can be transmitted through sexual contact?	YES 1 NO 2	
818			→ 820
818 819	CHECK 817: HEARD ABOUT OTHER SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED YES	DINFECTIONS? NO YES NO DON'T KNOW	→ 820
818 819 820	CHECK 817: HEARD ABOUT OTHER SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED YES VES VES VESSION NOW I would like to ask you some questions about your health in the last 12 months. During the last 12 months, have you had a disease which you got through sexual contact? Sometimes women experience a bad-smelling abnormal genital discharge. During the last 12 months, have you had a bad-smelling abnormal genital discharge?	DINFECTIONS? NO YES NO ZON'T KNOW YES NO YES DON'T KNOW 2 DON'T KNOW 8 YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8	→ 820
818 819 820 821	CHECK 817: HEARD ABOUT OTHER SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED YES VES Now I would like to ask you some questions about your health in the last 12 months. During the last 12 months, have you had a disease which you got through sexual contact? Sometimes women experience a bad-smelling abnormal genital discharge. During the last 12 months, have you had a bad-smelling abnormal genital discharge? Sometimes women have a genital sore or ulcer. During the last 12 months, have you had a genital sore or ulcer?	DINFECTIONS? NO YES NO Z DON'T KNOW NO YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8 YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8 YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8 YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8	→ 820
818 819 820 821 822	CHECK 819,820 AND 821: CHECK 819,820 AND 821: HAS NOT HAD AN INFECTION (ANY 'YES')	DINFECTIONS? NO YES NO DON'T KNOW 8 YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8 YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8 YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8	→ 820 901

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
824	Where did you go?	PUBLIC SECTOR	
		GOVERNMENT HOSPITAL A	
	Any other place?		
	PROBE TO IDENTIFY EACH TYPE OF SOURCE.	FAMILY PLANNING CLINIC	
		MOBILE CLINIC	
	IF UNABLE TO DETERMINE IF PUBLIC OR PRIVATE	FIELDWORKER F	
	SECTOR, WRITE THE NAME OF THE PLACE.	OTHER PUBLIC	
		SECTOR G	
		PRIVATE MEDICAL SECTOR	
	(NAME OF PLACE(S))	PRIVATE HOSPITAL/CLINIC/	
		PRIVATE DOCTOR H	
		STAND-ALONE VCT CENTER I	
		FIELDWORKER	
		OTHER PRIVATE MEDICAL	
		SECTOR M	
		(SPECIFY)	
		OTHER X	
		(SPECIFY)	
			l

SECTION 9. OTHER HEALTH ISSUES

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
901	Have you ever heard of an illness called tuberculosis or TB?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 906
902	How does tuberculosis spread from one person to another? PROBE: Any other ways? [CIRCLE ALL MENTIONED]	THROUGH THE AIR WHEN COUGHING A OR SNEEZING. A BY SHARING UTENSILS B BY TOUCHING A PERSON WITH TB C THROUGH SHARING FOOD D THROUGH SEXUAL CONTACT E THROUGH MOSQUITO BITES F OTHER X SPECIFY DON'T KNOW	
903	Can tuberculosis be cured?	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8] _{▶ 905}
904	What is the duration of treatment of TB now a days?		
905	Have you ever been told by a doctor or nurse or LHV that God forbid you have/ had tuberculosis?	YES	
906	Have you ever heard of an illness called Hepatitis B or C?	VES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8] _{▶ 909}
907	Is there anything a person can do to avoid getting Hepatitis B or C?	YES	l₊ ₉₀₉
908	What can a person do to avoid getting Hepatitis B or C? PROBE: Any other ways? [CIRCLE ALL MENTIONED]	SAFE SEX A SAFE BLOOD TRANSFER B DISPOSABLE SYRINGE C AVOID CONTAMINATED FOOD/WATER D AVOID CONTACT WITH INFECTED PERSON E MAKING SURE THAT THE INSTRUMENTS OF DENTISTS ARE PROPERLY STERILIZED F OTHERS X SPECIFY NO RESPONSE Y DON'T KNOW Z	
909	Now I would like to ask you some other questions relating to health matters. Have you had an injection for any reason in the last 12 months? IF YES: How many injections have you had? IF NUMBER OF INJECTIONS IS 90 OR MORE, OR DAILY FOR 3 MONTHS OR MORE, RECORD '90'.	NUMBER OF INJECTIONS	→ 912
	IF NON-NUMERIC ANSWER, PROBE TO GET AN ESTIMATE.		

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
910	Among these injections, how many were administered by a doctor, a nurse, a pharmacist, a dentist, or any other health worker?	NUMBER OF INJECTIONS	
	IF NUMBER OF INJECTIONS IS 90 OR MORE, OR DAILY FOR 3 MONTHS OR MORE, RECORD '90'.	NONE 00	→912
	IF NON-NUMERIC ANSWER, PROBE TO GET AN ESTIMATE.		
911	The last time you got an injection from a health worker, did he/she take the syringe and needle from a new, unopened package?	YES	
912	Do you presently smoke cigarettes?	YES	→914
913	In the last 24 hours, how many cigarettes did you smoke?	NUMBER OF CIGARETTES	
914	Do you presently smoke or use any (other) type of tobacco?	YES	→ 916
915	What (other) type of tobacco do you currently smoke or use?	PIPE A CHEWING TOBACCO/NUSWAR B SNUFF C HUKAA/SHEESHA D OTHER X (SPECIFY)	
916	Many different factors can prevent women from getting medical advice or treatment for themselves. When you are sick and want to get medical advice or treatment, is each of the following a big problem or not?	BIG NOT A BIG PROB- PROB- LEM LEM	
	a) Getting permission to go to the doctor?b) Getting money needed for advice or treatment?c) The distance to the health facility?d) Not wanting to go alone?e) Management of Transport	PERMISSION TO GO 1 2 GETTING MONEY 1 2 DISTANCE 1 2 GO ALONE 1 2 TRANSPORT 1 2	

SECTION 10. DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS		CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
1001	CHECK HOUSEHOLD QUESTIONNAIRE, Q36 AND WOMAN SELECTED V FOR THIS SECTION NOT SEL	O IDENTIFICATI	ON SECTION OF WOMAN QUESTIONNAIRE.	→ 1031
	+			
1002	CHECK FOR PRESENCE OF OTHERS: DO NOT CONTINUE UNTIL PRIVACY IS ENSUREI PRIVACY OBTAINED 1 NOT F	D. PRIVACY POSSIBLE	2	→ 1030
	Ļ			
	READ TO THE RESPONDENT			
	Now I would like to ask you questions about some o these questions very personal. However, your answ Pakistan. Let me assure you that your answers are o else in your household will know that you were aske	ther important a ers are crucial fo completly confide d these question	spects of a woman's life. You may find some of or helping to understand the condition of women in ential and will not be told to any one and no one ns.	
1003	CHECK 104:			
	CURRENTLY		FORMERLY MARRIED	
	MARRIED	(READ		
			HUSBAND')	
1004		hich honnon to	•	
1004	some women. Please tell me if:	nich happen to		
	 a) He (is/was) jealous or angry if you (talk/talked) to b) He frequently (accuses/accused) you of being unf c) He (does/did) not permit you to meet your female d) He (tries/tried) to limit your contact with your famil e) He (insists/insisted) on knowing where you (are/w times? 	other men? aithful? friends? y? vere) at all	YES NO DK JEALOUS 1 2 8 ACCUSES 1 2 8 NOT MEET FRIENDS 1 2 8 LIMIT CONTACT 1 2 8 WHERE YOU ARE 1 2 8	
1005	Now I need to ask some more questions about your with your (last) husband.	relationship		
	A Did your (last) husband ever:		 B How often did this happen during the last 12 months: often, only sometimes, or not at all? 	
		EVER	SOME- NOT IN LAST OFTEN TIMES 12 MONTHS	
	 a) say or do something to humiliate you in front of others? 	YES 1- NO 2	▶ 1 2 3	
	 b) threaten to hurt or harm you or someone you care about? 	YES 1- NO 2	▶ 1 2 3	
	c) insult you or make you feel bad about yourself?	YES 1 NO 2 ↓	▶ 1 2 3	

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS			CODING	CATEGORIES		SKIP
1006	A Did your (last) husband:		B Hov 12 r all?	v often did nonths: of	this happen dur ten, only someti	ring the last mes, or not at	
		EVER	OFTEN	SOME- TIMES	NOT IN LAST 12 MONTHS	NO RESPONSE	
	 a) push you, shake you, or throw something at you? 	YES 1 NO 2	▶ 1	2	3	7	
	b) slap you?	YES 1- NO 2	▶ 1	2	3	7	
	c) twist your arm or pull your hair?	YES 1 NO 2	► 1	2	3	7	
	 d) punch you with his fist or with something that could hurt you? 	YES 1 NO 2	► 1	2	3	7	
	e) kick you, drag you, or beat you up?	YES 1 NO 2	► 1	2	3	7	
	f) try to choke you or burn you on purpose?	YES 1 NO 2	► 1	2	3	7	
	g) threaten or attack you with a knife, gun, or other weapon?	YES 1 NO 2 ↓	► 1	2	3	7	
1007	CHECK 1006A (a-g):						
	AT LEAST ONE NOT / 'YES'	A SINGLE 'YES']				1010
1008	How long after you first got married with your (last) h (this/any of these things) first happen?	nusband did	NUMBEF	R OF YEAF	RS		
	IF LESS THAN ONE YEAR, RECORD '00'.						
1009	Did the following ever happen as a result of what you husband did to you:	ur (last)					
	a) You had cuts, bruises, or aches?		YES NO			1 2	
	b) You had eye injuries, sprains, dislocations, or b	urns?	YES NO			1 2	
	c) You had deep wounds, broken bones, broken t other serious injury?	eeth, or any	YES NO			1 2	
1010	Have you ever hit, slapped, kicked, or done anything physically hurt your (last) husband at times when he already beating or physically hurting you?	else to was not	YES NO		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · 1 · · · · · 2	→ 1012
1011	In the last 12 months, how often have you done this husband: often, only sometimes, or not at all?	to your (last)	OFTEN SOMETII NOT AT	MES ALL		1 2 3	

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS		CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
1012	Does (did) your (last) husband drink alcohol or consumed other drugs?		YES 1 NO 2	→ 1014
1013	How often does (did) he get drunk or high on drugs: often, only sometimes, or never?		OFTEN	
1014	Are (were) you afraid of your (last) husband: most of sometimes, or never?	f the time,	MOST OF THE TIME AFRAID1SOMETIMES AFRAID2NEVER AFRAID3	
1015	CHECK 112: MARRIED MORE THAN ONCE			→ 1017
1016	A So far we have been talking about the behavio (current/last) husband. Now I want to ask you a behavior of any previous (husband).	r of your about the	B How long ago did this last happen?	-
	Did ann ann inns huchand ann bit also bitis	EVER	0 - 11 12+ DON'T MONTHS MONTHS REMEMBER AGO AGO	
	Did any previous husband ever hit, slap, kick, or do anything else to hurt you physically?	YES 1 NO 2 ∳	▶ 1 2 3	
1017	From the time you were 15 years old has anyone oth (your/any) husband hit you, slapped you, kicked you anything else to hurt you physically?	her than , or done	YES 1 NO 2 REFUSED TO ANSWER/ 3	1020
1018	Who has hurt you in this way? Anyone else? [CIRCLE ALL MENTIONED]		MOTHERASTEP-MOTHERBFATHERCSTEP-FATHERDSISTER/BROTHEREDAUGHTER/SONFOTHER RELATIVEGMOTHER-IN-LAWHFATHER-IN-LAWIOTHER IN-LAWJTEACHERK	
			EMPLOYER/SOMEONE AT WORK L POLICE/SOLDIER M OTHERX (SPECIFY)	
1019	In the last 12 months, how often has (this person/ha persons) physically hurt you: often, only sometimes,	ve these or not at all?	OFTEN 1 SOMETIMES 2 NOT AT ALL 3	
1020	CHECK 201, 208, AND 234: EVER BEEN PREGNANT (YES ON 201 OR 208 OR 234)	BEEN		→ 1023

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS CODING CATEGORIES			SKIP	
1021	Has any one ever hit, slapped, kicked, or done anythin you physically while you were pregnant?	ng else to hurt	YES NO	1 	→ 1023
1022	2 Who has done any of these things to physically hurt you while you were pregnant? Anyone else? [CIRCLE ALL MENTIONED]		CURRENT HUSBAND MOTHER STEP-MOTHER FATHER SISTEP-FATHER DAUGHTER/SON OTHER RELATIVE FORMER HUSBAND MOTHER-IN-LAW FATHER-IN-LAW TEACHER EMPLOYER/SOMEONE AT WORK POLICE/SOLDIER OTHER (SPECIFY)		
1023	CHECK 1006A(a-g), 1016, 1017 AND 1021:				
	AT LEAST ONE NOT A SING 'YES' 'Y	BLE ES'			→ 1027
1024	Thinking about what you yourself have experienced a different things we have been talking about, have you seek help?	mong the ever tried to	YES NO	1 2	→ 1026
1025	From whom have you sought help? Anyone else? [CIRCLE ALL MENTIONED]		OWN FAMILY HUSBAND FAMILY CURRENT/FORMER FRIEND RELIGIOUS LEADEF DOCTOR/MEDICAL POLICE SOCIAL SERVICE O OTHER	A HUSBAND A HUSBAND C D E R PERSONNEL G H RGANIZATION J (SPECIFY)	1027
1026	Have you ever told any one about this?		YES NO	1 	
1027	As far as you know, did your father ever beat your mother? YES				
	THANK THE RESPONDENT FOR HER COOPERATION ANSWERS. FILL OUT THE QUESTIONS BELOW WIT	N AND REASS H REFERENC	URE HER ABOUT THE E TO THE DOMESTIC	CONFIDENTIALITY OF H	ER Y.
1028	DID YOU HAVE TO INTERRUPT THE INTERVIEW BECAUSE SOME ADULT WAS TRYING TO LISTEN, OR CAME INTO THE ROOM, OR INTERFERED IN ANY OTHER WAY?	a) HUSBANI b) OTHER M c) FEMALE A	YES ONCE 0 1 ALE ADULT . 1 ADULT 1	YES, MORE THAN ONCE NO 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 3	

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
1029	INTERVIEWER'S COMMENTS ON COMPLETING THE DOMESTIC	VIOLENCE MODULE	
1030	INTERVIEWER'S COMMENTS / EXPLANATION FOR NOT COMPL	ETING THE DOMESTIC VIOLENCE MODULE	
1031	RECORD THE END TIME.	HOUR	

INSTRUCTIONS: ONLY ONE CODE SHOULD APPEAR IN ANY BOX.		12	DEC	01	1	2	Т
COLUMN 1 REQUIRES A CODE IN EVERY MONTH.		11 10	NOV	02			7
INFORMATION TO BE CODED FOR EACH COLUMN		09	SEP	03			
	2	08 07	AUG	05			-
B BIRTHS	1	06	JUN	07			+
P PREGNANCIES	3	05	MAY	08			
A ABORTION C MISCARRIAGE		04	APR	09 10			-
S STILL BIRTH		02	FEB	11			+
	_	01	JAN	12			
0 NO METHOD		12	DEC	13		1	٦
1 FEMALE STERILIZATION		11	NOV	14			
2 MALE STERILIZATION		10	OCT	15		-	_
3 IOD 4 INJECTABLES	2	09	AUG	10			-
5 IMPLANTS	0	07	JUL	18			
6 PILL	1	06	JUN	19			
7 CONDOM	2	05	MAY	20			_
9 LACTATIONAL AMEN. METHOD		04	MAR	21			-
L RHYTHM METHOD		02	FEB	23			
M WITHDRAWAL		01	JAN	24			
X OTHER MODERN METHOD		40	DEC	25		1	
F OTHER TRADITIONAL METHOD		12	NOV	25 26		-	-
OLUMN 2: DISCONTINUATION OF CONTRACEPTIVE USE		10	OCT	27			
0 INFREQUENT SEX/HUSBAND AWAY		09	SEP	28			
1 BECAME PREGNANT WHILE USING 2 WANTED TO BECOME PREGNANT	2	08	AUG	29 30			_
3 HUSBAND DISAPPROVED	1	06	JUN	30			-
4 WANTED MORE EFFECTIVE METHOD	1	05	MAY	32			
5 SIDE EFFECTS/HEALTH CONCERNS		04	APR	33			
6 LACK OF ACCESS/TOO FAR 7 COSTS TOO MUCH		03	MAR	34 35			_
8 INCONVENIENT TO USE		02	JAN	36			-
F UP TO GOD/FATALISTIC		-	-			1	
A DIFFICULT TO GET PREGNANT/MENOPAUSAL		12	DEC	37			
D MARITAL DISSOLUTION/SEPARATION		11 10	NOV	38 30		-	-
(SPECIFY)		09	SEP	40			4
Z DON'T KNOW	2	08	AUG	41			
	0	07	JUL	42			4
	0	05	MAY	43 44			-
		04	APR	45			
		03		46			4
		02	JAN	48			-
		40	DEC	40		T	
		12	NOV	49 50			-
		10	OCT	51			
	2	09	SEP	52 53			4
	0	07	JUL	54			-
	0	06	JUN	55			
	9	05	MAY ADD	56 57			_
		04	MAR	58			-
		02	FEB	59		1	
		01	JAN	60		1	
	_	12	DEC	61			Į
		11 10	OCT	62 63		+	┥
		09	SEP	64			╘
	2	08	AUG	65			I
	0	07	JUL JUN	66 67			4
	8	05	MAY	68			
		04	APR	69			1
		03 02	MAR FEB	70 71		+	┥
	_	01	JAN	72			Ę
		12	DEC	73			
		11 10	NOV OCT	74 75			7
	-	09	SEP	76			╡
	2 0	08 07	AUG JUI	77 78		+	4
	0	06	JUN	79			+
	7	05	MAY	80			1
		04 03	MAR	82		+	┥
		02	FEB	83		1	コ
		U1	JAN	84		1	1

INTERVIEWER'S OBSERVATIONS

TO BE FILLED IN AFTER COMPLETING INTERVIEW

COMMENTS ABOUT RESPONDENT:		
COMMENTS ON SPECIFIC QUESTIONS:		
ANY OTHER COMMENTS:		
<u>S</u>	UPERVISOR'S OBSERVAT	IONS
NAME OF SUPERVISOR:	DA	ATE:
	EDITOR'S OBSERVATION	<u>VS</u>
		NTC:
	DA	AIE

NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF POPULATION STUDIES PAKISTAN DEMOGRAPHIC AND HEALTH SURVEY 2012-13

EVER MARRIED MAN'S QUESTIONNAIRE

		IDENTIFICATION			
PROVINCE/REGION (PUNJAB=1; SIN	IDH=2; KPK=	=3; BALOCHISTAN=4; GB=	5; ICT=6)		
TEHSIL					
CLUSTER NUMBER					
HOUSEHOLD NUMBER					
LARGE CITY=1; SMALL CITY=2; TOW	VN=3; RURA	L=4			
NAME OF HOUSEHOLD HEAD				_	
NAME AND LINE NUMBER OF MAN				_	
		INTERVIEWER VIS	TS		
	1	2	3	F	NAL VISIT
DATE				_ day Month	2 0 1
INTERVIEWER'S NAME RESULT*				YEAR INT. NUMBE RESULT	R
NEXT VISIT: DATE				TOTAL NUM OF VISITS	IBER
*RESULT CODES: 1 COMPLETED 2 NOT AT HOME 3 POSTPONED	4 REFUS 5 PARTI 6 INCAP	SED LY COMPLETED PACITATED	7 OTHER	(SPECIF	Y)
LANGUAGE OF QUESTIONNAIRE: ENGLISH 6 LANGUAGE OF INTERVIEW*					
SUPERVISOR		FIELD EDIT	OR	OFFICE EDITOR	KEYED BY
NAME	N I	IAME			

INFORMED CONSENT

Assalamo Alaikum. My name is ____. I am working with NIPS. We are conducting a survey about health all over Pakistan. The information we collect will help the government to plan health services. Your household is selected for the survey. The questions usually take about 25 to 30 minutes. All of the answers you give will be confidential and will not be shared with anyone other than members of our survey team. You don't have to be in the survey, but we hope you will agree to answer the questions since your views are important. If I ask you any question you don't want to answer, just let me know and I will go on to the next question or you can stop the interview at any time.

In case you need more information about the survey, you may contact the person listed on the card that has already been given to your household.

Do you have any questions? May I begin the interview now?

SIGNATURE OF INTERVIEWER:	DATE:
RESPONDENT AGREES TO BE INTERVIEWED 1	RESPONDENT DOES NOT AGREE TO BE INTERVIEWED 2→ END

SECTION 1. RESPONDENT'S BACKGROUND

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
101	RECORD THE TIME.	HOUR	
102	In what month and year were you born?	MONTH	
103	How old were you at your last birthday? COMPARE AND CORRECT 102 AND/OR 103 IF INCONSISTENT.	AGE IN COMPLETED YEARS	
104	What is your marital status now: are you currently married or widowed, divorced, or separated?	CURRENTLY MARRIED1WIDOWED2DIVORCED3SEPARATED4NEVER MARRIED5	→ 106A
105	Is your wife living with you now or is she staying elsewhere?	LIVING WITH HIM	
106 106A	Do you have other wives? Did vou have other wives?	YES (MORE THAN ONE) 1 NO (ONLY ONE) 2	→ 108
107	Altogether, how many wives do/did you have?	TOTAL NUMBER OF WIVES	
108	CHECK 106 AND 106A: ONE WIFE In what month and year did you start living with your (wife)? MORE THAN ONE WIFE Now I would like to ask about your first (wife). In what month and year did you start living with her?	MONTH	→ 110
109	How old were you when you first started living with her?	AGE	
110	Have you ever attended school?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 113
111	What is the highest class you completed? IF COMPLETED LESS THAN CLASS ONE, WRITE '00'. IF MA, MPHIL, PHD, MBBS, OR BSC/4 YEARS, WRITE '16'.	CLASS	
112	CHECK 111: CLASS 00-08 CLASS 09 OR HIGHER		115

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
113	Now I would like you to read this sentence to me. SHOW CARD TO RESPONDENT. IF RESPONDENT CANNOT READ WHOLE SENTENCE, PROBE: Can you read any part of the sentence to me?	CANNOT READ AT ALL	
114	CHECK 113: CODE '2', '3' OR '4' CIRCLED		→ 116
115	Do you read a newspaper or magazine daily, at least once a week, occasionally or not at all?	DAILY1AT LEAST ONCE A WEEK2OCCASIONALLY3NOT AT ALL4	
116	Do you listen to the radio daily, at least once a week, occasionally or not at all?	DAILY1AT LEAST ONCE A WEEK2OCCASIONALLY3NOT AT ALL4	
117	Do you watch television daily, at least once a week, occasionally or not at all?	DAILY1AT LEAST ONCE A WEEK2OCCASIONALLY3NOT AT ALL4	
118	What is your mother tongue?	URDU 01 PUNJABI 02 SINDHI 03 PUSHTO 04 BALOCHI 05 ENGLISH 06 BARAUHI 07 SIRAIKI 08 HINDKO 09 KASHMIRI 10 SHINA 11 BRUSHASKI 12 WAKHI 13 CHITRALI/KHWAR 14 BALTI 15 PAHARI 16 POTOWARI 17 MARWARI 18 FARSI 19 OTHER 96	

SECTION 2. REPRODUCTION

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
201	Now I would like to ask about any children you have had during your life. I am interested in all of the children that are biologically yours.	YES 1 NO 2	→ 206
	Do you have any children?		
202	Do you have any sons or daughters who are now living with you?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 204
203	How many sons live with you?	SONS AT HOME	
	And how many daughters live with you?		
	IF NONE, RECORD '00'.		
204	Do you have any sons or daughters who are alive but do not live with you?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 206
205	How many sons are alive but do not live with you?	SONS FLSEWHERE	
	And how many daughters are alive but do not live with you?	DAUGHTERS ELSEWHERE	
	IF NONE, RECORD '00'.		
206	Do you have a son or a daughter who was born alive but later died?		
	IF NO, PROBE: Any baby who cried or showed signs of life but did not survive?	NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8	208
207	How many boys have died?		
	And how many girls have died?		
	IF NONE, RECORD '00'.		
208	SUM ANSWERS TO 203, 205, AND 207, AND ENTER TOTAL.		
	IF NONE, RECORD '00'.		
209	CHECK 208:		
	HAS HAD HAS HAD MORE THAN ONLY		→ 212
	ONE CHILD ↓ ONE CHILD HAS NOT ANY CHILI	HAD DREN	→ 301
210	Did all of your children have the same biological mother?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 212
211	In all, how many wives have you fathered children with?	NUMBER OF WIVES	
212	How old were you when your (first) child was born?	AGE IN YEARS	
213	CHECK 203 AND 205:		
	AT LEAST ONE NO LIV LIVING CHILD		→ 301
214	How old is your (youngest) child? IF LESS THAN ONE YEAR, RECORD '00'	AGE IN YEARS	

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
215	CHECK 214: (YOUNGEST) CHILD OTHER IS AGE 0-2 YEARS		→ 301
216	What is the name of your (youngest) child? WRITE NAME OF (YOUNGEST) CHILD (NAME OF (YOUNGEST) CHILD) [IF NOT LISTED IN THE HOUSEHOLD ROSTER. ENTER "00"]		
217	When (NAME)'s mother was pregnant with (NAME), did she have any antenatal check-ups?	YES	219
218	Were you ever present during any of those antenatal checkups or did you just accompanied your wife to any of those antenatal checkups?	PRESENT DURING CHECK-UP1ONLY ACCOMPANY2NOT ACCOMPANY3	
219	Was (NAME) born in a hospital or health facility?	HOSPITAL/HEALTH FACILITY 1 OTHER 2	
220	When a child has diarrhea, how much should he or she be given to drink: more than usual, about the same as usual, less than usual, or nothing to drink at all?	MORE THAN USUAL1ABOUT THE SAME2LESS THAN USUAL3NOTHING TO DRINK4DON'T KNOW8	

301	Now I would like to talk about family planning - the various ways on a couple can use to delay or avoid a pregnancy.	302 Have you or your wife/wives ever used (METHOD)?	
	Have you ever heard of (METHOD)?		
	PROCEED DOWN COLUMN 301, READING THE NAME AND DI METHOD. CIRCLE CODE 1 IF METHOD IS RECOGNIZED, AND THEN, FOR EACH METHOD WITH CODE 1 CIRCLED IN 301, A		
01	Female Sterilization. PROBE: Women can have an operation to avoid having any more children.	YES 1 NO 27	Has your wife/wives everhad an operation to avoidhaving any more pregnancies?YES1NO2
02	Male Sterilization. PROBE: Men can have an operation to avoid having any more children.	YES 1 NO 27	Have you ever had an oper- ation to avoid having any more pregnancies? YES
03	IUD. PROBE: Women can have a loop or coil placed inside them by a doctor or a nurse.	YES 1 NO 27	YES 1 NO 2
04	Injectables. PROBE: Women can have an injection by a health provider that stops them from becoming pregnant for one or more months.	YES 1 NO 27	YES 1 NO 2
05	Implants. PROBE: Women can have one or more small rods placed in their upper arm by a doctor or nurse which can prevent pregnancy for one or more years.	YES 1 NO 27	YES 1 NO 2
06	Pill. PROBE: Women can take a pill every day to avoid becoming pregnant.	YES 1 NO 27	YES
07	Condom. PROBE: Men can put a rubber sheath on their penis before sexual intercourse.	YES 1 NO 27	YES 1 NO 2
08	Standad Days Method. PROBE: A Woman uses a string of colored beadsto know the days she can get pregnant. On the days she can get pregnant, she uses a condom or does not have sexual intercourse.	YES 1 NO 27	YES 1 NO 2
09	Lactational Amen. Method (LAM) PROBE:	YES 1 NO 27	YES 1 NO 2
10	Rhythm Method. PROBE: Every month that a woman is sexually active she can avoid pregnancy by not having sexual intercourse on the days of the month she is most likely to get pregnant.	YES 1 NO 27	YES 1 NO 2
11	Withdrawal, Azal. PROBE: Men can be careful and pull out before climax.	YES 1 NO 27	YES 1 NO 2
12	Emergency Contraception. PROBE: As an emergency measure, within three days after they have unprotected sexual intercourse, women can take special pills to prevent pregnancy.	YES 1 NO 27	YES 1 NO 2
13	Have you heard of any other ways or methods that husband and wife can use to avoid pregnancy?	YES 1	
		(SPECIFY)	NO 2
		(SPECIFY) NO 2	YES 1 NO 2

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
303	In the last few months have you: a) Heard about family planning on the radio? b) Seen anything about family planning on the television? c) Read about family planning in a newspaper or magazine?	YESNORADIO12TELEVISION12NEWSPAPER OR MAGAZINE12	
304	CHECK 303: HEARD/WATCH/READ ABOUT MESSAGE (ANY YES IN 303)	NOT HEARD/WATCH/READ	→ 304C
304A	What messages did it convey to you? Anything else? [CIRCLE ALL MENTIONED]	LIMITING THE FAMILY A HIGHER AGE AT MARRIAGE B SPACING OF CHILDREN C USE OF CONTRACEPTIVES D WELFARE OF FAMILY E MATERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH F LESS CHILDREN MEAN PROSPEROUS LIFE G MORE CHILDREN MEAN POVERTY AND STARVATION H IMPORTANCE OF BREASTFEEDING I OTHER-1	
304B	Do you think that the message you heard or watch or read was effective or not effective in persuading couples to use family planning?	EFFECTIVE 1 NOT EFFECTIVE 2 DON'T KNOW 8	
304C	CHECK 104:	ED OR SEPARATED	→ 307
305	CHECK 302: MAN NOT STERILIZED MAN STERILIZED		→ 307
306	In the last few month, have you discussed family planning with a health worker or health professional?	YES	
307	Now I would like to ask you about a woman's risk of pregnancy. From one menstrual period to the next, are there certain days when a woman is more likely to become pregnant when she has sexual relations?	YES	309
308	Is this time just before her period begins, during her period, right after her period has ended, or halfway between two periods?	JUST BEFORE HER PERIOD BEGINS	

309 310	I will now read you some statements about contraception. Please tell me if you agree or disagree with each one. a) Contraception is a woman's business and a man should not have to worry about it. b) Women who use contraception may become promiscuous. CHECK 301 (07): KNOWS CONDOM YES NO	DIS- AGREE AGREE DK CONTRACEPTION WOMAN'S BUSINESS 1 2 8 WOMEN MAY BECOME PROMISCUOUS 1 2 8	→ 401
311	Do you know of a place where a person can get condoms?	YES	—▶401
312	Where is that? Any other place? PROBE TO IDENTIFY EACH TYPE OF SOURCE. IF UNABLE TO DETERMINE IF PUBLIC OR PRIVATE SECTOR, WRITE THE NAME OF THE PLACE. (NAME OF PLACE(S))	PUBLIC SECTOR GOVT. HOSPITAL/RHSC A RURAL HEALTH CENTRE B FAMILY WELFARE CENTRE C MCH D DISPENSORY E MOBILE SERVICE CAMP F LADY HEALTH WORKER G LH VISITOR H BASIC HEALTH UNIT I MALE MOBILIZER J OTHER PUBLIC K (SPECIFY) PRIVATE/NGO MEDICAL SECTOR PRIVATE/NGO HOSPITAL/CLINIC L PHARMACY, CHEMISTS M PRIVATE DOCTOR N HOMEOPATH O DISPENSER/COMPOUNDE P OTHER PRIVATE Q (SPECIFY) OTHER SOURCE SHOP (NOT PHARMACY/CHEMIST) R FRIEND/RELATIVE S HAKIM T DAI, TRAD. BIRTH ATTENDANT U OTHER (SPECIFY) DON'T KNOW Z	
313	If you wanted to, could you yourself get a condom?	YES 1 NO 2	

SECTION 4. FERTILITY PREFERENCES

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
401	CHECK 104: CURRENTLY MARRIED WIDOWED/DIVOF OR SEPARATED	RCED	→ 409
402	CHECK 302: MAN NOT STERILIZED MAN STERILIZED		▶ 409
403	Is your (wife)/Are any of your (wives) currently pregnant?	YES	↓ 405
404	Now I have some questions about the future. After the (child/children) you and your (wife(wives) are expecting now, would you like to have another child, or would you prefer not have any more children?	HAVE ANOTHER CHILD 1 NO MORE 2 UNDECIDED/DON'T KNOW 8	→ 406 ↓ 409
405	Now I have some questions about the future. Would you like to have (a/another) child, or would you prefer not to have any (more) children?	HAVE (A/ANOTHER) CHILD1NO MORE/NONE2SAYS WIFE (WIVES)3CAN'T GET PREGNANT3WIFE (WIVES) STERILIZED4HE/ALL HIS WIVES/4ARE INFECUND5UNDECIDED/DON'T KNOW8	409
406	CHECK 106: ONE WIFE MORE THAN ONE WIFE		→408
407	CHECK 403: WIFE NOT PREGNANT OR DON'T KNOW How long would you like to wait from now before the birth of (a/another) child? WIFE PREGNANT	MONTHS 1 YEARS 2 SOON/NOW 993 COUPLE INFECUNE 994 OTHER 996 (SPECIFY) 998	→ 409
408	How long would you like to wait from now before the birth of (a/another) child?	MONTHS 1 YEARS 2 SOON/NOW 993 HE/ALL HIS WIVES/ 994 ARE INFECUND 994 OTHER 996 (SPECIFY) 998	

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
409	CHECK 203 AND 205: HAS LIVING CHILDREN If you could go back to the time you did not have any children and could choose exactly the number of children to have in your whole life, how many would that be? PROBE FOR A NUMERIC RESPONSE.	NONE 00 NUMBER 00 OTHER 96 (SPECIFY) 96	→ 501 → 501
410	How many of these children would you like to be boys, how many would you like to be girls and for how many would it not matter if it's a boy or a girl?	NUMBER BOYS GIRLS EITHER OTHER 96 (SPECIFY)	

SECTION 5. EMPLOYMENT AND GENDER ROLES

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
501	Have you done any work in the last seven days?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 504
502	Although you did not work in the last seven days, do you have any job or business from which you were absent for leave, illness, vacation, or any other such reason?	YES	→ 504
503	Have you done any work in the last 12 months?	YES	→ 507
504	What is your occupation, that is, what kind of work do you mainly do?		
505	Do you usually work throughout the year, or do you work seasonally, or only once in a while?	THROUGHOUT THE YEAR1SEASONALLY/PART OF THE YEAR2ONCE IN A WHILE3	
506	Are you paid in cash or cash and kind both or kind only for this work or are you not paid at all?	CASH ONLY 1 CASH AND KIND 2 IN KIND ONLY 3 NOT PAID 4	
507	CHECK 104:		
	CURRENTLY MARRIED WIDOWED/DIVOR OR SEPARATED		→ 512
508	CHECK 506: CODE 1 OR 2 CIRCLED]	→ 510
509	Who usually decides how the money you earn will be used: you, your wife, or you and your husband jointly or someone else?	RESPONDENT1WIFE2RESPONDENT AND WIFE3JOINTLY3FAMILY ELDERS4SOMEONE ELSE6	
510	Who usually makes decisions about health care for yourself: you, your wife, you and your husband jointly, or someone else?	RESPONDENT 1 WIFE 2 RESPONDENT AND WIFE 3 JOINTLY 3 FAMILY ELDERS 4 SOMEONE ELSE 6	
511	Who usually makes decisions about making major household purchases: you, your wife, you and your husband jointly, or someone else?	RESPONDENT 1 WIFE 2 RESPONDENT AND WIFE 3 JOINTLY 3 FAMILY ELDERS 4 SOMEONE ELSE 6	

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
512	Do you own this or any other house either alone or jointly with someone else?	ALONE ONLY1JOINTLY ONLY2BOTH ALONE AND JOINTLY3DOES NOT OWN4	
513	Do you own any land either alone or jointly with someone else?	ALONE ONLY1JOINTLY ONLY2BOTH ALONE AND JOINTLY3DOES NOT OWN4	
514	 In your opinion, is a husband justified in hitting or beating his wife in the following situations: a) If she goes out without telling him? b) If she neglects the children? c) If she argues with him? d) If she burns the food? e) If she neglects the in-laws f) If she refuses to have sex with him? 	YES NO DH GOES OUT 1 2 8 NEGL. CHILDREN 1 2 8 ARGUES 1 2 8 BURNS FOOD 1 2 8 NEGL. IN-LAWS 1 2 8 REFUSES SEX 1 2 8	

SECTION 6. HIV AIDS

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES		SKIP
601	Now I would like to talk about something else. Have you ever heard of an illness called AIDS?	YES	1 2	→ 617
602	Can people reduce their chance of getting the AIDS virus by having just one uninfected sex partner who has no other sex partners?	YES	1 2 8	
603	Can people get the AIDS virus from mosquito bites?	YES	1 2 8	
604	Can people reduce their chance of getting the AIDS virus by using a condom every time they have sex?	YES NO DON'T KNOW	1 2 8	
605	Can people get the AIDS virus by sharing food with a person who has AIDS?	YES	1 2 8	
606	Can people get the AIDS virus because of witchcraft or other supernatural means?	YES	1 2 8	
607	Is it possible for a healthy-looking person to have the AIDS virus?	YES NO DON'T KNOW	1 2 8	
608	Can the virus that causes AIDS be transmitted from a mother to her baby: a) During pregnancy? b) During delivery? c) By breastfeeding?	YES NO E DURING PREG 1 2 DURING DELIVERY 1 2 BREASTFEEDING 1 2	DK 8 8 8	
609	CHECK 608: AT LEAST OTHER ONE 'YES'			→ 611
610	Are there any special drugs that a doctor or a nurse can give to a woman infected with the AIDS virus to reduce the risk of transmission to the baby?	YES NO DON'T KNOW	1 2 8	
611	Do you know of a place where people can go to get tested for the AIDS virus?	YES	1 2	→ 613
612	Where is that? Any other place? PROBE TO IDENTIFY EACH TYPE OF SOURCE. IF UNABLE TO DETERMINE IF PUBLIC OR PRIVATE SECTOR, WRITE THE NAME OF THE PLACE. (NAME OF PLACE)	PUBLIC SECTOR GOVERNMENT HOSPITAL GOVT. HEALTH CENTER STAND-ALONE VCT CENTER OTHER PUBLIC SECTOR (SPECIFY) PRIVATE MEDICAL SECTOR PRIVATE HOSPITAL/CLINIC/ PRIVATE DOCTOR STAND-ALONE VCT CENTER OTHER PRIVATE MEDICAL SECTOR (SPECIFY) OTHER (SPECIFY)	A B C G H I M X	

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
613	Would you buy fresh vegetables from a shopkeeper or vendor if you knew that this person had the AIDS virus?	YES	
614	If a member of your family got infected with the AIDS virus, would you want it to remain a secret or not?	YES, REMAIN A SECRET 1 NO 2 DK/NOT SURE/DEPENDS 8	
615	If a member of your family became sick with AIDS, would you be willing to care for her or him in your own household?	YES	
616	In your opinion, if a female teacher has the AIDS virus but is not sick, should she be allowed to continue teaching in the school?	SHOULD BE ALLOWED1SHOULD NOT BE ALLOWED2DK/NOT SURE/DEPENDS8	
617	CHECK 601: HEARD ABOUT AIDS Apart from AIDS, have you heard about other infections that can be transmitted through sexual contact?	YES 1 NO 2	→ 701
618	Now I would like to ask you some questions about your health in the last 12 months. During the last 12 months, have you had a disease which you got through sexual contact?	YES] → ⁷⁰¹
619	The last time you had problems , did you seek any kind of advice or treatment?	YES	→ 701
620	Where did you go? Any other place? PROBE TO IDENTIFY EACH TYPE OF SOURCE. IF UNABLE TO DETERMINE IF PUBLIC OR PRIVATE SECTOR, WRITE THE NAME OF THE PLACE. (NAME OF PLACE(S))	PUBLIC SECTOR GOVERNMENT HOSPITAL A GOVT. HEALTH CENTER B STAND-ALONE VCT CENTER C FAMILY PLANNING CLINIC D MOBILE CLINIC E FIELDWORKER F OTHER PUBLIC SECTOR SECTOR G IPRIVATE MEDICAL SECTOR PRIVATE HOSPITAL/CLINIC/ PRIVATE DOCTOR PHARMACY J MOBILE CLINIC K FIELDWORKER UOTHER PRIVATE MEDICAL SECTOR IPHARMACY J MOBILE CLINIC K FIELDWORKER L OTHER PRIVATE MEDICAL SECTOR MOBILE CLINIC MOBILE CLINIC MOBILE CLINIC MOBILE CLINIC MOBILE CLINIC MOBILE CLINIC SECTOR MOBILE CLINIC SECTOR MOBILE CLINIC NOTHER PRIVATE MEDICAL SHOP NOTHER MOT	

SECTION 7. OTHER HEALTH ISSUES

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
701	Have you ever heard of an illness called tuberculosis or TB?	YES	→ 706
702	How does tuberculosis spread from one person to another? PROBE: Any other ways? [CIRCLE ALL MENTIONED]	THROUGH THE AIR WHEN COUGHING A OR SNEEZING. A BY SHARING UTENSILS B BY TOUCHING A PERSON WITH TB C THROUGH SHARING FOOD D THROUGH SEXUAL CONTACT E THROUGH MOSQUITO BITES F OTHER X SPECIFY DON'T KNOW	
703	Can tuberculosis be cured?	YES] _{▶ 705}
704	What is the duration of treatment of TB now a days?	MONTHS	
	[IF MORE THAN 7 MONTHS, RECORD 7]	DON'T KNOW	
705	Have ever been told by a doctor or nurse or LHV that God forbid you have/ had tuberculosis?	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8	
706	Have you ever heard of an illness called Hepatitis B or C?	YES 1 NO 2 DON'T KNOW 8	l₊ ₇₀₉
707	Is there anything a person can do to avoid getting Hepatitis B or C?	YES	l₊ ₇₀₉
708	What can a person do to avoid getting Hepatitis B or C? PROBE: Any other ways? [CIRCLE ALL MENTIONED]	SAFE SEX A SAFE BLOOD TRANSFUTION B USE OF DISPOSABLE SYRINGE C AVOID CONTAMINATED FOOD/WATER D AVOID CONTACT WITH INFECTED PERSON INFECTED PERSON E MAKING SURE THAT THE INSTRUMENTS OF DENTISTS ARE PROPERLY STERILIZED F OTHERS X SPECIFY NO RESPONSE NON'T KNOW Z	
709	Now I would like to ask you some other questions relating to health matters. Have you had an injection for any reason in the last 12 months? IF YES: How many injections have you had? IF NUMBER OF INJECTIONS IS 90 OR MORE, OR DAILY FOR 3 MONTHS OR MORE, RECORD '90'. IF NON-NUMERIC ANSWER, PROBE TO GET AN ESTIMATE.	NUMBER OF INJECTIONS 00 NONE 00	→ 712
710	Among these injections, how many were administered by a doctor, a nurse, a pharmacist, a dentist, or any other health worker?		
	IF NUMBER OF INJECTIONS IS 90 OR MORE, OR DAILY FOR 3 MONTHS OR MORE, RECORD '90'.	NONE 00	→ 712
	IF NON-NUMERIC ANSWER, PROBE TO GET AN ESTIMATE.		

NO.	QUESTIONS AND FILTERS	CODING CATEGORIES	SKIP
711	The last time you got an injection from a health worker, did he/she take the syringe and needle from a new, unopened package?	YES	
712	Do you presently smoke cigarettes?	YES	→ 714
713	In the last 24 hours, how many cigarettes did you smoke?	NUMBER OF CIGARETTES	
714	Do you currently smoke or use any other type of tobacco?	YES	→ 716
715	What (other) type of tobacco do you currently smoke or use?	PIPEA CHEWING TOBACCO/NUSWARB SNUFFC HUKAA/SHEESHAD OTHER X (SPECIFY)	
716	RECORD THE TIME.	HOUR	

INTERVIEWER'S OBSERVATIONS

TO BE FILLED IN AFTER COMPLETING INTERVIEW

COMMENTS ABOUT RESPONDENT:		
COMMENTS ON SPECIFIC QUESTIONS:		
ANY OTHER COMMENTS:		
	SUPERVISOR'S OBSERVATIONS	
NAME OF SUPERVISOR:	DATE:	
	EDITOR'S OBSERVATIONS	
NAME OF EDITOR:	DATE:	